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PETEB THE GREAT.

XLVI.

THE FOUNDING OF ST. PBTERSBTTEG.

Immediately after the capture of Nyenskanz, a council of

war was convened to consider the question of defending and

utilising the mouth of the Neva, and whether it would be better

to strengthen the little fort which had just been taken, or to

seek a fit site for a commercial town nearer the sea. The lat-

ter course was decided upon.

Near its mouth the Neva takes a sharp turn and divides into

three or four branches, which bj subsequent redivision form a

number of islands, large and small. These marshy islands,

overgrown with forests and thickets, and liable to be covered

with water during the westerly winds, were inhabited by a few

Finnish fishermen, who were accustomed to abandon their mud
huts at the approach of high water, and seek a refuge on the

higher ground beyond.

It was on the first of these islands, called by the Finns Tan-
ni-Saari, or Hare Island, whei'e the river was still broad and

deep, that Peter laid the foundation of a fortress and a city,

named St. Petersburg, after his patron saint. Of the six bas-

tions of the fortress, one was buUt under the personal superin-
j

tendence of the Tsar himself, and the other five were given

into the charge of Menshikof, Golovin, Zotof, Trubetskoy, and
Cyril Nar^shkin. These bastions were at first built of wood

;

three years afterward they were reconstructed in stone. For
Vol. II. -1
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this work many carpenters and masons were sent from tlie dis-

trict of Novgorod, who were aided by the soldiers. Wheel-

barrows were unknown (they are stUl little used in Eussia), and

in default of better implements the men scraped up the earth

with their hands, and carried it to the ramparts on pieces of

matting or in their shirts. Peter wrote to Eamodan6fsky, ask-

ing him to send the next summer at least 2,000 thieves and

criminals destined for Siberia, to do the heavy work under the

direction of the Novgorod carpenters. At the same time with

the construction of the bastions, a church was buUt in the for-

tress and dedicated to St. Peter and St. Paul. It was finished

by the next spring, and although small was said by foreigners

to be rather pretty, being covered inside with yellow stucco ia

imitation of marble. It contained a chime of bells tuned to

play a piece. The cathedral, with its lofty, slender spire, which

now occupies its site, was begun in 1714, ten years later, by the

Italian architect Tressini. By the side of the orthodox church

arose the Lutheran church of St. Anne. Just outside of the

fortress Peter built for himself a small hut, which he called his

palace. It was about fifty-five feet long by twenty wide, built

of logs roofed with shingles, and contained only three rooms,

lighted by little windows set in leaden frames. In respect for

this, his earliest residence in St. Petersburg, Peter subsequently

had another building erected outside of it to preserve it from
the weather, and in this state it stUl remains, an object of pil-

grimage to the curious and devout. Numerous relies of Peter

are kept here, and his bedroom is now turned into a chapel, iu

which prayers ai-e frequently recited before the miraculous

image which accompanied the Tsar through his campaigns, and
was present at the battle of Poltava. Near this stood the lar-

ger cabin of Menshikof, the governor-general, where foreign

envoys were received and entertainments given ; then the resi-

dences of the court ; and beyond them, on the banks of the

river, the huts of the workmen. Close by the bridge lead-

ing to the fortress was a drinking-house, for many years a place

of general resort, where wine, beer, tobacco, and cards were
sold. Its name, The Osteria, and subsequently The Triumphal
Osteria of the Four Frigates, shows au Italian influence on
some who surrounded Peter.
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In spite of disease and mortality among the men, in spite of

the floods, which even in the first year covered nearly the whole

place and drowned some who were too ill to move, the work
went on. But in its infancy St. Petersburg was constantly in

danger from the Swedes, both by sea and land. During 1703,

it was threatened from the side of Finland by General Kron-

hjort, who was encamped with a large force on the banks of the

river Sestra, and Vice-admiral Summers, with nine ships, lay

at anchor all the summer off the mouth of the Neva. Kron-

hjort was repulsed, and Peter then devoted all his attention to

getting down some ships which he was building on the river

Svir, between Lake Ladoga and Lake Onega. He went there

himself, and for a long time personally superintended their con-

struction. Finally, after great diflBculty from the dangerous

navigation on Lake Ladoga, he succeeded in getting the frigate

' Standard ' and a few transports into the Neva. "When the

cold weather came, Nummers withdrew with his fleet to a Fin-

nish port, and Peter, on his yacht, attended by a galliot, went

out into the gulf to explore. In spite of the floating ice, he

sailed as far as Eetu-Saari, or Kotlin Island, as it was called by

the Russians, and himself measured the depth of the channel.

North of this island, which was about eighteen miles from the

mouth of the Neva, the water was so shallow and the naviga-

tion so difficult that there was no danger. But to protect the

southern passage he resolved to fortify the island in the place

now occupied by the city and fort of Cronstadt, and at a cannon-

shot from the shore began a fort in the water. With much
hard work in sinking stone for the submarine foundation, the

fort was completed during that winter, and received the name
of Kronslot. Golovin wrote to Matveief, at London, of the

foundation of Kronslot, and, greatly exaggerating the Kussian

naval force, said that the Tsar could in a very short time bring

into the Baltic Sea twenty ships and frigates, together with

seventy-eight full galleys, and one hundred brigantiaes. This

was to entice merchant ships to come to St. Petersburg.

The first ship arrived—almost by accident—in- November,

1703. On the news of its approach, Peter went to meet it at

the bar, and himself piloted it to port. The astonishment of

the skipper, Auke Wybes, at being afterward presented to his
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illustrious pilot, was equalled by that of Peter on learning that

the ship had been freighted by his old friend ComeUs Calt, ot

Zaandam. The cargo of salt and wine was welcome, ihe

skipper was feasted by Menshik6f and given a reward of five

hundred ducats; each sailor received thirty thalers, and the

ship, which was henceforth named the ' St. Petersburg,' was

given exemption forever from all tolls and dues. A second

Dutch ship and an English ship arriving that year received simi-

lar rewards.

The work of ship-building went on during the whole of

1704, but it was not until late in the autumn that additional

ships could reach the Neva. The north winds and storms on

Lake Ladoga rendered the crossing of the lake very difiicult,

and placed the ships in constant danger of going ashore on the

southern coast. These difficulties, of which Peter had several

times personal experience, led him to lay the foundations of

the Admiralty in St. Petersburg, and also subsequently to be-

gin the construction of the canal around the southern end of

Lake Ladoga, which is now one of the links connecting the

waters of the Volga and the Neva. The attacks of De Prou

against Kronslot, and of Maidel against St. Petersburg, in 1704,

were easily repulsed, as was also an attempt of Maidel to sur-

prise Kronslot in the winter by marching over the ice. But in

1705 the Swedish fleet, under Admiral Anckarstjema, made a

far more serious attempt. The Eussians tried to protect their

small fleet by planting stakes in the channel, between Kronslot

and the Kotlin Island, and binding them together. These tail

stakes and poles the Swedes took to be the masts of a numer-

ous fleet, and became more cautious. They held off at such a

distance that their bombardment was ineffectual, and two land-

ings on the island were repulsed after a sharp contest. After

another vain attempt, the Swedish fleet withdrew. Maidel,

who had taken up a position on the north bank of the Neva,'

and at times held some of the further islands, was unsuccess-

ful both in an attempt against St. Petersburg, and in another

' It is from this period, wh«n the Swedes occasionally appeared on the

Neva coming from Viborg, that the northern or right bank became known as

the ' Viborg side,' an appellation it bears to-day, in distinction from the St.

Petersburg side.
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against Schlusselburg. After this, the Swedes did not again

disquiet St. Petersburg until 1708. Nevertheless, in May, 1706,

Peter himself had an opportunity of seeing the enemy's squad-

ron, which sailed up toward Kronslot, but soon withdrew. He
had gone a long distance down the gulf on an exploring ex-

pedition, when he saw the Swedish squadron; he therefore

immediately returned and signalled by cannon-shot to Yice-

admiral Cruys, who refused to believe the news, even when
Peter reported in person, and was only convinced when the

Swedes appeared within sight. Peter's own words on this sub-

ject are amusing. Some months afterward, Cruys, in making
a report on other matters, spoke of the general insubordination

and ignorance of the naval officers, and added, 'His Majesty,

with his skill, knows the importance of perfect subordination.'

The Tsar wrote on the back of the report :
' The vice-admiral

is himself to blame for the want of skill of the naval officers,

as he himself engaged nearly all of them ; there is no one then

for him to reproach ... As concerns my skill, mentioned

here, this compliment is not on a very firm footing. Here
I am called skilled, but not long ago, when I went to sea and
saw the enemy's ships from my yacht, and signalled according

to custom the number of ships, it was thought only to be amuse-

ment or the sahite for a toast, and even when I myself came on
board to the vice-admiral, he was unwilling to believe untU his

sailors had seen them from the mast-head. I must, therefore,

beg him either to omit my name from the list of those whom
he judges skilled, or in future cease from such raillery.'

The foundation of St. Petersburg called out various expres-

sions of feeling in Sweden. Some members of the Council of

State prophesied that the growth of Si. Petersburg would bring

the loss of Finland. Others thought that storm and sea would
soon destroy the fortifications of Kronslot and the new town.

Jests were made on the name of the island—Tanni-Saari, Hare
Island—on which the town was begun, and a Swedish poet pro-

posed in Latin verse that the new city should be called not Pe-

tropolis but Leporopolis, which would suit quite as well whether

the island w^ere peopled with hares or with Eussians. This was

a reminiscence of the first battle of Narva. When the news of

the foundation of the town was brought to Charles, he said

:
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'Let tlie Tsar tire himself with founding new towns; we will,

keep for ourselves the honour of taking them later.'

St. Petersburg was the apple of Peter's eye. It was his

' paradise,' as he often calls it in his letters. It was always an

obstacle, and sometimes the sole obstacle, to the conclusion of

peace. Peter was willing to give up all he had conquered in

Livonia and Esthonia, and even Narva, but he would not yield

the mouth of the Neva. Nevertheless, until the war with

Sweden had been practically decided by the battle of Poltava,

and the position of St. Petersburg had been thus secured, al-

though it had a certain importance as a commercial port, and
as the fortress which commanded the mouth of the Neva, it

remained but a village. The walls of the fortress were finally-

laid with stone, but the houses were built of logs at the best,

and for many years, in spite of the marshy soil, the streets re-

'

mained unpaved. IE fate had compelled the surrender of the,

city, there would not have been much to regret. Gradually the
idea came to Peter,to make it his capital. In 1714 the Senate
was transported thither from Moscow, but wars and foreign
enterprises occupied the Tsar's attention, and it was not until

1718 that the colleges or ministries were fully installed there,

and St. Petersburg became in fact the capital of the Empire.
Vockerodt, who lived for many years in Kussia at this

epoch, and was subsequently for a long time Prussian Secretary
of Legation at St. Petersburg, says that Peter was actuated
partly by his love for the sea, partly by the great desire of per-
petuating his memory by the foundation of a new capital, in
imitation of Alexander and Constantine, and partly by the
hatred he had to the city of Moscow, which he would willingly
have seen ruined. As proof of the last, he mentions that, under
the pretext that all the masons were necessary in St. Peters-
burg, an edict was issued forbidding under heavy penalties the
least repairs to any stone buildings in Moscow."

It would have been comparatively easy to make St. Pe-
tersburg into a beautiful and regular town, but the present
arrangement of the city—leaving out of view the embellish-

' By TIkaae No. 2,828 of June 7, 1714, no more stone houses were to be
built in Moscow

;
by No. 3,848 of October 9, 1714, this prohibition was ex-

tended to the whole Empire under pain of exUe and confiscation of property
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ments made by succeeding monarchs—is owing partly to chance

and partly to Peter's constant changes of plan. At first, the

mainland was destined for the Admiralty only and the uses

of the marine. All the nobility, and even the commercial

classes, were obliged to build their residences in the neighbour-

hood of the fortress, near the small house which Peter first

erected for himself. Here, also, up to 1720, were placed all the

government buildings. Then the idea came to Peter that trade

would flourish better if all the commercial establishments were

placed in Cronstadt; each province was therefore ordered to

put up large stone buildings on that island for the reception of

merchandise—^buildings many of which were never used, and

all of which fell rapidly into decay, for immediately after this

there was a project of placing the city higher up the river,

where the more elevated ground would protect it against inun-

dations. At last Peter decided on the island now, and for a

century before that time, called Yasily Ostrof. Here a regular

town was laid out in the Dutch fashion, with canals through aU
the streets. The danger of inundation on this low ground, the

difficulties during the autumn and spring, when the floating ice

in the river cut off this island from aU communication with the

mainland, had not the slightest weight with the Tsar, and again

the nobility were compelled to build on this island large and

expensive houses, proportionate to the size of their estates.

^ Since Peter's time the fashionable quarter and the governmen-

tal offices have been transferred to the mainland, but Yasily

Ostrof still remains the centre of commerce. The canals on the

island, and many of those on the mainland, have been filled up

;

but their places can be recognised by the curious designation of

the sides of the streets as ' lines.'

The city of Peter, except in plan, bears little resemblance to

the capital we see to-day. The splendid granite quays, with

their rows of palaces, the monumental buildings, the churches,

the statues and columns which now adorn the town, are all the

work of Peter's successors. Few date farther back than the

reign of Catherine II.

The only prominent buildings of Peter's time stiU left are

parts of the IJniversity and the neighbouring palace of Menshi-

kof, now converted into a school of cadets. Peter's taste in
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architecture was not good. He loved small and low rooms. A
spacious and higli apartment embarrassed him, and when, in

building his Winter Palace, in order to equal the other houses in

the row, he found it necessary to make the stories a little higher

than he was accustomed to, he had a double ceiling put into

the rooms he expected to inhabit, so as to make them lower.

Neither his winter nor his summer palaces were fine buildings.

The Winter Palace, which was built of brick, was only about 250

feet wide, joined on one side to a private house, with nothing to

distinguish it from the other houses on the quay except a portal

ornamented with pilasters and surmounted by a naval crown,

and two wings which had not the least relation to the principal

fa9ade. The Summer Palace in St. Petersburg consisted of three

separate and unsymmetrical buildings erected at different times,

which had no proportion whatever to one another, and were

placed at irregular angles. The country palaces were no better.

The nobility hated St. Petersburg. Even Prince Gregory

Dolgoruky, one of the active men of the time, could not help

writing in 1717 to Shafirof : 'Although the governors have

a hard life (and where now can one be without trouble ?), yet I

think not one of them would leave his province and be willing

to come and live in Petersburg.' Probably all were of the same

opinion, and the Princess Mary, the half-sister of the Tsar, went

even further, and in conversation with her intimate friends

said :
' Petersburg will not endure after our time. May it remain

a desert !

' The reasons of this dislike were very simple. The
nobility were accustomed to an easy life in Moscow, where they

had large houses, where they had plenty of servants and good
horses, and where nearly all their provisions were brought from
their own neighbouring estates or else bought very cheaply in the

Moscow market. In St. Petersburg they were obliged to build

new houses at great expense, and under very vexatious regula-

tions as to plan ; they no longer could easily send to their estates

for provisions and additional servants ; everything had to come
an immense distance ; the cost of living was very great ; and
more than that, the climate was very unhealthy. They had
none of the comforts, none of the amusements of Moscow. They
did not care for boats or for sailing, and they could not even
leave town for a country place, because St. Petersburg was
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surrounded by nothing but woods and bogs. Owing to the raw-

ness of the climate no fruit could grow except in certain portions

of the Vasily Ostrof, and no vegetables but cabbage and turnips.

The wild animals which had previously inhabited the locality

were not all driven away, and in 1714 two soldiers on guard in

front of the Foundry were devoured by wolves, and a little time

after a woman was torn to pieces in the middle of the day in

front of Prince Menshikof's house. In order to economise fuel

—and it was forbidden to cut wood on the islands—no one was
allowed to heat his bath-house more than once a week.

To procure building materials for the public edifices, every

boat and every cart coming to the citjr was obliged to bring a

certain number of large stones. "Workmen and colonists were
sent thither from all parts of the empire. In IsTovember, 1713,

order was given that 34,000 should be sent during the year fol-

lowing. By such means the city grew fast, and we are told that

in April l'114t there were 34,550 buildings large and small, and
in 1718 over 40,000.

The frequent inundations, the bad climate, and the marshy
soil all produced disease, and the mortality among the workmen
employed in building the town was frightful. In 1717 Prince

Alexis Tcherkasky in reporting to the Tsar that work by con-

tract would be better than forced labour, said that a thousand

workmen a year and sometimes more either died or ran away,

while as many more were laid up by illness. These numbers
may have been less than the truth, but even with the cold, the

damp, and the dysentery, it is impossible to trust the statement

current abroad soon afterward, that as many as 200,000 men had
lost their lives in building the city, which would be at the rate

of 10,000 a year for twenty years. At the same time, we must
remember that even now St. Petersburg is a deadly city, and

one of the few in the world where the death-rate always exceeds

the birth-rate. It is only kept in existence by immigrations

from the country.'

The building of St. Petersburg seems almost like a freak.

Its construction became a passion with Peter, and no obstacles

' The sufferings of the builders of St. Petersburg find their echo even to-

day in popular songs, well known to all the peasants of the neighbourhood.
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could be found great enough to prevent his carrying out his

design
;
yet it was nothing but a very costly and an almost use-

less toy. The fortress on which so much money and so much

life were spent, then, as now, protected nothing. Its guns could

never reach the enemy, unless the town had been previously

taken. It now guards nothing but the mint, and the cathedral

containing the imperial tombs. During the reign of Peter's

successors, its walls were used as a suitable background for fire-

works and illuminations, and its casemates have always been

found convenient for the reception of pohtical prisoners.

Strategically it was necessary to protect the mouth of the

Neva, but this was done by Cronstadt. Commercially, St.

Petersburg was of importance as being a seaport, but the con-

quest, soon after, of Keval and Eiga, gave to Russia new and

better ports, and the high price of living at St. Petersburg added

burdens to the commerce there which nearly equalised the ad-

vantages. Even then, liiga was almost as near Moscow as was

St. Petersburg, and had a good straight road been constructed,

commerce would have quickly taken that channel. This was

not done, and the great detour- necessary sent commerce to

St. Petersburg. At the present time, with the railways to Riga,.

Keval, and other points on the Baltic, the commerce of St. Peters-

burg, proportionally with other places, is declining. The receipts

from duties on foreign goods are fully as great at Moscow as at

St. Petersburg. The commerce of Riga, Reval, Libau, and
Baltic Port is constantly increasing, while Konigsberg and other

Prussian ports receive a great quantity of Russian trade.

St. Petersburg may once have been what Count Algarotti

called it in 1769—a great vidndow for Russia to look out at

Europe, but it is so no longer. The traveller from London or

Paris can go as easily and as quickly to Moscow as to St. Peters-

burg. The European ideas, and customs, and fashions which
came to St. Petersburg turned it, even in Peter's time, into a
thoroughly European tovm, and such it has always remained

;

but the ideas of Europe took a long time to pass over the four
hundred miles of desolate country stretching between the capi-

tal and Moscow, and, in the same way, the provinces found
great difficulty in making their complaints, theii- wants, and
their situation known at St. Petersburg. Until most recent
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times, there was only one road leading from the interior to St.

Petersburg, and communication was difficult and easily inter-

rapted. The government of the country was, indeed, always

carried on, but, as far as regarded its sympathy with the popu-

lation, its knowledge of their needs and wants, it might as well

have been on a distant island. This was felt even in the last

century, and Vockerodt, writing in 1737, says: 'As concerns

the common weal, the residence of the court at St. Petersburg

seems likewise to be more harmful than advantageous, and it is

stiU a great question whether the sovereign of Kussia does not

in this way stand in his own light, and prejudice his own power^

All affairs relating to justice and the internal government of

the country can be much more promptly cared for at Moscow,
in the middle of the country ; and the Russian commandants,

who are so very much inclined to stealing, will be much better

held in check from Moscow than St. Petersburg, which lies quite

at one end of the empire.' He adds that 'no advantage has

been obtained by the country from St. Petersburg which would
not have been had in far greater measure at Moscow, had the

government been left there. "What sort of a difference this

makes was shown by the experience of the government of Peter
II., and in the first years of the present Empress [Anne].
When the Court went to Moscow, in 1728, not only were all the

public chests empty, but also money was so rare among private

persons that interest rose to twelve and fifteen per cent. Two
years afterward, about the time when Peter II. died, interest

fell to eight and six per cent. All the public chests were again

filled, so that the astonishing expenses which the Court made at

the beginning of the present reign caused no lack of money.
But after the Court had come back for a few years to St. Peters-

burg, the whole country (although no new imposts had been
placed on it except the recruiting of men and horses for the

army) came to a very wretched condition, and a lack of ready

money is only too plainly shown.'

Even now, with all the pleasures, the comforts, and the

luxuries of St. Petersburg, with its agreeable society, its intel-

lectual culture, and its political interest, the foreigner living

there for a time feels as if he were out of the world. It is not

so much the great distance which separates him from Berlin and
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Vienna, or even Warsaw and Moscow, as tlie fact that, except

the small collection of vUlas along the gulf and near Tsarskoe

Selo, the country is flat, desolate, marshy, and almost entirely

uninhabited for many miles around. The railways which leave

the capital pass, for much of their length, over a desolate-look-

ing plain or through cheerless forests. The true Kussia is far

away.

St. Petersburg derives its whole importance from the fact

of its being the capital. It is curious to look at a large plan and

see how very many of the buildings are owned by the Govern-

ment. Take away the Court and the army of Government offi-

cials, and St. Petersburg would soon sink to a third-rate town.'

' Tlstriilof, IV. x; Eeimers, St. Petersbwg am Ende seines ersten Jahr-

Imnderts, St. Petersburg, 1803 ; Pekarsky, Old Times of St. Petersburg, in

Contem/porwry (Russian) for 1860 ; J. Gr. Vockerodt, Russland unter Peter dem
Orossen, edited by Dr. E. Herrmaim, Leipzig, 1873 ; Algarotti, Lettere sopra

la Russia ; A. L. Mayer, the Old Winter Palace, in Ev/ropean Messenger (Bns-

sian) for May, 1872.



XLVIL

CHARLES XII. IN POLAND.—1703-1705.

We left King Charles, after his defeat of the Poles on the

Diina, determined to inflict a severe chastisement on King Au-

gustus, even although in so doing he gave the Russians a clear

field. The petitions of the inhabitants of Kiga, the representa-

tions of the Swedish Diet, the advice of the foreign ambassa-

dors, were all rejected with scorn. Charles refused to listen to

any propositions of treating with King Augustus, and would be

satisfied with nothing less than his dethronement. To the Diet

he replied that he considered it ' derogatory to himself and to

his honour to have the slightest dealings with a man who had

acted in such a dishonourable and shameful way ;
' and to the

King of France he wrote that ' the conduct of King Augustus

was so shameful and base that it deserved the vengeance of God
and the contempt of all right-thinking men.' General Spens

said of the King :
' He believes that he is an agent of God on.

earth, sent to punish every act of faithlessness.'

"Whether a Swedish invasion of Russia would have been suc-

cessful or not, whether Charles could have captured Moscow or

not, at all events he could have prevented the Kussians from

establishing themselves on the Neva, and from taking Dorpat

and Narva. But he was then too much occupied with his ven-

geance on King Augustus, and was far away on the banlfs of the

Vistula. It might be that the Russian check would have been

temporary and not permanent, but it certainly would have been

many years before the Swedes would have been driven from the

south of the Baltic. It has been often said that an inevitable

necessity led Russia to the shore of the Finnish gulf, and that

Sweden must sooner or later have yielded to the pressure.

Oscar II., the present King of Sweden, perhaps the ablest and
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the most careful critic of his great predecessor, says in reply to

this:

' There is a certain degree of truth in this view. The stream

of emigration has always been from the East to the "West, and

it is doubtful whether even to-day it has entirely ceased. The

discovery of the New World and the beginning of the colonisa-

tion of the North American continent occurred during the next

period after the emigration from Asia to Europe, just spoken

of, seemed to have reached its end. In that way its continu-

ation was favoured. Can one not say, with good reason, that

the Slavonic race, with its fresh, youthful elasticity, visible in

so many of the phenomena of its life, is like a mighty steam-

engine, while America, like a gigantic air-pump continually

sucking, always prepares the necessary vacimm for the steam ?

Much that has happened and is still happening can be explaiaed

in such wise. But although man cannot succeed in stopping

the path of the history of the world and the general develop-

ment of the fate of nations, yet everyone who claims to be

called a statesman must not only not favour, but must even

work with aU his power against, what is evidently harmful to his

country. This is a duty to which he may, perhaps, fall a victim,

but the right understanding and fulfilment of it separate him
from the common herd which listens to the enticing siren-voice

of the instant, and follows the many-coloured standard of for-

tune wherever it may be raised. The application to Charles

XII., and his manner of action, is easily made. His want of

perception in treating the northern seat of war as a side issue is

so much the more to be deplored, as it was probably then still

possible to stop for a long time the conquests of Russia at our

cost.'

'

After the victory on the Diina, Charles took up his winter

quarters in Curland, which he wished to punish as being a fief

of Poland. He refused to make any distinction between the

Polish Republic, which had not declared war, and King Augus-
tus, who had been in the field against him. A feud which had
existed for generations between the two great Lithuanian fami-

lies of Sapieha and Oginski, gave him an excellent pretext for

' Carl den Tdfte, af Oscar Fredrik, pp. 24, 25. Stockholm, 1868.
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interference. One of the Sapieha family had supported the

claims of the Prince de Conti to the Polish throne in opposition

to Augustus, and that monarch had, therefore, espoused the

cause of Oginski. Charles, under pretext of assisting the

Sapieha and putting down the Oginski party, found means of

making incursions into Lithuania, and supporting his troops on

the country. Meanwhile, the Cardinal Primate, Eadziejowski,

who, we remember, was one of the parties taken into the confi-

dence of Patkul, Augustus and the Russians, and who, for a

considerable bribe, had promised to secure the consent of the

Polish Diet to the wai-, was intriguing against Augustus. He
sent word to Charles that the Polish Pepublic had nothing

whatever to do with the war against him, which the King had
made without their consent. Charles replied that the only way
for Poland to secure peace was to call a Diet, declare that Au-
gustus had forfeited the crown by making war without the con-

sent of Poland, and elect a new king. In vain did Augustus

sue for peace. He even sent his mistress, the beautiful Countess

Aurora vonKonigsmark, to Charles's winter quarters, but she re-

turned without even having seen the King, except in the street,

and her .misadventure was made the pretext for a satirical medal,

with subject and legend taken from the story of Samson and

Delilah. The chamberlain. Yon Yitzthum, fared still worse,

for his despatches were taken from him. The Swedes took

pains to spread the story that King Augustus had proposed a

division of Poland between himself and the King of Sweden,

so as to destroy the Kepublic and create an absolute monarchy
in its stead. To the Polish deputations coming to ask for peace,

and demand that their rights should be respected, Charles re-

plied, after long delays, that he would answer them when he

arrived at "Warsaw, at the same time saying that he had come

to restore the ancient liberties of Poland, and to protect them

from the attempts of Augustus to establish the absolute rule of

his own dynasty. These words certainly sounded strange in

the mouth of the absolute Charles XII., and there were many
Poles who saw through the thin veil which covered his warlike

intentions. In some of the published replies there were sharp

criticisms on his conduct, and one of them said :
' These Swedes,

who, in their own home, are slaves to the whims of an absolute
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lord, now come hither, as they say, to defend our liberties, al-

though they have not been able to keep their oWh.'

Leaving 8,000 men to protect Lithuania, Charles set out for

Warsaw in April, 1702, with 16,000 men, in spite of the advice

of Eehnskjold, Liewen, and Stenbock, the last of whom even

qiiestioned the legality of the invasion. "Warsaw was occupied

without opposition, and a heavy contribution was laid on the

inhabitants, for, as Charles said, ' The Swedes cannot live on

air and water, and the Poles must care for them, as they them-

selves have invited them.'

Augustus had summoned the nobility of the kingdom to his

aid. Some responded, but many hesitated, and others flatly

refused, believing the rumour, which had got abroad and was

so carefully spread by the Swedes, of negotiations begun by the

King for the partition of the country. He finally got together

a force of 20,000 men. Charles could not at this time op-

pose more than 12,000 troops, and it was necessary to leave

part in "Warsaw to keep down that city. He therefore waited

two months with great impatience for reinforcements, rode out

himself to meet them when he heard of their approach, and im-

mediately began to march towards Cracow. At KJissow, on
the anniversary of the battle on the Diina, the army of King
Augustus was totally defeated, although the Saxon troops stood

their ground weU. The walls of Cracow were in bad condition,

but the citadel was strong. Stenbock, with 300 men, arrived

in the suburb and found the gate closed. He demanded en-

trance, but the answer was that the keys were not there. He
then a«ked for "Wielopolski, the commandant, who immediately
appeared, but refused to allow the Swedes to enter. During
the parley, Charles suddenly appeared, and shouted in a loud
voice, ' Ouvrez laporte ! ' Wielopolski, hearing this command-
ing tone, had the curiosity to open the gate a little to see who
had spoken. Charles immediately gave him a violent cut in the
face with his riding-whip, the Swedes forced the gate open, and
reached the citadel even before the commandant. For the de-
lay in yielding, a heavy contribution was exacted from Cracow
under the direction of Stenbock, who was made governor, or, as
he himself expresses it in a letter to his wife : 'I am now the
commissary, the governor, and the devil of the town.' Li three
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weeks he got from Cracow 130,000 thalers, besides 10,000 pairs

of shoes, 10,000 lbs. of tobacco, 160,000 lbs. of meat, 60,000
lbs. of bread, 12,000 lbs. of ham, and other articles.

Augustus retired to Sandomir, where he convoked the Diet.

The attendance was small, but the disputes were violent, and
Lipski, the Yoievode of Kalisz, was cut to pieces in one of the

quarrels, having been accused of bringing about the Swedish
invasion. The King could not prevail upon the Diet to declare

war. The Poles preferred stiU to use all their efforts at negoti-

ation, in order to persuade the Swedes to withdraw and to leave

the Eepublic in peace. Charles refused to receive the deputation,

on the ground that the whole of Poland was not represented,

and declared his unalterable resolution to dethrone Augustus.

Propositions of mediation from Austria and France were like-

wise rejected. Nothing would satisfy him but the deposition

of Augustus in Poland, and he even demanded his abdication in

Saxony. Even still more than the Poles and the partisans of

Augustus, did the Swedes themselves beg their king to come to

terms with Augustus, and continue the war against Eussia.

The Duchess Hedwiga Sophia, Charles's favourite sister, herself

intervened, but could make no change in her brother's plans.

Just at this time came the news of Schlippenbaeh's defeats,

and of the terrible devastation of Livonia. The army was excited

by this news, and at a council of war the generals unanimously
made a representation to the King, expressing their desire to

leave Poland and rescue the Livonian provinces from the Tsar.

Charles replied shortly :
' My honour, my conscience, and the

security of my kingdom do not allow me to fulfil your wishes ;

'

and it is said that he added :
' Even if I should have to remain

here fifty years, I would not leave the country until Augustus is

dethroned.'

In hastening out one day to see the exercise of some Polish

troops which had been collected by Stenbock, the horse of the

King stumbled over a tent-rope, and Charles broke his left leg

above the knee. His physicians feared grave consequences if he

remained in the tent, and he was taken to a house in the suburbs

of Cracow, where he lay for many weeks. The news of his

accident was kept as secret as possible, but his sudden disap-

pearance excited much comment, and rumours of his death were
Vol. II.—

3
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for a long time current. As soon as he was able to mount his

horse again, he took up his winter quarters in the neighbour-

hood of Sandomir.

The promises which Charles had made on entering Poland

—

that he should demand only the contributions necessary for the

subsistence of his army, that churches should not be plundered,

and that the property of the nobility should be respected

—

were kept for only three months. Such complaints reached him
from Sweden of the want of money, and the scarcity of every

kind prevailing there, that after the battle of Klissow every-

thing was changed. Charles resolved that his army should be

supported by the Poles. Contributions of all kinds were levied,

and the money demands were in many cases doubled. If objec-

tions were made to payment, estates, villages, and towns were

burnt to the ground. During the winter, Stenbock, with 2,500

men, was sent into Galicia and Yolynia to obtain money, forage,

and provisions, and with orders to destroy the estates of all who
refused to join the Swedes.

Although the ravages committed by Stenbock's troops and

the contributions levied were very great, the general did not

carry out to their full extent the instructions of the King, who
says in one of his letters that ' the Poles must either be annihi-

lated or forced to join us ;
' and in another :

' All the Poles that

you get hold of you must force to follow us, nolens volens, or

ruin them so that they will long remember the visit of Master
He-goat. Use your best endeavours to squeeze out, pick out,

and get together the most you can.'

In the spring of 1T03, Charles defeated another army, which
Augustus had got together fe-om Lithuania, at Pultusk on the
Nareva, to the north of Warsaw, and then advanced to Thorn,
which he besieged for five months.

Meanwhile, in June, Augustus assembled a Diet at Lublin.

To the general astonishment, Cardinal Eadziejowski appeared,

'

and asked private audience of the King. A private audience
was not granted, but the cardinal was received publicly, when
the accusations against him of introducing the Swedish troops

were so strong that he was allowed to say nothing in his defence,
but was compelled to kneel down and swear publicly before aH
that he had not introduced the Swedes, or supported them, or
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intrigued against the King, and to promise, on his honour,

faithful service to his country. Although the Diet still wished

to employ negotiations and peaceful measures, yet it resolved

to increase the crown army to 36,000 men, and the Lithuanian

army to 12,000, and gave the King permission to make what-

ever treaties with foreign powers might seem desirable. The
deputies of the provinces of Kalisz and Posen were not admitted

to this Diet, as those provinces were occupied by the Swedes,

and it was said their votes would not be free. They, therefore,

formed a confederation at Schrod, which was joined by the no-

bility of several provinces, declared their dissatisfaction with

the results of the Diet of Lublin, and took the side of Sweden.

Prince Lubomirski, who commanded the Polish crown army,

was jealous of the young Prince "Wisniowiecki, the commander
of the Lithuanians, sacrificed his patriotism to the feeling of re-

venge, wasted time in petty disputes, and remained an inactive

spectator. Nor even could the rest of the army work together.

Steinau, who commanded the Saxons, refused to co-operate with

Wisniowiecki ; Oginski, angry at losing some place he had
desired, sowed rebellion among the Lithuanians, and, before

anything could be done, the' Swedish reinforcements arrived

from Danzig, and Thorn was taken.

During the siege of Thorn, requests were again made to

Charles to conclude peace. England, Austria, and Holland all in-

tervened. They had, it is true, a selfish interest, for they desired

the assistance of the Swedish troops against the French. The
war of the Spanish succession had broken out in 1702. Robin-

son, one of the last English clerical diplomatists, later Bishop
of London, but then Minister at Stockholm, went to Charles's

headquarters in order to impress upon him the discontent and
want prevailing in Sweden, and to urge him to peace. An audi-

ence was for a long time denied him, but he finally, half through

surprise, succeeded in having a conversation with Charles in the

open road. His efforts were without success, and his colleagues

of Austria and Holland were unable to express their advice.

Piper, too, made another attempt, and added, as a new and
pressing reason for peace, that the Russians had now occupied

Ligria, and had got a harbour on the Baltic. ' These events

have for Sweden a much more important significance than who
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occupies the Polisli tliroiie.' Charles remamed obstmate, and

the minister could only saj' :
' iJixi et levavi animam meam.'

Durinf the course of the summer a treaty was made with Hol-

land, by which Charles promised auxiliary troops against France

after the conclusion of peace. This made Holland so desirous

that peace should be concluded, that, together with Austria and

England, the States-General made a new representation to

Charles, this time in writing. A brief answer was returned,

that nothing could be done until the Polish Eepublic showed in

what manner it was ready to restore peace. By the advice of

Eaphael Leszczynski, Charles now no longer stated openly his

intention of dethron-

[^M^At. ing Augustus, but re-

/ ferred simply to his

previous conditions, so

as not to excite too

much the pride and

obstinacy of the Po-

lish nobles, who, much
as they disliked Aug-

ustus, felt themselves

bound in honour to

retain him on the

throne. Wilde so

many powers were de-

sirous of peace, two, at

least, were glad of the

war— Denmark and

France ; the latter be-

cause it preferred that

the King of Sweden
shoidd be occupied in

Poland rather than turn his arms against her,' while Denmark
saw with pleasure the great military strength of Sweden wasted

Count Charles Piper.

' Colonel Lenk, a secret agent of France, wrote to the French Cabinet

:

' As far as I am aljle to see through the King of Sweden, I am sure that he

will not cease this war till he has ruined his own country, i^or, if he does

not entirely change his character, he will continue to wage war as long as he
lives.*
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in such adventures. Prussia hoped to get something for herseK

out of the troubles of others, and King Frederick, adopting the

plan already put forward by Augustiis, proposed to Charles to

annex "West Prussia, while the Swedes should take Polish Livo-

nia and part of Lithuania. In that way he thought the Poles

could always be kept down, and that there would be no necessity

for dethroning Augustus, who would be absolute sovereign of

the remainder of Poland. This, however, did not fall in with

Charles's views, and the negotiations were discontinued.

Charles took the confederation of Schrod, or Great Poland,

under his protection, and the sum of 200,000 thalers, which

Stenbock used in bribes, gave him hopes of soon being able to

accomplish hh idea, so that in December, 1Y03, he addressed an

open letter to the Hepublic, in which he proposed Prince Jacob

Sobieski for the future King of Poland, and promised, if he

were elected, to support him until he should obtain quiet pos-

session of the throne. This excited Austria, England, and Hol-

land, and not only did Queen Anne send an autograph letter to

Charles, but Eobinson again did his best to dissuade him from

compelling the Polish nation to depose the king whom they had

themselves freely chosen, and urged him not to set such a bad

example to the world. Charles replied :
' I wonder greatly to

hear such remarks from the minister of a state which once car-

ried its boldness so far as to cut off the head of its king.' The
powers desisted from further action, fearing greatly lest Charles

should get so angry as openly to support the cause of France.

In January, 1704, the Primate Eadziejowski called a Diet

at "Warsaw, imder the pretext of making peace with the King

of Sweden, who had declared that he wished to treat with the

Eepublic, and not with King Augustus. In spite of the efforts

of Eadziejowski and of Horn, who with a large Swedish force

protected and influenced the Diet, and at the same time pre-

vented undecided members from rmming away, the feeling was

so strong against foreign interference in the concerns of the

country that there was much hesitation and delay ; and it was

not until April, after the Swedes had brought up proof of the

proposals of Augustus to make peace with Charles by dividing

Poland, that the Diet declared the throne vacant. Meantime,

Augustus had succeeded in kidnapping Jacob Sobieski and his
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brother in Silesia, although in so doing he had invaded Aus-

trian territory. He himself was weary of the contest, and ready

to make peace by resigning the Polish crown ; but the French

and the Danes stiU counselled him to resistance. It was neces-

sary now to find another candidate, and when Alexander So-

biesld refused to allow his name to be used, Charles, passing

over the ambitious Lubomirski and Kadziewill, selected Stanis-

las Leszezynski. There was still another period of hesitation

;

and finally, when Horn's patience was entirely exhausted, a

small meeting of electors was held in the field of Wola, near

Warsaw, surrounded by Swedish troops, in the absence of the

magnates of the kingdom, and, in a manner so contrary to all

the prescriptions of the laws that even some of his own sup-

porters drew back, Leszezynski was proclaimed Stanislas ,1.,

King of Poland. This was in July, 1704.

Now that Augustus had been deposed—regularly or irregu-

larly—and a new king elected, many supposed and hoped that

Charles would at last leave Poland, and turn his arms against

Eussia, in order to free those provinces which had already been

occupied by the Tsar. The Swedish King, however, had prom-

ised to stand by his, candidate until his crown was secure, and

the manner of the election of Stanislas diminished the number
of his supporters and increased again the party of Augustus.

There was enough to do in Poland for a long time.

So long as Augustus could make some opposition to the

Swede, Peter could go on with his aims in Russia without do-

ing more in Poland than simply fulfilling his obligations in

furnishitig money and troops. But now it was necessary to aid

Augustus more actively in order to prevent a Swedish invasion

of Eussia. Patkul was therefore sent with 100,000 thalers to

Denmark, in order to bring that kingdom to acts of open hos-

tility toward Sweden, and, had succeeded in winning over the

Countess Viereck, the King's mistress, when her death pre-

vented the success of his plan. The Saxon ministers, too,

needed presents and promises to render them more vigorous in

carrying on the war. Meantime, envoys fi-om Augustus him-
self, from the Grand Duchy of Lithuania, and even one of the

Oginsld family, had come to Eussia asking for active assistance.

In July, 1703, a treaty was concluded with the envoys of Lithu-
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ania, to take effect as soon as the Republic of Poland had es-

poused the Kussian side. The next year Thomas Dzialpiski,

fi2^iirJixCfiiiaLeri:Ji/JiJrMnf,:a'ilu,T;r<C-lk^lc\-Tj^ami^£^Samaii/auu^

Stanislas 1., King of Poland.

the A'oievode of Chelm, went to Russia on the part of the Polish

Republic, and found the Tsar iu front of iSTarva. Two mouths
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afterward, and ten days after the storming of Narva, August

30, 1Y04, an offensive and defensive alliance against Sweden
was concluded between Kussia and Poland. Both powers bound

themselves to carry on the war actively, and to make no separ-

ate treaties. Russia promised to compel the Cossack Palei to

restore the towns which he had taken from Poland in the

Ukraine, to give up to Poland at the end of the war all his

conquests in Livonia, to furnish a contingent of 12,000 men,

well armed, with sufficient ammunition and supplies, for the

next year, 1705, to give the King 200,000 rubles (83,000Z.), for

the support of his army, and to make similar annual payments

for every year the war lasted.

Immediately after this. Prince Eepnin, with twelve regi-

ments of infantry and cavalry, was sent toward Polotsk to act

ixnder the Polish orders, but with strict instructions not to as-

sist in any general engagement. Peter felt sure that the Poles

would be beaten m a general battle, and wished to harass the

enemy by small skirmishes. Field-marshal Sheremetief was

also ordered to Polotsk, in order to make an attack on the troops

of Lewenhaupt in Curland during the winter, when the rivers

were frozen. By means of Mazeppa, the Cossack Pal^i was en-

ticed to Moscow and exiled to Siberia. His private property

was confiscated, and the towns which he had seized were re-

stored to the Poles.

The war in Poland had been going on with varying success.

While Charles had marched upon Lemberg in Galicia, which
he had captured with great booty, Augustus had plucked up
courage, and with an accession of troops had surprised Warsaw,
nearly capturing his rival, Stanislas. General Arvid Horn, the

Swedish commander, was not so lucky, and after a two days'

siege in the Warsaw citadel was obliged to surrender. Some of

the family of Stanislas were captured, as well as the Bishop of

Posen, who had declared him king. The latter was sent to

Eome for judgment. The Primate Eadziejowski succeeded in

escaping to Thorn, where he died vidthin a year.

Augustus was joined in Warsaw by eleven Eussian regi-

ments, as well as by the Saxon troops under Field-marshal

Schulenburg ; but although he had now 40,000 troops, he did
not feel strong enough to attack Charles, and, finding that the
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Swedes were proceeding toward Warsaw by forced marches, he
abandoned his capital, and took refuge first in Cracow and then

in Dresden, while his army dispersed. Patkul was ordered to

abandon the siege of Posen some hours before the time he had

fixed for storming it. Charles, after occupying Warsaw, rapidly

followed up Schulenburg, who had joined Patkul, and defeated

him near Punitz. Four Russian regiments defended them-

selves with great vigour against Wellingk. They refused the

capitulation which the Swedes offered them ; they resolved to

defend themselves to the last man in the village which they oc-

cupied ; and the most of them either were killed or perished in

the flames. The Swedish soldiers had an opportunity of seeing

the difference between the Eussian soldiers of Narva, in lYOO,

and those of 1704.

After having thoroughly cleared Poland of Russians and

Saxons, the Swedish army took up their winter quarters along

the boundary of Silesia, where, in the town of Eawicz, Charles

passed the whole winter and the greater part of the summer of

1705.'

' Fryxell, I. ; Sarauw ; Lundblad, I. ; TJstrialof , IV. xiv.
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THE CAMPAIGN IN CUKLAND.—1705.

The five years between the capture of Narva and Dorpat

and the battle of PoMva were for Peter years of anxiety and

distress. The burden of the war came upon Kussia ; its issue

was always uncertain. Rebellions in Astrakhan, among the

Bashkirs, and among the Cossacks of the Don, added to the

dangers and difficulties arising from the universally prevailing

discontent. At intervals Peter suffered greatly in health, and

even his domestic happiness, as we have already seen, was al-

loyed with regrets and presentiments.

At the end of December, 1704, Peter went from Narva to

Moscow, which he entered with a triumphal procession, in

which the Swedish prisoners took part, and many of the guns of

ISTarva were shown. On March 1 he went to Yoronezh, where

he remained two months, occupying himself still with building

new ships and planning new dockyards. While there he was

alarmed by a report that the Swedes were contemplating an in-

vasion of Lithuania. Fortunately it turned out to be false, as

Charles, with all his troops, was then in winter quarters at

Kawicz. Nevertheless, Peter wished to join the army, but, as

we know, was detained for more than a month by a fever at the

country house of Theodore Golovin.' Menshikof, we remem-
ber, came to Moscow, full of anxiety, to see him, but Peter had
already recovered, and, after passing his birthday at Preobraz-

hensky, was able, about the middle of June, to start for the

front by the way of Smolensk and Vitebsk. We learn from
the Austrian agent that, on his departure, orders were given

that during the.whole time of his absence prayers should be

See Vol. I., page 438.
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said in the churches on every Wednesday and Friday, and that

business on those days should absokitely cease. This may have

fallen in with the feelings of the pious Russians of that time,

but it must have been disastrous to the commercial interests of

the country.'

At Polotsk he found waiting for him a numerous and well-

disciplined army, composed of 40,000 infantry and 20,000 cav-

alry, ' all in such good order that no German troops are better

mounted, exercised, and armed.' This Peter owed to the expe-

rienced General Ogilvy, who, on the recommendation of Patkul,

had left the Austrian to enter the Russian service. Although

Peter had generally followed Ogilvy's advice as to reorganising

the army, and had given him the rank of field-marshal, yet he
refused to make him the general-in-ehief, preferring to reserve

this post for a Russian. Ogilvy was liked by the soldiers, but

found it difficult to get on with the Russian officers. Although

he may have known some other Slav language, he was ignorant

of Russian, was compelled to treat with the other generals

through an iaterpreter, and, as a foreigner, was disliked and

suspected by them. It had been arranged in the contract with

Ogilvy that he was always to have a separate command, and we
have seen that he was actually the commander-in-chief during

the siege of E"arva. He had difficulty iu acting in harmony,

not only with Repnin, who was his subordinate, but also with

Sherem^tief, who was his equal in point of rank, and the only

other field-marshal ia the Russian service. Peter, while at

Yoronezh, thought to solve the difficulty by putting all the cav-

alry under the command of Sherem^tief, and the infantry under

that of Ogilvy. This arrangement was equally displeasing to

both, and if Peter had had any real military experience, he

would have immediately seen its impracticability. The problem

was finally solved by sending Sheremetief, with a separate com-

mand, into Curland to operate against Lew'enhaupt.

After issuing a proclamation to the Poles, stating that the

Russian troops entered Poland ia consequence of his alliance

with the King and the Republic, Peter started with all his army

for Wilna.

' TJatrialof, IV. (Snd pt.) p.' 643. No official decree of this kind is on

record.
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The evening before the inarch there had been a regi-ettable

occurrence, owing to Peter's hasty temper. With some of his

officers he had, out of curiosity, visited a monastery not far

from Polotsk, belonging to the Uniates, or United Greeks, a

Peter StHking the Priest in the Mon.astery.

sect which, originally Orthodox, and still keeping many Eastern
rites, had been forced by the PoHsh kings to^'subm'it to the
jurisdiction of the Ptoman Pope. The priests and monks of
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this sect were far more fanatical than genuine Catholics, and
instead of satisfying the Tsar's curiosity, and politely answering
his questions, as Catholics frequently had done before and did
afterward, they were rude and impolite. On passing behind
the altar-screen, Peter was told to retire, as adversaries of the
faith like him were not allowed there. Seeing one picture
more richly adorned than the others, he asked what scene it

represented. They answered :
' The martyr Josaphat.' ' And

what does the axe in his hand mean? ' asked the Tsar. ' That
is the instrument with which the heretical Eussians martyred
him,' was the reply.' Peter, indignant and angry, if the Eoman
account can be credited, struck the priest in the face, and then
ordered his suite to arrest the priests and monks, and try them
as traitors—for some of them had been Eussians, and they were
accused of corresponding with the Swedes and of upholdiag the

party of Stanislas. Seeing the small number of Peter's suite,

the monks resisted, and the Eussians drew their swords, and in

a general scuffle four monks were killed, and a fifth—a Eus-
sian subject, a convert from orthodoxy—^was arrested, con-

demned to death, and hanged on the following day. Peter so

regretted this affair that he felt it necessary, on arriving at

Wilna, to publish a manifesto in exculpation of himself, giving

a mild version of the whole matter—bad enough even ia that

form. It is probable that the wine drunk at the supper at

Oginski's, just before, had much to do with it.

Two weeks after Peter's arrival at Wilna, he was greatly

disturbed by a despatch from Sheremetief, stating that he had
been badly defeated by the Swedes under Lewenhaupt.

When Charles XII., in 1702, advanced into Lithuania, he
left behind him in Curland a tolerably strong force under the

command of General Stuart ; but, as that general was still suf-

fering from the wound he had received at the landing on Zea-

land, the command usually devolved on Count Adam Lewen-

haupt, a nephew of Count Gustavus Adolphus Lewenhaupt, the

celebrated field-marshal in the time of Charles X. He had

' Josaphat Knntsevitch, Bishop of Polotsk, a, leader of the TTniates, was

killed by a mob at Vitebsk in 1623. In consequence of the miracles at his

tomb he was beatified in 1643 by Pope Urban VIII. , and he was finally canon-

ised in 1867.
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studied in the universities of Lund, Upsala, Wittenberg, and

Eostock, where he had gained that fluency in speaking Latin

which made him frequently useful as interpreter in the negotia-

tions with the Poles, and which was at the same time so rare

among soldiers that it gained him from his brother officers the

nickname of ' The Latin colonel.' He had received his mili-

tary education in Holland and Hungary. Though in the high-

est degree personally brave, he tried to leave nothing to the

chance of war, but studied and weighed every movement, and

looked after the lives of his soldiers, sparing them useless dan-

gers and difficulties. He was the exact opposite of the school

of officers which had been formed around King Charles, and

was frequently an object of their jests. Charles himself re-

spected Lewenhaupt's great qualities, and did him justice, but

never entered into confidential relations with him. It was en-

tirely owing to Lewenhaupt that the Swedes had been able to

maintain themselves with honour in Curland. "With 10,000 men,

which gradually became reduced to 7,000, he had on several oc-

casions beaten Poles, Saxons, and Kussians, besides obtaining

frequent successes in mere partisan and guerilla warfare. In

1Y03, with 1,300 men, he had, at Sehagarini, beaten Oginski,

who commanded 6,500 Russians, Lithuanians, and Poles, and this

with a loss of only forty men. In 1Y04, he had again beaten

the combined Kussians and Poles at Jacobstadt, even after his

Polish allies, commanded by the young Sapieha, had taken pre-

cipitate flight, and had occupied Birze. In his manner of car-

rying on the war, he formed an exception to the generals of

either side. "While the whole of this Polish war was a con-

tinued course of murders, slaughters, massacres, devastations,

and conflagrations, Lewenhaupt distinguished himself by re-

specting the lives and properties of the peaceful inhabitants

of the country through which he marched. In 1Y04, he had
indeed burnt a number of villages in Lithuania, but only on the

express orders of Charles, in order to put down the adherents

of Augustus. Through his unusual mildness, he had so gained
the hearts of the inhabitants of Eiga and Curland that they
were accustomed to say :

' Good Swedes we are not, but we are

good Lewenhaupters.'

The object of the Eussian campaign was to annihilate the
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army of Lewenhaupt, drive him out of Curland, and attack

Eiga. Eeval would thus be cut off from all communication
with the Swedes, except by sea, and the Russian army, in its

further operations against the Swedes, would not have to fear

any attack in the rear. For this purpose, Sheremetief, with

eight regiments of dragoons and three of infantry, amounting
altogether to about 10,000 men, set out in the direction of Mitau.

General Bauer made a dash on Mitau, penetrated the outside

defences, and produced such a general panic that the comman-
dant had barely time to escape into the citadel. He returned

with many prisoners and trophies. Lewenhaupt immediately

came to the assistance of Mitau, but it was too late. The Rus-
sians had gone. He advanced and took up a position at Ge-
mauerthof, a few miles to the south-west. Here, on July 26,

Sheremetief attacked him, and was completely defeated. The
Russian loss was great. The Russians themselves admitted

1,000 men killed, while the Swedes claimed that 6,000 coi-pses

strewed the ground. The Swedes lost about 2,000 in killed and
wounded. Charles, on hearing of the victory, said :

' Our Latin

colonel does it very cleverly,' and at once promoted him to be

lieutenant-general, and named him governor-general of Riga.

Peter, on hearing of this catastrophe, wrote to Sheremetief,

saying that the fault lay in the bad discipline of the dragoons,

of which he^ had often spoken, and ordered him to concentrate

at Birze, to get all the information he could about the enemy's

movements, and to pimish severely the men who had been dis-

obedient. Three days after, he wrote again :
' Do not be sad

about the misfortune you have had, for constant success has

brought many people to ruin. Forget it, and try to encourage

your men.' After ordering him to cut Lewenhaupt off from

Riga, he himself immediately set out with the Preobrazhensky

regiment and the division of Prince Repnin, in order to meet

him and prevent any movement toward Poland. After his troops

had arrived at Birze, he received intelligence, which at first he

did not wish to believe, but of which he was subsequently con-

vinced, that Lewenhaupt had crossed the Diina, after leaving a

small garrison at Mitau, and was safe in Riga. ' "We have here

a great misfortune,' Peter wrote to Golovln, ' for Lewenhaupt

disappears from us as ITarcissus did from Echo.' Directing
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Sheremetief to encamp on the left bank of the Dilna, oppo-

site to Kiga, Peter attacked Mitau, which, after a short siege,

and a ten-hours' bombardment, capitulated. The fortress of

Bauske followed suit.

It was impossible to begin the siege of Eiga. ISews had

come of what at first appeared to be a formidable rebellion in

Astrakhan, and Sheremetief with part of his force was sent to

put it down. It was of far more importance to resist the ad-

vance of King Charles, who had now subjected Poland, than it

was to take the strong places of Kiga and Keval. Giving up,

therefore, any attempt to hold Curland, Peter went to Grodno,

which had been fixed upon for the winter quarters of the Kus-

sian army. Ogilvy, as the only field-marshal, now had the

sole command. But the question of the proper site for winter

quarters had caused a dispute between him and Menshikof,

which, although settled for the moment, subsequently broke out

in a more violent form. Ogilvy preferred, for military consid-

erations, Meretch, a strong position on the Nieman, about half-

way between Grodno and Kowno. Menshik6f preferredGrodno.

Menshikof was nominally subordinate to Ogilvy, but on the

basis of his confidential relations with the Tsar, and the knowl-

edge he had of his plans and wishes, he sometimes took upon

himself to interfere, in a way prejudicial to all good discipline,

and only to be pardoned by the fact that he so frequently acted

as the Tsar would in reality have acted himself. Among other

things, he compelled the correspondence of Ogilvy with the

Tsar to pass through his hands, fearing, as he says, ' lest by his

pointless and impracticable letters, like the present, he would

bring you into doubt.'

Prom Grodno Peter paid a visit to Tikoczin, about sixty

miles to the south-west, where he inspected the Saxon troops

under General Schulenburg—^not 6,000 men—and the Lithu-

anian regiments of Prince Wisniowiecki, which were encamped

near by. Here he was cheered by a visit from King Augustus,

who, under an assumed name, had made a long circuitous journey

through Hungary, and had passed a whole night in the midst

of the Swedish troops of Rehnskjold. Peter met his aUy a

few miles beyond Tikoczin, and spread on the road before him
six banners of his rival, Stanislas, which had been captured in
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the immediate vicinity of Warsaw by a bold foray of Colonel

Gorbof. Augustus, on his part, had brought the ensigns of his

new order of the White Eagle, which, in default of other hon-

ours and rewards, he had invented to encourage his partisans.'

Apprehending no danger that winter from the Swedes, Peter

entrusted his army to.King Augustus, and about the middle of

December set out for Moscow."

' This Order, which had been originally founded by Vladislas IV., in

1325, and which was thus, after a long interval, renewed under Russian aus-

pices, was, after the partition of Poland, adopted by Russia, and is now one

of the most esteemed Russian decorations. As established by Augustus, the

ensigns consisted of a gold-medal, with the Polish eiifgle on one side and the

legend, Pro Jide, rege, et lege, and on the reverse A. R , the King's initials.

It was worn on a blue ribbon. After 1713, the ensigns were changed to their

present form.
* Solovlef, XV. ; Ustrialof, IV. xv. ; Fryxell ii. ; Theiner; Journal of

Swedish "Wa/r; Guepiu, Saint Joaofphat, Poitiers, 1874.
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GRODNO.—1706.

Charles, witli all his army, remained inactive in his win-

ter quarters at Rawicz until July. He was still occupied with

watching Saxony, and in preparations for the coronation of

Stanislas. The new King and his partisans wished to put off

the ceremony until the country was entirely free from the ad-

hei-ents of Augustus, and no further danger was to be appre-

hended. Charles was too impatient for this. Besides main-

taining the court of hisprotege at his own expense, he paid for

the new crown, sceptre, and regalia which were necessary for

the coronation, for the old were in the possession of Augustus.

IS'either would he allow the ceremony to take place at CracoM'^,

as custom required. That city was too far from the Swedish

cantonments. It was arranged, therefore, that Stanislas should

be crowned, at Warsaw, under the protection of a Swedish force.

General Paykull, with 4,000 Saxons and 600 Poles, advanced

toward Warsaw, hoping to overpower the small Swedish force, but

he was defeated, taken prisoner, and carried to Stockholm, where

he was beheaded as a Livonian traitor. The Primate, Cardinal

Eadziejowski, by law and usage should have performed the cere-

mony of coronation, but he had been suspended by the Pope
for the part which he had taken against Augiistus, and Zielin-

ski, the Archbishop of Lemberg, was persuaded to officiate at

th^ ceremony, which took place on October 4, under Swedish
management. The Swedish envoys occupied the places which
had formerly been filled by Polish magnates. Even the medal
struck to commemorate the coronation represented the Polish

ship of State steered by the Gothic lion, and bearing on its

banner the words ' Under so powerful a guidance.' The oppo-
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site party also struck a medal—on one side the effigy of the
new King, with the inscription, ' Stanislas, by God's grace King
of Poland,' and on the reverse an actor in crown and robes,

with the inscription, ' King as long as the comedy lasts.' Peter,

in one of his merry moods, had his court-fool crowned as King
of Sweden, with all sorts of laughable ceremonies.

When the coronation was over, the long-desired peace was
at last concluded between Sweden and Poland. Charles de-

manded the restoration of Sapieha to all his rights and dignities,

and special favours for the Protestant religion and for Swedish
trade. 'No indemnity, however, was asked for the expenses of

the war. In this Charles carried out the promise which he
had made on entering the country, and this measure was re-

ceived with great satisfaction in Poland, but not with equal

pleasure in Sweden, which was rapidly becoming exhausted by
the demands made upon it for men, money, and stores.

Although peace was made, yet there M^as in reality no peace.

The greater portion of the country neither recognised its con-'

ditions nor the right of Stanislas to make it. The state of

Poland was siich that even the wife of the newly crowned King
did not dare to remain in Poland, but went for security into

Pomerania.

In previous years, the Swedish troops had always gone into

winter quarters during the autumn, and military operations had
been practically suspended during the winter. This year, how-

ever, Charles had remained inactive during the whole of the

summer, and he now, late in December, 1705, was still en-

camped in the open fields at Blonnie, just north of "Warsaw.

The soldiers were not allowed to go to the villages and lodge

in the peasants' huts, and the King himself fared no better.

"When the cold was too severe, he resorted to the old method
of warming his tent by red-hot cannon-shot. His kitchen was

so far away that his food frequently became entirely cold, and

the spoons and forks were covered with frost on reaching the

table. Suddenly, the very end of December, Charles broke up

his camp and marched eastward, no one knew whither, although

all supposed that he had at last resolved on recovering the

Baltic provinces. It was soon seen that he was advancing toward

Grodno.
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Tlie march of Charles was so rapid that in two weeks from

leaving the Vistula he had arrived on the banks of the Nieman.

The severe cold, which froze all the rivers, aided him. Charles

arrived in sight of Grodno on January 24, 1706, bringing his

artillery with him, but having left his baggage to follow. The
next morning he crossed the Meman, two miles below Grodno.

The dragoons of General Ronne, who had just arrived from
Pultusk, attempted to hinder the passage, but they were so

startled by the King with 600 grenadiers crossing the river on
the ice in advance of the other troops, that they mounted their

horses, and after a brief exchange of shots retired to Grodno.

The Swedes advanced to the very walls of Grodno, made a pro-

longed reconnaissance, and finally, seeing the impossibility of

carrying the town by storm, and without a 'long siege, retired,

and went into camp a few miles ofp. Difficulty of provisioning

the army rendered a still farther retreat necessary, and King
Charles finally took up his quarters at Zheludok, on the Nie-

'man, fifty miles above Grodno. Here he remained for two
months.

The. Russians were mucli surprised at the arrival of the

Swedes. Although they knew that Charles had crossed the

Vistula, they did not feel at all certain that Grodno was the ob-

ject of his march, and Ogilvy had presented to King Augustus
a plan for a campaign based on very different theories. Grodno
stood in a strong position on the right bank of the Nieman,
and the Eussians had during the autumn of 1705 surrounded it

with a new line of earthworks. The Eussian troopi^ at that

time in the town amounted to nearly 40,000 men, the best that

the country had yet had under arms. A council of war was
called, presided over by King Augustus, to discuss whether
they should march out and attack the Swedes, whether they
should remain in Grodno and endure a siege, or whether they
should retreat. There was, indeed, danger that the Swedes
might cut them off from Eussia, and th^y knew that they were
not provisioned for a long siege. Ogilvy was strongly in favour
of remaining. He urged the sacrifice of the artillery which
would be necessitated by the retreat, the loss of life which would
be caused by a march in the extreme cold weather, the aban-
donment of the garrison at Tikoczin, the certainty of pursuit
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by the Swedes, which would result in making Eussia the

tlieatre of the war, and, above all, the ridicule and mockery to

which he would be exposed for thus suddenly abandoning a

strong place without what seemed to him sufficient reasons. It

must be remembered that Ogilvy was not a Russian, that his

service in the armies of various countries made him think more
of war as an art than as a painful necessity. He would almost

have preferred to be beaten according to the laws of war than

to be victorious in spite of tliem. The majority of the council

was strongly in favour of retreat, but King Augustus, fearing

that he might be accusgji of causing, in this way, the invasion

of Russia, resolved to take what he called a middle term, and

presented the conclusions -of the council to the Tsar, for his sole

decision. Meanwhile, the army was to remain at Grodno ; but

Augustus himself, taking four regiments of dragoons, went

hastily ofE to Warsaw, promising Ogilvy, however, that in three

weeks' time he would return with a Saxon army, which was

then advancing against the corps of Rehnskjold, with the full

expectation of beating it.

Peter had only just arrived at Moscow when he received

news of the Swedish advance. He at first was disinclined to

believe it, and wrote to Menshikof to ask for certain intelligence.

' From whom did you receive it ?
' he said. ' And can it be be-

lieved ? How many such reports there were in my time !
' Or-

dering Menshikof to send out parties of soldiers to guard the

road by which he would travel, he promised to start at once.

Meantime both Menshikof and Ogilvy sent reassuring letters,

first that the Swedes would probably not come to Grodno, and

then that in any case they were entirely safe, and could resist

all the winter, and that he need give himself no anxiety. On
January 24, the same day that Charles arrived in sight of

Grodno, Peter set out from Moscow, in spite of what he called

' the indescribable frost.' The day before, he had written that

his right cheek was badly swollen, but that nevertheless he

would set out, and hoped to be with the army in a week's time.

' I am mightily sorry to leave here, because I am occupied with

collecting -taxes, and with other necessary things for the opera-

tions on the Volga. Therefore I beg you, if there is any

change, to send some one to me, so that I may not drag myself
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along without reason (alas ! I can scarcely do it) ; and if affairs

do not change, I shouldJike you to send me news every day, so

that I can, if possible, hasten my journey.' The weather was

such that Peter could not ti-avel as fast as he had expected. It

took him ten days to reach Smolensk, and after staying there a

day, and having no further news, he set out for Grodno. After

proceeding sixty miles, he was met by Menshikof, with the un-

welcome intelligence that the Swedes had entirely surrounded

Grodno, that it was impossible for him to get there, and that

'

in all probability the place would be assaulted. Menshikof had

left the place on ^he approach of the Swedes, in consequence of

the orders he had received from Peter to come and meet him

on the road. This was at Dubrovna. The Tsar wrote to

Ogilvy that if he had sure news of the approach of the Saxon

army, and if he had provisions and forage to last for three

months, to stay in Grodno ; but if there were no certain intelli-

gence thf^t the Saxons were coming, not to trust to mere

rumour, but to retreat to the Kussian frontier by the shortest

and easiest way, lest the enemy might cut him off by a move-

ment on "Wilna, in which case his staying in Grodno would be

of n9 service. ' However, I leave all to your judgment, for it

is iippossible to give an order at the distance at which we are.

While we write, your time is passing. What is best for safety

and profit, that do with every caution. Do not forget the

words of my comrade [Menshikof], who on his departure urged

you to look more to the safety of the troops than to anything

else. Pay no regard to the heavy guns. If it is on account of

them that retreat is difficult, burst them or throw them into

the Nieman.'

Ogilvy in reply said that he could not retreat because the

rivers were frozen, and the Swedes would come up to him with

their cavalry; that the artillery could not be withdrawn, as

there were no horses, and even the dragoons had no horseshoes

;

that in general the army was badly disorganised, and that he
did not wish to sacrifice the Saxon army, which was already on
its march. He had therefore resolved to stay there tUl summer,
hoping either that the Swedes would go away, or that he would
be joined by the Saxons. He added at the same time com-

plaints against Menshikof for having gone away and left him



1'706.] GKODNO IN STEAITS. 39

in those straits, as well as for advising the commandant of
Tikoczin to blow up that fort and retire, and repeated all the
objections to the retreat which he had previously urged in the
council of war. Then, as before and after, he complained of
the impossibility of working harmoniously with the Eussian
officers, who refused to obey him, but reported to Menshikof
rather than to him. He was particularly severe against Eonne
and Prince Kepnin. He even ventured a suspicion that the
suite of Menshikof was in relations with the enemy. In sub-
sequent despatches he made many demands for the exact pay-
ment of his salary, for reinforcements, especially recommending
that 20,000 well-armed noblemen shoiild be organised into

troops on the Eussian frontier, and asked for a train of several

hundred cainels.

Eepnin had written that things were not so bad as they
seemed, and that in all probability they could hold out success-

fully, but that they were very suspicious of their commander-
in-chief, for he had been in constant correspondence with King
Augustus, and the Eussians did not know what it was all

about. There were rumours that he intended to retreat toward
Warsaw. To Eepnin Peter replied that no movement toward
Warsaw must be thought of ; that it would be better, in any
case, to retreat toward the Eussian frontier, after throwing the

heavy guns into the river ; but that if they had sufficient pro-

visions, and were certain that the Saxon army was approaching,

they might hold out till spring. At the same time, he begged
King Augustus to come with his troops to the assistance of

Grodno, and to bring them a convoy of provisions. He replied

also to the report of Ogilvy, saying that the dispersion of the

cavalry was his own fault, as he had himself arranged the sta-

tions for their winter quarters. ' As to camels, you yourself

know how many there are of them in Moscow. We have sent

down the Yolga for them, but they cannot come quickly, and

such a number as you want cannot be found. As to placing

20,000 good and well-armed noblemen on the frontier, it is

very astonishing that you propose such an unheard-of affair.

Where is that number of noblemen to be taken from ? In very

truth, it is easy to write and to order, and to do nothing your-

self.' Promising to do what he could, he ordered Mazeppa
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and his Cossacks to advance through Yolynia toward Minsk,-

with provisions and forage, and made arrangements for their

reception at Brzesc. At the same time, Peter took up the idea

of protecting the westei-n frontier of Eussia by means of walls

and ditches, and cutting down trees through the forest region

from Pskof to Briansk, and farther into the steppe. Cyril

Naryshkin, the commandant of Dorpat, and the engineer Kortch-

min, now a captain of the guard; were entrusted with this, and

after two months of hard work had gone far toward the fulfil-

ment of his orders.

At Grodno there were two difficulties. Forage and provi-

sions were rapidly giving out, and the letters and orders of

Eetcr could not be read. They were all written in cipher,

and Ronne had lost the key. Meanwhile the Saxon army,

so impatiently expected at Grodno, had been defeated at

Fraustadt, on the Silesian frontier, by Kehnskjold. Prussian

Jews first brought the intelligence, but no one wished to be-

lieve it.

Peter was angry and disappointed, and that made him un-

just. He wrote to Golovin

:

' Heee Admiral : Before this I wrote to you of an unwished-

for catastrophe, which I had heard from outsiders. Now, we
have full information that all the Saxon army has been beaten by
Kehnskjold, and has lost all its artillery. The treachery and
cowardice of the Saxons are now plain—30,000 men beaten by
8,000 ! The cavalry, without firing a single round, ran away

;

more than half of the infantry, throwing down their muskets,

disappeared, leaving our men alone, not half of whom, I think,

are now alive. God knows what grief this news has brought
us, and by giving money we have only bought ourselves mis-
fortune. In this occurrence the treachery of Patkul will be
plain, for I really think that he was taken prisoner only that no
one might know about his treacherous conduct. The above-
mentioned calamity, as well as the betrayal of the King by his
own subjects, you can tell everybody (kit put it much more
mildly), for it cannot remain a secret. Still, tell it in detail to
very few.'

As soon as he had full details of the defeat at Fraustadt,
Peter wrote to Ogilvy, ordering him to begin his retreat at the
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earliest possible date, although he thought it would be better to

take advantage of the breaking up of the ice on the river,

which would hinder the Swedes from crossing and following

liim. He recommended him to take with him nothing except

the three-pounders, and to throw all the rest of the artillery

into the Nieman, and to conceal or destroy all munitions that

he could not carry with him. lie advised him to retreat toward

Slutsk, which was a strong place, and where he would be met by
the Cossacks, and could make good his march toward Ivief, for

it was impossible to go either toward Wilna or Kowno. He
bade him at the same time keep his preparations secret. Two
days afterward, he repeated the same instructions. Ogilvy, in

reply, said that he would obey the orders and retreat toward

Brzesc. At the same time, he thought it would be better to

remain there the whole summer. ' Don't think of remaining in

Grodno till summer,' answered Peter, 'for the enemy, after

resting and getting growing forage, will not easily leave you,

while, on the contrary, their numbers will be increased by the
corps of Kehnskjold.' After thus giving Ogilvy orders too

strict to be disobeyed, and sending Prince Basil Dolgoriiky to

King Augustus, at Cracow, to explain the reasons of the retreat,

Peter left Minsk, where he had been during a month, for St.

Petersburg, giving the command of the troops collected there

to Menshikof

.

At Toropetz he celebrated the name's-day of his son, the

Tsarevitch Alexis, and passed Easter at Narva. ' To-day,' he

wrote to Menshikof, ' after morning service, we w^ent to your

house and broke our fast, and at the end of the day finished our

merriment there. In verity, praise be to God, we were merry,

but our merriment without you, or away from you, is like food

without salt.' This letter was signed first by Menshikof's sister,

and then by the ' Proto-Diacon ' Peter, and all his companions,

including even the servants.

On that very day, April 4, the Russian troops began their

retreat from Grodno. Three days afterward they were joined

by Menshikof. After taking up the garrison at Tikoczin, they

reached Brzesc on April 15, Kovel on the 24th, and Kief on

May 19. Between Grodno and Kief the country was entirely

covered by forests and morasses, formed by the river Pripet
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and its tributaries. It was difficulty if not impossible, for tlie

army to take the route recommended by Peter, toward Slutsk,

for Charles and his troops barred the way. The only available

road was that by" the way of Brzesc, but it was going around

half the circumference of a circle. Charles, who was attentively

watching the movements of the Kussians, and ready to attack

them the moment they left their fortified camp, had occupied

Wilna on the one side, and had prepared a bridge at Orle, five

miles above Zheludok, in order to attack them if they retreated

into Yolynia. His calculations were disturbed by the breaking

up of the ice on the iNienian, which carried away his bridge,

and for a week he could not move. At last his bridge was re-

paired, and he started in pursuit, but too late, for the Russians

were already at Brzesc. Thinking to cut off their retreat, he
advanced directly southward on the diameter of the circle, and

the first day marched quickly over twenty-five miles. 'It is

impossible to describe,' says the eye-witness, Adlerfeld, ' how
men and horses suffered in this march. The country was
covered with marshes, the spring had thawed out the ground,

the cavalry could scarcely move, the waggon-train got so deep

in the mud that it was impossible to advance, the King's car-

riage remained in the mire, while, as to provisions, we fared so

badly that every one was happy who, in that desolate country,

could puU a piece of dry bread out of his pocket.' As the

Swedes advanced into the forest region called Polesie, it was
stiU. worse. At last Charles saw the impossibiiity of catching

lip with the Kussian army, and remained for two whole montiis

in this swampy region, in the district of Pinsk, destroying the

towns and villages, which were inhabited either by the partisans

of Augustus or by the Little Russian Cossacks. Finally, after

devastating the whole country, he turned into "Volynia, gave his

troops three weeks' rest, and, leaving Lutsk in the middle of

July, returned to Saxony.

To one of his reports about the retreat, Menshikof added
the postscript :

' I do not doubt that you will be very desirous

to come to us ; therefore, when you start, I beg you order our
ladies to go to Smolensk. Our route lies toward Kief, whence,
if the enemy does not follow us, we will advance to Bykhof, so

as to take up our quarters between Kief and Smolensk.'
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'Mem. Bruder,' replied Peter to Menshikof, from St. Peters-

burg, on May 10, 'it was with indescribable joy that I received

the old man with letters when I was at Kronslot on the vice-

admiral's ship "Elephant," and immediately, in thanks to God,

we had a triple salute from the ships and the fort. God grant

in joy to see you and the whole army again. And how glad,

and then how noisy we were on accoimt of it, the old man
himself will teU For the good news that he brought us

we gave him the rank of ensign, and I beg you to confirm it to

him. To tell the truth, we were aU glad to hear of these

things, for, although we live in paradise, still we always had a

pain in our hearts. Here, praise be to God, aU is well, and

there is nothing new of any sort. "We shall start from here next

month. Don't doubt about my coming. If God send no ob-

stacle, I shall certainly start at the end of this month. Earlier

than that it is impossible, alas ! not because I am amusing my-
self, but the doctors have ordered me to keep stiU and take

medicine for two weeks, after bleeding me, which they began

yesterday. Immediately after that I shall come, for you your-

self have seen in what state I was when we were separated

from the army.'

Peter, however, did not start before the middle of June,

and arrived at Kief about the middle of July, having been met
at Smolensk by Menshikof. Here he waited for six weeks, still

expecting a Swedish invasion of Russia. As some protection

against that, he set about building a new fortress around the

great Petcherskaya Lavra of Kief, as Menshikof had suggested.

The fortifications of what was called Old Kief, standing on the

low range above the still more modern town on the very bank

of the Dnieper, were then abandoned, and left to fall in ruins.

The fortified monastery stiU crowns the summit of the hill,

commanding a distant and lovely view over the winding river

and the broad plains to the east of it.

The difficulties between Menshikof and Ogilvy had been of

late constantly increasing. Menshikof had not forwarded to the

Tsar Ogilvy's reports written during the retreat, on the pretext

that there was nothing in them that Peter could not learn from his

own letters, and on several occasions Menshikof had interfered

with Ogilvy's orders, and in Kief, without the field-marshal's
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knowledge, had had a salute fired for the victory over the rebels

of Astrakhan. As Menshikof himself wrote :
' This caused us a

little contra with the field-marshal. Still, after that he came to

church where we w^ere, stood a long time silent, but treated us

in a very friendly and politic way, and said nothing about it.'

Both from Kovel and Lutsk, Ogilvy had written asking, on ac-

count of ill-health, to be relieved from service, and allowed to

leave Russia. In numerous letters he ha4 complained of the

meddling of Menshikof, and had asked for strict instructions as

to who was to be the commander-in-chief, as he did not wish to

be saddled with the responsibility for the acts of others. ' The
general of the cavalry, without my knowledge, in the name of

Your Majesty, ordered the whole army to go to Bykhof, and

took on himself the air of commander-in-chief. He has about

him a guard of infantry and cavalry with waving banners, and

makes no account of me. Since then I have learned that, by
his orders. Major Holland robbed a merchant from Breslau

whom I had entrusted with taking to my sister-in-law various

things which I had bought at IGef, as though they had been

wrongly obtained. Loving my honour more than my life, I

beg and demand satisfaction. Long as I have been at war,

nowhere and never have people treated me so badly as here.'

King Augustus interfered in favour of Ogilvy, and wrote to

Menshiltof: '^Notwithstanding all his bad acts, we must let

him go kindly and with politeness, and even with presents, so

that he should not speak ill of the Tsar and of Your Highness.

For presents he is very greedy, and is ready to sell his soul for

them.' There were probably wrongs and misunderstandings

on both sides. Ogilvy, while appreciating certain qualities of

the Russians, neither vmderstood them nor had confidence in

them. The Russian ofiicers found it diflicult to obey a for-

eigner whose orders they did not understand, and of whom,
from the simple fact of his being a foreigner, they were
suspicious. Menshikof, feeling himself to be the personal rep-

resentative of the Tsar, certainly interfered in. many M^ays

with Ogilvy's plans and orders, and his conduct was always
either condoned or approved by his master. The simplest way,
therefore, of settling the difliculty was to accept Ogilvy's res-

ignation, and in October his formal papers were given to him,
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and his salary was paid in full. He seemed contented, and

went away to Saxony, where he entered the service of King

Augustus with the rank of field-marshal, and died four years

later at Danzig. He was solemnly interred at "Warsaw.

It now being ascei-tained that the Swedish troops had

marched toward Saxony, Peter left Kief and returned to St.

Petersburg.'

' Sjogren, PayTcuU ; Fryxell, i. ; Lundblad, i. ; Saranw : Solovief, xv.
;

Ustrialof, rv. ch. xvii ; Journal of Swedish War ; G-olikof

.
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AUGUSTUS AT LAST RESIGNS THE POLISH CROWN.—1706.

Even in 1702 the Frencli liad suggested to diarlesthe

possibility of compelling the abdication of Augustus by an in-

vasion of Saxony, and there had been hints that even Saxony

should be taken away from him. There were many Swedes

who wished this with all their hearts, as they .thought that thus

an end would sooner be put to the war. "When Charles was en-

camped so long at Kawicz, on the Silesian frontier, there was

much talk on the subject, and many hoped that what they

wished would now be done.

But as England, Holland, and Austria all protested against

a, step so fraught with danger to them, Charles resolved to

banish all thoughts of it from his mind, and carefully avoid

any further entanglement in the general policy of Europe. But

he saw that although Stanislas was crowned, he was kept in

place by Swedish arms only. Wherever the Swedish soldiers

were, the country was for Stanislas ; the moment they were

withdrawn, the country was against Stanislas. While in Yo-

lynia, Piper, who had up to that time been against an invasion

of Saxony, communicated to the King the news of the French

defeat at Eamillies, which made him very anxious, for he saw

that the successes gained by the allies had encouraged the

partisans of Augustus, and he feared lest the war of dethrone-

ment in Poland might last many years yet. He therefore sug-

gested to the King that after all he might be compelled to

invade Saxony, for otherwise it would be impossible to bring

Augustus to an abdication. Charles at once became thoughtful,

turned it over in his mind, called a council of war, and after

listening patiently to the arguments of both sides, said ttat he
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had decided on the invasion. Leaving General Marderfelt, with

6,000 Swedes and about double the number of Poles, to keep

order in Poland, Charles, with his main army, having taken

Augustu King of Poland,

about six weeks to traverse the kingdom, crossed the Silesian

frontier near Herrnstadt at the end of August, 1706.

It was necessary to pass through Austrian dominions in

order to reach Saxony, but Charles asked no consent of the

Emperor. Augustus had several times broken the Austrian

neutrality in a similar way, and why should Charles hesitate ?
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Nevertheless lie kept liis troops in good order, marched as

rapidly as possible, and reached the Saxon frontier five days

after he had crossed the Oder. After swimming over the Oder
at the head of his cavalry, he had indeed been received by
deputations of Silesian Protestants, who complained to him of

the persecution they endured at the hands of their sovereign,

and he had been rash enough to promise them redress.

The Swedish invasion produced great alarm in Saxony.

Every one knew the tradition of the ' Kuhstall,' and had heard

of the Swedish plunderings and devastations during the Thirty

Years' "War. The alarm bells were still called the Swedish

bells, and naughty children were awed with the ' Swede-song.'

The royal family made haste to leave Dresden. The wife of

Augustus, Queen Christina Eberhardina, fled to her father, the

Margriave of Baireuth. Her son, the future Augustus III., then

ten years old, took refuge with his uncle, the King of Denmark.

The King's mother, the widowed Electress Anna Sophia, the

own cousin of Charles, went to Hamburg. The jewels and

State papers were sent to the fortress of Konigstein, where the

Sobieski princes were also confined, and many families took ref-

uge in Brandenburg and the neighbouring German towns. We
have seen that two years before this Augustus had already had
enough of the war, and had serious thoughts of giving it up.

The sudden invasion of Saxony, the news of which he received

while in camp at !Novogrudka, made him still more desirous of

peace, and ready to do almost anything to secure it. Several

of his predecessors had resigned the thorny Polish crown.

Could he not follow their example ? Poland had done almost

nothing for him, and Saxony, his hereditary State, had made
heavy sacrifices in his interest, not its own. It had given over

36,000 troops, over 800 cannon, and over 8,000,000 livres to

keep him on the Polish throne. "Weary of the struggle, and
compassionate toward his own Saxons, from whom he could

neither ask nor expect more, Augustus readily yielded to the

suggestion of his mistress, the Countess Kozelska, and secretly

sent the Cameral President, Baron von Imhoff, and the Ref-

erendary Pfingsten to the Swedish army with proposals of

peace. The plenipotentiaries at first tried to persuade Piper to

abate somewhat the demands of his master. They promised
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that Stanislas should be declared the heir of the Polish throne,

and meanwhile receive a considerable appanage. They then

proposed to give Lithuania to Stanislas, and leave Poland to

Augustus ; but Charles was inexorable. To the suggestion that

he should receive some extension to the Swedish possessions

around Bremen, he answered, ' Memini ine esse Alexandintm

non mercatorem,,^ and dictated the following conditions : That
Augustus should for ever give up the Polish crown, recognise

Stanislas as King of Poland, and never think of reigning again

even in case of Stanislas's death; that he should refuse all

alliances with other Powers in this matter, and especially with

Russia ; that the two princes Sobieski should be set at liberty

;

that all Swedish-born subjects who were in the Saxon army,

especially Patkul, should be delivered up, while an amnesty

should be given to all Saxon subjects in the Swedish service.

The Saxon plenipotentiaries thought these conditions too hard,

but were told that if they yielded to them they could probably

obtain some moderation afterward by appealing to the generosity

of King Charles. They therefore finally consented to sign

them, with some variations, for it was agreed that Augustus

should retain the title of ' King,' although not ' King of Po-

land ; ' that he should never make an offensive alliance against

Sweden or Poland; that he should give Tip the Polish regalia

and State papers ; and that the Emperor, England, and Holland

should be invited to become guarantees for the fulfilment of

these conditions, if possible, within six months. During that

time the Swedish army would have its winter quarters in

Saxony, at the expense of the Saxon Government. Is^othing

was stipulated in favour of Sweden, at which the Swedes were

naturally indignant, saying :
' We are always winning battles,

but we get nothing by them.' These conditions were signed by

the Saxon plenipotentiaries at the Chateau of Altranstadt,' on

October 24, 1706, and the next day Charles declared a truce of

ten weeks. Pfingsten and Imhoff returned to Poland, and met

King Augustus at Piotrkow, where he was the guest of Men-
shikof at the Russian headquarters.

Augustus had met Menshikof at Lublin. He reviewed the

' Or Alt Ranstadt, as it is also spelled by some authorities.

Vol. 11.-4
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Eussian troops, seemed well pleased with them, and was very

merry. Privately, to Menshikof, he complained of his great

want of money, and said that he was so poor that he had noth-

ing to eat. Menshikof, seeing his straits, gave him 10,000

ducats of his own. In reporting this to Peter, Menshikof

urged that something should be done for the King, as there

could be no hope from Saxony, where Charles was collecting

1T0,000 ducats a month. Peter, who, though ignorant of what

was occurring in Saxony, was by this time somewhat disgusted

with his ally, replied: 'You know very Well that one always

hears from the King, " Give, give ! Money, money !
" and

you also know how little money we have; however, if the

King is always to be in this evil plight, I think it would be best

to give him strong hopes of being satisfied on my arrival, and I

shall try to come by the quickest route.'

Augustus, the Dissembler and the Unsteady, was very

anxious, so long as he was with the Russian army, to keep the

secret of his agreement with the Swedes, and was in a great

quandary, for Menshikof was advancing to crush Marderfelt,

and he could devise no pretext for leaving him. He therefore

begged Pfingsten, on his way back to Saxony, to see Marder-

felt, to tell him that arrangements of peace had been concluded,

and to urge him to retreat and refuse a fight, in order to avoid

bloodshed. Pfingsten, fearing either detention or suspicion of

his mission, did not take that route, and sent Marderfelt the

letter of Augustus, which did not reach him in time. Augus-

tus, in addition, found the pretext of an exchange of prisoners

to send word to Marderfelt and tell him the state of affairs.

The Swedish general refused to believe such a statement, com-

ing from his enemy, and a subsequent message of Augustus to

the same purpose was likewise treated with contempt. Both
Swedes and Poles desired a fight.

A battle finally took place at Kalisz, on October 29, and
after a three-hours' conflict the Swedes were thoroughly beaten,

losing about 3,000 men. The remainder surrendered the next

day. This was the first great battle in which the Russians had
met the Swedes in the open field and had been victorioiis.

Menshikof had had his revenge on Ogilvy.

Augustus could repair what had been done in one way only.
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On the ground that he had been personally present in the bat-

tle, he demanded the disposition of the Swedish prisoners, prom-
ising to exchange them within three months for the Kussian
officers imprisoned at Stockholm, or to return them to the Rus-
sians. Menshikof yielded to the threat of a rupture with Rus-
sia, and once Augustus had the prisoners in his hands, he sent

them to Pomerania on their parole. He himself went to War-
saw, where he assisted at the solemn Te Deum for the vic-

tory of Kalisz, issued a universal forbidding the Poles, under
pain of fire and sword, to assist the Swedes, and at the same
time wrote Charles a letter of excuses and regrets for the bat-

tle. A week after his arrival at "Warsaw, Augustus declared

to Prince Basil Dolgoriiky, the Tsar's commissioner, that he
could not leave Saxony to be ruined, and that he saw no other

means of saving it than by concluding a peace with the King
of Sweden and giving up Poland, but that this would be only

a subterfuge, and as soon as he had got rid of the Swedes he
would raise an army and act as before, in common with the

Tsar. By doing this he had no intention of giving up the

Polish crown, or of abandoning his alliance with Russia. Dol-

goriiky urged him not to take this course, but rather to wait

until the Tsar arrived, and see what he could devise. Augus-

tus said this was impossible ; the Saxon troops were in such

straits that he could not wait for that ; but that if he could

think of another plan he would adopt it. At the same time,

the Yice-Chancellor, in the King's name, asked Prince Dol-

goriiky for an obligation that the Tsar would pay 150,000

ducats in the course of six weeks, which Dolgoriiky promised to

arrange. The next day, November 30, after ordering his Court

to go to Cracow, Augustus left Warsaw secretly in the early

dawn for Saxony, where he had a personal interview with

Charles, and confirmed the treaty of Altranstadt. At the press-

ing request of Charles, he even wrote to Stanislas, congratulat-

ing him upon his accession.'

' Fryxell, i.; Lundblad, I.; Sarauw; UstriSlof, IV. xix ; Solovief, xv.

Herrmann, iv.
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PATKUL.

We have seen that the svtrrender of Patkul was one of the

conditions of the peace of Altranstadt. The political career of

this unhappy man is inseparably connected with the war be-

tween Charles and Peter.

We have already spoken of the way in which Patkul was

identified with the early history of the war, the share he had

in bringing it about, and in forming the alliance between

Augustus and Peter. In the battle on the Diina he was severe-

ly wounded, and was taken to Mitau. Six weeks later, in

September, 1701, Prince Gregory Dolgoriiky, the Kussian envoy

at Warsaw, wrote to the Tsar :
' Patkul has hardly got well

from his wound, but he has been to see me, and said that he

does not intend to serve any longer in Poland, on account of

the way in which the King has treated his allies ; that for a

time he will live in Breslau and look about to find some place

to serve.' Peter, who, like all Patkul's contemporaries, had a

great opinion of his abilities, immediately invited him to enter

his service. This opportune offer was taken into consideration,

and Patkul started for Moscow, where he an-ived in Passion

Week, in 1702. The Tsar received him kindly, consulted with

him on several occasions, and renewed his offers, which were
ultimately accepted by Patkul, who then received the ranli of

privy councillor, and was subsequently appointed a lieutenant-

general. There exists in the archives at Moscow a curious doc-

ument of this period, written by Patkul in German, in which
he sets forth in detail his acquirements, experience, and qualifi-

cations, disclaiming all knowledge of marine affairs, and any
special acquaintance with artillery or cavalry, but asserting his
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thorough competence in all relating to the infantiy, to engi-

neering, mathematics, architecture, and the construction of fort-

resses. During the three weeks which Patkul remained in

Moscow, he had many interviews and conversations M-ith the

Tsar and with Golovin on the subject of procuring foreign

oificers for the army, and generally with regard to inviting

foreigners to take service in Kussia. The famous manifesto of

April 27, 1702, inviting foreigners to settle in Russia, was is-

sued on the advice of Patkul, and was submitted to him for ap-

probation. On the same day, the Tsar commissioned him to

enter iiito various negotiations with the King of Poland, and to

engage at his discretion foreigners for the Russian service,

fixed his salary at 1,000 reichsthalers a month, presented him
with an estate of 400 families of serfs, and his portrait set in

diamonds, valued at 3,000 rubles.

A few days after the departure of the Tsar for Archangel,

a curious honour was paid to Patkul. All the Swedish pris-

oners were collected on the great square of the Kremlin, and

there, in their midst, the executioner publicly burned all the

pamphlets and accusations which had been printed in Stock-

holm against Patkul. This was in reply to a similar action on

the part of the Swedish Government, which, four mouths be-

fore, had burned in Stockhohn various pamphlets published in

Patkul's defence.

Prom that time on, Patkul was active in the Tsar's service,

first in Yienna, negotiating with Kaunitz, and engaging such

men as Ogilvy, Ednne, and Huyssen to enter the Russian ser-

vice ; then in the Ukraine, negotiating with Mazeppa and Palei,

and hoping to arrange the border disputes between Poland and

Russia ; then at the foundation of St. Petersburg, high in the

favour and confidence of the Tsar; and then in Saxony, in

command of the auxiliary troops, and planning, plotting, and

countermining, both at Dresden and at Berlin. He was ever

on the alert, ever active, ever ready with word and pen wher-

ever there seemed to him a point to be gained or an oppor-

tunity to be used. He advised and criticised Matveief at the

Hague, he disputed with Dolgoruky at Warsaw, he directed

Huyssen in his literaiy campaign to influence public opinion

throughout Europe, he carefully watched the manoeuvres of the
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Court of Berlin, and he gave personal counsels to King Au-

gustus. I

Yet Patkul did not fulfil the expectations of Peter. His

incessant activity, his laborious intrigues, his careful reports

led to no practical result. The great object of his life was, as

we know, to forward the interests and preserve the privileges

of the Livonian nobility. It was for this that he did his best to

bring about the war. It was for this that he took service first

with Poland and then with Kussia. It was therefore natural

that he should strain all his infiuence with the Tsar to induce

him to leave the Baltic provinces, to unite his forces with those

of Augustus, and to attack Charles. His conduct was loyal,

but his personal views in this, as in other things, confiicted with

those of his new master. He was not a Kussian, and, like

many well-educated foreigners, looked on the Kussians with

contempt. The Tsar, in employing^ foreigners, intended them

to be teachers and instructors, and to serve as examples to the

Eussians. He was willing to put up with an occasional mistake

or error, if his subjects gradually improved. Patkul's plan was

to officer the whole army with foreigners, leaving each general

free to choose his subordinates. In the same way, as he had a

contempt for Eussian diplomatists, with their inexperience,

their ignorance of languages, and their lack of knowledge of

society, he desired to make himself a sort of general diplomatic

representative of the Tsar abroad, residing at Dresden or the

Hague—^with a number of secretaries, residents, and charges

cPaffcdres under his direction. He finally succeeded in per-

suading Peter to adopt his plan in part, and the Germans whom
he recommended—Urbich, l^euhausen, and Yon der Lieth
—^were appointed residents in Vienna, Copenhagen, and Ber-

lin ; but while they furnished the Eussian Government with

valuable and interesting reports, they were not placed under

the supreme control of Patkul. As a diplomatist, Patkul did

not show himself worthy of his reputation. He had no laiowl-

edge of the general interests of Eussia, no sympathy with the

Eussians. He took no broad views of any subject. The whole
aim of his diplomacy seemed to be to obtain temporary and

even trifling successes on minor points, and to gain advantages

in quibbling and word-twisting. His impetuous temper and
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his prejudices made it difficult always to trust what he said.

As Dolgoruky once said to Golovin :
' I think you now know

Patkul. One must carefully examine not only his words but

even the letters in them. If he writes when he is in Hi-hu-

mour, he wDl not even give praise to God himself.'

With his temper, his belief in his own powers, and his con-

stant interference, Patkul made himself more enemies than

friends. He quarrelled with Golitsyn at Vienna, and with

Matveief at the Hague ; Dolgoruky at "Warsaw refused to be in

communication with him ; the officers of the Eussian troops in

Saxony hated him ; and, worst of aU, he set the Saxon ministry

against him. Even King Augustus complained to Dolgoriiky

that Patkul was bringing about misunderstandiugs between him
and the Tsar by his personal malice, and bitterly said :

' I

know Patkul well, and his Tsarish Majesty wUl soon learn also

that Patkul abandoned the service of his own master only for

his own plans and profit.'

In consequence of the Treaty of October, 1703, eleven Rus-

sian regiments, with an auxiliary force of Cossacks, made then*

appearance at the head-quarters of King Augustus in the sum-

mer of 1704. The Cossacks were under the command of Daniel

Apostol, and the Eussians under that of Prince Dimitri Golitsyn,

who had distinguished himself diplomatically at Constantino-

ple, but who had no knowledge of war, or of the management of

troops. They had taken two months to march from Kief to

Sokal, on the Western Bug, and so great had been the hard-

ships of the march that the Russians had been reduced in num-
ber from over 9,000 to under 7,000 fit for service, and of the

6,000 Cossacks only 3,000 appeared. They were badly armed

and badly clothed. ' The men,' wrote Patkul, who had the com-

mand of this auxiliary detachment, ' are so good that nothing

better can be desired. They show perfect obedience, and will-

ingly do aU that they are ordered. But it is impossible to do

anything with the officers, and therefore the men govern them-

selves.' The officers, he advised, should be immediately replaced

by Germans. Patkul became at once involved in trouble with

Prince Golitsyn, whom alone the officers were willing to obey,

and complained of the harm that Golitsyn was causing the

troops by his stupid commissariat arrangements, and his incon-
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sisteney. ' At one time lie takes on liimself the furnisliing of

all the provisions, at another he suddenly gives this over to the

royal commissariat. At one time he wants his soldiers to bake

bread for themselves, at another he suddenly makes a demand
for baked bread, and insists that it be furnished in the twink-.

ling of an eye.' Words were scarcely strong enough to express

his opinion of the character, the cowardice, and the want o£

discipline of the Cossacks. It must; he admitted that the Rus-

sian and Cossack officers retaliated in like wise.

With nine of the Russian battalions, Patkul undertook the

siege of Posen, but, after waiting a month before the city for

reinforcements and making a breach in the walls, he was obliged

by the order of the King to give up the siege on the very day

fixed for its storm, and retire into Saxony. He was joined by
the remnants of four other regiments which, under the com-

mand of General Gortz, had been cut to pieces by the Swedes

near Fraustadt,' and was given quarters near Guben, in Lower
Lusatia. Here they suffered great distress. All the resources

of the province had been previously exhausted by the Saxon

troops, and Russian money was at such a discount that the in-

habitants were unwilling to receive it, and the Saxon officials

refused to give forage and provisions. The artillery was reduced

to such a state as to be utterly useless. The men had tattered

uniforms and no shoes, and excited the sympathy of the German
officers who, out of curiosity, came to look at them. Golitsyn,

in reporting the bad condition of his men, threw constant blame
upon Patkul. Patkul, at the same time, in writing to Golovln,

said that their state was a shame to the Tsar. Thev had re-

eeived no pay for a long time, and if matters went on in this

way, it would be necessary for them to die on the spot, or to

run away, become marauders, and fill the gallows and wheels.

He, in his turn, threw blame on Golitsyn, whom he accused

of neglect and indifference. Por the men themselves he had
the highest praise, mentioned with surprise that during the

whole campaign no soldier had rendered himself liable to capital

punishment, and even began to think that something coiild be
made out of the Russian officers. They at all events knew what

' See pages 25 and 40.
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obedience meant. Finall}'^, he raised large sums of money on

his own personal credit, reclothed the troops, supplied them
with provisions, and in eight months' time their appearance was

so altered that the Saxons themselves admitted that they were,

in general, superior to any body of German soldiers. Still no
money came from Kussia, and the credit of Patkul could not

last for ever. Again he wrote despatch after despatch on the

condition of the troops, accusing the Saxon ministers of acting

contrary to the orders of the King in not giving provisions, and
in not furnishing better quarters. He proposed to the Tsar that

as it was impossible for the troops to return to Russia through

Poland, which was occupied by the Swedes, an arrangement

might be made with the Emperor by which they should enter

the Austrian service. Peter consented to this on the condition:

that it should be done only in case of extreme necessity, and

that they should not serve for more than one campaign. To
clear himself of all responsibility in the decision of this matter,

Patkul called a council of war, and placed before the Russian

officers five questions, as to the possibility of returning to Rus-

sia either through Prussia or Austria without cavalry, as to the

method of obtaining provisions, and as to the safest route.

At a second council, he asked whether the present quarters were

possible for another winter, and whether the troops had pro-

visions and money, stating at the same time that, in case of the

impossibility of marching through Poland, the Tsar would place

them in the service of another state. The unanimous reply

was that it was impossible to stay there or go through Poland,

and that they were ready to serve wherever the Tsar ordered.

With this Patkul proceeded to Dresden, and made a treaty with

Count Stratmann, the imperial envoy, by which the troops

were to be taken into the imperial service for a yeai-, on ad-

vantageous conditions. Several secret articles provided guar-

antees for Saxony and for Augustus.

Patkul had long been obnoxious to the Saxon ministers.

He had exposed their double dealing, and had been unsparing

in his denunciations of them, both in his official reports and in

his private letters to his friends. He had criticised the acts

and policy of Augustus in his despatches to the Tsar, for which

he had been called to account by the King himself, and shortly
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before, when on a special mission to Berlin, had discussed at

length their conduct of affairs in Saxony. He thought he

had discovered that the chief reason of the vacillation of the

Court of Prussia was want of faith in Augustus, and had de-

fended that monarch at the expense of his ministers, and had

promised that the Tsar would do his best to have them removed.

If Patkul really saw no more into the motives which guided

Prussian policy at that time than his despatches show, he was,

short-sighted ; if he did, he allowed his feelings of hostility and

revenge to get the better of his judgment. However that may
be, what he had told and done came back to Dresden, and made

his enemies still more bitter. Even the marriage that he was

on the point of contracting with Madame von Einsiedel, the

rich widow of a Saxon magnate, and lady of honour to the

Electress Dowager, was made an accusation against him." The
opportunity offered for revenge was too good to be missed.

The Saxon ministry, although they had received notice of every

stage of the negotiations from Patkul himself, affected surprise

and horror at this injury to the King's interests, this insult to

his dignity, and on the proposition of General Schulenburg,

Patkul's bitterest enemy, arrested him at night in his own

house, on his return from his betrothal, and conveyed him to

the castle of Sonnenstein, near Pirna. His letters and papers

were all seized, and for a long time he was allowed no com-

munication with any one. Even Damnitz, who had been sent

by Augustus with a verbal message from the Tsar, was not per-

mitted to see him alone. The arrest of a foreign minister in

the discharge of his functions created a great sensation, not only

in Dresden, but everywhere on the Continent. The Danish,

Prussian, and Austrian envoys protested, and some of them
withdrew from the capital, on the ground that they were no

longer safe. Prince Golitsyn, in command of the troops, al-

though personally hostile to Patkul, also wrote a strong protest,

and demanded his immediate release, putting it on the ground

of the great loss to which the Tsar would be exposed by the

protest of all the bills of exchange of Patkul, who had sole

' He had bought an estate in Switzerland, where he intended to pass the

rest of his days, having resolved to retire from the annoyances of his political

life.
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charge of the finances of the troops. The Saxon ministers

alleged in excuse that they had arrested Patkul, not as a foreign

minister, but as a military officer mider the command of the

field-marshal, to prevent him from coimnitting an act of treason

against the King by the transfer of the troops. Augustus ap-

peared personally well disposed, and accused Patkul of nothing

more than of his violent temper, saying :
' It is always a pity that

the man is so fearfully vehement. He has uncommon under-

standing, great capacite, and is extremely good for all sorts of

affairs ; but when he becomes wild, there is nothing to be done

with him.' But he refused to interfere with the acts of his

ministers, and Szembek was sent to the Tsar at Grodno, with a

long and laboured explanation and defence of the act, and with

many complaints of Patkul's quarrelsome disposition, but with

no other grave accusation. Peter, although he maintained that

Patkul should have waited for another order before concluding

that the extreme necessity had arrived for ttiming the troops

over to Austria, yet demanded that the prisoner should be im-

mediately sent to him, with all his papers untouched ; insisted

that his envoy was responsible to him alone, and promised to

make a close investigation into the whole affair. There were

excuses and delays. The Swedes were then at Grodno, and the

Saxon ministers knew that Peter would be obliged to content

himself with protests. And so it was. The numerous demands

of the Tsar were not complied with, and Patkul remained a

prisoner, first at Sonnenstein, and then at Kdnigstein.

It was indeed difficult for the Tsar to do anything in the

matter, except to protest and to ask the aid of foreign powers,

as he did without effect. He was already at war with Charles,

and if this had brought about a breach between him and Au-

gustus, the Saxons would have been only too pleased, as it would

have led to the conclusion of peace with Sweden. Under such

circumstances, there is no penalty for a breach of international

law. It is judged only before the tribunals of conscience, of

public opinion, and of history. Charles was too much taken up

with what the verdict of history would be on his other exploits

to think of what might be said of his treatment of Patkul,

and Augustus was already hardened to breaches of international

law. Had he not broken the neutrality of Austria ? Had he
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not seized the princes Sobieski ^dthout harm to himself? Had,

lie not arrested the French minister, the Marquis du Heron, for

correspondence with Charles, imprisoned him, and sent him out

of the country, and yet Louis XIV. had not stirred a finger ?

Nevertheless, it is but fair to say that Augustus did show some

twinges of conscience with regard to the surrender of Patlail.

He hesitated and delayed a long time about perfoi-ming this

article of the treaty, and did so at last only under great pressure.

It is reported that even then he sent word privately to the com-

mander of Konigstein to allow Patkul to escape, and that the

flight of the prisoner was only prevented by the avarice of the

commandant, who, knowing that Patkul was rich, insisted on a

heavy bribe, and that the time for escape was spent in discussion

of the amount. The truth of this story has been doubted by

later historians ; at all events it is characteristic of Augustus.

Patkul was finally delivered to General Meyerfeld on April

18, 1707, and, on October 10, he was executed at Kasimierz,

not far from Posen. His courage gave way when he saw the

wheel, and he almost fainted. The executioner, a peasant from

the neighbourhood, gave him fourteen or fifteen blows on the

back, during which he screamed and groaned greatly, and called

on God and Christ. After receiving two blows on the breast he

cried out no longer, but merely murmured, ' Take my head off,'

crawled along the scaffold, and laid his head upon the block.

The inexperienced executioner gave him four blows before he

severed his neck. The body was then exposed on the wheel.

Three years afterwards, when Augustus was again on his

throne, he sent some ofiicers to Kasimierz to find the body of

Patkul, and to erect a monument over it. But no traces of it

could then be found.

The contract between Patkul and Stratmann for the deliv-

ery of the troops to the Emperor was not carried out, but they

were nevertheless not surrendered to the Swedes on the arrival

of Charles. They succeeded in marching back to Russia

through Silesia.'

1 Solovief, XV.; Tlstridlof, IV. vi. xvi.; Wemich, Patkul; Sjogren,

Patkul; Bernoulli, PatkuVs Berichte, Berlin, 1792-7 ; H^en, Naehricht von,

der Hinrkhtung J. R. ii. Patkul, Gbttingen, 1783 ; Uatri&lof, Death of Pat-
kul in Russian Messenger (Russian) 1867 ; Herrmann, Oeschichte des Rus-
sischen Staates, iv.
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A TEAR OF DIPLOMACY.—1707.

The year 1707 was chiefly given up to diplomacy. Of
sucli diplomacy there were two centres : one in Poland, where
Peter as yet was weaving plots, and sending his agents to every

Court of Europe to obtain peace, to get allies, or to embroil his

rival in future quarrels ; the other in Saxony, where princes and
ambassadors were thronging for a sight of the victorious Charles,

and were suing for his friendship, or endeavouring to appease

his wrath. Not only the Protestants of Silesia, but Kakoczy and
the rebels of Hungary and Transylvania, sought his assistance

against Austria. Many Germans, on the other hand, including

Leibnitz, either from a feeling of Protestant sympathy or from
a real love of humanity and freedom, had convinced themselves

that the Government of Louis XIY. was a menace to civilisa-

tion and to progress, and urged Charles to become the cham-

pion of religious freedom against France, as his predecessor,

Gustavus Adolphus, had been against Austria. But the ex-

ample of Gustavus Adolphus and the Thirty Years' War was

urged also by France. Louis XIV. proposed a French alli-

ance, the junction of the armies of Charles and of Marshal

Villars, and the subsequent partition of Germany. These

views were skilfully urged by French envoys, and were sup-

ported by a lavish distribution of bribes and presents. All

this, however, was without result. Charles remained firm in

his resolution not to interfere, though serious misunderstand-

ings arose between him and the Emperor, and all the re-

sources of the allies had to be brought into play to avert the

possibility, of an attack on Vienna. The causes of dispute

were not serious, but each of them excited the inflammable

mind of Charles, and each confirmed him in his obstinacy.
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The wraglitiest of them were the attacks of the Imperial Gov-

ernment on the privileges confirmed to the Protestants by

treaties, and the complaints of the Protestants of Silesia, to

whom the King had rashly given his word on passing the Oder.

The views of Charles on this subject were so strong that, at the

end of 1706, a report was in circulation that he had deter-

mined to demand henceforth the election of a Protestant and

a Catholic Emperor alternately. The other difficulties were

of a more trifling nature. Some Swedish recruiting sergeants

had been mobbed in Breslau, and one had been killed. For

this, Charles demanded satisfaction. The rich Austrian cham-

berlain, Count Zabor, had quarrelled with Strahlenheim, the

Swedish minister at Vienna, and had dared to express himself

contemptuously of King Stanislas. Then there was a dispute

abcjut the secularised bishopric of Eutin, which was another

phase of the quarrel between Holstein-Gottorp and Denmark

;

and, finally, the Austrians were accused of a breach of neu-

trality because they had assisted the [Russians to escape after

the battle of Fraustadt. Prussia, on Charles's demand, had
punished Colonel Schlund for giving the Tsar advice on the

improvement of his artillery, and had proscribed the theolo-

gian Dippel for a pamphlet criticising the Swedish decrees

against the Pietists ; but the Emperor could not bring himself

to be thus submissive. The bi-each between him and Charles

widened daUy, and the French lost no opportunity of increasing

it.

As an attack upon Austria by Charles would have practically

aided France, and would have necessitated the recall of the

Imperial troops, the Duke of Marlborough, who had already

been successful as a negotiator, urged by the Elector of Han-
over and others of the allies, went to Saxony with an autograph
letter from Queen Anne—' not from her chancery, but from her
heart '—as she phrased it. Charles accepted Marlborough's com-
pliments, but made none in reply. Neither made a favourable
impression on the other, though Marlborough preferred Charles
to Augustus or Stanislas, both of whom he had the fortune to

meet. Marlborough made no formal propositions. He sur-

veyed the ground, endeavoured to ascertain the real feelmgs of
the King, suggested to Piper the possibility of mediation in the
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case of the Eutin bishopric, proclaimed the warmest sympathy

with the Protestants of Germany, and full agreement with the

King on this point, but expressed the wish of his Queen that

the claims of the Silesian Protestants against the Emperor
should not be pressed until after the termination of the war

with France, when both England and Holland would support

them. Although the relations of King Charles to the Emperor
gave the allies great anxiety during the whole of the summer,

the vexatious questions were finally arranged. An indemnity

was paid to the widow of the recruiting sergeant killed in

Breslau ; satisfaction was given for the conduct of Count Za-

bor ; and the affair of the Eutin bishopric was settled by the

Danish Prince Charles, who had been supported by Austria,

giving up his claims in return for a pension from Holland and

England. The Silesian business was more difficult. Charles

would not desist from his demands ; the Emperor refused to

grant them ; and England and Holland refused to guarantee

the Peace of Altranstadt until Charles should become recon-

ciled with the Emperor. Things went so far that the King,

who had already prevented the Duke of Savoy from taking

part in the siege of Toulon by threatening to invade his do-

minions, finally said to Piper :
' I have already, out of polite-

ness, waited too long for the final explanation of the Emperor
;

therefore, I have resolved to march the day after to-morrow.'

Neither Piper nor Cederhjelm could move him, though they

talked with him till midnight. Sleep brought other counsels,

and the next day the King was more yielding. All sides took

advantage of this disposition : the Austrians signed the condi-

tions which Charles demanded for the Silesian Protestants;

and England and Holland, in spite of the efforts of Eussia,

consented to guarantee the Peace of Altranstadt.

In December, 1706, Peter left St. Petersburg for Moscow,

intending to keep the Christmas holidays there, as in former

years. But at Narva he was met by a courier from Menshikof

with the news of the treaty of Altranstadt and of the departure

of Augustus for Saxony. Instead of going to Moscow, he went

straight to Volynia, where his army was in winter quarters,

and passed more than four months at Zolkiew, near Lemberg,

'in order to keep on his side the Kepublic, which remained
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without a head, as the peace was made without its knowledge.'

Besides Menshikof, he had with him there Sheremetief and

Kepnin, Prince Gregory Dolgoriiky, and the hetman Mazeppa.

Even his son, the Tsarevitch Alexis, then in his eighteenth

year, came on from Moscow and stayed till the middle of

May. One of his most trusted advisers was wanting—Count'

Theodore Golovin, who had died four months before, of

fever, at Glukliof, while hastening from Moscow to meet the

Tsar at Kief. His body, which had been taken to Mos-
cow, still lay unburied in the church, because Peter insisted on
accompanying it to the graye. It was not until the beginning

of March that, seeing no chance of his speedy return, the Tsar

gave the order for the funeral. Golovin was one of the old ad-

herents of Peter's family, who was loved not only as a friend,

but trusted in the conduct of business. Enjoying the confidence

of the Tsar Alexis, he had watched over Peter's boyhood imtil,

in 1686, he was sent by Sophia on an important mission to

Siberia, where, in 1689, he concluded the first treaty with
China—the unfortunate Treaty of Nertchinsk—of which we
shall speak more at length in another place.

The title of Admiral passed to Apraxin ; the Ministry of

Foreign Affairs was entrusted to the Chamberlain Gabriel

Ivanovitch Golofkin. Twelve years older than the Tsar, and
connected with his family through the Naryshkins, Golofkin
had passed his life in the intimacy of Peter, and had accom-
panied him in many of his expeditions. He had remained at

Moscow during Peter's journey to the "West, but had written
him familiar and jesting letters. During the war, he had been
charged with important duties, and had kept up his correspond-
ence in the same vein, occasionally too coarse to translate.

Golofkin soon received the title of Count from the Emperor
Joseph, which was subsequently confirmed by the Tsar, and
after the battle of Poltava he was created Chancellor.

The most important man in the Foreign Office, however,
was Peter Shafirof—a personage of a different sort. The son
of a poor Polish Jew employed as a translator, he had been ap-

He was created a Count of the Holy Eoman Empire by the Emperor
Leopold, on November 10, 1701.
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prenticed to a tradesman, and had been found by Peter in one

of. bis wanderings about Moscow. The Tsar was struck . by bis

quickness and his knowledge of languages, took him into his

service, and rapidly promoted him. Shafirof accompanied Peter

in his journey abroad and during his earlier campaigns against

the Swedes, was made privy secretary in 1T04, became director

of > the Foreign Office in the autumn of 1T06, was promoted to

be vice-chancellor in 1709, and in the following year was created

the first Russian baron. He occupies, henceforth, a prominent

place in the history of Peter's reign.

A diet of the confederates of Sandomir was in session at

Lemberg, a dozen miles from the Tsar's headquarters, but its

members were too wavering in mind to know what to do. As
Peter wrote to Apraxin :

' Here everything is as new beer, and
we don't yet know what it will be like.'

Meanwhile, as the Tsar was left without allies, he resolved

to ascertain whether Charles was ready for peace; Colonel

Morel de Carriere, a French officer in the Russian service, was
sent to Besenval, the French Minister to the Swedish Court,

with propositions, in Peter's own handwriting, of which the

substance was that he would be ready to cede Dorpat ; if this

were not enough, he would pay a money compensation for

l^arva ; or, if peace were impossible otherwise, he would yield

ISTarva, but nothing more. Similar propositions were made
through the wife of the Crown Hetman Sieniawski—a daughter

of the Crown Marshal Lubomirski—to the Yoievode Jablonow-

ski, the uncle of King Stanislas, who had great influence at the

Swedish head-quarters. The same offer was also made through

Dasalleurs, the French Minister with Prince Rakoczy, and then

a promise was given that the Russian troops would be put at

the disposition of Louis XIY. in case his mediation were suc-

cessful. These overtures were all fruitless. Charles put off

Besenval under various pretexts before refusing outright. At
first it was thought the Tsar was not in earnest, or he.would

not excite Poland against Stanislas, and that he wished only to

have the air of being inclined to peace. In June, Charles re-

plied to Pesenval's persistent applications that he should not

believe the Tsar until he bad his propositions in writing, as he

could not trust his word, and the title of Prince of Ingria given

Vol. II.—

5
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to Menshikof showed that the Tsar had no thought of peace

;

when coinpesnsation was broached, he said that he wouM not

bargain away his subjects for money. In August, he said that

he could do nothing until he went back to Poland ; that then

would be time enough to give passes to the Tsar's plenipotenti-

aries. In October, when the Tsar offered to give up everything

except Noteborg, St. Petersburg, and a narrow strip of land on

each side of the l^eva, Charles replied :
' I will sacrifice the last

Swedish soldier rather than cede Noteborg.'

This was the last attempt of Peter, but others, like Piper

and Stanislas, still tried to dissuade Charles from the invasion

of Russia, and urged him to make peace, now that he was at

the height of his fame. To Piper the King said that he knew
with whom he had to deal, and that the moment he was back

in Sweden the Tsar would overturn Stanislas, and put Au-
gustus or Kakoczy on the throne of Poland. To others he said

he was willing to make peace, but in ' Saxon style.' To Stan>

islas, who complained of the misery of his subjects, and almost

regretted having accepted the crown, Charles said : ' The Tsar

is not yet humiliated enough to accept the conditions of peace

which I intend to prescribe.' Later in the autumn he replied

to the renewed entreaties of Stanislas :
' Poland will never have

quiet as long as she has for a" neighbour this unjust Tsar, who
begins a war without any good cause for it. It wUl be needful

first for me to march thither and depose him also.' Charles

talked of restoring the old order of things in Russia, of can-

celling the unpopular reforms, and of abolishing the regular

army and bringing back the Streltsi ; and so sure was he of suc-

cess, that on taking leave of Stanislas, on the eve of the cam-

paign, he said: 'I hope Prince Sobieski will always remain

faithful to us. Does your Majesty not think that he would
make an excellent Tsar of Russia ?

'

In seeking for aid and counsel, the Tsar naturally turned

first to England. Ah-eady, in 1705, AVhitworth, the English

minister, on arriving in Moscow, had expressed the willingness

of Queen Anne to mediate between Russia, Poland, and Sweden,
but added that anything the Queen could do would depend
entirely upon the attitude of the King of Sweden. For that

reason he had on his way to Russia passed by Silesia and Dan-
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zig, and what he had seen and heard there had convinced him
that King Charles was disinclined to peace ; he therefore conld

make no definite proposition. At the end of 1706, Matveief,

the Kussian minister in Holland, was ordered to go to London,
'

' as this was now the main stronghold of the grand alliance.'

He was instructed to say that if the promise of the Queen,

given through "Whitworth, should be carried out, the Tsar, out

of gratitude, would be ready to join in the grand alliance against

France ; and that even if the Swedes were unwilling to come
to terms, the united powers could put down both France and

Sweden. The Tsar left the terms of peace entirely to the

Queen, with the sole condition that he should not be obliged to

give up those hereditary possessions which he had reconquered,

though he would make great concessions on other points. Mat-

veief was ordered to lay stress upon the advantages to England

of a Russian alliance and of a Russian port in the Baltic, since

with such a port Russian goods, and especially naval stores and

materials, could easily be brought to England several times a year,

and to express the willingness of the Tsar to sign a commercial

treaty. To one paragraph in his instructions, that if necessary he

might assure the English Government that Russia had no inten-

tion of having a large fleet of war vessels on the Baltic, the Tsar

made an autograph note :
' This is very well, but it would be bet-

ter not to mention prematurely the number of vessels.' Should

negotiations be likely to fail, he was to seek for means to in-

fluence Marlborough, Godolphin, and the Secretary of State for

the Northern Department, and could even promise them large

presents, but he was to act cautiously and economically in this

respect. Here Peter added another note :
' I do not think that

Marlborough can be bought, because he is so enormously rich.

However, you can promise him about 200,000, or more.'

Matveief arrived in London in May, 1707, and was at first

pleased with the agreeable manner of the English officials, but

he speedily encountered difficulties. Some of these arose from

the constitution of England, and Matveief had trouble in ex-

plaining to his superiors the differences between Whigs and

Tories, between the partisans of the Queen and those of Han-

over. He was especially annoyed that the merchants, in spite

of their advantageous trade with Russia, were unwilling by their
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representations to lielp on liis demands. He made a journey to

Windsor expressly to expedite liis negotiations, but the only

answer was that there was no time to consider his propositions.

Finally, Harley, in a friendly conversation, explained to him
that discussion was postponed because the Queen, in the present

circumstances, did not wish to quarrel with Russia, with which

it had an advantageous trade, nor with Sweden, since King
Charles had declared that he would do nothing against Austria.

As Matveief could not be kept much longer without a formal

answer of some sort, Queen Anne gave him an audience in

September, and said that she was ready to make an alliance

with the Tsar ; and at the end of the month Harley called on

him and talked over the terms of the answer of the Queen to

the Tsar. In this letter, the Queen said that she waited only

for the consent of HoUand to state on what terms the alliance

could be made, and that she was then ready to make a special

commercial treaty. Harley confided to Matvdief, in the greatest

secrecy, that the English Government had promised money to

the Swedish ministers to save Patkul from execution ;
' but,' he

added, ' that is a private affair
;
publicly, the Queen cannot in-

terfere, but still I think Patkul's Hfe will be saved.' Marl-

borough wrote to Matveief that he was using all his influence

in Holland to persuade the States-General to agree to the

entrance of liussia into the grand alliance, but Matveief did not

trust much to these assurances, and wrote to Van der Burg, liis

agent at the Hague, to find out whether Marlborough was act-

ing according to his promises, or whether he had ' honey on his

tongue and gall in his heart.' Two months passed without

answer from Holland, and the English ministers said they must
wait tin Marlborough returned. ' The Ministry here,' wrote

Matveief to Golofkin, ' is more subtle than the French even in

finesse and intrigue ; their smooth and profitless speeches bring

us nothing but loss of time.' Marlborough came to London
about the middle of November, visited Matveief the next even-

ing, and talked a long time alone with him. He recounted in

detail his efforts in Holland, but brought up many difficulties.

Matveief finally asked the Duke to say plainly, as an honest

man, without sweet promises, whether the Tsar could hope for

anything or not. Marlborough, in reply, was profuse in pro-
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fessions and promises, and with these Matveief had to be con-

tent.'

Huyssen, Peter's secret agent, had some relations with Marl-
borough on the Continent, and, according to his report, the

Duke declared that he would be ready to co-operate with the

Tsar, provided he were given a principality in Eussia. When
Golofkin referred this to Peter, he replied :

' Answer Huyssen
that if Marlborough wishes a Pussian principality he can prom-
ise him one of three, whichever he wishes—Kief, Vladimir, or

Siberia ; and he can promise him also that, if he persuades the

Queen to make a good peace for us with the Swedes, he shall

receive, as the revenues of his principality, 50,000 ducats for

every year of his life, in addition to the Order of St. Andrew,
and a ruby as large as any in Europe.' The negotiations with

Marlborough did not proceed further. No mediation was pos-

sible so long as Peter refused to give up St. Petersburg, and
Charles refused to make peace without it.

Reference has been made to the offers for the intervention

of Louis XIY. In Prussia, IzmaUof made equally fruitless

efforts for mediation, or at least for a declaration of neutrality,

and promised Count "Wartenberg 100,000 dxtcats for his effective

assistance. Dorpat and Narva were offered to Denmark as an

inducement to declare war once more against Sweden.

At the end of February, 1Y07, the Polish Diet at Lemberg
sent a deputation to the Tsar with the demand that those parts

of the Ukraine west of the Dnieper—the district of Biela-

Tserkof (Biala-Cerkiew)—which had been seized upon by the

Cossack Pal6i, should be at once restored to the Republic.

' Matveief appears to have liad some talk with Marlborough even before

proceeding to London ; for Marlborough in a letter to Godolphin, dated the

Hague, April ^i;, 1707, says :
' The ambassador of Muscovy has been with me,

and made many expressions of the great esteem his master has for Her
Majesty ; that he would do everything to merit her friendship ; and, as a

mark of it, he had resolved to send his only son into England ; but he desired

nobody but the Queen might know it, since he must pass incognito through

several countries. He is also very desirous of the honour, as he calls it, of

the Queen's appointing him a house. As it can be of no precedent to any

country but their own, and as the expense is so very inconsiderable, I hqpe

Her Majesty will do it ; for it is certain you will not be able to gratify Mm in

any part of his negotiation. Coxe's Memmrs of the Duke of Marlborough,

vol. ii. p. 44, Bohn's ed.
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•They complained of the great distress which they still suffered

in consequence of the necessity of providing the Russian army

•with provisions and forage, and of the unlawful exactions of the

officers, alleging that they were better off during the Swedish

occupation, when things taken were more promptly paid for

;

they complained that instead of 12,000 Eussian troops, as agreed

upon, they were compelled to support many more, and threat-

ened that, unless some allowance were made, they would give

no provisions during the six, summer months. They demanded

also the immediate payment of 200,000 rubles, according!to

treaty. Golofkin, who had charge of this negotiation, replied

that 40,000 rubles had already been given to the Crown army,

and 30,000 rubles to the Lithuanian army ; that there had been

no agreement to pay in advance, and that nothing was due for

the previous year, because the requisite number of Polish

troops had not been put in the field. The Poles proposed to

give up the claim for money if they should be relieved from

supplying the troops, but this the Tsar considered impossible,

and agreed to pay immediately 50,000 rubles ; but he refused to

pay damages for illegal acts committed by marauders, although

he gave strict orders for the maintenance of discipline, and ap-

pointed General Bruce to act with a Polish commissary in

investigating complaints and punishing offenders. 50,000 rabies

had been promised to the Poles, but it was not possible at that

time to raise more than 20,000. The Poles would not consent

to take less than half, and continued to press for the surrender

of Biela-Tserkof. It was impossible to give them back, the'

Ukraine at the risk of sowing discontent among the Cossacks,

when Charles XII. was again expected in Poland, and yet it

was impolitic to alienate them, and, by a direct refusal, perhaps

send them over to the party of Stanislas. It was necessary to

temporise, and in spite of his recent disgrace and punishment,

the veteran Ukraintsef was named Commissary to the Diet.

His great experience in Polish affairs, and his diplomatic skiU,

combined with a judicious distribution of money, brought the

Diet to accept the 20,000 rubles, and to be satisfied with the

promise of the Ukraine. ' All here have now become merry,'

wrote Ukraintsef to Golofkin, ' and feast and make good cheer,

hearing that the enemy, with all his forces, is going against us
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by the wayof Lithuania, for they think that Stanislas Leszczyn-

ski will stick to him. The hetman Sieniawski was very sad for

a week over the capture of his wife by the enemy, but since he
has come to Lemberg he is comforted again, and scarcely a day
passes that he is not at a banquet.'

The Tsar was not satisfied with this neutral position of the

Polish magnates, and felt itnecessaiy to weaken the influence of

Stanislas. In pursuance of this aim, he sent a special mission

to Eome, in order, if possible, to persuade the Pope to refuse

recognition to the Swedish puppet. He chose for this mission

a man who subsequently attained distinction as a diplomatist.

Prince Boris Kurakin, his friend and comrade from boyhood,'

who had studied at Yenice, and had already visited Eome.
This step had been suggested more than a year before, both by
leading Poles and by the Catholic clergy. The Tsar had atoned

for the unfortunate affray in the BasUian monastery at Polotsk

by expressions and acts of sincere repentance, by the immuni-
ties accorded to the Uniates during the war, and by the privi-

leges granted to Catholics and Catholic missionaries in Pussia.

The reverential curiosity which he had shown in his visits to

Jesuit colleges, and his attendance with his son at the consecra-

tion of the Bishop of Cujavia, disposed in his favour those

enthusiasts who were ready to see in all this symptoms of a

desire to unite the two churches. Prince Kurakin was well re-

ceived at Eome ; attention was given to his arguments as to

the danger to Catholicism of allowing Swedish Protestant in-

fluence to become predominant in Poland ; and Pope Clement

XI., through Cardinal Paulucci, promised that he would not

recognise Stanislas as king until he had been so recognised by
the whole of Poland.

To bring order into Polish affairs, the Tsar considered it in-

dispensable to provide another king in place of Augustus, who
could now have no claims either on the loyalty of the Poles or

the support of Eussia. Both in Moscow and in Vienna it was

said that Menshikof was intriguing for the Polish crown, and

the arrival of the Tsarevitch Alexis gave some colour to the

rumour that Peter designed to place his son on the vacant

' Prince Kurakin had married the sister of the Tsaritsa Eudoxia.
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throne. The Polish magnates had their dreams of gaining the

honour which Charles had conferred on Stanislas. From Peter's

point of view, it was necessary to have some strong and able

man, who could lead armies as well as rule men, and his choice

fell first on Prince Eugene of Savoy, then at the height of his

reputation. In order to get the consent of the Emperor, in

whose service Prince Eugene then was, he decided on sending a

solemn embassy to Vienna, and placed at the head of it Prince

Boris Prozorofsky, a member of one of the oldest Russian

families, but better known by his escape from the massacre at

Astrakhan, after Stenka Edzin had hanged him by his feet to

the city wall for a whole night. Prozor6fsky arrived, with a

suite of 200 men, but the order for his departure never came.

The difficulty was this : It was impossible to choose a king before

the throne was formally declared vacant, and the Diet hesitated

to proclaim the interregnum, as no official notification had been

received of the abdication of Augustus. It was not until April

that Peter could bring them to agree on this. He wrote to

Menshikof from Lemberg: 'It was hardly possible to manage

affairs with these rascals so as to bring them to sign and confirm

all the treaties and issue universals.' The embassy of Prozorof-

sky was given up, and the Tsar sent instead a letter to the

Emperor," in which he bitterly complained of the cowardice

and faithlessness of Kiag Augustus, especially of his shameful

surrender of Patkul. Urbich, in presenting this letter, set

forth the Tsar's desire to enter the grand alliance, his willing-

ness to give some of his troops for service against the rebels in

Hungary, and his intention of procuring the election of Prince

Eugene' as King of Poland. ]!^egotiations were carried on

cautiously, but the secret got out, and with his congratulations

Count Wratislaw was able to send to the prince some effusions

of the rhymesters of the day. Prince Eugene was in Milan,

preparing to go to the siege of Toulon, when he received the

proposition. Thanking the Tsar for the flattering honour, he
said that his acceptance must depend upon the permission of

his sovereign, and wrote to the Emperor Joseph that, in accord-

ance with the principles of strict obedience which had governed

' Similar letters were sent to England and Holland.
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him for the twenty years he had been in the imperial service, he
left the matter entirely in his hands, without any feelings of vain

ambition. Although the Emperor could see advantages to him-

self in the project, yet he did not dare further to offend Charles

Xn., who had so taken to heart the success of Stanislas, especially

as his troops were scattered on the Ehine, in Italy, and in Hun-
gary. A polite but evasive answer was therefore returned to all

the Kussian propositions ; it was said that, as the services of Prince

Eugene were indispensable during the campaign just beginning,

nothing could be decided definitely before the next winter.

Even before receiving the Emperor's reply, however, Peter,

who already knew of what was practically the refusal of Prince

Eugene, had proposed the Polish crown to Prince Jacob Sobie-

ski. This plan originated with Szaniawski, Bishop of Cujavia,

who suggested to Prince Gregory Dolgoriiky that, if the Tsar

would take Sobieski under his protection, he would find in him
a true ally and a mortal enemy to both Stanislas and Augustus,

and gave him the conditions on which, he said, the prince would

accept. Peter replied favorably to Dolgoriiky, and on the next

day, June 7, wrote to Prince Sobieski enclosing formal proposals.

The bishop had apparently made the proposition on his own re-

sponsibility, in order to thwart the ambitions plans of the hetman

Sieniawski, since Sobieski, grateful to Charles XII. for releasing

him from his Saxon prison, had declared to Stanislas in the pre-

vious December that he had never had any pretensions to the Po-

lish throne, and that if fate had given him the disposal of it, he

could have offered it to no one but its present worthy possessor.

When the Tsar found that he could obtain no support at

Vienna, he felt no hesitation in turning to Kakoczy and the

Hungarian insurgents, against whom he had just offered the use

of his troops. That proposition had been refused because some of

the Austrian statesmen had feared ' lest the Tsar might establish

himself in Hungary, vdth the aid of the Serbian inhabitants of

the Greek faith.' Peter had already begun to interest himself

in the Eastern Christians, was in correspondence with the boyars

of Moldavia and "Wallachia, and had received envoys from the

Austrian Serbs—those very men of whom Rakoczy wrote:

' They look on the Russians as on the Messiah who will come to

deliver them.' Although aided by French money, French
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officers, and French influence, Francis Kakoczy was by no means

a French puppet. He had ancestral claims, for his father and

grandfather were princes of Transylvania, and his mother was

the heroic Helen Zriny, the widow of Tekely. He had mai-ried

a princess of Hesse-Eheinsfeld. He was brave and popular ; the

revolution was general; he had been proclaimed Yoievode of

Transylvania and chief of the Hungarian nation; he had or-

ganised a government which ruled the greater part of the

countries belonging to the crown of St. Stephen, and a diet had

voted the deposition of Joseph as king of Hungary. "When

approached by the Russian agents, Eakoczy at fii'st held ofE and

hesitated. He was supported by France, and France was

friendly to Sweden, and he had to find out how an alliance with

Kussia would be considered at Versailles. Finally, he yielded

to what he called ' the threats of the Tsar,' and in August sent

an embassy to Peter. His envoys, at the head of whom was

Bercseny, and among, whom was an Andrassy, first offered the

crown of Hungary to the Tsarevitch Alexis, but the Tsar refused

it. After some negotiation, in the name of Edkoczy and of the

kingdom of Hungary, they concluded a treaty at Warsaw, Sep-

tember 15. By this instrument, Kakoczy accepted the crown of

Poland in case of his election, but it was agreed that if the Swedes
should invade Poland, the election should be postponed for four

months, in order to allow France and Bavaria to mediate between

Eussia and Sweden. After that time, without further delay,

E.ak6czy was to be declared king, and the Tsar was to publish his

alliance with Hungary. In Peter's absence Eakoczy was to com-
mand the allied forces, and in case of disaster, and the loss of the

Polish throne, he was to be given a refuge in Russia. The liber-

ties of Hungary and Transylvania were to be secured, free trade

was to be established between those coimtries and Russia, and
the two parties were to maintain residents at each other's courts.

Many Poles were unfavourable to this project, and the invasion

of Russia by the Swedes prevented any attempt to carry it out.'

' Solovi6f , XV. ; Pryxell, i. ; Droysen, OescMchte der PreussiscJien Politik,

IV. 1 : Coxe's Memoirs of Marlborough, ii. ; MarlhwougKa Letters and Des-
paUhes, London, 1845 ; Carlson, Om Karl XlVsVistdsei Sachsen, Stockholm,
1877; Tengberg, Om SverigesfdrliallandetUlframmandemagter, Lund, 1854;
T'ontes Bei-um Austriacarum, ActenstucTce zur O-esehichte Franz Ra.kbczy's,

Vienna, 1858 ; Ameth, Prins Eugen von Savoyen, 1. , Vienna, 1864 ; Golikof.



LIII.

THE WAR IK LITHUANIA.—1708.

Aftee the declaration of the interregmun in Poland, the

disasters and confusion in that unfortunate country increased.

Some of the nobles declared themselves for Stanislas; others

waited for the election of a new king. As is frequently the case

in civil wars, families were divided and had members in both
camps. Prince Tanusz Wisniowiecki, the Voievode of Cracow,

was one of the leaders of the confederation of Lemberg ; while

his brother, the Grand Hetman of Lithuania, after some hesita-

tion, went over to King Stanislas, and took with him the

Lithuanian army. General Sienicki, by a secret arrangement

with Michael "Wisniowiecki, captured the 40,000 rubles that

arrived fi'om Moscow, and, in spite of his oath, declared him-
self on the side of the Swedes, and established himself in the

fortress of Bykhof. Although his garrison was small, yet it

required a considerable force to dislodge him. Lieutenant-

General Bauer failed at the first storm. Prince Kepnin and
General Hallart were sent to reinforce him, and engineers were

demanded from St. Petersburg to construct mines. After four

weeks' siege and several assaults, Bykhof was taken and razed

to the ground. Sienicki was carried in chains to Moscow, where
he ended his life in prison, and the garrison, about 3,000 men,

were sent to Azof.

The Russians were hated by the Poles, and murders were

not infrequent. A petty nobleman, Wiezicki, hving in Dub,

invited to his house a party of oflBcers and soldiers of the

Semenofsky regiment, thirteen in all, who were going to Pinsk,

and murdered them during their sleep. ' I am very sad,' Peter

wrote to Captain Izmailof of the guard, 'over such good officers

and soldiers, with whom I had grown up from boyhood,' and
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he ordered Sheremetief to liunt out the miirderers, who had

taken refuge in the forests. "Wiezicki and nine of his peasants

were caught and executed.

In the spring of 1707, four months before Charles actually

left Saxony, there was a rumour that he was about to march

through Poland and invade Kussia. Peter immediately sent

detachments into Great Poland, toward the Silesian frontier, in

order to devastate the country, and thus render the Swedish

march more difficult. Towns like Eawicz and Lissa were

burned and destroyed, bridges were broken down and wells

tilled up. Colonel Schultz, with his band of Tartars and Kal-

muks, was most active in this kind of work.

The danger seemed so pressing that the engineer Ivdn

Kortchmin was sent to Moscow, to put the fortifications of that

city, and especially of the Kremlin, into thorough repair. He
arrived there in the middle of June, and in ten days the work

began. But even before his arrival, the report of Charles's

march had reached Moscow, and, according to Pleyer, 'the

Muscovites were greatly terrified. Nobody spoke of anything

except of flight or death. Many of the merchants, imder pre-

text of going to the fair, took their wives and children to Arch-

angel, whither they had usually gone alone. The great foreign

merchants and capitalists hastened to go to Hamburg with their

families and property, while the mechanics and artisans went

into their service.' The foreigners, not only of Moscow, but of

all the neighbouring towns, applied to their ministers for pro-

tection, as they feared not only the harshness and rapacity of

the Swedes, but, even more, a general rising and massacre in

Moscow, where people were already embittered by the im-

measurable increase of the taxes.' ' The terror here has still

more increased,' he wrote, in a subsequent despatch, ' since the

order has arrived to repair all the walls around the town and

fortify the Kremlin. An engineer has come here who studied

fortifications for two years in Berlin, and has drawn up a plan

of the works. The beautiful old church of Jerusalem, or the

Trinity, is to be pulled down. The Hospital row of shops,

famous from old times, the Foundry Court, the Eed and White
walls, with all the churches, houses, monasteries—all he pro-

poses to pull down, otherwise it will be impossible to shoot.
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Five thousand men are at work every day. The people are so

enraged that the engineer does not dare to show himself with-

out a guard.' The Jerusalem Church referred to by Pleyer is

just outside of the Kremlin, and is that commonly known by

the name of the Church of St. Basil the Beatified, with its

eleven domes, each of different colour and design. Fortunately

for the beauty of Moscow, this plan of wholesale destruction

was not carried out, and this church, the towers and walls of

the Kremlin, and the other antiquities, were preserved. The
news of the disorders at Moscow reached the army, and an

official proclamation was sent back, deriding the fears of the

Muscovites when the enemy was not as near as he ha^ been

previously, but saying that precaution was better than negligence,

and quoting the old Koman proverb :
'A wild beast cannot

harm a cautious horse.' Meanwhile, two men were taken from

every house, to work on the fortifications, or three rubles had

to be paid every month ; and so strict were the demands that

children were taken from the houses as pledges for the appearance

of the workmen. In JSTovember, the fortifications were inspected

by the Tsareviteh Alexis, who had just returned from the army,

and Pleyer writes : ' In the last six months the fortifications have

made great progress. Guns wiU soon be placed on many of

them, and fire can be opened. The engineer demands 10,000

cannon.' The Troitsa Monastery, and towns of Mozhaisk,

Serpukhof, Tver, and others, were fortified in the same way.

Peter had abeady, in January, ITOY, given Apraxin orders

for the protection of the frontier, and had recommended that,

from the beginning of spring, no grain nor hay should be

allowed to remain in the granaries or barns, but that all should

be concealed in the woods or buried in the ground, and that

the cattle should also be hidden in the woods and swamps, in

places agreed upon beforehand by the villagers, to which they

could flee on the approach of the enemy. The army was

strengthened with fresh recruits; and in the same way that

Peter had taken into his service agents for finding out new

sources of revenue, so he soon had agents, paid and volunteer,

informing him where recruits could be obtained. The noble-

man Bezobrazof, for instance, reported that in the district of

Briansk there had been lately a vast increase in the number of
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church, servitors, who were unnecessary for religious purposes,

but would make excellent dragoons or soldiers. Peter replied

with a decree to enroll all who were fit for military service.

Instructions had also been given to Mazeppa for the defence of

Kief and the Ukraine.

The Swedes, by remaining in Saxony, gave Peter time for

preparation. It was not imtil August, 170Y, that Charles began

to move. He had with him the best army he had yet com-

manded, composed, with those that joined him at Slupce, of

44,000 men, in excellent condition, well-clothed and well-armed,

of whom 24,000 were cavalry. They were not all Swedes, for

his recruiting agents had been very busy in Saxony, Silesia, and

other German countries. Some of his best ofiicers, however,

such as Arvid Horn and Magnus Stenbock, had, for unknown
reasons, gone back to Sweden, l^ot everyone in Europe felt as

sure of the Swedish success as did Charles. Huyssen wrote

from Vienna, in September, that ' the Swedes marched unwill-

ingly, and admitted that they had become quite unaccustomed

to war after their long repose and luxurious life in Saxony.'

' Some even predict a Russian victory, while others say that there

would be less glory, but also far less danger, if the Tsar should

withdraw his troops from Poland, and diminish the forces of

the enemy by petty skirmishes and by sudden attacks of Cos-

sacks.'

Peter himself had long ago decided that this was necessarj'...

A council of war had resolved not to risk a battle in Poland,

and even not on the frontier, unless it were absolutely neces-

sary ; but to resist at the river-crossings, harass the rear-guard,

and lay waste the country in the line of march. On hearing of

the project of the Swedes, Menshikof withdrew, established a

strong outpost line along the Bug, from Pultusk to Brzesc-

Litewski, and took a position at Dezentsoli, between WUna and

Grodno, while Sheremetief, with the cavalry, was at Minsk.

Another council of war at Meretch confirmed what had been

decided upon months before at Zolkiew.

Peter again experienced the excitement, the anxiety, and

the dejection which overcame him during the winter, when his

troops were shut up in Grodno, and he noticed in himself a

greater irritability than at any time since the events of 1698
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and 1699. In a fit of anger against Apraxin, for not punishing

those governors who had sent him recruits in a number less

than was incumbent upon them, he wrote, sharply :
' That you

have done nothing to those Voievodes who have not brought

men as was ordered, that you throw the blame of this on the

departments of Moscow, which is not to your credit, is due only

to one of two causes—either to laziness, or that you did not

wish to quaiTel with them.' Apraxin felt deeply hurt, and

Peter hastened to retract his bitter words, and wrote :
' You feel

aggrieved at what I wrote to you about the Voievodes. But,

for God's sake, have no grief about it, for really I bear no

malice to you ; but since I have been here the slightest thing

which thwarts me puts me into a passion.'

There was reason enough for this, for while the Swedes

were threatening invasion, rebellions broke out among the Bash-

kirs and among the Cossacks of the Don—rebellions that were

so threatening that Peter had resolved to go to the Don in per-

son. Fortimately, the Tsar received news of the quelling of

these insurrections in time to bend all his energies to the war

with Sweden. We shall go on with the history of the cam-

paign, leaving for the present the account of these disturbances,

to understand which it is necessary to set forth with some

detail the internal situation of the empire since the battle of

Narva.

Although Charles left Silesia in September, he did not con-

tinue his march, but remained encamped for four months at

Slupce, on the banks of the "Vistula. The cause of this delay is

unknown. As on the previous occasions, Charles may have pre-

ferred a winter campaign simply on account of its difBculties, or

he may have feared the bad roads of the Russian autumn. Some

delay, at least, was caused by waiting for the river to freeze.

Bridges could not be built on account of the rapid current and

the ice, and finally, his impatience was such that he made roads

over the thin ice with straw and snow, and passed in comparative

safety on January 9, 1708. This long stay was very hard for

the unfortunate Poles. Stanislas complained bitterly, and said

the Swedes were as unmerciful to his poor subjects as the Rus-

sians were ; but his complaints were unheeded. ' The Swedes,'

wrote the French Minister, ' hold the Poles in contempt, and do
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not consider them worthy of attention, and even the King is so

angry over their weak and wretched behaviour that he has no

compassion for them individually or collectively.' On the other

side of the Yistula there seemed to be plenty of provisions and

forage, and Quarter-master-general Gyllenkrok urged the King

to go into winter quarters there. But, this did not enter into

his plans, and leaving behind G-eneral Krassau, with 8,000

men to support the tottering throne of Stanislas, he set out for

Lithuania. Instead of taking the usual road through Pultusk,

Ostrolenka, and Lomza, along the Bug and the Nareva, even

though it was occupied by Russians, he chose the seldom-travelled

route farther to the north, along the Prussian boundaries,

through the forests and swamps of Masuria, as many thought,

simply to have the pleasure of marching where no army had

been before. The King and all were obliged to bivouac in the

snow without tents, and in spite of the blazing fires and the

military music which Charles kept up all night to inspirit the

men, many lives were lost from the cold and fatigue. Horses

died in such numbers that a great part of the baggage had to be

abandoned. "Worse than all for the Swedes was the hostility of

the population—a wild race, habituated by their contests with

bears and wolves to the use of firearms, and scarcely acknowl-

edging the authority of their own king. They hid behind trees

and bushes, and shot down the Swedish soldiers. Charles him-

self narrowly escaped a bullet. To stop this partisan warfare,

the angi-y King gave orders to hang the peasants as fast as they

were caught, and to burn their houses. On one day General

Kreutz captured a band of fifty men, and compelled them to

hang one another, the last man being butchered by the soldiers.

Even women and children were not spared. At last a large

band collected, and offered the Swedes free passage on the con-

dition of the payment of ten thalers for every horse. Otherwise,

they said, no man should depart alive. The King himseK came

to the conference, and the leader of the peasants, standing be-

hind the barricade, said :
' These lands belong to the peasants,

and they are not willing to let anyone through unless the money
be paid down, and some officers left as surety.' 'When the

peasant leader,' says Hultmann, the King's butler, in his diary,

'had spoken thus audaciously, the Iving had his old body-servant,



1708. J pktee's energy. 81

Mans Lenk, slyly put a ball through him, so that he sank down
on the spot.'

Another Swedish aceoimt confirms this with the words : ' In
this'way his Majesty taught the peasants something else than
to presume to treat with a king.'

Peter had passed the summer in Poland, suffering from
fever the whole of the two months he was in Warsaw, and
coming up slowly through Lithuania, inspecting the military

positions as he passed, arrived in St. Petersburg at the begin-

ning of I^ovember. It is in such hasty visits as this that the
all-embracing energy of Peter seems most apparent. He in-

spected the fortifications at St. Petersbui-g, Schliisselburg, and
Cronstadt, was constant in attendance at the .Admiralty, and
besides the numerous orders he gave for recruiting, for supplying
and clothing his troops, for the defence of the fifontier, he found
time to send a word of condolence to the father of Prince Ivan
Troekiirof ; to write to the Princess Menshikof a friendly note,

in which he begged her to take better care of her husband, and
' feed him up so that he should not look as thin as when at

Meretch ;
' to send two Latin books to Apraxin to be translated

into Kussian ; and to give orders for training the pupS of his

favourite dog. More than aU this, he accomplished an act

about which he had long been troubled in mind:—he was
privately married to his beloved Catherine, in the Church of

the Holy Trinity, some time in the month of November. The
Peast of St. Alexander Nefsky he celebrated in the house of

Menshikof, and wrote to him :
' On your name's-day we were

merrier than I have ever been since the death of Lefort.' A
week later there was a similar feast on St. Andrew's Day, and

in sending the account of it to Menshikof, Peter added a new
cheese made from the milk of his Dutch cows. The same day
he set out for Moscow, to pass the Christmas holidays. There

he found work for his hands in providing for the sufferers by

a recent conflagration; in enlarging and supplying his new
apothecary's establishment, and in sending medicines through-

out the country, especially to the field hospitals ; in studying

the question of regulating the proof of silver ; in supplying his

printing-office with the new-fashioned type of his invention

which had just arrived from Holland ; in regulating the salaries

Vol. II.—

6
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of his ambassadors and making provision for their regular pay-

ment ; in arranging to send ten young Kussians abroad ; in pro-

viding for the education of the sons of the clergy; and,. to ensure

the proper style, in ordering all clothes and hats to be made

after the German pattern and to be stamped at Moscow.

On hearing of the approach of the Swedes, Peter hastened

to the army, and arrived at Grodno on February 1. Four days

afterward he wrote to Apraxin to hasten to Wilna, but, 'if you

have already come to Wilna, go no farther, for the enemy is

already with us.' The enemy turned out to be Charles, who,

hearing that Peter was in Grodno, and wishing to celebrate his

name's-day, rode hastily forward with 900 cavalry, drove back

Miihlenfeld, who, with 2,000 cavalry, was guarding the bridge,

and entered the town only two hours after Peter had left.

When the Tsar the next day discovered that the whole Swedish

army had not advanced, and to what a small mnnber of men his

troops had yielded, he sent 3,000 men back to Grodno to sur-

prise the Swedes. They reached the town at midnight, over-

powered the small guard, and came within an ace of capturing

Charles, who, together with Kehnskjold and the Prince of

Wurtemberg, had rushed into the street, and had got involved

in the throng. With the help of the inhabitants, who took

their part, the Swedes after a long struggle drove the Russians

out of the town. Miihlenfeld was arrested on a charge of trea-

son, but escaped to the Swedes, to whom he communicated all

he knew about the Russians. He was subsequently taken

prisoner at Poltava, tried, and shot.

From Mer^tch, Peter ordered Menshikof to cut and bar-

ricade the roads in every direction, and to entrust the rear-guard

to faithful and capable officers. On February 8 he was at

Wilna, still uncertain which way Charles intended to march,

though he had before felt sure that the purpose of the King

;was to occupy Livonia, and thence advance upon Pskof and Nov-

gorod. Charles at first moved from Grodno north-eastward to

Smorgone, famous for its dancing bears, and, it seemed, in-

tended to march directly to Pskof, but, after waiting there a

time, he turned south-eastward to Pad6shkovitchi (Radoszko-

wicze), where he stayed until June. In order to protect the

northern frontier, Peter, while still at Grodno, had written to
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Cyril Naryshkin, the commander of Pskof, ordering him to

provide for the active defence of Pskof and Dorpat, by strength-

ening the fortifications, and digging mines, though not putting

powder in them; and further commanded him to send to

Vologda all the inhabitants of Dorpat, allowing them to take

their money with them, but registering and taking possession

of their other property. The object of the Tsar was to render

the country easier to defend, by removing those inhabitants

who might sympathise with the Swedes, and, at the same time,

in case Livonia were reoccupied, to provide Russia with colonies

of useful and hard-working artisans. What the inhabitants of

Livonia were again called upon to suffer we can see from what

took place at Dorpat.
' On February 19, the pastors were obliged to give out from

their pulpits the order that the inhabitants should sell their

houses within a week, and be ready to go to the interior of

Russia, with all their property laden on one, or at most two,

sledges. On the reading of this command, the poor citizens

became so confounded that their weeping and groaning had no

end. All prayers for mercy were vain. People were obliged

to comply with the orders, and make their sad and hasty prep-

arations. Everyone, indeed, was allowed to turn his property

into money. But who could buy the houses that were offered

for sale, when everybody had to emigrate ? Eussian soldiers,

and people fi-om the country, now could get furniture for the

tenth, or even for the hundredth, part of its value, and were

soon unwilling to offer anything, as they hoped to get every-

thing for nothing as soon as the inhabitants had gone. On
February 16 the greater part of the citizens went to the Lord's

Supper. It was a heart-rending separation from one another,

from the city and church of their fathers, and perhaps, also,

from their faith, for the poor people went as if into a Babylon-

ian imprisonment. They would be separated from each other,

scattered over a far land, and settled among strange people, of

other manners, other speech, and other faith. The day of de-

parture was set for February 29. The cold was terrible, but

all had to go—young and old, well and sick, even the dying

;

everyone with the best of his goods packed on carts and sledges,

the poorest on wretched sledges fastened to the train, and all
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this amidst weeping, wailing, and moaning. The departure

took place after a summons and in a certain order. The start

was early in the morning, and only at ten o'clock in the fore-

noon did the last sledge leave the town, whereupon the Russians

iired off the cannon on the walls, as though they had gained a

victory. The following day, the church bells, the great chan-

deliers, and the copper roofs, were taken for the account of the

Tsar, and Avhat remained besides was sold at a nominal price.

Finally, the fortifications were blown up, and the houses of the

whole town burnt to ashes.'

Other towns were treated in a similar way, and fi'om Narva

and Ingria alone, seventy-one families were sent to Vologda

and seventy-seven to Kazan. These harsh proceedings, how-

ever, were useless, for Charles had jnade up his mind to turn to

the Ukraine, but none knew it except his most intimate advis-

ers, much less the Russians.

"While the Swedes were at Kadoshkovitchi, Peter, who was

ill with fever and excitement, took advantage of the lull in the

campaign to go back to St. Petersburg, where he arrived on the

last day of March. A fortnight later, he writes to Golofkin

:

' People say that where God has built a church the devil has

put an altar. Although hitherto I have always been as well

here as in Paradise, now I do not know how I brought my fever

with me from Poland, although I took good care of myself in

the sledge, and was well clad, for I have been tormented with

it during the whole of Passion week, and even at Easter I could

hear nothing except the beginning of the Vespers, and the

Gospel, on account of illness. !Now, thank God ! I am getting

better, but still do not go out of the house. ' The holidays have

not been celebrated at all as they should be ; for, as far as my
memory serves me, we were always in red, whereas now we are

forced to stay in grey. The fever was accompanied by pains in

my throat and chest, and ended in a cough, which is now vei-y

severe.' Two days afterward he wrote again : 'I beg you to do

everything that can possibly be done without me. When I was

well I let nothing pass, but noM- God sees what I am after this

illness, which this place and Poland have caused me, and if in

these next weeks I have no time for taking medicine and for

resting, God knows what will happen.' On receiving news from
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Peter's illness. 8.')

Menshikof that the Swedes were preparing two or three bridges

over the rivers, Peter answered, on April 25, begging him not

to summon him to the army any sooner than was absohitely

necessary, as he greatly needed rest and fm-ther treatment.

' You yourself know that I am not accustomed to write in this

way, but God sees how little strength I have, and without health

and strength it is impossible to be of service. Biit if for five or

six weeks from this time I can stay here and take medicine, I

then hope, with God's aid, to come to you well. If it is abso-

lutely necessary for me to come, be good enough to have relays

placed, for you can judge of the proper time better than I can

here.'

In the midst of his weakness from fever and medicine, in

the midst of his anxieties about the conduct of the war and the

suppression of the revolt on the Don, Peter was cheered by the

presence of his family. His sister Natalia, his half-sisters Mary

and Theodosia, his sister-in-law, the widowed Tsaritsa Prascovia,

with her three daughters, for whom he had always a sincere

affection, all came to visit him at St. Petersburg. He was

able to meet them at Schliisselburg in April, and had the pleas-

ure of showing them his new town, his fleet, and his conquests,

for they remained for more than two months in St. Petersburg

;

they went to Cronstadt and were entertained on board ship, and

they accompanied him to Koporie, Yamburg, and Narva, where

they celebrated his name's-day. That feast was clouded by the

death of his little daughter Catherine ; but a great object had

been attained—his sisters had made the official acquaintance of

Catherine as his wife. Their visit at this time showed the con-

fidence of the Tsar in the safety of St. Petersburg. Meanwhile,

the Tsarevitch Alexis was at Moscow in charge of the fortifica-

tions, and, by his indifference and his lack of energy, was caus-

ing anxiety to his father. To his confessor he had even ex-

pressed doubts as to the utility of these fortifications, and had

said that ' if the Tsar's army could not hold back the Swedes,

Moscow would not stop them.' The intercession of Catherine

was necessary to avert Peter's anger, which the secret inter-

views of Alexis with his mother had greatly increased.

On June 17 Charles finally broke up his quarters at Eadosh-

kovitchi, and on the 29tli was on the banks of the river Bere-
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zina. A part of the Kussian army was drawn up at Borisof ;'

but Charles, leaving a few regiments under Colonel Sparre to

make a feint, marched through the woods and morasses, and

crossed with safety considerably lower down. Sheremetief

and Menshikof resolved to dispute the passage of the Swedes

over the little river of Bibitch (Wabis), at the little town of

Goloftchin (Holowczyn), known in old Eussian history for the

victory of Prince Yaropolk over Prince Vseslav of Polotsk,

where marshes and ponds gave them a strong position. Unfor-

tunately, they posted their left wing, commanded by Prince

Kepnin, at a considerable distance from the rest of the army, in

such a way that their own communications were exceedingly

difficult on account of the marshes. Charles, having placed his

cannon in a commanding position the night before, on the

morning of the 15th, covered by the artiQery fire and a fog,

crossed the river and the swamp in the face of the enemy, at-

tacked the wing commanded by Prince Kepnin, and after a se-

vere contest of several hours, in which the Swedes used chiefly

their bayonets, as their powder was wet, compelled the Russians

gradually to retire into the forests. The cavalry under Goltz,

which supported Kepnin, had also a sharp fight with the King's

drabants and body-guard ; but the main body, under Shereme-

tief, was imable to reach them in time, and the whole army re-

treated to the Dnieper, and took positions at Mohilef, Sklpf, and

Kopos. The Swedish loss amounted to 360 dead (including

General von Wrangel), and 1,220 wounded; the Kussian to

119 killed, and 61Y wounded.

It was a Swedish victory, but although the Kussians had re-

tired, they had gained one of their ends—^that of weakening the

Swedish forces, and when Peter, who was already on his way to

the army, received the first news of the battle, and believed that

a third of his troops had supported for some time the Swedish

onset and had retired in good order, he was well satisfied.

When he came to learn the details, he was angry over the bad

conduct of some of Kepnin's troops, especially of a new regi-

ment, and, in spite of Kepnin's protest, ordered a strict investi-

gation, and the punishment of all offenders against good disci-

' Where Napoleon crossed, on November 17, 1813.
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pline. The Swedes, on the contrary, spoke well of the behaviour

of K^pnin's men ; the greatest fault of the Kussians lay in the

bad disposition of their troops. Charles considered this battle

one of the best of his exploits, but it was the last. Here his

star began to pale.

Four days after the battle of Goloftchin, it was decided at a

council of war not to attempt to defend Mohilef, but to abandon
it to the enemy, and to concentrate at Gorki, north-east of Mo-
hilef, on the other side of the Dnieper, thus protecting the

road to Smolensk and Moscow. Charles occupied Mohilef, and

found there a sufficient amount of provisions to keep his troops

for some time, while waiting the arrival of Lewenhaupt with

11,000 men and a train of necessary stores, provisions, and ar-

tillery. He also waited for the breaking out of the insurrection

in the Ukraine. He was, however, too impatient to wait long,

and crossed the Dnieper on August 16, and marched toward Tchi-

rikof, on the river Sozh. The light Russian cavalry hovered

about the Swedish advance, capturing and killing stragglers and

destroying the roads and bridges. The summer was unusually

rainy, the Swedes suffered much from the want of tents, and the

provisions ran short, so that the soldiers were obliged to collect

the grain from the fields and bruise it between stones. Dis-

ease was the consequence of the bad food and the bad weather,

and there were no medicines. The Swedish soldiers said : 'We
have only three physicians—Doctor Brandy, Doctor Garlic, and

Doctor Death.' Peter and the main body of the Kussian troops

moved from G6rki to Mstislavl, and Charles, getting tired of

skirmishes, turned northward toward Mstislavl, and met the

Eussians at Dobry on September 9.

This time the Eussians, under Prince Michael Golitsyn and

General Pflug, began the attack, and, after a two hours' hard

fight, when the Swedes were reinforced, they retired in good

order, having captured six Swedish standards. The Swedish

loss in this sharply contested fight was 261 killed and 750

wounded. The Eussians lost 210 and about 1,200 wounded.'

Golitsyn received the order of St. Andrew for his bravery, and

' This battle is also called that of Malatltcha (Malatycza) or Tchemaya

Napa, from a little stream flowing through the moor where it was fought.
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Peter wrote to Apraxin :
' I solemnly assm-e you that since I

began to serve I have never seen such fire or such orderly con-

duct on the part-of our soldiers (God grant it so in future as

well !), and the Swedish king himself has not seen such an ac-

tion in the course of this war. O God, do not take away Thy
mercy from us for the future !

'

After the affair of Dobry, the Russians retreated northward,

burning, as they passed, the town of Mstislavl. Charles fol-

lowed them as far as the Russian frontier at Tatarsk, which he

marched along for some distance without crossing. On one oc-

casion he ran great danger, in a sharp skirmish with the Russian

cavalry. Charles had not believed that the same system of de-

fence by devastating the country would be pursued in the Rus-

sian provinces, and had thought that, however he might treat

Poland, the Tsar would not be indifferent to the sufferings and

loss of his ovm subjects. But the Swedes now saw nothing but

the flames and smoke of burning Russian villages, and news came

that a whole forest had been hewn down, to obstruct the roads

leading to Smolensk. Charles did what for him was unusual,

—he asked for advice. In a council of war. Piper urged the im-

perative necessity of the junction with Lewenhaupt, who might

be attacked and beaten by the Russians and lose his provisions.

But considerations of prudence yielded to the hopes Charles had

of his being joined by 20,000 Cossacks imder Mazeppa ; and,

refusing to go back or to wait, he burned his superfluous bag-

gage, and, on September 26, began his march southward, thus

sacrificing Lewenhaupt, who was then on the Dnieper, near

Sklof, only sixty mUes away in a direct line, and who could have
been met by a march of three days.

The idea of marching into the Ukraine had long been in the

mind of Charles. He had let the proper time for a favourable

peace go by. He had refused, from arrogance, to take the

northern road to Livonia; he now found the eastern one to

Smolensk and Moscow difficult, if not impracticable ; the south-

ern road remained. He felt the need of allies, and counted on
rebellions and insurrections. He expected, too, a strong diver-

sion to be made on the northern frontier by General Lybecker.
"When Lewenhaupt left the King's head-quarters, early in

May, he had instructions to get ready all the men he covdd mus-
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ter—about 11,000—a train of ai-tillery and ammtmition, stores

and provisions enough to last his own men for twelve weeks,

and the whole army for six weeks. The further order of the

King, that he should start at the begixming of June and march
to the Berezina, reached him so late that with all his diligence

it was impossible for him to set out before July. The constant

rains made the roads bad, the great train of waggons impeded
liim, and he arrived at Sklof on September 28, just in time to

receive a courier who had left the King's army only twenty-

four hours before, with orders (which, however, had been kept

back for two days before being sent) to cross the Dnieper and
the Sozh and march to Starodiib in the Ukraine. Lewen-
haupt felt as though these orders were his death-blow, for be-

tween the Dnieper and the Sozh stood the whole Kussian army.

He would have preferred to keep on the western bank of the

Dnieper, thus protected against the Russians, vintil a favourable

opportunity came for joining the main army. He suspected

ill-will or treachery at head-quarters in the delay attending liis

orders. Crossing the Dnieper at Sklof, keeping as far as he

could from the Eussians, and disseminating false reports of his

whereabouts, after a march of seven days, impeded by bad roads

and broken bridges, he arrived at Liesna, a few miles from Pro-

poisk, and in one day more would have crossed the Sozh and have

been comparatively safe. But on October 9 he was attacked

by the Eussians, who had followed him for several days, and

on the previous afternoon had succeeded in outflanking him.

All he could do was to send the greater part of the train on to

Prop6isk with a guard, and to prepare to fight. A fierce battle

ensued, which lasted the whole afternoon, with no actual result,

for both sides maintained their ground. When night came on,

Lewenhaupt buried his artillery, burned the waggons which

were still with him, used the horses for mounting his infantry,

and pressed on to Propoisk. The trains sent thither had got

into confusion, and as it was impossible to get them over the

Sozh, on account of the destruction of the bridges, they also

were burned, and Lewenhaupt was obliged, with the remains of

his army, to follow the river until he found a ford. He finally

succeeded in joining a portion of Charles's army, on October

21. The Russians, who had 14,000 men engaged, lost 1,100
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killed and 2,856 wounded, while Lewenhaupt succeeded in

bringing to Charles only about 6,000 men, out of the 11,000

with which he started from Eiga. Over 3,000 had been

taken prisoners ; the remainder had died or had deserted ; the

stores, medicine, and ammunition, of which the Swedes had

so much need, had been lost, and forty-four standards and

seventeen guns had been captured. Charles had never appre-

ciated rightly the military qualities of Lewenhaupt, and al-

though he received him weU on his arrival, he soon manifested

a coolness toward him, gave him no command, and did not

again during the campaign make use of his great experience.

Perhaps the greatest effect of this battle was that it dispirited

the Swedes and destroyed their self-confidence, and raised the

hopes of the Kussians, who believed that Lewenhaupt had a

force superior in numbers to their own. Peter wrote : ' This

victory may be called our first, for we have never had such a

one over regular troops. In very truth, it was the cause of aU

the subsequent good fortune of Kussia, for it was the first proof

of our soldiers, and it put hearts into our men, and was the

mother of the battle of Poltava.'

To add to their misfortunes, the Swedes met with a great

disaster in the north. Charles had relied on his great fleet to

destroy that of the Tsar, and aid General Lybecker in an attack

on Cronstadt and St. Petersburg. But the fleet could not be

equipped, as, after raising and supplying the forces of Lybecker

and Lewenhaupt, there was no money in the Swedish treasury.

Only a smaU division, under Admiral Anekarstjerna, took the

sea, but even that was detained by contrary winds at Eeval,

and was too weak to attack the Russian fleet, which was master

of the Finnish Gulf. Admiral Count Botsis captured many
small Swedish vessels, and landed a force of troops in Finland,

who took Borga and burned the vessels in the port. Lybecker

was a man of very moderate capacities, who, for fully twenty

years, had served as lieutenant. His personal bravery at the

battle of Klissow,' in 1703, pleased Charles, who advanced him
far beyond his deserts, until he became major-general, baron,

and commander-in-chief of the whole army in Finland. This

army, consisting of 14,000 men, was not ready to take the field

until the early part of September, and even then, though well
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armed and equipped, had provisions only for some days. In

spite of strong opposition, he succeeded in crossing the 'Seva,,

but did not dare attack St. Petersburg, which was too well for-

tified. Although it was only a week since he had left Viborg,

his provisions were exhausted, and his troops were obliged to

kill their horses for food. Partly through the misconduct of

his own men, he was repulsed from the little fort of Ingris-

Amund, and he then advanced aimlessly into Ingria, which the

Kussians laid waste before him, and finally succeeded in taking

the small fortress of Koporie, where he found some provisions.

Deceived by a false letter of Apraxin, wherein was mention

of 40,000 men for the defence of St. Petersburg, Lybecker

made for the sea-coast near !Narva, and persuaded. Admiral
Anckarstjerna to take his troops across to Viborg. He was
forced to kill or hamstring 6,000 horses, to bum his heavy

baggage, and, on account of bad weather, to leave behind about

900 men, who defended themselves valiantly until nearly all

were killed. The total loss of the Swedes in this undertaking

was over 3,000 men, besides the horses and war material.

But just when the news of this victory, together with the

defeat of Lewenhaupt at Liesna, had inspired Peter with the

greatest confidence, he suddenly heard of the treachery of Ma-
zeppa.'

" Solovief, XV. ; Fryxell, i., ii. ; tJstrialof, iv. ;' Golikof, iii., iv.; Sarauw.



LIV.

MAZEPPA'S TREACHERY.

Ivan Stepanovttch Mazeppa, the son of a petty nobleman of

the orthodox faith from the western part of Little Rnssia, was

bom about 1645. The family was known in the country, and

in 1597 one of his ancestors had, together with the unfortunate

Hetman Kalivaiko, been roasted alive by the Poles. A hand-

some youth, weU educated in a Jesuit school, he was appointed

page at the court of King Jan Casimir. Although the victories

of the Cossacks had compelled the Poles to make a few conces-

sions to the Little Eussians, yet Catholic fanaticism was ram-

pant, and the comrades of Mazeppa taunted him so often about

his religion and his nationality that one day he impatiently

drew his sword. Such an act in the royal palace was a capital

offence, but the King, taking into account the circumstances of

the case, merely exiled Mazeppa from the coiu-t. He withdrew

to his mother's estate in Yolynia, where he became engaged in

an intrigue with the wife of a neighbouring nobleman, Falbow-

ski. On one of his visits he was waylaid by the injiu-ed hu!<-

band, was ignominiously stripped and bound to his horse. The
spirited animal, frightened by the cuts of a whip and the firing

of a pistol close to his ear, rushed furiously through woods and

thickets, and brought his master home so torn and bleeding

that he was hardly recognisable. Unable to meet his equals

after such an adventure, Mazeppa sought a refuge among the Cos-

sacks, where he took service first mider the Hetman Tetera and

subsequently \mder Doroshenko. As in addition to Polish and

Russian he knew German and Latin, he soon rose to the import-

ant position of Secretary-General, and in 1674 was sent to the

Cossacks of the Russian side of the Dnieper with a proposition

of Doroshenko for annexation. Doroshenko afterwards sent
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liim to Constantinople to ask the aid of the Sultan, but he was
captured by the Ataman of the Zaporovian Cossacks, who sent

him to Moscow. The boyar Matveief had charge of the exam-
ination, and was pleased with the bearing of Mazeppa, who
professed himself favourably disposed to Eussia, and tried to

exculpate Doroshenko. He was released, presented to the
Tsar, and sent back with friendly messages. He preferred,

however, to remain with the Hetman Samoilovitch, and re-

ceived permission to live in the Eussian Ukraine. Samoilovitch
confided to him the education of his children, and soon raised

him to the dignity of Yesaiil General, the next rank after that

of Hetman. He was frequently sent to Moscow on commis-
sions, and while there succeeded in ingratiating himself with
Prince Basil Golitsyn, who was at that time all powerful. Go-
litsyn and Matveief, both of whom had respect for the educa-

tion given in Poland and Little Eussia, so far superior to that

of Moscow, were captivated by Mazeppa's intelligence and man-
ners. When Samoilovitch became the scapegoat of the unfor-

tunate Crimean campaign in 1687, and was deposed, Golitsyn

made Mazeppa his successor.'

Mazeppa continued his friendly relations with Golitsyn, and
at the time of the overthrow of Sophia had just arrived at

Moscow for the purpose of presenting himself personally to the

Government. As we have already related, he succeeded in

clearing himself of any complicity with Sophia, and in ingi-a-

tiating himself with Peter." Political necessities demanded
Mazeppa's retention as Hetman, and the charm of his manners
and the apparent simplicity and openness of his character in-

spired Peter with a confidence in him that remained unshaken

in spite of rumours and accusations, until he actually went over

to the Swedish camp.

It is in the sixteenth centmy that we must fix the rise of the

Cossacks as a class. In the middle of that century they made
their appearance on the outskirts of Eussia in most opposite

localities: on the confines of Poland, on the Don and the

southern border, and on the extreme east. They were at first

nothing but the vagabonds and men not bound to the soil by

' See Vol. I., p. 159. « Ibid.
, p. 190.
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the fixed ties of serf labour, sucli as were to be found in every

village. Following the Eussian proverb, " The fish seeks where

it is deepest' and the man where it is best," they made their

way to the confines of the empire to get rid of compulsory work

for the lords of the soil and to be free in the widest sense of

the term. The word Cossack, or Kazak, is of Tartar origin,

meaning, first, a free, homeless vagabond, and then one of the

partisans and guerilla warriors formed out of such vagabonds.

This signification of the name was never quite lost, and even

when the Cossacks were preeminently the military colonies and

brotherhoods on the frontiers, their name was in popular

parlance given to robber bands.' The Cossacks were a charac-

teristic manifestation of the time—a national protest against the

governmental forms which did not satisfy the Russian ideal.

The ideal of the Cossacks was full personal freedom, uncon-

ditional possession of the soil, an elective government, popular

justice administered by themselves, complete equality between

the members of the society, contempt of all privileges of rank

or birth, and mutual defence against external enemies. The
neighbourhood of the Tartars and of the other hostile tribes

compelled the Cossacks to preserve a military organisation.

The fact that their enemies were non-Christian only increased

their own love of religion and orthodoxy. That they themselves

were discontented with the form of government in Russia

made them always more or less hostile and suspicious of the

central administration, even where they admitted its authority.

The development of the Cossacks in Little Kussia—in what
was called the Ukraine or borderland—was chiefly due to Dash-

kovitch and Landskoronski, Starosts or chiefs of towns in that

region, who formed the inhabitants into a military class always

ready to repulse the Tartar incursions. The successor of Dash-
koviteh, the enterprising Dimitri "Wisniowiecki, received all

volunteers who came to him, grew famous by the heroic vic-

tories of his Cossacks over the Crim Tartars, and became almost

independent of the Polish crown. His plans for destroying the

Crim Tartars failed through the obstinacy of the Tsar Ivan the

Terrible. In 1563 the Cossacks had almost conquered Moldavia,

' Such bands of robbers always gave themselves a Cossack organisation.
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when Wisniowiecki was treadierously captured by the Turks,

tortured and killed.

The abundance of fish and wild animals below the long and
dangerous cataracts of the Dnieper, which made navigation

impossible, had early led many adventurers to settle themselves

there in half military wise. Sitcha or Setch, which these

Zaporovians (so called from their living za por6ghi, beyond the

cataracts) built on an island of the Dnieper, served at,first sim-

ply as a refuge ; but the peculiar rules of the brotherhood, for

such it must be called, which made orthodoxy and celibacy obli-

gatory, which forbade the presence of women in the settlement,

which imposed severe tests on the candidate for initiation, and

which put a premium on bravery and endurance, all tended to

excite a martial spirit. During the first one hundred and fifty

years of their existence the Zaporovians numbered scarcely

more than three thousand, but at the end of the sixteenth cen-

tury Setch could boast as many as twenty or thirty thousand

braves.

In this way the Cossacks divided into two branches, those

of the towns, or of the Ukraine, who on account of their settled

habitations were obliged to recognise the Polish authority, and

the Zaporovians, who, although they owed a nominal allegiance

to the Hetman of Little Eussia, were practically independent,

siding sometimes with the Turks, sometimes with the Tartars,

and sometimes with their own countrymen. A close bond of

union was nevertheless kept up between them, and many of the

younger, braver and more restless from the Ukraine would go

to Setch to pass a few years or their whole life among the

Zaporovians.

The Polish nobles did much to extend the Cossacks, not

foreseeing what dangerous results would follow for Poland.

They themselves were Cossack leaders, and took them on their

expeditions, and even the Polish kings used their services.

Stephen Batori registered the Cossacks, put them under the

command of a Hetman, and divided them into six regiments.

The registered Cossacks, who had the freehold of their lands

and paid no taxes, were 6,000 in number, and the Govern-

ment refused to recognise any others. This did not suit the

popular view. All the common people sought to be Cossacks
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or freemen, and one method of obtaining this object was by

limning away to Sitcha. The Polish serf was in every sense

of the word a slave, so entirely was he in the power of his lord.

Where, as in the Ukraine, his lord was generally of an ahen

race and of another religion, his fate seemed doubly hard.

When, therefore, he saw in his immediate neighbourhood a

free and independent class of his countrymen, he naturally

tried to join them and get for himself the same rights. The
nmaway peasant, on returning from the Zaporovians, no longer

wished to obey his lord, but claimed a right to the land on

which he had lived and worked, and to be considered in eveiy

way as a Cossack. The proprietors caught such runaways

when they could, and even put them to death. If persecuted

in their former homes, there were always other lords who, for

the sake of their service, were glad to give them protection and

land. But on the shghtest provocation they were as willing to

treat their new protector in the same way as their former lord.

The registered Cossacks showed no desire to limit their class,

and in this way the actual number of Cossacks greatly exceed-

ed the legal number. The lists were inspected from time to

time, and such newcomers were stricken off ; they then collected

themselves into bands, elected their Hetmans, and continued

to call themselves Cossacks, and although legally they were

considered mere marauders, yet the nobles at times used them

in their wars with Muscovy, Sweden and Turkey.'

The tendency of the people to become Cossacks received a

religious colouring, and in their own eyes a moral consecration.

After the union of the orthodox with the Catholic Church in

Lithuania and Poland, the Russian proprietors rapidly went

over to Catholicism, losing at the same time then- nationahtv

and becoming Poles in feeling. The townspeople and serfs

accepted the union only on compulsion, and did not become ac-

customed to it for generations. In the Tlkraine, where the

people were bolder and less submissive, the Union made little

progress. The registered Cossacks, not fearing the landed pro-

prietors, refused to receive it. The seM-styled Cossacks hated

' In 1646 over 3,000 Cossacks weat to France and served in the siege of

Dunkirk.
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it still more, as one of the marks of the hated rule of the lords.

In this way the orthodox religion became for the Russians of
the Ukraine an ensign of freedom and opposition to the nobility.

The conciirrent testimony of all contemporary writers shows
that at the end of the fifteenth and the beginning of the six-

teenth centuries, the poor peasants of this region were reduced
to a most miserable condition by the tyranny of their masters.

Nevertheless, nothing is said to have weighed so much upon
them as the power of the Jews. The proprietors had fre-

quently mortgaged their lands to Jews, or employed them as

stewards and overseers with full powers of lordly rule. In ad-

dition to all the more common kinds of exaction and tyranny,

these Jewish overseers profited by the fact that the village

churches were the property of the master, and imposed taxes

on baptisms, marriages, and funerals, and every religious ser-

vice. The complaints of the peasantry against Jewish rule and
exactions are handed down to this day in popular songs, and
the traditions of three centuries undoubtedly have an influence

on popular feeling still in those regions.

"With the impulse given by the Zaporovians rebellion suc-

ceeded to rebellion, accompanied on both sides by the most
frightful barbarities. The Cossacks of the Ukraine turned

their eyes to Moscow, the head of orthodoxy. Finally, under

the lead of Bogdan lOimelnitzky, they succeeded in becoming
defacto independent of Poland, and put themselves under the

protection of the Tsar. This was in 1654.

With time, with circumstances, with the increase of wealth,

and with the tendency to a more settled life, great changes had
taken place in Little Russia. There had come into existence a

land-owning class and a class of peasants who cultivated the

great estates, whose interests were opposed to those of the gen-

uine Cossacks, the adventurous fighting class. The Cossacks,

supported and aided by the Zaporovians, envied the rich and

the powerful, wished to break up the great estates, and to rein-

troduce the primitive democratic equality. The colonels and

leaders, many of whom had managed to get hold of large

estates when the Polish landlords had been driven out, chafed

at their subjection to the Hetman, but at the same time wished

to be independent of the Cossacks of the army. They, tliere-

VoL. II.—
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fore, willingly assisted the Kussians in registering the Cossacks,

and thus prevented their increasing beyond a fixed number, so

as to keep as many workmen as possible on then* estates. The

peasantry suffered from the exactions both of the landowners

and of the fighting Cossacks, but sympathised rather with the

latter. They all wished to leave their ovm condition of life

and become free Cossacks. The townspeople leaned towards

any strong government that would protect them. Some were

for the Poles and some for the Russians. Mazeppa, with his

Polish education and habits, naturally inclined to the side of

the proprietors as against the purely military element, and in

doing so not only carried out the views of the Moscow Gov-

ernment, but obtained support from it, and was able to bring'

in additional Streltsi and troops for his protection. He. thus

slieceeded in maintaining his rule without any open outbreak

;

but, nevertheless, during the whole time of his Hetmanship

Little Russia was in a continual state of ferment. The bonds

which theii united Little Russia to Moscow were not of the

strongest. The Little Russians, though possessing strong relig-

ious sympathies—^for their attachment to the orthodox Church

was as strong as ever—had not yet come to look upon the

' Moscols,' as they called them, as their own countrymen. Con-

siderable autonomy still existed, and the general desire was for

independence. The Russian protection had been accepted sim-

ply as a means of being secure from the Polish yoke ; but none

of the Hetmans since the union with Russia had ever been un-

willing to coquet vsdth Poles, Tartars, and Turks when there had

seemed a chance of freeing themselves from Russian suprem-

acy without ' coming imder the strict rule of another country.

The Russian union had brought its disadvantages as well as its

advantages. Taxes had increased, fortifications had been

erected on Cossack territory, Russian troops occupied portions

of the country, and the military autonomy of the land had

been infringed.

It seemed inipossible for a Hetman to retain long his poj. i-

larity with the dehiocratic Cossacks. He was always accused

of yielding too much to the Russians, and at the same time

there were constant intrigues for his place. Personal and po-

litical animosities sometimes took the form of denunciations at
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Moscow. Vygofsky and Bruchovetsky, in spite of accusations,

had been trusted by the Moscow Government, and both had

betrayed it. Mnogogrieshny had fallen the victim of his de-

nunciations, and Samoilovitch, the only Hetman who was tho-

roughly devoted to Russian interests, had been sacrificed to save

Grolitsyn's reputation.

Mazeppa succeeded, as we have said, in retaining the confi-

dence of the Tsar. Little credence was given to the accusa-

tions frequently brought against him of treason a,nd of secret

correspondence with the Poles. Even as early as 1689 Mazeppa

had been accused of coiTespondence with King Jan Sobieski

for the reunion of Little Eussia with Poland. There was cer-

tainly a correspondence of some sort, but some of the letters

. were forged, and Mazeppa sent to Moscow those which he re-

ceived from Szumlianski, Bishop of Lemberg. The persons

implicated were surrendered to him for punishment, and through

this he succeeded in getting some of his worst enemies sent to

Siberia, and the number of Eussian troops increased.' In 1691

Petrik, a hot-headed and active Cossack connected by marriage

with Kotchub^y, the Secretary-General of the Cossacks, fled to

the Zaporovians, and afterwards to the Eian of the Crim Tar-

tars, carrying with him some important papers. Lie endea-

voured to do what Elmelnitzky had done before him, raise the

Zaporovians and bring the Tartars into the Ukraine, promising

to free the Little Russians and to exterminate the Jews and all

the nobility and rich people. The Jews were in special disfa-

vour, partly as usurers and money-lenders, and partly as farmers

of the liquor traffic. Mazeppa sent rich presents and great prom-

ises to the Zaporovians, and Petrik, when he raised the stand-

ard of insurrection, could enlist under it only some of the

more headstrong Cossacks and a very few Tartars. He was

repulsed without difficulty, and Mazeppa earned the gratitude

of Moscow, to which he had a stiU greater right on accoimt of

his action with regard to spirit-farming. The farming of. the

liquor traffic was suspended for a year on trial, and taxes were

imposed to meet the necessary deficiencies in the revenue. At

the end of this time the population was glad enough to return

See Vol. I., p. 341.
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to the old eystem. Indirect taxes seemed to press on them so

much more lightly than direct imposts.

A more dangerous rival and enemy of Maaeppa was Semen

Palei. After the death of Doroshenko, the popidation of the

right bank of the Dnieper had been transferred to the Eussian

side, and by the treaty between Russia and Poland this region

was to be left waste and uninhabited. The Poles very soon

thought that it would be to their benefit to re-establish Cos-

sacks in this region. No sooner had they done so than the

Cossacks showed their natural tendency of opposing everything

that was Polish and aristocratic. Palei led this sentiment, and

used his influence to separate from Poland and to join the rest

of Little Kussia under Muscovite protection. This he endea-

voured to do through the mediation of Mazeppa ; but the Eus-'

sian authorities had no wish to quarrel with Poland, and refused

these offers. The Poles and Cossacks fought against each

other with all the barbarity of indiscriminate slaughter and

hideous executions which marked the warfare of that region

and that day. Palei and his comrade Samus were driven out

of some of their strongholds, but' still kept possession of the

town and province of Bielaya Tserkof. Mention has already

been made of the efforts of the Poles to regain possession of

this province. Palei was again and again summoned by Russia

to submit to the Poles, and was urged to go first to the

Zaporovians and then come to Russia, but he obstinately re-

fused. Mazeppa finally crossed the Dnieper, enticed Palei into

his camp, took him prisoner, and gave him up to the Russians,

who sent him to Siberia. Mazeppa had a difficult part to play,

for his own subjects all sympathised with Palei and the rebel-

lious Cossacks of the other side, and he had himself befriended

Palei, and had indeed always advised the Tsar to accept his

offers of submission, and occupy this country which had been

ceded to Poland. His action, therefore, in arresting Palei was

viewed with great satisfaction by Peter. It was another proof

of his unswerving loyalty, which was further shown in 1705,

when, on receiving a letter from Eing Stanislas, he at once

sent it to the Tsar with complaints that his enemies should thus

for the fourth time dishonour him by their suspicions that he

could be imfaithful to Russia.
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It was not long before Mazeppa was again denounced, this

time by a domestic enemy, the Judge-General Kotehubey, with

whom there had been a family qiiarrel. Kotehubey had two

daughters—^Anna, the widow of Mazeppa's nephew, and Ma-
trena, who was his godchild. Mazeppa was then a widower,

and made proposals of marriage to Matrena, who was desper-

ately in love with him. As such a marriage was against the

laws of the Church, Kotehubey opposed it, and his wife began

to treat the girl so harshly that she found it impossible to live

longer at home, ran away, and took refuge with Mazeppa.

Wishing to avoid scandal, the Hetman sent her back to her

father, as he afterwards wrote to her :
' Although I love no one

on earth as much as you, and it would have been for me a hap-

piness and joy to have had you come and live with me, I fore-

saw what flie end of it might be, especially with such opposi-

tion and hatred on the part of your relatives. There would

have been condemnation by the Chiirch because we lived to-

gether ; and what should I then have done with you ? I should

have been very sorry if you had had cause to complain of me
afterwards.' Matrena's situation on returning home was still

worse than before, and she kept up a secret correspondence

with Mazeppa, whose love letters are interesting and curious.

While assuring her of his love, he advised her as a last resource

to take the veil in a convent. Kotehubey and his wife noised

their troubles abroad, and finally, in reply to his accusations

and complaints, Mazeppa wrote :
' Pan Kotehubey : you write

to tell about a heart's grief of yours, but you might better com-

plain of your proud grandiloquent wife, whom, as I see, you

will not or cannot control. She, and no one else, is the cause

of your grief, if you have any. St. Barbara ran away from her

father, not to the house of the Hetman, but to the woods, to

shepherds, and to steep rocks, on account of her fear. You
wiU never be free from your grief, and settled in prosperity, as

long as you do not drive out of yoiu- heart that rebellious spirit

of yours, which is not in you so much by nature as inspired by

your wife. And if any misfortune has happened to you or to

yom- house, you should complain only of the accursed pride and

haughtiness of yourself and your wife. For sixteen years have

I passed over your offences, many though they were and grievous
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and worthy of death, but, as I see, my patience and goodness

have been all to no end. In your pasquiling letter you speak

of an error, but I know and understand nothing except that

you yourself fall into error when you listen to your wife. As is

said in the proverb: "When the tail rules the head goes

wrong." ' To Matrena he intimated that he would long ago

have punished Kotchubey but for her sake.

Kotchubdy in revenge resolved to accuse Mazeppa of treason.

A monk whom he sent to Moscow for that pui-pose was arrested

and examined, but, as he could adduce no facts, the matter was

not pursued further. Kotchubey then obtained the aid of his

brother-in-law Iskra, the Colonel of Poltava, who denounced

Mazeppa to the Eussian Colonel Osipof, commanding at

Akhtj'rka. The official reports reached the Tsar towards the

end of March, 1708, and he at once wrote to Mazeppa to ex-

press his entire disbelief in the whole story, as he was sure it

was a machination of his enemies. Meanwhile, Kotchubey had

sent another denunciation to Moscow, and of this Peter also in-

formed the Hetman. At Mazeppa's request, Kotchubey, Iski'%

and Osipof, with several others, were arrested and taken to

Vitebsk, where Kotchubey, in a long document containing

thirty-three points, accused Mazeppa of negotiations with the

Swedes, and of treason against the Tsar. Annexed to this ac-

cusation was a patriotic ballad written by Mazeppa.' l^either

this ballad nor any of the points of accusation stood the slight-

est examination, and, on the application of the usual tortui'e,

Kotchubey admitted that his accusation was false, and dictated

by his desii-e for revenge. The Tsar thereupon sent Kotchubey

and Iskra to Mazeppa, and early in the morning of July 25

they were beheaded in the presence of the whole army of Cos-

sacks and of Little Kussians. Their property was confiscated.

Although the speciiic denunciations of Kotchubey were false

and unsupported by proof, yet during this whole time Mazeppa

was engaged in secret correspondence with the Swedes,

' This ballad, of the kind called duma in Little Russia, written in short

trochaic lines, deplores the unhappy condition of Mother Ukraine, whose sons

are divided by their own passions, and who suffers now firom the Pole and now

from the Russian. It exhorts the Little Russians to union, to the defence of

the country and of the faith.
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The Cossacks sent to the war had never been of great ser-

vice, and had always got into difficulties with the Russian

officers. Their complaints were loud and frequent, and in 1705,

when the two Cossack regiments were with the Russian troops

near Grodno, Mazeppa received a long letter from Gorlenko,

their commander, complaining of the rudeness and insults of

the Russians, and of an order that was said to be issued sending

the Cossack regiments to Prussia to study the art of war and to

be turned into regular dragoons. On reading this letter, Ma-
zeppa, in a fit of natural indignation, said to his trusty secretary,

Orlik :
' What good can we hope for in return for our faithful

services ? Another man in my place would not have been such

a fool as to have refused the offers of Stanislas.' Not long

after this Mazeppa accepted an invitation from Prince Wisnio-

wiecki to be godfather to his daughter. There he met and

became intimate with the Princess Dolska, the mother of his

host. The confidential conversations at the christening—con-

versations from which politics were not excluded^brought

about a correspondence in cipher. In some of the letters of the

Princess there were allusions of such a nature that Mazeppa

found it necessary to explain them to Orlik. When in one let-

ter she urged him to begin what he intended, and assured him
that all his wishes would be granted, and that he would soon

have the support of the whole Swedish army, Mazeppa affected

great indignation at the idea of an old woman thinking she

could snare such ' a wily old bird ' as he was, and exclaimed at

the folly it would be for him under the present circumstances

to abandon the living for the sake of the dead, and leave one

shore without being able to reach the other. He ordered Orlik

to reply: 'I beg you to 6top this correspondence, which can

ruin me in life, honour, and substance. Do not hope or imagine

that in my old age I can act disloyally to the Tsar.' For a long-

time there were no letters, but finally the Princess spread a

snare which caught the ' wUy old bird.' She wrote from Lem-

berg that she had been at another christening, and had sat at

dinner between Sheremetief and Ronne, who had let her under-

stand that Menshikof was digging a pit for him, in order to

be elected Hetman in his stead. At this Mazeppa lost control

of himself, and began to recoimt aU the indignities which he
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and the Cossacks had suffered since the war began, and espe-

cially his personal difficulties with Menshitof, and the hints he

had so often had that the Kussians intended to turn the

Ukraine into a regular Russian province, and try to satisfy him
with the title of Prince. He answered the Princess, with thanks

for her friendship and her warning. While at Kief in 1707

Mazeppa received another letter from King Stanislas, enclosed

in one from his friend. He was startled, and let it fall from

his hands, and exclaiming, 'Oh, cursed old woman, you will

ruin me !

' sat for a long while in deep thought. Then turning

to Orlik, he said :
' I am struggling in my mind whether to

send this letter to the Tsar or not. Let us advise about it to-

moiTOw, and meanwhile you go home and pray to God. Per-

haps your prayers will avail more than mine, because you live

in more Christian wise. God knows that I am doing nothing

for myself, but only for all of you and your wives and children.'

Going home and getting some money, though it was late at

night, Orlik went to the monasteries and distributed alms to the

monks, nuns, and poor people who were sleeping in the out-

buildings. He got at first nothing but curses for his kindness

;

they took him for a thief. When Orlik returned the next

morning Mazeppa was holding in his hand a bit of the true

Cross, and exclaimed :
' I protest before the all-seeing God that

not for my private profit, nor for higher honours, nor for greater

riches, nor for any other aims of mine, but for all of you, for

your wives and children, for the general good of our poor

mother country the Ukraine, of the Zaporovian army and of

the Little Russian people,, and for the increase and extension of

the rights and liberties of the army, I wish by the aid of God
to act so' that you shall not be ruined either by Moscow or by
Sweden.' Then kissing the Cross, he swore Orlik to secrecy,

and dictated an answer to Stanislas, giving various reasons why
he could not obey his commands, but promising at the same

time to do nothing which would be harmful to his interests or

to those of the Swedes.

Mazeppa's plan had been to preserve as far as possible his

neutrality, making excuses for not taking actively the part of

the Russians, and not espousing the side of the Swedes, until he

saw that Charles was sure to win. He had reckoned that the
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Swedish invasion would be turned towards the north and

towards Moscow. Now, when he discovered that the inarch of

Charles was towards Little Russia, his combinations were all

disturbed. He must take sides either with the Russians or the

Swedes, and in any case there was danger that the Ukraine

would be the battle-field, and that the Cossacks would be ground

to pieces between the millstones. On ascertaining the move-

ments of the Swedes, Peter had ordered Mazeppa to send a

force of Cossacks to fall on the rear of the Swedes, and sug-

gested that it would be well for their Iletman to take command
of this force in person. Mazeppa excused himself on the

ground of his gout and frightful pains which prevented him

from riding. He was very successful in feigning illness, and

not nnfrequently, for reasons of his own, covered himself with

plasters and passed whole days in bed. The belief in his feeble

health made his rivals prefer waiting to plotting. At the same

time he informed the Tsar of the immediate danger which

might arise if he left the country, as it was in the most un-

settled condition. There was no one he could leave behind

of whom he felt sure. As Peter feared the effect in Little Rus-

sia of the Swedish proclamations, he allowed Mazeppa to stay

at home ; but after the battle of Liesna, when the Swedes were

already near the Little Russian frontier, he asked him to come

to a conference in the town of Starodilb, and, to his answers

about the difficulties he expected with the Cossacks, told him to

appoint some one to take his place and come without fail. Ma-

zeppa called together four Cossack colonels who had already on

several occasions complained to him of the Russians, expressed

their fears of what might happen if they came into the country,

and begged him to think of the general safety. He asked them

whether he should go to Starodiib. ' Do not go,' said Lomi-

kofsky, 'otherwise you wUl ruin yourself and us and all the

Ukraine. "We have already so many times begged you to send

to Charles, but you have always delayed, and have literally

slept. Here now are the Russians coming into the country,

—

to the ruin and death of us all, and the Swedes are here too !

'

Mazeppa upbraided them, threatened to leave them to their

fate and go himself to the Tsar, but finally grew milder, and

asked, ' Shall I send to the Iving or not ?
' ' Send by all means

;



106 PETEE THE GREAT.

it was time long ago,' they replied. Mazegpa -then ordered

Orlik to write a letter ia .Xatin to "Count Piper, in which he

declared his joy at the arrival of the Swedes, begged for assist-

ance to free the whole of Little Russia from the heavy Musco-

vite yoke, and promised to prepare a ferry across the Desna.

At the same time he sent his nephew, Toinarofsky, to Men-
shikof to say that he was almost at the point of death, and was

going from Batiirin to Borzna to receive extreme unction from

the Archbishop of Kief. ' This news has made me very sad,'

wrote Menshikof to the Tsar; 'first, because I have not suc-

ceeded in seeing him, which it is very necessary for me to do

;

and, secondly, because I am sorry for such a good man if God
does not relieve him from his disease. With regard to that, he

writes that his gout has brought on an attack of epUepsy.'

Menshikof resolved to go to Borzna and see the Hetman on his

sick bed. At nearly the same time Mazeppa jeceived a nies-

sage that the Swedes would be the next day on the Desna, and,

Voinar6fsky, who had left Mazeppa's camp in the night, arrived

to say that Menshikof had resolved to see him at all hazards.

"Without waiting for Menshikof, Mazeppa left Borzna, and

arrived late at night at Batiirin. Having given orders to de-

fend that town, he set out the next day with the Cossack chiefs,

many officers, and an escort of 1,500 men, straight for the

Swedish camp. On arriving there, he took an oath with his fol-

lowers that he accepted the Swedish protection, not for any

private profit of his own, but for the good of his fatherland and

of the Cossacks.

On his way to Borzna, Menshikof heard that Mazeppa had
gone to Batiirin, and turned towards that town, but was refused

admittance. This made him suspect something wrong, and his

suspicions were confirmed when he heard that Mazeppa had
crossed the Desna. Soon some Cossack officers came to his

camp to ask for protection against the Hetman, who had gone
over to the enemy.

Peter was with the main army on the Desna watching the

movements of the enemy, when, on November 7, he received

Menshilcof's letter announcing the treason of Mazeppa. He
answered it the same night, ordering him to take precautionary

measures against the spread of the rebellious spirit, to prevent
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the Cossacks from joining the enemy, and to keep on good
terms with the colonels and other leaders of the Cossacks, and

to persuade them to elect a new Hetman. The next day he

issued a manifesto to the Little Russians announcing that Ma-
zeppa had treacherously deserted to the Swedes, ' in order to

put the land of Little Kussia as before under the dominion of

Poland, and to turn over the churches and the monasteries to

the Uniates.' To Apraxin, who had just informed him of his

victory over Lybecker, he wrote :
' Although it is against my

conscience to write anything bad to you in return for your good

news, yet necessity compels me to tell you that Mazeppa has

turned oiit a new Judas, for, after being loyal to me for twenty-

one years, now, when he is almost in his coffin, he has become

a traitor and betrayer of his people. Lideed, although this is

bad business, yet he did not do it with the approval of all, but

only with five persons, and the people here, after hearing of it,

complained of him with tears to God, and are indescribably

bitter against him, since, as we hear, his life was apart from

God. Therefore we hope in God that he has done more harm

to himself than to him whom he intended to injure.'

It was decided in a council of war to attack Batiirin, the

Cossack capital, before Mazeppa and the Swedes shoiild have

time to reach it. Menshikof, who had come to Peter's camp

for conference with him, hastened to Batiiria, where Prince

Dimitri Golltsyn was waiting. The Cossacks refused to allow

the Russians to enter before the new Hetman was elected, and

tried to prevent them from crossing the river. This was on

November 11. That night the garrison sent word to Menshi-

kof that they were faithful to the Tsar, and would allow his

troops to enter, but demanded three days for their free exit.

Menshikof replied the next morning, refusing to give them the

time demanded, but telling them to come out at once without

fear and no one would harm them. They at first wished to kill

the messenger, but finally let him go with the cry, 'We will all

die here, but we will not let the Tsar's troops come in.' Early

the next morning (ISTovember 13) Menshikof ordered the as-

sault, and in two hours the town, which was badly fortified, was

taken. No one was spared except the leaders, who were re-

served for punishment. The arms were kept for the Govern-
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ment, but all the property of the inhabitants was given up to

the soldiery. The whole town, including the stores so necessary

to the Swedes, was burnt to the ground. Baturin as a strong-

hold ceased to exist. It is now but a village.

The ruin of Baturin had a very salutary effect upon the dis-

contented spirits among the Cossacks. It entirely baffled the

plans of Mazeppa. On the very day when the Swedes crossed

the Desna, Peter went quietly to Gliikhof, where the metropoli-

tan of Kief, two archbishops, the four colonels who had re-

mained faithful, and the leaders of the Cossacks were assem-

bled. An election was held according to the consecrated

usage, and Skoropadsky, the Colonel of Starodiib, on the wish

of Peter, was chosen Hetman. On the same day, ITovember

18, Mazeppa was publicly excommimicated and cursed. To
impress this more on the minds of the Cossacks, his portrait was

taken into the church, the blue ribbon of St. Andrew was taken

from it, and it was then dragged through the streets and hung
on the gallows, after which the traitors captured at Batiirin

were executed. The ceremony of the anathema of Mazeppa

was repeated at Moscow a few days afterwards, and his name
was formally added to that of the false Dimitri, Stenka Kazin,

and others in the comminatory service read in the Russian

churches in the first week of Lent.' The proclamation announc-

ing Mazeppa's excommunication, and threatening other trai-

tors with the same fate, was affixed to the doors of all the

churches in Little Russia.

Of those who had gone over with Mazeppa to the Swedes,

Colonel Danilo Apostol and Colonel Galagaii soon abandoned

him and were pardoned by the Russians. Apostol brought a

verbal message purporting to be from Mazeppa, that he would

deliver up ' the chief personage ' into Russian hands if he were

assui-ed of pardon and of being restored to his position as Het-

man, under the guarantee of foreign Powers. A favourable

answer was returned, but nothing further was heard from Ma-

zeppa. Later on other Cossacks deserted from the Swedish

canlp, until Mazeppa was almost the only one left. The Swedes

therefore profited little by his adherence.

' This ceremony took place until 1869, when the names of Dimitri and

Mazeppa were dropped.
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Peter issued a manifesto inviting the Zaporovian Cossacks

to obey the orders of the new Hetman Skoropadsky, and both

sides distributed proclamations throughout the Ukraine in order

to quiet or rouse the population. Charles, on his side, declaimed

against the heavy Muscovite yoke : Peter repHed with accounts

of the maltreatment of the Cossack prisoners by the Swedes, of

the insults offered to orthodox churches, and of the intention

to compel the Cossacks to embrace the Lutheran and TJniate

religions. Charles then talked about the Russian attacks on

the liberties of the Ukraine, and spoke of negotiations of. Peter

with the Pope, the permission given to the Jesuits to have

schools and churches in Pussia, and of the Tsar's purpose to

become a Catholic after the war. Peter invited the Little Rus-

sians to put all sorts of obstacles in the way of the enemy, to

leave him without roof, food, or fire, and offered a reward of

2,000 rubles for every general taken prisoner, of 1,000 rubles

for every colonel, proportionately for the other officers, of five

rubles for every common soldier, and of three rubles for every

dead body brought iu. The manifestoes of Charles and the

' universals' of the fallen and anathematised Hetman had little

or no effect. The peasants hid their property and their grain,

captured the Swedes wherever they could, and drove off their

horses. Peter wrote to Apraxin :
' The people of Little Russia

stand, with God's help, more firmly than was possible to ex-

pect. The King sends enticing proclamations, but the people

remain faithful and bring in the King's letters.'
'

^Kostom&ioi, Russian History, v., vi. ; id., Bogddn Khmdnitzky ; Meri-

mee, Les Cosaques d?Autrefois, Paris, 1865 ; Solovief, xv. ; Golikof, iv.

;

Bantysh-Kamensky, Dietionwry ofJiemarkabk Russians, Moscow, 1836 ; Lund-

blad : Saiauw.



LV.

POLTAVA.—1709.

The winter of 1708 and 1709 was memorable in European

history. The Baltic was frozen, and heavily laden waggons

crossed the Great Belt and the Oresund. In Central Europe

the fruit-trees died. In France the courts had to be adjourned,

and many men died of cold. The Khone was frozen, and the

canals of Venice were covered with ice. On the plains of the

tTkraine, swept by the wind, the cold was still more intense.

Birds fell dead as they flew through the aii", and the snow in

many places remained on the groimd from October 1 to April 5.

Charles had hoped to obtain thi'ough Mazeppa possession of

the stronghold of Starodub and I^ovgorod-Seversk, but the ex-

pedition miscarried, partly owing to the incapacity of Lager-

crona, a general who had been greatly favoured by Charles on

accoimt of his bravery, but who lacked military skill, and partly

through the cunning and hesitation of Skoropddsky, the colonel

of Starodub, who did not feel sure as yet of the movements of

Mazeppa, and obeyed literally his orders to open the gates to

the first comers. These were Kussians, to whom he had pri-

vately sent word. This, combined with the almost total fail-

ure of the Cossack rising, put the Swedes in a very difficult

and dangerous position. Instead of the 20,000 Cossacks as

expected, Mazeppa had brought but 1,500, who were subse-

quently joined by a small number of Zaporovians. The Swedes

crossed the Desna with comparative safety, but with great diffi-

culties on account of the steep banks, and on Mazeppa's advice

marched southwards to Romny, in a fertile district, where the

troops were housed iu the surrounding villages. The Russians

moved in a parallel direction to Putivl, Slimy, and Lebedin.

Charles, although in very comfortable quarters, could not en-
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dure the close proximity of the Russians, and was annoyed at

the frequent skirmishes. He therefore, in the hopes of a gen-
eral battle, readily feU into a trap which the Russians prepared
for him. Peter directed the greater part of his army to move
towards the small town of Gadiatch, occupied by four Swedish
battalions, as if to attack it. General HaUart, with another

corps, went in the other direction, with instructions to take

Romny in case the Swedes withdrew. In spite of the fearful

eold, and contrary to the advice of his best generals, Charles,

on hearing of the movements, marched with all his forces to

Gadiatch, with the expectation of making it a second ]^arva-.

The Russians had withdrawn in time, and the Swedes arrived

at the town in the evening, hoping to find warm quarters in-

side ; but haste made confusion, the gates became blocked iip,

and the greater part of the army was obliged to spend the

night outside the walls in the open fields. Even when, on the

next day, the Swedes succeeded in entering the town, their

position was scarcely better. One-third of the city had been
burnt to the ground, and there were not enough houses to shel-

ter the troops. Nearly every building was turned into a hospi-

tal, where surgeons were at work cutting off frozen limbs. In

this terrible march, from Romny to Gadiatch, over 3,000 Swedes
were frozen to death.

In revenge for the loss of Romny, which had been occupied

by General HaUart, Charles attacked the small village of Yeprik,

a few miles from Gadiatch. Although the garrison was too

small for the place and the fortifications were in bad repair,

the commander was undismayed by the threat of Charles to

hang him to the gate if he resisted, and repulsed two assaults.

When he finally surrendered, on favourable terms, the Swedes

captured but 1,500 men and four cannon, having themselves

lost nearly a thousand men and forty-eight officers. The re-

mainder of the winter was spent in comparative quiet, broken

by small skirmishes, which, whether they resulted favourably

or unfavourably to the Swedes, had always the effect of redu-

cing their forces. They had arrived at that state where the

loss of every man counted.

The greatest success of the Russians was the suppression of

the Zaporovian Cossacks and the destruction of their river-town
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Setch. The Zaporovians had lately been aggrieved by the es-

tablishment of Russian forts in their immediate neighbourhood,

and they also sympathised with the lower classes of the Ukraine

in their feelings against the larger proprietors. Many of them

decided to follow the guidance of Mazeppa and join the Swedes.

To counteract this movement a Kussian expedition was sent out

by Menshikof in the spring, and after sailing down the Dnieper

from Kief, and being met by a force of dragoons, succeeded iu

capturing and destroyiag Setch. Many Zaporovians were killed

in the fight, others were taken prisoners, some were executed,

and from this time on their strength was broken, although they

nominally existed until they were finally abolished under Cath-

arine II. in 1775.

During the early part of the wint6r the thoughts of the

Tsar were much on his fleet at Yoronezh. The proximity of

the Swedes made him anxious, and a report that the aim of

Charles was to march to Voronezh and burn the wharves and

ships caused him to resolve to go there in person. He had pre-

viously given orders to Apraxin to be on his guard and to lay

in a store of provisions, and had even written from Akht;^ka'.

to have a good gardener sent to Taganrog, with plenty of seeds

and plants. He had found time to criticise a Russian transla-

tion of a book on fortification, and, finding that there was to

be an eclipse of the sun on the 11th of March, had asked the

mathematical teachers at Moscow to calculate the duration and

extent of the eclipse at Yor6nezh and send him a diagram. On
his journey he stopped at Bi^lgorod, to be godfather to Menshi-

kof's new-bo]'n son Peter Luke. In Yoronezh Peter found that

the old vessels were in a bad state. Some of them had been

repaired several times, and yet it was necessary to break them

up. Peter, assisted by Apraxin, having in view a possible

complication with the Turks, worked hard aU winter at the

repair and reorganisation of his navy. The physical fatigue of

ship-carpentering, in which he again indulged, was a relief after

the mental and moral anxieties which had so long weighed

upon him. In days of leisure, when free from weightier oc-

cupations of State, he looked after the improvements of the

government printing office, and the cleanliness of Moscow
streets. The presence of Catherine, of his sister Natalia, and
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of tteTsarevitch, and two visits from Menshikof, satisfied his

craving for love and companionship. In April, as soon as the

ice broke up, he sailed down the Don to Azof and Taganrog,

where he celebrated Easter. The recurrence of his old fever

forced him again to shut himself up for three weeks and take a

course of medicine.

The spring thaw and the melting of the great mass of snow

on the steppes were as bad for the Swedish army as the severe

winter. For days the soldiers had to stand in melted snow, with

no possibility of drying themselves. The Swedes had gradually

been pushed back into a small space between the rivers Psiol,

Yorskla, and Dnieper. After the arrival of Lewenhaupt's

troops the Swedish army numbered about 41,000 men, but it

had now become reduced to 20,000, and of these more than

2,000 were ill or crippled. Only thirty-four cannon remained

;

the powder had greatly suffered, and needed to be dried. Yet
amid the great distress, on April 11, shortly after the retreat

from an unsuccessful expedition to Kj-asnoi-kiitch, Charles could

write to Stanislas ;
' I and the army are in very good condition.

The enemy has been beaten and put to flight in all the engage-

ments.' "Was Charles, contrary to his character and his principles,

writing intentionally ah evident untruth in order to persuade

Stanislas to come with General Krassow to his assistance, or was

he blinded to the real condition of affairs ? Piper, on the con-

trary, wrote to his wife : ' The campaign is so difficult and our

condition so pitiful that such great misery cannot be described,

and is beyond belief
;

' and again :
' The army is in an inde-

scribably pitiful state.' The soldiers suffered greatly, not only

from the weather, but from lack of clothing and from bad

food. Complaints were great, and few expected to Bee their

homes again. Nevertheless there were comparatively few

desertions, and the Swedes remained loyal to the King person-

ally, seeing that he shared their hardships, and believed that he

was actuated by patriotism alone and that he felt this campaign

necessary for the safety of Sweden. Yet they had to some ex-

tent lost their confidence in him. Charles exposed himself as

ever to the enemy's bullets, but the soldiers, instead of being

cheered by this, said to each other that the King wished to be

killed, as he saw the bad end of the campaign.

Vol. II.—

8
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The opinion of the generals was that it would be better to

retire across the Dnieper, and either return to Poland or wait in

a secure position until the force of General Ejassow could join

them. He could scarcely be expected before midsummer.

Charles would hear nothing of this, and resolved to capture the

town of Poltava, the largest and most flourishing town of that

region, more important, however, commercially than as a mili-

tary position. At the beginning of the winter the capture of

Poltava would have been veiy easy, but at that time Charles,

who objected to having winter quartei's in a large town, paid no

attention to it. In the meantime the Russians had succeeded in

improving the defences, and had garrisoned it with 4,000 men.

What made the attempt* more dangerous now was that the

Swedish forces were not large enou^ to surround the town on

all sides, and the Kussians could mass their forces on the other

side of the river Yorskla.

A conversation between the King and Gyllenkrok, the

Quartermaster-General, on this subject is very characteristic and

important. Charles, on sending for some engineers to draw a

plan, went to GyUenkrok and said, ' You must get eveiything

ready for an attack on Poltava.'

OyUenkrok. ' Does your Majesty intend to besiege Pol-

tava ?

'

Ok. ' Yes, and you must make the siege, and teU us on what

day we will take the fortress. That is what Vauban used to do

in France, and you are our little Yauban.'

G. ' God help us, with such a Vauban as I ! But however

great a man he may have been, I think that he would have been

embarrassed if he had not had all he thought necessary for a

siege.' '

Oh. ' We have enough necessary military material to take

such a wretched little fort as Poltava.'

6r. ' The fort is itself not strong, but the garrison of 4,000

men besides Cossacks makes it strong.'

CL ' If they see that we attack it in earnest, they will give

up at the first cannon shot fired at them.'

G. ' That seems to me improbable. I rather believe that

the Russians will defend themselves to the last. I see that yonr

Majesty's infantry will be ruined.'
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Ch. ' We shall not need to nse our infantry, bnt will nse

Mazeppa's Zaporovians.'

Q. 'I beg your Majesty, for God's sake, to reflect whether

it is possible for such works to be carried on by a people that

never have put their hands to such things ; by men with whom
no one can talk without an interpreter, and who M-ill imme-
diately run away if the work is difficult and they see their com-

rades fall.'

Ch. ' I assure you that the Zaporovians will do everything

that we wish, and that they will not run away, for we are ready

to pay them well for their work.'

G. ' But even if the Zaporovians allow themselves to be

used for the work, your Majesty has no cannon which can make
a breach in the palisades.'

Ch. ' If you can shoot one down, you can shoot a hundred

down.'

G. ' I am also of that opinion, but I fear that when a hun-

dred are shot down we shall have no more ammunition.'

Ch. ' You must not paint the thing so black. You are ac-

customed to sieges abroad, and consider such an undertaking

impossible if yoii have not everything. But we must do with

our little means what others do with great.'

G. ' I should be inexcusable if I made unnecessary difficul-

ties, but I know that nothing is to be done with our cannon, and

that therefore at last it will be the duty of the infantry to take

the fortress, by which they will be entirely destroyed.'

Ch. ' I assure you no storm will be necessary.'

G. ' But I do not understand how the town can be taken,

unless perhaps some extraordinary piece of good luck favours

us.'

Ch. QoAighing). ' Yes ; we must do exactly what is extraor-

dinary ; by that we will get fame and glory.'

G. ' Yes. God knows that this is an extraordinary under-

taking, but I fear that it will also have an extraordinary end.'

Ch. 'Make now all the preparations necessary, then you

will see how soon, all will be finished.'

Gyllenkrok then begged Piper and Hermelin, as well as

Colonels Nieroth and Hl,rd, to influence the King to give up his

resolution. All was in vain. Charles impatiently said to Piper,
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'Even if the good God should send down an angel from

heaven to tell me to give up Poltava, I would still remain stand-

ing here.' Gyllenkrok asked Rehnskjold whether he coi^ld tell

him why Poltava was to be besieged. Kehnskjold replied, ' The

King wishes to have a little amusement till the Poles come.'

'It is a costly pastime,' said Gyllenkrok, ' which demands sucli

a number of human lives. The King could find some better

employment.' ' If his Majesty's will is so,' replied the Field

Marshal as he rode away, ' we must be content with it.' The

conscientious Gyllenkrok once more remonstrated with the King.
' I know,' he said, ' that the world judges every undertaking ac-

cording to the result, and everybody will believe that it was I

that advised your Majesty to make this siege. If it should

miscarry, I humbly beg you not to put the blame of it on me.'

' 'So,'' said Charles, ' you are not to blame for it. We take the

responsibility on ourseK, but you can be sure that the affair

will have a speedy and lucky end.'

The siege was begun on May 12. Charles was astonished

that the town did not yield at the first fire, and exclaimed,

' What ! I really believe the Bnssians are mad, and will defend

themselves in a regular way.' So they did for six long weeks,

under the leadership of Colonel Velin, repelling assaults, mak-

ing sorties, and destroying mines, assisted by the whole popula-

tion of the town, great and small. Communications were always

open with the Kussian forces across the V6rskla by means of let-

ters in hollow bombs. Menshikof succeeded in throwing 900 men
into the town. In the Swedish camp food was scarce, and there

was great murmuring. The powder showed signs of giving

out, and the stock of ammunition was so small that it was neces-

sary to search the fields and pick up the Eussian bullets.

Peter, warned in time by Menshikof, made a hasty journey

from Azof across the steppe, arrived on June 15, and took the

chief command. 'New spirit, if that was wanting, was infused

into the garrison ; skirmishing was actively carried on, and by

the capture of Suvigarof about 2,000 Russian prisoners, includ-

ing the garrison of Veprik and the heroic Colonel Yurlof, were

set free.

The need of the Swedes became at last so great, and their

position so critical, that one night Charles sought the advice of
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Lewenhaupt, whom he had until then treated with marked

coolness. Lewenhaupt could counsel him nothing but to retire

across the Dnieper. This he refused to do, but, feeling too un-

easy to sleep, made Lewenhaupt follow him, and rode about

aimlessly all night. In the early morning—it was his birthday,

June 28—he approached the banks of the Yorskla, and rode up

and down in full view of the Russians. Lewenhaupt's horse

was shot under him, but the King, who liked to expose his gen-

erals in this way, refused to move. This was the very time

chosen by the Russians for a feint of crossing. After they had

been repulsed, Charles resumed his ride on the river's bank,

and, in turning his horse, was hit in the foot by a bullet.

Though pale and faint from loss of blood, he refused to go to

his tent until he had given some orders in the trenches, and

when, an hour afterwards, he had his wound dressed, his foot

was much swollen. The ball had gone the whole length of his sole

from heel to toe, breaking some of the small bones, which had

to be extracted. Thewound gangrened and produced a fever, and

at one time it was thought necessary to amputate the leg, which

might have endangered the King's life. Charles finally consented

to take some medicine, which had the desired effect, threw him

into an easy sleep, and reduced the inflammation of the wound.

The feigned crossing below the town when Charles was

wounded was to cover another and successful crossing in force a

few miles north of Poltava. Here the Russians intrenched

themselves, and then, under the cover of trenches and redoubts,

drew gradually nearer to the Swedish positions. While the

King was crostrated with fever two dispiriting messages arrived.

One from Poland showed the want of harmony between Stanis-

las and General Krassow, who were still in the west of Poland,

kept back by the Poles under Sieniawski, and the Russians imder

Goltz. The other, from Turkey, set forth that the Sultan

would neither aid Charles directly, nor indirectly through the

Tartars. The Russian lines were fast advancing, and an attack

might be expected on any day. The King, though advised to

raise the siege and retreat across the Dnieper, decided on fore-

stalling the Russian attack. Rehnskjold, who during the illness

of the King had the chief command, called the generals together

on the afternoon of July 8, and told them that the attack was
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fixed for the next day. The troops were under arms bymid-
night, and, though the march of three miles was attended by

some disorder, at daybreak on Tuesday, July 8, they stood iu

order of battle before the Kussian lines. They numbered only

12,500 men : the remainder were in the hospital, were guarding

the camp, or manning the intrenchments against the town.

Only four cannon were used, partly on account of the distaste

of KehnskjQld for artillery, and partly on account of the lack of

ammunition. The ground between the Kussian camp and the

town was much broken, but in front of the camp was a plain

with thick woods on each side. Here the Kussians had thrown

up two lines of redoubts, one parallel to the camp, the other at

right angles to it. It is difficult to convey a clear idea of the

battle. Eehnskjdld had no plan for the attack. There was a

quan-el and a reconciliation between him and Lewenhaupt. The
Swedish powder was bad, and the men had to trust to their bayo-

nets. The Kussian army was four times as numerous. Charles

was carried about on a litter to excite the ardour of his soldiers,

but the horses which carried him were killed one after the other,

and the litter was finally broken to pieces by a cannon shot.

His drabants then carried him on theii' crossed pikes ; but even

his presence could do nothing against the Russian numbers and

resistance. Peter was conspicuous among his troops," on his

favourite horse Lizette, which had been sent to him by the

Sultan. He received a bullet through his hat, and another in his

saddle, while stiU another struck the ancient cross he wore rotmd

his neck. The Swedes seemed at first to get the advantage

;

they captured two or three half-finished redoubts, and could

easily have penetrated into the Kussian camp. But everywhere

they were overpowered and surrounded—^beaten in detail—and,

though for two hom-s they fought with the fierceness of despair,

they were forced either to surrender or to flee. Rehnskjold,

Schlippenbach, Eosen, Stackelberg, Hamilton, Horn, the Prince

of "VViirtemberg, and over 2,800 officers and men were taken

prisoners. The garrison of Poltava made a sortie, and cap-

tured the Swedish trenches.

By noon the battle was over. The Swedes were at last

beaten, and the Tsar and his -s-ictorious generals, tired and ex-

liausted by the combat, sat down in their camp to dinner.
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Peter received with kindness and com-tesy his distinguished

prisoners, giving special attention to Kehnskjold. While they

were at dinner, Piper came in, and place was made for him
too. He, with the royal secretaries, finding the battle lost and

no signs of the King, had gone to Poltava and surrendered him-

self. The cannon thundered a salute, and the Tsar raising his

glass proposed a toast to the health of his ' teachers in the mili-

tary art.' ' Who are those teachers ?
' said Eehnskjold. ' You,

Messieurs Swedes,' replied the Tsar. ' And well have the pu-

pils shown their gratitude to their teachers,' remarked the FieM
Marshal.

The dinner lasted, till five o'clock before any one thought of

pursuit, and it was not until evening that Prince Michael Golit-

syn with the guard, and General Bauer with the dragoons,

were sent to follow up the enemy. Charles had been protected

by his drabants, and finally had been induced by Lewenhaupt

to return to the camp and rally the remainder of the army. In

spite of his wounded foot he had to ride, lying on the neck of

his horse. They were almost cut off from their camp, and on

passing their own intrenchments, then occupied by the Riis-

sians, the King's horse was killed and he was nearly taken pris-

oner. On arriving at the camp the King for the first time

uttered a complaint, and asked to be taken from his horse and

put in a carriage. His foot was dressed, and he ate a piece of

cold meat, asking repeatedly for Eehnskjold, for Piper, and for

the young Prince of Wiirtemberg. ' All are taken prisoners,'

was the reply. 'Prisoners with the Eussians! Eather die

among the Turks ! Forward !
' he exclaimed. Lewenhaupt was

called in, and advised a repetition of what he had been obliged

to do at Liesna, that is, to divide the horses, provisions, and

ammunition among the men, to burn what was left, and to ad-

vance as soon as possible. Charles after a few moments' reflec-

tion sent Lewenhaupt away, and without further communication

with him ordered the remaining troops to march down the

Vorskla to the Dnieper, taking the cannon and all the baggage.

The retreat began towards evening. The Eussians pressed

them so hotly that the next morning it was necessary to burn

the heavy baggage and mount part of the infantry on the horses.

On the afternoon of July 11 the Swedes arrived at the little
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town of Perevolotclina, at the mouth of the Vorskla, where

there was a ferry across the Dnieper ; but the town had been

burned and all the means of transport destroyed in the opera-

tions of the Russians against the Zaporovian Cossacks, and it

was impossible to cross. After a long argument Lewenhaupt

and Creutz persuaded the King to leave the army and take

measures for his personal safety. Some boats and rafts were

found on the Yorskla, and by means of these the' King, Ma-
zeppa, and about 1,000 men crossed the Dnieper. Charles took

with him part of the army treasure, consisting of the military

contributions levied in Saxony, which had been almost un-

touched. The remainder was to be divided among the troops.

Mazeppa had also two kegs of ducats. The Zaporovians, being

expert swimmers, were very useful in aiding the crossing, and
especially in taking over the horses. The King, with the Rus-

sian cavalry in hot pursuit, rode as fast as he could to the Bug,

where half his escort was captured, and he barely escaped.

Thence he went to Otchakof and Bender, on the Dniester, and

for five years remained the guest of Turkey. Mazeppa died at

Vamitza, a village near Bender, on March 31, 1710, and was

buried in the old church of St. George, on the high bank of the

Danube, at Galatz.'

Lewenhaupt had a glimmer of hope that he could save the

army by crossing the Yorskla and marching to the Black Sea.

It was, however, too late. It was midnight when the King
crossed, and the next morning the Russian advance guard ap-

peared on the hills at the back of the camp—the troops of

Menshikof who had started in pursuit the day after the battle.

Lewenhaupt tried to rally his men, and hoped to make a stand

;

but the Swedes refused to fight, many of them deserted, and

some tried to swim across the Dnieper. A few officers even

committed suicide. The conditions proposed by Menshikof

were honourable. The Zaporovians only were excepted. Le-

wenhaupt, after prolonging the negotiations as long as he could

in order to give the King additional time for escape, at last sur-

rendered. The prisoners taken at Perevolotchna numbered

' To make room for the tomb of some rich Greek merchant, the body of

Mazeppa was in this century transferred to the Church of the Virgin. The
broken tombstone has now disappeared.
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15,799, including three generals. Those taken at Poltava were
2,871., The Swedish loss in killed and wounded was about
4,000. As trophies of the %ht, the Russians took 32 cannon

Captured Standards at Poltava.

and 264 standards, besides waggons and trains. Their own
loss was, killed, 1,345, and wounded, 3,290. ' And thus, by
God's help, the whole of the enemy's army, so famous in the
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world (whicli by its presence in Saxony caused no little fear in

Europe), came into the hands of the Emperor.' Thus says

Peter's journal ; and in a letter to Apraxin, written on the night

after the battle, the Tsar adds: 'Now, with God's help, the

last stone has been laid of the foundation of St. Petersbiu-g.'

Neither on the flight to the Dnieper nor afterwards did

Charles blame himself for what had happened. At Perevo-

lotchna he defended the dispositions of Kehnskjold, and as-

cribed the loss of the battle to the refusal of the other generals

properly to second him. This was so unjust that Gyllenkrok

found it necessary to use calm but strong language in their de-

fence. Afterwards Charles was angry with Lewenhaupt for

his suiTender, maintained that it was unnecessary, and insisted

that he could with ease have marched the whole army to

Otchakof, or could even have beaten the Russians at Perevo-

lotchna and retreated to Poland. He decreed that officers who

should succeed in escaping from their Russian captivity should

be considered as deserters and unworthy to serve their country.

At the head of the proscription list he placed the name of Le-

wenhaupt. An inquiry was made into his conduct, which lasted

for three years, and Charles hesitated to pardon him.

The battle of Poltava marked the end of the campaign and

of Charles's greatness. It did in one day what would otherwise

have required weeks to accomplish, but the Swedish army was

irretrievably lost, and the end would have been exactly the

same, though a little later, had the battle of Poltava never been

fought.'

' Solovief, XV. ; Golikof ; Fryxell, i. ; Adlerfeld ; Nordberg ; Lundblad

;

Sarauw ; Gyllenkrok, Beraitdae, Upsala, ISOO ; Con'eapondance de Madame
Duchesse d' Orleans.



LVI.

THE FRUITS OF THE VICTORY

The success at Poltava was so sudden and so overwhelming
that the Kussians were at first dazed and confused by the mag-
nitude of their victory. It seemed scarcely possible to believe

that the great dangers which had so long threatened them were
now averted. But the practical necessities of the moment soon

restored Peter to his equilibrium. The bodies of the dead were
collected and bm-ied; those of the Eussians under a mound
which now marks the centre of the battle-field. Poltava was

entered in triumph, an inspection was made of its crumbling

walls, which could scarcely have held out longer, and thanks

were given to its brave defenders. The name's-day of the Tsar

was celebrated in state. Many thousand Kalmuks arrived too

late to take part in the victory, and they had to be content

with a portion of the booty. Fortunately, so much Saxon

treasm-e was found in the Swedish army chest that such rewards

were cheap. The Swedish prisoners were marched off to differ-

ent towns and provinces ; some to Eaef, some to Moscow, and

some even to Siberia. They were made to labour at works of

public utility, even at the construction of fortifications. The
generals and superior officers were allowed their pay, and a

third was given them in advance. Cederhjehn and Marderfeldt

were allowed to go on parole to Stockholm and use their efforts

for peace. The Prince of Wiirtemberg was released uncondi-

tionally. Unfortunately, he died of fever, in Volynia, on the

way home. After giving him a military funeral, the Tsar sent

his body to his mother at Stuttgart. Miihlenfeld, who had de-

serted to the Swedes at Grodno, was shot. Many Cossacks and

Zaporovians were executed with torttires; the rest were par-

doned. Great rewards were given to those who had taken the
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chief part in the events of the campaign. Menshikof was

made a Field Marshal,' Sherem^tief received larger estates, G-o-

lofkin was made Chancellor, and Shafirof, Vice-Chancellor.

The generals received increase of rank, or estates, and all were

presented with the portrait of the Tsar set in diamonds. Peter

himself, who was up to this time a colonel, at the request of his

officers took the title of Lieutenant-General in the army, and

Kear-Admiral in the navy. In Moscow there was great rejoic-

ing. The Tsarevitch Alexis entertained the foreign ministers

and the chief Kussian officials; the Princess Natalia had a

grand banquet for the ladies ; tables plentifully supplied with

viands, wine, and beer were set in the street; the town was

illuminated, and salutes were fired, for a whole week ; and wo-

men and girls had the privilege allowed during Holy Week
only to ring the church bells from mom to night.

Some extracts from Peter's letters will show something of

his feelings. lie wrote to Catharine on the day of the battle,

addressing her now and henceforth alone, and not together with

Anisia Tolst6y

:

'Little mother, how are you? I declare to you that the all-

merciful Lord has deigned to grant us this day an indescribable

victory over the enemy. To say it in one word, the whole

enemy's force is knocked on the head, about which you your-

self will hear from us. Come here and congratulate us. Piter.

' Give my respects to the Princess and the rest.'

In writing to Eamodanofsky, whom he now dignifies with

the title of Kaiser instead of King, he says: ' Thus all the army
of the enemy, by God's help, remains in our hands, and we
congratulate your Majesty on a victory such as has never been

heard of in this world. E'ow without doubt the wish of your

Majesty to have your constant residence in St. Petersburg has

been made possible by this final defeat of the enemy.'

'In Narcissus Luttrell's Brief Belation, YI., 597, we find the following

entry
:
" Saturday, June 24, 1710. A magnificent service of plate, consisting

of many large dishes, stands, plates, etc., have been made here at the oh&rge
of the Czar, with his coat of arms and lofty titles curiously engraved thereon,

designed by him as a present to Prince Menshikof for his signal victory over
the Swedish army near Poltava, which will be put oa board the outward-
bound Russian fleet."
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He thanks Eamodanofsky for his promotion

:

' Sir, the gracious letter of your Majesty and the decree to

his Excellency the Field Marshal and Cavalier Sheremetief, by
which I have been given in your name the rank of Eear-Ad-
miral in the fleet and of Lieutenant-General on land, have been
announced to me. I have not yet deserved so much, but it has

been given to me solely by your kindness. I therefore pray

God for strength to be able to deserve in future such honour.

Piter.'

Letters enclosing a copy of the account of the battle were
sent not only to all Peter's friends, including two merchants,

and to the chief officials at Moscow, but also to many of the

Polish magnates and to Russian ministers abroad for communi-
cation to the courts to which they were accredited. Menshikof

wrote to the Duke of Marlborough, and so much did Peter de-

sire his good opiaion that twelve days after the battle a special

courier was despatched to him and to the Prince of Orange.

In some of these letters occurred the phrase: 'In short, the

whole of the enemy's army has had an end like that of Phaeton.'

This comparison caused in some quarters doubts as to the genu-

ineness of the letter and the reality of the victory. ' For what,'

it was said, ' do the Russians know about Phaeton ?

'

On July 24 the army left Poltava, which was beginning to

be very unhealthy. Sheremetief, with all the infantry and a

part of the cavalry, was sent to besiege Riga, while Menshikof,

with the greater part of the cavalry, marched to Poland in order

to unite with General Goltz and act against King Stanislas and

General Krassow. Peter went to Kief, where he made the ac-

quaintance of Theophan Prokopovitch, the rector of the Bratsky

monastery, who, when in the previous winter Prince Dimitri

Golitsyn had sent away from Kief the disaffected monks and

students, had been characterised as ' the only man in all Kief

who is indulgent to us.' This 'indulgent' rector preached a

congratulatory sermon in the famous church of St. Sophia,

which so pleased Peter by its flattery, its sympathy, and its

eloquence, that it decided the preacher's future career. He
became one of the pillars of the Tsar's reforms. The fatigues

of Poltava brought on a fever which kept the Tsar for a fort-

night in Kief ; but he was sufficiently master of himself to die-
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tate orders with regard to his fleet, and letters to the parents

and relatives of many who had died in the battle.

The news of the Swedish disaster at Poltava was at first

disbelieved in Poland, but at last the evidence became so strong

that General Krassow thought it his wisest course to retreat

into Pomerania. He was shortly followed by King Stanislas,

who offered to resign the crown if the Eepublic demanded it.'

King Augustus regained his courage and issued a proclamation

recounting the indignities put upon him by the Swedish king,

and recalling his faithful subjects to their allegiance. He en-

tered Poland with an army of 14,000 men, and invited the Tsar

to an interview at Thorn. In this condition of affairs the Polish

magnates found it impossible to temporise ; they withdrew fi-om

Stanislas and paid court to Peter, and thanking him that by

his victory he had restored them their lawful sovereign and

their liberties. In the last days of September, at Solec, Peter

reviewed the Polish army commanded b}' the Hetman Sie-

niawski, and received the chamberlain of the King of Prussia,

who had come to congratulate him and invite him to visit his

sovereign. Stopping but a day at Warsaw to be received in

state by the Polish senators, Peter sailed down the Vistula to

Thorn. A little above the town he was met by the barge of

the King. Augustus blushed and stammered in offering his

congratulations, but Peter put him at ease by telling him not

to recall the past, as he knew that he could not act otherwise,

dined with him on his barge, and both entered Thorn on hoi-se-

back in great pomp amid the acclamations of the populace.

Peter could not, however, resist taking a characteristic revenge.

He said :
' I always wear the cutlass you gave me, but you it

seems do not care for my sword.' Augustus replied that,

though he prized it highly, in the hurry of departure it had

unfortunately been left behind at Dresden. ' Then,' said Peter,,

' Stanislas afterwards joined Charles XII. at Bender, who made over to

him his Duchy of Zweibriicken with an income of 70,000 thalers yearly. Af-

ter Charles's death he went to Hesse-Cassel and then to Weissenbuig, where
he was living on a scanty pension from the French Government, when he be-

came unexpectedly the father-in-law of Louis XV. His attempt to regain

his crown on the death of Augustus in 1733 was a disastrous failure. By
treaty of 1735 he was made Duke of Lorraine, where he lived to the age of 86.
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' let me give you another,' and produced the sword in question,

which he had found among the baggage of Charles at Poltava,

and which he had brought with him for this meeting.

On October 20, the Tsar and Augustus concluded a new
treaty, by which all previous obligations and claims were

withdrawn, and all previous documents were to be considered as

waste paper. The Tsar agreed to aid Augustus in regaining the

Polish throne ; the Eang promised to assist him against all his

enemies. The aim of the alliance was not to annihilate Sweden,

but to restrict it to its proper boundaries, and to render it

harmless to its neighbours. The King promised to atone for the

insult given to the Tsar as well as to himself by the surrender

of Patkul, by punishing his enemies Imhof and Pfingsten, who
had concluded the treaty of Altranstadt, while the Tsar asked the

amnesty to be extended ev6n to them. A few days afterwards

a secret article was added to the treaty by which the ' princi-

pality of Livonia, with all its cities and towns, was to be ceded

to his Polish Majesty as Elector of Saxony, and to his heirs.'

The public opinion of Europe, which had been adverse to

Peter and to the [Russians, turned as soon as the result of the

battle of Poltava was known. Leibnitz, for example, who after

the battle of Narva had expressed his desire that Charles should

rule over Moscow as far as the Amur, now thought that thes

defeat and capture of all the Swedish army would be for ever

memorable in history, and would serve to teach posterity in

many ways that the Muscovite troops had done wonders, and

that there were scarcely any better troops in Europe. ' The
Tsar henceforth will attract the consideration of Europe, and

will have a very great part in general affairs. People greatly

praise his humanity and his goodness in giving Swedish officers

leave on parole. But he is right to keep the soldiers. He can

make very good colonies of them on the frontiers of his empire.'

' You can believe,' he writes, ' how much the revolution in the

north astonished many people. It is commonly said that the

Tsar wiU be formidable for all Europe, and will be like a

northern Turk. But can he be prevented from educating his

subjects and rendering them civilised and warlike ? Quijure suo

utitur nemini faoit injuriam. As for me, who am for the good

of the human race, I am very glad that so great an empire is put-
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ting itself in the ways of reason and of order, and I consider the

Tsar in that respect as a person whom God has destined to great

works. He has succeeded in having good troops. I do not donht

that by your means he will succeed in also having good foreign

relations, and I shall be charmed if I can help him make sci-

ence flourish in his country. I maintain even that he can do in

that respect finer things than all other princes have done.'

In several letters he laid stress on the readiness with which he

would draw plans for an academy of sciences, or for museums
and colleges, and suggested inscriptions for medals commem-
orative of the battle, especially a line of Claudian, Confessos

animo quoque svhjugat Jwstes. ' You know people like to apply

the words of some ancient poet on these occasions .... and

the Tsar has not only enchained the bodies of his enemies, but

has vanquished and gained their souls by his generosity.'

•I have seen part of the description of your fete, which the

Electress has not failed to send to Madame d'Orleans. The

Electress praised the Tsar long ago, and long before the battle of

Poltava. Madame d'Orleans applauded, but is astonished that

the Tsar wishes to change the clothes of his country, because

she thinks that the eastern style of dress has a grander air.'

Leibnitz not only hailed Peter as a great reformer, and

praised his kindness of heart and his goodness, but considered

him a bulwark of peace :
' As for me, I am persuaded that the

princes of Germany, especially thosewho love the maiatenance of

justice against the violence of the most powerful, cannot take bet-

ter measures than with his Tsarish Majesty, and I hope that this

prince will enter as a guarantor into the general treaty of peace.'

ISTegotiations had been going on since 1707 with the house

of Wolfenbllttel, for a marriage between the Tsarevitch Alexis

and the Princess Charlotte. But great difficulties were raised

because the Tsar's position in Russia was not secure, and it

would be very difficult for him to succeed in making himself

' considerable ' in Europe, for Sweden would not conclude peace

until she had won back all the Baltic coast, and Poland, Holland,

and England would never allow Pussia to gain a position as a

naval power. Now there was a strong current of favourable

opinion to him at the court of Wolfenbiittel. He had become
brave and generous and powei-ful, and his virtues were loudly
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celebrated. All difficulties with regard to the marriage ceased.

The Princess consented, and a draft of the marriage contract

was soon drawn up and sent to Russia through Baron Urbich.

Another marriage proposition had come from Austria, for

the Emperor was now desirous of a defensive alliance with
Russia, and sent Count Wilczek to St. Petersburg to arrange

this and to offer at the same time the hand of his youngest

sister, the Archduchess Magdalena, to the Tsarevitch.

The Elector of Hanover showed signs of a readiness to

detach himself from the Swedish interests and draw nearer

to Russia. To confirm this feeling Prince Boris Kurakin, re-

turned long since from Rome, was sent as minister to Hanover.
While the Tsar was at Thorn, he received a Danish envoy.

Baron von Rantzau, with the congratulations qi Ejng Frederick

IV., and a request for an offensive and defensive allegiance

against Sweden. Prince Basil Dolgoriiky, the Tsar's minister

at Copenhagen, had long been trying to bring the Danes to this

step, and had been instructed to make large promises of men
and money. After the defeat of the Swedes he reduced his

offers, and thought he could get the treaty at a cheaper rate.

The Danes seemed somewhat disposed to it, but talked of the

great expense to which they would be put, especially for their

fleet, and of the impossibility of Russia holding a port on the

Baltic against England and Holland without th© assistance of

Denmark. England and Holland both did their best to prevent

any such arrangement until peace had been made with France,

and their ministers even threatened in conference with the

Danes to take the side of Sweden. They feared that in case of

a war in the north German troops would be withdrawn from
the allied army, and an advantage thus given to France.'

' Marlborough strongly advised Godolphiu against any precipitate meas-

ures. ' If King Augustus marches for Poland, you cannot doubt of its being

concerted between the three Kings ; so that the Queen, in my poor opinion,

should be very careful of what steps she makes ; for we have in this army up-

wards of 40,000 men which belong to these princes, and, should the^ withdraw

their troops, the houses of Brunswick and Holstein would be obliged to do

the same, which are 30,000 more. 1 need not mention what consequence

this would have for the advantage of France ; but I am sure you will do all

you can for preventing, the loss of these troops. The Pensioner has desired

my opinion on this affair, which I have given him, that our first and principal

Vol. II.—

9
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Dolgoniky, too, ascertained that when the King of Prussia

had sent word to Holland of his intention to have an interview

with the Tsar, the States General warned him against entering

into any arrangements with Kussia, as the Tsar was now so strong

that he could become dangerous for other Powers, and especially

for Prussia, that all the Powers were bound not to allow him to

strengthen himself so as to cause harm to the whole of Europe.

While the Danes were using this opposition as a pretext for

demanding subsidies, the Secretary of the French Legation in-

formed Dolgoriiky that Louis XIV. would be very glad to make

an alliance with the Tsar. Dolgoniky, in reporting this, was of

opinion that it would be better not to make any arrangements with

Prance, but only to show an apparent willingness to do so, so

that France might be incited to carry on a war, and the allies

might be held in check. He was ordered to reply that Russia

would be very glad to receive a French envoy. France was very

willing to put an end to all former disputes, and was ready to

guarantee the conquests of the Tsar and help Russia to establish

herself firmly on the Baltic so as to injure the Dutch trade.

Dolgoniky managed so well that though he had before promised

to supply soldiers and sailors, and give a subsidy, henow succeeded

in inducing Denmark to make an alliance with Russia without

any such stipulation. He wrote in ecstasy to Golofkin, ' I have

given nothing, neither a man nor a shilling.' This treaty was

concluded on October 22, and soon after Danish troops were sent

to Scania. Dolgoniky accompanied, them in the royal frigate

which had been put at his disposition, and witnessed their landing.

While Dolgoniky was concluding the treaty with the Danes,

Peter had sailed down the Vistula to Marienwerder, and had

his interview with King Frederick of Prussia. The King com-

municated to him his views with regard to the partition of Po-

land, but the Tsar replied that it was not practicable. Both

the King and the Tsar dined with Menshikof, and the King con-

ferred on him the order of the Black Eagle, and Peter gave

the King a sword made in Russia, ' of very extraordinary work-

manship.' Apparently everything was most cordial. Scarcely

care should be to oblige these princes not to recall their troops, and after-

wards to concert what measures are best to be taken, but not to be hasty in

taking a resolution.'



1709,] EUSSIA AND PEUSSIA. 131

ten words passed without embraces j but the Prussian monarch
and his minister were surprised to find the Tsar so haughty, so

cool, and so evidently master of the situation. ' He had the

air of pardoning the King for Krassow's escape. The air of

his ministers, especially of the Chancellor, with whom Warten-

berg had to treat, was still more supercilious, and it was a

slight consolation that the Polish and Saxon lords at Thorn had
been treated still worse, " like slaves."

'

'

The Tsar nevertheless concluded an alliance M-ith King
Frederick, defensive in its terms, as Prussia was excused from
taking any active part in the war. This treaty (concluded at

Marienwerder Nov. 1, 1709) was almost a copy of the treaty

concluded at Gpllen the previous July between Prussia, Den-
mark, and Poland against Sweden. By a secret article the

Tsar promised Elbing and the adjoining district to Prussia, prO'

vided the King should block the way of the Swedes from Pom-
erania into Poland. He also agreed to restore Curland to the

young Duke Frederick William, nephew of the King of Prus-

sia, with whom and his niece Anna," the daughter of the Tsar

Ivan, a marriage was speedily arranged.

The pest was raging at Konigsberg, and Peter was obliged

to take roundabout roads to reach the camp of Sherem^tief,

who was preparing for the siege of Piga. After making a re-

connaissance of the positions, although he was exposed to the

enemy's fire, he put his mortars in position, and fired the first

three bombs into the place, one of which hit the Church of St.'

Peter. He thus satisfied a lingering desire for revenge on a

town where he considered he had been badly treated, for he

wrote to Menshikof in a letter which we have already quoted

:

' Thus the Lord God has enabled us to see the beginning of our

revenge on this accursed place.' The same expression was used

in a letter to the Pussian minister in Prussia relative to the

siege operations, but there was added in a postscript, ' Say

nothing about the bombardment.' After leaving instructions

to Sherem^tief not to expose his men too much to the rigours

of the climate, but to confine himself during the winter months

to a blockade of the town, the Tsar went to St. Petersburg,

' Droysen. * She subsequently became Empress.
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where he arrived on December 4. He now felt sure of the

permanence of his settlement on the Neva, and during his short

stay busied himself with many plans for the enlargement and

improvement of the town. He decided on designs for public

gardens and for a palace, on plans for magazines and store-

houses, and ordered the nobles to build houses in what he called

' The Holy Land,' but to which they were ready to apply an

epithet of a totally different character. After laying the keel

of a ship, to be called the PoUoma, and giving directions for

the foundation of a church for the funeral of strangers in hon-

our of St. Sampson the Hospitable, on whose anniversary the

battle of Poltava was fought, he hastened to Moscow for his

triumph. It was necessary for him to wait a week at his villa

of Kolomenskoe for the arrival of the Guard, and for com-

pleting the necessary arrangements. At last everything was

ready, the triumphal arches were duly erected and the streets

properly decorated, and the procession set out. • But just as it

was starting Peter received information of the birth of his

daughter Elizabeth (subsequently Empress). He hm-ried off

with his friends to celebrate the event at home, and put off the

procession for two days. In this triumphal entry the Tsar

compelled the Swedish prisoners to take part, to the number of

22,085. Peter was on horseback, following immediately after

the Swedish generals and ministers, in the same colonel's uni-

form that he had worn at Poltava. It was so latfe, after the

Te Deum in the cathedral, that the remainder of the ceremony

was postponed till the following day. There then occurred

such a curious scene that one hesitates whether to consider it a

mere farce, or whether to try to believe that it had some serious

purpose. His Majesty Pamodanofsky, now promoted by the

Tsar from King to Ka/iser, sat on the throne, and the two

field marshals, Sheremetief and Menshik6f, attended by Peter

as Colonel of the Guard, presented reports of the victories they

had won and of the prisoners they had made. It was notice-

able that the credit of the battle of Poltava was given to Shere-

metief, that of the surrender or Perevolotchna to Menshikof,

while Peter claimed only the victory of Liesna. Ramodanofsky

thanked them for their services to the. State, and confirmed

the promotion of the Tsar to be Lieutenant-General. Piper,



THE LITTER IN THE PI OCEKKION.

PltOCESSION OF AKTILLEBY.

PBOCEB^ION OF CAVALRY.

TBAILINa FLAGS.

PORTIONS OF THE TBrOMFTTAT. PROCESSION.





1709.] THE TRIUMPH- 133

Ehenskjold, and the other Swedish generals were then intro-

duced. They scarcely could credit their eyes when they saw

on the throne, not Peter, but a person entirely unknown to

them, and began to wonder whether they had ever yet seen the

real Peter. The screens which counterfeited one of the walls

of the room suddenly opened, and disclosed the large brilliantly

lighted haU of the new palace, with tables laid for a banquet.

Under the dais at one end was set a small table for five per-

sons, and here Kamodanofsky took precedence, attended by

two field marshals, the Tsar, and the Chancellor Golofkin,

The Swedish generals were entertained at a separate table on

their right. Toasts were drunk to all, even to the Swedes, and

the carousing was kept up till a late hour. The crowd outside

was amused with fireworks. The official feasting went on again

the next day, when entertainments were also given to the peo-

ple, to the troops, and to all the Swedish prisoners ; and the

Christmas holidays were spent in festivities and nightly ban-

quets in the houses of Peter's intimate friends.'

'Solovi^f, XV., xvi. ; G61ikof; Ooxe, MarllorougTi ; Von Arneth, Pn»s
Eugen von Savoyen ; Guerrier, Leibnitz; F. Martens, Beeueil des Traites, etc.,

de la Bussie, V., St. Petersburg, 1880; Droysen, Oeschichte de:r Premsischen

PoUiih, IV.



LVII.

REFORM.—1700-1711.

It has long been time to speak of the internal condition of

Russia.

I The changes which the Tsar had thus far introduced into

^the Government had been rather of form than of substance. Dur-

ing these nine years since the beginning of the war he had been

little in the capital. Whenever he had set himself seriously to

work at the administration of the country, the necessities of the

war had always called him away. It is not therefore surprising

to find that out of 440^ documents recorded in thestatute book

during this period, the greater number are decrees for the

em'olment of recruits or for the imposition and collection of

taxes.

The names of some departments were changed, that of

the Streltsi, for instance, becoming that of Provincial Affairs.

The innovations of the Tsar brought about the creation of new

departments and chanceries, such as the Departments of the

!Navy, of Artillery, of Mines, the Chancery of Uniforms, and

that of Baths. To save the time of the Tsar it was decreed

that petitions should be addressed to the various departments

and ministers, and no longer to the Tsar himself, except for

very important matters. A new form of petition was prescribed,

and the use of too abject expressions and of diminutive names

in the signature was again forbidden. It became no longer

necessary for a man to fall on his knees in the presence of the

Tsar, or to take off his hat in passing the palace in winter.

Peter said: 'Wliat difference is there between God and the

Tsar when the same respect is given to both ? Less abjectness,

more zeal for the service, and more fidelity to me and to the

State—such is the honour which should be paid to the Tsar.'
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While the old official hierarchy of Boyars, Ok61nitchis,)

Nobles, and Secretaries of the Council was gradually dying out,

no new creations were made. In 1705 there were but forty-one

persons bearing such titles. The men who were nearest to

Peter, and had most weight in his councils, such as Menshik6f,i

Apraxin, and Eamodanofsky, had not received any of these

antique appellations, and Sheremetief and Golovln exchanged
them for the western title of Count. They were given new
titles. Chancellor, Vice-Chancellor, Privy Coimcillor, &c., and
slowly by the side of the old administration a new one was
growing up more suited to Peter's individual ideas.

The Boyars held as before their regular sessions in council

and managed the routine business of the Government, although

the heads of departments were now called ministers, and the

Eussian name for their assembly was changed for a foreign one.

The Tsar found that in his absence the ministers were negligent

in their attendance, and that if afterwards their decisions were

blamed, they excused themselves by saying that they had not

been present, and had taken no part in the deliberations. He
was therefore obliged to enjoin punctuality at the sessions, and

to order the decisions to be written out and signed by the

ministers present. Minutes of these decisions, and important

papers of aU kinds, were sent to the Tsar in whatever part of

the Empire he might be, and as his movements were rapid, they

sometimes made two journeys before reaching him. The atten-

tion of Peter was so taken up with the events of the war, and

lie had so frequently to leave one matter unfinished in order to

begin another, that the Cabinet Secretary, Alexis Makarof, be-

came a' very important and influential personage. It was his

duty to keep order in the papers, to see that nothing was

neglected, and at the proper time to bring matters to the atten-

tion of the Tsar, whom he accompanied always and everywhere.

Modest and retiring, originally a scribe at Vologda, where Peter

found him, he gave no counsel or opinion, but he knew the best

time to propose a subject to his master's consideration, and his

memory was stimulated and his good will sought for by the

mightiest of the realm. In this Cabinet, through which the

Empire was really governed, Osterman, the son of a Lutheran,

pastor at Bockum in Westphalia, and afterwards, so famous as a
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minister and a diplomatist, was a secretary employed for the

foreign correspondence.

(One new institution came into being, one which has left an

impress on Russian life not yet effaced,—^the Secret Chancery

of Preobrazhensky. In the old times the Streltsi at Moscow
had been charged with the preservation of the public order.

They were the police of the city. After the dissolution of the

Streltsi the police duties devolved chiefly on the Preobrazhensky

regiment, and drunkards and other disturbers of the peace were

arrested and taken to the post in the square of the Kremlin or

to the head-quarters at Preobrazhensky. The procedure was

usually siinple. After hearing the prisoner's statement and

what little evidence the soldiers who arrested him could pro-

duce, Prince Ramodanofsky either imprisoned him for further

investigation, had him stripped and beaten, or dismissed him

at once if ionoeent, on payment, however, of a sum of money as

expenses for his arrest. The business of the tribunal at Preo-

brazhensky constantly increased, and included not only pqlice

matters, but crimes and even treasonable acts. By a decree of

October, 1702, this tribunal was legalized, and it was ordered

that any person who cried out 'word and deed" should be

sent before it. These tei-rible words brought about the arrest

of aU. persons present or concerned, and the application of the

most fearful toi-ture. The Secret Chancery of Preobrazhensky.

was subsequently transferred to St. Petersburg and continued

to have exclusive charge of the secret police of the State. In

that way it was the lineal ancestor of what was subsequently

known as the Third Section of His Imperial Majesty's Chan-

cery. It is pleasant to know that the numerous pages of its

blood-stained records during Peter's reign show but few eases

of real crime against the Tsar, and sad to see what numbers of

men and women were tortured for chance, and sometimes ill-

understood, words and expressions, or on the denunciation of

some personal enemy. It is to be noted as marking the habits

of the time that in the early years there were numerous cases of

cap-stealing, which seems then to have been very rife at Mos-

' ' Word and deed of the Tsar ' was the accepted term for denouncing high

treason, even before the compilation of the Code of the Tsar Alexis, bnt its

<>rigin is unknown.
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COW, especially among the soldiers. "When they saw a peasant or

merchant with a rich fur or velvet cap, they had away of follow-

ing him into a by-street and suddenly knocking off his cap. He
would call out for the guard, there would be no trace of the thieves,

and probably the same soldiers would arrest him for calling on

the guard without cause, and he was lucky if on reaching the

guard-house he was not instantly condemned and whipped. When
Kamodanofsky finally found out the tricks of the soldiers, he did

not spare them. They were well beaten, but the sufferer still had
to pay the cost of his arrest, and usually went off without his cap.

It will be remembered that after Peter's return from his>

western journey he established new municipal institutions. It /

was in order to prevent irregularities in the working of these

institutions, and for the better government of the provinces,

that at the end of 1T08 he divided the whole Empire into eight

gvhernias or governments, and appointed as governors, the

Boyar Tikhon Streshnef of Moscow, Prince Menshikof of St.

Petersburg, Prince Dimitri Golitsyn of Kief, the Boy^r Peter

Saltykof of Smolensk, Prince Peter Golitsyn of Archangel, the

Boyar Peter Apraxiu of Kaz^n, the Admiral Theodore Apraxin-

of Azof. JPrince Matthew Gagarin, the former commandant of

Moscow, was made the Governor of Siberia, by far the largest

province. Onepf the duties specially enjoined upon them was to

see that the^^hole of the revenue was sent to the Treasuryjf&nd

it was from their reports that the first balance sheet was made in

1710. By this it appeared that the revenue for the previous year

had been 3,026,128 rubles ($6,296,000), while the expenses were

3,834,418 rubles ($7,988,000), showing a considerable deficit.'

' The details of this budget aie as follows

:

Bevenue from Bubles, Expenditure, BubleR,

Moscow Government l340,097 Army 3,161,176

St. Petersburg Government. 336,627' ^leet 444,288v^

Kief Government 114.857^ Artillery and ammunition. . 231,799/

3,026,128

Smolensk Government 83, 258C, 'Recruits 30,00(K-'^

Archangel Government 374,276^ firmament 84,10*^

Kazto Government 600,000j^mbassies, &o 148,08V
Azof Government 154,933i,'t;pnrt, medical departO

Siberia Government 233,080i,/ment, support of prison- > 745,02ft/

ers, and mascellaneous

)

3,834,418
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'Mo mention is made of tlie salaries of Government official^

and it is plain that only tke net revenues are meant after all

-the ordinary expenses of the Government had been deducted.

The deficit was covered in part by paying the salaries in depre-

ciated currency. •
"

/ To produce even this amount rnany new taxes had been im-

I
posed and many ways had been devised of increasing the

revenue. A ta,x was placed on private bath-houses, and all the

public baths were taken possession of by the Government and

farmed. This arrangement not working well, the baths were

returned to their owners,, and taxed according to their revenue.

By similar laws and changes of laws a considerable sum was ob-

tained from inns and places for the accommodation of travellers.

Taxes werei levied from mills, bridges, ferries, and horse fairs.

Mills were taken possession of and rented out
;
proprietors were

allowed to build new mills on payment of one-quarter of the

revenue to the Treasury. A rhubarb .monopoly was established.

A tax was placed on ths, registration of wills. A tax was laid

on the sale of wheat and provisions. The sale of salt was made

a Government monopoly and the price was fixed, at double the

cost to the Goyernment. The monopoly of selling tobacco was

taken from the -English merchants and retained by the Govern-

ment. The flax' monopoly of the English merchants was

abolished ; the trade in flax became free, but an export duty

was placed on the article.- A still hea,yier tax was placed on the

wearing of beards and moustaches. Measures were taken to

obtain a reve/iue from, the sale of tallow, pitch, and tar. A
tenth part was assessed on the receipts _ of public carriers.

Duty-was-kid on horses and horse-hides. A weighing tax was

instituted. A tax was laid on sales. 'Merchants were ordered

' to . b6 registered and to pay.a duty. Houses in Mo^co\y were

registered and taxed. Efforts were made to collect the excise

on liquor with more, exactitude. A" tax was placed on bee-

hives, and a temporary tax of 4 altyns (about 24 cents), for

the support of the artillery, was placed on the houses of mer-

chants and peasants!;- ,,It wg,s ordered that all oak coffins be

seized' at a specified price, and kept in the monasteries and-there

sold at four-4imes their cost.' Coffiosjpf other kinds were not

taxed.
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It win be seen from tljis that tEe invd8tiga;tions of Kui'batof

and the other ' revenue-finders ' were not without result. But I

the revenue could not be increased to any great extent except 1

with the growth of trade and industry.. In spite of the re-

formed ' currency and the opening of a port on the Baltic, ^uch

a growth could be but gradual and was not to be produced by

decrees. Peter had at one time ordered the Moscow merchants

to form themselves into companies and trade in the same man-

ner as :foreigners. The Dutch were alarmed at this, and Van
der Hulst, their Minister, asked for instructions to beg the Tsar

to change this decree. But he soon saw that his fear was

groundless, and wrote :^ ' As concerns the trading business, this

matter hprS fallen through of itself. The Kussians do not

know how to set about and begin such a complex and difficult

business. If I receive the instructions I asked for, I shall

delay acting on them, for on your demand the Tsar wiU give

up the project, the impossibility of- which has already been

demonstrated, and will then make ,out that he did this as a

favour to you.'

Not the taxes alone weighed upon the industry of the coun-

try. There were niany other burdens. The many contributions

in kind ; the stones and sand hauled to Moscow to pave the

ptreets where, the old wooden pavements were worn out ; the

restrictions pla,eed on the cutting of timber,—-and in the use of

wood the Russian peasant, has always been ptodigal,-r-th6

prohibition of felling certain trees useful for naval purposes

under pa,in of death without excuse ; the forced labour every-

where,, but especially at Azofj Voronezh, and St. Petersburg,

and more than all the constant drain of men for recruits.; all

these brought both peasants and proprietors, to the verge of

ruin. •
I

A few measures show a certain amount of solicitude on the /

part^of the Government for the popular welfare. A hospital
|

was established in Moscow. It was forbidden to kill new-born

infants who were deformed or idiots. The sa,le of poisonous herbs

and drugs, except by apothecaries, was prohibited. The sale or

weai-ing of sharp pointed knives was forbidden, and in 1702 an

Order was made against duels, especially between foreigners,

for the Eussians had "not the habit of fighting th§i»- . New
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laws were made to protect Moscow against fire," and for the

first time, in 1703, the parish priests of Moscow were obliged

to keep registers of the births and deaths. From these we find

that in 1703 there were 11,337 births and 13,929 deaths, and

in eleven months of 1704 there were 10,494 births and 13,119

deaths. The excess of deaths over births does not speak well

for the sanitary condition of the city at a time when there was

no great epidemic, but there are reasons for doubting the ac-

curacy of the registry. It is apparent from this that the popu-

lation of Moscow at this time was about half a million.

To provide for good government, to encoiirage trade and

manufactures, and especially to obtain efficient officers for the

army, foreign aid seemed more than ever necessary. On the

urgent advice of Patkul, Peter, on April 27, 1702, issued the

famous manifesto inviting foreigners to Kussia.

'It is sufficiently known,' said this document, 'in all the

lands which the Almighty has placed under our rule, that since

our accession to the throne aU our efforts and intentions have

tended to govern this realm in such a way that all of our sub-

jects should, through oiir care for the general good, become

more and more prosperous. For this end, we have always tried

to maintain internal order, to defend the State against invasion,

and in every possible way to improve and to extend trade.

With this purpose we have been compelled to make some neces-

sary and salutary changes in the administration, in order that

our subjects might more easily gain a knowledge of matters of

which they were before ignorant, and become more sldlful in

their commercial relations. We have therefore given orders,

made dispositions, and founded institutions indispensable for m-

creasing our trade with foreigners, and shall do the same in fu-

ture. Nevertheless we fear that matters are not in such a good

condition as we desire, and that our subjects cannot in perfect

quietness enjoy the fruits of our labours, and we have therefore

considered still other means to protect our frontier from the in-

vasion of the enemy, and to preserve the rights and privileges of

' Although a decree was issued once a year that all new houses and

shops in Moscow should be built of brick or stone, yet the revenue agents

were allowed to place such a tax on bricks as to double their price and thus

counteract these decrees.
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our State, and the general peace of all Christians, as is incumbent

on a Christian monarch to do. To attain these worthy aims,

we have endeavoured to improve our military forces, which are

the protection of our State, so that our troops may consist of

well-drilled men, maintained in perfect order and discipline. In

order to obtain greater improvement in this respect, and to en-

courage foreigners, who are able to assist us in this way, as well

as artists and artisans profitable to the State, to come in numbers

to our country, we have issued this manifesto, and have ordered

printed copies of it to be sent throughout Europe.'

In order to encourage foreigners to come to Kussia, and to

remove all fear of iU-treatment, it was expressly stated that all

previous laws and decrees restricting the arrival or the departure

of foreigners were thereby repealed, that all who came with the

intention of entering the Russian service would receive a free

passage and a full protection ; and that they might experience

no difficulties arising from their ignorance of the Russian laws,

they should be placed under the jurisdiction of a special tribunal

composed of foreigners, where all proceedings should be con-

ducted, not according to the Russian law, but according to the

Roman civil law. More than that, the principle of religious

tolerance was set forth in this decree almost as fully as by

Frederick the Great, half a century later. ' ' And as in our re-

sidence of Moscow,' the manifesto goes on to say, 'the free

exercise of religion of all other sects, although not agreeing with

our church, is already allowed, so shall this be hereby confirmed

anew in such wise that we, by the power granted to us by the

Almighty, shall exercise no compulsion over the consciences of

men, and shall gladly allow every Christian to care for his own

salvation at his own risk.' No one was to be hindered or op-

pressed in either the private or public exercise of the religion

of any Christian sect. It will be noticed that the freedom of

religious exercise granted by Peter extended only to Christians.

From these privileges he, by implication, excepted the Jews.

At another time he expressed himself particularly on this point.

' I would rather,' he said, ' see among us the best people of the

Mohammedan and heathen beliefs than Jews. They are rascals

and cheats. I root out evil and do not spread it. They shall

have no abode and no trade in Russia, however much they may
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try to get it, and however near to me may.be tli6 people they

bjibe.' - ...
/ Mention has already been cmade of the manner in which

/young Knssians were sent abroad to- study.; ' but. th6 efforts of

/Peter for instruction did not stop here. A school of mathema-

I
tics and navigation was established at Moscow imder the charge of

three Scotch pr^ofessors, in which there were about two hundred

pupils, who made rapid progress in their studies,.but whom,

Kurbatcrf, who then had-direction of the school, found itdiflScult

to save from the clutches of the recruiting agents. He com';

plained grievously^ of the manner in which their ^.education and

the expense of keeping theni would be wasted if- they were taken

for simple dragoons or soldiers. In 170S a school of a different

character, where ancient- and modern languages' were taught?

and a general education was given, was founded by Pastor Gluck^

the prisoner of Mariefiburg, and' the protector of Catharine

The brothers Thesingh of Amsterdam, under their concession,

printed Kussian books, which were sold at reasonable rates.

Kopi^fsky published many manuals, edncational- books, and

translations which were very useful, arid others were printe(J

at Moscow under the personal directions of the Tsai-. In 1703

the first Russian newspaper was published at Moscow. It con-

tained short notice's of the military operations and of lie events

which happened in different parts of the country arid abroad;

Foreign notices of Kussian affairs were even printed without

alteration or remark. Finally, too, a theatre was opened, no

longer orie for the exclusive amusement of. the Tsar and the

Court, but a public one open to everybody, in a wooden build-

ing on the Red Place. Besides- comedies and tragedies drawn

from ancient history, this theatre gave representations of some

of the events of the war,- and on one occasion at least a comedy

of Moliere

—

Le Medecin Malgri Lid.

fin the church there were changes of great importance.

V The Patriarch Adrian died- in October, 1700, when Peter

was with his troops before Narva. There was difficulty in find-

ing a successor on account of the ignorance of the clergy, their

indifference to education and progress, and their want of sym-

See Vol. I.., page 366.
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pathy with Peter's undertakings. The only men of the higher

clergy whom the Tsar could then allow to be placed in the

position were from Little Eussia; but with the relations of the

Ukraine to Russia at that time such a course would have been
dangerous politically, and as the. clergy educated at Kief, and
exposed mor« or less to western influence, were accused of

heresy and of a leaning towards the Church of Rome, it might

perhaps have been the cause of another schism. At all events,

it certainly would have strengthened the divisions already exist-

ing in the church. The Tsar was therefore perfectly ready to

take the advice offered him by Kurbatof, and postpone for a

time the election. By a decree of 1700 the principal charge of

the church was given to Stephen Yav6rsky, the Metropolitan of

Riazan and Miirom, with the title of Exarch. This measure

vi^as temporary. There was no intention at that time of abolish-

ing the Patriarchate, but during the war it had been impossible

to find a suitable person for the office. Athanasius, the Bishop

of Holmogory, had been favoured by Peter as the probable

successor of the Patriarch Adrian. But Peter's ideas had

greatly changed since the time when he had been at Archangel,

and Stephen Yavorsky was a man of far greater learning than

Athanasius. He played an important part in the history of the

church during Peter's reign. He was the Abbot of a monastery

at Kief, and had been sent to Moscow that very year as one of

the candidates for the bishopric of Pereyaslavl. But Peter saw

in him a man of the stamp he desired, and directed the Patri-

arch to consecrate him bishop of some diocese nearer to Moscow.

He was therefore appointed to Riazan, but when the day for

consecration came, he did not appear. He had taken refuge in

the Donskoi monastery, and obstinately refused to leave it, ex-

cusing himself on the ground that it was his duty to return

to the Metropolitan of Kief, who needed him, that as the

Bishop of Riazan (who had resigned from old age) was still

living, his consecration would be irregular, and that envious

persons had accused him of having purchased the dignity, and

called him a heretic and a lover of the Poles. The Tsar still

insisted, and Yavorsky was obliged to yield.

The postponement of the election of the Patriarch was ac-

companied by a reorganization of the ecclesiastical administra-
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tion. The Patriarchal chancery had up to this time had very

great powers, and jurisdiction over everything that was eccle-

siastical, including all questions of wills and inheritance, mar-

riage, adultery, divorce, disputes between husbands and wives,

or children aiid parents, questions of legitimacy and adoption,

and the settlement of complaints not only of civilians against

ecclesiastics but of ecclesiastics against civilians. While ques-

tions of a purely theological and dogmatic character, and those

of church discipline were left to the Metropolitan of Eiazan,

the general ecclesiastical jurisdiction as well as the care of the

property and the other material interests of the church were

placed in a new department created for the purpose, called the

Department of Monasteries, at the head of which was placed

the Boyar (afterwards Count), Ivan Alexeievitch Miisin-Push-

kin. The complaints of ecclesiastics against civilians were dis-

tributed amongst the various departments to which such ci-

vilians were amenable.

y^ Strict regulations were immediately made and enforced

/against the monasteries, which at that time were numerous and

very rich. There were then in Kussia 557 monasteries and con-

vents, three of which—the Abramief at Kostof, the Y;fdubit-

sky at Kief, and the Peryn at l^ovgorod—were founded at the

end of the tenth century. Their number increased rapidly, as

both princes, nobles and rich merchants vied in giving privileges

or granting lands to monasteries, for the welfare of their souls.

In the seventeenth century as many as 220 had been founded.

As a consequence of possessing landed property, the monas-

teries owned very many peasants. In some cases the rights of

the monasteries over their lands and serfs seemed anterior to

any known laws and charters. They were part of the common
law, and in many cases were exceptions to the general laws of

the land. The richest of all the monasteries, that of the Troitsa

near Moscow, possessed 20,394 peasant houses. The Patriarch

had as his own official property 8,842 peasant houses. The

Metropolitan of Kostof had about four thousand four hundred.

In general the monastic clergy in 1700 owned as many as

130,000 peasant houses, and on an inquiry made in 1723 it was

found that 151 monasteries in and near Moscow possessed 242,-

198 male serfs. By successive decrees the Department of Mon-
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asteries was empowered to take possession of and manage all

the property of the monasteries, and " in order to enable the

monks and nims better to fulfil their religious duties," it was
decided to give a fixed sum for their support to the inmates of

each monastery, and to devote the remainder to the support of

the poor monasteries which had no property, and to general

works of charity. This was therefore practically a measure of

confiscation. The annual amount for the support of the monks
was fixed at ten rubles and ten quarters of grain for each per-

son, with an indefinite supply of wood for fuel. In lYOo, after

an inquiry into the old account books of the monasteries, this

amount was reduced to five rubles and five quarters of ^ain.

The servants of the monasteries were to be restricted to the

smallest possible number of persons ; the inmates were bound

to reside constantly in their monasteries, and were not allowed

to change to others ; nuns were forbidden to go out without the

written permission of their superiors, and then only for a short

time ; no novices were to be received under forty years old, nor

without the permission of the Tsar ; monks and nuns were not

allowed to have paper and ink in their rooms, and according to

the example of ancient times were permitted to write in the

common hall only ; and laymen were not allowed to enter the

monasteries except during the times of divine service, and

could not live there. As might be expected, these strict regu-

lations for monastic life caused great discontent among the

clergj\ Yavorsky, too, excited a feeling against himself by the

reorganization of the Moscow Academy which he took in hand.

The introduction of foreign teachers from Kief excited the

jealousy of the Kussian clergy, and the dismissal of some Greek

teachers and the refusal to employ others who came with letters

of recommendation from Constantinople called out the anger of

the Patriarch of Jerusalem, who accused Yavorsky of unor-

thodoxy and intrigued against him. Even Yavorsky himself

was not entirely contented. He found himself in an unpleas-

ant position in Moscow, where he had not succeeded in making

friends, and longed for his beloved Little Eussia. In spite of

the rewards which he received at Court for his active as-

sistance and for his panegyrics, amounting sometimes to as

much as a thousand gold pieces at a time, he again and again

Vol. II.—10
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begged for permission to resign. His prayers were unheeded,

and he continued to assist in the work of reorganization. Nev-
ertheless, he quarrelled with Miisin-Pushkin, on account of

the Bishopric of Holmog6ry, where the Tsar, because of the

intercourse which that region had with foreign parts, wished

not only a learned but a politic man. None of the candidates

proposed by Yavorsky were accepted by the Tsar, and he

resented the interference of IVTiisin-PTishkin. Some bishops,

like Isaiah of Nizhni-Novgorod, flatly refused to comply with

the orders of Miisin-Piishkin unless they had a decree signed

by the Tsar in person. There were noble exceptions to this

clerical narrowness, men who appreciated the necessities of the

measures and who entered into the spirit of the times. Dimi-

tri. Abbot of Novgorod-Seversk, had been selected to be the

Metropolitan of Siberia, but he was a learned man, was en-

gaged on a work which is still a religious classic in Kussia, The

lA/ues of the Saints, and hated to go to such a wilderness as was

Siberia in those days, far away from books and documents.

Peter entered into his feehngs, permitted him to remain at

Moscow, and finally made him Metropolitan of Kostof. Dimi-

tri finished his great work and began another, but his attention

being suddenly called to the politics of the time by the question

of some conscientious people at Yaroslav as to whether it was

not a sin to shave the beard and destroy the image of the Cre-

ator, he threw aside his historical occupations and wrote a tract

on the '^ Divine Image and its SimiUtude in Man,' which Peter

had printed and widely circulated. He then devoted himseK

to pamphlets against Dissent, and endeavoured to bring the ig-

norant and fanatical to more sensible views of religious duty.

Job, the Metropolitan of Novgorod, started a Grseco-Latin-

Slavonic school for the higher education of the clergy, and

when it was thought best to remove his teachers to the Moscow
Academy in 1Y08, he established with the income of his dio-

cese three hospitals, two refuges, and an orphan asylum. The
first real hospital in Russia had been set up out of the funds

of the Department of Monasteries by Miisin-Piishkin in 1706,

and with it he connected a school for medicine and surgery.

Mitrophan, Bishop of Voronezh, who had had constant opportu-

nities of becoming acquainted with Peter during his visits to
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Voronezh, exerted himself to allay the discontent of the peas-

antry and to bring them to work steadily on the fleet, but more

than that, after war had broken out, he sent 6,000 rubles from

his private purse to the Tsar for military purposes, and after-

wards every year sent all he could spare from the needs of his

churches, either to the Tsar or to the Admiralty, with the simple

inscription ' For the troops.'

iSuch was the sum and substance of the reforms in govern-

it and legislation i^p to the battle of Poltava. A year and

a half afterwards, on the very day of the proclamation of the

war with Turkey, on March Gj 1711, a decree was issued calcu-

lated to make an important^change in the government. This

was the creation of the Senate intended to govern the country

during the absence of the Tsar. As the Council of Boyars had

insensibly passed into the Privy Chancery, so now the Senate

took the place of this body. It was composed of nine mem-
bers : Count Miisin-Piishkin, Streshnef, Prince Peter Golitsjn,

Priace Michael Dolgoriiky, Plemiannikof, Prince Gregory

Volk6nsky, the Paymaster-General Samarin, Opiikhtin, and

Melnitsky. Anisim Stchiikia was appointed chief secretary.

By a subsequent decree every official, whether clerical or lay,

military or civil, was instructed to obey the orders of the gov-

erning Senate as those of the Tsar, imder paiu of severe punish-

ment, even of death, according to the crime. In case the inter-

ests of any private individual were injured by the action of the

Senate the Tsar begged them to be silent during his absence,

and on his return to lay before him their complaints, fortified

by written proofs, when they would receive full justice and the

guilty would be punished. The powers of the new institution

were of the most extensive character. It was to insm-e justice

in the tribunals, to watch over the expenditure of the Govern-

ment and prevent all that was unnecessary, ' to collect as much
money as possible, for money is the artery of war,' to enroll

young nobles to fill vacancies as officers, ' especially those who
try to conceal themselves,' to see to the exact fulfilment of con-

tracts made with the Government, to manage the salt monopoly,

to farm out the trade with China, to increase the trade with

Persia, to attract Armenians into the country, and to institute

a service of fiscal agents in every department of the Govern-
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ment. These fiscals,' as they were popularly called, were noth-

ing else than spies and informers, and were to be rewarded

with one half of the penalties exacted in consequence of their

information.

In order to insure speedy and regular communications be-

tween the Senate and the provinces, the Governors were obliged

to maintain commissaries at Moscow, and these commissaries to

send their despatches by special messengers to the Governors.

The slowness of the Governors frequently wore out the pa-

tience of the Tsar as may be seen from a letter of his to Men-

shikof, dated February 17, 1711 :
' Up to now God knows in

what grief I am, for the Governors follow the example of crabs

in transacting their business, the last term of which was fixed

for Thursday in the first week of Lent, and therefore I shall

now deal with them, not with words but with hands.' Menshi-

kof was no exception to this crab-like procedure, especially in

furnishing the ' artery of war.' On the 3d of March Peter

wrote to him :
' Inform me what . merchandize you have, how

much has been sold, when, and where the money has gone, for

I have asked Stchiikin about it, and he says that he knows

nothing whatever. Thus we know no more about your govern-

ment than about a foreign country.' On the creation of the

Senate, Peter himself informed Menshikof that his government

must like the rest be subordinate to that body.'

' Although this system of fiscal agents has long since been abolished, the

vfOld,fiscal is still the popular name among the Russian peasantry for a spy

or for an agent of the secret police.

' Solovief, XV., xvL ; Ustrialof, iv. ; Gtolikof, iii., iv. ; Complete Collectwn,

ej Bvssian Laws.



LVIII.

DISCONTENT-1700-1710.

We remember what dissatisfaction greeted the first innova-

tions of Peter. Nevertheless the distasteful changes continued.

The war began: taxation and recrniting bore heavily on all

classes, but especially on the peasants. After the Streltsi had
been crushed, there was nothing about which an organized op-

position could be grouped ; there were no natural leaders or

parties who could take up the cause of the people. The pro-

tests against the despotism of Peter took the form either of

dissent or of rioting and brigandage. The Cossacks and half

wild people on the southern and eastern frontiers received ac-

cessions of strength in many men animated by fanaticism and
embittered by persecution. In the more central districts of

Russia the discontent showed itself in violent and 'unseemly'

speech, in rumours and ^predictions which, though compara-

tively harailess, were pursued and punished. What sort of
* unseemly ' talk was current we can learn from the abundant
records of the tribimal of Preobrazhensky. Every denuncia-

tion was followed by a rigid investigation, and every investiga-

tion, whether it showed guilt or innocence, was attended by
inhuman tortures. A peasant, for example, groaned out

:

' Since God has sent him to be the Tsar we have no happy
days. The village is weighed dotvn with furnishing rubles and
half rubles, and horses and carts, and there is no rest for us

peasants.' A Boyar's son complained, 'What sort of a Tsar is

he ? He has forced iis all into the service, he has seized upon

our people and peasants for recruits. Nowhere can yon get

away from him. Everyone is lost. He even goes into the

service himself, and yet no one kills him. If they only killed

him the service would stop, and it would be easier for the peo-
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pie.' Some peasant women and soldiers' wives cried out :
' "What

sort of a Tsar is he ? He has completely ruined the peasants,

carried off our husbands to be soldiers, and left us and our chil-

dren orphans to pass all our lives in weeping.' A serf said

:

' If he lives long he will ruin all of us. I am astonished that

people have not put him out of the way before now. He rides

about early and late at night, with few people and alone. It is

not a good time for the Germans now, because his father-in-law

Lefort is dead. "What sort of a Tsar is he ? He is the deadly

enemy of the peasants, and if he rides long enough about Mosr

cow he will lose his head one of these days.' A beggar said

:

' The Germans have got the better of him. One hour strikes,

all is well. Another strikes, there is groaning and weeping.

Now he has even attacked God—^he has taken the bells out of

the churches.'

The change in the popular feeling towards the sovereign

was very perceptible. In the time of the Tsar Alexis the people

had many causes for discontent, but they threw the blame on

Plestcheief, Morozof, and other Boyars and ministers of the

Tsar, whom they considered to be the real causes of their trou-

bles. Peter was no longer the demi-god who remained quietly

in his palace or appeared only in state, ready to interfere to

protect his people against the rapacity and the injustice of the

Boyars. He had too often been seen in the streets and neigh-

bourhood of Moscow consorting with foreigners. He had

shown his personal will too often during the executions of the

Streltsi, at Yoronezh and elsewhere , for the people not to un-

derstand that the Government was different, that the Tsar was

the life and soul of it. Their blame then was directed against

him alone. The popular mind needed some explanation of this

strange phenomenon, and the first was ready to hand. ' The

Germans had got round him, had bewitched him.' Following

German fashions he had ordered them to cut off their beards.

He would probably go still further. ' The Tsar had travelled

beyond the sea, and had fallen ia love with the German faith.

He is going to compel the monks to drink milk on "Wednesdays

and Fridays.' But the explanation of German influence did

not seem suflacient. The popular imagination embroidered on

this and began to enquire whether after all Peter was the real
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Tsar, the son of Alexis. In lYOl Prince Basil Sontsef was

executed for two murders and two robberies. Surely his crimes

were enough, but he had committed even a greater one. He
had said that the Princess Sophia had called Peter ' son of a

Strelets.' But this accusation explained nothing. At last the

popular fancy hit on what seemed sufficient. Peter was the

son of a German and a changeling. The real child of the Tsar-

itsa Natalia was a girl, and as she greatly wished an heir to the

throne, the midwives had changed it for a boy fi-om the Ger-

man Suburb,—even for the son of Lefort. But the legend did

not stop here. The Tsar had gone abroad, rumours had come
of the unpleasantness at Eiga. It was said that the foreigners

had killed him, and sent one of their own men back to Kussia

to take his place and to turn all the Orthodox away from Chris-

tianity. This fancy took the form of a fairy tale. 'When the

Tsar and his companions were beyond the sea, he went into the

German lands and was in Stekolnoe, the realm of glass (Stock-

holm). Now the realm of glass in the German land is ruled

by a woman, and that woman made mock at the Tsar, and put

him on a hot frying-pan, and then taking him out of the frying-

pan had him thrown into prison. When it was the name's day

of that woman, her princes and Boyars asked her for the' sake

of this feast to let out the Tsar. She answered :
" Go and

look ; if he is still turning round I will let him out at your re-

quest." The princes and Boydrs went and looked at the Tsar

and said : " He is weak, oh ! mistress ? " Then she said

:

" Since he is weak bring him out." So they brought him out

and set him free. Then he came to our Boydrs, and our Boyars

crossed themselves, made a cask and nailed it full of nails, and

wished to put him into that cask, but one of the Streltsi found

it out, aud runningup to the Tsar's bed said :
" Oh ! lord Tsar, get

up and go away. You know nothing of what is to be done with

you." And the Tsar got up and went away, and that Strelets lay

on the bed in his place, and the Boyars came, and dragging that

Strelets from the bed put him into that cask and rolled Kim into

the sea.' This story leaves it uncertain what became of Peter,

but evil tongues set afloat a rumour that he had been killed

abroad. ' This is not our lord, he is a German. Our Tsar was.

nailed up in a cask by the Germans and thrown into the sea.'
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The opponents of ihe innovations went still further. The
Dissenters and in general the religiously disposed Kussian

peasantry, were greatly given to apocalyptic teachings and to

explanations of the biblical mysteries. They had seen the ful-

filment of prophecies in Nikon and Alexis, and were ready to

be convinced that Peter, with the changes which he had made
in the sacred and established order of things, was the tme Anti-

Christ.

The fate of one expounder of the doctrine of Anti-Christ

created much sympathy. In the year 1700 information had

been given to the Tribunal of Preobrazhensky that a scribe

named Gregory Talltsky used all sorts of injurious and unseemly

epithets about the Tsar, and was engraving some boards in order

to print a pamphlet and distribute it among the people. He fled,

but was soon caught. On the application of torture he confessed

to having written a letter to the effect that the last times had

now arrived, that Anti-Christ was come, and to having adWsed

the people to refuse to obey the Tsar, who was Anti-Christ,

or pay the taxes, and to having recommended them to search

for Prince Tcherkasky, who wished good to the people. Among
his accomplices were Ignatius, Bishop of Tambof, who had en-

couraged him to write and print pamphlets, and Prince Ivan

Havansky, who blamed himself for having taken part in one of

the revels of the court where sport had been made of religion,

and where he himself had acted the part of a Metropolitan.

Talltsky and his most faithful supporter were slowly burned or

rather smoked to death, as Yockerodt tells us. Others were

knouted and sent to Siberia, and the Bishop of Tambof was

degraded and imprisoned for life in the Solovetsky Monastery.

Prince Havansky died from his tortures before the end of the

trial. Stephan Yavorsky tried to refute the teachings of Tallt-

sky in a pamphlet called ' The Signs of the Coming of Anti-

Christ,' but, as usually happens, his arguments, which Vockerodt

calls very weak, were read only by those who had no need of

being convinced. The Government circulated the story that

Talltsky had recanted at the stake, but the belief of many ignorant

men was not shaken. The fame of Talitsky as a martyr added

to the reputation which he was said to have gained during the

torture in a dispute with the Bishop of Biazan, spread among
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the people. Persons of higher rank, even Peter's son Alexis,

were interested in him, and in after years Peter's daughter

Elizabeth collected documents with regard to this affair.

Moscow came to be looked upon as a sinful and unholy

Babylon. All the officials of the Tsar were the servants of

Anti-Christ. Menshikof, as Peter's special favourite, was said to

have abandoned Christianity and to be surrounded by swarms
of devils. The little cross pricked into the left hand of the

recruits to mark them was everywhere called the seal of Anti-

Christ. The inhabitants of whole villages fled to the wastes of

the north, east, and south-east, and lived in woods and on the

steppes to avoid contact with unholiness.

A curious specimen of the apocalyptic teachings of the Dis-

senters of this time is to be foimd in an old manuscript from
the Solovetsky Monastery, preserved at Kazan. ' The Apostle

says first comes a falling away, then is revealed the man of sin,

the son of perdition, the Anti-Christ. Eirst came the falling

away from the holy faith by the Tsar Alexis in the year 666,'

tlie number of the beast, thus fulfilling the prophecy. And
after him there reigned on the throne his first-born son Peter,

from his second and unlawful marriage. He was consecrated

to the throne of all the Kussias by the Jewish laws fi-om head

to foot, showing that he is the false Messiah and the false

Christ, as the Sibyl prophecied about him that a Jewish Tsar

will reign. And that false Christ began to set himself iip and

be called God by all, persecuting and torturing all orthodox

Christians, destroying their memory from the face of the earth,

spreading his new Jewish faith throughout all Kussia. In the

year 1700, to the accomplishment of his wickedness, and on the

festival of the circumcision of Christ, he called together a

heathenish court and erected a temple to the heathen god Janus,

and before all the people practised all sorts of magic rites and

all called out " vivat ! moat ! the New Yea/r" and he sent to

all parts of the realm the command to feast for the new year,

thus breaking the laws of the Fathers, who in the first Oecxi-

menical Council commanded the feast of the New Year to be

' It is very common in old Bussiau books to find the first figure of dates

omitted. The year 666 meant the year 1666, the date of the Council of Mos-

cow, and of the armed attack on the Solovetsky Monastery.
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on the 1st of September. In the year 1721 he took upon him-

self the Patriarchal title, calling himself Father of the Country,

Head of the Kussian. Church, and Autocrat, having no one on

an equality with himself, staking craftily to himself not only the

power of the Tsar, but also the authority of God, and claiming

to be afi autocratic pastor, a headless head over all opponents of

Christ, Anti-Chrifit. Therefore must we conceal ourselves in

the deserts, just as the Prophet Jeremiah ordered the children

of God to iiee from Babylon. The years of the Lord have

passed ; the years of Satan have come.'

'

' Solovief, XV. ; Esipof, OW, people; Papers of the Secret Tribunal of

Preobrazensky.
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LIX.

REBELLION—1705-1709.

The southern and south-eastern frontier, where the Cossacks

and wild tribes lived in the neighborhood of each other, served

as a refuge for deserters and runaways of all kinds, and con-

tained a population ready at all times to follow the lead of agi-

tators. The great rebellions of Russian history, those of Bolot-

nikof and Zarutsky in the seventeenth century, of Stenka
Razin in the time of Alexis, and Pugatchef in the time of

Catherine II., all broke out here. In this region it was there-

fore to be expected that the opposition to Peter's reforms and
changes would take a stronger form than' elsewhere, and we
find in rapid succession the revolt at Astrakhan, that of the

Bashkirs, and the rebellion of the Don Cossacks under Buldvin.

Astrakhan, at the mouth of the Volga, where many of the fam-
ilies of the Streltsi had been exiled, was a hotbed of dissent.

The population had bitter remembrances of the execiitions of

1699, was opposed to the innovations of dress, and was discon-

tented with the heavy taxes. The wildest stories about Peter's

birth and intentions found here ready credence. A certain

Stepan of Moscow, two of whose uncles had been executed

among the Strelsi, excited by the talk of those about him, set

out for Astrakhan, and, at Kolomna, found another uncle who
said to him :

' You would do a good work if you stirred up the

people in Astrakhan. The men of the Don and of the Yaik

will also rise. Who then can stand against you ? The Tsar is

fighting with Sweden, the towns are empty, what few men are

left also wish to rise and will be glad of what you do, for now
it is possible to establish the old faith.' He gave him at the

same time a letter in which it was said that four Boyars were

governing Moscow and intended to divide the country into four
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parts. Wlien Stepan arrived at Astrakhan in 1705, lie began

to spread about the stories of the birth and intentions of the

Tsar which he had heard in Moscow, first quietly and then

more diligently as he found believers. There came about the

same time rumours that the Tsar was dead or imprisoned in

Stockholm, chained to a pillar, and that an impostor reigned at

Moscow. Opposition began to show itself against the officials,

and especially against Uzhefsky, the Voievode, who like other

officials was thought by the people to have abandoned Chiis-

tianity, andwho was hated for his cruelty and extortion. Some

exhorted the crowd that it was necessary to stake their lives for

such holy things, and a tax gatherer who had orders to collect

fines from those who still wished to wear the old Russian

clothes, positively refused to obey and declared that he would

sooner die than let his beard be shaved. A little afterwards a

rumour was suddenly spread in the bazaars that no Eussiaii

men would be allowed to marry for seven years, but that all the

girls were to be married to the Germans who were daily ex-

pected to arrive from Kazan. The excitement was tremen-

dous. The population resolved to frustrate these plans by mar-

rying their children before the hated Germans arrived, and on

one Sunday, the 9th of August, a hundred couples were mar-

ried. The wine and whiskey of the wedding feasts went to the

heads of the guests, and that night a baud of the populace at-

tacked the Government buildings and massacred several officers,

some of them foreigners, as well as the wife of a German offi-

cer, who had previously said derisively that the Eussian soldiers

would also soon eat meat during Lent. The Yoievode was not

found until the next day, when he was immediately beheaded.

The insurgents organized a government for the town in Cossack

fashion, and elected Vosof, a merchant qi Yarosldv, as their

Ataman. The fact that the leaders of the tumult included

merchants from Yaroslav, Moscow, Nizhni-Novgorod, Uglitch

and the other northern towns, showed that the rising did not

have a merely local character. From the proclamations issued

by the insurgents it is evident that although religious and fanati-

cal opjiosition to beard-shaving and foreign clothes were in part

reasons for the revolt, there were others in the heavy taxes on

baths and on salt, the bridge tolls and the restrictions on the
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fish trade. After complaining of the introduction of tobacco^

of the beard-shaving, of the insults offered to their wives by
cutting their long clothes, they said :

' The Voievodes and offi-

cers practised all kinds of idol worship and wished to compel us
to it. But we have not allowed this to happen, but have taken
the idols out of the dwellings of the officials and officers.' These
'idols' turned out to be the wig-blocks on which the officials

kept their perukes. Such an idea is of a piece with the belief

that Peter wished to introduce the worship of the heathen god
Janus because he celebrated the new year on the 1st of January.

There was great panic and commotion at Moscow when the
news came of the rising, for it was feared that the movement
might spread to the Cossacks, and that there might even be
difficulties in the central provinces. Peter, who was then at

Mitau, immediately sent to Astrakhan the Field-Marshal Shere-

metief with several regiments, and in frequent letters begged
him not to delay, but to hasten as fast as possible to Kazan.
He ordered Streshnef to remove the Government treasure from
Moscow and bury or conceal it. He thought also that it would
be better to remove the arms from the city, and in order that

news of the disturbances should not reach the enemy, ordered

the temporary cessation of the foreign post from Moscow.
Quieting intelligence was received that the insurgents of Astra-

khan could find no allies. The Cossacks of the Terek replied

to the invitation, that while they thoroughly sympathized with
the men of Astrakhan, they could give them no aid, as they

could not leave their wives and families to the mercy of the

Tartars and the mountaineers. The men of the Don answered

that they themselves had not yet suffered any oppression on the

part of the Tsar, and still clung to the old Russian habits, as

there was not a tailor among them who knew how to make Ger-

man clothes.

Wishing to see whether affairs could not be arranged with-

out the use of force, Peter sent to Astrakhan Kiselnikof, a

merchant of that town, to receive the complaints of the citizens

and with promises of mercy. The Tsar's promises had a good

effect, and deputies were sent to Moscow from Astrakhan to

state their griefs. These complaints were with regard to the

innovations in dress and the oppressive taxes. Among other
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things it was said that many people had had pieces o£ their flesh

cut away while their beards had been forcibly shaved, that

Rzhefsky had kept back part of the pay of the garrison, had levied

taxes on baths, cellars, smoke-houses, laundries, and brew-houses,

and even on the grinding of knives and hatchets, that he had

ill-treated and imprisoned the wives and children of the soldiers

who had gone to the Swedish war on account of arrears of taxes,

that he had enriched himself by intrigues, extortion, monopolies,

and dishonesty of all kinds, that he had compelled the soldiers

to render such services in winter that some had been frozen to

death, that he had forced the iuhabitants to furnish without

pay carts and rafts, that the German officers had forced the

soldiers to eat meat on fast days and had ill-treated their wives

and daughters, that even the Swedish prisoners, who had been

given important posts, had oppressed them, etc., etc. This state-

ment made a deep impression in Moscow, and Golovin resolved

to ask the Tsar for unconditional amnesty. He wrote, ' I have

talked for some time with them and they seem faithful and

honest people. Deign, sir, even to force yourself to show them

mercy. Even we are not without rascals.' The King of Poland

also said a good word for the insurgents, and the Tsar willingly

or unwillingly yielded to their counsel. The deputies were

sent back with a written promise of amnesty for all, and each

was given fifty rubles for his expenses. The Tsar ordered dis-

cretion to be used in collecting the taxes in this region, and told

Sheremetief to avoid as much as possible any bloodshed and use

great caution in dealing with the people.

Meanwhile, however, the army of Sheremetief was still ad-

vancing and he had excepted the leaders of the insurrection

from the amnesty. The violent party again got the upper

hand, treated the messenger of Sheremetief with rudeness, in-

sulted the Tsar, refused to drink to his health, accused him of

want of piety, of having turned the Christian religion into a

Latin one, of being strong only through witchcraft, of being

himself bewitched, and threatened in the spring to march to

Moscow and destroy the German suburb. When Sheremetief

approached the waUs, the insurgents instead of yielding came

out and attacked him. The forces of the Field-Marshal were

too strong for them, and the resistance was short. The insur-
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gents held out a little longer in the Kremlin, and then all

hegged for mercy. When Sheremetief entered the town the

people by thousands lay flat on the groimd on each side of the

street asking for forgiveness. With his mind enlarged by

travel and education, Sheremetief found it impossible to enter

into the narrow fanatical views of the revolt. He wrote to

Golovin that while it was absolutely necessary to arrest the

leaders, it was difficult, as they exercised so much influence in

the town. 'Nosof,' he said, 'is a great rascal and a Dis-

senter. But all fear him, and no one dares to speak to him
with his head covered. I have never seen such a tremen-

dously crazy rabble. They, are puffed up with malice and

belief that we have fallen away from Orthodoxy—puffed up

and confirmed in their folly.' Hundreds of them were sent to

Moscow and three hundred and sixty-five men were executed

—

many of them broken on the wheel—or died during the exam-

ination, which lasted for a long time, because it was hoped by
repeated torture to obtain a clue to some connection of the

rebels with the populace of Moscow. Astrakhan was taken by
Sheremetief on the 23d of March, 1706, but the executions

took place on the 19th of February, 1Y08, when seventy rebels

were beheaded, five broken on the wheel.
,

The Tsar was greatly relieved when the rebellion was finally

put down. He thanked Sheremetief for his triumph and

victory over these accursed rascals, and rewarded him with an

increase of salary and large estates. He celebrated the victory

with a banquet at Menshikof's house in St. Petersburg, while

Menshikof had a salute fired at Kief.

The wild populations of Asia have always been ready enough

to swear allegiance to Russia when sufficient inducements have

been offered, but at the same time have always considered that

this was a contract from which they could withdraw at pleasure.

Early in 1705 symptoms were seen of a conmiotion among the

Bashkirs, who felt themselves aggrieved by some new regula-

tions. The danger was plainly pointed out by Sheremetief in

1706, but a rebellion did not begin until 1708. It was then in

part due to the intrigues of a Bashkir Sultan who travelled back-

ward and forward between Constantinople and the Crimea, and

who endeavoured to gain the alliance of the Khan and the
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protection of the Sultan. Disturbances first broke out on the

line of the Terek. After exciting the mountaineers, the Bash-

kir leader succeeded in getting off to his own country and rais-

ing the whole of the Bashkirs of the Steppe. Kavaging and

pillaging the lands of the Kussian colonists and of the Votiaks

on the Volga, the Bashkirs advanced to within twenty miles of

Kazan, and it required several expeditions and numerous suc-

cessful fights to reduce them to submission. Order began to be

restored in the spring of 1709, but the rebellion had cost the

Russians three hundred and three burned villages, and nearly

thirteen thousand men killed or led into Asiatic captivity.

The burdens of the State, increased as they were by the

war, fell chiefly if not exclusively upon the peasants. In spite

of the numerous laws, so frequently repeated during the reign

of Alexis and his successors, to bind the serfs to the soil, they

had a constant tendency to run away from their masters, to

emigrate to the frontiers of the empire where they could be rid

of the tax collector and the recruiting sergeant, and the constant

interference of official authority, where they could live as they

pleased, serve God according to the dictates of their conscience

and freely dispose of the fruits of their labour. The more

stringent the measures to enforce the laws, the more anxious

were the lower classes to escape from them, and the greater the

hatred of the common people towards the nobility. The landed

proprietors claimed that they were unable to comply with the

demands of the State because they had no serfs to send as

recruits or to work their fields. The continuance of this state

of things threatened the northern and more unproductive prov-

inces with depopulation. During January and February, 1706,

twenty-six families belonging to a single village, the property of

a convent in the town of Shuya, left their homes and were not

again heard of. Where the communications with the Cossacks

were easier—for all fled to them—the state of things was much

worse. The peasants collected to cut timber and build ships at

Voronezh ran away to escape the heavy work and the fevers

which decimated them. Nothing was so hated as the forced

labour at Azof, and criminals of every kind left this penal

colony for the Don. The army of Sheremetief in passing from

the Yolga to Kief lost large numbers by desertion. The Gov-
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eminent continually demanded from the Don Cossacks the sur-

render of such deserters and fugitives as well as the demolition

of certain new settlements of Dissenters on the Medveditsa, and

the foundation of others on the road to Azof. Occasionally a

few deserters were given up, but these orders remained in gen-

eral unexecuted. The settlements were not changed but in-

creased. Although the Tsar sent new standards and emblems

to the Don Cossacks for their loyal behaviour during the revolt

at Astrakhan, yet he still demanded the surrender of the fugi-

tives and the demolition of the new settlements. Finally, Prince

Dolgoruky with a detachment of soldiers appeared on the Don
to enforce the execution of the Tsar's decrees. This was an at-

tack on the privileges of the Cossacks, and excited commotion.

The leaders began to discuss whether after all the men of Astra-

khan were not in the right. Dolgoruky was received with all

Awe honours at Tcherkask, but when he proceeded to arrest the

fugitives a band of Cossacks, under the leadership of Kondraty

Bulavin, Ataman of Bakhmiit, attacked him on the river Aidar

on the 20th of October, 1Y07. The Eussians were killed to the

last man. Those who remained loyal to the Government col-

lected and defeated Eulavin's band. They wrote to the Tsar as

proof of their loyalty, that they had pimished the prisoners by

cutting off their noses, hanging them up by the feet, by whip-

ping them and by shooting them to death. Peter at first

thought the movement had been stopped, but Bulavin, who had

sought refuge among the Zaporovians of the Dnieper, soon re-

turned with larger bands. In his earlier proclamations he invoked

the name of Stenka E.azin, still popular in song and legend, and

invited all those who wished to lead a merry robber life, to eat

and drink well, to ride on fine horses and to have rich booty

;

but he soon changed his tone and made that appeal to religious

feelings which had been so successful elsewhere. He spoke of

the necessity of rising 'to defend the house of God's holy

mother and the Christian church against the heathen and Hel-

lenic teachings which the Boyars and Germans wished to in-

troduce.' The poor, the peasants, the prisoners were everywhere,

he said, the confederates of the Cossacks, who could reckon also

on the Zaporovians and on the men of the Terek. He tried to

gain over the workmen of the Terek, who were cutting timber

Vol. II.—11
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for the fleet. Tolstoi, the Governor of Azof, sent his troops

against the rebels. Many soldiers deserted, the rest were totally

beaten. The disorder spread towards the centre of Eussia. Vil-

lages in the neighbourhood of Tambof and Tula were burned,

and the inhabitants of these large towns were armed for defence.

One proclamation of Bulavin, dated May, 1708, after he had cap-

tured the important town of Tcherkask, the capital of the

Cossack settlement on the Don, stated his intention of asking

the assistance 'of the Sultan against the Tsar.

Numerous letters of Peter to his friends show his anxiety.

At one time he was on the point of starting himself for the

scene of troubles. He ordered Prince Basil Dolgoruky, the

brother of the one who had been killed, to march against the

insurgents and ' put out the fire once for all,' burning villages,

and impaling and breaking on the wheel the inhabitants, ia

order to deter the wavering from rebellion. He recommended

him to study the history of the rebellion of Stenka Raziu,

where another Dolgoriiky had been notorious. His letter

ended with the phrase :
' These locusts cannot be treated other-

wise than with cruelty.' In another letter written at a cooler

moment he recommended Dolgoruky to treat the repentant

with clemency, and not to use blind terrorism lest he should be

thought to be actuated by motives of revenge for the murder of

his brother. Dolgoruky was in great perplexity. His own

ti-oops were deserting, there was great danger for Azof and

Taganrog, the Zaporovians were on the march, and he was fet-

tered by the changing instructions of the Tsar. The attack on

Azof was repulsed after the Cossacks had succeeded in getting

possession of the suburb inhabited by the sailors, and Dolgo-

ruky finally succeeded in beating the Cossacks in detail, for

Bulavin had had the imprudence to divide his army. This was

no exception to the general history of such insurrections in

Russia. There were always half-hearted rebels who, out of

motives of jealousy or personal revenge, were ready to betray

their chief and to deliver him into the hands of the Govern-

ment. Some of these begged the Tsar to withdraw his troops,

as otherwise all the Cossacks would flee to the Kuban, and

Peter, though bent on severe measures, hesitated and gave or-

ders for stopping the march. Bulavin, in order to escape from
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some Cossacks who wished to surrender him, blew his brains

out in July, 1708. Nevertheless the rebellion lingered on for

some time until the troops under Peter Havansky had advanced

from the Volga, and there was a bloody fight at Panshin on the

Don in September, where the deserters from the regular army

defended themselves with the courage of despair. Smaller de-

tached bands fought on until late in the autumn, but at last

quiet was restored. Many villages and forts on the affluents of

the Don were burned by the express command of the Tsar,

who desired to destroy the refuges of the fugitive peasants and

Dissenters. The young men were sent off to other provinces.

As to the aged, the women and the children, Apraxin wrote to

the Tsar, ' these will disappear of themselves.' Part of the

prisoners were executed, several Atamans as well as some dis-

senting monks who had performed religious services and had

prayed for the success of the rebels, were quartered. A couple

of hundred were hanged on gallows raised on rafts, which

were sent floating down the Don to warn all the dwellers on the

stream.'

' Solovief, XV. ; Ustrialof , iv. ; Golikof, iv.



LX.

ST, PETERSBURG MADE SECURE—1710.

The festivities for the great \dctory of Poltava were scarcely

over when the Tsar was called upon to receive in solemn audi^

ence Whitworth, who had come on a special mission from the

English Court to apologise for the insult offered to Matveief,

the Kussian Minister in London.

After the failure of his negotiations in London in 1708/

Matveief had been ordered bj the Tsar to proceed to the Low
Countries. In paying his bills before his departure, he had

occasion to verify one' of about fifty pounds. The impatient

creditor obtained a writ, and the sheriEE's officers arrested Mat-

veief while driving, forcibly took him from his carriage and

imprisoned him. The outraged minister was bailed out as soon

as his friends heard of his plight, and supported by his col-

leagues of the diplomatic body, whose rights were thus invaded,

complained the next day to the Queen, and immediately left

England without waiting for a farewell audience. From the

Hague Matveief made frequent requests for satisfaction, and

the Tsar, when he heard of the incident, demanded that the

Sheriff of Middlesex -and all others concerned in the affront

should be punished with instant death. This was of course

impossible, and the Queen replied that she could inflict no

punishment upon any, the meanest of her subjects, unless war-

ranted by the law of the land, and therefore was persuaded

that the Tsar would not insist upon impossibilities. There were

' See vol. ii., p. 84. We find a curious entry in I/uttrdl, Saturday, October

18, 1707. Tlie Muscovite Ambassador has complained against Daniel De Foe,

for the following expression in his review of Thursday last : ' Money makes

Christians fight for the Turks ; money hires servants to the devil, nay, to the

very Czar of Muscovy.'
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indeed difficulties, because there was no law which punished

the aggressoi-s. The persons concerned in the arrest were ex-

amined before the Privy Council, seventeen were imprisoned

and tried before Lord Chief Justice Plolt, and convicted of the

facts by the jury. The question of the criminality of the act

was reserved for argument before the judges, and the case was
obliged to rest there. The offenders were never brought up
for judgment. It became necessary to pass a special Act of

Parliament by which such offenders should be punished in fu-

ture.' It was a copy of this Act, splendidly engrossed and
illuminated, that Whitworth'was instructed to present to the

Tsar, together with the excuse of the Queen ' that she could not

inflict such a punishment as was required, because of the defect

in that particular of the former established constitution of her

kingdom, yet, with the unanimous consent of the Parliament

she had caused a new law to be passed, to serve as a law for

the future.' The other foreign ambassadors and ministers at

Moscow were present at the audience given to Whitworth, and

for their benefit the speech of the ambassador and the letter of

the Queen were translated into German as well as Kussian.

The Tsar expressed himself as satisfied with the apology, the

more so as he was given the title of Emperor, according to the

old usage, which had of late been interrupted. Golofkin de-

manded that the imperial title be henceforth constantly used,

and "Whitworth consented."

Although Charles XII. had been so signally defeated at

Poltava, and was in exile, the war was by no means over. It

was necessary for Peter to strain every nerve to complete the

conquest of the Swedish provinces on the Finnish Gulf, while

the King was still powerless ; and this was the more imperative

because the relations with Turkey were strained, and Swedish

and Austrian intrigues might at any moment cause a fresh out-

break of hostilities in that quarter.

Major Nostitz had already been instructed to attack Elbing,

' 7 Anne, c. 12.

' This case, as marking a precedent, is frequently referred to in the law

hooks. The full papers may he found in Laniberttfs Memoires jjotcr serrir,

v., and in Martens, Causes OeUbres dv. Droit des gens, v*l. i., Leipzig, 1858.

See also Blaokstone's Commentaries, i. 355.
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the last town in Polish Prussia occupied by the Swedes, who
had there a garrison of about 900 men. Elbing was soon taken

by assault, and Nostitz received the Tsar's portrait set in bril-

liants as his reward, for which, however, he rendered poor

thanks, for after extorting 250,000 Polish ducats from the

magistracy of the town, he deserted with his booty. Peter had

him hanged in effigy. By a secret article of the Treaty of

Marienwerder the Tsar had agreed to cede Elbing to Prussia,

but as the King refused to carry out his part of the treaty, this

article remained for the present in abeyance.

Peter arrived at St. Petersburg from Moscow in the first

week of March, and after conferring on Admiral Apraxin the

rank of Count and Privy Councillor, sent him off with the

forces which had already been collected to begin the siege of

Yiborg. He wrote to Menshikof, ' The preparations for both

the winter and the spring campaigns will be complete in due

time, and there is no delay except that the horses are brought

in slowly. However, we hope even these will arrive in good

time. A good store of grain has been got together, and the

biscuits and groats are all ready. But when I look about more,

and see what still has to be done here, I will not stop to write

to you ; only I wish God would arrange your matters as quickly

[Menshikof had already been sent directly to Kiga from Mos-

cow], and give us to see you here, so that as a reward for your

labours you could be in all respects a partaker with us of the

beauty of this paradise, in which you were and are a good part-

ner of our toils. This I wish from my heart. "We give you

and 3'our household to the mercy and keeping of the Lord.

Our household likewise greets yours.'

Busy for a while with completing the naval regulations, and

with giving instructions to Dolgoriiky about Danish politics,

the Tsar, as soon as the Neva began to get clear from ice,

started with his fleet from Kronslot. The winter was late, and

although it was May 9 when the fleet set out for Viborg, the

amount of ice in the Gulf rendered navigation very difficult,

and the small vessel which carried the Tsar was exposed to im-

minent danger. It required great exertions to prevent the loss

of the ships laden with provisions. Peter felt repaid for his

personal exertions and dangers, for he arrived with the provi-
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sions before Viborg at a time when the army of Apraxin was

reduced to great straits- by cold and hunger. The Russians had

succeeded in surrounding the town, but they were at too great

a distance for their artillery to take effect, and Finland was in

too impoverished a condition to yield them any subsistence.

The town itself and the Swedish gai-rison likewise suffered

much. The harvest had been bad for several years, and every-

thing in the way of money or treasure had been seized by the

Swedes and taken to Stockholm. The Russian forces were

now increased to about 23,000 men ; and Peter, after drawing

up a plan for the attack of the town, and giving instructions

that it must be taken at all hazards, returned to Kronslot,

barely escaping capture by the Swedish fleet.

He was busy in St. Petersburg until June 21, suffering at

the same time from illness. Hearing that the siege of Viborg

was nearly ended, he wrote to Apraxin, ' I hear that you intend

making the assault to-day. If this has already been ordered,

God aid you ; but if it is not fixed for to-day, then put it off till

Sunday or Monday, when I can get there, for this is the last

day that I take medicine, and to-morrow I shall be free.' The

Tsar arrived just in time to see the capitulation of the town.

The Swedish officers and soldiers were at first released on pa-

role, but before they had quitted the town a circumstance was

brought to the Tsar's knowledge which compelled him reluc-

tantly to break the agreement. There had been for years much
difficulty with regard to the exchange of prisoners ; officers who
had been released on parole had served again against Russia

;

Prince Hilkof had not been released, although Kjiipercrona had

long been in Stockholm. The Tsar had appealed to the other

powers, but without success. Now the Tsar's yacht, carrying a

flag of truce as well as the imperial standard, with letters from

Swedish prisoners (the exchange of which in this way had been

customary), had been taken by a Swedish vessel, the captain of

which not only detained it, but in an insulting way tore up the

Tsar's flag. Peter therefore recalled the freedom given to the

officers and soldiers captured at Yiborg, allowing those only to

depart who were wounded and ill, as well as the widows and

children of those who had been killed, and sending the Swedish

commander with a message to the senate at Stockholm, de-
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nranding full reparation ior the insult offered, him. The num-

ber thus detained amounted to 154 officers and 3,726 men.

The capture of Yiborg and the subsequent occupation of

Kexholm and all Karelia, afforded Peter great satisfaction. He
now felt that St. Petersburg was secure. A suitable distance

lay between it and the

frontier. It was no long-

er sub] ect to surprises by
Swedish troops. From
Viborg Peter wrote to

Sheremetief, ' And thus
"'"'"'

'" "'s''

through the taking of this town final safety has been gained

for St. Petersburg ;
' and to Catherine, ' Already, by God's help,

it is a strong pillow for St. Petersburg.'

Piga, which had suffered much from the pest, finally capitu»
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lated to Sheremetief in July, and the fall of this town was
speedily followed by that of Pernau in August, and Eeval in

September, as well as by the surrender of the islands of Dago
and Oesel. Thus, as Peter wrote to Kurbd,tof, ' The last town
has surrendered, and Livonia and Esthonia are entirely cleared

of the enemy. In a word, the enemy does not now possess a
single town on the left side of the East Sea, not even an inch of
land. It is now incumbent upon us to pray the Lord God for

a good peace.' Kurbatof replied in triumphant terms: 'Kow
the riches of Europe can find an entrance into Eussia, iand

Archangel can no longer boast of being the only port.'

The capitulations of these towns were similar in tenor, and
150 years later became the cause of discussion and diiHculty.

By them the Tsar guaranteed to the nobility and gentry all

theu' privileges, rights, customs, immunities, possessions, and
courts of justice, both temporal and spiritual. The freedom of

the Lutheran Church was established ; it was agreed that the

churches and schools should remain Lutheran ; the privileges

of the towns themselves were in every respect to be main-
tained ; no changes were to be made in the courts, the adminis-

tration of justice, or in the municipal governments ; and the
German language was to be maintained as that of the adminis-

tration. At this time the Eussians had not awaked to the fact

that the Germans of the Baltic provinces constituted a very

small minority of the population. The rights and privileges of

the University, then at Pernau, and later changed to Dorpat,

were expressly guaranteed. But in order that Eussians might
be sent thither arrangements were made for teaching Slavonic,

and for the exercise of the orthodox religion. The garrison of

Eiga was allowed to return to Sweden, but the native inhabi-

tants were compelled to take the oath of allegiance. When the

capitulation was brought to the Tsar for confirmation, he, as in

the case of Viborg, felt obliged to detain the garrison to the

number of 4,500 men as prisoners, until the Eussians taken at

Narva in lYOO should be exchanged. The Governor-General,

Stromberg, was brought to St. Petersburg, and treated with

proper honour, but was soon exchanged for General Weyde.
Meanwhile the pest, which had raged among the Swedish

troops, had made its appearance in the Eussian army, and in
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spite of the physicians was beginning to approach St. Peters-

burg, and appeared near Narva and in the provinces of Pskof

and Novgorod. Severe quarantine measures were necessary, to

which Peter gave great personal attention.

During the summer the Tsar made a trip through Lake

L%oda to visit Kexholm, and subsequently went by sea to

Keval, where for the benefit of the inhabitants he estabhshed a

public garden, named, in honour of Catherine, Catherinenthal,

the ornamentation of which occupied him for many years, and

which is still a pleasant place of resort. He also took measures

for beautifying Kiga, and for alleviating the lot of the poor in-

habitants of the province. In Finland he was struck by the

wretched shoes of the peasantry, and in order to teach better

habits sent from the province of N6vgorod a number of peas-

ants skilled in weaving bark sandals worn by the Eussians.

On returning to St. Petersburg, he consecrated his victories

by founding above the town a monastery in honour of St. Alex-

ander Xefsky, that canonised prince who in 1241 had defended

his country against the Swedes on the Neva. The imperial

villa of Tsarskoe-Selo, near St. Petersburg, was begun about

the same time, on land which had been given to Catherine.

After conquering Livonia and Esthonia, Peter strengthened

himself also in Curland by the marriage of his niece Anna
Ivanovna with Frederick William, the young Duke of Curland.

This marriage had been agreed upon in a treaty with the King

of Prussia, the preliminary arrangements had been made during

the spring with Prince Menshikof, and the betrothal had taken

place between the campaigns. The marriage was finally cele-

brated on November 10, at the Cathedral of the Trinity at St.

Petersburg, in the presence of the Tsar's family and of several

distinguished Swedish prisoners who had been brought up from

Moscow for the purpose of being exchanged. By the conditions

of the marriage contract, Curland was to be evacuated by the

Russian troops, and not to be reoccnpied nor obliged to pay

military contributions. Compensation was to be given for the

damages done by the Kussians ; the country was to remain neu-

tral in future wars ; trade with Russia was to be free ; and the

Duke was to receive 200,000 rubles. Unfortunately, not two

months had elapsed when the Duke died at a short distance
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from St. Petersburg, while on his return to Curland with his

bride. In order to prevent disturbances in Mitau, and to secure

the possession of the duchy to his niece, the Tsar immediately

reoccupied Curland with Jlussian troops.

At intervals during the year the news from Turkey had

caused great anxiety. Diificulties accumulated, and at last cul-

miuated in war. To understand how this came about it is nec-

essary to review the relations of Russia and Turkey for teu

years past.'

' Solovief, xvi. ; Gfilikof ; Koskinen, Finnische OeschicIUe, Leipzig, 1874 ;

Martens, Causes GeUbres ; Blackstone's Commentaries.
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WAR WITH TUEKET.

As we remember, the declaration of war against Sweden in

1700 had been put off until the Tsar received news of the sig-

nature of peace at Constantinople. Prince Dimitri Golitsyn

was sent to Turkey in 1701 with the ratification of this treaty,

and with the instructions to try again where Ukraintsef had

failed, in getting permission from the Sultan for Russian ships

to navigate the Black Sea. He soon saw the inutility of his

efforts. The Minister of Foreign Affairs declared again that

the Sultan woxald sooner open his harem to the Russians than

open the Black Sea, but that Russian merchants could trans-

port themselves and their goods on Turkish ships as much as

they pleased. Sooner than give the freedom of this sea to for-

eigners the Sultan would declare war. The Patriarch of Jeru-

salem counselled Golitsyn to desist, as he might prevent the

ratification of the peace. He explained to him how much the

Turks feared the Russian fieet that was building, and what

projects they had for blocking the entrances to the Sea of Azof

and building strong fortifications at the Straits of Kertch, in-

sisting he would only further alarm the Turks, and that more,

the result might be disastrous by land. "When a strong Rus-

sian fleet was finally built the Tsar could open the Black Sea

whenever he pleased, without any permission of the Sultan.

Towards the end of 1701 Peter Andreievitch Tolstoi was

sent as permanent ambassador to the Sultan Mustapha HI.,

who at this time resided at Adrianople. Tolstoi was instructed

to send home frequent and exact information as to the foreign

relations of Turkey, the internal politics, the character of the

men in power or likely to obtain it, the military and naval
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strength and preparations as to the strength of the Turkish
fortresses on the Black Sea, and whether there was really any
intention of constructing fortifications at the Straits of Kei-tch,

and especially as to the condition and value of the trade with

Persia.

Tolstoi and his brother had been warm adherents of Sophia,

and had been mixed up in the intrigues of the first revolt of the

Streltsi. He had afterwards

been induced by his relative

Aprdxin to espouse the side of

Peter, had been made Gover-

nor of Ustiug, and had served

with distinction in the second

campaign against Azof. Al-

though fifty years old, and
the father of a family, he had
volunteered to go abroad to

study shipbuilding, had been

sent by the Tsar to Yenice,

and during 169T and 1698 had
cruised on the Adriatic and

visited Malta. Peter prized

the ability of Tolstoi, and had
long ago forgiven him his op-

position ; but it is said that on

one occasion of frankness he

took him by the head and said, ' Oh, head, head ! you would

not be on your shoulders now if you had not been so wise.'

The arrival of Tolstoi disturbed the Turks. There had
never been a permanent Muscovite ambassador before. Other

ambassadors were there nominally to supervise the commercial

affairs of their nations, but the Russians had no' commerce.

There must be, they thought, some hidden purpose at the bot-

tom of it all. As Tolstoi himself reported :
' My residence is

not pleasant to them, because their domestic enemies the Greeks

are our co-religionists. The Turks are of opinion that, by living

among them, I shall excite the Greeks to rise against the Mus-

sulmans, and therefore the Greeks have been forbidden to have

intercourse with me. The Christians have been so frightened

Count Tolstbi.
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that none of them dare even pass by the house ill which I live.

The Greeks have been forbidden, too, to wear clothes like the

Mussulmans, so as to distinguish them from the Turks. No-

A Janissary.

thing terrifies them so much as your fleet. The rumour has cir-

culated that seventy great ships have been built at Archangel,

and they think that when it is necessary these ships will come
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round from the ocean into the Mediterranean Sea, and will sail

np to Constantinople.'

Vizier succeeded Vizier. Some were more amiable to Tols-

toi than others, but his position was always uncomfortable. In
1703 Hussein Kopriilii resigned and gave place to the cruel,

corrupt, and illiterate Daltaban Mustapha. This Vizier was
bent on war with Russia, and when the Sultan refused the de-

mands of the Crim Tartars, and even changed the Khan, the
Vizier privately encouraged them and urged them to revolt,

promising to go to the Crimea with an army under the pretext

of putting them down, when he would join them and lead them
against the Russians. Tolstoi, by a liberal use of bribes, suc-

ceeded in bringing the intrigues of the Vizier to the knowledge
of the Sultan's mother. Daltaban was deposed and beheaded,

and Rami Mohamed, the former Minister of Foreign Affairs,

was appointed in his place. The new Vizier treated Tolstoi

with great courtesy, but two janissaries still stood at the door

of his embassy, and prevented the freedom of his movements.
Tolstoi complained of this, because janissaries were not placed

at the doors of the other embassies, and he reported at the same
time the design of the Turks to conquer Georgia from fear lest

the orthodox inhabitants might aid the Russians if they ever

appeared on the Black Sea. The Tartars were quieted down,

but other questions arose, and the Turks demanded that the lit-

tle fort of Kamenny-Zaton, built in the Zaporovian country,

should be razed, that no ships should be kept at Azof or Tagan-

rog, and that commissaries should be appointed to fix the

boundaries of the two empires. Tolstoi agreed to the last, but

decisively rejected the two other propositions.

In August, 1703, Mustapha II. was dethroned by a rebellion,

and replaced by his brother Ahmed III. Internal troubles

made the Turks peacefully inclined. Tolstoi was treated with

consideration and kindness, allowed to go where he pleased,

and to receive all who chose to go to him : but he found it im-

possible to carry out the orders of Golovin and stir up a war

between the Turks and the Anstrians. This was one of the

combinations of Golovin to relieve Russia of the fear of a

Turkish war, and at the same time lighten the pressure in

Poland. But already Ahmed III. had again changed his Grand
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Vizier, and had appointed Kalailikoz Ahmed Pasha. Tolstoi

complained :
' The new Yizier is very ill-disposed to me, and

my wretched situation, my tronbles and fears, are worse than

before. Again no one dares to come to me^ and I can go no-

where. It is with great trouble that I can send this letter.

This is the sixth Yizier in my time, and he is the worst of all.'

The sixth Vizier soon gave place to the seventh, and Tolstoi

wrote :
' I do not know what to do about presents. I shall not

hasten to see the Vizier, because I have no presents to send

him.' Presents were sent from Moscow, but without imme-

diate effect.

The change in the treatment of Tolstoi was owing to the

representations of Mustapha Aga, who had been sent to Eussia

to announce the accession of Ahmed III. This was a coarse,

ill-tempered man, who constantly found fault, made difficultieSj

and quarrelled over points of etiquette. No politeness could

conciliate him, and he returned home with many complaints.

He had been treated with courtesy, but he. had indeed been

detained for a long time. The letter which he brought from

the Sultan complained of infractions of the Treaty of Constan-

tinople, and demanded the destruction of Taganrog, of Ka-

menny-Zaton, and of the fleet at Voronezh. The object of the

Tsar was to gain time ; and wishing also to impress the am-

bassador with a sense of his power, he had him brought to his

camp—he was then besieging Narva—and then let him wait

for several weeks at Novgorod. He again called him to Narva,

after the surrender of the place, to receive his answer to the

Sultan. While allowing him to see his military forces, Peter

tried to conceal his naval ones. There had been question of the

ambassadors arriving by the way of Azof, and Peter wrote to

the Governor :
' Let him stay in Azof as short a time as possi-

sible. Get ready some fine barges and send him off at once by

water, but do not take him by the land route. Do not go near

Voronezh. Be as slow on the road as possible, the longer the

better. Do not allow him to see Azof or Troitsky on any ac-

count.'

Let us hear Tolstoi's own report :
' The Turkish ambassa-

dor who was in Moscow has not yet arrived at Constantinople,

but as yet has only sent a letter from the Crimea by messenger.
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What he has written I do not know, but they ill-treat me in a

frightful way, and they shut us all up in our house, and allow no
one either to go out or to come in. We have been some days

almost without food, because they let no one out to buy bread,

and it was with difficulty that I svicceeded by great presents

in getting permission for one man to go out to buy victuals.

. . . I am in great fear of my attendants. As I have been

living here for three years they have got acquainted with the

Turks, and have learned the Turkish language. Since we are

now in great discomfort I fear that they will become impa-

tient on account of the imprisonment, and will waver in their

faith, because the Mussulman faith is very attractive to

thoughtless people. If any Judas declare himself he will do

great harm, because my people have seen with which of the

Christians I havp been intimate, and who serves the Tsar, as

for instance Saba, the Patriarch of Jerusalem, and others ; and

if any one turns renegade and tells the Turks who has been

working for the Tsar, not only will our friends suffer, but there

will be harm to all Christians. I follow this with great atten-

tion, and do not know how God will turn it. I have had one

affair like this. A young secretary, Timothy, having got

acquainted with the Turks, thought of turning Mussulman.

God helped me to learn about this. I called him quietly and

began to talk to him, and he declared to me frankly that he

wished to become a Mussulman. Then I shut him up in his

bedroom till night, and at night he drank a glass of wine and

quickly died.' Thus God kept him from such wickedness.

Saba knows about this. And now, fearing all this, I would be

glad to dispatch my son to Moscow, so as to send with him
all those men whose apostasy I fear; but the Turks will not

allow me to send him to Moscow.'

The position of Tolstoi gradually became easier, and his

' This affair has heen explained differently by some of Tolstoi's colleagues,

who, knowing that he had the disposition of large sums for secret service,

conjectured that he had used them in part for his own profit. They say that

the secretary, Timothy, privately wrote to the Tsar of his knowledge or sus-

picions in this matter, and that Tolstoi; finding this oxit, had Timothy tried by

a court composed of members of the embassy, and sentenced to death by

poison.

Vol. II.—13
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reports were more reassuring. He found difficulties in sending

home his despatches without entrusting them to the Greeks, in

whom he had no confidence, foi-, as he said, ' from great to small

they all lie, and it is impossible to believe them.' But his old

friends, as he called them, were never to be found at a critical

moment. They only appeared again when everything was

smooth, and, as it was absolutely necessary for him to raise

money at times by selling some of his stock of sables, the

Greeks, who were willing to engage in this business, were nec-

essary to him. He begged for his pay in money, and he begged

also for permission to resign such an uncomfortable post. His

services were necessary, and Peter wrote him an autograph

letter asking him to remain for a while longer, which was so

flattering to his self-love that it drove all ideas of resignation

out of his head. Difficulties on the Kuban between Cossacks

and Tartars excited again an unfriendly feeling at the Porte in

the summer and autumn of 1706. At this time any hostile

manifestation of Turkey was exceedingly dangerous, and the

Pussians again began to think whether they could not occupy

Turkey by exciting her to war against Austria. Tolstoi pro-

posed to act in conjunction with the French ambassador, but he

speedily found that the French ambassador was exciting the

Turks not only against Austria but against Pussia as well, was

reporting frequent communications between the Tsar and the

Eastern Christians, and was warning the Porte that the Tsar was

' waiting only for the end of the war against Sweden to cover

the Black Sea with ships and to attack the Crimea with a land

force. The Emperor will attack from the other side, and thus

will force the Mussulmans to retreat to the intei-ior of Asia.'

The Turkish Government, however, was not so easily roused to

action, and the French schemes fell to the ground, a result

which Tolstoi was inclined to ascribe to his own efforts, and he

exulted at having spent so much less in bribery than his French

colleague. It was more difficult for him to ascertain the pur-

pose of the agents sent to Constantinople by King Stanislas,

but the Polish proposals had no more effect than the French

upon the Turks. Tolstoi received comforting assurances from

the Mufti and the Minister of Foreign Affairs in return for his

presents of sables, and in reporting this he adds that ' two of
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the most prudent Paslias have been strangled at the instiga-

tion of the Grand Yizier, who does not like capable people.

God grant that all the rest may perish in the same way.'

The rebellion on the Don, the petition of the Cossacks to

the Sultan, and the invasion of Kussia by the Swedes, all made
the Tsar very nervous about his relations with Turkey. Orders

were given to search out any Turkish and Tartar prisoners that

had not yet been freed, and give them their liberty. This

measure was not approved by Tolstoi, who was carefully fol-

lowing the course of events at Constantinople, as he thought

more was to be gained by a firm and threatening attitude than

by a yielding one. He had had some difficulty with the authori-

ties about the arrest of certain Russian merchants who had been

selling religious pictures, and thought that no ' prisoners should

be freed in Russia till these men were set at liberty, and then

only as 'a matter of politeness, and not as a right.'

Neither the proposition of Charles XII., nor the overtures

of Mazeppa, nor the representations of the Khan of the Crimea

in favour of the Zaporovians, had much effect in Constantinople.

In the spring of 1709 Tolstoi was able to assure his Government

that for that year there was no danger of war. Indeed, while

Peter was fearing for his fleet at Azof, the Turks were appre-

hending an expedition of those very ships from Azof. On July

21 Tolst6i, who as yet knew nothing of the battle of Poltava,

wrote that the presence of the Tsar at Azof had led to the be-

lief that he was about to begin a war, and that this rumour had

created the utmost excitement at Constantinople. ' Many Turks

went over into Asia, people cried out in the streets and bazaars

that the Muscovite fleet had already entered the Bosphorus,

and a rebellion nearly broke out against the Sultan and the

Vizier, because many Turks from the shores of the Black Sea

had fled to Constantinople with their wives and children. The

Turkish fleet was all in the Sea of Marmora, so that they im-

mediately began to arm merchant vessels and small galliots, and

sent to the Captain Pasha ordering him to return as soon as

possible with the fleet to Constantinople.'

The arrival of Charles XII. at Otchakof threw the Turks

into great perplexity. They would have been glad to be rid of

him immediately, but their religion and their traditions forbade
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them to deliver him up to Eussia. Up to this time the King

of Sweden had been in communication with the Pasha of Otch-

akof only, but he now sent Neugebauer and Poniatowski to

Constantinople with a letter to the Sultan asking his aid against

Russia. If not an alliance, at least he demanded an escort of

50,000 men to conduct him through Poland back to hisiown

dominions, and this looked like war. The violation. of the Mol-

davian frontier by Brigadier Kropotof, in pursuance of a secret

understanding with Eacovitsa, the Hospodar of Moldavia, and

the capture of Gyllenkrok and of nearly all the Swedes; that re-

mained with the King, made the Turks angry, but they had no

wish to fight. At the same time they feared an attack from

the Russians, either immediately or a little later, after Polish

affairs had been completely arranged. To prepare themselves

for this event, and to counteract any sudden movemient, they

began strengthening the fortresses and moved large bodies of

troops towards the frontier. Charles had meanwhile established

himself at Bender, where he lived in his old simple way. He
had recovered from his wound, and was as light-hearted as be-

fore Poltava. His great difficulty was lack of money. He had

obtained a certain amount from Mazeppa, and on the d^ath of

the Hetman his nephew lent him an additional sum. With the

allowance of 500 thalers a day from the Turks, with loans and

advances from the Grand Yizier, with remittances fi-om Hol-

stein, and with a large sum that he borrowed from Cook and

Hornby, the agents of the English Levant Company, he man-

aged to furnish Poniatowski with money enough to assist him

in his diplomatic struggle with Tolstoi. The Russian had the

advantage at &tst, for he succeeded in getting from the Tm-ks

the long-delayed ratification of the peace of 1700, and in mak-

ing an arrangement with the Grand Vizier, Ali Pasha, by which

the Cossacks should be delivered up, and the King should be

accompanied to the frontier by a guard of 500 janissaries, where

he would be received by a Russian escort, which would conduct

him safely through Poland to the Swedish frontier, keeping him

from all communication with the party of Stanislas. The death

of Mazeppa put an end to the demand for his surrender, and

Charles, indignant at finding that he was to be entrusted to

Russian guards, succeeded in getting a letter into the hands of
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the Sultan accusing Ali Pasha of treason. This had its effect.

The Grand Vizier was removed, and lluman Kopriilii was ap-

pointed in his place. The new Vizier furnished Charles with

400,000 thalers as a loan without interest, but even he was un-

willing to break with Russia, and suggested to the King a safer

route out of Turkey by the way of Austria. The action of Po-

niatowski now became effective. The rumours of war which he

had circulated throughout Constantinople began to work, and

the janissaries demanded to be led against Russia. The Grand
Vizier was removed, and replaced by one of more warlike cast,

Baltadji Mohammed. At the same time the Tsar became more
pressing in his demands for the exact fulfilment of the new ar-

rangement, complained that the Swedes were still allowed to

remain, and that Orlik had been named Hetman of the Cos-

sacks in place of Mazeppa. In October, 1710, he demanded a

categorical reply about the expulsion of Chai-les, but the couriers

who brought the Tsar's letter were arrested on the frontier. On
December 1 war was decided upon in a solemn session of the

Divan, and Tolstoi with his suite was immediately imprisoned

in the Seven Towers.' It was decided that the Grand Vizier,

with a large army, should begin the campaign in the following

spring.'

' ' The late Grand Vizier was strangled, on suspicion of receiving 500,000

crowns from the Czar, whose ambassador at Constantinople, going to have

audience of the Sultan, was by his order arrested and barbarously used, half

etript of his clothes, set upon a sorry horse, and led through the streets, ex-

posed to the derision of the mobs, and sent prisoner to the Seven Towers.'

—

IntixelVa Bmf Helatwn, Jan. 23, 1710-11.

- Solovief, XV., xvi. ; TJstrialof, iii., iv.; Golikof, iv., v.; Hammer.
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THE EASTERN CHRISTIANS.

In spite of the manner in which the illusions of Tolstoi had

been dispelled with regard to the action of the French, the

Tsar, nevertheless, tried at Versailles to bring about a change

of French policy ; and his agent, Yolkof, was still discussing

with Torcy, when the disastrous end of the campaign on the

Pruth put a stop to this discussion. Baron Urbich was obliged

to interrupt his delicate negotiations for the marriage of the

Tsarevitch Alexis, in order to go to Venice and endeavour to

persuade the Republic to join with Russia against the Turks.

His efforts were without success.

But the Tsar felt he could confidently count upon other

allies—allies within Turkey itself, its discontented subjects.

"We have more than once mentioned the communications which

were kept up between the Patriarchs and other Greeks, and

Moscow. In addition to these regular communications, there

were frequent volunteer diplomatists, in the shape of Greeks,

Armenians, and Serbians, who having wandered through West-

ern Europe, studying here and there, finally came to Russia,

hoping, through the help of the Tsar, to realise then- aspirations

for freedom from the Turkish yoke, and the union of all ortho-

dox peoples. Such was the Greek Seraphim, who had studied

at Oxford, had been protected by the Archbishop of Canter-

bury, and had published at London a Revised Edition of the

New Testament, and who had lived and intrigued in nearly

every country of Europe. He talked of secret revolutionary

societies among the Greeks, and to gain over the Christian

Powers proposed a general division of Turkey : Egypt to go to

Abyssinia, Syria and Jerusalem to Spain, Constantinople and

Anatolia to France, while Macedonia and the Islands should
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remain to Greece. Another such man was the Armenian Oriah,

who professed to be in relations with the Elector of Bavaria,

and who finally died at Astrakhan in 1707, on his way to Persia

in the guise of a Papal Legate. He recalled to the Tsar the

ancient Christian kings and princes of Armenia, gave him a

map of the country, explained its condition, and begged for a

delivering army of 26,000 men. He spoke, too, of the ancient

prophecy which foretold the delivery of Armenia by a Prince
of Muscovy who should be braver than Alexander of Macedon.
Vague promises and hopes were given to Oriah M-hen the
Swedish war should be ended.

After the battle of Poltava, Eakoczy, the Prince of Transyl-

vania, again desired Peter's intervention, and with this view he
represented at Yersailles the advantage which it would be to

France if, by French intervention, peace were made between
the Swedes and Russians, in order that the Eussians might
support the Hungarians against Austria. Eakoczy believed

that his representations were successful, and his agent, Yetes,

hastened from Yersailles, but arrived at Moscow only in Feb-
ruary, 1711, on the eve of the war. Here he was doomed to

be disappointed. He succeeded in convincing the Tsar of the

sincerity of Eak6czy, but he was confronted by copies of the

papers of Des AUeurs, the French ambassador at Constantinople,

which clearly proved that the success of the Swedes in stirring

up the Porte to war was in great part owing to French intrigues.

Colonel Bozhitch and other representatives of the oppressed

Serbians—oppressed, however, rather by Austria than by Tur-
key—had appeared in Moscow as early as 1704. Since that

time, effort after effort had been made at Yienna to bring about
some improvement in their condition. But at Yienna, Catholic

influence was too strong to make any concessions to the schis-

matic Serbians. The imprisoned despot Brankovitch made,
from his cell at Eger, a dying appeal to the Tsar, and in 1710
Bogdan Popovitch arrived in Moscow, bringing a letter from
the Serbian Colonels of Arad and Szegedin, recounting the

sufferings of the Serbian people under Mussulman rule, and
begged Eussian protection and assistance. Even from distant

Eagusa the Jesuit monk Ignatius Graditch sent an appeal in

the shape of a poem.
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!N"egotiations were begun with the inhabitants of the Black
Mountain. The advantages which might be gained from the

alliance of the Montenegrins—that little people which had
Struggled already so long and so bravely against the Turks

were pointed out to the Tsar by Savva Vladislavitch (or Ragu-
zhinsky, as he was generally called), a simple oil trader from
Kagusa, a Herzegovinian by birth, but who proved of great use

to Peter, and was subsequently rewarded with the title of Count
Kaguzhinsky. Savva was a friend of Danilo, the Vladika or

Prince Bishop of Montenegro, and prepared the letter of the

Tsar which called to arms against the Turks, not only the

Montenegrins, but all the Christian peoples under Turkish rule,

and sent it by Colonel Miloradovitch and Captain Lukitchevitch,

two Serbians in the Pussian service. The Yladika assembled a

Skupstchina, and the Pussian invitation was accepted with en-

thusiasm, not unmixed with wonder at this intervention of the

far-off Pussian Tsar. Appeals M'ere sent to the neighbouring

tribes, and a campaign was at once begun against the Turks.

The Montenegrins were fortunate at first, but they paid dearly

afterwards for their successes.

From the two Principalities of Wallachia and Moldavia

there were more serious hopes of assistance, and with these

more precise obligations M'ere contracted. These two Princi-

palities had, in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, placed

themselves under the protection of the Sublime Porte, which,

in consideration of a tribute, agreed to respect their internal in-

dependence. They were still governed by native princes, al-

though, in addition to other infringements of the capitulations,

the Porte had arrogated to itself the right of appointing and

dismissing them at pleasure. Sherban Cantacuzene, Prince of

"Wallachia, had been in relations with the Government of Sophia

in 168T-88, but when he was poisoned by Constantine Branco-

vano, who succeeded him, the Wallachians were in great fear of

the Austrians, and relations were broken off. Since that day

Brancovano had had many mishaps. He had been in constant

danger of removal by the Porte, the favours which he received

had cost him double tribute, each change of Sultan had made

him tremble for his throne if not for his life, and he again

turned towards the Pussians. Leading Wallachians were in
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correspondence with Golofkin in 1707, but everything was still

kept a profound secret.

After the battle of Poltava he felt he could act more openly.

To insure himself against misfortune, he placed a great part of

his fortune in the banks of London, Yenice, and Vienna, and

sent much of his movable property to Ivronstadt, in Transyl-

vania. He then concluded with the Tsar a treaty, in which he

bound himself, in case of war with Turkey, to declare himself

on the side of Russia, to raise the Serbians and Bulgarians, to

put into the field 30,000 men, and to furnish the Russian troops

with provisions. The Tsar on his side recognised the inde-

pendence of "Wallachia under Russian protection, and bound

himself to defend it against all enemies. After the conclusion

of the treaty he sent Brancovano the order of St. Andrew.
While Cantacuzene and Brancovano had, in spite of the in-

trigues at Constantinople, succeeded in retaining their thrones

for a long period, the relations of the neighbouring Principality

of Moldavia were constantly changing. The ruler at this time

was Michael Racovitsa. He had been Hospodar once before

for about a year," but while during his first reign he had been a

personal friend of Brancovano, he had now become his enemy.

Hating the Porte, and fearing the intrigues of the Hospodar of

Wallachia and his friends, who, as Neculce, the Moldavian

chronicler of that time, says, ' like hungry wolves waited his

fall,' he resolved to enter into relations with the Tsar. But

these relations had not yet been arranged before he again fell.

He had given notice to the Russians of the march of the Swed-

ish division under Gyllenkrok to Czernowitz, which had resulted

in theii- capture by Kropotof. Fearing to be attacked by the

Turks and Tartars in consequence of this violation of the fron-

tier by the Russians, he had resolved to leave Moldavia and join

Peter, when, Brancovano having given information of his plans

at Constantinople, the Grand Vizier ordered the Pasha of Ben-

der to seize him. While waiting for the Russian convoy which

had been promised him he was suddenly arrested in October

1709, and sent to Constantinople. He was replaced by Mcolas

Mavrocordato, a Greek, the son of that dragoman of the Porte

who had taken such a prominent part in the conclusion of the

treaty of Garlowitz in 1698.
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It was not without reason, then, that Peter in his defence

of the war against Turkey spoke of the sufferings of the

Greeks, Wallachians, Bulgarians, Serbians, and other Chris-

tians :
' Oermmt harha/rorum jugo qppressi, Grceci, YalaeM,

Bulga/ri, Servoeque : qucmta sU ilUs religio pactonmi, deterri-

muB awl misenoB esypervu/niv/r?
'

-

^

' Solovief, xvi. ; A. Kotchublnsky, Hdations of Russia vxCh the Soutlwrn

Slats and Jtov/ma/nians in the Time of Peter the Qreat (Russian), Moscow, 1873

;

id., We and They (Eussiau), Odessa, 1878, and works therein cited; Grcmieele

Bomdnici, Bucarest, 1873.



LXIII.

THE CAMPAIGN ON THE PEUTH.—1711.

As soon as Peter received news of the rupture of peace by
the Turks, he ordered Prince Michael Golitsyn to move towards
the Moldavian frontier with ten regiments of dragoons, and
watch for any movements of the Turks or Tartars. Shereme-
tief was sent there from Livonia with twenty-two regiments of

infantry. Prince Michael Eamodanofsky advanced to Putivl

with the regiments of the nobility, and Prince Dimitri Golit-

syn, the Governor of Kief, was entrusted with the supervision

of the Zaporovians. On March 8, 1711, the ' war against the

enemies of Christ ' was solemnly proclaimed to the people in

the great Cathedral of the Assumption at Moscow. The Tsar
was present, and both regiments of Guards stood before the

cathedral in marching order, bearing on their red banners a
cross with the old motto of Constantine, ' By this- sign thou
shalt conquer.'

On March 17, Peter himself left Moscow for the Polish

frontier, in no comfortable disposition of mind, although he
was accompanied by Catherine, who had just been publicly pro-

claimed his wife, and who henceforth received the title of Tsar-

itsa. He was suffering in health, and wrote from Lutsk to

Menshikof and Apraxin in a tone almost of despair. Speaking
of the Prince of Imeritia, who had died in his Swedish im-

prisonment, he said :
' I am deeply touched with the death of

such a remarkable Prince, but it is better to leave what cannot

be remedied than to recall it, especially when we have before

us this uncertain road, which is known to God alone.' To
Apraxin, who was charged with the defence of the Lower Don,
and who inquired where he should fix his headquarters, he

wrote :
' Do as is most convenient to you, for all the country is
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entrusted to yon. It is impossible for me to decide, as I am so

far off, and, if you will, in despair, being scarcely alive from ill-

ness, and affairs change from day to day.' In Yaworow, near

:26'8^ .co-uf-v^cne'^ a'^i^kic-ca ^jS^nayiyz^

'^': sS.-L/a"^/7-ff-

ao
Catherine I.

Lemberg, where the Tsar remained during the month of May,

his tone improved. He had received news that the Tartars who

had attacked the Ukraine had been repulsed with heavy loss,

and that the country beyond the Dniester, which had at first

given in its allegiance to Orlik, the Cossack Hetman named by

Charles XIL, had been reduced to submission, and he had
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learned that the poor Christians were eagerly turning to him,

and that the Turks were in trouble. He was pleased, too, that

Catherine was received as Empress and addressed as Majesty

by the Polish magnates assembled at Yaworow, many of whom
gave balls in her honour. 'We here,' she wrote to Menshikof
on May 20, ' are often at banquets and soirees. Three days

ago we visited the Hetman Sieniawski, and yesterday were at

Prince Eadziwill's, where we danced a good bit. I beg yonr

Highness not to be troubled by believing any stupid gossip

coming from here, for the Yice-Admiral keeps you in his love

and kindest remembrance as before.'

While in Yaworow, Peter signed the treaty so, long in nego-

tiation for the marriage of his son Alexis to the Princess Char-

lotte of Wolfenbiittel. Schleinitz, the ambassador sent about

this business by the Duke of Wolfenbiittel, tells some interest-

ing details. ' The next day about four. o'clock the Tsar sent for

me again. I knew that I should find him in the room of the

Tearitsa, and that I should give him great pleasure if I con-

gratulated the Tsaritsa on the publication of her marriage.

After the declaration made on this subject by the King of Po-

land and the hereditary Prince, I did not consider it out of

place, and besides I knew that the Polish minister gave the

Tsaritsa the title of Majesty. When I went into the room I

turned, notwithstanding the presence of the Tsar, to the Tsar-

itsa, and congratulated her in your name on the announcement

of her marriage, and entrusted the Princess to her protection

and friendship.' Catherine begged Schleinitz to thank the

Duke, said how much she wished to see and embrace the Prin-

cess, and began to ask him when the Tsarevitch had arrived at

Wolfenbiittel, how he amused himself, and whether he was as

much in love with the Princess as people said. While Schlei-

nitz was talking with Catherine, Petei* was looking at some

mathematical instruments which he had in his hands, and at

various plans of sieges which lay on the table. When he heard

Catherine speak of the Tsarevitch he came up to them, but did

not enter into the conversation. 'I had been warned,' writes

Schleinitz, ' that as the Tsar knows me very slightly, it was in-

cumbent on me to address him first. I therefore told him that

her Majesty the Tsaritsa had asked me whether the Tsarevitch
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was very much in love witli the Princess. Then I declared to

him that I was sure that the Tsar^vitch awaited with impa-

tience the consent of his father in order to be fully happy. The
Tsar replied through an interpreter literally as follows :

" I do

not wish to put ofE the happiness of my son, but at the same

time I do not wish entirely to deprive myself of my own happi-

ness. He is my only son, and I desire to have the pleasure at

the end of the campaign of being personally present at his mar-

riage. His marriage will be in Brunswick." He explained

that he was not entirely his own master, for he had to do with

an enemy who was strong and rapid in his movements, but he

would ti-y and arrange it to take the waters at Carlsbad in the

autumn, and then go to "Wolfenbiittel.' Three days afterwards

the Tsar begged Schleinitz to come and see him at the house

of Count Golofkin, and greeted him in German with the words,

' I have some excellent news to give you.' He then told him

that a courier had just arrived from Wolfenbiittel bringing the

marriage contract signed by the Duke without change, brought

it out, and pointed with pride to the signature. Schleinitz con-

gratulated him and kissed his hand, when Peter kissed him

three times on the forehead and cheeks, ordered a bottle of

Hungarian wine to be brought, and, filling up two small glasses,

clinked them, and drank to the happy result of the marriage.

Peter on this occasion was in very good spirits, kept Schleinitz

two hours discussing many subjects, tallying about his son, the

approaching campaign, and the condition of his army. ' I can-

not sufficiently express to your Highness,' wrote Schleinitz iu

his report to the Duke, ' with what clearness of judgment and

what modesty the Tsar spoke about everything. The subject is

too extensive, and I will give you verbally th« substance of our

conversation.'

In the little town of Yaroslav Peter had an interview with

Eang Augustus, and concluded a treaty with him for action

against the Swedish troops in Pomerania. He seemed particu-

larly anxious to contradict the rumours spread in Poland, that

he was intending to found an oriental empire to the detriment

of the Eepublic. As the success of the Turks might give hopes

to the party of Stanislas, he obtained from Augustus the prom-

ise that a force of Poles should be ready to co-operate with him.
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The Tsar, however, did not expect as much assistance from
the Poles as from the Moldavians. We have ah-eady spoken of

the treaty with Brancovano, the Hospodar of Wallachia, and
of the negotiations with Eacovitsa, the Hospodar of Moldavia,
which led to his deposition and replacement by Mavrocordato.
The relations of Brancovano to Peter were known at Constan-
tinople, and it was desired to remove him ; but, as he was rich

and had troops at his disposition, it was necessary to proceed
cautiously. Mavrocordato was too weak a man for the purpose,

and, on the proposition of the Tartar Khan, Demetrius Cante-
mir, who had been educated from childhood in Constantinople,

who was known to be a personal enemy of Brancovano, and
who was thought to be devoted to the Turks, was in December,
lYlO, made Hospodar of Moldavia, with the promise that if he
succeeded in seizing Brancovano he would be rewarded with
the sovereignty of Wallachia as well. Cantemir had no sooner

reached Jassy than he formed other plans, and began to enter

into relations with the Tsar, while at the same time continuing

to profess his devotion to the Porte. He was so trusted at Con-
stantinople that his agent was even allowed to have direct and
secret communications with Tolstoi, then confined in the Seven
Towers, under the pretext of wishing to get possession of the

Russian secrets. In this manner he transmitted the communi-
cations of Tolstoi to the Tsar. Through Stephen Luka, whom
he sent into Galieia, he concluded on April 24 a secret treaty

with the Russians, by which he agreed to furnish 10,000 troops

during the campaign. By the terms of this treaty Moldavia
was to be an independent state under Russian protection, l^o

tribute was to be paid, the sovereignty was to remain with Can-
temir and his heirs, and, in order to guard against overweening
Russian influence, the Russians were forbidden to hold office in

the Principality, to own property there, or to marry Moldavian
women. The Tsar promised to conclude no peace with Turkey
by which Moldavia should be returned under Turkish rule, and

agreed that in case of an unfortunate issue of the campaign

Cantemir should receive refuge and property in Russia.

Meanwhile the Tsar was receiving letters from the Chris-

tians of Turkey begging him to advance as fast as possible, and

be beforehand with the Turks. He wrote again and again to



192 PETEK THE GREAT.

Sherem^tief urging him to hasten his march, because, if lie

could prevent the Turks from crossing the Danube, much would

be gained, and the Bulgarians and Serbians would rise. He
gave him strict orders that during his march through Moldavia

he should pay for everything he took from the Christians, and

should punish pillaging with death. Sheremetief had a supply

of printed proclamations addressed to all the Christians, which

he was to distribute as soon as he entered Moldavia. Even

.

before this Peter had, through the Patriarch, called upon ' all

the faithful, all metropolitans, Yoievodes, Serdars, Haidnks,

Captains, Palikaris, all Christians, Roumelians, Serbs, Croats,

Arnauts, Bosniaks, Montenegrins, and all who love G-od and

are friends of the Christians: You know how the Turks have

trampled into the mire our faith, have seized by treachery all

the Holy Places, have ravaged and destroyed many churches

and monasteries, have practised much deceit, and what wretch-

edness they have caused, and how many widows and orphans

they have seized upon and dispersed as wolves do the sheep.

Now I come to your aid. If your heart wishes, do not run

away from my great empire, for it is just. Let not the Turks

deceive you, and do not run away from my word. Shake off

fear, and fight for the faith, for the church, for which we shall

shed our last drop of blood.'

Cantemir begged Sheremetief, who was then at Mohilew on

the Dniester, to send him 4,000 men. When he knew that

these, under the command of Kjopotof, were already on the

Pruth, he called the more faithful Boyars, Mcolas Kostin, John

Sturdza, George Posetti, and Elii Catardgi, and informed them

that he had invited the Kussians into Moldavia. ' The Boydrs,'

says Neculce, ' were beside themselves with joy at this news,

and answered :
" You have done well in inviting the Russians

to free us from the Turkish yoke. If we had found out that

you intended to go to meet the Turks, we had firmly resolved to

abandon you and surrender to the Tsar Peter." As soon as

Krop6tof and his troops appeared in Jassy, the Moldavians,

faithful to their habits, began to rob and kill the Tm-ks. The

massacre began in Jassy, and extended throughout the princi-

pality. Silver, jewels, Asiatic clothes, horses, oxen, sheep,

honey, wax, all that Turkish merchants dealt in, was unjustly
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taken from them without Cantemir's knowledge. Provisions

and groceries were scattered through the streets in such profu-

sion that old women and children stuffed themselves with

raisins, figs, and nuts.'

Sheremetief crossed the Dniester, near Soroki, on the 10th

of June, and on the 16th, in spite of the difficulty of the march,

was on the Pruth, near Jassy. The Grand Yizier, with the

Turkish troops, had arrived on the Danube at Isaktcha, but,

hearing of the invasion of Moldavia by the Russians, he hesi-

tated to cross. He had not yet heard of the treachery of Can-

temir, and in order to guarantee his rear sent him woi'd.

immediately to arrest Brancovano. When he learned the true

state of things his rage had no bounds.

Peter's plan had been for Sheremetief to march southwards

to the Danube, and Sheremetief, in yielding to the request of

Cantemir and going to Jassy, had changed this. He excused

himself on the ground that, owing to the heat and the want of

forage, the march to the Danube on the east side of the Pruth

would have been difficult, and he could not have reached there

before the Turks had crossed, whereas Moldavia would have

been entirely given up to the Turks. In order to keep the

troops together it was necessary for the Tsar to accept this

change, and follow in the footsteps of Sheremetief. After a

fatiguing and exhausting march, he reached the Pruth on July

5, and, leaving his troops there, went to Jassy, where he passed

a few days in conference with Cantemir and in visiting the

churches and monasteries of the town and neighbourhood. The
Hospodar produced a pleasant impression on Peter, and ' seemed

a man very sensible and useful in council.' At Jassy Peter was

met by two leading Wallaehians, one George Castriota, the ac-

credited envoy of the Hospodar, with propositions of peace

from the Grand Yizier ; the other, General Thomas Cantacu-

zene, with accusations of treachery against Brancovano, his own

cousin. The propositions of peace, which had been made

through the Patriarch Chrysanthes, and which even hinted at

the possibility of a cession of Turkish territory, were unfortu-

nately rejected by the Tsar, who did not feel sure of their

authenticity, and who feared to encourage the enemy by a will-

ingness to treat. The accusations of Cantacuzene were, perhaps.

Vol II.—13



194 PETEE THE GREAT.

too readily acted on, thongh there were grounds enough for

believing in them. Brancovano, when his lifelong enemy Can-

temir was appointed Hospodar of Moldavia, urged Peter to

distrust a man who was devoted body and soul to the Turks.

Peter replied, assuring him of Cantemir's devotion to the com-

mon cause, and with the aid of the old Patriarch Dositheus,

Encampment on Ihe Pruth.

then in Jassy, effected a temporary and superficial reconciliation

between them. "When Brancovano found the Grand Vizier

approaching rapidly with a large Turkish army, he began to

waver. He distrusted the Moldavians, he feared the Turks,

and was suspicious of the fidelity of his own Boyars, some of

whom, like Michael Cantacuzene, openly said that it would be

a great risk to declare for Russia before the Tsar's army had

passed the Danube. 'Who knows whether Wallachia will be
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happier under Eussian supremacy than under Turkish ? Our
true safety we can hope for only from the German Emperoj-,

who, on account of the Eakoczy business, will soon declare

against the Porte.' Brancovano therefore sent some Boyars to

Peter, reminding him of certain articles of their treaty, and

begging him to send troops as soon as possible into Wallachia.

Encouraged by the reported alarm of the Grand Vizier, and

influenced by Cantemir and Cantacuzene, Peter felt strong

enough to refuse Brancovano's request for troops, and to order

him to carry out the stipulations of the treaty, especially those

relating to furnishing provisions to the Russian army, or he

would have his troops seize them without payment. Branco-

vano was so offended at the tone of Peter's letter, and at the

credit which he seemed to give to his enemies, that he sent

word that he no longer considered himself bound by the treaty,

should cease all relations with him, and make terms with the

Turks. As soon as the Grand Vizier entered Moldavia he

went to meet him, and delivered to the Turks all the provisions

which he had prepared for the Russians. The treachery of

Brancovano had a great influence upon the fortunes of the cam-

paign, for the Moldavians had prepared no stores of provisions

and forage, and unfortunately that summer the whole face of

the country was eaten up by grasshoppei-s, the plague of those

regions.

The Tsar took Cantemir and Cantacuzene with him to the

Pruth, where he celebrated the anniversary of Polt4va in the

midst of his troops. Provisions being scarce, and a report hav-

ing come that the Turks had already crossed the Danube, it was

decided at a council of war to cross the Pruth, to march down
the western bank of the river to Faltchi, and then through the

wooded region to the Seret, where it was said that quantities of

provisions collected for the Turks lay without guard. At the

same time, on the suggestion of Cantacuzene, General Ronne,

with 12,000 cavalry, was sent to capture Braila and destroy the

bridge over the Danube. Ronne and Cantacuzene set out on

July 11, while the main army crossed the Pruth, and began its

march in three divisions on the 18th, notwithstanding the re-

port that the Tartar Khan had crossed the river some distance

above. That evening General Janus, who had been instructed
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to destroy a bridge a few miles down the river, sent word to

the Tsar that it was too late, that the Grand Vizier was already

on the western side of the Pruth, and that his army was cross-

ing. It was necessary to concentrate, but the march was so

difficult that it was easier for Janus io retreat than for the rest

to advance. This he accomplished without loss during the

night. The Turks had at first been frightened, and had stopped

their crossing, with the thought of retreating, but the next

morning they began the pursuit. The Tsar had taken up a

position along a marsh on the little river Prutets, and during

the whole of this Sunday he had to defend himself against re-

peated attacks of the Turks. The Moldavians, under Cantemir,

in spite of their inexperience and their bad arms, did good ser-

vice. Peter was alarmed by the non-appearance of Eepnin's

troops, which could get no further than Stanilesti. Another

council of war was held that evening, and, in view of the lack

of provisions, the absence of cavalry (for all had been sent to

Braila), and the overwhelming forces of the enemy (which were

estimated at 120,000 Turks and 70,000 Tartars, while the Eus-

sians had '38,246 men only), it was decided that retreat was im-

perative. JS^eculce, the commander of the Moldavian troops,

relates that the Tsar asked him to convoy Catherine and him-

self to the Hungarian frontier, but that he refused, on the

ground that the whole of Upper Moldavia was already occupied

by the Tartars, and in case of an unfortunate result he did not

wish to bring down upon his head the curse of all Russia.

There is nothing improbable in this. It shows to what straits

the Tsar was reduced, how severe a blow he felt it would be to

Russia if he were taken prisoner with his army. The loss of

the army could be repaired if his energies should still have free

play. Besides this, the danger, though great, was not inevita-

ble. The cattle for food might be sent down from Jassy.

Ronne and his cavalry might return, and he might hurry up

the Polish auxiliaries through Czernowitz.' Indeed Neculce

says that he intended to order Sheremetief and Cantemir to

hold out in Moldavia till he could bring fresh troops. The cir-

' The pretended letter of Peter to the Senate urging them to pay no atten-

tion to his orders in case he were taken prisoner, but to choose the worthiest

of their number as his successor, has been proved to be a forgery.
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cumstanees were similar to those which caused Peter's hurried

departure from his troops before the first battle of Narva.

The retreat was begun during the night, but it was late the

next afternoon, Monday, July 20, before all the Eussian forces,

after losing part of their baggage and treasure, were united at

Stanilesti, where they hastily intrenched themselves. The
Turks had followed them closely, greatly harassing their rear-

guard, and when the Grand Yizier came up they made a ter-

Modern Tartars.

rific onset on the still unfinished camp. The janissaries were

beaten back with considerable loss, and in their turn began to

throw up an intrenched line, in which they placed over 300

guns around the Russian camp. The Tartars, who had long

been watching the Russians, together with the Poles and Cos-

sacks, completely guarded the other side of the river. The

position of the Russians then became most perilous. They

were completely surrounded, worn out by the battle and by the
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heat, with a very small quantity of provisions and with no

chance of aid. There was no supply of water, and the soldiers

were driven back from the river by the firing of the Tartars.

The earthworks were unfinished—one whole side was protected

only with dead bodies and chevaux-de-frise. The women were

shielded by baggage-waggons and slight earthworks, in the cen-

tre, but their clamour and weeping caused confusion.

On Tuesday morning, July 21, there was a sharp cannon-

ade, with so little effect that the Moldavian Costin said:

' Great as a man is, he seems a small point to aim at in a bat-

tle.' The janissaries, who had suffered much the night before,

could not be brought to attack the Russian camp, but the Eus-

sians made a sortie with great effect. After an hour's sharp

fighting, in which General "Weidemann was killed and Prince

Volkonsky wounded, they were driven back. Finding from a

prisoner of the disinclination of the Turkish troops for further

fighting, and thinldng that possibly reasonable terms might be

obtained, Peter, urged by Catherine and opposed by Cantemir,

sent a trumpeter to the Turkish camp with a letter from Sher-

emetief to the Grand Vizier suggesting that as the war had

been brought about not by the desire either of the Turks or of

the Russians, but wholly by the intrigues of other parties, it

would be well to stop further bloodshed and make peace, with

an alhision to the proposition made through Brancovano and

the negotiations of the English and Dutch ambassadors. Ko
answer came, and Sheremetief then sent a second letter to the

same effect, but adding that he was quite prepared to recom-

mence the attack. It had been agreed that in case of refusal a

, last attempt should be made to break through the Turkish

lines. The answer was delayed, and the Russian troops began

to advance. Immediately Tcherkess Mehemed Pasha, the

anirohor of the Grand Yizier, came to the Russian camp say-

ing that the Grand Yizier was not averse to a good peace, and

requesting the Tsar to send somebody with power for negotia-

tion. The Grand Vizier had heard of what the Tsar was still

ignorant—the capture of Braila.

The Vice-chancellor Shafirof, accompanied by Savva Eagu-

zhinsky, was sent to the Turkish camp with full powers, in the

evident belief that the treaty would include the settlement of
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all disputes with Sweden as well as with Turkey. Peter was
willing to give back all places captured from the Turks, to give

up to the Swedes Livonia, and even little by little cede every-

thing he had taken in the war except Tngria and St. Peters-

burg; he would instead give up Pskof, and if that were not

sufficient otlier provinces, which it would be better not to

name, but to leave to the discretion of the Sultan. He was
ready to recognise Stanislas as King of Poland. In general

Shafirof was ordered to make concessions to the Sultan rather

than to the Swedes. He was allowed also, if necessary, to

promise the Vizier and other iniluential persons large sums of

money—150,000 rubles to the Yizier, 60,000 to his Kehaya,

10,000 to the Tchaush-BasM, 10,000 to the Aga of the janis-

saries, &c. Such offers, which included all the conquests and

the successes of Peter's reign, showed the desperation to which

he was reduced. Shafirof sent back word that although the

Turks were ready enough for peace, they were wasting time.

To this Peter replied the next morning telling him to use his

discretion, to agree to everything they asked except slavery, but

by all means to give him an answer that day, so that they might

begin their desperate march, or attack the Turkish trenches.

The same day, July 22, Shafirof retui-ned to the camp with the

following conditions : 1. To surrender Azof in the same state

in which it was taken, and to destroy Taganrog and the other

newly established fortresses on the Turkish border. 2. Not to

interfere in Polish affairs or trouble the Cossacks. 3. To allow

the merchants of both sides to trade freely, but not to keep an

envoy at Constantinople. 4. To allow the King of Sweden a

free passage back to his dominipns, and conclude a peace with

him if an agreement can be reached. 5. No loss to be occa-

sioned to the subjects of either country. 6. That aU former

hostile acts should be forgotten, and the troops of the Tsar have

free passage to their country. It was demanded that Shafirof

and the son of Sheremetief should remain with the Turks as

hostages. Shafirof was at once sent back to the Turkish camp

with orders to conclude peace immediately on these conditions.

The treaty was signed and ratified on July 23, and Sheremetief

informed Peter that the Eussian army could retreat at once

without opposition.
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The Eussian loss in these two terrible days had been 752;

killed, 1,388 wounded, and 732 missing—a total of 2,872. The
Tui'kish loss was stated in the official reports of the Austrian

Embassy at Constantinople as 2,000 killed.

The treaty was obtained without very great difficulty, though

the Yizier at first insisted aa the sui-render of the Russian arms,

the delivery of Cantemir, the renewal of the tribute to the Tar-

tar Khan, and a large sum for the payment of the expenses

of the war. This last condition was given up on the promise of

a large sum of ready money. The money, however, was never

paid, for when it arrived at the Turkish camp the Grand Yizier

refused to receive it, at first out of fear of the Tartar Khan, and

subsequently on account of the calumnies spread by the agents

of Charles XII. that he had been bribed by the Russians.'

' The legend that Catherine gave her jewels and went through the ranks of

the army collecting money to bribe the Grand Vizier seems absolutely without

foundation.—-SoloTief, xvi. ; KotchubinBky ; Oronicde Bomdniei, Bucarest,

1872 ; M. Kogaluioeano, Fragments tires des Ghroniques Moldaees et Valaqiiea,

Jassy, 1845 ; Theiner, Monunenta '; Miklosich, Acta et diplomata Oraca medii

mvi, iii. ; Papers in the Austrian AcchiTes relating to Roumanian history, pub-

lished by the Roumanian Academy at Bucarest, containing many valuable re-

ports by eye-witnesses to the Embassies at Constantinople, and plans.
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DIPnCULT NEGOTIATIONS.

Apraxin, whose disagreeable duty it was to carry out the

first conditions of the peace, to raze and restore Azof and

Taganrog, was the first to be informed of the treaty. ' Al-

though I never wished,' said Peter, ' to write to you about such

a matter, as I am now compelled to do, yet God has thus willed,

for the sins of Christians have not allowed otherwise. On the

19th of this month we met the Turks, and from that time up

to the noon of the 21st we were under very great fire, not only

by day but by night, and indeed never since I have been in the

service have we been in such desperation, for we neither had
cavalry nor provisions. However, the Lord God so encouraged

our men that although the enemy exceeded us in numbers by a

hundred thousand yet they were always repulsed, so that they

were compelled to throw up intrenchments and to attack our

weak defences with approaches like a fortress, and afterwards

when they had had enough of our treatment an armistice was

made and a peace concluded, by which we agreed to give up all

the towns taken from the Turks and destroy those which have

been newly built. Thus finished this feast of death. The mat-

ter stands thus. Although it is not without grief that we are

deprived of those places where so much-labour and money have

been expended, yet I hope that by this very deprivation we shaU

greatly strengthen ourselves on the other side, which is incom-

parably of greater gain to us.' A little later the Tsar informed

the Senate and his intimate friends of the disaster in the same

terms.

On July 2S the Russian army began its hasty march towards

the Dniester from the imfortimate camp on the Pruth. Shafirof

and Sheremetief, who were left behind as hostages in the Turk-
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isli camp, were to have many months of an uncomfortable life

before they could assure the Turks of the entire fulfilment of

the conditions of the treaty.

Poniatowski, the agent of Charles XII., had accompanied

the Grand Vizier during the campaign, and had done his best

to hinder the conclusion of peace. Just as the Russians were

marching out of their camp, King Charles himself rode sud-

denly into the Turkish lines, having spurred on from Bender as

soon as he heard of the critical position of the Russians. He
was received with all politeness, and conducted to the tent of

the Grand Vizier. But instead of taking the seat of honour

prepared for him, he threw himself M'ith his spurs and dirty

boots on the sofa reserved for the Grand Vizier. Mohammed
Baltadji concealed his annoyance, and began the usual compli-

ments. The King made no reply, except that he was warm,

and immediately began to attack the Grand Vizier in harsh

language for acting against all military rules, as well as the

command of the Sultan, in not taking the Tsar prisoner and

thus compelling the whole of Russia to pay tribiTte, for disre-

garding the advice of a king in such close friendship and alli-

ance with the Porte, and for hastening the conclusion of a treaty

before consulting him. When the Grand Vizier refused to

think of such a thing as withdrawing from a peace once signed,

and in his anger informed the King that he was only allowed

as a guest in Turkey, with a hope that he would go as soon as

possible, and that his return had been stipulated in the treaty,

Charles replied that he would make such representations to the

Sultan that the Grand Vizier would find it very difficult to ex-

cuse his course, and thereupon, refusing the proffered cup of

coffee, left the tent without further ceremony, and went to the

quai-ters of the Tartar Khan. He passed the night there, and

returned the next day to Bender.

The Swedish King was one of the greatest obstacles to the

fulfilment of the conditions of peace. Shafirof pressed the

Grand Vizier to send him at once out of the country, and

the Grand Vizier replied :
' I wish the devil would take him,

because I now see that he is king only in name, that he has

no sense in him, and is like a beast. I will try to get rid of him

somehow or other without dispute.' Much as he tried, his
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efforts were vain. Charles refused to go, and had influence

enough at Constantinople to cause the fall of the Yizier. Mean-

while the Tsar refused to surrender Azof and Taganrog until the

Swedish King was sent out of Turkey, and wrote to Apraxin

not to destroy the fortifications until new orders came. Shafi-

rof had been induced to give a promise that Azof would be sur-

rendered in two months' time ; which drew on him the repri-

mand of the Tsar, who said that with the small number of men
at his disposition it was impossible to destroy the fortifications

in that time. Matters looked so threatening that Peter at last

instructed Apraxin to destroy the fortifications but not to injure

the foundations, and to be careful to keep exact plans and pro-

files, so that, if luck should turn, they could be easily restored.

But Swedish and French intrigues at Constantinople, as has

been said, had their effect ; and in November the Grand Vizier,

Baltadji Mohammed Pasha, was removed, and Yusuf Pasha,

who had been Aga of the janissaries at the Pruth, was ap-

pointed his successor. As Azof and Taganrog were not given

vip, war was declared against Russia, and Shafirof and his com-

panions were sent to join Tolstoi in the Seven Towers. Tolstoi

wrote to Moscow a long story of his sufferings, and of the in-

utility of keeping him longer at Constantinople when the whole

affair was in the hands of Shafirof. His resignation was ac-

cepted, and the Tsar gave him permission to return, but the

Turks informed him that he must wait for Shafirof. Azof and

Taganrog were finally surrendered in the winter of 1712, and

in April a new treaty was concluded for a peace of twenty-five

years. By this the Tsar was bound immediately to withdraw

all his troops from Poland, although he was to have the right

of returning there in case the country were invaded by the

Swedes. The Russians were to offer no opposition to the re-

turn of the King of Sweden through either Russian or Polish

dominions. Nothing but Kief and the surrounding districts

were to remain to Russia on the western bank of the Dnieper.

No new fortresses were to be built between Azof and Tcher-

kask. It cost 22,000 rubles in presents to the Grand Vizier and

others to obtain this treaty, which was only granted after long

efforts on the part of the English and Dutch ambassadors, who
acted as mediators, for the French were doing their best to pre-
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vent any arrangement between Turkey and Russia. They first

put into the minds of the Turks the idea of an intimate con-

nection between Polish and Turkish interests. It was the

French who so insisted on the withdrawal of the Russian troops

from Poland, and on the stipulation that there should be no

further Russian intervention in that country. The stipulations

with regard to Poland caused much diflBculty. The French and

Swedish agents were constantly reporting that the Russians, in

spite of their statements, had not carried out their agreement,

and that large bodies of Russian troops still remained in Poland.

They pointed specially to the presence of the Russian troops in

Pomerania. Shafirof explained that Pomerania was not Poland,-

but that, of course, it was impossible for the Russian troops,

acting against Swedish towns in Pomerania, to avoid returning

through Poland. The Turks replied that what happened in

Pomerania was no concern of theirs, whether Russians or

Swedes were victorious, but that in no case should the Russian

army return through Poland.

In the autumn of 1712 a Turkish official returned from

Poland, and insisted that the Russian troops were. still there in

large numbers. Upon this the Turks demanded that the troops

of the Tsar should be withdrawn from Pomerania within two

or three months, even if they passed through Poland, insisting

, that so long as they remained there there was danger of dis-

turbances, and the Turks could not feel at ease. This Shaffrof

refused, and he, together with Tolstoi and Sheremetief, was

again shut up in the Seven Towers. They had with them 205

men, and were in such close quarters that life was a burden to

them. On December 10 the Sultan went to Adrianople, after

declaring war for the third time, and issuing orders for the

mustering of the troops. ' But the war,' Shafirof wrote to

Golofkin, 'is disliked by the whole Turkish people, and is

begun by the sole will of the Sultan, who from the very begin-

ning was not content with the peace on the Pnith, and raged

greatly against the Vizier and the rest because they did not

profit as they ought by fortunate circumstances. The Sul-

tan wished to begin war last year, but the Vizier, with the

Mufti, the Aga of the janissaries, and the chief officers, almost

by force compelled him to peace. He therefore has sought in
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eveiy way for a pretext for breaking this peace, and hastened

to profit by the news brought by the Salohor from Poland.

Although it has been proclaimed to the people that the war is

justly begun, yet many doubt it, and, if it should prove unfor-

tunate, we expect a popular rising against the Sultan.'

The Tsar had again two wars on his hands—in the north

and in the south. As most of his troops were in Pomerania,

it was decided this time to carry on a strictly defensive war in

the south, the centre of resistance being Kief and the Ukraine.

The Sultan had gone to Adrianople with great hopes, for

Poniatowski and the French ambassador had assured him that

the Russians and their allies had been beaten in Pomerania,

that it would be impossible for the Tsar to carry on war in so

many places at once, and that he would unquestionably at once

demand peace, and accept any terms. They showed what an

advantage it would be for Turkey to restore Stanislas to the

Polish throne, and thus have Poland for a constant ally. They
even drew up the terms of peace, insisting on the destruction of

the Russian settlements on the Lower Don, on the cession of

the Ukraine to Turkey, on the renunciation of the Polish

throne by Augustus, and on the re-establishment of peace be-

tween Sweden and Russia by the surrender of all the conquests

made by the Tsar, including St. Petersburg. The Russian en-

voys, in their prison in the Seven Towers, began in the early

part of the year 1713 to hear rumours that the Sultan was not

on such good terms with the Swedish King—rumours which

they could not credit, until they came more frequently and

were more consistent. The Sultan and his advisers had begun

to reflect. No one came from Russia to subscribe to the terms

of peace which they were willing to offer, no one came even to

ask for better terms. They began to think that perhaps they

had been deceived by the Swedish and French ambassadors,

that perhaps the Tsar was stronger than they supposed. They

began to reflect on the disadvantages of an invasion of Poland

and Russia, of the chances of success, and of the danger of a

popular rising and of a change of Sultan, in case the war, begun

against the wishes of the people, were unsuccessful. The Sul-

tan, therefore, sent to the Pasha of Bendier to persuade Charles

XII. to go home through Poland as fast as possible. Persua-
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sion was of no avail, threats still less, and finally came the at-

tempt to remove the King by force, which ended in the well-

known Kalabalik, when Charles, after sustaining a siege in his

own house until most of his followers were dead or wounded,

and making a sortie through the ranks of the Janissaries, was

finally knocked over, taken prisoner, and conveyed to the fort-

ress of Demirtash, near Adrianople.

Shafirof profited by this circumstance to send word to Adri-

anople that the Tsar could send no new envoy, lest he might be

subjected to the same treatment as the old ones, but that they

were ready to enter into negotiations with the Vizier. They

were accordingly invited to Adrianople, and after Tusuf Pasha

had bpen succeeded as Grand Vizier by Suleiman Pasha, and

Suleiman Pasha by Ibrahim Pasha, who insisted on war and on

the invasion of Kussia by the Turks, and Ibrahim Pasha, after

a rule of only three months, by Damad Ali Pasha, the favourite

son-in-law of the Sultan, negotiations were begun. The Turks

now insisted on two new points—renewing the old tribute to the

Khan of the Crimea, and drawing the boundary line between

the rivers Samara and Orel, and settling on it those Cossacks

who had been disloyal to Kussia. These conditions the Kus-

sians rejected, but the conferences continued. At the end of

June the new Grand Vizier called a council, and put the ques-

tion whether war should be begun for these two points which

the Russian ambassadors refused to accept. The Mufti, who

had been bribed by Shafirof, replied that the war would be un-

lawful because the Tsar had fulfilled the conditions of the

treaty. The rest agreed with the opinion of the Mufti, and

their decision was at last approved by the Sultan. At the end

of August, 1713, Shafirof and his colleagues were delighted on

receiving an answer fi-om Golofkin that the Tsar approved the

new treaty. Bestiizhef-Eumin arrived at Adrianople with the

ratification of the Tsar on September 20, but under various pre-

texts the Porte refused its ratification, as well as its permission

for the ambassadors to depart. Propositions were again made

for payment to the Tartar Khan, but this time they were re-

fused by the ambassadors with such firmness, even when they

were again threatened with imprisonment, that the Grand

^.Vizier obtained the ratification by the Sultan on October 18.
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The ambassadors nevertheless were detained in Turkey until

the final delimitation of the frontiers, and it was not until

December, 1714, that they finally left Turkey. Sheremetief
died on the road at Kief.

The surrender of Azof had been accomplished nearly three

years previously, in the winter of 1712. Aprdxin had been able

to make a good arrangement with the Pasha who took over the

town. The Turks bought all the stores, guns, and powder which
remained at Taganrog, and purchased the four largest ships, the

only ones really worth much, for 26,167 ducats, much more than
their real value.

We must give a moment's attention to the fate of the Tsar's

allies. One of the fii-st demands of the Grand Yizier at the

conclusion of the treaty on the Pruth hdd been for the surren-

der of the traitor Cantemir. The Hospodar lay hid in one of

the carriages of Catherine, and no one but the Hetman Jfeculce

and two of his guards knew where he was. Shaffrof therefore

answered that it was impossible to surrender him, as since the

first day of the battle no one had seen him or knew his where-
abouts. The Grand Yizier, with a gesture of contempt, replied

:

' Well, let us speak no more about it. Two great empires should

not prolong a war for sake of a Giaour. He will soon enough
meet with his deserts.' When the retreat began Cantemir has-

tened to the deserted town of Jassy for his wife and children,

and on July 29 again joined the Eussian troops at Zagarantcha,

on the Pruth. Together with Cantemir were twenty-four Mol-
davian Boyars, Stephen Duka, the Hetman JS'eculee, Alexander
Sturdza, Abaza, and others. Peter conferred upon Cantemir
the hereditary title of Prince, and gave him houses and large

estates in the neighbourhood of Kharkof. His son Antiochus
was ambassador in London and Paris, and made himself a name
as a Eussian poet. The other Moldavian refugees, including

the Boyars Stephen Duka, JSTeculce, Alexander Sturdza, Abaza,

and others, were all well treated, and chiefly settled in the

neighbourhood of Kharkof.' Thomas Cantacuzene, who with

General Eonne and his cavalry had made his way through the

' Several of these Boyars or their families returned afterwards to Moldavia

;

others made themselves a mark in Russian history. Abaza was the ancestor

of the late Russian Minister of Finance.
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whole length of Moldavia to the Polish frontier, received the

title of Count, and became a general in the Russian service.

For five days after the conclusion of peace the Grand Vizier

waited for the Moldavian Boyars to present themselves to him
with otfers of submission. But no one came. Most of those

who had not fled to Kussia had concealed themselves with their

families in the mountains and forests. Angry at this want of

respect, the Grand Yizier ordered the Tartars to pillage the

principality. The whole of Lower Moldavia was given over to

fire and sword. Old men related that the devastation was even

greater than that of 1650, in the time of Prince Basil the Al-

banian. After the retreat of General Ednne from Braila,

Galatz was attacked" by the Turks and Tartars, and completely

sacked. Many inhabitants who had taken refuge in the monas-

tery of St. George were made prisoners ; the rest, fearing the

same fate, left the churche3 and monasteries where they were,

and fled to Keni across the Danube. New bands of Turks com-

pleted the M'ork. ' Of all the monasteries and churches there

remained but the bare walls. The pictures, the holy ornaments,

the sacred vessels, wherever they were hidden, were discovered

and carried off. The Turks dug up the ground wherever they

thought they could find something. They did not even respect

the dead. Berlad suffered still more, and was left a heap of

ruins. The inhabitants, however, had the good fortune to es-

cape slavery, having taken flight in time to the forests.' At the

first news of the Pussian retreat nearly all the inhabitants of

Jassy had abandoned the town, and had taken refuge in the

strongest monasteries. As there was no government, a Polish

renegade had established himself in the princely palace, and

seized whatever he could lay his hands upon. He was soon

driven out by Kurt Mohammed Pasha, who had accompanied

the Pussians as far as the frontier, and who organised a gov-

ernment of Turks, and carried out the same brigandage with

more system. He reported his proceedings to the Grand Yizier,

offering to submit in every respect to his orders ; but as he had

committed the folly of giving titles of nobility and bestowing

the high ofiices of State on his adherents, his proceedings were

not approved. After two weeks' waiting, the Grand Vizier sent

for the Boy^r Constantine Lupu, who had played a double part
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during the campaign, and who had been in correspondence with

the Turks while still trusted by Cantemir. Lupu, who left his

refuge in the monastery of Barsuci, full of terror for his life,

fell on his knees before the Grand Vizier and awaited his sen-

tence. The Grand Vizier taunted him with the treason of Mol-

davia, and finally proposed to appoint him Hospodar. Lupu
refused, on the ground that the country was so entirely devas-

tated and ruined that it would be impossible to fulfil his obliga-

tions to the Porte. The Vizier then, clothing him with the

robe of honour, appointed him Kaimakam, or temporary gover-

nor, and saying, ' I confide the administration of the country to

you, and hold you responsible for it,' repeated three times^

' Lupu, keep your eyes well open.' After ransoming more than

2,000 Moldavian captives, Lupu arrived in Jassy on the 10th of

August. His task was difficult, and his reign was not long. It

was impossible for him to raise enough money in the country to

supply the wants of the Vizier. He was accused of extortion

for his personal ends, and a month later was deposed, sent to

Varna, and imprisoned. Shortly after this the late Hospodar,

Nicholas Mavroeordato, was again appointed ruler of the coun-

try. With him began the reign of those Phanariote princes to

whose rapacity Moldavia was the prey.

Brancovano now showed the utmost hostility to the Rus-

sians, but he was unable to wipe out the remembrance of his

past treachery. The Porte had resolved on his fall, and his re-

lations the Cantacuzenes, both in Constantinople and in Walla-

chia, lost no opportunity of prejudicing the Grand Vizier against

him. Even Thomas Cantacuzene did what he could from Rus-

sia. But the blow did not come for some time. Although the

Hospodar knew the plots against him, he seemed to have con-

fidence in the security of Bucarest. He sent some of his prop-

erty abroad, but could not bring himself to abandon his Prin-

cipality. At last, in Passion week, 1714, the order of deposition

was read to him, he was arrested and sent with his family to

Constantinople, and together with his two sons beheaded on

his sixtieth birthday, when he had expected to celebrate the

twenty-fifth anniversary of his reign. Stephen Cantacuzene,

who succeeded him, did not remain long upon the throne. Jn

January, 1716, he was deposed, and was subsequently beheaded

Vol. II.—14
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in his dungeon at Constantinople. Nicholas Mavrocordato was

transferred from Moldavia to Wallachia, and the native princes

gave place to the Phanariotes.

The Tsar wrote to the Montenegrins informing them of the

disastrous result of his campaign on the Pruth, and begged

them to abstain from further hostilities. Grief reigned in the

Black Mountain, for their warriors had been successful. Never-

theless they obeyed the Tsar's injunctions, though knowing

what vengeance the Turks would try to take on them. Indeed

the next year a strong Turkish army attacked them in theii'

fastnesses, but was repulsed. Two years afterwards, in 1714, a

still stronger army appeared and ravaged the countiy from one

end to the other. The Montenegrins sought help from Russia,

and the Prince-Bishop Danilo went there in person. He was

kindly received, and returned with a message from the Tsar,

with vestments and plate for the churches and monasteries, and

rich gifts of money. Although it was long before the Monte-

negrins were again in direct relations with Russia, the name of

Peter— ' The mustachioed Tsar '—was always held in venera-

tion, and became famous in legend.'

'Solovief, xvi., xvii. ; Kotchubinsky ; Kogalnioeano, Cronicele Somanid.
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THE TSAE RETURNS TO ST. PETERSBURG.—1711-1713.

OuE desire to narrate the sequence of the negotiations which

led to the final peace between Turkey and Russia, and the dif-

ficulties with which they were accompanied, has carried us far.

We must now return to the Tsar, whom we left on the march

from the Pruth to the Dniester. Passing by Kamenetz-Podolsk,

where he examined the fortifications, Peter arrived at Yaroslav

on August 26, and immediately ordered boats, intending to

pursue his journey to "Warsaw by water in the company of

Prince Eakoczy, whose affairs were more embroiled than ever.

At Yaroslav he was met also by Baluze, the French envoy, who
had presented his ci-edentials at Jaworow in the spring, and

had been waiting in Poland for his return. Baluze found the

Tsar at eight o'clock in the morning, writing, and very busy

with his preparations for departure. Peter uncovered and lis-

tened to the compliments made him in Polish on his happy re-

turn, but gave no reply ; and, turning away, went to the other

boat and continued his occupation. The envoy had met the

Tsar several times in the spring, and on one occasion had been

received by him in his garden, where he was making a boat for

the wife of the Castellan of Cracow. He had been then much
pleased by the Tsar's easy manners, but now he found a coolness

and an awkwardness, which he laid rather to the fact that the

Tsar was then about to undertake a journey in Germany, for

the purpose of marrying his son, and felt under a certain re-

straint towards France, than to the disappointment of the cam-

paign. Indeed, it had been very difficult to procure accurate in-

formation about what had happened, and rumours of all kinds

were current. Several persons produced copies of the treaty of

peace, which they claimed to have received from the Tsar's
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chancery, but as no one resembled another, people doubted their

genuineness. Compliments at this time were less than ever

agreeable to Peter ; and when the wife of the Castellan of

Cracow continued to congratulate him upon his return in per-

fect health, he replied that his good fortune consisted in having

received only fifty blows when he was condemned to receive a

hundred. At Taroslav he gave a lesson to the Prussian Eesi-

dent, who sat next to him at table, saying: 'You act always

philosophically in affairs, while we act quite mechanically;'

wishing, Baluze thinks, to say that the Court of Berlin treated

matters with &finesse which did not suit him.

After two days spent at "Warsaw in hard work, and two

nights in carousing, Peter arrived at Thorn on September 9.

Here he left Catherine, and went byway of Posen and Dresden

,to Carlsbad, hoping, by the use of those waters, to gain relief

from his maladies, which had been aggravated by the heat of

the south and the fatigues of the campaign. Count Vitzthuia

was sent by King Augustus to meet the Tsar, and finding him

just leaving Thorn, followed in a light carriage, and caught up

with him eight miles from Posen. In spite of a violent colic,

Peter started early the next morning, but had to come back,

remain quiet for a couple of days, and take medicine. Pre-

ceding the Tsar, in order to make the necessary ari-angements,

Vitzthum met him again at Dresden. Peter wished no cere-

monies, and therefore refused to accept rooms at the Palace,^i

and lodged in the inn Zutti Ooldnen Hing, on the Altmarkt

(now the Hotel de VEiirope). The next morning he visited the

glass works, and then went to Ostrewiese, where he found

some stags. Contrary to his custom, Peter felt inclined for

sport; he killed one stag of twelve branches, and shot an-

other animal which got away, but which the huntsman killed
,

and brought home to him, much to his pleasure. After din-

ner he went to the Kuiistkammer, where he examined: every^

thing in great detail, especially the case containing turned

objects, remaining more than two hours. Later on he visited^

the Arsenal and the Great Garden, where he was delighted

with the revolving swing, which, at his request, and to his

loud laughter, was put into such rapid movement that some

of his companions fell out. He then went to the Hingrennen,
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looked for half an hour at the lions, and asked for draw-

ings of the menagerie in order to build a similar one at St.

Petersbui'g. In the evening he supped at Yitzthum's, where

there was a ball. The next day, after making some early visits

to the shops of turners and cloekmakers, the Tsar went to Frei-

berg, where he descended into the mines, and, to his great sat-

isfaction, two thousand miners came out to meet him with a

band. He arrived at Carlsbad on the evening of September 24,

and began his cure the next day but one.'

Vitzthum's chief object was to extract information from the

Tsar for the benefit of his master ; but he desired also to come

to some understanding with regard to Polish affairs. Concern-

ing the peace with Turkey, the Tsar told him that he had taken

no obligation contrary to Polish interests, and explained the

article about interference in Poland by saying that if the

Swedes kept out he would ; but if they invaded the country he

intended to drive them out. He did not consider Azof to be a

loss, because he had been obliged to spend so much money every

year upon it ; but at the same time he had no intention of

evacuating it until Charles XII. had left Turkey. With regard

to France, and the possibility of a French alliance, Peter said

that he felt under no obligations to France, and that he saw the

advantages of keeping on good terms with the allies.

Divided as the Poles were internally—for there were still

many partisans of Stanislas—they were yet agreed about one

thing : dislike of Russian interference and of the Russian oc-

cupation of the country. The Russian troops, and more espe-

cially, it is said, the foreign officers, many of whom had taken

service only for the purpose of making their fortunes, pillaged

and plundered right and left. Prince Gregory Dolgortiky, the

Russian ambassador at Warsaw, wrote :
' Not only others, but

even our well-wishers, show me very wi-y faces. They say pub-

licly that, in spite of the treaty of alliance, we do whatever we
wish in Poland, and utterly ruin them, being worse than the

' A curious incident connected with, Peter's departure from Dresden is re-

ported by Court Marshal Pflug to the Saxon Government. He says that the

Tsar took from the inn several sheets and bed-coverings, and was about pack-

ing into his boxes, with his own hands, some green silk hangings, but was

prevented by the protests of one of the servants.
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enemy. Even from the King, except compliments, I see no help

in onr affairs. I hear from others that he is not contented with

us. He has several times begged me to write to the command-
ers of our troops to stop the pillaging. Even foreign ministers

have asked me, with astonishment, why we ruined the allied

Poles without the slightest mercy.'

In the early part of the year the Marshal of Lithuania had

gone on a special mission to Moscow, to ask for the withdrawal

of the Kussian troops, as well as for the cession of Livonia,

Elbing, and various towns in the Ukraine and on the Dnieper.

The only answer that could be given then was that, with a

Turkish war on hand, it was impossible to give up these places

to Poland ; for there were not Polish troops enough to garrison

them properly, and they would thus be protected neither against

the Turks nor the Swedes. The Tsar was willing, if pressed,

to allow a few Polish troops to garrison Kiga conjointly with

his own, but he insisted on receiving the revenues until the end

of the war, and refused to allow the Catholic religion, as being

contrary to the conditions on which Eiga had sm-rendered. In-

deed, there was some little difficulty on the part of Augustus,

for he was to receive Livonia, if at all, as part of his hereditary

possessions ; and if he occupied it with Saxon troops the Poles

might suspect this arrangement, and oppose him ; whereas if

the troops of the Republic were allowed to enter, he might have

difficulty in turning them out.

The result of the campaign on the Prutli had been to excite

Swedish hopes ; and Peter was anxious to pursue as rapidly as

possible the campaigi; in Pomerania. Knowing that his success

depended in great part on a cordial understanding with Poland,

he desired to retain the friendship of the King ; and, immedi-

ately after the signature of the treaty, wrote to Dolgoruky, tell-

ing him to impress upon the King that this peace would be of

great profit to the allies, as he would now be free with his whole

army, and could send a great part of it into Pomerania. He

had resolved to withdraw his troops from Poland, in case of

necessity, but he was unwilling to admit any interpretation of

the treaty which would prevent him from sending his troops'

through Poland into Pomerania.

During Peter's stay in Carlsbad—which place, as we learn
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from his letters to his wife,' he found as dull and tiresome as

visitors do nowadays—neither his mind nor his pen were idle

;

but he was especially occupied with the preparations for the ap-

proaching marriage of his son Alexis. He had already written

from his camp on the Dniester to Prince Anton Ulrich, asking

him to select some town in Prussia, and celebrate the marriage

quietly there, in case he were p]'evented from going to Germany.

Now, however, that he was at Carlsbad, and desired to come
back to Dresden and see the King, he. had some thought of

having the ceremony take place there. Yitzthnm dissuaded

him, on the ground that it would be necessary to invite all the

princes of the Hanover and Wolfenbiittel families, and that

there was no time for arrangements. Peter thought this would

be unnecessary at a private marriage, and, rather than accept

the proposition of the Prince to go to Wolfenbiittel, proposed

Torgau, the residence of the Queen of Poland, under whose

care the Princess Charlotte had been educated. Vitzthum again

intervened, and suggested Carlsbad, where the marriage could

be perfectly private, and advised the Tsar not to invite the

liings of Hanover and Prussia, but to excuse himself after-

wards. Torgau was at last decided upon ; and going down the

Elbe to Dresden, Peter remained there a week, and was met
on October 24, at Torgau, by his son and the family of the

bride.'' The marriage took place the next day, Sunday, in the

great hall of the royal chateau, the windows of which were

darkened and covered with mirrors to increase the brilliancy of

the scene, for the room was plentifully lighted with candles.

' See vol. i., p. 441.

' During this visit to Dresden the Tsar again lodged at the ' Golden Ring,'

where his favourite resort seemed to he the room of the porter, in which he

even breakfasted. He visited the tennis-court and took part in the game, in-

spected the powder-milj, and twice went to the paper-factory, where he made
several sheets of paper with his own hands, besides going to churches, and see-

ing again the different collections. He was especially pleased with the collec-

tion of minerals belonging to Count Lesgewang. He visited also the Court

jeweler Dinglinger, and especially the Court mathematician and mechanician

Andrew Gartner, at that time well known for his inventions, where he remained

three hours, particularly inspecting the newly-invented machine, in the nature

of a lift, by which it was possible to go from one story of a house to another.

He bought a wooden burning-glass, and presented Gartner with some sables^

begging him to make himself a warm pelisse for winter.
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The service was performed in Russian, except that the ques-

tions were asked of the bride in Latin. After a supper in the

Queen's apartment and a ball, ' His Great Tsarish Majesty '

—

according to a newspaper of the time, The Europecm Fame—
' gave his fatherly blessing in a most touching manner to the

newly-married pair, and himseK conducted them to their bed-

chamber.' Before retiring he foimd time to write to Menshi-

kof :
' I will answer your letter hereafter. Now I have no time

oti account of the marriage of my son, which was celebrated to-

day, thank God, in good wise, and very many notable people

were there. The marriage was in the house of the Pohsh

Queen, and the watermelon sent by you was put upon the table,

which vegetable is a mighty wonder here.' Four days after the

wedding the unlucky Alexis was ordered by his active father to

proceed to Thorn and supervise the provisioning of the troops

;

and it was only after much persuasion that he was allowed a

short furlough to visit his wife's family at Wolfenbiittel.

"While at Torgau the Tsar received the visit of Leibnitz.

This learned man had long desired to gain the ear of Peter, in

order to press bis plans for organising institutions of learning

and scientific research in Russia. Besides this, he had plans

for persuading Russia to join the alliance against France, as

well as desires of his own to enter the Russian service. His

position at Hanover did not entirely suit him, and he thought

that it would be possible for him to become President of the

new Russian Academy which he looked forward to founding,

receive a salary from the Tsar, and at the same time be able to

be the Librarian of Prince Anton Ulrich, his friend and corre-

spondent at Wolfenbiittel. He had hitherto been in communi-

cation on this subject with Urbicb, but he now turned to Prince

Anton Ulrich, thinking that the new marriage connection would

give him influence with Peter. Leibnitz succeeded in impress-

ing the Tsar with his plan so far as to obtain a promise of a

pension of 500 rubles, and that magnetic observations should

be made throughout Russia and Siberia.

The marriage of the Tsarevitch caused similar hopes to be

entertained by the Berlin Academy, and the question of. extend-

ing the influence of the Acadeniy in Russia was discussed at

length at a meeting on E"ovember 19. The aims of the Acad-
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emy, however, were not entirely scientific. It was desired not

only to get possession of the book trade and printing in Russia,

but also to introduce the Lutheran religion. When the matter

was referred to Leibnitz, as the President of the Academy, he

strongly objected to anything in the nature of religious propa-

ganda, as the Russians were violently opposed to this, and he

placed what obstacles he could in the way of his colleagues, fear-

ing lest they might interfere with his own plans. In spite of

the Tsar's promises, nothing for some time was done, and the

next year we find Leibnitz again urging his case.

From Torgau Peter went first to Crossen, where he had an

interview with the Hereditary Prince of Prussia and two of the

Danish Ministers, in order to endeavour to arrange the conduct

of the campaign in Pomerania, then to Thorn, where Cathei-ine

joined him, and finally, for a few days, to Elbing and to Ron-

igsberg. Affairs detained him for some days in Riga, Pernau,

and Reval, so that he did not arrive at St. Petersburg until

January 9, 1712.

It was now nearly a year since he had seen his new capital,

and in that interval what great events had taken place, how
much he had suffered, and how the sequence of events had in-

volved him in the politics of Europe ! These events it will

shortly be necessary to explain, but it may be remarked here

that one of their results was to keep Peter very much away
from his ' Paradise,' and, indeed, from Russia. From June,

1712, to April, 1713, he was in Pomerania and on the coasts of

the Baltic with his army. A month later he set out with his

fleet for Finland, spent the summer in the'campaign there, and
did not return imtil October. The whole summer of 1711 was
spent in a naval campaign on the coasts of Finland. Most of

the summer of 1715 was passed at sea, cruising off the coasts of

Finland and of Esthonia. In February, 1716, Peter went again

to the German waters for his health, and did not return to St.

Petersburg until the end of October, 1717.

Once more at home, Peter threw himself into work with all

his feverish activity. He had already, from Pernau, ordered

the Senate to go to St. Petersburg, and now began to work
regularly with it on questions relating to internal organisation.

' The periods of his stay in St. Petersburg in these years may
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readily be seen from the uTtasef preserved in the archives. In

this year of 1712, for example, from the Tsar's arrival until the

day he went away, 165 decrees are on record; during the rest

of the year there are but twenty-seven. None of these, how-

ever, are of sufficient importance to detain us now. On the Eus-

sian New Year Day Peter was much cheered up by receiving the

news of a small victory near Wismar, where the Danish and

Kussian troops cut off a force of Swedes. He was disturbed in

mind, however, by the course which the negotiations with the

Porte were taking. During the winter he at last decided to sur-

render Azof and Taganrog to the Turks, and a new treaty was

in consequence concluded in April.

The presence of Catherine on the Pruth, and her share in

the fatigues of the campaign, had endeared her to Peter more

than ever. He therefore, partly in order to please her, and

partly to render her position perfectly intelligible to all his sub-

jects, had a solemn public ceremony performed in the new

church of St. Isaac on March 2, amounting almost to a new

marriage, and in the evening gave a large banquet, at which

all the Court and the Foreign Ministers were present.

After visiting Yiborg in the spring, after laying the foun-

dations of the Cathedral of Saints Peter and Paul in the cita-

del, and after receiving at nearly the same time information of

the new treaty with Turkey and disquieting news from the seat

of war, Peter set out for Pomerania on June 26, in order to see

what his personal presence might effect.'

' Golikof ; Diplomatic Despatclies in the French Archives, OoUeetiom of But-

sian Imperial Historical Society, vol. xxxiv. , St. Petersburg, 1881 ; Diplomatic

Despatches in the Dresden Archives, id,., vol. xx., 1877 ; Solovief, xvi.; Guer-

rier, Leibnitz and Peter ilie Great ; Archives of the Senate ; Architi fur Siieh-

mohe Geschichte, vol. xi., Leipzig, 1873.
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THE POMERANIAN CAMPAIGNS—1711-1713.

The history of Europe at this time is somewhat difficult to

follow in detail. "Webs of intrigue -cross each other at every

point. The war of the Spanish Succession in the West of

Europe, the war against Sweden in the North, the intrigues of

Charles XII., of France and of Austria at Constantinople, the

intrigues in England to bring back the Pretender and to de-

grade Marlborough, the intrigues of Augustus II. to become
King of Hungary, if not Emperor of Germany, even at the

cost of resigning again the Polish crown, and all the time King
Frederick of Prussia worrying himself over the disputed suc-

cession of Orange and the question of Guelderland, and con-

stantly pursuing his 'great design'—the partition of Poland,

and the enlargement of his boundaries in any direction or at

anybody's cost other than his own. The main facts can be got

at readily enough, but what the exact causes of them were, or

what influences helped to bring them about, it is not so easy to

ascertain with exactitude. Indeed, it sometimes seems as if no
one but the Tsar had a clear idea of what he really wished, and
took straightforward measures for accomplishing his ends.

The turn which the war between Russia and Sweden now
took, and which ultimately led to the continual interference of

Eussia in European affairs, came from the possessions which
Sweden still held on the south of the Baltic. By the conquests

of Gustavus Adolphus, consecrated by the peace of Westphalia,

Sweden was in possession of the duchies of Bremen and Ver-

den, and of a good part of Pomerania, including the towns of

Stralsund, Stettin, and Wismar, and the island of Riigen, and

by virtue of these possessions was a member of the German
empire. After the defeat of Charles XII. at Poltava, it was
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plainly seen by the smaller German states, as well as by Eng-
land and Holland, that these possessions of Sweden might cause

the invasion of Germany by the Tsar, and that this would be on

the one hand uncomfortable and disastrous to the countries

near the theatre of war, and on the other disagreeable to the

maritime powers as creating a diversion which might be favour-

able in the end to France. The idea was originated by Prussia

of neutralising the Swedish possessions in Germany. This was

eagerly accepted by England and Holland, and, after the Gov-

ernment at Stockholm had been sounded, a treaty of neutrality

was signed at the Hague, March 31, 1710, between England,

Holland, and Austria, in which the other powers were asked to

join. It was in substance that none of the powers at war should

attack the possessions of the others situated in Germany, or

lying next to them on the mainland, so that King Augustus

would be protected in Saxony, Sweden in Pomerania and

Bremen, and Denmark in Holstein, Slesvig, and Jutland. The

Swedish troops in Pomerania, and the Danish troops in Slesvig,

Holstein, and Jutland, were not to be withdrawn unless an ar-

rangement was made by which they entered the service of

England and Holland against France." All parties saw the ad-

vantage of this and readily accepted it. Even the Council at

Stockholm, though feeling that Sweden had less profit fi-om it

than the others, thought that it might induce the King sooner

to make peace. In this, however, they miscalculated, for as

soon as Charles heard of it in Bender, he sent a formal protest

declaring that he would never accept such a treaty, and should

keep to himself the right to attack his enemies when and where

he pleased. He at the same time forbade General Krassau to

obey any orders sent to him by the Council at Stockholm. As

soon as this protest was known, England, Holland, Austria, and

several German states entered into another treaty (August i,

1710), for the purpose of imposing neutrality by force. It was

resolved to form an army of about 16,000 men, and dispose it

in North Germany in such a way as to attack whichever power

first crossed the boundaries of the other. Against this agree-

' It is worthy of mention that this attempt to defend the integrity of the

Empire was concluded without the knowledge or participation of the Imperial

authorities as such, though it was afterwards accepted by the Diet.







INVASION OP POMEEANIA. 221

raent also Charles XII. did not fail to send his protest, which
reached the Hague in the early part of December, in which he
said that under the guise of neutrality, an army had been raised

for the advantage of his enemies. At this juncture the Porte
declared war against Eussia, and by Charles's directions the

most active preparations for war were made throughout Sweden"
and the Swedish possessions. But before anything could be
accomplished, came the news that the Tsar had extricated him-
self from his difficulties on the Pruth. The troops of the Kus-
sians and their allies were already assembled for the march upon
Pomerania.

There was no help for it. There was really nothing else to

be done. The Tsar had obtained all he wanted—he held pos-

session of St. Petersburg^ all the Swedish territories south of

the Finnish Gulf, and enough of Finland proper to protect his

new capital. He sincerely desired peace. Sweden, exhausted

by war, suffering from pest, famine and poverty, wished peace

also, but was still mistakenly loyal to an obstinate, self-willed,

and apparently half-crazed king, who had for years exiled him-
self from his realm, and who forbade peace. Nothing remained
but to conquer a peace, and the best way to do this was to de-

prive Sweden of all her provinces south of the Baltic, and thus

prevent her from attacking Eussia and Poland in the rear. The
Tsar at first proposed that the German ' neutrality corps ' should

join with them. When this was refused he issued a manifesto

that the question was of the security of Gei-many against the

Swedish force which threatened it from Pomerania, adding the

covert threat that if the empire delayed collecting its neutrality

corps, and keeping in the Swedes, the three northern powers
would be obliged to look out for their own interests only. This

was the first time that Eussia had ' stretched out a protecting

hand over Germany,' and the experience of Poland caused con-

sidei-able alarm to be felt in Prussia, whose troops were all

fighting in Italy and the ITetherlands to gain the Spanish crown
for the House of Austria, and who could do nothing to protect

its frontiers. King Frederick was in Holland when permission

was asked for the troops to pass through Prussia, and the Crown
Prince immediately made a protest. This protest was received

by Count Flemming simply as a formal protest usual in such
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cases, and no other attention was paid to it, except that a

friendly assurance was given that the allied troops would do the

least harm possible, and that all things taken would be paid for

;

and in the middle of August, 1711, 12,000 Russians, 6,000 Po-

lish, and 6,000 Saxon troops passed within a few miles of Berlin

in the direction of Strelitz, where they expected to meet the

Danes and attack Stralsund and "Wismar.

Here we must digress.

Eeference has several times been made to the 'great design'

of King Frederick of Prussia for the partition of Poland, or at

all events for obtaining a Polish province or two, which would

round out his frontier. Kepulsed by the Tsar he had turned to

King Augustus, with whom in lYlO he had an interview at

Leipzig. But Augustus had replied, with all politeness, that, at

least in present circumstances, this was not to be thought of.

Disquieted by the capture of Elbing, by the transfer of so many

artisans from that town to St. Petersburg, and by the 'per-

petual armament' which filled Poland with such enthusiasm,

Frederick sent Marschall to Augustus at Warsaw, to explain to

him that the partition was the only way by which he could keep

the hereditary possession of the Polish crown. Augustus and

his coimsellors, who were viewing the progress of the Tsar with

disquietude, though they were obliged to have the aii" of con-

senting, replied that they could not discuss the matter now, but

must wait for the proposals of the Tsar, and advised Prussia to

start the matter by sketching out a plan of partition. This was

done at once, as if Eussia had already agreed. The project be-

gan :
' His Tsarish Majesty finds it good and necessary to give

Poland new boundaries, and to divide this kingdom into three

parts—one for his Tsarish Majesty, another for the King of

Prussia, and the third for the King of Poland ; each will possess

his portion in full sovereignty.' With many details and explana-

tions it was stated that ' for the quiet and the true interests of

the Polish nation, whose government had hitherto been so ruin-

ous both to itself and to its neighbours,' it was necessary to give

this kingdom another form. Besides Swedish Livonia, a large

slice of Lithuania was to come to Bussia ; Polish Prussia, Samo-

gitia, and the succession to Curland, were to be given to Prus-

sia ; and the remainder to the King of Poland, with the title of
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Hereditary King. The Dutch were to be appeased by com-
mercial advantages and a barrier against France, the Emperor
by admitting his rights to the county of Zips, and the House of

Austria by complete acknowledgment of the Spanish Succes-

sion. When Count Kaiserlingk talked about the ' great design

'

to the Eussian Ministers in Moscow, they repeated the answer
that the Tsar had given at Marienwerder, and Von der Lieth

talked in the same way at Berlin. There was no way of accom-
plishing anything but by throwing a Prussian army across the

Vistula, and the King had serious thoughts of bringing back his

troops from Italy. But Prince Eugene then came through Ber-

lin on his way from the Netherlands, and succeeded in obtaining

the presence of the troops in Italy for a year longer. ISTever-

theless, the Prussian King still insisted on his plan, and Mar-
schall was sent to Russia to help out Kaiserlingk. Meanwhile
the Swedes had been driven from Eeval, Riga, and part of Fin-

land, and Von der Lieth was ordered to state to the Prussian

Court that if Marschall had no further commission than this

project his journey was unnecessary, as the Tsar had once for

all resolved to undertake nothing which might give umbrage to

his allies. The Tsar said as well to Kaiserlingk :
' If the par-

tition should ever be made it must be in quite another form,

and the first condition would be that Prussia should enter into

the offensive alliance against Sweden and come to a real rupture

in Pomerania.' When Marschall arrived he had already new
instructions, and asked only for Elbing and a bit of country be-

tween Pomerania and the Vistula. The Tsar, however, refused

to evacuate Elbing as long as the war lasted, and said that he
could not cede what belonged to the Republic of Poland. He
reminded the King of Prussia that he was bound by the treaty

of Marienwerder to prevent the Swedes from leaving Pome-
rania. Nothing further could be done unless Prussia took the

offensive agadnst Sweden. The Prussians explained that they

had no troops, made new proposals, and, finally, agreed that

they would break with Sweden in case the Swedes tried to

march.' The Prussians thought it hard that the Tsar should

promise them a reward only in case of alliance, giving them

' Broysen, Friedrich I., especially the supplement.
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nothing in advance. ' Entice lis on with Elbing,' they said to

Golofkin, ' like a dog with a piece of meat.' Subsequently,

when the Tsar was at Greifswald, in August, 1712, General Von
Hakebom came with new propositions, and a convention was

actually signed (September 24, 1712), by which the Tsar agreed

to cede Stettin, after capturing it, if the King prevented the

Swedes from entering Saxony or Poland. Again ratification

was refused as in previous cases, as the King wanted everything

gratis. No conclusion, therefore, was reached, and the new
declaration of war by Turkey then put a different face upon

matters.

To return to Pomerania. Stralsund was blockaded during

the summer of 1711 by Russian, Saxon, and Danish troops, but

the divisions between the commanders were so great that noth-

ing was accomplished. Flemming wished first to capture the

island of Eiigen, to destroy the enemy's cavalry, and obtain

provisions from the island for the use of the troops conducting

the siege. The Danes wished to leave the King of Poland be-

fore Stralsund, and to attack Wisraar. Prince Basil and Piince

Gregory Dolgoruky long tried in vain to bring harmony into

the councils of the generals, and at last thought that great ad-

vantage would result if the Tsar should have a personal inter-

view with the King of Denmark, ' who is a proud man and will

not be likely to change what you once arrange with him.' But

Count Plemming, for some reason, feared such an interview,

and having won over two of the Danish Ministers, went with

them to meet the Tsar at Crossen, in October, 1711.' Peter

decided for attacking Stralsund first, and for beginning the cam-

paign in the spring as early as possible, after having come dur-

ing the winter to some arrangement with the Elector of Han-

over with regard to Bremen and Verden. The allies remained

two months longer around Stralsund, and excused their inaction

on the ground that they had not brought their artillery, and

therefore could do nothing. Then, concluding that it was too

fatiguing to remain in the trenches during the winter, they

again disagreed. The King of Denmark wanted to withdraw

his whole forces in order to protect Zealand in case the Sound

' See page 217.
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should freeze, and preferred to have his winter quarters in Hol-

stein. The King of Poland thought that the troops should

winter in Pomerania, and blockade the three towns of Wismar,

Stettin, and Stralsund. He called attention to the difficulty

which they might have in the spring in crossing the rivers in

case they once evacuated the country. The two Dolgordkies,

after great difficulty, succeeded in bringing about an aiTange-

ment by which 6,000 Danes and all the Saxons should remain

with the Russians in Pomerania.

The invasion of Pomerania created difficulties on more sides

than one. France had long supported Sweden, and England

and Holland now took up a hostile attitude to Kussia. The new
Russian Minister at London, Yon der Lieth, in November, 1711,

reported St. John, the Secretary of State, as saying :
' The allies

in Pomerania are acting beyond all measure. They asserted in

the beginning that they only wished to drive out the Swedish

corps of General Krassow. Now it is plain that their intention

is to expel the King of Sweden from Germany. This is too

much.' The war of the Spanish Succession was about coming

to an end, the negotiations for peace were beginning, and the

Russian diplomatists feared that if England and Holland got

their hands free they would support Sweden. It was an object

then to form an alliance with these countries, and success in

Pomerania would show them that a Russian alliance was worth

having.

Unfortunately this success was not at once to be gained.

Menshikof was sent to command the Russian army in Pome-
rania, in March, 1712, with large reinforcements. He passed

through Berlin one Sunday morning, and demanded an imme-

diate audience of the King, who was at church. Ilgen had

difficulty in persuading him to wait until afternoon. He re-

fused an invitation to dinner, as ' he had enough to eat.' Put-

ting on his haughtiest manner, he said to the King that the

Tsar, his master, asked for so many cannon ; when the King

hesitated, and said he had expected a different proposition,

Menshikof withdrew ; he would await his Majesty's answer at

Gartz. Prince Basil Dolgoriiky was ordered to use his diplo-

matic tact in promoting harmony among the allies. But the

allies were hard to manage. They accused each other of trying

Vol. II.—15
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to make a separate peace, and the time of the conferences was

passed in explanations and recriminations. The Danes objected

to sending their fleet on account of lack of funds. They were

imwilling to take part in the operations in Pomerania because

they thought it easier and more profitable for themselves to

occupy Bremen, lest England and Holland, after the conclusion

of peace with France, should compel them to what otherwise

might be a disadvantageous peace with Sweden.

At this juncture Peter arrived in Pomerania, having taken

about a month for his journey from St. Petersburg, partly by

sea from Memel to Elbing, and partly along the coast. He was

accompanied by Catherine, the Tsarevitch Alexis being already

with the army. He found Menshik6f blockading Stettin, but

unable to attack it because the Danes refused him their artillery,

on the -ground that it was the duty of the Poles to furnish it.

Peter himself, after inspecting various positions, went to An-

clani to confer with the Danish admiral on this subject. The

week he spent on board the Danish fleet, while waiting for an

answer from the King of Denmark, and the little cruise which

he made on three Russian ships which had been built at Arch-

angel, and which he saw for the first time, gave him the only

pleasure which he had through the summer. The artilleiy was

refused, and it became necessary first to make one plan, and

then another, until he finally consented that the first attack

should be made on the island of Riigen. Here, however, 9,000

Swedes haidjust been landed under Count Magnus Stenbock,

though the Danish fleet had destroyed their transports, and the

allies were obliged to retire. The sole success during the whole

summer was the occupation by the King of Denmark of Stade,

in the territory of Bremen. How Peter felt may be seen fi'om

a sad letter to Menshikof, which ends :
' I consider myself very

unfortunate to have come here. God sees my good intentions,

and the crooked dealings of others. I cannot sleep at night on

account of the Avay in which I am treated.' To the King of

Denmark Peter wrote at length, laying upon him the blame of

the failure of the campaign :
' I think that your Majesty knows

that I have not only furnished the number of troops agreed

upon last year at Yaroslav with the King of Poland, but even

three times as many, and besides that, for the common interests,
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I have come here myself, not sparing my health with the con-

stant fatigue and long journey. Ent on my arrival here I find

the army idle, because the artillery promised by you has not

Count Magnus Stenbock.

come, and when I asked your Vice-Admiral Segestet about it,

he replied that it could not be given without your particular

order. I am greatly at a loss to imderstand why these changes
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are made, and why favourable time is thus being wasted ; from

which, besides the loss in money and to the common interests,

we shall gain nothing except the ridicule of our enemies. I have

always been, and am, ready to help my allies in everything that

the common interest demands. If you do not comply with this

request of mine (to send the artillery), I can prove to you and

the whole world that this campaign has not been lost by me,

and I shall then not be to blame if, as I am inactive here, I am
obliged to withdraw my troops, because on account of the dear-

ness of things here it is a waste of money, and I cannot endure

being dishonoured by the enemy.'

Anxiety such as this, combined with the hard campaign life,

weighed upon Peter's health, and in October he went for a

month to Carlsbad. On the way he stopped at Wittenberg,

where he visited the tomb of Luther, and the house in which

he had lived. Some of the clergy showed him the ink-spot on

the wall, and told the story of Luther's throwing his inkstand

at the devil. Peter laughed and said :
' Did such a wise man

really believe that the devil could be seen ?
' When they asked

him to write something on the wall, he consented, and wrote

:

' The ink is quite fresh, so that it is evidently not true.' From

Carlsbad, Peter went 'to Teplitz, for another course of baths,

but, after a stay of two or three days, he was called away by the

news that Stenbock, with 18,000 Swedish troops, in spite of

morasses and bad roads, had left Pomerania by way of Damm-

garten, and had invaded Mecklenburg. Reports, too, reached

him of negotiations between King Augustus and the Swedes,

for a separate peace. There was much truth in these. King

Frederick of Prussia was so anxious to gain something, that

while assuring the Eussians of his friendship, he had sent Colo-

nel Eosander to lay his plans before Charles XII. at Bender,

and had even persuaded the ex-King Stanislas to sacrifice his

claims, and go on the same errand. Swedes, Saxons, and Prus-

sians were to unite against Russia, Bremen was to be put under

the safeguard of a German state, and Stettin was the price of

Prussia's interference. Stenbock and Flemming even made an

armistice, and had frequent interviews. All, however, was

brought to an end by the absolute refusal of Charles XII. to

recognise Augustus as King of Poland.
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Peter wrote at once from Teplitz to the King of Denmark
to come to his troops' in Holstein and unite with the Russian

forces to attack the enemy ; and again on ITovember 23, from

Dresden, where he was resting for a week after the waters :
' I

hope your Majesty recognises the necessity of such action. I

beseech you in the most friendly and brotherly way, and at the

same time I declare, that although my health demands repose

after my cure, yet, seeing the urgent need, I will not neglect

this profitable affair, and will go to the army.' To Menshikof

he wrote :
' For God's sake, if there be a good opportunity, even

if I do not succeed in getting to you, do not lose time, but in the

Lord's name attack the enemy.'

Leibnitz, remembering his conversation with the Tsar at

Torgau in the preceding year, was desirous of another inter-

view, and through correspondence with Bruce and Schleinitz,

managed to procure an invitation from the Tsar to join him at

Carlsbad. The Duke Anton Ulrich on learning this made him
the bearer of some political messages. There had been for some
time a coolness between Austria and Eussia. It had been ag-

gravated by disputes about etiquette, and decidedly increased by
the marriage of the Tsarevitch Alexis. The widow of the late

Emperor Joseph had been particularly dissatisfied, as she had

hoped to marry Alexis to one of her own daughters, and thus

procure public Catholic service in Eussia. The new Emperor
Charles, whose wife was a sister of the Crown Princess, had not

these feelings, and desired nothing better than a reconciliation

with Eussia. He had therefore applied to his father-in-law to

mediate. As the Tsar was not at this time expected at Wolfen-
biittel, the Duke, who had no desire to take a long journey tO'

meet him, entrusted the matter to Leibnitz. After various de-

lays, Leibnitz reached Carlsbad a few days before Peter's depar-

ture, and accompanied him to Teplitz and Dresden. He had
great ambition of making a figure in diplomacy, and acquitted

himself skilfully of his mission ; but as the Eussians had already

two representatives at Vienna, they had no desire to employ a

stranger, and gave him a somewhat indefinite answer. The
Duke, who seems to have taken up the matter ^<AAj jyroformA,
and to have cared comparatively little how it turned out,

pressed it no further.
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If Leibnitz were discontented with the political results, h

was fully satisfied with what he accomplished in other wayi

We do not know the exact answer which was given to his pre

position to found universities and schools, but he was taken int

the Russian service with the title of Councillor of Justice, wit

a salary of a thousand thalers a year,' for the pui*pose of pro

moting education, and was asked besides to give his special af

tention to plans for legal reform. His salary was to begin fron

1711, and while at Carlsbad he received 500 ducats as back paj

In a letter to the Electress Sophia, he says :
" I found his Majest;

on the point of finishing his cure. He nevertheless desired ti

wait some days before leaving here, because last year he foun(

himself unwell from having begun to travel immediately afte

his cure. . . . Your Electoral Highness will find it extraor

dinary that I am to be in some sort the Solon of Russia, althougl

at a distance. That is to say that the Tsar has told me througl

Golofkin, his Grand Chancellor, that I am to reform the lawi

and draw up some regulations for the administration of justice

As I hold that the best laws are shortest, like the Ten Com

mandments or the Twelve Tables of Ancient Rome, and as thii

subject is one of my earliest studies, this will scarcely keep me

long ; so that I shall not have great need of hastening.' His

jest about the ' Russian Solon ' reached the Duke, who, in one

of the intimate letters which he was in the habit of writing,

says : 'I am astonished at your success ; and am delighted thai

another Solon in your person has come into the world. Bu1

he must perform his duties very carefully, lest he make himseli

a new St. Andrew, and instead of 300 ducats get a cross for his

pay.' Leibnitz in reply says :
' I am very glad to have made

your Highness laugh a little at my " Russian Solon." But a

Russian Solon does not need the wisdom of the Greeks, and can

get along with less. The cross of St. Andrew I should like verj

' well if it were set in diamonds, but these are not given in Han-

over, but only by the Tsar. StUl my 500 ducats were very ac-

ceptable.'

At Konigstein Peter put the commandant into a very awk-

' This salary was never paid, and we find Leibnitz claiming it on several

occasions.



PETER AT BERLIN. 231

ward position by asking to see the prisoners, though strict orders

had been given to the contrary. He insisted, and said that he

would take the whole responsibility, and on his promising not

to speak to any of them, the commandant yielded. During his

week's stay at Dresden, the Tsar insisted on living in the house

of the court jeweller, Dinglinger, though he frequently dined

with Count Lesgewang, who had accompanied him from Konig-

stein, at the hotel where Golofkin and others of his suite were

lodging. From Dresden Peter went to Berlin, and from Berlin

to his troops in Mecklenburg, arriving at Lage, the Russian

headquarters, on December 9.

Peter had also stopped, at Berlin on going to Carlsbad. Baron
Manteuffel writes to Count Flemming a description 6f this visit

:

' The Tsar arrived here last Tuesday at 7 p.m. We were in the

tabagie when the Field-Marshal came to inform the King, who
asked me how he had been received in Dresden. I said that,

though the King was absent, all sorts of honours had been

offered to him, but he had accepted almqst nothing, and had

lodged in a private house. His Majesty replied that he would

likewise offer him everything. " Nimmt er's nicht an^'' he said,

" so mag er's ileiben lassen."

'The Tsar lodged with Count Grolofkin, and sent him to

inform the King of his arrival. The King and the Queen sent

to compliment him. Half an hour later the Tsar went to the

palace, and going up the private staircase surprised the King in

his bedroom, playing chess with the Prince Royal. The two

Majesties stayed half an hour together. Then the Tsar looked

at the apartments in which the King of Denmark had stayed,

admired them, but refused to occupy them. A supper was

given to him by the Prince Royal, there being eight at table

besides the Tsar, who allowed no toasts, ate, though he had

already supped, but did not drink.

'Yesterday the Tsar went to the arsenal. When about

to breakfast, the King came to make a visit, and invited

the Tsar to dine. The Tsar accepted, but afterwards put it off

for supper. He came to see the Queen, whom he found sur-

roimded by ladies of the city. After half an hour he went to

the King in the tabagie, put on a fine red coat embroidered

with gold, instead of his pelisse, which he found too hot, and
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went to supper. He was gallant enough to give his hand to the

Queen, after having put on a rather dirty glove. The King
and all the Koyal Family utrim,sque sewus supped with him,

the Golofkins, Kurakin, &c.

' The Tsar surpassed himself during all this time. He
neither belched, nor , nor picked his teeth—at least, I

neither saw nor heard him do so—and he conversed with the

Queen and with the Princesses without showing any embarrass-

ment. The crowd of spectators was very great. After supper

the Tsar conducted the Queen to her apartment. She, at the

instigation of M. Frisendoi-ff, took occasion to speak in favour

of Kehnskjold. He said plainly that nothing was to be done,

and as the Queen continued to insist, he left her, embraced the

King for good-bye, and, after making a general bow to all tlie

company, went ofE with such long strides that it was impossible

for the King to keep up with him. At seven this morning he

left for Potsdam and further.' When Peter went next to

Berlin, King Frederick was dead, and he met with a different

reception.

Stenbock had been sent into Germany with troops raised

and equipped with the utmost difficulty,' in order, after joining

those already in Pomerania, to march into Poland to meet

Charles XH., who, thinking that his intrigues at the Porte

were successful, had at last decided on returning, and who ex-

pected to be accompanied by an army of Turks and Tartars.

The first detachment of 10,000 men was safely landed in Rii-

gen at the end of September ; but thirty transports, with the

greater part of the provisions and war material, were destroyed

by the Danish fleet. Stenbock waited vainly during a month

for the second detachment, and then, lacking provisions,

' Sweden was wearied out with, tte war as well as exhausted, and her

nobles, remembering the manner in which they had been treated by Charles

XII. on his accession, were unwilling to make sacrifices. An example of the

prevailing feeling may be seen in a letter from Wellingk to Feif :
' Tell the

K^ng what I cannot write him directly, that Sweden can send no more troops to

Germany, if she has to defend herself both, against Denmark and especially

against the Tsar, who has already conquered the Baltic provinces and part of

Finland, and now threatens to invade the country and lay Stockholm In ashes.

Tlie patience of Sweden is great, but not so great as to wish to hecotne Russian.^

See Fryexll, iii., p. 194.
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marched to Stralsund ; took there what was absolutely neces-

sary, and advanced, as we have said, with great difficulties over

the bad roads into Mecklenburg, intending to remain in the

neighbourhood of Wismar until the i-einforcements arrived. It

was during this time, while he was encamped near Schwaan,

that he carried on negotiations with Flemming for a peace, and

finally arranged an armistice for fourteen days. Just as this

was expiring, he had news that the Danes were marching

against him from Holstein, and had arrived at Gadebusch.

Having intercepted a letter of the -Tsar, suggesting that he be

surrounded and shut up in Wismar or, better, Rostock, he felt

that his only hope of safety was in defeating the Danes before

the Russians joined them, and getting into Holstein. He
therefore marched swiftly towards Gadebusch, where there were

about 15,000 Danes under the command of General von Schol-

ten, attacked them on December 20, in spite of a snowstorm,

and completely defeated them, with a loss to himself of over

1,500 men—a very serious loss in his position. Count Flem-

ming,with 3,000 Saxon cavalry, had joined the Danes after the

battle had begun, and it was their flight at the first onset, be-

fore they were touched, that decided the battle. King Frederick

lY., who had greatly exposed himself, was nearly taken pris-

oner. Maurice de Saxe, the son of King Augustus and Aurora

Koningsmark, served as a volunteer, and 'learned from his

countrynien,' as an historian says, 'how not to fight.' The
Tsar, who was already at Krivitz, only about thirty miles away,

in his letters unjustly blamed the King of Denmark for this

defeat, accusing him of hastening the engagement, contrary to

his repeated requests, so that he might have all the advantages

of the victory for himself. In reality, the Russians were too

slow for Stenbock, though the Saxon troops could have easily

arrived in time. The Danes retired southwards, but Stenbock

did not pursue them, as he did not wish to be led too far away

from Wismar. He waited still ten days, vainly looking for the

Swedish fleet, until the formation of an ice-crust on the shore

showed him he could wait no longer. He might, perhaps, have

still saved his army if he had gone back to Stralsund, where he

could have found provisions enough to last till spring ; but, led

by the representation of WeUingk, the Swedish Governor of
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the province of Bremen, then Minister in Hamburg, who had

assured him that Charles XII. was on his march, that the Sax-

ons and Russians would be obliged immediately to go towards

Poland, and he would have only the Danes to fight, moved into

Holstein and took up a position at Segeberg. Finding this un-

tenable, he resolved to cover himself by the Eider, while making

the country behind him hard for the enemy's march. In shut-

ting himself up in this peninsula he recalled the bold march of

Carl Gustavus in 1657 over the ice from Jutland to the islands,

and his sudden appearance before Copenhagen. But a speedy

thaw prevented any such attempt. On his march northwards,

Stenbock, yielding again to the advice of "Wellingk, on the night

of January 8 burned Altona, a town of about 10,000 inhabi-

tants. The citizens in vain entreated him for delay, offering

him 42,000 thalers, all they could raise of the hundred thousand

demanded, for the ransom of the place. Only thirty houses

and three churches remained. Two or three days afterwards,

another detachment burnt the remainder, with the exception of

five houses. The excuse offered for this useless and unprofit-

able act of barbarity was that bread was being prepared at Al-

tona for the allied troops—which was untrue—and that it was

in reprisal for the bombardment of Stade—a fortified town

—

and for acts committed by the Russians in Livonia. The in-

habitants of Hamburg, who viewed the rise of Altona with

jealousy, have always been accused of suggesting this act, an

accusation apparently without other foundation than that Wel-

lingk gave a supper party, at which a toast was drunk to Ham-

burg, and took his guests out to the walls to see the conflagra-

tion ; and that, under pretext of the pest which existed in

Altona, the authorities of Hamburg rigidly shut the gates and

refused, even on that bitterly cold night, to receive any of the

fugitives, who took refuge on neutral ground, the Hamburg

Hill, now the suburb of St. Pauli. The next day, however, to

their credit, some artisans came from Hamburg to help ex-

tinguish the flames, and aid was given to the destitute inhabi-

tants, for which thanks were subsequently rendered by the

King of Denmark.

After the defeat at Gadebusch, Peter retired from Krivitz

to Giistrow ; but on receiving repeated requests for assistance
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from the King of Denmark, he marched through Molln, and

after stopping a day or two in Hamburg, reached Altona eight

days after the fire. His sympathetic nature was aroused by

the sight of the ruins. He distributed a thousand rubles among
the poor, and promised the citizens special commercial advan-

tages at Archangel (a promise which was never fulfilled). It

was winter, the whole flat country was flooded, and the Russians

and Danes had a very difiicult march northwards over the dikes,

which were cut in many places, the mud being sometimes so

thick and sticky as to pull the shoes ofE the feet of the sol-

diers. At Slesvig the Tsar and the Danish King, with whom he

had already made acquaintance, were hospitably received by

the Duke Christian Augustus, the Administrator of Holstein-

Gottorp. In looking over the curiosities of the place, Peter

was much pleased with a globe made under the directions of the

well-known Olearius, large enough for twelve men to sit inside

while it revolved, and greatly coveted it ; he subsequently wrote

three times to Menshikof to try to obtain it for him and send

it carefully to St. Petersburg, getting even a passport from the

Swedes if necessary.' The allied headquarters were at Husum,
while Stenbock and the Swedes were close by at Friedrichstadt.

They were expelled from the place after a sharp fight, and shut

up in the little peninsula of Eiderstedt, where, after vainly try-

ing to cross the Eider southwards, they took refuge in the fort-

ress of Tonning, which had been put at their disposition by the

Government of Holstein.
'**"

Wow that the Swedes were shut in there was no necessity for

the Tsar's further presence with the army. He resolved to re-

turn to St. Petersburg, where many things needed hirn. The
Turks had again for the third time declared war, and it was

necessary to think about the defence of southern Eussia. There

were rumours, too, that there was a strong feeling in England

in favour of Sweden, and that English ships would not only re-

lieve Stenbock, but would make a diversion on the Baltic. The

' This globe was brought to St. Petersburg in the winter of 1715, and put

into the building formerly inhabited by the elephant sent by the Shah of

Persia. From Konigsberg it came on a special sledge, and in many places it

was necessary to widen the road and lop off the branches of the trees. (Weber,

231.)



236 PETER THE GREAT.

Swedish Minister at London was indeed making strong repre-

sentations of the necessity of helping Stenbocsk, and himself

fitted out some vessels for his relief, which were intercepted by

the Danish fleet. Any feeling of sympathy that the English

might have had was at once killed on receiving the news of the

adventure of Charles XII. at Bender—the famous Kalabalik

—

and his subsequent removal to Demotika. This of course was

not yet known in Holstein, and Peter before departing found it

necessary to write to Queen Anne a strong letter against English

interference. Leaving Menshikof in charge of the troops, which

he placed under the supreme command of the King of Den-

mark, with whom he had just exchanged the order of St.

Andrew for that of the Elephant, Peter set out on January 25

for Hanover, where he wished to make the acquaintance of the

Elector George Louis, soon to be King George I. of England.

Catherine, who had been separated from him very frequently

during the campaign,' had been sent to Eussia from Giistrow,

at the end of December, together with the Tsarevitch Alexis.

' The Elector,' Peter wrote, ' appeared very favourably inclined,

and gave me much advice, but does not wish to do anything

actively. He advised me also when our troops should be fi"ee

to put them into the service of Holland.' He sent Menshikof

at the same time the terms on which an agreement could be

made for this purpose with the Dutch. From Hanover Peter

went to Wolfenbiittel, to arrange with the old Duke Anton

Ulrich a delicate affair regarding the Crown Princess Charlotte.

Immediately after her marriage she had accompanied Alexis to

Thorn, and when he was sent into Pomerania she waited for

him at Elbing. "Wearied and annoyed by the intrigues which

went on about her, separated from her husband, and in need of

money, instead of going to Russia, as she had been ordered by

the Tsar, she had suddenly in December gone to her mother at

Wolfenbiittel, a step as displeasing to her family as to the Tsar.

Sensible of her folly, she dared not write to the Tsar to come,

but begged the Chancellor Golofkin to intercede for her. Peter

had an interview with her at the castle of Salzdahl, became

reconciled to her, supplied her with money, and sent her on

' Some of Peter's letters to his wife during these absences will be found in

vol. i., p. 441.
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to St. Petersburg. The old Duke was quieted in mind, and
hastened to share his joy with Leibnitz. ' The Tsar has been
with tis this week both at Salzdahl and at Bninswiek. The
gallery and the opera pleased him very much, and in general he
was in excellent spirits. He was very kind to the Tsarevna,

gave her large presents and begged her to hasten her journey

to Moscow. Next week she is really going to start, and to all

appearances to leave Europe for ever.' At Hanover Peter had
learned the death of King Frederick of Prussia, and being

anxious to see the extent of the ' good disposition ' of the new
King, as reported to him by Golofkin, and at the same time to

avoid the mourning, went to Schonhausen, in the neighbourhood

of Berlin, where he remained several days. " I have found the

new King,' he wrote to Menshikof, ' very pleasant, but cannot

decide him to any action ; as far as I can understand, from two
reasons, first, because he has no money, and second, because

there a,re still here many dogs of Swedish heart, and the King
himself is unskilled in political matters, and when he asks his

Ministers for advice they help the Swedes in every way. Besides,

he has not yet looked about him. Seeing this, after confirm-

ing our friendship, I let the matter drop. If I could do anything

here of course I would return to you by water. The Court here,

as we have seen, is not so grand as it was before. The present

King has sent off very many people, and still more I think will

be retired, among whom are many artisans who are seeking for

service. Therefore, when our affairs approach conclusion, send

General Bruce to Berlin to hire master workmen and artists,

who are necessary for us, especially architects, joiners, metal-

workers, &c.' Peter had much talk with Frederick William

about an alliance, and a convention was even drawn up, by
which the Tsar was to withdraw his troops from Germany as

soon as the Swedish forces were driven out, as well as from

Poland, and Prussia agreed not to allow the Swedes to enter

Poland, the Tsar pi'omising at the same time to endeavour

to induce the Poles to cede Elbing to Prussia." The new
King, while as anxious to increase his territories as his father

' This draft convention, as well as several others, notably that proposed at

Greifswald in September, 1713, is by some chance published in the Complete

CoUection of Russian Laws, No. 3,649, as if it had been signed.
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had been, felt in no hurry. He wished first, he said, to have

a year's time to put his army and his finance in order, and

to thoroughly know the situation.' Bang Frederick William,

in spite of his mourning, insisted on the Tsar spending at

least a few hours at Berlin, and they drove through the city

in the same carriage. Leaving here on March 14, Peter ar-

rived at St. Petersburg on April 2, having in passing through

Mitau heard that Catherine had given birth to a daughter

named Margarita Maria.

As if to add to the perplexities of the situation, a new centre

of intrigue rapidly developed in Holstein, with regard to the

fortress of Tonning. The strings were pulled by Goertz, who,

for the next five years, was to play a leading part in diplomacy
—^a man in some sense in advance of his times, for he perceived

that the only way to save Holstein was to make its existence a

European question. In accordance with a curious arrangement

brought about by inheritances and divisions, Slesvig and Hol-

stein were governed at this time partly by the King of Denmark
and partly by the Duke of Holstein-Gottorp. The late Duke,

Frederick IV., who had married Hedwiga Sophia, the sister of

Charles XII., had been killed at the battle of Klissow in 1702,

leaving an infant son, Charles Frederick, now receiving his

education in Sweden. During the minority of this boy the

Duchies were governed by a regency, at the head of which,

after his mother's death, was his uncle. Christian Augustus, the

Prince-Bishop of Eutin, with the title of Duke-Administrator.

Of weak character, governed by his mistresses, his favourites, and

his wife, who in less than fifteen years bore him twelve chil-

dren (one of whom, Adolphus Frederick, subsequently became

Kuig of Sweden), the Duke-Administrator allowed the real man-

agement of affairs to rest in the hands of Goertz, the Prime

Minister. Baron George Henry von Schlitz, named von Goertz,

a descendant of a noble Franconian family, after studying at

Jena became attached to the Court of Frederick lY. of Hol-

stein, and accompanied him on his wedding journey to Stock-

' A letter of Frederick William to his Ministers of November 5, 1713, shows

his ideas. " Je suis un jeune commenceur et point de tout encore [en etat] de

soutenir la moindre chose avec vigueur
;
pour cela ilfaut aller piano pour na

pas se hrouiller.

"
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liolm,' at the time of the ' Gottorp fury,' and, subsequently, to

the army in Poland, and after his death he was sent back with

the body by Charles XII. Tall, handsome (in spite of an arti-

ficial eye to replace one which he had lost in a student duel), of

engaging manners, witty, lively, ready in conversation, endowed
with a clear, incisive, and convincing style in writing, free in

spending money, not always careful as to how he obtained it,

audacious, shifty, utterly unscrupulous, Goertz, in spite of ru-

mours against his courage as well as his honour, had succeeded

in obtaining friends, position, and wealth, and in making a rich

and distinguished marriage ; had ingratiated himself in turn

with the Duchess and with the Duke-Administrator, to whom he

had really rendered many important services ; had displaced

and imprisoned the able and experienced "Wedderkop, the only

statesman who could hold head against him, and now, at the

age of forty-five, was the real ruler of Holstein. He had so far

been able to maintain the neutrality of the Gottorp share of

Holstein, and yet, notwithstanding the Swedish connections, to

remain on excellent terms with the Danes. When Stenbock

advanced into Mecklenburg their relations were still cordial,

but after the battle of Gadebusch, with the rumours, too, of

Charles' speedy return with a Turkish army, when it seemed as

i£ the Swedes were again about to get the upper hand, over-

tures were made to Stenbock. Goertz, besides, could not for-

get that the young Duke, Charles Frederick, as the nephew of

the unmarried Charles XII., was the presumptive heir to the

Swedish crown. A most secret convention was therefore made
with Stenbock, by which the latter was to be admitted into the

fortress of Tonning, on condition that it should be subsequently

restored to liolstein, and that if the Swedes were victorious in

the war Holstein should be indemnified for its losses by the

cession of Segeberg and Pinneberg. He wished, however, to

cover the Administrator from the wrath of the Danes, and

therefore provided Stenbock with a forged order of admission to

the fortress, dated back in July, 1712, purporting to be signed by

the young Duke, who was only twelve years of age and had no

power to transact public business. At the last moment, when

'See vol. i., p. 385.
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it was seen that the Swedes, cooped up in the Eiderstedt, had

no chance before the allies, Stambke was sent post-haste with a

counter order. But it was too late. Stambke was somehow

detained as a suspicious character, and the Swedes had appeared

and been admitted. The King of Denmark was not imposed

upon by the transaction, and, angry at this breach of neutrali-

ty, occupied the towns of Slesvig and Kiel, and subsequently

the whole of the Gottorp possessions and the Bishopric of

Eutin. The Duke-Administrator had taken time by the fore-

lock, and had gone to Hamburg before the delivery of the

fortress.

This intrigue having proved unsxiccessful in preservmg Hol-

stein from loss, Goertz now tried the other tack, and entered

into communication with the Danes to procure Stenbock's sur-

render, provided that the territory of Holstein should be imme-

diately evacuated by the allies and an indemnity paid for the

losses caused by the war. For this purpose he went to Sten-

bock at Tonning, and then to Wellingk at Hamburg, and, on re-

turning to the camp at Husum, assured Elemming and Dolgoniky

that Stenbock would certainly surrender. The Danes were dis-

posed to agree to this, and had already prepared a convention

in this sense, when the Russians objected to the surrender

being made to the Danes alone, and insisted that aU the allies

should be consulted. Menshikof and Dolgoniky, convinced

that the whole thing was a trick, procured the expulsion from

Danish territory of Goertz, who immediately made a hasty

diplomatic tour of Europe, applying first to the Tsar and to the

Elector at Hanover, then to the King at Berlin, and then to

Queen Anne at London, asking for the restitution, at least, of

the Bishopric of Liibeck. Direct negotiations were now begun

with Stenbock, which resulted in his surrender about the mid-

dle of May. His forces at that 'time numbered about 13,000,

of whom 3,000 were in the hospital. It was agreed that on

payment of a ransom of 80,000 thalers, Stenbock and his army

should be allowed to return to Sweden. There were, however,

long delays, and the additional amount for the subsistence of the

troops ran the total up to 164,000 thalers, twice the sum which

the Swedish Government had sent or could send. A complica-

tion was made also by the demand of the Tsar for the release



FATE OF. HAMBURG. 241

of all the Eussian prisoners held in Sweden. Thus the army
was lost to Sweden. Stenbock was at first well treated at Court

at Copenhagen, but after several times attempting to escape was
imprisoned in the fortress, where he died in 1716.

Although Stenbock and the Swedes had surrendered, yet the

fortress of Tonning was still held by its garrison of Holsteiners,

and the Danes continued the siege, refusing all inducements to

assist at the siege of Stralsund. The Russians and Saxons

marched back into Pomerania, occupied the island of Riigeuj

and laid siege, these to Stettin and the others to Stralsund. On
the way Menshik&f sent a detachment to both Hamburg and

Liibeck, and on the ground of libels against the Tsar which had

gone tmpunished, of Russian funds allowed to be seized by Swe-

den, of insults to Eussian agents, and of the constant trade

etween those towns a;nd Sweden, a contribution in satisfac-

tion of all claims was extorted from them, of 200,000 thalers

from Hamburg, and a sixth of that sum from Lubeck. "When

Peter heard of this, he wrote to Menshikof :
' Thanks for

the money, which was taken from Hamburg in a good man-
ner and without loss of time. Send the greater part of it to

Kurakin. It is very necessary for the purchase of ships. After

you have sent the greater part—if possible, at least haK—to

Kurakin, we can this spring construct about thirty ships and

frigates. Wherefore I am sure you will not neglect this great

matter.'

Goertz was again intriguing in Denmark, much to the dis-

pleasure of Dolgoruky, who refused to listen to any of his prop-

ositions, and, finding him such an implacable foe, he went to

Menshikof, and insinuated himself into his confidence with a

proposition for cutting a ship-canal through Slesvig, and thus

giving Russian ships an exit into the North Sea without passing

through the Sound. He soon developed another idea of a close

alliance between Russia and the House of Holstein-Gottorp, and

even spoke of making a marriage between the young Duke and

the Princess Atme, the eldest daughter of the Tsar. These

overtm-es being favourably received, Goertz now proposed to

persuade the commandants of the Swedish towns in Pomerania

to surrender, on condition that those towns should be sequestered

until the end of the war by the King of Prussia and the Admin-
VoL. II.—16
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istrator of Holstein, half the garrison in each to be Prussian,

and half of Holstein troops. Menshikof accepted these propo-

sitions, as he was stire it would please the Tsar, and would be

the means of gradually dragging Prussia into the war.\Basse-

witz, one of the Holstein Ministers, went to Berlin, where he

endeavoured to persuade King Frederick William to accept this

joint sequestration, hinted at a further plan he had of giving the

Swedish throne to the young Duke of Holstein in case of the

death of Charles XH., and promised, in consideration of Prus-

sian support for this plan, to transfer Stettin and its neighboui--

hood entirely to Prussia. The plans of Groertz and "Wellingk,

who acted with him, were set at nought by therefusalof Meyer-

feld, the Commandant of Stettin, to give up that town, alleging

his military oath. Goertz then pressed Menshikof to hasten

the siege. The King of Prussia was veiy anxious to receive

Stettin and the other towns, even conjointly with the Holstein-

ers, but he wished this without effort, or expense on his own

part. He had, at first, entered warmly into the project,' but

he did not wish to embroil himself. He therefore refused

troops, and declined to lend the artillery to Menshik6f, who

had already begun the siege of Stettin, because this would be

an act of open war in which it would be dangerous for Prussia

to engage.

Peter, who approved of the project of sequestration in case

the Prussians could be made allies, was annoyed at the King's

refusal and his apparent disposition to favom- Holstein against

Denmark, but at th^ same time was very circumspect. He ob-

jected to doing anything which might be construed as against

the interests of his allies the Danes, and warned Menshik6f not,

to trust too much to the representations of Goertz. ' Although

the Danes have shown themselves ungi'ateful, and act blindly

' A convention had been signed at Hamburg, June 10, 1713, between Wel-

lingk and the Duke-Administrator, by which Wismar and Stettin were to be

occupied by Gottorp and another neutral power until peace was made. On

June 22 a treaty was made between Holstein and Prussia by which Pomerania

was to be sequestered by Prussia, and occupied by Prussian and Holstein

troops, Prussia agreeing to endeavour to obtain the restitution of Gottorp. A

secret article recognised the succession of Holstein to Sweden, and promised

the absolute cession of Pomerania to Prussia.
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and badly, yet still they are enemies of the Swedes, and are

necessary to us, especially at sea. It is still difficult to depend
on our new friends the Holsteiners. God can turn Saul into

Paul, but stiU I am somewhat of the belief of Thomas.' Two
days later he wrote again :

' For God's sake act cautiously with

them. It is better to keep the word of the Apostle, who writes :

" Show me your faith from your works." One cannot believe

words, for although, indeed, they desire to make their Prince

King of Sweden, yet the old one is still alive. The acts of the

Danes are not advantageous to us. But what is to be done ?

We should not make them angry on account of the Swedes.'

Meanwhile Menshikof had acted according to his own lights.

At the end of August he had received the Saxon artillery, and,

in consideration of that, had concluded a convention with Flem-
ming, by which he bound himself to attack Stettin with the

Eussian troops alone, and then to sequester it to the King of

Poland conjointly with the Administrator of Holstein; the

King of Prussia to substitute himself for the King of Poland
in this sequestration, on condition of paying the Kussians and
the Poles for their expenses during the siege. The siege went
on so successfully after this, that Meyerfeld, the commandant,
seeing no hope of holding out, on September 30, through the in-

tervention of Bassewitz, agreed to abandon Stettin, and give it up
in sequestration to the King of Prussia and the Administrator of

Holstein. Two Swedish battalions were allowed to remain in

the town after their taking the oath of allegiance to the Duke
of Holstein. Then, proceeding to the little town of Schwedt,
in Brandenburg, Menshikof met King Frederick William and
concluded an arrangement with him (October 6, 1Y13) for the

sequestration of Stettin and its dependencies, as also of Stral-

sund and Wismar, when they should be taken. The expenses

of the siege were estimated at 400,000 thalers, of which the

King paid 100,000 down to the Kussians, and promised 100,000

more by Christmas. The other 200,000 were to be paid by
Holstein to the Saxons, the Prussians to advance the money if

necessary. Menshikof then marched towards the Kussian fron-

tier, leaving in Pomerania only 6,000 Russian troops. King
Frederick William was delighted at getting what he so much
desired. He begged Golofkin to inform the Tsar that, for
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such a kindness, he would always keep his life and his property

at the Tsar's service, and that no offers from Sweden could ever

tempt him to act against Kussian interests.'

' J. G. Droysen, Friedriehl., Friedrieh WUMml., Leipzig, 1869 ; P. von
Ranke, Genem des Preuamehen Staates, Leipzig, 1874 ; Dn Mont, Corps Dip-

lomatique: OoUeciion of Euman La/ws ; Fryxell; Sarauw; Lundblad andVol-
meer; P. F. Carlson, Om Ih'edmnderhandlingwrne, 1709-1718 ; Stookhobn

1857 ; King Oscar of Sweden, Bid/ratg tiU Bmriges Krigshigtoria, 1711-1713, in

Kongl. Vitterhets Mistorie Handlingar, Stockholm, 1863, 1864, 1867 ; Anlm
fur Saclmsche Oeschichte, vol. xi., Leipzig, 1873 ; Papers from Saxon Archives

in CoU. ofImp. Riismn Mist. Society, vol. xx., St. Petersburg, 1877; Golik6^

V. ; Solovief, xvii ; Journal of Peter the Cfreat, i. ; Guerrier, Leibnitz.



LXVII.

LAST PLICKERINGS OF WAR.—1713-1715.

When the Tsar reached St. Petersburg, he had already

sufficiently detailed intelligence from his ambassadors in Turkey

to ease his mind on the subject of any danger of war in that,

quarter, and although during that spring the southern frontiers

were ravaged by the Tartars, he was able to devote all his at-

tention to fitting out his fleet for a new expedition against

Finland.

This expedition had been planned long before, and in the

preceding November Peter had written from Carlsbad to Ad-
miral Apr^xin :

' This province is the mother of Sweden, as you
yourself are aware ; not only m.eat, &c., but even wood is

brought from it, and if God let us get as far as Abo next sum-

mer, the Swedish neck will become easier to bend.'

About the very ,time that Stenbock and his troops surren-

dered at Tonning, Peter appeared off Helsingfors, a flourishing

town situated on the best harbour of Finland, with a fleet of

two hundred galleys and boats of all sorts, mostly small, having

on board 16,000 troops. General Lybecker, who had made such

an unlucky campaign against St. Petersburg in 1708,' had now
the chief command in Finland. He was very unpopular, con-

stant complaints were preferred against him at Stockholm, and
a strong movement had been made to remove him ; but as he

had been appointed personally by the King, the Council after

several discussions did not dare interfere, even when Tessin

said :
' It is a question whether we shall get rid of Lybecker or

of Finland.' There being but a small garrison at Helsingfors,

the Swedes abandoned it and burned the stores, as they could

not carry them away, to prevent them falling into the hands of

' See pp. 90, 91.
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the Russians. Finding this state of things, the Eussian fleet

immediately sailed for the neighboming port of Borga. Ly-

becker retired from Borga, which place was immediately

occupied by the Eussians, and began a series of marches and

countermarches in the interior, keeping always at a safe dis-

tance from the coast and the. enemy. The Russians advanced

as far as Abo, the capital of Finland^ which had also been aban-

doned. The Government property and the University library

had been taken to Stockholm, and most of the inhabitants had

taken refuge in the Aland isles. It was not, however, until

October that Apraxin and Golitsyn came up with the Swedish

troops under Armfelt, a native Finlander—Lybecker having

been temporarily recalled to Stockholm-—stationed in an advan-

tageous position at the defile of Palkane, about half-way be-

tween Tavastehus and the present Tammerfors. The Swedes

were defeated with great loss (October 17, 1713), and all south-

ern Finland was in. the power of the Russians. The conquest

was completed by another battle at Stor Kyro, near Vasa, on

March 2, 1714, where Armfelt and his troops showed great

bravery, and lost over 2,000 men. In the following summer

(August 9, 1714), the little fortress of Nyslot was taken, and no

more Swedish troops remained in the country. At about the

same time (August 8, 1714) the Tsar, who had been cruising

about the gulf the whole summer, gained his first great naval

battle off Hango Udd. The trophies of this victory were a

frigate, nine galleys, and 116 guns. Ehrenskjold, the Swedish

admiral, was rescued from drowning and treated with great

consideration. Well could Peter return to St. Petersburg in

triumph, assume the rank of Vice-Admiral, which, with the

repetition of the same old farce, was conferred upon him by

Ramodanofsky acting as Majesty in a full Senate, delight him-

self by feastings at Menshikof's house.and elsewhere, and at the

launching of a ship, the keel of which he had himself laid, ask

his comrades whether twenty years before any of them ever

dreamed of winning a naval battle in the Baltic with ships built

by their own hands, and living in this town built on soil con-

quered from the enemy.'

' In the naval campaign of 1713 Vice-Admiral Cruys, who had served with

honour since the formation of the fleet, had incurred the Tsar's displeasure by
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During these two years, 1713 and 1714, so much of which

he spent at sea, and notwithstanding attacks of illness, Peter

busied himself also with constructing harbours at Eeval, ar-

ranging commercial matters at Eiga, sending exploring expedi-

tions to Central Asia, receiving Persian, Khivan and Kalmuck
embassies, building ships, investigating mineral waters, im-

proving St. Petersburg at the cost of other towns, finishing his

palace and gardens, translating and reprinting books, providing

for the education of the youth, and endeavouring to prevent and

punish the peculation of Government officials—some of high

rank and great in favour—of which more hereafter. But

nothing occurred of sufficient importance to detain us from con-

sidering the progress of events in Pomerania.

The news of the sequestration of Stettin was not received

with as much pleasure at Copenhagen as at Berlin. The
Danes, who soon learned of the treaty Goertz had made with

Prussia, complained bitterly of the wrong which had been done

them in favour of the Duke of Holstein, who was an adherent

of Sweden. They laid the blame chiefly, however, upon Flem-

ming, and admitted that they would have been satisfied if Stet-

tin had been given up solely to the King of Prussia and no

mention had been made of the Administrator. The feeling

against Holstein became so bitter that all negotiations came to

an end, and Goertz felt obliged to leave Denmark concealed iii

a peasant's cart. Peter replied to the complaining letter of the

King of Denmark, by admitting that certain articles of the

treaty of sequestration were against the general interest, but ex-

plained that Menshikof had been obliged to accept them in

order to obtain the concurrence of the King of Prussia ; that

when the other towns came to be sequestered, he would see that

means were taken to protect the interests of Denmark, but that

he could make no change with regard to Stettin as the treaty

had already gone into effect, and had besides been made with

pointing out tlie great dangers of the Finnish coast. Unluckily he experienced

the truth of his predictions. While pursuing the Swedes two of his ships got

aground. He was tried hy a court-martial of Russians, and, being a foreigner,

was condemned to death, which the Tsar, at the request of the good-hearted

Catherine, commuted to degradation and exile in Kazan, which lasted till

1715, when he was pardoned.
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the King of, Poland,' to whose share this city had been allotted

in the division. He delayed, however, for some time the rati-

fication.

Prussia had already justified the fears of the Danes by de-

manding under threats the evacuation of Holstein. The rep-

resentations of Count Alexander Golofkin at Berlin, and the

displeasure of France at Prussia's occupying the Swedish pos-

sessions in Germany, caused King Frederick WUliam to desist

from further representations on this subject. [fiTevertheless, the

Danes were stiU disquieted on the score of Prussia, and also

because the Duke of Holstein was the nearest heir to the Swe-

dish throne, and they were unwilling to come to terms with him

unless he either resigned his rights to the Swedish crown or

bound himself not to unite Holstein and Slesvig to Sweden.

The Tsar ordered Dolgoriiky to state that he himself shared this

view, and that even other states would not allow the Duchies

and Sweden to be under the same rule.

T
Although England had gained little by all her sacrifices in

the War of the Spanish Succession, and the Treaty of TJtreeht,

now about to be concluded, left everything much as it was be-

fore, there were still found English statesmen who were un-

willing to recognise the laws of history, and who, for the sake

of British commerce and imaginary British interests, wished to

restore what they called the ' balance of power ' in the Iforth.

In February, 1713, Lord Strafford, the English Minister at the

Hague, said to Prince Kurakin that, in the interests of English

commerce, it was necessary to end the l^orthern War, and that

England intended to restore the previous equilibrium. It was

hard for Pussia to come to terms with Sweden, but it would be

wrong to detach Livonia from Sweden, and the Tsar ought to

content himself with St. Petersburg. He insinuated to influen-

tial people in Holland that if Russia had a harbour on the Baltic

the Russian fleet would become dangerous, not only to neigh-

bouring, but to distant States ; and the English merchants trading

in the Baltic made an address to the Queen against allowing a

Russian port, the result of which would be that Russian trade

would be carried on in Russian instead of, as formerly, in Dutch

and English ships. A Dutch Minister i-eturned from Copenha-

gen reported the Tsar as having said to him that he would be
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ready to accept the mediation of the Emperor and Holland, be-

cause he hoped in their disinterestedness, but suspected England
of hostility. He would be moderate if the mediators were mod-
erate and used no threats, but in the contrary case he would
ruin Livonia and the other provinces he had conquered in such

a way that not one stone should be left on another. In June,

Lord Strafford demanded that Russia, Saxony, and Denmark
should accept the mediation of England and Holland. Kurakin
was instructed to avoid mediation if possible, but to accept good
offices, and to include in the preliminary articles the restoration

to Russia of the old Russian provinces—Ingria and Karelia

—

which had been ceded by the peace of Stolbovo. Livonia the

Tsar would give to Poland on condition that it never should be
transferred to another power, and if necessary would give it up
to Sweden, with the consent of the Poles, provided that the for-

tresses were razed. If England and Holland were strongly to

support the Swedish side, he was to repeat the Tsar's remarks,

that he would thoroughly destroy all the towns he had conquered

rather than give them back to the enemy in their integrity ; for

to give back fortresses into the hands of an enemy is one's self to

let the serpent into your bosom. Following the example of the

Danes and Poles, 50,000 thalers were to be promised to Lord

Strafford, and a good round sum to the go-between. Fifty

thousand ducats were also set apart to influence Whitworth, the

English delegate to the Brunswick conference. A conference

of plenipotentiaries met, indeed, at Brunswick in 1713, but, as

neither Russia, Poland, nor Sweden sent delegates, it accom-

plished nothing. Things went on as the Tsar wanted—very

slowly.' England was occupied with home matters, and Hol-

land was more troubled about the alliance between England and

France, and the still continuing war between France and the Em-
peror, than about ITorthern affairs. Peter desired to profit by

circumstances, and in order thoroughly to appease the Danish

Government and excite it to an invasion of Sweden, he sent to

' Duke Anton TJlricli, in a letter to Leibnitz dated March 3, 1713, says

:

' The conference here lasts always. It is much like a dovecote. One ambas-

sador flies in while another flies out, and good Count Schonborn can never get

fliem altogether. ' And again on March 10 :
' The conference here lasts on ever,

and can indeed be called a Zeituoig's-Conferem, which regulates itself accord-

ing to the gazettes received.

'
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assist Dolgoriiky, at Copenhagen, Yaguzhinsky, a Pole by birth

who had long been in his service and close to his person, and

whom, on account of his capacity and fidelity, he had promoted

from an orderly to an aide-de-camp general.

The negotiations of Yaguzhinsky met with little success.

He himself thought his coming had done more harm than good.

The Danes believed that the Tsar had some secret reason for

pressing them to action, and that greater subsidies could be ob-

tained. Yaguzhinsky managed to get an invitation to supper

with the King's mistress, Countess Eeventlow, and there had a

few words with the King, who demanded a written guarantee

from Prussia and then aid in money. The Danes were plainly

unwilling to evacuate JBLolstein, and had no money for fitting

out their fleet. They would be willing to guarantee to the King

of Prussia the possession of Stettin, if he would give a written

promise to cease all relations with the Duke of Holstein and

not interfere on his behalf, and would guarantee to Denmark
the Duchies of Werden and Bremen. They demanded fi-oni

the Russians a subsidy of 400,000 thalers, besides the 150,000

which were still unpaid. The capture of Tonning, in February,

1714, made no difference in the demands for subsidies, but the

Danes eventually agreed that for 200,000 thalers, in addition to

the unpaid sums, they would unite their fleet with the Eussian

for action against Carlscrona, under the command of the Tsar,

but their troops must stay in Holstein, from fear of the King

of Prussia.

Meanwhile Bassewitz appeared before Peter at Riga, and

subsequently followed him to St. Petersburg, in order to speak

for the interests of the young Duke of Holstein. He was in

company with Sehlippenbach, whom the King of Prussia had

sent to hasten the ratification of the Schwedt convention, and

who had been chosen, in part, on account of his capacity for

drinking hard and still keeping sober. Personally, Bassewitz

got on with Peter, though the Tsar laughed at the grand designs

of such a small country, and said :
' Your Court, directed by

the vast plans of Goertz, seems to me like a skiff carrying the

mast of a man-of-war—the least side-wind will upset it.' But

the good side of the sequestration of Stettin, and of Menshikofs

administration in Pomerania, had not yet shown itself ; and the
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Tsar, who had previously suspected the diplomatists of Holstein,

was little disposed to listen seriously to Bassewitz, even though

he was aided in drawing up his propositions by Menshikof . At
this time accusations of misconduct and of financial dishonesty

were producing a coolness on the Tsar's part towards Menshikof,

who was placed in a critical position.' Peter, suspecting an in-

tention of breaking up the alliance with Denmark, criticised and

rejected most of the propositions of Bassewitz, which related

to the restitution of his possessions to the Duke, his eventual

succession to the Swedish throne, contained a proposition for

the marriage of the Duke to the eldest daughter of the Tsar,

and made various promises for the future. Copies of the cor-

respondence found at Tonning, showing the intrigues of Goertz,

had been sent by the Danes to the Tsar, and he now resolved

to drop the whole business, saying :
' But what if Sweden buys

the friendship of Denmark by the cession of the district of

Bremen, and the friendship of Prussia by the cession of Stet-

tin, and after that turns against me
;
yes ! through the means

of you intriguers of Holstein ?
' Dismissing Bassewitz, he

added :
' Your reasons are good, but I have my own which are

better. It would be unworthy of me to bear too hard on an ally

who is entering into negotiations to repair his mistakes.' Bas-

' Weber writes to Uie Elector of Hanover, April 17-28, 1714 :
' There are

two parties here, one Menshikof-Lowenwolde, and the other all the Chancery,

the Senate, the Grand-Admiral Apraxin, Field-Marshal Sherem^tief, and the

two Dolgorukies. All this last party are scarcely friends of Schlippenbaoh and
Bassewitz, hut many of them are so only to do harm to Prince Menshikof,

against whom great and small are extremely hitter. . . . The enemies of Men-
shikof show themselves more and more against him since his return from
Germany. The Senate has cited his secretary, Volkof, to give an account of

the great sums of money sent to Prince Menshikof in Germany to pay the offi-

cers, of whom there are a great number here who complain that they have not

received their pay. It is a step the Senate would never have dared to take in

the past. But a great shock has been given to his fortune.

'

Afterwards, when Prussia had joined the alliance, Menshikof, in talking

with the Dutch Minister, De Bie, spoke of the cry raised against him on his re-

turn from Pomerania, and said :
' Now they keep quiet. This sequestration

ought to have ruined me, but now it is the reason that the Prussian King, in

order to keep Stettin, which is so dear to him, has concluded a new treaty of

alliance with His Majesty the Tsar. These then are the fruits of my bad
administration ! What has Denmark done ? Nothing, only cheated His

Tsarish Majesty.'
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sewitz was then requested to leave Russia, though, out of per-

sonal regard for him, the order was put in an inoffensive way.

Goertz, who was plotting at Berlin, confident that Charles

XII. was really on his return, resolved to throw over Bassewitz,

and the latter, on stopping for a few days at Kdnigsberg, found

that a box of secret and compromising papers had been stolen

by his secretary, a creature of Goertz, and also that orders had

been sent to the Holstein troops in Pomerania to arrest him as he

passed. By riding hard he succeeded in stopping the post and

in recovering his papers, and he then went straight to BerUn,

where he revealed the whole affair, as well as the secret of his

negotiations in Russia. Goertz hastened to Hamburg to the

Administrator, to whom the King of Prussia wrote a letter re-

fusing to allow Goertz to remain in Berlin as representative of

Holstein. By some accident the Duke put the letter in his

pocket without reading it, and Goertz started off the same night

for Berlin, where he appeared much to the King's astonishment,

who forbade his Ministers to talk to him. Then began a cor-

respondence which made such a diplomatic scandal that the King

finally ordered him to leave Berlin within ten hours and the

country in twenty-four, otherwise he would be arrested. Goertz

answered that he had orders from his master to go immediately

to the conference at Brunswick, and departed on July 22. The

scandal in the diplomatic world was still further increased when

the King issued a rescript, forbidding his Cabinet Ministers to

have any intercourse with Foreign Ministers and Ambassadors

other than in writing or in conferences.

Dolgoriiky was ordered to inform the Danish Court of the

propositions and departure of Bassewitz, and to add that the

Tsar expected similar treatment to be given to any unfriendly

proposals. Not content with this, the Tsar wrote to the King,

consenting to give him 150,000 rubles for equipping the ileet,

besides stores, and promising to keep the King of Prussia from

unfriendly acts. He urged him by all means to make an attack

on Scania. ' The money is too little, and it is now too late,'

replied the Danes, to whom both the English and the French

were insinuating the dangers of allowing the Russians to become

top strong on the Baltic.

Meanwhile came a new claimant to the participation of the
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spoils. When Prince Kurdkin went to Hanover in April, 1Y14,

Bernstorff told him that the Elector highly approved of the in-

tention of the Tsar to exclude Sweden from Germany, and pro-

posed that Stettin should be permanently ceded to Prussia,

Bremen and "Werden to HanOver ; that the Duke of Holstein

should give Slesvig to' Denmark, and be indemnified with other

lands which would bring in an equivalent revenue ; that Stral-

sund, when taken, should be given to Prussia ; and that the

fortifications of Wismar should be destroyed, and the town be

handed over to the Duke of Mecklenburg. This proposition

greatly pleased the Tsar, and Gol&fkin ordered the Russian

Ministers abroad to assist in carrying it out. The death of

Queen Anne (August ^, 1Y14), and the accession of the Elector

of Hanover to the English throne, gave the Hanoverian plan of

action against the Swedes an especial signification. The nego-

tiations in regard to it were impeded by the obstinacy of Den-

mark, which wished all along the indemnity to the Duke of

Holstein to be put to the account of Hanover, and was unwill-

ing to surrender Bremen and Werden to Hanover before the

general peace, lest, having got them into his possession, the

Elector might enter into negotiations with Sweden for their

cession.

In this way the whole of the year 1Y14 slipped by without

any military action on the part of Denmark.

There was, however, great need for prompt action, both vsdth

arms and with diplomacy, for Charles XH,, on November 22,

suddenly made his appearance in Stralsund. Though he had

decided to leave Turkey in the early part of the year, he had

been detained by a need of money, which the Sultan offered to

give him, but which he refused to receive except as a loan. At
last he left Demotika, on October 1, with a large suite. At

Pitesti in Wallachia he waited for a few days for some money,

and then continued his route with only one companion—dis-

guised as the merchant Peter Erisch—through Hungary to

Vienna, and then, making a detour to avoid the Saxons, by

Eegensburg, Nuremberg, Cassel, Brunswick, and Giistrow.

The further he went the more impatient he became, and the

journey from Pitesti was accomplished in sixteen days, for the

last ten of which the King did not take off his clothes. He
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was SO altered by fatigue when he arrived at Stralsnnd that aA

first he was not recognised even by General Diicker, although

expecting him. He soon showed that he intended to regain

his old position, and to push the war vigorously. Goertz, who
through his agent Fabricius at Bender, had succeeded in con-

vincing the King that he had acted solely with a view to Swed-

ish interests, set out at once for Stralsnnd with the Duke-

Administrator. They andved on December 1, immediately de-

manded an audience, and, after remaining for a long time in the

King's cabinet, Goertz came out Minister of Sweden and the

favourite of Charles XII.

The negotiations on the subject of the arrangement with

Hanover continued, and finally, in February, 1715, the Danes

consented to yield Bremen and "Werden to King George.

Shortly after they became again troubled lest, after all, Prussia

should refuse to join them and should make terms with Sweden,

and thought it was therefore indispensable to send some troops

to protect the Danish frontier. Dolgoniky, seeing their evident

alarm, tried to reassm-e them as to the intentions of Prussia,

and insisted upon the junction of the Danish with the Russian

fleet. This the Danish Ministers opposed until the English

fleet should come into the Baltic and blockade Carlscrona.

Dolgordky seems to have had better notions of the relations of

Hanover to England, and felt sure that the English fleet would

take no action whatever against Sweden.

Meanwhile, Count Alexander Gol6fkin was working in Berlin

to induce Prussia jto join the Xorthem alliance. There were

gi-eat difficulties. But these difficulties gradually disappeared

Many things conspired to bring about this result. EJiowing

the liking of Frederick William for tall grenadiers, Peter had

sent to him eighty completely-equipped Russian soldiers, who

arrived early in 1714. Twelve of them were tall enough to be

incorporated in the Grenadier regiment ; and the King, in

thanking Peter, referred to the mission of Schlippenbach, and

added : ' You will remember that, when I last had the pleasure

of seeing you here in Schonhausen, I said that I must have a

year's time to bring my army and finances into complete order,

and that before that I could not engage myself to anything.

This time has now passed, and God has given me the grace to
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bring my affairs into fit order, and I can now draw nearer to

you.' ' The preparations made everywhere for the return of

Charles XII., the constant Swedish reinforcements sent to

Pomerania, the feeling of admiration and sympathy for Charles

in many of the German states, the fear of the intrigues of

Goertz, the good understanding between Holstein and Sweden
now plainly Tisible, and showing itself in acts which were
claimed to release Prussia fi'om its treaty obligations towards
Holstein, induced the King to conclude with Hussia a secret

treaty of guarantee (July 12, 1714), by which the Tsar prom-
ised not to make peace without obtaining for Prussia Stettin

and its dependencies as far as the Peene, "Wolgast, Wollin,

and Usedom, while Prussia agreed to assist the Tsar if he were
attacked in Yiborg, Peval, and Esthonia, and not to hinder his

annexing other Swedish provinces.

The conduct of Charles XII. after his return did not inspire

hopes of maintaining peace. He refused to recognise the se-

questration, and demanded the surrender of Stettin, refusing to

pay for it and implying even that the King had never spent any
money. He talked about punishing not only his enemies but

his false friends, and finally dislodged a small Prussian detach-

ment from Wolgast. This incident, in spite of the efforts of

the Prench Minister to meditate, turned the scale, and taken

with the feeling which was daily growing stronger, that the

prosperity of Prussia depended on expelling Sweden from
Pomerania, the insistance of the Danes and the Hanoverians,

and the skilful use which Golofkin made of some rumours
from Yienna as to the feelings of the Emperor, finally brought

King Frederick William to declare his intention of sending

troops into Pomerania. Ilgen, who had been the great dis-

suader fi-om war, was now so alarmed lest some conflict might

arise with the Swedes before an arrangement had been made

' Finding his present was appreciated, Peter continued from time to time to

send tall grenadiers, sometimes clioosing among soldiers and sometimes from,

the peasantry. Up to 1724 two hundred and forty-eight men altogether were

sent to Prussia. Some of them who had been separated from their wives and
families became discontented, and at the Tsar's request the King allowed them
to return on receiving fresh men in their places. New recruits were occasion-

ally sent to Berlin until the reign of the Empress Elizabeth. M. Putzillo in

Mussian Messenger, No. 3, 1878 ; A. Briickner in Susmche Bevue, vii. 4, 1878.
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with the allies, and the brunt of the war be put upon Prussia

that, he became a partisan of the Northern alliance. Treaties

with Denmark and Hanover were at last signed, and in July

the Prussian, Danish, and Saxon troops, numbering in all about

60,000. men, appeared off Stralsiind. Owing to the lack of ma-

terial the siege was not really begun until the end of October.

Meanwhile, with the assistance of the Danish ships,. they occu-

pied Usedom and Kiigen. Prince Basil Dolgoriiky, who was

at the Danish headquarters, reported (August 3) :
' The day

before yesterday the Danish King reviewed the Prussian cav-

alry and dined with the King of Prrissia, where for joy at the

capture of Usedom they made mighty merry, and both Kings

danced about the table, even without ladies, and did other simi-

lar things, and the Danish King smoked tobacco, ' although it

was against his nature.' Soon there were little difficulties. The

Prussians wished the aid of more Saxon troops, which King

Augustus was willing to send, as he did not wish to lose his

share in the division of the spoils. But the Danes, who hated

the Saxons, opposed this. The .Prussians yielded, and agreed

to accept Kussian troops instead; but there was then difficulty

because King Frederick William insisted that they should be

absolutely under his orders. This, was refused, the question of

Saxon troops again came up, and finally a separate convention

was made with Denmark for the employment of fifteen battal-

ions of Russian infantry and a thousand cavalry. As soon as

the Prussians knew this they agreed to the same thing. The

Kussian Ministers wrote home to their Government that the

Prussians accepted the Russian troops, not because they had

not enough of their own, but because they wished to save their

own men, and that they would have bad quarters and would

not be on the whole well cared for, but that stiU. there were

many political advantages to be derived from their presence.

Nevertheless the Russian troops never came. The Saxon Min-

isters, who needed them against the insurgents in Poland, where

there was a general movement against Augustus, begged the

allies not to insist on their presence in Pomerania, and they were

supported in this by Prince Gregory Dolgoriiky, the Russian

Minister at Warsaw, who requested Sheremetief to remain in

Poland. Stralsund was at last taken, in spite of the vigorous



FALL OF STBALSUND. 957

defence of Charles XII. himself, on December 22, 1715. An
attempt was made to save the place the day before its fall, by

promising a peace with Prussia and Poland on advantageous

terms, but the King of Prussia replied that the only terms he

could consider were for the capitulation of the fortress. Charles

XII. left a few hours earlier in a small boat for the Swedish

coast.

The Tsar was very angry that no Knssian troops were pres-

ent, for great as the emergency was in Poland, he. considered

the events in Pomerania far more important, and wrote to Dol-

goriiky :
' I am very much astonished that in your old age you

have lost your sense, and have allowed yourself to be fooled by

constant deceivers into keeping the troops in Poland.' He
wrote also to Yaguzhinsky :

' As to the tricks of Flemming, I

am not astonished, for such is their plough and their sickle.

But I am astonished at Prince Gregory, that in ' his old age he

should become a fool and has allowed himself to be led by the

nose.'

Though the Danes had asked for the help of Russian troops,

they absolutely refused to allow their fleet to co-operate with

the Russian in the Tsar's plan against the Swedish ports. The

admirals told Dolgoruky that to send the fleet three miles be-

yond Bornholm was the same as to burn it, for that all Den-

mark in that case would be exposed to extreme danger. The
English fleet indeed appeared in the Baltic, but not to shut up

the Swedes in Carlscrona, as the Danes had expected. On the

contrary, it visited Danzig, Konigsberg, Riga, and Reval, in

order to leave a ship or two at each place to take care of Eng-

lish commerce. When the Tsar, who was at Cronstadt, heard

of the arrival of the English and Dutch squadrons ofE the Es-

thonian coast, and ascertained that they were coming no nearer

than Reval, he went to meet them at Reval. On the anniver-

sary of the battle of Plango Udd he entertained the two admir-

als and their chief officers on the Russian ships, and subse-

quently both he and Catherine dined on board the English

flag-ship with Admiral Norris, to whom he gave his portrait

set in diamonds.

Troubles far greater than those arising from the slow prog-

ress of the war had annoyed Peter for many months past.

Vol. II.—17
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Apart from the dissatisfaction caused by his reforms, which

was only too visible,' he had found as the result of a careful in-

Yestigation that many of the highest officials, including some of

those nearest to himself, were implicated in peculations and

dishonest transactions on -a very large scale. Among these

were Menshikof himself, Siniavin, the First Commissary of the

Admiralty; Korsdkof, the Yice-Governor of St. Petersburg;

Alexander Kikin, Councillor of the Admiralty, and also a great

favourite of the Tsar ; the Senators Opiikhtin and Prince Yol-

konsky, and Prince Gagarin, the Governor-General of Siberia.

Several of these were executed, others knouted or exiled, others,

on account of their past services, or because where so many
seemed to be venal the Tsar thought that mercy would make

the pardoned criminal more devoted to him, obtained a re-

mission of their penalty. Menshikof got ofE with a heavy

fine. Later on we shall examine the interesting details of

this business, and the causes which produced this state of

affairs.

Death, too, had been busy in Peter's family. In May, 1715,

he lost his infant daughter K^atalia. In November the Crown

Princess Charlotte died after giving birth to a son, and some

weeks later the Tsaritsa Martha Matv6ievna, widow of the

Tsar Theodore, ended her life. The grief of Peter for his

daughter-in-law was mitigated by the birth (on Ijfovember 10,

1715) of a second son—so long and constantly desired—called

after his father, Peter. Mourning was suspended for three

days, salutes were fired, and the houses illuminated. Every

one went to Court, presented congratulations, and, according to

the custom of the country, offered ' Catherine costly presents on

her bed. Menshikof gave the young Prince five brilliants, for

which he paid in Germany eighty thousand rubles. Brandy,

beer, and mead were distributed to the common people in all

the streets. The foreign representatives were also admitted to

present their compliments to the Tsaritsa, and after that were

obliged to accompany the Tsar in boats to various palaces until

midnight, when a concert of vocal and instrumental music took

' De Bie, the Dutch Resident, reports (January 18, 1715) that letters are

frequently found in the streets, some advising the Tsar to introduce a moder-

ate style of Government, and others denouncing plots.
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place at the palace of the Princess Natalia, and the tired guests

were then allowed to seek repose.

The Tsar himself wrote to various of his friends announcing

the birth of the Prince. To Saltykof, the Major of the Guard,

he wrote :
' I announce to you that this night God has given

me a recruit named after his father. God grant me to see him

under a musket. I beg you to announce it with my compli-

ments to the officers and soldiers. What is spent for drink

I write down to my account.' Little Peter was christened on

1November 14. A splendid dinner was given at the palace,,

when from a large pasty on the table where the Tsar and for-

eign ministers sat, a very small dwarf decorated with red rib-

bons suddenly jumped out and drank to the health of the newly-

born Prince and of all pi-esent.'

' Solovief, xvlii. ; Golikof ; Journal of Peter the Oi-eat ; Fryxell ; Droysen j

Eanke, Oenem des preussisehen Staates ; Y. Koskinen, FinniscJie Geschiclite,

Xeipzig, 1874 ; G. Rein, Mnlands Sistoria, Helsingfors, 1870 ; Weber's De-

spatches in Hermann's Peter (fer Grosse und der Zaremtach Alexei, Leipzig,

1880.



LXVIII.

THE TSAB^VITCH ALEXIS.—1690—1715.

Alexis was still in his ninth year when the Tsaritsa Eudoxia

was sent to the convent at Suzdal, and he was confided to his

aunt J^ifatalia. But already at the age o£ six he had been given

a teacher, !Nikif6r Yidzemsky, to instruct him in the elements.

Yiazemsky possessed a little of that theological, scholastic rhet-

oric of the middle ages which had found entrance into Moscow

through the influence of the monks from Little Russia. He
gave to Alexis that love for biblical and religious reading which

distinguished him afterwards, but he was not a man of suffi-

ciently strong character to control' him. Peter, after his return

from abroad, thought to send his son to Dresden under the care

of the Polish General Carlovitch, to be educated together with

young Henry Lefort, but the death of Carlovitch in the attack

on Diinamiinde, in March, 1700, put an end to this plan. Car-

lovitch had recommended as teacher a certain Martin Neuge-

bauer from Danzig, who had been for some years in the Saxon

service, and who had accompanied him to Russia. During the

years that he had charge of the education of Alexis, Neuge-

bauer performed his duties conscientiously enough, but with

more zeal than discretion. He speedily came into conflict with

the Russians, and his own hot temper and rough manners ren-

dered it impossible for him to keep his position. He seems

himself as much to blame as the Russians, whom he subse-

quently abused so violently in pamphlets. One instance of

these quarrels is sufficiently ch^raTrteristic of the "times. Cn

June 3, 1702, the Tsar6vitch was dining -with IS'eugehauer,

Alexis ITaryshkin, and Viazemsky. The fowl was carved by

Neugebauer, and Alexis, after eating one piece helped himself

again. ]S'ar;^shkin told him to clear "his plate and 3)ut the bones
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of the piece he had eaten back into the dish, on which JSTeuge-

bauer remarked that this was ill-bred. Thereupon Alexis

whispered something to Nar;^shkin, and Neugebauer said that

this was also iU-bred. A dispute then arose between the two
chamberlains, in which Neugebauer uttered some strong ex-

pressions against the Kussians in general, and said :
' None of

3'ou understand anything. When I get abroad with the Tsare-

vitch, then I know what I shall do,' and threatened to demand
the dismissal of his Kussian colleagues, called the Eussians bar-

barians, dogs, and pigs, and at last angrily threw down his knife

and fork and went off threatening and cursing.

Neugebauer was dismissed, and, finding that he could get

no place in Eussia, went back to Germany, and entered the

Swedish army, becoming secretary to Charles XII. He was
succeeded by Huyssen, whose acquaintance we have already

made, who had been brought into the Russian service by Pat-

kul, and who had been very useful in replying to the libels of

Neugebauer. Huyssen drew up a plan of education, which
was approved by the Tsar, suitable for the education of the

heir of a great empire, according to which Alexis was to devote

much time to French, mathematics, history, and geography, as

well as politics. He was to study Fenelon's ' T^lemaque '' and

the works of Puffendorf, to read the foreign newspapers, to be

informed as to the duties and history of princes, especially of

absolute monarchs, and finally to wind up with a course of ar-

tillery and engineering. He was, besides this, daily to read the

Bible, so that in a given time he would finish the Old Testa-

ment once, and the New Testament twice. In his hours of leis-

ure he was to look at atlases and globes, practise with mathe-

matical instruments, and exercise himself in fencing, dancing,

and riding, as well as in different games, especially ball-playing.

CTnder Huyssen the studies of the young prince made much
progress, and his tutor seems to have been satisfied with his

capabilities and his desire to learn. The reports made to the

Tsar were generally favourable, and, writing to Leibnitz, Huys-

sen said : ' The Prince lacks neither capacity nor quickness of

mind. His ambition is moderated by reason, by sound judg-

ment, and by a great desire to distinguish himself, and to gain

everything which is fitting for a great prince. He is of a stu-
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dious and pliant nature, and wishes by assiduity to supply what

has been neglected in his education. I notice in him a great

inclination to piety, justice, uprightness, and purity of morals.

He loves mathematics and foreign languages, and shows a great

desire to visit foreign countries. He wishes to acquire thor-

oughly the French and German languages, and has already be-

gun to receive instruction in dancing and military exercises,

which give him great pleasure. The Tsar has allowed him not

to be strict in the observance of the fasts, for fear of harming

his health and his bodily development, but out of piety he re-

fuses any indulgence in this respect.'

Huyssen had declined to be solely responsible for the educa-

tion of Alexis, and in view of Menshikof's position and influence

had expressed his willingness to occupy the second place under

him. This supervision was not always well exercised. Alexis

himself in after-life complained of Menshikof's negligence, and

popular rumours spread about stories of harsh treatment and

cruelty. The Austrian agent Pleyer added a ciphered postscript

to one of his despatches: 'It is said that Menshikof in the

camp dragged the prince by the hair to the ground, and the

Tsar said nothing to it. Therefore people say now that he has

bewitched the Tsar.' This visit of Alexis to Nyenskanz in

1T03, his presence at the siege of Narva the next year as a vol-

unteer, the part which he took in the triumphs and festivities

on the Tsar's return, show that there were great interruptions

to the execution of the programme of study drawn up by Huys-

sen. A little later Alexis was entirely deprived of his teacher,

for Huyssen was sent abroad on diplomatic business which

seemed of the utmost importance, and did not return for three

years. During all this time, at the age when a youth has most

need of guidance and control, Alexis was left without a director

to his studies, and exposed to bad influences, and especially to

influences hostile to the reforms of the Tsar.

Peter's apparent indifference to the education of his son has

often been criticised as strange and remarkable. I^o one was

more conscious than he of the defects of his own early educa-

tion ; no one had striven harder to repair them ; no one was

more anxious that his son should be properly trained, and es-

pecially that he should become a successor capable of carrying
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out his plans. Under these circumstances one might have sup-

posed that the Tsar would have followed with more care

every step in the education of Alexis. His indifference was

indeed only apparent. The case with him was as it has been,

and is, with so many fathers in similar situations. He was taken

up with absorbing and engrossing pursuits. He was rarely

at home. He was on the frontier engaged in a difficult war,

was with his troops or with his ships. When he had provided

the means of education, it seemed as if nothing remained but

to give counsels—and very stern counsels too—as to the neces-

sity of making use of these means. In the camp at Narva in

1Y04, Peter, after telling Alexis that he had brought him there

to let him take part in the campaign and to show him that

he spared himself no trouble or danger, and that Ije wished

him to follow his example, added :
' But if my advice be

borne away by the winds, and you dp not wish to do what

I desire, I will not recognise you for my son, and I shall

pray God to punish you in this life and in the life to come.'

These threats were not at that time to be taken at all liter-

ally. They were such as a father, with a strong sense of

duty, and a strong desire for the success of his children, some-

times makes to a son whose character he has never taken the

right way of understanding. There is many a father whose

excellent qualities make him respected and appreciated by his

friends, and by all who meet him on equal terms, who has

the sincerest desire for the welfare of his children, but who,

through the absorbing occupations of his own life or by mis-

placed sternness, has never succeeded in making himself be-

loved by his children.

During the absence of Huyssen the studies of Alexis

continued after a fashion, although with many interruptions,

and Viazemsky gave the Tsar favourable accounts of the boy's

occupations.

Alexis lived much like a private person at Preobrazhen-

sky, with an income of 12,000 rubles, which more than suf-

ficed for all his needs. The foreigners in Moscow seemed to

think that his education was purposely neglected by Menshikof

,

and Alexis, in his complaints to the Austrian Court, when he

felt it necessary to apologise for himself, says the same thing.
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In Moscow Alexis Was thrown much into' the company
/of those who preferred the old order of things, and hated

the innovations of the Tsar. The dislike to reforms and nov-

elties was as strong among the upper classes, and even in

the palace itself, as among the common people. The admin-

istrators of the old school were given work such as they

had never before had to do, and the frequent orders and

reprimands of the Tsar showed that he had no intention that

their duties should be neglected. There were step-sisters of

Peter still living who in secret sympathised with Sophia, who
died in 1T04, and with Martha, who died only in 1707, in

her convent cell at Alexdndrovo. There were brothers of the

repudiated Eudoxia ; there were the great-uncles of Alexis,

the Naryshkins, who confirmed him in his distaste to carrying

out the commands of his father. But most of aU Alexis asso-

ciated with the clergy, and his confessor, Jacob Ignatief, had

as much influence of a similar kind as Nikon had at one time

[Upon the Tsar Alexis. In many respects the character of the

Tsarevitch was like that of his grandfather. He loved quiet,

was pious by nature, devoted to the reading of religious books

,and the study of religious questions. Together with Ignatief,

with some other priests and monks, with Kolytchof, the hus-

band of his nurse, with Viazemsky and the Nar;fshkins, he

formed an intimate circle of friends—a ' company '—^like that

of Peter's youth, with very diEEerent ideas, but with the same

habits of drinking and carousing. The ' company ' was almost

a secret society. Each member had a nickname, such as Satan,

Hell, Benefactor, Moloch, The Cow, Judas, The Dove, and a

cipher was used for secret correspondence.

^ It cannot therefore be wondered at that the impression was

made upon the common people that the Tsarevitch was opposed

to his father, and that he was looked upon by them as the only

hope in the future. Ignatief came from Suzdal, and Alexis was

therefore the more easily brought into communication with his

m,other, then in a convent at Suzdal. In 1706 he was taken to

visit her. The Tsar received information of this journey from

his sister Ifatalia, and immediately sent for Alexis to come to

Zolkiew, where he reprimanded him sharply. After this Alexis

wa,8 detained for several months in Smolensk, where he was
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charged bj his father with the collection and provisioning of

the troops. He returned to Moscow in the autumn of 1707, and
found new duties imposed upon him in the defence of the city

against a possible attack by the Swedes. To his work here,

and the fault which his father found with his inaction, we have
already made reference." Peter's wrath was appeased when he
came to know more exactly what had been done, and a good
understanding was restored. Alexis returned for a whUe to his

studies, but in the beginning of 1709 he abandoned them again

to conduct a party of 5,000 recruits to the Ukraine, where he
had a dangerous fit of illness.

After the battle of Poltava it was resolved that Alexis

should go to Dresden for his further education. Although the

Tsar reached this decision in October, 1709, yet the money and
the orders were so slow in coming that Alexis was detained all

the winter in Cracow, and could not begin his journey until the

spring of 1710. Soon after arriving in Dresden he went on to

Carlsbad, and in the neighbouring little town of Schlackenwerth

he met for the first time the Princess Charlotte of "Wolfenbiittel,

whom it had been arranged that he should marry.

Ifegotiations for this marriage had been going on for some
years through the medium of Urbich and Huyssen on one side,

and of Leibnitz and Schleinitz on the other. The House of

Brunswick, one branch of which sat on the throne of Hanover,

was connected with most of the reigning families of Europe.

The Princess Charlotte, granddaughter of the reigning Duke
Anton Ulrich," was sister of the wife of the Austrian Archduke
Charles, then a claimant to the Spanish throne, and later Em-
peror. She was being educated at the Saxon court by her aunt

the Queen of Poland, and was pretty, amiable, and aecompKshed.

Although negotiations had been actively carried on, yet Alexis

had never been told by his father what he was expected to do.

He knew well enough that he was to marry a foreigner, and he

' See page 86.

^ Anton tririch was then about seventy-six, a lively old man who was in

frequent correspondence with Leibnitz, and extracted amusement from life by
writing an unending novel, Octavia, in which he inserted all the amusing

things that came under his notice. He became a Catholic in 1710, hoping to

get the secularised bishopric of Hildesheim.
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had hints from others of the person destined for him. Peter

wished him to make the maiTiage from inclination, without

seeming to be forced to it.

The interview at Schlackenwerth passed off pleasantly, and

both Alexis and Charlotte seemed to be favom-ably impressed

with each other. In a letter written soon after this to his confes-

sor Alexis tells of the circumstances, and says that his father had

written to him to know how she pleases him. ' So now I know
that he wishes to marry me not to a Russian but to one of these

people, according to my choice. I wrote to him thsit if it is his

will that I should marry a foreigner, I will marry this princess,

whom I have seen and who pleases me, and who is a good fellow,

and better than whom I cannot find. I beg you to pray forme if it

is the will of God that this be accomplished ; if not, that it may be

hindered, for my hope is in Him. What He wishes will happen.

Write to me how your heart feels about this matter.' We have

not the confessor's reply, but we know from a letter of the Duke

to Urbich in August, 1710, that persons who enjoyed the confi-

dence of the Tsarevitch tried to hinder the marriage from relig-

ious scruples, and there was an opinion that Alexis was more

amiable than he should be towards the Princess Fiirstenburg and

the Princess Weissenfels, in the hope of gaining time. There

were intrigues, too, on the part of other princesses to make what

seemed so good a match. All fears, however, were dissipated

when in the autumn Alexis went twice to Torgau and at last

formally demanded the hand of the Princess from the Queen

of Poland. The marriage was deferred, and Alexis went back

to his studies and his -lonely life at Dresden. The studies made

progress. Alexis developed an aptitude for drawing, took dan-

cing and fencing lessons, studied French and German, and de-

voted much time to his favourite books on Church history.

Then and afterwards he read the 'Annals of Baronius,' and

made copious extracts and notes, especially on points relating to

disputes between Church and State, and to the interference of

kings and princes in ecclesiastical matters. He bought manyi

books, and collected engravings and medals. He was greatly

troubled that he had no priest with him, and wrote to Igndtief to

find one ' capable of keeping a secret. He must be.yoimg, un-

married, and unknown to every one. Tell him to come to me
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in great gecresy, to lay aside all marks of his condition, to shave

his beard and his hair, and to wear a wig and German clothes.

He should come as a courier, and for that should be able to

write. Let him not bring anything incumbent on a priest, or a

missal, only a few bits of communion bread. I have all the

books necessary. Have pity on my soul, and do not let me die

without confession. He is necessary to me for nothing else

except in case of death, and even when I am well for secret

confession. I shall tell no one that he is a priest. He will ap-

pear to be one of my servants. Do not let him have any doubt

about shaving his beard. It is better to commit a small sin

than to ruin my soul without repentance.' Another letter from
Wolfenbiittel, where Alexis had gone to make the acquaintance

of the relations of his bride, showed that he had not forgotten

his Muscovite habits. 'Most honourable father, salutation to

you with the " Pater " and the " children." We inform your

Holiness that here on this day of the holy martyr Eustace, after

the spiritual festivities (vespers, complines, matins, and liturgy),

we have rejoiced both spiritually and bodily, and drunk to your

health. I wish you very long life, that we should see each

other in joy in a short time. On this letter wine has been

poured out, so that after receiving it you may live well and
drink strongly and remember us. God grant our desires to

meet soon. All the orthodox Christians here have signed this,

Alexis the sinner, the priest John Slonsky, and have certified it

with cups and glasses. We have kept this festival for your

health not in German wise, but in Russian style.' After one or

two rhyming paragraphs is a postscript begging pardon if the

letter is illegible, because it was written when they were all

drunk.

One subject of anxiety to Alexis and his friends was the

religion of his future wife. All hoped that in time she would
join the orthodox Church, but Alexis thought it best not to

broach the subject prematurely, hoping that when she reached

Eussia, and saw the splendour of the Russian churches, and the

magnificence of the service, and heard the solemn chant without

an organ, she would come to the true faith. Lutherans in Ger-

many meanwhile were congratulating themselves that this mar-

rialge would result in the spread of Protestant opinions in Russia.
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After the campaign on the Pruth, Peter, as we remember,

hastened to Carlsbad, and after his cure went to Torgau, where,

on October 25, lYll, the marriage of Alexis and Charlotte was

celebrated in the castle of the Queen of Poland.' Immediately

after the marriage the Tsar replied to a request from the Duke
to allow them to pass the winter at Wolfenbtlttel, that, much
as he would like his son to remain longer abroad for his general

education, his services were necessary in the war, and four days

after the ceremony Alexis was ordered to go to Thorn and see

to the forwarding of provisions for the Kussian troops in Po-

merania. A little respite was given, for he was allowed to visit

"Wolfenbiittel with his bride. He then set out alone, while his

wife remained until December. The winter passed in Thorn

very uncomfortably. All that region is desolate and sad, espe-

cially in winter. Charlotte wrote to her mother that the town

was much ruined. ' The houses opposite are half burned and

empty. I myself live in a monastery. However, several Polish

ladiea from the neighbourhood have already visited me. There

is not in these regions a single small village where there are

not two or three noble families. They live there, winter and

summer, and for that reason even in the largest towns it is im-

possible to find a single person of quality.' In spite of rumours

to the contrary, Alexis was all devotion, and Charlotte, who

was very impressionable, expressed herself as most happy.

The disorder of the little court—for Schleinitz, its head, was

on duty as minister at Hanover—and the want of money

—

for many weeks passed without remittances—caused dissatis-

faction and discomfort. Menshikof, when he came in April,

was surprised, and wrote a pressing demand for money. With

the spring Alexis was obliged to go to the army in Pomerania,

while the Crown Princess had to move to Elbing, where dis-

putes about the promotion of the young cavalier Ton Pollnitz

and rumours of undue intimacy with him embittered her life.

She received consolation from the frequent and regular letters

of her husband, as well as from a visit of the Tsar and Cath-

erine, both of whom were most kind. She adds, in writing

to her mother, that her joy was diminished by seeing how

1 See page 316.
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little the Tsar loved the Tsarevitch, and she begged Catherine

to interfere in her husband's behalf. In October the Crown

Princess received orders from the Tsar to go to St. Petersburg.

Trom all that she had heard and from much that she had seen

she feared the Russians, and disliked to go alone to St. Peters-

burg. Then, too, certain things which had been said to her

threw her into despair. She imagined that her husband had

never loved her, and that Catherine hated her. In this frame of

mind, instead of going to Russia she made a visit to her family

at Wolfenbiittel, so that when Alexis passed through Elbing he

did not find her.' It was not until the spring of 1713 that she

arrived in St. Petersburg ; but her husband was then with the

Tsar on an expedition in Finland, and did not return until

late in the summer. The meeting of husband and wife after

this absence of over a year was cordial and affectionate, and

at first everything went well. Soon there came difficulties

—

a coolness with Catherine and with the Tsar's sister Natalia,

troubles on account of the bad composition of the little court,

and especially from want of money. Although Alexis was a

good manager, yet he had not income enough to keep his house-

hold in the state in which he needed to live. To this we must
add his love of strong drink, his carouses with his friends, and

his frequent fits of drunkenness, in which he not only treated

his wife brutally, but spoke of her in terms of contempt to his

servants, threatening, among other things, to be revenged on

Golofkin, who had given him this German wife, and promising

some day to set the heads of the Chancellor's sons on stakes.

Alexis sometimes remembered such scenes the next morning,

and then tried to purchase the silence of his attendants, and
atone for his conduct towards his wife by more than usual

tenderness. Every such scene widened the breach. The health

of Alexis failed, his physicians thought that he had consumption,

and that his condition was a serious one ; and they advised him
to go to Carlsbad. His wife was the last to know of his resolu-

tion, and it was only when everything was ready, and he was
about to take his seat in the carriage, that he bade her good-bye,

with ' Adieu ! I am going to Carlsbad.' This was on June 15,

' See page 236.
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1714. There were indeed reasons for the reticence, because the

country through which he had to pass was not without danger,

and he wished to keep his departure a secret from the foreign

ministers. He travelled in the guise of a simple officer. But

the coldness and indifference affected Charlotte, and during the

six months of his absence he never wrote her a word. On July

23 she gave birth to a daughter, Natalia, but Alexis did not

seem to trouble himself about the matter. In November Char-

lotte wrote :
' The Tsarevitch has not yet come back. No one

knows where he is, whether he is alive or dead. I am in fright-

ful imeasiness. All the letters that I have written to him in

the last six or eight weeks have been sent back to me from

Dresden and Berlin, because no one there knows where he is.'

At the end of December Alexis returned to St. Petersburg. At
first his conduct was exemplary. He was affectionate to his

wife, and was delighted with his little daughter. A little later

Charlotte wrote to her family that he conducted himself as be-

fore, with the only difference tliat she saw him less frequently.

He had fallen in love with Afrosinia, a Finnish girl, aserf of his

teacher Viazemsky, brought her to his house, and continued

in relations with her during the rest of his life. Foreigners

noticed that in society Alexis never spoke to his wife, and said

that he scarcely saw her once a week. The small house, dig-

nified by the name of palace, was in such bad repair that the

rain came through the roof into the room of the Crown Prin-

cess, and when the Tsar spoke about it Alexis scolded his wife

for having maligned him to his father. His inclination to

drunkenness increased to such an extent as greatly to affect his

health. In April, 1715, he was taken senseless out of chm-ch,

and was so ill that they did not dare to bring him home across

the Neva, and he had to pass the night in the house of a

foreigner. Even on the next day he was still so weak that

the Crown Princess went to him, and passed ,half the day

there. ' I ascribe his illness,' she said, ' to the fast and to the

great quantity of brandy which he drinks daily, for he is

usually drunk.' Nevertheless there were occasional glimpses of

happiness-:—Alexis was fond of his child, and every mark of

love soothed the heart of the mother. On October 23, 1715, a

son was born, who subsequently became the Emperor Peter 11.
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Four days afterwards the state of the mother took a turn for

the worse, a fever set in, and towards midnight on November 1

she died. Alexis had not left her bedside during the last days,

had fainted three times, and seemed inconsolable at her death.

He took the children in his arms and carried them to his own
room.

The day after the funeral Catherine gave birth to a boy.
i

The long smouldering conflict between father and son now broke
|-

forth.
,

The opposition between Peter and his son was passive, was 1

au opposition of character rather than of action. Peter was
active, curious, and energetic. Alexis was contemplative and
reflective. He was not without intellectual ability, but he liked

a quiet life. He preferred reading and thinking. At the age

when Peter was making fireworks, building boats, and exercising

his comrades in mimic war, Alexis was pondering over the ' Di-

vine Manna,' reading the ' Wonders of God,' reflecting on
Thomas a Kempis's ' Imitation of Christ,' and making excerpts

from Baronius.- While it sometimes seemed as if Peter was
born too soon for the age, Alexis was born too late. He be-

;

longed to the past generation. N^ot only did lie take no interest '

in the work and plans of his father, but he gradually came to

dislike and hate them. On his return from Germany in 1713

he had to pass a sort of examination before his father, and, in

order to avoid showing how he had neglected his drawing, he
tried to shoot himself through the hand with a pistol, but suc-

ceeded only in burning himself with the powder. This was
sufficient to excuse him. He would sometimes even take medi-

cine to make himself ill, so that he might not be called upon to

perform unpleasant duties or attend to business. Once, when
he was obliged to go to the launch of a ship, he said to a friend,

' I would rather be a galley slave, or have a burning fever, than

be obliged to go there.' In conversation with his friend Kikin

he expressed himself thus, ' I am no stupid fool, but I cannot,

cannot work.' This disposition was quickly noticed by all who
came into contact with him, and his mother-in-law, the Princess

of WoKenbiittel, said to Tolstoi that it was ' quite useless for

his father to force him to attend to military matters, as he

would rather have a rosary than a pistol in his hand.'
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With this opposition of temperament and character, with

the lack of tenderness which Peter had always shown in his re-

lations to his son, with the great fear which he inspired in him,

it was not unnatural that Alexis always felt uncomfortable when

he was with his father, hated to hear of his coming, and was

glad to be away from him. Once he admitted to his confessor

that he had frequently'wished his father's death, and Ignatief

replied: ' God will forgive you. We all wish for his death, be-

cause the people have to bear such heavy burdens.'

All who were discontented with the existing state of things

naturally turned their eyes towards Alexis, and, without assum-

ing such a position, he became the nucleus of the opposition to

reform. During Lent, in 1712, Stephen Yavorsky preachpd a

sermon in the cathedral at Moscow in which there were pointed

references to the Tsar^vitch, and allusions to those disturbers

who continued the war when the country had so much need of

peace and of relief from its burdens, and ended with a prayer to

St. Alexis to protect his namesake, who, like him, had left his

house and was wandering in strange lands, separated from

his parents. This sermon created a great sensation, and was

much commented on. Yav6rsky, with his usual tact, succeeded

in explaining it away to the Tsar, but years afterwards allu-

sioris were made to it as well as to Yavorsky's feelings in the

[circles of the discontented. Among the nobility, and even

I

among those distinguished by the Tsar, many showed privately

'their sympathy with Alexis. Prince Jacob Dolgoriiky, the

senator, said, 'Do not visit me, for they watch me to see

who comes.' And General Basil Dolgoruky once said to him,

' You are wiser than your father. Your father is wise, but

he has no knowledge of men. You will have more knowledge

of men.' This was an evident expression of the hope that

when Alexis came to the throne the old families would be

once more favoured, and upstarts like Menshikof and Golofkin

would no longer hold the first places in the empire. The

Golitsyns were his friends, and even Field Marshal Boris Shere-

metief advised him to have some one always near the Tsar who

could be intimate with his friends and inform him of what was

going on. Prince Boris Kurakin, the diplomatist, asked Alexis

in Pomerania whether his step-mother treated him well, and,
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•when Alexis said that their relations were most cordial, added,

^As long as she has no son she will be good to you, but as

soon as she has a son it will be quite otherwise.' Simeon

Naryshkin once complained that the Tsar never seemed to be

able to understand that the nobles had enough to . do at home
with the management of their property. Alexis, who was

not a bad manager, and who loved to busy himself about house-

hold matters, replied, ' He has everywhere ready for him all

that he wants, and therefore he does not understand what we
need.'

Although Alexis was in thorough sympathy with the dis-

contented, and showed them plainly that if he ever came to

the throne things would not go on as then, that no active

policy would be pursued, and that in all probability St. Peters-

burg would be abandoned, yet there was no conspiracy, no
^

attempt to thwart the plans of the Tsar. The 'policy of alT

was to wait, and to hope for Peter's death. The Tsar's health

had been so shaken for some years that it seemed as if this might

occur soon. Alexis and his friends lived in dread of danger,

and when he was abroad he hesitated for a while to return to

Russia. Some of his confidential friends had suggested that he
should stay abroad and wait for his father's death, and the

asylum accorded by Louis XIY. to the Stuarts inspired the

thought that the Tsarevitch'would be sure of protection at the

French court. Kikin openly advised this, and other friends

counselled him against returning. On returning from Carlsbad,

Alexis, in a moment of expansion, expressed to those who were
with him his fears that on his return he would be made a monk,
and not only during his father's lifetime alone, but that, like

Basil Shuisky, he would be sent somewhere into captivity and
end his days in prison. —

I On the day of the funeral of the Crown Princess Charlotte,

on November 7, 1Y15, when the mourners, according to the cus-

toms of the country, had assembled again in the house of the

Tsarevitch, Peter handed his son a letter dated October 22. It

was written in strong and decisive terms, and contained an ulti-

matum. After speaking of the Swedish war, and how affairs

had taken such a turn that the Swedes now trembled before the

Russians, the Tsar continued, ' When I consider this joy come
Vol. II.—18
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of God to our fatherland, and look tlien on the line of my suc-

cessors, a deep grief comes over me, because I consider you un-
'

fit to carry on the business of the Government. God is not at

fault, for he has not deprived you of a sound mind, nor taken

entirely away from you bodily strength, for although you are

not of a strong nature still you are not very weak. But you

do not wish to hear anything about military affairs, although by

this we have come from darkness into light, and those who
knew nothing of us before respect us now. I do not demand

that you should be desirous of making war without lawful reason,

but I expect you to appreciate military affairs and learn all that

is most necessary in them, for this is one of the two necessary

things for government, order, and defence You have

no desire at all to learn anything. You know nothing of mili-

tary affairs You excuse yourself by saying that your

weak health prevents you from taking part in the fatigues of a

campaign. But this is no reason. I do not wish bodily fatigue

from you, but only the desire for the thing, and this can be

weakened by no illness.' Then making a comparison with his

own brother Theodore and Louis XIY., who himself took no

-part in campaigns, he continues :
' When I represent to myself

all this and turn again to my first thought, I must say to myself,

I am a man, I can die. To whom then shall I leave that

which I have, by God's help, planted and increased ? To him

who is like the idle servant in the gospel, that buried his talent

in the ground ? I think, besides, what a bad and obstinate

character you have. How much have I scolded you for it, and

not merely scolded but beaten you for it ! How many years

have I not spoken with you ! Nothing has been of help ;
noth-

ing has borne fruit ; it has all been in vain ; my words have

been carried off by the wind. You wish to do nothing except to

sit at home and to delight yourself if everything goes wrong.

f
. . . . Seeing, therefore, that I can turn you to nothing good,

I have thought best to write you this last testament, and still

wait a little to see whether in truth and without hypocrisy you

change. If not, then know that I deprive you of your right to

the throne, and cut you off like a blasted limb. And do not

think that you are my only son, and that I write this only to

frighten you. In very truth, by the will of God I will fulfil it

;
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for as I have not spared my life for my country and my sub-

jects, how can I spare you who are unfit ? Better a deserving

stranger than an unworthy son.'

Alexis turned to his friends for counsel. Kikin said :
' You

will at last have rest, if you cut yourself free from everything.

I know that otherwise, with your weakness, you cannot hold

out. But it is a pity that you did not stay away when it was

time. Now it is too late.' Yiazemsky remarked, ' It is God's

will, and the will of the Crown, if you now have rest.' Alexis

asked Count Theodor Apraxin and Prince Basil Dolgoriiky to

,

use their influence with the Tsar to allow him to resign hisj

rights to the throne and pass the rest of his days in peace onl

his estates. Apraxin promised to do this, and Dolgorukj^ added : \

' Give a thousand letters, if you like, something will still hap-

pen.' The time and place chosen by the Tsar for delivering

his letter seems strange, but he had been ill ever since its date.

When the next day Alexis heard of the birth of his step-

brother, he was much cast down, but he gradually came to a

resolution, and three days afterwards wrote to his father, saying,

that if it was his will to cut him off from the succession he

begged him to do so. ' I see myself unsuitable and unfit foil

this business, for I am quite devoid of memory, without which

it is impossible to do anything, am weak and do not possess all

my intellectual and bodily powers, and have become unsuited to

the government of such a people, for which it is necessary to have

a man not so rotten as I. Therefore to the Russian succession

after you (God give you health for many years) I lay no claim,

and in future shall make no claim (even if I had no brother, and

now, thank God, I have a brother, to whom may God give

health). I confide my children to your will, and as for myself

beg for support until my death.' After receiving this letter

Peter had a conversation with Prince Basil Dolgoriiky, on which

the latter came to the Tsarevitch, read carefully through the

Tsar's letter of October 22, and said :
' I have had a word with

your father. I think he will cut you off from the succession.

It appears that he is content with your letter. I have saved you
from the scaffold. You can now rejoice, and need trouble your-

self about nothing more.' The expression of Dolgoriiky about

the scaffold shows with what excitement the Tsar had spoken
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/ about his son. There seems, however, no reason to believe that

j' Peter was at any time satisfied with what Alexis had written.

In the state of things at that time in Russia, renunciation of the

succession was scarcely sufficient. It was necessary to determine

on something beyond this, and at this step Peter hesitated.

Por a whole month the Tsar kept silent, then, after a drink-

ing bout at Aprdxin's, he became so dangerously ill that dur-

ing two nights the senators and ministers remained in the

palace. On December 13 he was so weak that the last sac-

rament was administered to him; but after this the attack

passed, he began to mend, and three weeks later, at the

Russian Christmas time, was able to go to church, looking bet-

ter than had been expected, but pale and shrunken. During

this time Kikin warned Alexis to be cautious, maintaining that

the Tsar was feigning illness to see how he would behave, and

had received the sacrament for the sole purpose of creating

a belief that his end was near.

On January 30, 1716, Alexis received a second and still

more threatening letter from his father. The Tsar found fault

with him for mentioning the question of succession and his

physical weakness only, while silent with regard to his father's

anger and discontent.'

' This leads me to write more decidedly, for if you do not

fear me now, how Mdll you follow my testament ? I cannot be-

lieve your oath on account of your hardness of heart. David

has already said that all men are liars, so that if yon really

wished to keep it you could be dissuaded by the longbeards,

who on account of their laziness are not now in favour, but to

whom you are greatly devoted. And what gratitude have you

shown to your father ? Do you help me in my sorrows and

troubles, so hard to be borne, although you have already reached

ripe age ? No, not in the least. It is known to every one that

you hate my deeds, which I do for the people of this nation,

not sparing my health, and after my death you will destroy

them. For that reason, to stay as you would like to be, neither

fish nor flesh, is impossible. Therefore, either change yonr

character, and without hypocrisy be my worthy successor, or be-

' Peter's excitement Is evident, for he overlooked the fact that Alexis in

his letter had expressly mentioned his intellectual disqualifications.
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come a monk, for without this my soul will not be at peace,

especially that I am now so ill. Therefore on receiving this

give me immediately an answer, either in writing or in words,

and if yon do not do this I will treat you as a criminal.'

"We can see how Peter's anger rose as he wrote, until it

boiled over in the word ' criminal.' A simple renunciation was
insufficient, and even before finishing the letter the Tsar seemed
to question with himself whether even the garb of a monk
would destroy the possibility of Alexis coming to the throne,

and whether even with that his soul would be at peace.

The friends of Alexis advised him to become a monk.
Kikin, who had before counselled this, now said :

' A monk's

cowl is not nailed on a man. It can be laid aside again.' Yid-

zemsky urged him to send first for a confessor and say to him
that the step he took was compulsory, so that he could inform

the metropolitan of Eiazan, and it should not be thought that

he had been put into a monastery as a punishment for some
fault. This advice he followed, and in three lines wrote to his

father, excusing himself for not writing more explicitly on ac-

count of illness, but saying that he wished to go into a monas-
tery, and begging his permission for this step, signing himself
' Tour slave and unworthy son, Alexis.'

Two days before Peter's departure for Danzig and the west,

he visited his son, whom he found ill in bed, and asked him
what he was resolved to do. Alexis called God to witness that

lie wished nothing else than to go into a monastery. Peter re-

plied :
' That is not easy for a young man. Think a little about,'

it. Do not hurry. Then write to me what you wish to do.

You had better turn about to the straight road rather than be-!

come a monk. I will wait for half a year.' Peter could hardly

have expected any important change in his son, but it was hard
for him to come to a decision. The willingness of Alexis to

comply with his demands disarmed him, and at the same time
made him uneasy. This respite gave Alexis heart. Pie post-

poned the matter indefinitely, for he was not desirous to go into

a cloister, and still less to marry again. It seems that in this

conversation which Peter had with his son there was some ques-

tion of auotlier marriage with a foreign princess—a marriage

which caused some discussion in diplomatic circles, and which
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is mentioned also in a letter of Leibnitz. His affection for

Afrosinia gained upon him, and he began to think of flight, and

of concealing himself somewhere abroad until the death of his

father. Shortly after the Tsar's departure, his step-sister, the

Pi'incess Maria Alexeievna, went to Carlsbad, and Ejkin, who
belonged to her court, in bidding good-bye' to Alexis, said,

'Wait, I will fiud a refuge for you.' Kikin is said further to

have informed Alexis that it was the design of his father not to

put him into a monastery, because there he might live a long

time, but to wear him out by the fatigues of long journeys and

hard work. On June 29, 1716, the Princess iN'atalia died. Al-

though Alexis's confidants told him that all his misfortunes had

come from her, yet it is said that the princess on her death-bed

called for her nephew and said to him :
' As long as I lived I have

kept my brother from carrying out hostile designs against you.

But now I am dying, and it is time for you yourself to think

about your safety. The best thing would be that on the fii'st

opportunity you should put yourself under the protection of the

Emperor.' A speedy decision of some kind was indeed neces-

sary. The half-year given for consideration had expired, and

in October Alexis received a letter from his father, then at Co-

penhagen, asking for his decision, demanding either that he

should tell the name of the moriastery which he desired to enter,

and the time when he would take the vows, or, if he had chosen,

to comply with his father's desires, that a week after the receipt

of the letter he should start for the seat of war and take part

in the military operations—in any case to send a reply by the

same courier, ' for I see that you only pass your time in your

usual idleness.' Alexis had during these months written to his

father, but had said nothing of his plans. The letters contained

statements about his health, and that of the other members of

his family,, such as those to which persons unaccustomed to let-

ter-writing are apt to confine themselves when they feel it their

duty to send the regular monthly letter.'

' TJstrialof , vi. ; SoloviSf, xvii. ; Tesipof and Pogodin, (MecUon of Docu-

ments in the Affair of tJie Tsareviich Alexis, (Russian) Moscow, 1861 ; A. Briick-

ner, Der Zaremtseh Alexei, Heidelberg, 1880 ; W. Guerrier, Die Kronprinmdn

Charlotte, Bonn, 1875 ; B. Herrmann, Peter der Qrosse und der

Alexei, Leipzig, 1880.
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TWO TEARS OF TRAVEL.—1716-1717.

The state of Peter' s health during the whole of the last year,

aggravated as it had been by his administrative difficulties and

his troubles with his son, had caused apprehension, and his at-

tack of illness in December was so serious, that a careful diag-

nosis of his state was taken by one of his physicians to

Germany and Holland for the purpose of consultation. It was

decided that as early in the spring as the weather permitted, he

should go to the waters at Pyrmont, for Carlsbad was thought

to be too powerful. The journey thus taken for health was

prolonged beyond all anticipations. Pleasure and politics, es-

pecially the latter, had their share of Peter's time, whose person

and character had by this time become well known at the courts

of Northern Germany. Popular curiosity was still awake about

him, but the prejudices against him were disappearing, and

many absurd stories about his manners and habits were seen

to be without foundation. It is impossible, however, at times

not to compare Peter's first great journey, when he travelled

as a learner, with this progress of a successful and victorious

monarch.

It was early in February when Peter started, and with his

delays on the road it was March before he arrived at Danzig,

where he expected to make a short stay. He was accompanied

by his niece, Catherine, the daughter of the Tsar Ivan, whom
he was about to marry to the Duke of Mecklenburg, as well as

by his wife, for in the present state of his health she did not

think it wise to remain at home, even to care for the little Tsar-

evitch, who was so precious to them. The children were left

under the charge of the Tsaritsa Prascovia, the widow of the

Tsar Ivan, who wrote to her sister-in-law, by every post, affec-
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tionate but brief and formal letters, giving accounts of the health

of the children, and always begging her to continue to be good

to Katushka (the Princess Catherine).

Danzig was a commercial town, and, although in Poland,

carried on an extensive contraband trade with Sweden. It had

taken the side of Stanislas, and, even after making its peace in

1709, had renewed its relations with Sweden, for which Men-

shikof, in 1713, had fined it 300,000 guldens. The presence of

the Tsar could not, therefore, be very agreeable to the munici-

pal authorities, especially as one of his earliest acts was to de-

mand the discontinuance of this contraband traflSc, and to im-

pose heavy penalties and contributions. As four Swedish ships

were found in the harbour, a fleet of forty Russian galleys sta-

tioned itself at the mouth of the Vistula, with orders to search

all ships and seize any that came from Sweden or carried Swed-

ish merchandise. The ultimatum of the Tsar, which he wi'ote

out with his own hand, demanded that commercial relations be

broken off with Sweden, that the town should furnish and keep

up four cruisers with twelve guns each, or pay 200,000 crowns

to purchase ships, afterwards provisioning them and paying

the sailors ; and the authorities refusing to consent to this,

Danzig was formally proclaimed by the Kussians to be a hostile'

town. Peter was willing to take as part payment, or even to

buy at a high price, the celebrated picture of ' The Last Judg-

ment,' in the Marienkirche, believing a tradition that it had

been painted by St. Methodius, the missionary to the Slavs.

This precious picture the authorities at Danzig would for no

money consent to give up ; and when the Tsar was assured by

Tatistchef that the legend was false, he desisted from his de-

mand.' The town finally, by a formal act of submission (May

2), yielded to the ultimatum ; but as soon as the Russians with-

drew, its conduct again became equivocal. After the Tsar had

ordered Dolgoriiky, the General in command, to take decisive

measures, the town becoming frightened sent an envoy to him

at Amsterdam, and then signed a convention (September 30,

' The picture, which is a remarkably fine one by Memling {long ascribed

to Van Byck), while on its way from Bruges to the Pope had been captured by

a Danzig pirate, who presented it to the church. In 1807 Napoleon sent it to •

Paris, where it remained till 1816.
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1717), giving three armed frigates and paying 140,000 specie

thalera in return for a confirmation of its privileges.

One reason of the Tsai-'s stay in Danzig was to have a per-

sonal interview with King Augustus. For four years, indeed

ever since the return of Augustus to Poland, there had been

constant disputes on account of the presence of Saxon troops,

which the King refused to withdraw from the country. The
confederation of Sendomir was formed for the purpose of coun-

teracting the King, and a great part of Poland and the whole

of Lithuania were in sympathy with it. It was this which had

made Dolgoriiky insist on the Russian troops remaining, by
which they did not get to the siege,of Stralsund. At last the

Eussians had succeeded in getting both sides to accept their

mediation. Augustus, who had delayed in Saxony when his

interests had long since demanded his presence in Poland, had

already started for Warsaw, but now turned aside to Danzig.

The confederates also sent delegates to confer on the terms of

the mediation. The Russians had not only Prince Gregory

Dolgoriiky, the experienced Ambassador, at Warsaw, but Go-
lofkin, Shafirof, and Tolstoi—in fact, the whole of the Ministry

of Foreign Affairs. There were long conferences, at which the

Eussians presented a ' Memorial of Griefs ' against the Poles

for negotiations with France, for intrigues at Constantinople,

for the arrangements between Flemming and Stenbock, and for

other acts which had alienated the allies, to which the Poles re-

plied with various justificative reasons. As far as concerned

the settlement of the actual difficulties, it was agreed that a con-

gress should meet at Yaroslav, at which' Prince Gregory Dolgo-

riiky should represent the Russians as mediators, and that an

arrangement should be come to on the basis of the withdrawal

of the Saxon troops (except the King's personal guard of 1,200

men), and the reduction of taxes and contributions. The con-

gress indeed met during the summer at Lublin, and with great

difficulty signed such an arrangement, but the state of the coun-

try after that was about as bad as before.

Besides completing and sending to St. Petersburg the new
army regulations, Peter found time to visit the curiosities of the

.town and neighbourhood, to purchase a collection of curiosities

of Dr. Gottwald, and to dine and sup with the Polish lords.
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It is said that he arrived at Danzig on a Sunday, at the very

horn- when they were about to close the gates as usual during

the church service, and that he immediately went to the church.

Dui'ing the sermon, feeling a draught, he took the wig from

the head of the Burgomaster, next to whom he was sitting, put

it on his own, and then returned it with thanks at the end of

the service. It was explained that he had the habit of thus

helping himself to his neighbour's wigs. Generally Peter wore

no wig, but sometimes in cold weather, or when on a journey,

he wore a small peruke made of the hair of his wife. There

must have been a little sentiment in this, for Menshikof showed

Weber a wig he had made of the Tsar's hair, which had been

given him as a present.

During the stay of the Tsar at Danzig, the marriage was

celebrated between the Tsarevna Catherine Ivanovna and the

Duke of Mecklenburg, Carl Leopold, whom Herrmann calls

' one of the most notorious little despots that only the decay of

the German constitution at that time had allowed to grow up.'

'

Carl Leopold, on the death of his brother in 1713, had inherited

riot only the Crown of Mecklenburg but a dispute with the

nobles, which went from bad to worse, until the Empire had

to interfere. At this time the dispute was at its height, and

Carl Leopold was looking in all directions to find support. With

Swedish predilections, he had during the war been ready to

support the Swedes in case of necessity, but after the capture of

Stralsund, he had been awed into submission by the King of

Denmark, who kept him for some time in his camp. Subse-

quently, when the King of Denmark came to Rostock, the Duke,

vfho was at his prayers, did not go to meet him, until finally his

Marshal, Baron Eichholtz,'' lost patience and cried out ' Potts

hundert Sacrcmient, there is no more time for Kyrie Ehison,

the King is at the gate.' The Duke, without saying a word

jumped up, but instead of going to meet the King, took refuge

in his hunting-lodge, and did not come back until the King had

gone. He had separated from his first wife, the Princess

' E. Herrmann, Petev der Grosse und der ZarewUach AUxei, p. 8.

' We owe the details of this marriage to Baron Biohholtz, whose manuscript

is preserved in the library at Rostock. A translation was published in the

Russian Antiquity {BUsakaya Starynd) for 1875,
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Sophia Hedwiga of Nassau Friesland, but she was still contest-

ing the legality of the divorce, and thinking to get the Emperor
on his side he had proposed to become a Catholic, and had at

the same time asked for the hand of the Austrian Archduchess
Magdalena. A Catholic prelate was sent to argue with him,

but after many long conferences left in disgust, as the Duke
was too confused between temporal and spiritual matters. The
Austrians had promised him in case of his conversion and mar-
riage to make him Governor of Silesia or of the Tyrol, but he
demanded either the kingdom of Naples or the Low Coimtries

with sovereign rights. Now, wishing to get the town of "Wis-

mar, which up to the Thirty Years' "War had belonged to Meck-
lenburg, he turned to the Tsar with the idea of marrying Anna
Ivanovna, the wido.wed Duchess of Curland, and thus getting

a comfortable little realm with no disputes. He sent Habiehts-

thal to St. Petersburg to arrange the match, and then, becoming
impatient, wanted to go himself, ordered some diamonds from
Hamburg as a present to his bride, and entrusted them to

Yaguzhinsky, who was then on his way back to E.ussia from
Copenhagen. In giving him the ring of betrothal, he gave him
also a paper with the name of the Princess left blank. Some
weeks later he received a letter from Habichtsthal, informing

him that the matter had taken a different turn since the arrival

of Yaguzhinsky, and that when he had insisted as before on
the Duchess of Curland,' the Tsar sent for him and showed him
the Duke's full power by which he could appoint either of his

nieces as the bride, and had on that very evening announced
the marriage of the elder sister Catherine, and that Yaguzhinsky
had given her the ring of betrothal. It appears that the mar-

riage contract was signed at this time at St. Petersburg, subject

to future ratification. Eiebholtz here expressed his regret that

the Duke did not succeed in getting the Duchess of Curland,

but her sister, who was still older, although only twenty-four.

The Duke comforted him by saying :
' Fatality has brought me

this Catherine, but there is nothing to be done ; I must content

myself with her. At least she is the favourite of the Tsaritsa.'

' The Tsar had at this time other plans for the marriage of the Duchess of

Curland, though they all came to naught.
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After walking uiieasily about the room and asking whether it

could possibly turn out well, the Duke sat down and wrote to

his banker in Hamburg, ordering presents of various kinds for

the Russian Court to the value of Y0,000 thalers, and then held

a privy council to know whether he should go himself to St.

Petersburg without waiting the invitation of the Tsar, or send

an embassy thither. An embassy was agreed upon, but sud-

denly changing his mind again, the Duke resolved to go him-

self. On the road he learned that the Tsar was already at

Danzig and soon coming to Germany. Eichholtz finally per-

suaded him to return to Mecklenburg while he went on as his

agent to Danzig.

Eichholtz was well received by the Tsar, but was in great

anxiety for a week lest the Duke, in his versatile humour,

should not come to the wedding, and that he himself should in

consequence be sent to Siberia, for the Tsar asked every day,

' Wann humin Hersogf- At last the Duke arrived (March

19), and was taken immediately to the Tsar, who, with his

family, was feasting with Prince Potocki, the Bishop of Erme-

land. With the Tsar he acted with great modesty and quiet-

ness, almost with slavish respect ; but with the Tsaritsa and

his bride, although polite, he was cold, so that Eichholtz felt it

necessary to excuse him on the ground of weariness, and some-

times to hint to him to show a little more enthusiasm, and at

supper, seeing him look sUent and glum, whispered in his ear

to propose the health of the Tsar and his newly-born son. Eich-

holtz afterwards said to the Tsar :
' You have received my Duke

as your son and given him a wife too ; may I dare ask you to

find me a wife too ?
' The Tsar, looking at him in astonish-

ment, asked, in Dutch :
' What ! aren't you married yet ?

' and,

taking off his wig and examining it, continued :
' From above

you are a fine fellow and have excellent sense, but from below

it is a bad lookout.' Eichholtz blushed and sat silent ; and

when, after supper, the Tsar commanded him to dance, he

said: ' Tour Majesty has made me so shamefaced before the

whole company that I do not dare lift my eyes to any of the

ladies.' Peter, laughing, said :
' I will find you a partner.'

When the discussion began about the ratification of the mar-

riage treaty, the Russians refused to listen to any of the pre-
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cedents, on the ground that an Imperial Princess must be

treated in a far different way from anj^ of the previous Duch-

esses of Mecklenburg. Poor Eichholtz disputed for whole days

with Golofkin, Shafirof, and Tolstoi ; but the Duke would go

in the evening to the Tsaritsa, and not hold out, but yield to

the demands of the Russian Ministers. The ladies took up the

matter so warmly that when Eichholtz appeared they called out

at him :
' IIu Oher-Marschall ! Bos Mann ! Bos Mann !

'

The Tsar always defended him :
' He is right ; he does what

his master bids him and looks after his interests.' It was pro-

posed to pay the Duke 200,000 roubles, which the Tsarevna

Catherine had inherited from her father ; bitt, with the view

of appearing generous, the Duke refused them, and asked in-

stead to guarantee the town of Wismar. ' So,' says Eichholtz,

' 400,000 thalers slipped right away from under our noses. Why
should we not have taken this money on account of the dam-

ages committed in Mecklenburg by the Kussian troops ? Take

care, your Highness,' said Eichholtz to the Duke, ' that these

Russians do not eat up the whole of Mecklenburg.' The Duke
answered :

' Nonsense ! They will not do anything to us.

There is no people who content themselves with so little. The
Enssiaus eat grass and drink water.' Eichholtz could not but

admit in part the justice of this, for he remembered the excel-

lent discipline of the Russian troops in 1712, which had cost

nothing except the best horse out of the Dulie's stables, with

equipments bought in Paris for 18,000 thalers, and a purse of

a thousand ducats, sent as a present to their commander, Prince

Menshikof. Tolstoi said that the troops demanded nothing

except JJnpoco dijpane, Un^oco dij>ane. "When the marriage

treaty had been signed, the Duke seemed to forget all about

the ceremony, and even avoided the presence of the Tsar under

various flimsy pretexts, and acted very rudely towards the Rus-

sian nobles. The Tsar soon learnt to know him, and was dis-

gusted with his big Swedish sword, his Swedish manners, and

the Swedish uniform of his servants ; but, in spite of the

warnings of Kurakin, received too late, with his obstinacy, di-

rectness, and feeling of honour, still insisted on carrying out

the marriage.

Little did the Tsar then suspect what difficulties of all kinds
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this marriage was destined to bring him. Bernstorf, the

favourite lianoverian Minister of George I., Billow, Holtz, and

Dewitz in the Danish service, were all from Mecklenburg, and

belonged to the dissatisfied nobility, strongly hostile to the

Duke. Bernstorf, too, possessed estates in Mecklenburg, and

had vainly tried to persuade the Russians, in their operations in

Pomerania, to respect the rights of a neutral country. Personal

rancour thenceforth added zest to his political opposition.,

Kurakin had written from the Hague, and again from London,

that the marriage of the Duke of Mecklenburg and the sur-

render of Wismar to him were opposed by the English Com-t

;

that there were grave doubts as to the validity of the divorce

from the Duke's first wife, and therefore whether any children

of this marriage would be legitimate ; and he had urged the

Tsar to consider carefully whether this marriage were of such

importance that he was willing to run the risk of breaking with

those who were now his friends and allies. King George pro-

posed a new treaty for operations against Sweden, with mutual

guarantees, but begged that Wismar be given, not to the Duke

of Mecklenburg, but handed over to Germany as an imperial

possession in the Lower Saxon Circle. ' The white horse of

Bnmswick wished to extend its pasture land to the Baltic'

Just before the marriage a treaty of alliance was signed, by

which the Tsar guaranteed the Dulse against all external and

internal troubles, and agreed to lend him troops and sup-

port him against the nobility. Russian troops were to be

allowed free passage through the country during the war, and

Russian merchants were to be allowed to have establishments

in the country, as well as their own churches. The Tsar also

agreed to obtain Wismar and Varnemiinde for the Duke, and,

if this were impossible, to pay him 200,000 rubles as dowry.

The marriage took place on April 19. The Duke, who had

taken the Communion the evening before, on rising dressed

himself very magnificently, being careful to put on his immense

Swedish sword with its embroidered belt, but forgetting his cuffs.

He dined at home. After dinner, at two o'clock. General Weyde

came to take him in his carriage to the Tsar, as he had no

equipage of his own in Danzig, his suite preceding him in a

hired carriage. The place in front of the house where the Tsar
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lived, and even tlie roofs of tlie neighbouring houses, were filled

with people. When the Duke got out of his carriage his wig

caught on a nail, and he was obliged to stand for some minutes

bareheaded among the crowd, until the faithful Eichholtz suc-

ceeded in detaching the peruke from the nail and put it on his

head again. In the presence of the King of Poland and the

other Cavaliers of St. Andrew, the Tsar put his order over the

Duke's shoulders, and all the Cavaliers in turn embraced their

new comrade. They then went for the bride, who wore the

crown of a Grand Duchess, and walked through, the streets to a

hastily-constructed chapel. A Russian bishop performed the

ceremony, which lasted two hours, during which the Tsar, ac-

cording to his habit, moved often from one place to another,

and himself showed in the Psalter what it was necessary to

sing. The procession then went to supper. Many in the

crowd were heard to cry out :
' See ! the Duke has no cuffs on.'

The bridal chamber was hung in the Japanese style, and filled

with Japanese lacquered objects. Even the bed was lacquered,

and Eichholtz feared at first that the Duke would not sleep in

it, as he disliked so much the odour. On the square in front

of the Duke's house were fireworks. The Tsar, accompanied

by King Augustus and the Duke, went about among the crowd

and amused himself with firing off the rockets. Eichholtz

followed his Duke, very much afraid of the falling sticks, and,

finally, at one o'clock, had to remind him that his bride had

retired at ten. The next day the newly-married pair dined

with the Tsar. The day after they dined at home, the Duchess

having with her three Russian ladies, one of them being veiy

pretty—Saltykof, a relation of hers. A question arose as to

where they should sit. According to Eichholtz, the precedents

were in favour of their being admitted to the Duke's table, and
it was so decided ; but when they went into dinner the Duke
suddenly ordered them to sit at the Marshal's table, upon which

Eichholtz, fearing lest they should be offended, sat down with

them, making an excuse that they would find themselves there

far more at their ease. The Saltykof, however, began to weep,

though Eichholtz fell upon his knees, kissed her hand, and

begged her to calm herself. Neither she nor the other ladies

ate anything. After dinner she immediately went to the
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Duchess and made a terrible scene. The whole incident was

so disagreeable to the Tsar that Saltykof was recalled. The

Duke made the Russian Ministers and officials very handsome

presents, while the Mecklenburg officials received nothing—'not
even a crooked pin.' Tolstoi, who had learned the value of

precious stones in Constantinople, was not content with the

ring he received, as it had cost 500 thalers less than those pre-

sented to Golofkin and Shafirof, and, though Osterman gave

him up his ring into the bargain, he complained bitterly, and

even on subsequently going to Schwerin continued to act as if

he had been insulted.

Apart from the political difficulties created for Peter, the

result of this marriage was unhappy. Catherine, after giving

birth (December 18, 1T18) to a daughter, Elizabeth Catherine

Christina—subsequently, on embracing the Russian religion,

known by the name of Anna Leopoldovna—left her husband,

came to Moscow in 1722 with her daughter, and died there in

1T33. The disputes of Carl Leopold with his nobles went on.

The decision of the Emperor was given against him ; his brother

was appointed Administrator ; and he went into exile in 1736

at Demnitz, where he died in 1747, having lived long enough to

see his daughter Regent and his grandson Emperor of Russia.'

The marriage was hardly completed before the Tsar began

to make representations in strong terms with regard to the con-

tributions forced from Mecklenburg by the Danish and Prus-

sian troops besieging Wismar, not only because it was unjust

to make Mecklenburg contribute further to the expenses of the

' Anna Leopoldovna, the only cMld of this union, was married to the Duke
Anton-Ulrich of Brunswick-Bevern, a sister's son of the Crown Princess Char-

lotte, and had five children, the eldest of whom, Ivan, after the death of the

Empress Anne (1740), then an infant, was for a short period Emperor of Kus-

sia, under the regency of his mother. Driven from the throne by the Empress

Elizabeth, Peter's daughter, he died in imprisonment in Schliisselburg, 1764.

His parents were exiled to Holmogory, where Anne died in 1746, and Anton-

Ulrich in 1776. Subsequently, in 1780, at the request of the Queen Dowager

Juliana Maria of Denmark, their aunt, the surviving four children were sent

to Denmark, and were kept as prisoners of state at Horsens in Jutland, where

the last of them died in 1807.

Christian Ludwig, who succeeded his brother Carl Leopold, is the ancestor

of the present reigning house of Mecklenburg-Schwerin. The two branches of

Mecklenburg are now the only ruling families of Germany of Slavonic origin.
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war, but because the country would not be in a condition to

support Kussian troops if it were wasted by the armies of the

aUies. All this, and the fact that the Russians in Mecklenburg

were to be at the service of the Duke, caused dissatisfaction,

which was skilfully increased by Bernstorf and the Mecklenburg

nobles at the Danish Court, who insinuated that the Russians

intended to keep "Wismar for themselves, so as to have a for-

tress in North Germany and on the Baltic. Peter had promised

Wismar as the dowry of his niece, and it was important for him
to obtain it, even if only because it saved the payment of a

large sum of money. Prince Eepnin, with four regiments of

infantry and five of dragoons, had been sent to assist the allies

in the capture of the town ; but the allied generals, professing

to have no orders from their Courts on the subject, refused to

allow him to take his share in the siege work, though the Prus-

sian general was willing to allow the Russian soldiers to change

places with his own, and when Wismar capitulated (April 20)

the Russian troops were not allowed to enter the place. This

was chiefly the work of General Dewitz. Matters went so far

that the generals almost came to blows, but as Repnin had no
orders to use force he retired. The Tsar was very angry and

made strong complaints to the King of Denmark, but as his

great object was to induce the Danes to make an expedition

against Scania, he let the matter pass with that.

At Stettin, on May 18, the Tsar had an interview with the

King of Prussia. It had been originally planned that this meet-

ing should be at "Wismar, and the King of Denmark had been

asked to take part in the conference, but news sent by Golofkin

from Berlin brought about a change of route. The complaints

of the Tsar against the conduct of the Prussian troops in Meck-
lenburg, and reports received of insolence from RiTssian officers

and of a Prussian detachment being formally escorted to the

frontier ' as if they were enemies,' had made King Frederick

William very bitter for a time, and he had even written to his

Ministers that he would withdraw from the alliance. ' I will not

go to the interview. The Tsar must give me complete satis-

faction or I shall immediately concentrate my army, which is in

good condition. Then the dance can go on as last year.' And
again speaking of the Danish Envoy, he wrote to Ilgen:

Vol. II.—19
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' Thanks be to God, I am not in need like his King, who has to

let himself be cozened by the Muscovites. The Tsar may know
that he has to do with no King of Poland or Denmark, but with

a Prussian who will break his pate for him {der i/im den Kc/pf
mit Kolben Icmsen wird).'' When his first anger had passed

he became more reasonable and wisely went to Stettin, where

he agi'eed to yield Wismar to the Duke of Mecklenburg after

the fortifications should be completely razed, for he had said to

give it up in its fortified state ' would be like putting a sharp

knife into the hands of a child.' He promised also twenty

transports for landing troops in Scania, while the Tsar agreed

to investigate the complaints against his officers.

Making flying visits to Schwerin and Wismar, the Tsar

(May 30) met the King of Denmark at Altona, and after a long

confereiice arranged with him, so far as such arrangements

could be made on paper, for an expedition of Danish and Rus-

sian troops to Scania during the summer, as well as for one

against the east coast of Sweden under the protection of the

Danish squadron. From Hamburg Peter hastened to Pyrmont,

stopping for a day at Herrenhausen near Hanover, where he

saw the Hanoverian Ministers and the little Prince Frederick of

Wales.

A three weeks' cure at Pyrmont, when taken seriously,

leaves not much time for other occupations or diversions. What
little leisure Peter had was taken up with listening to proposi-

tions of peace from Sweden, which Goertz managed to send

through the Landgrave of Hesse-Cassel, in drawing up schemes

for the education of more young Russians abroad, in conversing

with the French artists and artisans who had just been engaged

in Paris and passed through Pyrmont on the way to St. Peters-

burg (among them being the architect Le Blond, who seems to

have had a general permission to tear down and build up any-

thing he chose,) and in hearing Leibnitz give accounts of new

inventions. Leibnitz came to Pyrmont with a plan for forming

the various Russian ministries into colleges or commissions, a

plan which in a different form was already in the Tsar's mind,

and to urge again his three great proposals for scientific research

—the foundation of an Academy of Sciences, the investigation

of the boundary between Asia and America, and the practice of
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magnetic observations.' Peter had a little rheumatism in his

right hand, and Leibnitz invented an instrument to enable him to

hold his knife, which is still preserved in the library at Hanover.

He says that not only the Tsar, but all the Russians who took

the waters, had themselves bled before beginning, and that the

blood of the priest was very thick and bad, the worst of all.

The Tsar, inspired by medical curiosity, had the priest bled

again at the end of the cure, and to his great satisfaction found

his blood in the most natural and healthy state.

Yery truly Leibnitz wrote :
' The Tsar seemed very merry

and the waters have been of great profit to him.' Leibnitz

praised the Tsar to so many of his correspondents that he was

evidently really impressed by him. To one he writes :
' I was

astonished not only at so much humanity in such a great Prince,

but at his knowledge of business and his accurate judgment.'

Again, to Bernouilli :
' The better I learn the character of this

Prince the more I admire it
;

' while in a letter to Purge :
' I can-

not enough admire the vivacity and judgment of this great

Prince. He collects skilful people from all sides, and they

are all astonished at the way in which he talks to the point.

He inquires about all the mechanical arts, but his great curi-

osity is for everything that relates to navigation, and conse-

quently he always likes astronomy and geography. I hope we
shall learn through his aid if Asia is joined to America.

On the journey back there was another short visit to Her-

renhausen, in company with Leibnitz. Peter found his -wife

at Schwerin (June 30,) where, according to Eichholtz, the Tsar's

suite and servants ate them out of house and home, not only

in the palace but throughout the town, the lowest groom insist-

ing on having whatever came into his head. The Tsar liked

to dine in the Ducal garden with a fine view of the lake, and

the Duke always insisted that some of his guard, who were
very tall, with huge moustaches, should stand round the table

' All three projects were subsequently carried out. An Academj' of

Sciences, though not on the plan of Leibnitz, was founded before the death of

the Tsar. Behring's Straits were discovered subsequently, indeed, to Peter's

death, but by an expedition sent out by him. Magnetic observations waited

until the present century, when they were introduced into Russia at the in-

stance of Humboldt.
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with drawn . swords. Peter, who liked to be at his ease and

had several times begged to be relieved of this superfluous

honour, suggested one evening, in order to be rid of them,

that it would be more comfortable if these soldiers should lay

down their swords and use their moustaches to catch the gnats

which plagued the company.

The Tsar had ordered his galley fleet to Rostock, and had

collected his troops at the same place, to wait for the transports

which, by the convention with Denmark, were to take them to

Copenhagen, where they were ,to join the Danes in an at-

tack on Scania. A part of the cavalry marched around through

Holstein. The artillery and ammunition were to be furnished

by the Danes. The transports were delayed, and at the same

time Peter received very unwelcome intelligence from Copen-

hagen. Dolgoriiky wrote that the King had told him that the

English fleet, which had been vaguely promised, would hardly

operate against the Swedes, for the English did not wish the

Tsar to invade Scania.
' "Why ?' asked Dolgoriiky. 'Because,'

the King replied, ' they suspect the Tsar, and their reasons are

his proceedings at Danzig in levying contributions, his interven-

tion in the affairs of Mecklenburg, and his action in favour of

the Duke of Mecklenburg ; and now the march of the Eussian

troops to Eostock has caused still more suspicion.'

The Tsar immediately sent Kurakin instructions to try and

arrange matters with England, and then, leaving his wife at

Kostock and not waiting for the transports, set out with his fleet

of forty-eight galleys, and arrived on July 17 at Copenhagen,

where he was received with all outward marks of honour and

welcome. He wrote to his wife :
' Let me know when you will

be here, so that I can meet you, for the formalities here are in-

describable. Yesterday I was at such a ceremony as I have not

seen for twenty years.' "With all the ceremonies and the visits

of etiquette, the allies distrusted one another, and the Tsar most

of all. There were rumoiirs that he would insist on Danish

Pomerania as the price of' his services, and that he was resolved

at all hazards to establish himself in the west. Peter, in a let-

ter to his ^wife, compared the allies to young horses put to a

carriage, when the side horses do nothing to assist the centre

one, and whose wild movements only bring the vehicle lo a
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standstill. • July was passing away in talking ; and to the Tsar's

constant den^ands that the transports should be sent for his

troops, the Panes replied that nothing could be done until

Admiral Gabel returned from the Norwegian coast, where he

was watching Charles XII. ; and when the Admiral returned

with his fleet (August 7) it was said that the soldiers could not

muster until the harvest was gathered, as the camps would in-

jure the standing crops. There were still great delays, and, as it

seemed to the Tsar, intended delays. When, therefore. Admiral

Norris proposed a cruise of the joint fleets in the Baltic to con-

voy some merchant vessels, and offered the command to the

Tsar, Peter, flattered by the honour and tired of doing nothing,

gladly consented. It was certainly an imposing spectacle.

There were twenty-one Russian, nineteen English, eighteen

Danish, and twenty-five Dutch vessels of war, vyhich, with num-
erous merchant ships, made a fleet of 800 sail. When off Stral-

sund Peter left the squadron in order to hasten up his troops.

After returning to Copenhagen he went with a few galleys to

reconnoitre the coast of Scania, and found that the Swedes had

taken advantage of the delays of the allies ; that the coast was

well fortified ; and that, according to report, 20,000 troops were

in the province. He was flred upon, and the ship in which he

was was pierced by a ball, while another received considerable

damage.

Peter had learned caution by experience, and in view of the

lateness of the season, and of the fact that the division of Gen-
eral Eepnin had not yet been brought over, he called a council

of his ministers and generals on September 12, when it was

unanimously decided that it was impossible to effect an invasion

of Scania during that season. This decision was confirmed by
another council held subsequently, after Repnin's arrival, and
it was then notified to the Danes, who professed to be greatly

displeased, and then insisted on the movement. The Russians

replied that owing to useless waste of time it was now too late

in the autumn ; that it would be impossible to land so many
troops secretly; that a battle must be fought, and that two
towns—Landskrona and Malmo—must be taken; and in case

these places held oiit for any time, where were the troops to

pass the winter ? The Danes suggested the neighbourhood of



294 PETEE THE GEEAT.

Elsinore, and said that the soldiers could be sheltered in pits

dug in the earth. That means, the Tsar replied, to kill more

men than in a pitched battle ; and as to finding table provisions

in Scania, ' 30,000 Swedish troops are sitting at that table, who
will not easily give place to uninvited guests.' The Danish

Ministers then said that provisions could be taken from the

Danish islands. ' Soldiers' bellies,' the Tsar replied, ' are not

satisfied with empty promises and hopes—still less by maps on

which islands are marked—but they demand ready and real

storehouses.' He then stated decisively that the invasion

was impossible then, and must be put off until the following

spring. The Mecklenburg intriguers then cried out that the

mask had been taken off ; that the Tsar had purposely delayed

the transport of his troops ; and that now, under pretext of the

lateness of the season, had put off the expedition, when in real-

ity he was in secret relations with the Swedes. They dissem-

inated alarming rumours that so many Russian troops had come

to Denmark for the purpose of occupying the countiy, and that

there was a design against Copenhagen, so that measures were

taken to protect it against a sudden attack. Bernstorf went to

General Stanhope, who was then with King George in Han-

over, with a project ' to crush the Tsar immediately, to secure

his ships, and even to seize his person—to be kept till his troops

should have evacuated Denmark and Germany.' Stanhope,

although he was to a certain extent influenced by the Hanover-

ian surroundings of the King, would not consent that Admiral

Norris should receive further orders than to join his remon-

strances with those of the King of Denmark. It is said that

Bernstorf subsequently sent such a command to IS'orris, but that

he wisely refused to act upon this order, on the ground that it

came from the Government of Hanover and not from that of

England. Stanhope, in writing to Townshend, said :
' We may

easily master the Tsar if we go briskly to work, and that this

be thought a right measure. But how far Sweden may be en-

abled to disturb us in Britain you must judge. If the Tsar be

left alone he will not only be master of Denmark, but, with the

body of troops which he has still behind him on the fi-ontier

of Poland, may take quarters where he pleases in Germany.'

Somewhat later he writes that he has received information
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' that the Duke of Mecklenburg has signed a treaty with the

Tsar to give up his country to him in exchange for Livonia. It

is certain that if the Tsar be left alone three years he will be

absolute master of those seas.' Lord TownsheUd, although he
' also believed to a certain extent in the hostile designs of the

Tsar, yet, on consultation with the other Ministers, refused to be-

come a party to any act of open hostility to Russia, and laughed

at the idea even of Sir John !N^orris being left to winter in the

Baltic, ' as if the leaving of eight men of war to be frozen up

for six months would signify five grains towards giving a new
turn to the affairs of the JN^orth.' ' Others compared the Tsar

to Philip of Macedon.

In the midst of these accusations against the honour of the

Tsar, of these suspicions of a design against Denmark and an

intention to establish himself in Mecklenburg or Liibeck, Peter's

conduct was throughout upright and straightforward. Such
plans as these, had they existed, must certainly have left some
trace in the archives, and neither in official documents nor in

Peter's most confidential correspondence are there any allusions

to similar designs. He was anxious to end the war by any and
every fair means. He was thoroughly disgusted by the failure

of the proposed expedition against Scania, as is shown in all his

correspondence then and for more than a year afterwards. At
the moment he had little hopes even of a successful expedition

the next year.

One is naturally reminded of a conversation of his two years

previously with Weber, the Hanoverian Resident, who being

together with the Danish Resident to compliment the Tsar on
Easter day, says :

' He thanked us and took occasion to talk to

us (the wine having put him into a good humour) about cere-

monies and compliments. " These are customs," he said,

" which I hold agreeable when they come from men of honesty

and sincerity, qualities that I esteem preferable to all others.

Ehr and Redliclikeit are fine things. I try to keep to them,

and no man in the world can ever reproach me with the con-

trary. Yet I see with chagrin that those who ought to pay me
back in like coin do not. They take steps contrary to their en-

' See Lord Stanhope's History of England, chap. vii.
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gagements and to what they owe me. I have discovered all

these intrigues, but whatever wi-ong they do me, still I shall re-

main an honourable man and faithful and firm to the end of the

war. ... If one has a good cause there is no need of acting by

intrigues and in roundabout ways, which are distasteful to nie."
'

'

Everything ended quietly. The Russians showed not the

least hostile design, and in October the troops were sent back

to Mecklenburg and the fleet sailed away. Peter and Catherine

—for she had joined him and had been treated with great hon-

our, the Queen having made her the first visit—remained in

Copenhagen for more than a month after it had been decided

to put ofE the expedition. Though there was a little coldness at

first while the conferences with the Danish Ministers were go-

ing on, yet things were soon put on an amiable footing. The

King and the Tsar frequently exchanged visits, and on the an-

niversary of the battle of Liesnoe the English fleet saluted, and.

on the birthday of .the King, Peter and Catherine and all the

prominent Pussians were at a masquerade at the palace, where

all made very merry. Leaving Copenhagen on October 27,

they made a leisurely joui-ney through Denmark and Holstein

to Schwerin, stopping from time to time wherever there were

objects of interest, and at Liibeek long enough to allow Kup-

etzky to take the Tsar's portrait. While Peter, after enjoying

what was for him the unusual diversion of hunting with the

Duke, went alone to Havelsberg to meet the King of Prussia,

Catherine remained at Schwerin intending to travel more leis-

urely to Holland, as the Tsar had a large following, and she

was in an advanced stage of pregnancy.

This meeting was the more desirable since the confusion of

affairs at Copenhagen, and the intrigues which were being car-

ried on by Hanover both against Prussia and Russia. After

the victory of Prince Eugene over the Turks at Peterwardein,

the Emperor, acting under Hanoverian inspiration, had ordered

Prussia to send a delegate to the peace conference at Brimswick,

had forbidden in the sharpest terms the razing of the fortress

of Wismar, and when the Russian troops came back to Meck-

lenburg demanded nothing less than their removal, even ' at

' Weber's Keport to Elector of Hanover, April 3-14, 1714 ; E. Herrmann,

Peter cler Grosse, &c., p. 16.
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the risk of a niptare with Russia.' ' 'No peasant,' said the Em-
peror in patriotic language, ' allows a stranger to tie his horse to

his hedge. How much less can the German nation suffer for-

eign and harmful troops on German soil ? It is disreputable

for them unwillingly to endure a Russian garrison in Germany.'

When the Russian troops returned from Denmark the Hanover-

ians wrote to Yienna that 'if the Emperor should categorically

declare to him that the Empire would no longer suffer the ar-

bitrary acts of the Russians on German soil,' Peter would not

dare to remain. Nevertheless he did remain. ' The whole

might of the Russians stands before our doors,' they wrote again

to Vienna, and then sent envoys both to the Tsar at Schwerin

and to the King of Prussia, promising the Tsar the help of an

EngUsh fleet in the spring if he would only withdraw his troops,

and to the King insinuating that the Tsar wished to establish

himself there by occupying Liibeck, Hamburg, and Wismar,

and offering to make a treaty to turn the Russians out, to pro-

tect the Mecklenburg nobility, and naturally to divide the spoils.

The King replied :
' The Tsar has given his word that he will

take nothing for himself from the Empire. Besides this, part

of his cavalry is marching towards Poland, and it would be im-

possible for him to take those three cities without artillery,

which he does not possess.' On Ilgen's report the King wrote

:

' Tomfoolery !—shall refuse, and sit fast by brother Peter, and

put a noseband on the Hanoverians that they may not hit me
over the head and contest Pomerania.' On another :

' Right

pedantic Bernstorfian answer ; such foolish raisonnement and
threats have never seen in my days.' Frederick William, who
was daily becoming more hostile to Hanover, and wlio.had en-

deavoured to protect himself on one side by a defensive alliance

(September 17) with France, came to the interview well dis-

posed towards the Tsar. The result was a mutual agreement

to protect each other in case of attack, and hinder the claims of

Sweden to provinces conquered by Russia. It was agreed to

begin at once razing the walls of "Wismar, which nearly brought

about a conflict with the Hanoverians, who so much desired

that "Wismar should be declared an imperial city. That Peter

was content with this result we can see from a letter to Apraxin

:

' Formerly we wrote you about affairs here in a very despairing

b k. k ^.
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tone, but now there have been some changes, about which I will

shortly write you at length. . . . Things are still in their for-

mer state ; there is still no sure resolution as to the spring, but

I certainly expect a " fever crisis " about new year, concerning

which I shall not fail to write. ... I came here at the wish of

the King of Prussia, and we have accomplished something

which is not unprofitable. I go hence thi'ough Hamburg to

Holland, where I shall stay till March, in order to be nearer

England for arranging about the coming spring. If you need

anything for the Admiralty or for yourself privately, be good

enough to write to me.'

The satisfaction of Frederick William, combined with grati-

tude at a promise of more tall grenadiers, expressed itself in

presenting Peter with a full rigged yacht he had admired at

Potsdam, and an amber cabinet, which, as Catherine wrote to

Menshikof, he had always coveted.

Passing by Hamburg,' Bremen (where he was received by

the inhabitants with great demonstration as their deliverer from

the Swedes), Deventer, Amei-sfort, and Utrecht, Peter arrived

at Amsterdam (December 17), followed closely by his Min-

isters, and immediately wrote to Catherine: 'What I have

written before I now confirm, not to come by the way which I

came, for it is indescribably bad. Do not bring many people,

for life in Holland has become very dear. As to the church

singers, if they have not already started, half of them will be

enough. Leave the rest in Mecklenburg. All who are with

me here sympathise with you about your journey. If you can\

endure it you had better stay where you are, for the bad roads

may be dangerous to you. However, do as you please, and for

God's sake do not think that I do not want you to come, for you

know yourself how much I wish it, and it is better for you to

come than to be lonely and sad. StUl I could not desist from

writing, and I know that you will not endure being left aloDe.'

Catherine started, but after a hard journey was obliged to stop

at Wesel, where on January 14, 1717, she gave birth to the

' The city of Hamburg, remembering Its punishment by Menshikof, con-

sented to surrender to the Tsar Voinarofsky, the nephew of Mazeppa and his

heir, who had been favoured by Charles XII. , and was then going to Sweden

to take service under him.
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annual child, this time again a son, Paul. The Tsar, who was

suffering from a sharp attack of fever, wrote to his wife :
' I re-

ceived yesterday by Mavrin your delightful letter, in which you

say that the Lord God has blessed us by giving us another re-

cruit, for which be praise to Him and unforgetting thanks. It

delighted me doubly, first about the new-born child, and that

the Lord God has freed you from your pains, from which also

I became better. Ever since Christmas I have not been able

to sit up as long as yesterday. As soon as possible I will

immediately come to you.' But the next day came the news

that the newly-born Prince was dead and the mother very weak,

and the worst was that his death was ascribed to the bad treat-

ment which Catherine had met in passing through Hanover.

The Tsar had already announced the birth of his second son to

his friends and to the functionaries in Pussia, and now wrote

to his wife :
' I received your letter about what I knew before-

hand, the unexpected occurrence which has changed joy to

grief. What answer can I give except with the much-suffering

Job? The Lord has given and the Lord has taken away.

Blessed be the name of the Lord. I beg you to reflect on it in

this way ; I do as far as 1 can. My illness, thank God, lessens

from hour to hour, and I hope soon to go out of the house. It

is now nothing but irritation. Otherwise, I praise God I am
well, and should long ago have gone to you if I could have gone

by water, but I fear the shaking up in land travelling. Besides,

I am waiting for an answer from the English King, who is ex-

pected here in these days.' Peter tried to join his wife, but his

fever lasted till the middle of February ; and meanwhile Cathe-

rine had recovered and had already reached Amsterdam.

Peter's fever caused him considerable inconvenience as well

as loss of time. He was obliged to receive the foreign Minis-

ters and others who came to him as best he could. Baron van

Heems, the Imperial Minister at the Hague, went to Amster-

dam to give, him a letter from the Emperor with regard to his

troops in Mecklenburg, and found him on a couch without

canopy or curtains S,nd covered up to his neck. The Tsar had

greatly wished to see George I. as he passed through Holland

on his way back to England. But he was too ill even to leave

his bed, and sent Kuraldn and Tolstoi, who went to Ylaardingen^
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but were not received. The King subsequently apologised for

this by the fact that he had already gone aboard his yacht, and

that as he was hastening to England his departure could not

be delayed, on account of the tide.

The death of little Paul, though Peter tried so hard not to

show it, really aggravated his illness, and to this was added a

new trouble with regard to his son Alexis, who under the guise

of joining his father, had run away and entii-ely disappeared,

though he was thought to have taken refuge in Austria.

Peter had lived through so much that he was able in a

measure to throw ofE his annoyances, and now that his wife

was with him devoted himself heartily to the pleasure of see-

ing again Holland, where he had spent such a happy time in

his youth. "We can imderstand with what pleasure he went

about looking for his old acquaintances, not only among the

men of science but among his former comrades at the. East In-

dia "Wharf and at Zaandam, where he took Catherine and dined

with his friend Calf. After Amsterdam came Utrecht, the

Hague, Leyden, and Rotterdam, whence he set out on a journey

to France, while Catherine returned to the Hague to wait for

him."

Just as Peter was recovering from his illness he received a

report from "Veselofsky, now his Resident in London, of the ar-

rest of Count Gyllenborg, the Swedish Minister, on account of

an intercepted correspondence, proving that the Swedes were

intending to invade Scotland with 12,000 troops, in conjunction

with the Pretender. It was a plot skilfully contrived by

Goertz to win new friends for his master, and was directed

against France as well as England. Cardinal Alberoni, the

Prime Minister of Spain, was also engaged in it. Goertz was

arrested in Holland, but was soon set at liberty." Peter was

greatly delighted. He instructed Veselofsky to report in detail

' Besides purchasing the remarkable anatomical collection of Euysoli,

which is still preserved in St. Petersburg, the Tsar, to give pleasure to Cather-

ine, ordered a small model of a wealthy Amsterdam house. This remarkable

model was for some reason never sent to St. Petersburg, and is in the museum
at the Hague, where it affords an excellent picture of the conditions of life at

this time.

' For a sufficient account of this plot see Stanhope's History of England,

chap. viii.
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all that had occurred, and especially how the English Ministers

were now disposed towards him, hoping that Parliament would

be induced to grant subsidies for a war against Sweden, and

that thus, in fact, he would acquire a strong ally. In such a

case he would be ready to withdraw the rest of his troops from
Mecklenburg in order to please King George. Sheremetief,

with twelve battalions, had already marched to Poland, and

with regard to the remaining twenty negotiations were going on

with Denmark. He sent a full account of the ' curious inci-

dent ' to the Senate, and, in relating it to Apraxin, wrote

:

' Have I not been right in always drinking to the health of the

Swede ? For one could not have bought at any pi-ice what he
has himself done.' The joy of the Tsar was of short duration,

for Bemstorf gave Yeselofsky to understand that the with-

drawal of all the troops from Mecklenburg was a first condition

to any friendly arrangement, and he soon ascertained that in

the papers of Gryllenborg which had been seized mention was
made of him, and especially of his physician, Erskine, a Scotch-

man and a great Jacobite, who was said to be in correspondence

with his relative the Earl of Mar ; and it was hinted that the

Tsar was not only informed of the designs of the Swedes against

England, but, having a secret understanding with Sweden, had
been ready to support them.'

' The parts of the correspondence thought to incriminate the Tsar are the

following, as printed in Rapin, vol. iv., part ii., p. 509 fE:

—

Letter ofM. Oustavus Gyllenborg to tlie Count, liis hrother, dated the Hagvs,

Nmiemier 17, 1716.

' Baron Sparre takes notice that my Lord Mar has a cousin-german, named
Erskine, with the Tsar, who is physician and privy-councillor to that Prince ;

which favourite has nrote letters to my Lord Mar, giving a very particular ac-

count of the Tsar—viz. , that the Tsar will not attempt anything more against

Sweden ; that he has fallen out with his allies ; that he can never he friends

with King George ; that he hates him mortally ; that he is sensible of the just

cause of the Pretender ; that he wishes for nothing more than a conjuncture
in which he may he able to restore him to his dominions ; that the Tsar,' hav-
ing the advantage wholly on his side, cannot make the first step ; but if the

King would make the least advance, there would very soon be an accommoda-
tion between them.'

Baron Ooertz to Ba/ron Spoarre, Nmiemher 12, 1716.

' Yet I cannot but think that, by the canal of the favourite physician, the

good dispositions of the Tsar might be improved, if they are indeed such as



302 PETEE THE GREAT.

Veselofsky was instructed immediately to make representa-

tions to the English Government, and, if possible, to print a

memorial in English and French, ' to show to the whole world

'

that the Tsar had never had any designs against the King of

England, but that he had always sought his friendship and alli-

ance ; that although he had suffered from the action of the

King with regard to the expedition against Scania ; and thonghj

,

thanks to the Ministers of King George, the Danish Court was

still indisposed to Kussia ; though intrigues had been made
against him at the Diet of Kegensbnrg, in order to excitehatred

to Russia and compel the withdrawal of the Russian troops

from the territory of the Empire ; although Tolstdi and Prince

Kurakin, who had been sent M'ith pi-opositions to the King, had

not been received by him; yet he had never had any idea of

supporting the Pretender, and that all statements of such a

character in the correspondence of the Swedish Ministers were

false. He admitted, however, that when the negotiations with

King George had been broken off he had received a letter from

the Pretender, with regard to a separate peace between Russia

and Sweden. This, however, he liad not answered, and had

not received the persons who brought it ; that nothing had ever

been communicated to him of any plot in favour of the Preten-

der, or of any intention on the part of the King of Sweden to

attack England. Erskine had been thirteen years in the Tsar's

service, and had always acted with propriety ; and when the

Tsar had ascertained that some of his relations were implicated

with the Pretender, he had forbidden him to hold communica-

have been represented. If the Tsar come luther, and we can get a private con-

versatiou with the Favourite, we might certainly carry things on far, suppos-

ing, as I said, that what the Favourite has written be well founded. In the

meanwhile I am contriving some other way.'

Ba/ron Ooerte to Goimt Qylleriborg.

' The Hague, December 11, 1716.

' My Lord's relation hath indeed sent word that the Tsar has some disposi-

tions to peace, which we will not fail to make advantage of, that we may be in

a condition the better to push on the affair in question. The Tsar is to be

here very speedily. If it could be ordered that the said relation of my Lord

Mar should speak to me, I should quickly perceive what might be done there.

Yon will easily judge, sir, that an agreement with the Tsar would give great

weight to the other affair.'
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tions with them, even mth regard to his private affairs. Ers-

kine declared on oath that he had written no such letters to

Lord Mar, or to anyone else. The English Ministers replied

that the false insinuations of the Swedish Ministers had pro-,

duced no effect upon them ; that there was not even any ground

of suspecting Erskine ; and that in publishing the Swedish cor-

respondence the English Government had no other intention

than to expose the plots of the Swedes. The Secretary of State

ended these explanations with the usual remark, that when the

Eussian troops should be withdrawn from Mecklenburg the re-

lations between England and Eussia would no doubt be placed

on their old footing.

The English could not refuse to accept the Tsar's explana-

tion, who was certainly clear of any complicity in the affair.

The whole correspondence shows that the Swedes hoped merely

for a peace with Kussia (for roundabout negotiations had been

going on for that end), through which they would be enabled to

carry out the other design, but not that they expected any active

assistance from the Tsar. At that time there had been no per-

sonal communication between Goertz and the Eussian Ministers.

Confusion has been made with what happened subsequently,

after the Tsar's return from France.'

' Solovief, xvii. ; Journal of Peter the Great ; Golikof, vi. ; Droysen ; Lord

Stanhope, History of England ; Eapin de ThoyriCs History of England ; Eioh-

holtz, ' Memoir,' in Bvssian Antiquity, 1875 ; Scheltema, Musland en de Ifed&r-

Imdm ; Guerrier, LeSmitz and Peter the Great.



LXX.

THE TSAR m PAEIS.—1717.

The difficulty of maintaining a sincere good understanding

with Hanover and thus with England led the Tsar to accept,

without hesitation, the overtures which had of late been cau-

tiously made by France.

The Duke of Orleans had entered on a new political system.

Instead of hostUitj' to England and protection to the Jacobites,

he had sought the friendship of England, supported the Han-
overian dynasty and signed the Triple Alliance. In addition to

patriotic motives and the value of the English alliance to France,

he had got for himself a guarantee of his succession to the

throne in the event of the death of Louis XY., a small and

delicate boy. The Bourbon King of Spain, who had renounced

his rights, was intriguing to regain them, and causing much un-

easiness at the Palais Royal. To get another ally he had en-

tered into relations with Prussia, and indeed had, on September

14, 1716, signed at Berlin a secret treaty with King Frederick

William, by which, in consideration of the guarantee of his

rights to the succession, he had guaranteed in return to Prussia

the possession of Stettin and its district, and promised a subsidy

in case of trouble. The King kept this treaty secret from the

Tsar, but, on the suggestion of the French Minister, talked to

him of the advantages of a good understanding between Eussia

and France, to which Peter replied favourably. Golofkin re-

ported from Berhn that he had received hints of the same kind.

Count Eottembourg, the French Minister, explained to the

King the policy of his Government by the desire of having in

Germany some counterpoise to Austria ; that for this purpose

France had supported Sweden as long as she was strong, and

had secured the Swedes a foothold in Germany, but that now,

in view of the ruin of Sweden, she would willingly abandon her

and ally herself with Prussia and Russia, and thought it desii'-
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able that Russian troops should remain in Germany. The Tsar

replied to the King, asking for a formal proposition from

Trance, and suggesting Holland as a place for negotiations, but

declared that while he was ready to ally himself with France,

he did not wish to serve as a mere tool for accomplishing French

ends, nor to be led into hostility against the Emperor. He
wished his hands free to treat himself with the Emperor at

some future time if his interests demanded it. He also found

it impossible to establish himself in Germany, and keep there

a permanent Russian army as France wished. King Frederick

William replied that he was of the same opinion, and that, in

case of an agreement with France, should any necessity ever

arise, it would be easy enough for Russia to introduce troops into

the Empire, as Prussia would always give them a free passage,

and the Poles would not be in a position to prevent them.

Some steps had before then been taken in the same direc-

tion, and a French diplomatist had even been instructed to go

to Pyrmont under pretext of taking the waters, and insinuate

himself into the good graces of the Tsar. Now that matters

had gone so far, Kurdkin, by the Tsar's orders, entered into re-

lations with M. de Chateauneuf, the French Ambassador at the

Hague, and a week afterwards made a formal proposition for a

treaty. The Regent instructed his Ambassador to open nego-

tiations when he received a confidential letter from the Abbe
Dubois, who advised him strongly against this step, for fear

lest, by drawing near to the Tsar, he would lose the friendship

of England and Holland. The Abbe admitted that he had not

gone to the bottom of the matter, and that it was simply a gen-

eral feeling on his part, but he said :
' The Tsar and the King

of Prussia pass for two very faithless princes. If in establish-

ing the Tsar you chase the English and Dutch from the Baltic

Sea, you will be eternally odious to these two nations. The
Tsar has chronic maladies, and his son will support nothing.

The King of Prussia, allied to the crown of England, and who
cannot keep himself from marrying one of his daughters to the

Prince of Wales, will make it up with his father-in-law. ... I

cannot help recalling at this moment two Italian proverbs. One
is Ghista bene non si muove, and the other is the epitaph of a man
who killed himself by precautionary measui-es, I^er star meglio

Vol. 11.-20
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son qui. Apply these two truths to your position, and if the

Triple Alliance can suffice you, examine if the rest is necessary,

and whether by keeping to what is sure and not conflicting, you

will not finally have more advantage than by taking up what is

risky.' This letter made a deep impression on the Regent. He
modified the orders sent to Chdteauneuf, bidding him prolong

delay and raise difficulties. Cnyphausen, who was with the Tsar

in Holland, as the agent of King Frederick William, took part

in the negotiations. The Tsar first proposed a defensive alliance

between the two States, with reciprocal guarantees, including

of course the newly-annexed provinces. This being refused,

the Eussian propositions were gradually reduced to the follow-

ing : That the Tsar would guarantee the treaties of Utrecht and

Baden without exacting any guarantee for his states or con-

quests, knowing that such guarantee could not be given until

a regular cession had been made by treaty of peace ; that France

should give no subsidy to the King of Sweden during the war

;

that the good offices of France should be employed to make a

peace without cmy partiality to the Kwig of Sweden ,• and that

a subsidy of 25,000 crowns a month should be given to the

Tsar during the rest of the war. These points were handed to

Chateauneuf on March 30, and on the same day the Tsar, think-

ing he might accomplish more on the spot, announced to him

his intention of going personally to Paris, asked that as little as

possible be said about it before his arrival, and started the same

day. Peter greatly desired peace, and he was determined to

leave nothing undone which he could do to obtain it. That

such was his real desire may be seen from a letter about this

time to Sheremetief, which also throws light on his proceedings

in Denmark. He writes :
' The descent on Scania was hin-

dered and prevented by you and some other generals, and what

bad consequences now arise from it ! The Englishman does

not intend to do anything, and the Danes dare not do anything

without him, and so we shall go home with shame. Besides

this, if the descent had taken place we should now have peace.

Therefore, do you and the other generals give me counsel in

what way to bring this war to a conclusion, only in these letters

don't write " as you wish," but reflect on it and send me your

real opinion.' Peter may have had still an additional inducement







THE tsar's visit TO FEAXCE AND HOLLAND. 307

to visit Paris, for he had recently received from Zotof, his agent

there, a letter reporting a conversation with the Marshal d'Es-

trees as to the possibility of a second marriage of the Tsarevitch

Alexis with a daughter of the Duke of Orleans, that the Mar-

shal had said nothing would be refused to the Tsar, and that

the Eegent said that he would be very glad if it took place that

day. This perhaps led to the idea, which never left Peter to

the day of his death, of marrying his daughter Elizabeth to

King Louis XY.
If we may believe St. Simon, the Regent would have been

glad to avoid this visit, not only on account of the great ex-

pense attending it, and on account of the anticipated difficulties

of etiquette, but also because the Tsar was in such unfriendly

relations to King George of England. Nevertheless, he hastily

did all he could in the way of preparations, sent carriages and

an escort to Dunkirk, and ordered Marshal de Tesse to meet

the Tsar and wait upon him during his stay. The apartments

of the late Queen at the Louvre, and in case he preferred a pri-

vate house, the Hotel Lesdiguieres, near the arsenal, belonging

to the Marshal de Villeroi, were prepared for him. Meudon
was also put at his disposition.

The Tsar, however, did not hasten. Led away by the en-

. ticements of travel, he made a royal progress through the Low
Countries, for, in spite of his incognito, he was received every-

where with salutes of cannon and ringing of bells, and was met
by the authorities and the population. He stayed five days at

Kotterdam, whence he sent Catherine back to the Hague, for

he wished to avoid questions of etiquette ; and Catherine, while

distinguished for her good heart and sound sense, remained ig-

norant, and could not be expected to interest herself in the many
things which would take up her husband's attention during his

journey. From Rotterdam Peter went slowly by yacht to Dort,

Breda, and Flushing, then np the Scheldt to Antwerp, visiting

in each place all the curiosities, and even ascending the cathe-

dral spire at Antwerp ; then to Brussels,' where he was met and

' Peter wrote to Catherine from Brussels :
' I send you lace ioxfonkmge

and engageantes, for the best lace In all Europe is made here, but they make it

to order only ; therefore send the pattern and what name or arms you wish

worked in it.

'
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followed by the Duke of Holstein-Ploen and Prince dc la Tour,

by Grlient, Bruges, Ostende, and Meupoort, to Dunkirk, where

lie examined with great care the fortifications then in progress

of destruction,' and Calais, where he remained nine days and

kept the last week of Lent and the Kussian Easter. Monsieur

de Liboy, a gentleman of the King's household, had been sent

to Dunkirk to meet him, and was greatly distressed by the dis-

putes about carriages, by the difficulties made at every turn by

the Tsar's suite, and, above all, by the daily expense which far

exceeded his estimates, and in every despatch he expressed the

desire of putting the Tsar and his suite on a money allowance,

and permitting them to provide for themselves. He was besides

perplexed by the conduct of the Tsar, whom he thought idle

and amusing himself rather than attending to business, and

troubled himself about the object of the journey, of which he

could not get the slightest hint. The Duke of Holstein and

the Prince de la Tour also annoyed him because they took seats

at the Tsar's table and places in the carnages intended for

others, and that, too, when they were not down on his official

list. Besides this, while the Tsar wished to travel strictly m-
cognito, he was ready to accept certain honours, such as salutes,

and Prince Kurakin was particular in having an exact statement

of the ceremonial that would have been accorded to him were he

travelling as a sovereign. There were with the Tsar in all

twenty-two persons of rank, and thirty-nine orderlies and ser-

vants, and according to Liboy, ' this little court is very change-

able and irresolute, and from the throne to the stable very sub-

ject to anger.' He writes: 'I persist in what I have said of

the character of the Tsar, in whom one does indeed find seeds

of virtue, but they are all wild and very mixed. I believe that

uniformity and constancy in his projects is what fails him most,

and that he has not arrived at that point when one can really rely

upon what would be concluded with him. I admit that Prince

Ivurakin is polite ; he appears to be intelligent and to desire to

arrange everything to our mutual satisfaction. I do not know

if it is by temperament or through fear of the Tsar, who ap-

pears, as I have said, very hard to please and quick tempered,

' He wrote to Catherine : ' It is very sad to look at the ruins of this fortress,

and especially the harbour.

'
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that Kurakin seems to treat the least trifles with warmth

and as very important. I will not enter into details. Prince

Dolgoriiky appears a gentleman, and to be much esteemed by the

Tsar ; the only inconvenience is that he understands absolutely

no language but Russian. In this respect, allow me to remark

that the term Muscovite, or even Muscovy, is deeply offensive

to all this court. The lieutenant-general Buturlin is much es-

teemed by the Tsar, and understands a little German. The
councillor Tolstoi is in his confidence, is very polite, and speaks

Italian. The adjutant and chamberlain Yaguzhinsky is the

favourite. He is fond of pleasure, and never goes to bed sober.

He does not appear to take any part in affairs, and, to tell the

truth, it is on Prince Kurakin that everything respecting the

journey depends. You know the councillor Erskine better than

I do. I think that he is very desirous of meddling in every-

thing, and that he is shut out everywhere. The secretary

Makarof has a district that I do not know, as also the secretary

Volkof . They neither of them appear to be personages of im-

portance. I have not seen- the councillor Osterman, and I do

not know what he does. He has been invited out several times.

I think he comes seldom to table, and takes part in very little.

Eaguzhinsky is a thoughtless young man, and nephew of Savva

Eagnzhinsky, whom you have seen the last ten days in Paris,

who intrigues in all sorts of affairs, and whom I think a man
little to be relied upon. You know him, he is distinguished in

the list. The arch-priest is the boon companion of the favour-

ite, and at least as little sober, and a great burden. I thinli he

busies himself only with drinking. He speaks nothing but Rus-

sian. This, Monseigneur, is what I have been able to remark

up till now of the principal personages of this court. The Tsar

rises early, dines about ten o'clock, sups about seven, and retires

before nine. He drinks liquors before meals, beer and wine in

the afternoon, sups very little, and sometimes not at all. I

have not been able to perceive any sort of council or conference

for serious business, unless they discuss affairs while tippling.

I am even astonished, and I do not know if they do not live

from hand to mouth, the Tsar deciding alone and promptly

whatever is presented. This Prince varies on all occasions his

amusements and walks, and is extraordinarily quick, impatient.
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and very hard to please.' Again he says :
' He likes especially

to see the water. He lives in the great apartments, and sleeps

in some out-of-the-way room if there be any.'

'

Peter apparently did not find French wines to his taste, for

he wrote to Catherine :
' Thanks for the Hungarian wine, which

here is a great rarity. There is only one bottle of vodka left.

1 don't know what to do.' Among other curiosities, he found

at Calais a giant, named Nicholas, whom he engaged to go to

Russia, and adds to his wife :
' I send you a French dmwif I

have engaged. Ee good enough to look after him so that he

may want nothing.'

At last the Tsar left Calais on May 4, but refused entirely

to keep the itinerary laid down for him. A great reception

had been arranged at Amiens, but he passed round the town

and slept at Breteuil. De Bemage, in expressing his annoy-

ance, adds in a postscript :
' It is not impossible that the Bishop

of Amiens may make some complaints, for in order not to lose

my display, I invited some ladies to come and eat the Tsar's

supper, and Madame de Bernage gave a grand ball in the

Episcopal palace, of which this prelate had left me master, as

he had very prudently not judged it convenient to interrupt

the course of his visits to come to see or not see the Tsar.'

At Beauvais the Bishop was equally disappointed in the re-

ception that he had arranged, although he had the opportunity

of talking with the Tsar, who stopped for a moment at the

gate. "When ' they told the Tsar he would find nothing fit to

eat further on, he replied :
' I am a soldier, and when I find

bread and water I am content.'

At Beaumont-sur-Oise on May Y the Tsar was met by

' In order to render things easier at Paris, Liboy thouglit it necessary to send

a note of the way in wliich the Tsar lived :
' The Tsar has a head cook who

prepares two or tliree dishes for him every day, and who uses for this pui'pose

enough wine and meat to serve a table of eight.

' He is served both a meat and a lenten dinner on Fridays aaid Saturdays.

' He likes sharp sauces, brown and hard bread, and green peas.

' He eats many sweet oranges and apples and pears.

' He generally drinks light beer and dark m» de Nkiits, without liquor.

' The morning he drinks aniseed water (Kummel), liquors before meals,

beer and wine iu the afternoon. All of them fairly cold.

' He eats no sweetmeats and does not drink sweetened liquors at his meals.'
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Marshal de Tess6 with the royal carriages and an escort of

guards, and reached Paris about half-past nine that evening.

He remained for nearly an hour at the Louvre, where he

found the apartments too fine for him, looked at the supper

table set with a superb mnbigiu for sixty persons, asked for

some bread and radishes, tasted six kinds of wine, and drank

two glasses of beer, and was then driven to the Hotel Les-

digui^res, which, besides beingmore retired, had a pleasing situ-

ation on the river and a fine view. Even here he disliked the

large, luxuriously fui"nished rooms, and had a camp-bed put up

in a small dressing-room. The next morning, Saturday, the

Eegent paid a visit to the Tsar. He was met at his carriage

by four gentlemen of the Tsar's suite, and in the anteroom was

received by the Tsar himself, who advanced a few paces, em-

braced the Duke, and as the saloon was full of people showed

Mm into his cabinet. They were followed by Prince Kurakin,

who served as interpreter. Here two arm-chairs had been

placed opposite each other. The Tsar sat down in the one at

the upper end of the room and the Eegent in the other. The
conversation lasted nearly an hour, with no talk of busiaess,

after which the Tsar left the cabinet followed by the Regent,

and with a profound bow left him at the same spot where he

had met him on arrival. The formality of this visit is remark-

able, but the Tsar had come to Paris to effect a definite object,

and felt it necessary not to derogate from his rank as a

sovereign and to comply with all the demands of the strictest

etiquette. Much therefore as he desired to see the curiosities

of Paris, he, contrary to his usual custom, refused to leave the

house until he had received the visit of the King. , As he

wrote to Catherine :
' For two or three days I must stay in the

house for visits and other ceremonies, and therefore I have as

yet seen nothing,; but to-morrow or the day after I shall begin

sight-seeing. From what I could see on the road the misery of

the common people is very great.' In a postscript, after giving

directions about sending a boat to Russia, he adds :
' I have

this moment received your letter full of jokes. You say that

I'U soon be looking about for a lady, but that woiild not be at

all becoming to my old age.' The next day, Monday, the King
made his visit. The Tsar met him at his carriage and con-



312 PETER THE 6EEAT.

ducted him to his room, where there were two arm-chairs of

the same size, and gave the King that on his right. Prince

Kurdkin served as interpreter; the Duke du Maine and

Marshal de Villeroi carried on most of the conversation for the

King. After a quarter of an hour the Tsar rose, took the King
in his arras, raised him up and kissed him several times with

great politeness and tenderness, after which the King retired

with the same ceremony. The next day the Tsar returned the

visit of the King at the Tuileries, and was received with a

similar ceremonial. Seeing that the little Louis was hastening

to meet him at his carriage, Peter jumped out of it, rushed up

to the King, took him in his arms and carried him up the stair-

case. He wrote to Catherine :
' 1 inform you that last Monday

the little King here visited me, who is only a finger or two

taller than our Luhe (his dwarf). The child is very handsome

in face and build and sensible enough for his age, which is only

seven years.' To Menshikof, after speaking of the poverty of

the peasants, he gives much the same account :
' The King is

a mighty man and very old in years, namely, seven.'

It is interesting to compare with this the account of Marshal

Villeroi, who wrote to Madame de Maintenon :
' I cannot ex-

press to you the dignity, the grace, and the pretty way in which

the King made and received the visit of the Tsar ; but I must

tell you that this Prince said to be barbarous is not so at all

;

he displayed sentiments of grandeur, generosity, and politeness,

which we by no means expected.'

!N^ow that this visit of ceremony had been made, Peter re-

turned the call of the Eegent, and visited also his wife and his

mother, who writes :
' I received to-day a great visit, that of

my hero the Tsar. I find that he has very good manners, tak-

ing this expression in the sense of those of a person scms facon

and not in the least affected. He has much judgment. He
speaks bad German, but still makes himself understood without

trouble and talks very freely. He is polite towards everybody

and is much liked.' He also visited, half by accident, the

Duchess de Berry and the Princess de Conti. The rest of the

great ladies of Paris saw him only by chance on going to some

place which lie was to visit. There was a dispute of etiquette

with regard to the Princes of the blood, who refused to call
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upon the Tsar unless they first had an assurance that he would
return the visit to their wives. In the course of his excursions,

however, he saw many of the most distinguished men of Franc^.

Sight-seeing occupied the greater part of the six weeks
which Peter spent in Paris and its neighbourhood. The busi-

ness for which he had come was by no means neglected, but of

that we will speak later. It is impossible to enter into all the

details of the Tsar's stay. He visited the chief monuments,
went several times to the Observatory, the manufactory of

Gobelin tapestry, and the Jardin des Plantes. In the great

gallery of the Louvre, Marshal de Villars explained to him the

plans of the chief French fortresses. He went to the Invalides,

tasted the soldiers' soup and wine and drank to their health,

dined with Prince Eakoczy, and went with him to Meudon,
dined at Issy with the Marshal d'Estrees, who entertained him
with talk about the French navy ; dined at St. Cloud with the

Eegent, hunted stags with the Count de Toulouse at Fontaine-

bleau, visited the natural and mechanical curiosities of the Post-

master at Percy, spent two hours in the Abbey of St. Denis,

called upon the ex-Queen of England, and made a second visit

to the King at the Tuileries. He spent several days at Yer-
sailles and the Trianon, where his suite was lodged in the old

apartment of Madame de Maintenon, and created great scandal

by the young ladies they brought with them. He suddenly
left Yersailles to see the procession on Whit Sunday, and the

service by the Cardinal de !Noailles at Notre Dame. During
his visit to the mint a medal was struck in his honour with an
appropriate inscription and the motto from Virgil, Yires ac-

qmni eundo. He was solemnly received at the Sorbonne, and
was given a plan for the reunion of the Eastern and Western
Churches drawn up by the theologians of that institution. On
his return to Russia, Peter gave this document to the Russian
bishops, with orders to answer it. The first reply, drawn up by
Stephen Tavorsky, was thought by the Tsar to be too dogmati-
cal and impolite in tone, and another one to the same effect was
therefore written by Theophan Proeopovitch. The substance of

both was the same. The Russian bishops considered that they
had no right to settle the question without the knowledge of the

four Eastern Patriarchs. Singularly enough in the same year
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there was a movement among the English clergy for a union

between the English and the Oriental churches, and the Tsar

received a letter to that effect signed by two bishops, Jeremy

Collier and Archibald Campbell. Another long letter on the

same subject was written to Golofkin by Patrick Cockbum.

In consequence of the Tsar's visit to the Academy and his

talk with Delisle, the Academy of Sciences expressed a wish to

elect him a member. He accepted the honour, and his election

as Academician Jiors de tout rcmg took place on December 22,

1T17. Fontenelle was given the duty of replying to the letters

of the Tsar, who had the Caspian Sea surveyed and sent the

map as a present, and after the Tsar's death delivered, in K^o-

vember, 1725, the customary eloge at a public meeting of the

Academy.
He found time too, at the request of the Regent, to have

his portrait painted by Kigaud and by Nattier, to visit hos-

pitals and witness an operation for the cataract, to attend the

Parliament, and to review the Royal Guard in the Champs

Elysees.

Many incidents of the Tsar's stay in Paris were amusing to

contemporaries. On one pccasion he went with the Duke of

Orleans to the Opera, where he sat on the front bench of the

large box. During the performance the Tsar asked if he could

not have some beer. A large goblfit on a saucer was immedi-

ately brought. The Regent rose, took it, and presented it to

the Tsar, who, with a smile and a bow of politeness, took the

goblet without any ceremony, drank, and put it back on the

saucer which the Regent kept holding. The Duke then took a

plate with a napkin, which he presented to the Tsar, who, with-

out rising, made use of it, at which scene the audience seemed

astonished.

When he drove from Versailles to St. Germain and visited

the school of St. Cyr, founded by Madame de Maintenon,- he

expressed a desire to see the wife of Louis XIV. To put her-

self in the most favourable light the venerable lady, took to her

bed, having the curtains only half drawn. Peter entered, pulled

back the window curtains and the bed cm-tains (it was seven

o'clock in the evening), looked at her for a moment silently,

then sat down on the bed at her feet and asked what her illness
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was. She replied, ' Old age.' Peter, who did not know what to

say, for his interpreter appeared not to hear her, rose and went

away, after a very brief visit. Madame de Maintenon was

flattered, for while the Tsar was still in the house, she wrote

an account of it to her niece, Madame de Caylus,' and it is said

that on the appearance of the Tsar a ray of her former beauty

lighted up her face.

Everywhere the Tsar was received with respect and consid-

eration. His history, his character, his achievements, his exact

knowledge in so many directions, and his interest in everything

that was scientific and technical, made a deep impression. St.

Simon thus describes him :
' He was a very tall man, well

made, not too stout, with a roundish face, a high forehead, and

fine eyebrows, a short nose—but not too short—large at the

end ; his lips were rather thick ; his complexion a ruddy brown

;

fine black eyes, large, lively, piercing, and well apart ; a majes-

tic and gracious look when he wished, otherwise severe and

stern, with a twitching which did not often return, but which

disturbed his look and his whole expression and inspired fear.

That lasted but a moment, accompanied by a wild and terrible

look, and passed away as quickly. His whole air showed his in-

tellect, his reflection, and his greatness, and did not lack a certain

grace. He wore only a linen collar, a round brown perruque

without powder which did not touch his shoulders, a brown
tight-fitting coat, plain, with gold buttons ; a waistcoat, breeches,

stockings, no gloves nor cuffs ; the star of his order on his coat

and the ribbon underneath ; his coat often quite unbuttoned,

his hat on a table and never on his head even out of doors.

With aU this simplicity, and whatever bad carriage or company
he might be, one could not fail to perceive the air of greatness

that was natural to him.'

After reciprocal visits of adieu exchanged with the King and
the Kegent, and after giving his portrait set with diamonds to

the Duke d'Antin, Marshal de Tesse, Marshal d'Estrees, and

two or three others, and liberal presents to many more, Peter

left Paris on Sunday, June 20. It was the Russian Whit Sun-

day, and as he first heard service and started after dinner he

' In a previous letter she had said :
' The Tsar . . . seems to me a very

great man since he has enquired ahout me.'
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got no further than Livry, where he was the guest of the Mar-

quis. The next day he dined with Marshal d'Estrees at Nan-

teuil, and slept at Soissons. At Reims he is said to have been

shown the missal on which the Kings of France had for so

many generations taken their coronation oath, and to have read

it easily, to the great astonishment of the clergy, who then first

learned that the mysterious unknown character in which it was

written was Slavonic. From Charleville to Liege by boat down
the Meuse, and thence to Spa, took a week, for there were spec-

tacles on land and water, curious things to see, and Imperial,

Dutch, and Electoral authorities vied in doing him honours.

Peter remained at Spa drinking the waters for fully five

weeks. Two of his letters to Catherine are interesting, the

second being written on the anniversary of Poltava, which lie

celebrated with a public dinner and fireworks. ' Spa, July 1.—

I yesterday received your letter of the 11th, in which you write

of the illness [the smallpox] of our daughters, and that the first,

thank God ! is getting better, while the other has taken to her

bed, about which Alexander Danilovitch also writes me. But

your changed style has made me very sad, as the bringer of this

will tell you. For your letter was very differently written from

usual. God grant we can hear the same about Anushka as

about Lisenka. When you write for nie to come quickly and

that you are very lonesome, I believe you. The bi'inger of this

will tell you how lonely I am without you, and I can say that,

except those days when I was in Versailles and Marly, twelve

days ago, I have had no great pleasure. But here I must stay

some days, and when I finish drinking the water I will start

that very day^ for there are only seven hours by land and five

days by water. God grant to see you in joy, which I wish from

all my heart.

' P.S.—I received this morning the glad news that Anushka

is better, and therefore began to drink the water more joyously.'

' Spa, July 8.—I congratulate you on this triumphal day of

the Eussian resurrection, only I am sorry that we celebrate it

apart, as well as to-morrow's day of the Holy Apostles, the

namesday of your old man and the brat. God grant that these

days pass quickly, and that I can be with you sooner. The

water, thank God, acts well, and I hope to finish the cure in a
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week from St. Peter's day. To-day I put on for the first time

your camisole, and drank your health, but only very little, be-

cause it is forbidden.

'P.S.—(After acknowledging a letter and two bottles of

vodka.)—Yon write that you sent little because I drank little at

the waters, which is true. I do not drink altogether more than

five times a day, and spirit only once or twice, and not always,

partly because it is strong, and partly because it is scarce. I

think that it is very tiresome that we are so near and cannot see

each other. God grant soon. On finishing this 1 drink once

to your health.'

The five days of the journey from Spa were stretched out

to eight, for Peter found much to amuse and interest him at

Aachen and even at Maestricht. The Dutch boats were slow,

and it was August 3 when he met Catherine at Amsterdam,
and found diplomatic work enough waiting for him as well.

The negotiations carried on in Paris had now brought a result.

Immediately after his interview with the King the Tsar

formally renewed his propositions for an alliance, and the

Eegent appointed Marshal de Tesse to carry on the negotiations

with Shafirof, Tolstdi, and Dolgoriiky. Conferences took

place, and notes were exchanged in which, though in bad French

and abrupt stj'le, the thought of the Tsar was plainly shown.
' Put me,' he said to France, ' instead of and in the place of

Sweden. The European system has changed. Sweden half

annihilated can no longer aid you ; the power of the Emperor
has greatly increased, and I, Tsar, want to take the place of

Sweden with you, I offer you not only my alliance, but my
power, and at the same time that of Prussia, without whom I

could not act. Poland will not ask better than to join us, and
when France, Prussia, Poland, and I, Tsar, shall be united—by
me. Tsar—not only will the balance which the Swedish alliance

should make for you be established, but the little grain that I

put in turns the scale, and although you have made a very

suitable treaty with England and HoUand, what I, Tsar, pro-

pose to you is not contrary to it. Holland will find her account,

and it is to her interest that the Emperor be not so powerful.

England is a country so divided in itself and so variable in its

plans, that if in the futui-e it sbould fail you, the said Tsar

h. k, kib.^



318 PETER THE GREAT.

would stand in the stead of all that you can hope from Sweden.

I ask for no guarantee for my conquests, hut treat me the same

as Sweden, since I will not only take the place of Sweden but

will bring you Prussia.' The Eegent felt inclined to accept

with some modifications the Russian propositions, but Dubois

always dissuaded him. He was afraid of being disagreeable to

England. It was impossible to accept anything contrary to the

provisions of previous treaties, and by treaty the subsidies had

to be paid to Sweden for ten months yet. Tesse was instructed,

therefore, to negotiate a simple treaty of amity and friendship

with a commercial treaty based on mutual equality. As to the

substitution of Russia for Sweden in a great northern alliance,

it was hoped that the present treaty would lead to that result

when the present obligations of France to Sweden had expired.

Tesse himself says in his memoirs: 'The new Government

had no other intention than to amuse the Tsar as long as he

stayed without concluding anything.' Nevertheless the negotia-

tions went on with reasonable rapidity, and during the later

conferences Baron Cnyphausen, the Prussian envoy, was ad-

mitted to take part. It was suggested that as the Tsar, who
knew nothing of the secret treaty already existing between

France and Prussia, proposed the guarantee of Stettin for

Prussia, it should be inserted, thus letting him think that it was

his influence that brought it about. The French felt that they

could guarantee Stettin, though not the Russian conquests, be-

cause an officer of the King of Sweden had said to Count de

Croissy that this would not be an obstacle to peace.

At one time there was even a willingness to promise sub-

sidies to Russia after the expiration of the treaty with Sweden,

but it was thought best to leave the Russians in ignorance of

the amount actually paid ; which, it was explained, was not a

mere favour but the necessary result of the treaty of West-

phalia, and for that purpose Tesse was advised to make up a

false treaty which would appear to be whole, yet contain only

the conditions he wished to show. The Russians were told,

too, that if Charles XII. continued so opposed to peace the

subsidies to Sweden would no longer be paid. One thing that

the French wished to secure was their mediation in the North-

ern war. It was not desired to leave this to England, or even



STIPULATIONS OF THE TREATY. 319

to the Emperor, lest it might increase his power. The Tsar

had said tP someone at Meudon :
' Well, what do you say of

the King of Sweden, who is under the greatest obligations to

France, and not only refuses her mediation, but proposes to me
the mediation of the Emperor, and makes me these proposi-

tions at a time when he sees me determined to come to

France ? Well, I refused it.'

The apprehensions of the Eegent about England were some-

what relieved by a conversation which Tesse had with the

Russians regarding the troops in Mecklenburg. They told him
that the whole thing was the effect of a cabal caused by Bern-

storf, who had lands in Mecklenburg, and who had very

haughtily said that he knew how to make the Tsar's troops

leave Mecklenburg, and had in a way threatened the Tsar with

the power of England and with that of the Emperor, upon

which the Tsar, being offended, kept his troops there. They
assured Tesse that there would be no trouble in withdrawing

them even without a stipulation in the treaty. The Kegent

thought that in this way he could perhaps render himself still

more agreeable to England by appearing to have procured the

withdrawal of the Russian troops from Germany.

Everything was at last arranged, and the treaty was ready

for signature on June 19 ; but the Tsar was in haste to go to

Spa, and Baron Cnyphausen wished first to have an answer to

a despatch, and the signature was therefore adjourned until the

Tsar's return to Holland. It took place on August 15, at

Amsterdam. By three secret articles the treaties of Utrecht

and Baden and those which should re-establish the tranquillity

of the North were guaranteed, and it was agreed that if one of

the allies were attacked the others should try by peaceful means
to support him. If these means were unsuccessful in the

course of four months they were obliged to assist him with
troops and money. The Tsar and the King of Prussia agreed to

accept the mediation of the King of France for putting an end
to the Northern war, but no force was to be used by France for

this purpose. France also bound herself that, on the conclu-

sion of the existing treaty with Sweden in the following April,

it would enter into no new engagements with that country con-

trary to the interests of Russia or Prussia. An engagement
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was also handed by CMteauneuf to Cnyphausen, without the

knowledge of the Eussians, that this treaty in no way enfeebled

the anterior engagement of September, 1716, for guaranteeing

Stettin. France, in another way too, played a double part,

for, notwithstanding the promised secrecy, the whole negotia-

tions were revealed to England. When the Tsar found out

later (1721) that all was known in London, he complained of it,

saying that if one of his own ministers were at fault he would

make an example of him. Even this despatch was shown to

King George, who wrote jestingly on the margin: 'The Tsar

wants to impale one of his ministers, and seek a pretext.'

Admiral ITorris, as an extraordinary envoy of King George,

and Whitworth, the English Minister at the Hague, came just

at this time to Amsterdam, and had a conference with the

Russian Ministers in the house of the Chancellor Golofkin.

They explained the great desire of the King for a good under-

standing, a commercial treaty, and the end of the war, and re-

quested the Tsar's propositions. The Russians asked for fifteen

English ships of the line to be under the full command of the

Tsar, which, together with the Russian fleet, would cover an

attack on the east coast of Sweden, and this every year until

the Swedes were forced to make peace. Norris took this prop-

osition to London, and it was found to be inconsistent with

English usages. The matter gradually dropped. Hanover,

like Denmark, thought a particular peace would bring greater

advantages.

Meanwhile Prince Kurakin was engaged in still more im-

portant negotiations directly with the Swedes, which it was

thought would soon lead to peace for all parties. On his ar-

rival at the Hague from Spa at the end of July, he had three

meetings with General Foniatowski, the friend and companion

of Charles XIL, who had seen him before at Spa ; and with

Pries, a secretary of legation, who had full power for this, and,

with the approval of Goertz, who was still iu Holland, it was

agreed that both Swedes and Russians should send plenipoten-

tiaries to a conference in the Aland Islands within two or three

months. It was thought that there the negotiations would be

less exposed to foreign influence, and that secrecy could be

better observed. Goertz, who had been released from his im-
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was angry at his obstinacy and stinginess, and, wishing to settle

surely the position of his niece, gave the divorced Duchess

30,000 thalers down, and a yearly pension of 5,000 thalers, on

which she acknowledged the legality of the divorce.

At Berlin Peter found the King alarmed at the talk which

Ilgen had had with Goertz, who had lately passed through

Brandenburg on his way to Poland and Sweden. He had re-

vealed the agreement for negotiations with Russia, and had

demanded as the price of Stettin the return of Stralsund and

Hiigen, Bremen and Yerden, and all the Russian conquests as

far as St. Petersburg. The Tsar was astonished at the high

way in which Goertz had held his head, but reassured the King
as to his own intentions, and promised to make no treaty with-

out securing Stettin, the district of Peene, and the islands of

Usedom and WoUin for Prussia. It was arranged that General

Mardefeld should also attend the Aland conference.

Two days after Peter's arrival at Berlin, Catherine joined

him, and remained with him there, or rather at Schonhausen,

for four days. This was her first visit to the Prussian Court,

and her person caused no little curiosity. She was well re-

ceived by the Queen, and there were dinners and balls both at

Berlin and Schonhausen. We have no veracious chronicle of this

sojourn except a few dry lines in the Tsar's journal. Yarious

stories were told of it in after years, some of the scandalous

sort. These are repeated with variations in the celebrated

Memmrs of the Margravine of Baireuth, who, a child of eight,

with her brother Frederick,' was presented to the Tsar and

Tsaritsa. Baron von Pollnitz tells even worse as happening at

Magdeburg. "We do not cite these stories here, because there

is every reason to believe them imtrue, and they have already

been sufficiently circulated." Criticism has shown that neither

the Memoirs of the Margravine, nor those of Pollnitz can be

considered historically veracious,^ and, so far as we can control

' It trings us nearer to Peter when we remember that he fondled Frederick

the Great, and that Frederick the Great was visited by Lafayette, Whom many
persons living recall.

^ See Carlyle's Frederick the Great, book iv. vii.

' See J. G. Droysen. Zur Geaehichte Friedriehl» I. und Friedmch WHMma
1. Leipzig, 1870.
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V

FATHER AND SON.—1716-]?n:&

The Tsar returned to St. Petersburg on October 20, and

was met at the Palace by his two little daughters in Spanish

costume, and by the two-year-old Peter, mounted on a diminu-

tive Iceland jjony. Catherine arrived the same evening.

It was quite time for the Tsar to return. The misgovern-

ment of the country, .the quarrels between the factions, and the

malversations those quarrels brought to light, had reached a

point that demanded vigorous and immediate measures. Every-

one was trembling, and all had ready their proofs of accusation

and defence. These intrigues and quarrels had immediatie or

remote connection with the differences between the Tsar and

his son Alexis. The chief contest was between Prince Jacob

Dolgoruky, the President of the Senate, and Menshikof, and

the Triumvirate, as it was called ; for it was believed that dur-

ing the illness of the Tsar at the end of 1715, before going

abroad he had made his will leaving the succession to his young-

est son Peter, and in order to be sm'e of its being carried out

had appointed as Regents Menshikof, who was Governor-Gen-

eral of St. Petersburg and had the chief command of the army

;

Admiral Apraxin, and his brother Count Apraxin, a leading

Senator. As the interest of Menshikof and the little Prince

became thus so closely united, it was natural that the opposite

party should be considered as representing the interest of Alexis.

Each faction was doing its best to ruin the other by exposing

their iinancial and political misdeeds, and the Tsar at once set

on foot a searching investigation. But the affair of Alexis was

at present the most serious.

From Copenhagen, on September 6, 1T16, Peter had written

to his son as follows :—
' My Son,—I have received youi- two



' When i bade you good-bye, and asked you about your reso-

lution in a certain matter, you replied always one thing : that

on account of your feebleness you were not fit for the inheri-

tance, and wished rather to go into a monastery ; then I told

you to think this over seriously, and to write me what resolution

you had taken, for which I have waited seven months. During
all that time you have written nothing whatever about this mat-

ter. Therefore now, for you have had time enough for reflec-

tion, on the receipt of this letter immediately make a resolution

for the first or the second. If you take the first, do not delay

more than a week. Come here, for you can still get hei'e in

time for the campaign. If you take the second, write to me
where and on what day, so that I may have peace in my con-

science as to what I may expect from you. Send back this

courier with the final answer. If the first, when you are going

to leave St. Petersburg ; if the second, when you will fulfil it.

I must now make sure that this be finally done, for I see that

you are only wasting time in your usual do-nothingness.'

Alexis, who was at liis country place, was startled into tak-

ing a resolution ; came immediately to St. Petersburg, and told

Menshikof that he had decided to go to his father, and would

not even need the week's delay. In fact, two days afterwards Le

left St. Petersburg, nominally to go to his father. He took

leave of the Senate, begging one or two of his friends to con-

tinue faithful to him and to look after his interests. He was

well provided with money, for he had received from Menshikof

1,000 ducats, f]-om the Senate 2,000 rubles, and in Riga he

borrowed 5,000 ducats in gold and 2,000 in small money. Men-
shikof asked him where he was going to leave Afrosinia, and

Alexis replied that he was going to take her as far as Riga, and

then send her back to St. Petersburg. To this Menshikof said :

' Take her all the way with you. What does it matter ?
' His

real purpose the Tsar^vitch told but to two of his adherents.

His intention was to go either to Vienna or to Pome, ask the

protection of the Emperor or the Pope, and there live until the

death of his father. He thought that this would occur shortly,

probably within two years, and he then expected, with the aid
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of his friends, to return to Eussia, and become regent during

the minority of his step-brother. He had resigned his claims

to the crown, and he does not seem to have thought of renew-

ing them, but he thought that Menshikof, who would probably

be left as regent, would be so hated that the whole country

would at once welcome him. He had no further plans, and did

not really know where he was to go. He would escape if he

could, that was all.

A few miles from Libau he met his aunt, the Princess

Maria Alexeievna returning from Carlsbad. He sat for a while

in her carriage, and had a long conversation, broken with weep-

ing. He told her that he was going to his father with great

fear as to how he would be received, but admitted that he

would be glad to conceal himself somewhere. His aunt re-

proved him for neglecting his mother, and for being too favour-

ably disposed to Catherine, whose elevation to the throne had

been at heart approved neither by the Metropolitan Yavorsky

nor by the old Prince Kamodanofsky, who were devoted to

him. Alexis spoke of the danger of communication with his

mother, said that he had left a sum of money to be sent to her,

and, on the pressing request of his aunt, wrote her a brief letter

of greeting, and asked to be remembered in her prayers. The
princess said that not only Eudoxia, but others, had had a vision

that the Tsar, after a dangerous illness, would make a pilgrim-

age to Troitsa, would meet there his deserted wife, and would

take her back, and all would be well again. She advised him
to live in hope, and to talk with Alexander Kikin, who was

still at Libau. With Kikin he had a much more confidential

conversation, and on his advice resolved to go to Vienna and

ask the protection of the Emperor, and at his request wrote

several letters to his friends at St. Petersburg, in oi-der to re-

move any suspicions from Kikin of having counselled the flight.

Proceeding to Danzig, he disguised himself as a Russian officer,

took the name of Kockansky, and went by the way of Breslau,

Neisse, and Prague to Yienna.

The Imperial Vice-Chancellor, Count Schonborn, late one

evening, after he had retired, was surprised by a visit from the

son of the Russian Tsar. He tried to excuse himself, but the

occasion was announced to be urgent, and Alexis burst into the
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room before lie had time to complete his toilet. The Tsai-e-

vitch, who was in a high state of excitement, at last succeeded

in telling his story.

' I have come here,' he said, ' to ask the Emperor, my
brother-in-law, for protection, to save my life. They wish to

kill me. They wish to deprive me and my poor children of the

throne. ... The Emperor must save my life and guarantee to

me and to my children my rights to the throne. My father

wishes to deprive me of my life and of the throne. I am not

at all in fault towards him. I have never done anything against

my father. I admit that I am a weak man, but so Menshikof

brought me up. They have intentionally destroyed my health

by drunkenness. Now my father tells me that I am good

neither for war nor for government. However, I have got sense

enough to reign. God gives kingdoms and appoints heirs to

the throne, but they wish to shave my head and shut me up in

a monastery, so as to deprive me of my rights and my life. I

do not want to go to a monastery. The Emperor must save

me.' He was almost beside himself, fell into a chair, and begged

to be taken to the Emperor. Then he asked for beer, and, as

there was no beer, took a glass of Moselle wine. Count Schon-

born succeeded in calming him sufficiently to get from him a

connected story of his life, and in this way convinced himself

that he was really the Tsarevitch. Again and again Alexis ac-

cused both Menshikof and Catherine of wishing to get rid of

him, and of having purposely ruined his character and habits.

At one moment he said his father was mild and good to him,

at another he accused him of cruelty. ' My father is surrounded

with evil people and is extremely hard-hearted and blood-

thirsty. He thinks that, like God, he has rights over the life

of man. He has shed much innocent blood, and has even him-

self raised his hand against the unfortunate sufferers. Besides

that, he is incredibly wrathful and revengeful, and spares no
man, and if the Emperor gives me back to my father, it is

all the same as taking my life. If my father should spare me,

my step-mother and Menshikof wiU not be quiet until they

either make me die of drinking, or poison me.' Alexis was at

last persuaded not to attempt to see the Emperor, but that it

would be best for him to remain in concealment until he was.
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•either reconciled to his father or some change took place. He
was cautiously taken back to his inn, and a day or two after-

wards sent in disguise and under guard, first to Weierburg,

near Vienna, and then to the strong castle of Ehrenberg, in the

valley of the Lech, in the Tyrol, a region then little visited.

The Commandant had the strictest orders to keep in the

most profound secrecy this high prisoner of State, whose name
was not revealed to him, but who was supposed to be a Polish

or Hungarian magnate. The garrison was not to be changed

nor the soldiers allowed to leave the fortress during the whole

time the prisoner remained. He was to be treated with respect,

and his table suitably served at the expense of the Emperor,

who assigned for it 300 florins a month. Letters written or

received by the prisoner were to be sent immediately to the

Imperial chancery, and no stranger was to be allowed imder any

pretext to go near the gate or question the sentinels.

Shut in behind the walls of this fortress, Alexis for the first

time felt at ease. He had with him his mistress Afrosinia,

disguised as a page, whose sex was never discovered duruig his

stay in the castle, and four servants, and was well supplied with

books. His only regret was that he could not have a priest,

and he begged at all events that one should be sent to him in

case he were ill or at the point of death. He wrote to Count

Sehonborn expressing his thanks for his treatment, and received

from time to time in return such news as would interest him.

For instance :
' People are beginning to say that the Tsarevitch

has perished. According to some he has run away from the

severity of his father, according to others he has been put to

death by his father's orders. Others say that while travelling

he was assassinated by robbers. Nobody knows exactly where

he is. I enclose as a matter of curiosity what has been written

from St. Petersburg. The Tsarevitch is advised in his interest

to keep himself well concealed, because active search will be'

made for him as soon as the Tsar's return from Amsterdam.'

Meanwhile, when the Tsarevitch did not arrive at the army
headquarters, and nothing was heard of him at St. Petersbm-g,

people began to be unquiet. Catherine wrote twice to Men-
shikof asking for news of him. One of his servants, who, on

Kikin's advice, had followed him, wandered vainly about North
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Germany in search of him till he met the Tsaritsa at Schwerin
;

and at last it was found that he had gone as far as Danzig,

where all traces of him were lost. The news from St. Peters-

burg in the letter of Count Schonbom was a copy of the de-

spatch of Pleyer, the Austrian Resident, dated January 11.

He wrote that ' as no one up to this time had shown especial

attention to the Crown Prince, no one had thought much about

his departure, but when the old Princess Maria, the Tsar's

sister, returned from the baths and visited the farm of the

Crown Prince, and began to cry, and said, " Poor orphans, who
are without father or mother, how sorry I am for you !

" and

news besides this was received that the Tsarevitch had gone

no further than Danzig, everyone began to enquire about him.

Many high personages secretly sent to me and to other for-

eigners to ask if we had not received in our letters some news

of him. Two of his servants came to me also with questions.

They wept bitterly, and said that the Tsarevitch had taken here

a thousand ducats for his journey, and in Danzig two thousand

more, and had sent them an order to secretly sell his furniture

and pay the drafts, and since then they had no news of him.

Meanwhile they say in whispers that he was seized near Danzig

by the Tsar's people and carried off to a distant monaster}- ; but

it is not known whether he is alive or dead. According to

others he has gone to Hungary or to some other land of the

Emperor, because he had last summer secretly gone to Moscow
and to his mother.' After recounting a rumoured conspiracy

to kill the Tsar, imprison Catherine, free Eudoxia, and entrust

the Government to the Crown Prince, he adds :
' Everything is

ripe here for rebellion. High and low talk of nothing else ex-

cept the contempt shown to them and their children, who are

all obliged to be sailors and shipbuilders, although they have
been abroad to learn languages and have spent so much money

;

of the ruin of their property by taxes, and by their serfs being

carried off to build fortresses and harbours.'

As soon as the Tsar found that his son had run away, he

sent orders to General "Weyde, commanding the troops in Meck-
lenburg, to hunt for him, and, if possible, to bring him to Meck-
lenburg. Abraham Yeselofsky, the Tsar's Eesident at Vienna,

was ordered to Amsterdam, and sent back with orders to search
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for him in the Emperor's dominions. Yeselofsky went to work
vigorously, and, from the point where the Danzig road branched

off to Vienna, traced the so-called Kokhansky from post-house

to post-house up to Yienna, where all trace of him was lost.

Rumiantsof, a trusty captain attached to the Tsar's person, was

then sent to assist Yeselofsky, with orders to seize Alexis and

carry him off by force if necessary. He searched the Tyrol,

found Ehrenberg, stationed himself in the vicinity, reported

about the mysterious prisoner, and at last recognised him.

Yeselofsky, who had obtained nothing in his interview with

Count Schonbom, with Prince Eugene, and with the Emperor
himself, now that he felt sure that Alexis was concealed by Im-

perial order, presented to the Emperor a letter of the Tsar

written the previous December, demanding the surrender of his

son. It was already towards the end of April. The Emperor
doubted the correctness of Yesel6fsky's information and prom-

ised to enquire and reply. A messenger was at once sent to

Alexis to ask whether he still refused to return to his father, as

in this case it would be necessary for him to go to Naples, his

present place of refuge having been discovered. Coimt Yolkra,

the Imperial Ambassador at London, was at the same time in-

structed to inform himself secretly whether, in case of neces-

sity, Alexis would be allowed to take refuge in England, but this

was to be done very cautiously, as it was not desired that the

incident should be used for selfish purposes by England, nor that

too great fear of the Tsar should be shown. Alexis replied

that he preferred anything rather than to return to his father.

He was accordingly, with great secrecy, conducted through

Innsbruck, Mantua, and Florence to Naples, where he was

guarded in the castle of St. Elmo. The journey was made with-

out incident, although suspicious people were several times ob-

served. These turned out to be Eumiantsof and his companions,

who soon gave the Tsar information of his son's whereabouts.

It was at St. Elmo that the sex of ' our little page ' was first

discovered, and Schonborn was able to make jokes about Afro-

sinia in a letter to Prince Eugene. As soon as he arrived,

Alexis wrote to the Senate and the clergy, giving reasons for

running away, and begging them to disbelieve rumours of his

death, but always to remember him. These letters were never
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sent to their destination, but were detained in Vienna, and are

still preserved in the archives there.

The Tsar now decided to send Tolstoi to Vienna, as being

the fittest man to deal with the case. He had travelled in

earlier life, spoke Italian fluently, had been long Ambassador

in Constantinople, had recently been in Paris, and . was thor-

oughly in the Tsar's confidence. On August 9, immediately

on his arrival in Vienna, Tolstoi, together with Eumiantsof and

Vel6fsky, had an audience of the Emperor, and presented the

Tsar's letter of July 21, again demanding the surrender of

Alexis. The Emperor promised a speedy reply. Tolstoi then

went to the Princess of Wolfenbiittel, the mother of the Em-
press and the mother-in-law of Alexis, who happened to be

then in Vienna, showed her a copy of the Tsar's letter to his

son from Copenhagen, and begged her to use her influence to

induce him to retni'n. This she was ready to do, for she had
the interests of her grandchildren at heart, and feared lest the

Tsar's curse should rest upon them also and exclude them from

the throne. Tolstoi was vigilant and active both with threats

and bribes, and the Imperial Council decided that under the

circumstances it was necessary to allow him to have an inter-

view with Alexis. But instructions were sent to the Viceroy

that the Tsarevitch was not to be forced to an interview, and

that all precautions were to be taken that the Russians made
no attack upon him. Tolstoi and Kumiantsof then set out, but

were so detained by rains and floods that they arrived at Na-
ples only on October 5. The Viceroy was gained by Tolst6i's

plausibility, and, fearing lest the Tsarevitch might refuse to

receive them, invited him to his palace and allowed them to be

suddenly introduced. Alexis was in great terror, especially at

the sight of Humidntsof, who, he knew, had discovered his re-

treat at Ehrenberg, and evidently feared that they would kill

him on the spot. Tolstoi was all that was most amiable, prom-

ised pardon for the past in case he would return, and handed

him a letter of his father, dated at Spa, July 21 :—' My son,

—

It is known to everyone how you have been disobedient and

what contempt you have shown me, and how neither words nor

punishments have been able to make jow follow my orders

;

at last deceiving me and calling God to witness at your taking
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leave of me. What have you done ? You have run away and

have put yourself, like a traitor, under foreign protection—an

unheard-of thing. By this affront what grief you have caiised

your father, and what shame your country ! I therefore send

now this last message to you that you may act according to my
will, as Mr. Tolstoi and Mr. Eumiantsof will tell you. If you

submit to me, I assure you—and I promise by God and His

judgment—that you shall have no punishment, but I will show

you my best love if you are obedient and return. But if you

refuse, then, as a father, by the power given to me by God, I

curse you eternally ; and, as your sovereign, I declare you a

traitor, and I shall leave unused no means of punishing you as

a traitor and a reviler of your father ; in which may God help

me in my right ! Remember, besides, that I have done nothing

to you forcibly, and if you only would, all would have been ac-

cording to your will. What you wish, that do.'

Alexis said that he had come to put himself under the pro-

tection of the Emperor in order to escape the wrath of his

father, who wished to put him in a monastery and deprive him

of the crown. As to his return, he refused to answer then, but

promised to think of it. Two days afterwards there was another

interview, and Alexis said that it was dangerous to return to

his father, upon which Tolstoi threatened that the Tsar would

take him dead or alive as a traitor ; that he had orders to re-

main there until he got hold of him, and if he were taken to

another place he Would follow. Alexis took the Viceroy into

the next room, grasped him by the hand, and begged him for

the assurance of the Emperor's continued protection in case his

father wished to seize him by force ; that he dared not return

to Russia. All these interviews affected Alexis, who became

nervous and ill. Meanwhile Tolstoi, who began to despair of

success, was not idle. A secretary of the Viceroy, the habitual

messenger to the castle, was bought for 160 gold ducats, with

the promise of more, to insinuate to Alexis that the protection

of the Emperor would be withdrawn.

The bribed secretary did his work so well that Alexis sent

a note to Tolstoi begging him to come alone. The inter-

view was held this time in the Castle of St. Elmo, and, as

the Viceroy was not present, Tolstoi took a high tone and said
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to the Tsareviteh that he had just received a letter from the

Tsar saying that he intended to seize his son by force of arms
;

that his troops in Poland would take up winter quarters in

Silesia, while he himself went to Italy. He even took a com-

passionate tone towards Alexis, as now being utterly unable to

escape. The threat of his father's speedy arrival, absurd as it

was, greatly affected the unreasoning Alexis, and after a mo-

ment's thought he said :
' I will go to my father on condition

that I may be allowed to live in the country, and that Afrosinia

be not taken away from me. Come to-morrow with Ku-

miantsof, and I will give you my answer.' Tolstoi had found

the vital point. He had noticed how much Alexis was in love

with Afrosinia, and he thereupon persuaded the Viceroy to

order her to be removed from the castle. The order was sent,

but Alexis begged that it be postponed till morning. In the

meantime Afrosinia also worked upon him, and kept him from

deciding to take refuge in the Papal States. At the interview

the next day Alexis took Tolstoi into an adjoining room, con-

versed with him in the presence of the disguised Afrosinia,

and then, returning, declared, to the astonishment of the Im-

perial oflScers, that he was ready to go to Hussia ; but begged

Tolstoi to intercede with his father to allow him to marry

Afrosinia (who was four months pregnant) before arriving at

St. Petersburg. This Tolstoi approved, and wrote on the

subject to the Tsar and to Shafirof, saying that it would be a

good way to discredit the Tsareviteh, as it woidd show that he
left the country, not on account of any fear that he had, but

simply for the sake of the girl, and would, besides, take from
him the sympathy of the Emperor. Alexis had before said to

one of his friends that he intended to marry Afrosinia :
' You

see, my father has acted in the same way.' He immediately

wrote to his father tendering his submission and reminding him
of his promise of forgiveness. Peter replied, November 28 :

' You ask for pardon. It has already been promised to you
verbally by Messrs. Tolstoi and Rumiantsof, and I now confirm

it, of which be fully assured. Mr. Tolstoi has also written to

us with regard to certain desires of yours, which will be al-

lowed to you here.' To Tolstoi Peter replied that the marriage

would be allowed if his son still wished it when he returned.
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but it would be better that it should take place either in Riga

or some Russian town, or even in Curland in the house of the

Duchess, as it would bring shame to have the rite performed

in a foreign countrj"^, and told him to assure his son again, in

the strongest terms, that when he returned he would be allowed

to live where he pleased, in one of his country places. .

' Pei--

haps he may doubt whether he will be allpwed, but let him
reason. When I have pardoned such a great crime, why
should I not allow this little matter ?

' He did not mention the

word marriage to his son, as his son had not mentioned it to

him.

Alexis having expressed in a letter to the Emperor his de-

sire to return to Russia, there could be no longer question of de-

taining him. As was natural after so long an imprisonment,

voluntary though it was, the Tsar^vitch felt in no mood for

travelling quickly. He first made an excursion with Tolstoi to

Bari, to venerate the relics of the great St. Nicholas ; then re-

mained for some time in Rome, where he visited the shrines, in

the carriage of Cardinal Paulucci, the Secretary of State, and

was shown over the Yatican and given a breakfast there by

Don Carlo Albani, and was even received by the Pope.

While at Yenice, Alexis was persuaded to separate from

Afrosinia, whose health demanded slow stages of travel.

When near Yenice, Tolst6i begged Yeselofsky to meet him se-

cretly , at Ifussdorf, in order to ascertain the exact position of

affairs. The result of this was that the party remained but one

night in Yienna, and that secretly, and hurried on to Brunn,

for Alexis had insisted on seeing and thanking the Emperor,

and Tolstoi feared that he might decide to remain. When the

Emperor heard this he was indignant, for it seemed as if Tol-

stoi were taking the Tsarevitch away against his will. While

'the Austrians wished nothing so much as to be well rid of the

uncomfortable guest, the dignity of the Empire must be re-

spected, and no arbitrary proceedings could be allowed. A
Cabinet council was called, and Count CoUoredo, the Governor of

Moravia, was ordered to insist upon an interview with the Tsare-

vitch and ascertain his real wish. Tolstoi denied that Alexis

was with him, refused to allow him to be seen, chose to consider

his detention as an arrest, and threatened the vengeance of his
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master. On a subsequent order from Vienna, Count CoUoredo

informed Tolstoi that they could not leave Brunn until he had

seen the Tsarevitch, even if it were necessary for him to em-

ploy force. Tolstoi then permitted an interview, but he and
Eumiantsof both kept close to Alexis, who was evidently in

terror of them, and who replied only in monosyllables, accept-

ing the greeting of the Emperor, and excusing himseK for not

calling on the ground of having no carriage or good clothes and
being in great haste. The forms of duty had now been com-

pHed with, and permission for departure was granted. Tolstoi,

who only a few hours before had said that under the circum-

stances he could not now leave without new instructions from
St. Petersburg, ordered post-horses and was gone at once. The
Emperor was offended at Tolstoi's conduct, and sent a letter of

complaint to the Tsar, which for a long time, tinder various pre-

texts, he refused to receive. When at last he answered it, he re-

lieved Tolst6i of the blame, and threw it all on his son, who had
acted in this mde and impolite way.

The Tsarevitch was safely brought to Riga on January 21,

,

where Tolstoi left him to proceed to the Tsar ; and, on February

2, Alexis arrived in Iver to wait until he should be summoned
by his father to Moscow.

Afrosinia, as we have said, had remained behind at Venice,

intending to travel leisurely to Berlin, where she was to await her

confinement. We still possess their correspondence, and the

letters of Alexis show an ardent love for her, and an unexpected

care for her comfort. ' Do not trouble yourself. Take care of

yourself on the road
;
go slowly, because the road in the Tyrol

is stoney, as you know. Stop where you want as many days as

you like. Do not consider the money expense. Even if you
spend much, your health is dearer to me than all.' He writes

from Innsbruck :
' Buy either here or somewhere else a good

comfortable carriage,' gives her directions about her health and
the best place of making up medicines either in Venice or Bo-
logna. He is troubled that her singers have confused their cal-

endar, and writes from Vienna telling Sudakof,
' who, living

the wild life of a deer, has forgotten ' that December 1 is the

eighth melody, wherefore he can know what to sing; and

congratulates her on the feast of St. Nicholas. He writes to
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the servants, sometimes caressingly, and sometimes in sharp

and coarse language, to take care of her and amuse her. When
he goes to Russia his first care is to send her some women-ser-

vants and a priest. His last letter from Iver says :
' Thank

God, all is well, and I expect to be rid of everything so as to

live with you, if God allow, in the country, where we wiU not

have trouble about anything. As soon as I arrive I will write

you all in detail. Do not believe, my friend, any news about

my arrival until you get my letters, for what is printed in the

German newspapers is very false.' The replies of Afrosinia

show forth the ignorant, vulgar woman, occupied with the prac-

tical side of life. Her desires to amuse herself appeared to be

stronger than her love for him. A few lines only of her letters

are in her own writing, on account of her health, she says. She

tells him of the purchase of fine stuffs and jewelry to a good

round sum that she has made in Venice, how she missed, the

opera and the comedy, but went in a gondola to hear the church

music, how she has been ordered to be bled, and asks how much
blood she shall lose. From Miiremberg she thanks hun for his

letter with ' the unspeakably delightful news ' of their approach-

ing marriage, and how they all rejoiced over it. From Berlin

there is a nmch longer letter thanking him for his present of

the images of the Saviour and St. Nicholas, and asking for a

long list of Kussian delicacies ; caviarl, buckwheat-groats, her-

rings, and smoked fish of various kinds. She arrived in St.

Petersburg towards the end of April, and was at once arrested

and imprisoned in the fortress, where her confinement took

place. But of this, or of the fate of the child, we can learn

nothing.

The news of the return of Alexis caused conflicting feelings.

There was great joy at Court, but many regretted that the

Tsarevitch had not remained abroad. ' The clergy and the pro-

prietors,' wrote Pleyer in January, 1718, ' are all devoted to the

Tsarevitch, and greatly delighted that he has found an asylum

in the lands of the Emperor. The common people have fre-

quently, on seeing the Tsarevitch, thrown themselves on the

ground and begged God's blessing on his head.' He mentions

a curious episode. The Tsar asked the Metropolitan Yavorsky

what he thought of the flight of the Tsarevitch. The Metro*
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politan answered :
' He has nothing to do here

;
probably he

will instruct himself abroad.' The Tsar looked sharply at the

ecclesiastic, and remarked :
' If you say that to me for consola-

tion, it is well ; if not, that is a speech worthy of Mazeppa.'

The Metropolitan was so frightened that he fell ill. Both

"Weber and La Vie say :
' The arrival of the Tsarevitch caused

as much joy to some as grief to others. Those who took his

part were glad before his return, in the hope that some revolu-

tion would take place. Now all is changed. Policy takes the

place of discontent, and everything is quiet while waiting for

the result of the affair. His return is generally disapproved,

for it is believed that he will have the same fate as his mother.

He is blamed because before his return he did not insist on the

abolition of the testament made in favour of his brother, know-

ing very well that it still exists, and that even if the young

Prince of the second bed should die, the Tsar wishes to declare

as his successor a Naryshkin, after marrying him to one of his

daughters.' Some expressed their opinion strongly. Ivan

Xaryshkin said :
' That Judas of a Peter, Tolstoi, has deceived

the Tsarevitch.' Others said that Tolstoi had drugged him.

Prince Basil Dolgoriiky said to Prince Gagarin :
' Have you

heard that that fool of a Tsarevitch is coming here because his

father has allowed him to marry Afrosinia ? He will have a

coffin instead of a wedding ! The devil take it ! They all de-

ceive him purposely !

'

At nine o'clock on the morning of February 14 there was a

solemn assembly of all the dignitaries, temporal and spiritual,

in the great audience hall of the Kremlin. Three battalions

of the Preobrazhonsky regiment surrounded the palace with

loaded muskets. After the Tsar had taken his place on the

throne Alexis was introduced as a prisoner, without his sword,

accompanied by Tolstoi. He went directly to his father, and,

weeping bitterly, threw himself on his knees and begged pardon

for his crimes. The Tsar immediately ordered him to rise,

while a written paper signed by him was read, confessing his

wickedness and begging only that his life might be spared.

The Tsar then made a discourse, in which he pointed out all

the offences of the Tsarevitch, the care which had been taken

with his education, his neglect of his father's commands, his

Vol. n.—23
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treatment of his wife, his relations with Afrosinia, and, finally,

his desertion from the army and flight to a foreign court. lie

ended in a loud voice, so that all could hear, that the Tsarevitch

had been able to reply nothing to the accusations against him,

but begged only for pardon and his life, and did not wish for

the inheritance. He therefore assured him of his pardon on

condition that he revealed all who had been his accomplices,

At these words the Tsar6vitch attempted to speak, but the Tsar

stopped him, and immediately afterwards Dumashef read a

printed manifesto reciting the offences of the Tsar6vitch and

the pardon granted to him, proclaiming him disinherited and

declaring the Tsarevitch Peter Petrovitch as heir to the throne.

From the palace the whole assembly immediately went to the

Cathedral of the Assumption, where Alexis, with Gospel in

hand, took oath before the relics to bear faithfal allegiance, in

case of his father's death, to the new heir, and never in any

way to attempt to regain the succession for himself. A similar

oath was also taken by all present. The Tsar, accompanied by
his ministers and generals, as well as by Alexis, then went to

Preobrazhensky, where they had a great banquet and ' made
merry.' That evening the manifesto was published to the

world, and for three days all people were invited to the Cathe-

dral to swear to the new oath of allegiance.' One man, a cer-

tain Dokiikin, a former official, dared to hand to the Tsar in

the church his protest against the act of disinheritment.

The pardon had been promised absolutely and without con-

.dition, but now the condition was made that Alexis should

immediately declare who were his advisers and accomplices,

and should not conceal even the least circumstance of what had

happened. In reply to the list of questions drawn up by his

father and copied by Tolstoi, Alexis presented a rambling nar-

rative of his life during the last few years, mentioning a large

number of persons with whom he had had conversations about

himself and the state of affairs in Kussia, or who were privy to

his flight. The Princess Maria Alexeievna, the Tsar's half sis-

ter ; General Simeon Naryshkin, the Prince of Siberia ; Abra-

ham Lopiikhin, the uncle of Alexis ; Yiazemsky, his teacher

;

' Letter of Nesterof to Menshlkof, February, 4-15, 1718, in Old and Sew
Bxmia, ii., 200, 1876.
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Ignatief, Ws confessor; Atlianasief, his servant, and many
others, were at once arrested. St. Petersburg was placed in a

state of siege. No one was allowed under any pretext to leave

the city ; restrictions were placed even on the peasants coming

to market, lest people might escape concealed in their sledges.

Apothecaries were forbidden to sell arsenic and other poisons,

for which there was a sudden demand. Alexander Kikin, the

Commissary of the Admiralty and a former coniidant of the

Tsar, whose peculations had been pardoned only two years be-

fore at the intercession of Catherine, was arrested at midnight

in his dressing-gown and slippers, fettered, and chained to the

wall till he could be sent to Moscow. He had been warned of

the danger by Baldanofsky, one of the confidential orderlies,

who stood behind the Tsar, read a letter over his shoulder, and

at once despatched a courier. Not even in his own household

could the Tsar be sure of fidelity. It must have given Menshi-

kof especial pleasure to arrest his arch-enemy Prince Basil Dol-

goriiky, the Grand Inquisitor, who had so nearly ruined him two

years before, and who had just accompanied the Tsar abroad

and was high in his confidence.

Peter himself, with great coolness, conducted the whole

proceedings, was present at the inquisitions, and sometimes at

the tortures. As the investigation went on, new persons were

daily arrested, and the trial took great dimensions. Finally

there appeared among the accused Peter's repudiated wife,

Eudoxia. She was arrested on account of her intercourse with

Alexis, but it soon became apparent that she had in no way
conformed to the rules of the convent in which she was im-

mured as the nun Helena, had assumed a secular habit and the

state of a princess, and had had for a long time an amorous

intrigue with a Major Gliebof.' Eudoxia and Gliebof con-

fessed their intimacy, and the former Tsaritsa begged for

pardon in a letter in which she said :
' I throw myself at your

feet. I ask your pardon for my crime. Do not make me die

before my time. Let me return to a convent, where I shall

pray to God for you till my last day. Your former wife, Eu-

doxia.' The Tsar seemed to lay more stress on the political

'This was some years previous, and it is difficult to Relieve that the state of

things in the convent at Suzdal was wholly unknown at St. Petersburg.



340 ,PETEK THE GEEAT.

bearing and what lie tlibnght a conspiracy than on the offence

to his honour. The Bishop of Eostof, Dositheus, then in great

repute, was accused of having prophesied the death of the Tsar,

and of having publicly prayed in church for Eudoxia. While

being degraded before being tortured, he said to his brother

bishops : 'Am I then the only guilty one in this affair ? Look
into your own hearts, all of you. What do you find there ?

Listen to what is spoken among the people—a name I will not

pronounce.' Torture, however, drew nothing from him except

the vague acknowledgment of expressions of sympathy. No
act of open rebellion could be proved. But, as often happens,

the Autocrat was angrier at sentiments of vague and general

discontent than at expressions of open disapproval. The Coun-

cil of Ministers, constituted as a high court of justice, rendered

a decision in the last days of March. Kikih, Gliebof, and the

Bishop Dositheus were condemned to cruel death, many others

to simple death, far more to forced labor and to exile in Siberia,

after being publicly whipped. Some women were sent to the

convents of the White Sea ; others were publicly whipped. The
Tsaritsa Eudoxia was sent to a convent at Old Ladoga, near

Schliisselburg, where she lived till the accession of her grand-

son, Peter II.'

The Princess Maria was imprisoned in Schliisselburg until

1721, when she was allowed to return to her house in St.

Petersburg, where she died in 1723. Gliebof, after having

been tortured by the knout, by red-hot irons, by burning coals,

was fastened for three days upon a plank with wooden spikes,

and, as he confessed nothing more, was impaled, and died the

next day. The Bishop of Eostof was broken on the wheel and

beheaded ; his body was burned,- and his head fixed on a stake.

Alexander Eakin was treated in the same way. He was tor-

tured slowly, at intervals, so that he might suffer more. The

second day the Tsar passed by him. Kikin was still living on

the wheel, and begged the Tsar to pardon him and allow him to

become a monk. His head was at once cut off, and exposed

on a stake. Dokiikin, who had protested against the oath of

'In 1738, on the accession of Alexis's son, Peter 11., the Tsaritsa Eudoxia

was released, and lived at the Maidens' Convent at Moscow, occasionally ap-

pearing at court. She died in 1731, ia the reign of the Empress Anne.
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allegiance to the Tsarevitch Peter, died the death of a martyr
;

he was tortured three times, and afterwards broken on the

wheel, constantly declaring that he was willing to suffer all for

the word of Christ.

The Prince of Siberia was exiled to Archangel. Simeon

Narfshkin was sent to live on his most distant estate. Prince

Basil Dolgortiky was saved from death on the intercession of

his relatives, and especially of Prince Jacob Dolgoriiky, who
recalled the eminent services of the family, and especially how
two of them had lost their lives in the rebellion of the Streltsi.

He was deprived of all his honours and dignities, and was exiled

to Solikamsk, but was pardoned in 1724, on the occasion of

Catherine's coronation, and given the rank of Colonel. By
Peter II. he was made a Field Marshal." Abraham Lopukhin

was subsequently re-examined, and, together with Ignatief and

some others, was executed in December. Their bodies were

exposed on wheels and their heads on stakes for three months.

Count Peter Apraxin, the Admiral's brother, and the Senator

Samarin, were acquitted and released. On the great square be-,

fore the Kremlin, where the executions took place, a quadrangu-

lar scaffold of white stone was erected, six ells high and fronted

with iron stakes, on which the heads were placed. On the top

was a stone an ell square, where the bodies of those punished

were heaped up, that of Gliebof on the top. Many of the

heads of the persons executed in 1698, after the rebellion of

the Streltsi, were still exposed on the walls of Moscow, and a

petition was presented to the Tsar by their relatives during this

inquisition to remove and bury them.
' Now comes the question,' writes "Weber, ' What shall be

done further with the Tsarevitch ? It is said that he is going

to be sent to a verj^ distant monastery. This does not seem to

me probable, for the further the Tsar removes him the greater

opportunity does he give to the restless mob to take measures

for liberating him. I think that he will be brought here again,

and kept in the neighbourhood of St. Petersburg. I will not

' His decorations of the Elephant of Denmark and the White Eagle of

Poland were sent hack to the Governments that had presented them. In the

same way the Polish envoy reclaimed the decoration of the White Eagle be-

longing to Kikin.
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decide here wlietlier the Tsar is right or wrong to exclude him
from the succession and give him his paternal curse. This is

sure, that the clergy, the nobility, and the common people re-

spect the Tsarevitcli like a god, and everybody understands that

after the death of the Tsar his will will have the same fate as

that of Louis XIV.'

Peter returned to St. Petersburg in a gloomy frame of

mind. The results of the trial had not appeased his feelings as

a father, nor dispelled the suspicions which haunted him as a

sovereign. Nothing treasonable was proved, nothing which

connected his son with a conspiracy. Alexis was given apparent

liberty, and was installed in a house near the palace. Mean-
while every effort was made at Vienna to procure copies of the

letters which he had written from St. Elmo to the Senate and

the bishops, and which were still in the hands of the Imperial

Government. It was thought that something would be found

in them which would give the cue to the mystery which would

expose the conspiracy. Alexis hoped now to be left in peace,

and at Easter, when congratulating his step-mother, he fell at

her feet and begged her to hasten his marriage with Afro-

sinia. Of this, however, there was no more to be questioned.

When Afrosinia returned to Russia she was immediately arrested

and imprisoned in the fortress. In the middle of May Peter

made an excursion to his new country residence of Peterhof,

which Leblond was building on the shore of the Gulf of Fin-

land. He took Alexis with him, for he could not leave him
out of his sight, and Afrosinia was conveyed thither in a covered

barque. Here both of them were examined and cross-examined

by the Tsar in person. Afrosinia was not tortured. Even
without that she confessed all that she knew, recounted all the

particularities of the daily life of her lover during the whole

time that they had lived together, especially dm-ing their stay

abroad, all his expressions of discontent, every word or act that

might be deemed treasonable and that was calculated to excite

still further the suspicion of the Tsar. Among her effects were

found the copy of Pleyer's despatch and the draft of one of the

letters written by Alexis from St. Elmo. Her revelations were

deemed sufficient. She was confronted with Alexis, and in face

of what she had said the Tsarevitch could do nothins: but con-
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fess. She received the reward of her service. She alone of

all who were implicated in the affair was released without tor-

ture or further difficulty, and lived the rest of her life quietly

in St. Petersburg, where she married an officer of the guard.

The case was n6w strong enough. Alexis was arrested and

confined in the fortress. The Tsar issued a manifesto, drawn

up by his own hand, in which he recited the certainties which,

had been arrived at during the investigation, the deception

practised by his son in his previous depositions, and concluded

that, as the pardon promised him had been on condition only

of a full and sincere confession, it was no longer valid. The
bishops and clergy were called upon to indicate to a father what

he ought to do with regard to the criminal violation of all laws,

and asked the ecclesiastical tribunals to take his place in judging

this Absalom. The bishops endeavoured to evade the question,

and in their reply brought many examples from both the Old

and the New Testament to show that such a case should be

judged by the secular, and not the ecclesiastical, courts. They
showed that if the Tsar wished to punish his son he had au-

thority from the Bible, and if he deigned to pardon him he had

the example and precepts of Christ, especially as set forth in

the parable of the Prodigal Son. A second manifesto was then

issued to the Ministers, the Senate, and the military and civil

functionaries, ordering them to judge his son without feeble-

ness, as well as without flattery, but not to fear his displeasure

if they found his offences deserving of slight punishment. On
June 28 the High Court of Justice assembled, composed of 127

members, senators, ministers, officers of the guard, and most of

those who were personally devoted to the Tsar. On the 30th

the torture was applied in the usual way to the Tsar^vitch, and

he received twenty-five blows of the knout. On July 2 he was

required to write answers to some further questions proposed

by his father. Tolstoi—the terrible Tolstoi, who had overcome

him at Naples—was charged with the whole investigation, and

the wretched Alexis was ready to confess to anything, even that

he would have been ready to head a rebellion during his father's

lifetime. On July 5 torture was again applied, and the Tsare-

vitch received fifteen blows. But he was ex;hau8ted, and little

or nothing more could be obtained from him. That same even-
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ing the high court assembled' and declared the Tsareviteh cul-

pable of having deposed falsely, of having concealed his attempts,,

premeditated long before, against the throne, and even against

the life of his father, of having put his hope in the populace, of

having desired the death of his sovereign, and plotted the ruin

of his country, of his lord and father, with the aid of foreign

arms. Unanimously and without discussion it condemned him
to death. Loss, the Saxon envoy, relates that Alexis begged

Tolstoi to let him embrace his mistress and take a last leave of

her before his head was cut off or he was immured in prison

f
for life. Peter was in great perplexity. He could not bring

I himself to sign the sentence, and at the same time he believed

;
that his plans and the work of his life would be ruined if his

son ever came to the throne. In spite of the sentence of death,

Alexis was again interrogated. The next morning he was asked

whether the extracts which he had made from Baronius, about

the punishments inflicted on sovereigns who had attacked the

Church, were intended to be distributed among the people. To
this he replied that he had made them only as memoranda for

himself. On July 7 there was a new interrogatory, attended by
torture, in the presence of the Tsar and most members of the

court, which lasted for three hours. Alexis was taken back to

his cell very weak. In the afternoon his feebleness increased

;

he sent for his father, asked forgiveness for everything, and

that the curse upon him might be removed. Amid the tears of

all present his father pardoned him and bade him farewell.

Subsequently he took the Communion, and at six o'clock he

expired, before his father, who had already received intelligence

that he was dying, and had started for the fortress, was able to

I'each him.

It would appear to. us that propriety, if not decency, de-

manded that a proper respect should have been paid by Peter

to his dead son, even were he criminal. The day after the

death of Alexis was the anniversary of the battle of Poltava.

The festivity was not postponed, but the day was celebrated in

the usual manner in the presence of the Tsar, ending with a

banquet and a ball. That evening the body of the Tsareviteh

was transferred from the cell where he died to the house of the

governor, and on the next day to the Church of the Trinity,
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where it was exposed to public view, with face and right hand

uncovered as customary in Russia, so that all who wished could

kiss it and bid him farewell. The subsequent day, July 10,

was the birthday of the Tsar. A new vessel, the Liesna, de-

signed by him, was launched at the Admiralty. Peter assisted

at the ceremony with all his Ministers. On the next evening,

July 11, the body of the Tsarevitch was buried by the side of

his wife in the Cathedral of St. Peter and St. Paul, within the

fortress, with the usual pomp, in the presence of the Tsar, the

Tsaritsa, and of the Ministers and high officers of State. No
one, except a few ladies, wore mourning, though only just be-

fore this the whole Court was in mourning for the death of the

Tsarevna Catherine Alex^ievna, who, unlike her sister Maria,

had been a partisan of the Tsar. The preacher chose for his

text, ' Oh Absalom, my son, my son !
' Peter is said to have

wept bitterly. The Foreign Ministers were not invited to the

funeral, and were told not to wear mourning, as the Tsarevitch

had died a criminal.'

'The following contemporaneous versions of his death are known :—1. A
relation, apparently authentic, kept in the archives of the Ministry of Foreign

Affairs, giving a detailed account of the funeral, simply states :
' June 26,

seven o'clock in the evening, the Tsarevitch Alexis Petrovitch died at St.

Petersburg.' 3. The business diary of Menshik6f, giving details of the way
the day was spent, says, among other things, that Menshikof was at the for-

tress, where he met the Tsar, then went to the Tsarevitch Alexis, who was

very ill, and remained there half-an-hour, etc. , etc. ' The day was clear and

bright, with a light wind. On that day the Tsarevitch Alexis Petrovitch

passed from this world into the eternal life. ' 3. The day-book of the St.

Petersburg garrison says that on the morning of June 26, in the presence of

the Tsar and others, torture was inflicted. On whom is not said. ' The same

day, at six o'clock in the evening, the Tsarevitch Alexis Petrovitch, who was
under guard in the Trubetsk6i bastion, died.' 4. Weber, the Hanoverian Eesi-

dent, reports :
' The Tsarevitch has died ft'om a stroke of apoplexy. ' 5. La

Vie, the French Commercial Agent, reports in the same way the death of

Alexis as natural. 6. Pleyer, the Austrian Resident, reported to the Emperor
that Alexis died from a stroke of apoplexy, and three days after wrote to

Count SchBnborn that it was reported and generally believed that he died not

from apoplexy, but from the sword or axe. 7. The Dutch Resident, De Bie,

reported that he died from having his veins opened. 8. The memoirs of

Peter Henry Bruce, published in London in 1783, make out that he, Bruce,

was present at the death of Alexis during the night from poison administered

by Weide, which he had himself procured at the apothecary's. No such per-

son as Bruce was in Russia at this time, and his memoirs, where they are not
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The Tsar thus announced the death of his son to foreign

powers :
' "When we remained undecided between our feelings

of paternal pity and the duty of guaranteeing the future of our

Empire, Almighty God, in his justice charged himself to spare

us this trial. He put an end yesterday to the days of our son

Alexis. After the reading of the judgment which enumerated

his crimes, this culpable son was struck by a cruel malady, quite

similar at the beginning to an attack of apoplexy. Subsequent-

ly, having recovered consciousness and taken the sacrament,

according to Christian rite, he asked for us. "We went to him
with our Ministers and senators. He then confessed freely all

his crimes, addressed us with tears of repentance and solicited

our pardon, which we paternally granted to him, after which

he made a Christian end this same day, Jime 26 (July 7),

towards six o'clock in the evening.'

As was very natural, the official version of the death of

Alexis was not received with confidence by the common people.

What they thought may be seen from the papers of the secret

tribunal of Preobrazh6nsky. In 1721 the priest Ignatief said

:

' I have heard that the Tsar called together into the Senate the

archbishops, and many other people, and told them to judge

the Tsarevitch for disobedience, and that then the Tsare-

vitch came into the room and did not take off his hat before the

Tsar, and said :
" "Why should I, father, be judged by you ? I

am always to blame before you," and went away. The Tsar

said :
" See, Holy Fathers, how children respect their parents !

"

The Tsar then went home, and beat the Tsarevitch with a club

till he died. Twice have people wished to kill the Tsar, but

each time unclean spirits told him of it.' In the affair of the

made up from already published documents, are false and fictitious. 9. A
letter purporting to be by Alexander Eumitotsof, dated July 27, 1718, to Di-

mitri Ivanovitcb Titof, says that he himself, together with Buturlin, Tolstoi,

and XJshakof, smothered the Tsarevitch with pillows. This letter is undoubt-

edly a forgery of later date. It contains several errors of fact—among others

mentions the execution of Lopiikhin as having already taken place. No such

person as Titof is known. In any case, the stories of Bruce and Kumifintsof

cannot both he true. 10. Lamherty, in Memoire^ pour Servir, etc., xi., p. 162,

states, on the authority of a distinguished Russian, that the Tsar himself cut

off the head of Alexis. We know that the Tsar was not present at his death.

All other versions have been taken from one of these sources.
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joiner Korol6k, in the same year, it was said :
' While the Tsar

is well, the Tsaritsa will also remain alive ; but if he dies, then

the Tsaritsa and the serene Prince Menshikof will die also.

Even now many people have told the Prince (Peter Alexeie-

vitch) that by the plotting of the Tsaritsa, the Tsar beat the

Tsarevitch to death with a knout with his own hands, and that

thp Tsaritsa (God knows who she is ; she washed shirts for the

Finns) persuaded the Tsar to this by saying :
" When you are

dead I shall be killed by your son." The Tsar, listening to her,

beat the Tsarevitch with his own hands with a knout, so that

he died.'

Two foreign representatives, Pleyer, the Austrian Pesident,

and De Bie, the Dutch Resident, got into great trouble for their

conduct in this affair. In consequence of Pleyer's despatch, a

copy of which had been sent to Alexis at Ehrenberg, his recall

was asked for. It was at first refused by the Emperor, but

after some months he asked to be relieved, left Kussia and re-

tired to Danzig for a time, whence he still continued sending

reports derived from his correspondents in Russia.

The Report of De Bie, giving an account of the death of

the Tsarevitch, was opened and read at the post-office, and he

was thereupon arrested, his papers seized, and he was subjected

to an interrogatory^ Although he was finally released, he was
also compelled to leave the country, and was appointed by the

Dutch Government Resident at Stockholm.'

' Golikof, Vn. ; Solovief, XVII. ; Ustrialof, VI. ; Esipof and Pogodin,

CoUection of Doeutnents, etc. ; B. Herrmann, Peter der Cfrosse und der Zare-

witich Alexei ; Despatches of Loss in Saxon ArcMves ; CoUection of Imperial

Human Historical Society, XX. ; Despatch of La Vie in French ArcMves, id.

XXXrV. ; Despatch of De Bie in Dutch Archives ; Weher, Das Verduderte

Rtisdand ; B. Melchior de Vogue, Le Fila de Pierre le Grand, in Revue des

Deias Mondes, 1880 ; A. Briicliuer, Der Zarewitsch Alexei, Heidelberg, 1880.



LXXII.

ADMINISTRATIVE REFORM AND ITS OBSTACLES.—1711—1724.

Eteey time that the Tsar retui"ned from a prolonged ah-

sence he found the administration of Russia in such a state

that it was necessary to begin at once a series of trials and ex-

ecutions. The contrast, iu this respect, between Russia and

Sweden is striking. The King was absent from Sweden for

fourteen years, communication with him was often difficult and

interrupted, the country suffered greatly from the war, yet the

regular machinery of government went on as before. In

Russia, on the contrary, if the Tsar were away for a year or

less, the administration became thoroughly disorganised. So

far Peter had succeeded in pulling down better than in building

up. He had set about this latter task several times, and now
that the war was practically finished, it was necessary for him
to be in earnest over it. In order to understand the state of

affairs when the Tsar returned from Paris, we must go back

for a few years and trace the course of the civil administration.

As the negotiations for peace will stiU go on slowly for three

years, we can the more readily turn from foreign to internal

affairs.

The Senate, as we remember, was created by the Tsar on

the eve of the campaign of the Pruth, in order to take his

place in the internal administration of the country, and to

govern during his absence. In its hands were concentrated all

tlie powers of government of every kind. As was natural,

things did not at once work smoothly. Ramodan6fsky, the

Governor of Moscow, had a bitter quarrel with the Senate for

usurping his powers and interfering with his jurisdiction—

a

quarrel ending only with his death in 1713. His successor,

Soltyk6f, having been appointed through the influence of the
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senators, succeeded better ; but he in turn got into a quarrel

with his vice-governor and had to be changed, and under his

successor Dolgoriiky the disputes with the Senate began again.

The Governor of Kazan complained that, while the Senate in-

terfered in everything, it had not sufficient loiowledge on which

to base its decisions. His provinces were too heavily taxed

because they were thought to be rich, and they had now be-

come so poor that it was with difficulty anything could be got

from them. The Tsar himself complained bitterly of the waste

of time. He wrote frequent letters to ' Messieurs the Senate,'

scolding them as one would a child or a careless servant. He
reminds them of their oath of office, he tells them that they

have made themselves a laughing-stock, once expresses the sus-

picion that they have been bribed, and threatens to hold them

to strict accountabilitj' on his return. He tells them that ' loss

of time is like death, as hard to return as a life that is ended.'

He orders them while in session not to converse about matters

not pertaining to the service, especially not to have idle talk or

jests, ' for the Senate represents the person of his Majesty.'

Nothing was to be done except with the consent of the whole

Senate, and nothing transacted at home or privately. Everj'-

thing must be written out and recorded, and no outsiders must

be introduced into the Senate. The slowness of business in

other departments of the Government naturally affected that of

the Senate. Decrees frequently remained unattended to. In

order to prevent this, Basil Zotof was in 1715 appointed a

General Inspector of Decrees. It was his duty to watch over

their execution and see that there were no delays. Three years

later we find him complaining that the Senate pays no attention

to his remonstrances, destroys his reports, transacts business

without him, and does not hold regular sessions nor keep

registers of all the business ; that the returns are neither

properly nor regularly sent from the provinces, that fines and

forfeitures are not collected, that in three years nearly a million

and a half of rubles remain unpaid, that fines had been im-

posed to the amount of 31,657 rubles, of which 3,368 only had

been received, the rest having been either postponed, remitted,

or not collected. Probably the Senate would not have done even

as well as this, had not Prince Jacob Dolgoriiky been appointed
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first Senator in 1712, and had he not immediately, so to speak,

taken possession of that body. We remember the curious re-

ports of his mission to France in 1687.' He had been taken

prisoner at the battle of Nai-va, and had after eleven yeai-s suc-

ceeded in escaping from Sweden. Shrewd, crafty, of violent

prejudices, obstinate, and strong-willed, he could not but im-

pose himself on his weaker colleagues, if only by force of lungs.

Menshikof was the only man who dared face him. Frank to

an excess, he dared tell the truth to the Tsar, on many occa-

sions when the truth was disagreeable. Many amusing anec-

dotes are told of his obstinacy.

An important change was made in the constitution and

sphere of the Senate in 1718 by the institution of colleges, or,

as we call them, boards of commissioners. The division of

business among the old Prikases or departments had come

about a good deal by chance. Through the general changes,

especially through the interference of the Senate, these depart-

ments had fallen into confusion, and business had been trans-

ferred at will from one to the other. This created additional

delay. It was necessary to find something to take theii" place.

Naturally, in the present turn of affairs, the first question was,

How are these things done abroad ? and in Stockholm and

Vienna the business of the State was managed by colleges.

This idea was proposed to the Tsar as long ago as 1698 by Dr.

Francis Lee, but no particular attention had been paid to his

proposals. In 1715 Heinrich Fick, formerly in the service of

the Duke of Holstein, who had been recommended by Basse-

witz to General Weyde, was secretly sent to Sweden to obtain

accurate information of the constitution and .working of the

colleges in that country. He sent a series of reports, which

were for a long time accredited to Leibnitz, who certainly had

the same general idea, and had indeed, although a year later,

proposed it to the Tsar. In one of these reports the functions

of the colleges are compared to the works of a watch, ' where

one wheel brings another into movement,' a comparison which

naturally pleased the Tsar. The great difficulty of introducing

such a system of wheels into Kussia was to find the proper men

' See vol. i.
, p. 146.
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to work them, and it was thought at first that recourse must be

had to foreigners. For this purpose General Weide, in the

same year, was instructed to hire learned foreigners, skilled in

jurisprudence and administration. Veselofsky in Vienna had

similar orders. He was to search especially for persons speak-

ing Slavonic languages, one from each college at Yienna, and

at the same time was to ask the Jesuit School at Prague to

translate certain books, which would be of use to the new ad-

ministration. There seems, however, to have been very few

who were willing to go to Russia in such capacity ; and there-

fore, in August, 1717, an effort was made to find Swedish

prisoners of war who had learnt Eussian well enough, and had

other necessary qualities, to take service. Finally, in 1719,

with the same end in view, thirty or forty Russians were sent

to Konigsberg to study German and jurisprudence.

At the end of 1717 the plan had made such progress that

nine colleges were instituted, although it was only in 1720 that

they got into thorough working order. These colleges or com-

missions were those of Foreign Affairs, Revenue, Expenditure,

Control, Justice (including Internal Affairs), War, Admiralty,

Commerce, and Mines and Manufactures ; under the presidency

respectively of Counti Golofkin. Prince Dimitri Golitsyn (the

Governor of Kief), Count Musin-Pushkin, Prince Jacob Dol-

goruky. Count Matv^ief (who had finished his diplomatic

career). Prince Menshikof, Admiral Count Apraxin, Tolstoi,

and General Bruce. All the presidents—who were equivalent

to Ministers—were Russian, with the exception of General

Bruce in the College of Mines and Manufactures, there being no

Russian fit for the place. The vice-presidents were all for-

eigners, except Baron Shafirof in the College of Foreign Affairs.

The whole institution was so un-Russian that several colleges

even bore foreign names, as Kammer, Staats- Control, Justitz

GoUegium, Berg CoUegiwin,} The presidents appointed coun-

cillors, assessors, writers, translators, &c., of whom a small fixed

number could be foreigners. All business was to be transacted

' We find from one of the memorandum-books of the Tsar that he wished to

form still another college for the general embellishment of the Empire—for

forming plantations, constructing buildings, improving the appearance and
the health of towns, &c., &o.
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in full meeting of the members, as in the Senate, and the presi-

dents were also to have seats in the Senate itself. These new
wheels at first revolved very badly, and stopped one another more
than they put one another in motion. In the College of Foreign

Affairs, the vice-president did not wish to sit and discuss with

persons whom he called the creatures of Count Gol6fkin. In

others there were disputes, as was very natural between the

Russians and the foreigners. That these institutions worked
badly can be seen readily enough from the protocols of their

sessions, and it did not escape the notice of all foreigners.

Vockerodt, a competent contemporary, says: 'It was soon

shown that there had been too much haste, and that in the

transaction of business there was more confusion to be expect-

ed than good order and promptitude. The chanceries in the

provinces, from which business must come to the colleges in

St. Petersburg, still remained on the old footing, and al-

though instructions were sent to them how they must for-

ward their reports and accounts, the old Russian clerks could

not understand them', and thus caused much disorder. The
Russian councillors in the colleges, even if they understood the

concerns of their country, still could not immediately get a clear

idea of the new method, and the Germans were seldom able to

show them, partly because they did not understand the Russian

language, and partly also because the Swedish forms were as

little known to them. Therefore the Tsar in 1722 was obliged

to make a second change in his new colleges, to dismiss most of

the foreigners, and to put the colleges themselves, though still

keeping the German names, on a footing which came considerably

nearer the old one, and indeed did not differ from it in any-

thing except the number of members, which hindered rather

than advanced the prompt transaction of business, since no

member was allowed to work at home or read over the case ex-

cept in full session, and then give his vote, and that in those

chanceries where there were accounts of revenue and expen-

diture proper books were kept in the commercial style.'

The Tsar, on the formation of the colleges, had prescribed

to the members ' to indulge in no useless words or conversation,

and never to interrupt one another, but to allow one to finish

his speech before another began, like orderly people, and not
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like market women.' It turned out that there was little neces-

sity for these instructions, as generally there was no discussion.

None of the members dared contradict the president of the

college, who was so far superior to them in official position, and

was besides a senator. If a complaint were made against him
in the Senate, he was of course supported by his colleagues.

For this reason, and because the presidents of the colleges had
no time to do double duty, they were withdrawn from the

Senate. Other changes were also made in the constitution of

that body. In order to keep the Senate at work, Zotof had in

1715 been appointed Inspector-General, but neither he nor the

chief secretary accomplished much. The Tsar continued to

complain of the obstacles to business. ' Nothing is so necessary

to a Government as the exact observance of the laws, since it is

of no use to write laws if they are not kept, or if they are played

with like cards, putting one suit against another, which has

never been anywhere in the world so common as with us, where
people try in every way to undermine the fortress of right.'

To weaken this tendency, army officers were appointed to attend

the meetings of the Senate, and to keep them in order, and
when this proved ineffectual Gaguzhinsky (1722) was appointed

Procurator-General, as the direct representative of the Tsar in

that body. All the other procurators and the whole army of

fiscals and spies were subordinate to him, and there was no ap>

peal from his decisions except to the Tsar himself.'

We have seen that in 1708 Russia was divided into eight

governments or giibernias. Up to this change most of the

towns in Russia had been in great measure directly governed

from Moscow, where the only appeal against the Yoievode lay,

and where the decision of many questions rested. This system

prevented the formation of provincial centres, and enhanced the

importance of the capital. As Muscovy extended its borders to

the south and east, it was easily introduced, and in that way
every extension of the Russian realm became an extension of

' The colleges were transformed into regular ministeries under Alexander
I., in 1802. The Senate, after having heen variously modified, lost most of its

powers through the establishment of the Council of the Empire, in 181ft It

it is now barely more than a Court of Appeal, charged also with the registra-

tion and the publication of the laws.

Vol. II.—33
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the Russian people. When the Baltic provinces were occupied,

owing partly to the war, and partly to the existence of estab-

lished institutions of a very different character, this system was

harder to introduce, and the Tsar found it simpler to use the ex-

isting Swedish internal organisation and administration. With
Peter's ideas there was nothing more natural than that these in-

stitutions, or modifications of them, should be extended into the

other parts of Ktissia, for the centralised system was as incon-

venient administratively as it was advantageous politically. By
a decree of 1T13 the collegiate system was introduced into tlie

provincial administration. La/nd/raihs (for even the German
name was retained) were" instituted, varying in number from

eight to twelve according to the size of the government, to be

chosen by the nobility as a sort of council to the governor.

Judicial affairs were to a certain extent removed from the hands

of the governor by the appointment of provincial judges or

Landrichter, who were to be subordinate to the Senate alone.

With these administrative changes, and even with the new
judicial system, there was as yet no code of laws. In lYOO the

Council of Boyars had been ordei-ed to bring the code of 1649

of the Tsar Alexis into conformity with the new institutions,

but the more the Tsar went on in his changes and the more he

became acquainted with -foreign systems the less satisfied he

was with the code of Alexis. In April, 1718, he ordered all the

colleges to draw up a new code on the basis of the Swedish

code, and in the following month, on the report of the College of

Justice, ordered the formation of tribunals on the Swedish sys-

tem and the translation of the Swedish code. At the end of

1719 the Senate was directed to begin discussions on the new
code, keeping in mind that where articles seemed unsuitable to

Russia the articles of the old code were to be retained, or

where articles of the old code seemed more important they were

to bp submitted to the judgmeut of the Tsar. The laws of

Esthonia and Livonia were to be used for questions relating to

landed property. For these discussions the members of the

colleges were obliged to sit from three to eight o'clock three

afternoons of the week.

The Tsar did not wait, however, for the establishment of

the new code to make important changes in the law. Such
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was the law of 1714 preventing the division of estates and com-

pelling the owner to leave these to one son only, who would not

necessarily be the eldest. Hitherto property had been divided

equally among all the children, and the reasons given for these

innovations were that by keeping all the property in the hands

of one person the taxes would be paid more regularly, the con-

dition of the serfs would be better, the family would retain its

wealth and distinction, and the younger sons would no longer

be idle, as they were when they had sufficient money to live

upon, but would be obliged to engage in some occupation useful

to the State, would enter the service, become teachers or mer-

chants. Peter had evidently been impressed by the conditions

of the English aristocracy, and the merging of younger sons

into the middle class. In those days of serfage proprietors

were not obliged to pay as much attention to the management
of their estates as now, and might have been lazy ; as Peter

says, but the smaller the estate the more certainly they would

have been occupied. As an inducement to younger sons to be

of profit to the State, they were granted the right of acquiring

landed property, a distinctive privilege of the nobility, but only

after seven years of military service, ten years of civil service,

or fifteen years of mercantile life. If the Tsar had wished to

introduce a system of entailed estates, it would have been far

better for him to have entailed the lands which he from time

to time distributed among his generals and favoui-ites, and to

have induced others to follow his example. But he could never

wait, and the law was made immediately applicable. As it did

not establish primogeniture, because the eldest son did not

necessarily inherit, but the father could leave his property to

whichever son he chose, the law was productive of family

quarrels and feuds, and it was so contrary to all Russian ideas

and habits that it is not surprising that five years after Peter's

death (1730) it was repealed. The very reasons given for it

were contradicted by subsequent enactments, because it was
soon decreed that all persons of noble birth should enter the

mfiitary or naval service ; and this was no light matter, for it

was necessary to serve for twenty-five years, and to begin as a

common soldier in the guards, before attaining the rank of

officer. Of course such a measure was destructive to all proper
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management of estates, but severe penalties were enacted

against all who failed to appear—^fines, corporal punishment,

confiscation of their property to the informer, ' even were he a

runaway serf
;

' finally, those who did not appear at the last

term in 1722 were outlawed, and could be killed with impunity.

In order to prevent young men from escaping service, a herald-

in-chief was appointed, with the duty of keeping classified lists

of all the nobility. This was followed the next year (1722) by

the Table of Kanks, by which the military service was divided

from the civil, and all officers and officials were classified into

fourteen corresponding grades. Service henceforth took pre-

cedence of birth, and all distinction in the empire, even social,

was to be obtained by service only, l^o one could be granted a

high grade unless he had passed through the lower ones. Titles

of nobility were not abolished, but they became henceforward

mere honorary distinctions, which neither gave the possessor

any right to employment nor to any particular distinction. The

Table of Kanks produced a great and useful change in the

constitution of the Russian nobility, for it contained a demo-

cratic principle by which nobility could be obtained by service.

The lower grades conferred personal, the higher ones heredi-

tary nobility, with aU the privileges, including owning serfs

and freedom from personal taxation. The great harm was that

it led to an excessive respect to official rank and to the establish-

ment of a bureaucracy. Like so many other innovations of this

time, the Table of Eanks showed its foreign origin by its

nomenclature. Some titles, like Actual Privy Councillor, were

translated from German into Russian ; others were transferred

bodily, as OierSof/iieister, JTanivierfaurier, Tqfeldecker, and

MundscKenlc.^

There could be little advantage in the new codes intro-

' The Table of Banks still continues to exert a baneful influence. The
obligatory military service was alleviated soon after Peter's death, partly by

the' exemption of one member of each family, partly by the usage of inscribing

boys as soldiers in the guard in theii- early childhood, so that they had little

time to serve after coming of age. By the charter of Catheritfe 11., of 1763,

obligatory service was abolished. Freedom from it then became one of the

distinct privileges of the nobility, coupled with the right of serving. Obliga-

tory military service has been of late again imposed upon the nobility, but

only in the same degree as upon all other Russian subjects.
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(liiced from abroad, and not agreeing with the usages of the

country, or in a remodelling of the administrative system, when
there were no jurists or honest men to work them. The Rus-

sian officials having generally been paid no salaries, or very

small ones, had been accustomed to obtain their living out of

their office, and this was a system which could not be broken

up in a day. Add to that a loose way of thinking, difficult to

eradicate without a high moral tone in the community, that it is

far less wrong to rob the State than to rob a private individual,

and the general corruption of the Russian officials in Peter's

time can be easily accounted for. One could indeed count upon

the fingers the honest men among the higher officials, for among
the lower there was no question of honesty. Sheremetief,

Eepnin, Osterman, Yaguzhinsky, Rumiantsof—these were all

or nearly all. The Tsar was obliged to allow the system of

bribery, extortion, and illegitimate fees in private matters, for

the State was too poor to pay sufficient salaries, and therefore

the officials had to make their living from the business brought

to them. In 1713, for instance, the clerks of the secret bureau

of the Senate petitioned for an addition of pay, because there

were no extra fees, and their salary was insufficient. The an-

swer to this, instead of pay, was, ' Send to the secret bureau all

the foreign and Strogonof affairs, except Archangel commer-
cial affairs.' At the same time Peter made severe rules

against frauds upon the Government and the public purse.

In 1713 decrees were issued regulating public contracts and

forbidding various kinds oflpeculation, and informers were

promised during the next six months, for accurate and truth-

ful accusations against persons who had stolen from the public

treasury, their whole property, landed and personal, and even

the rank of the person convicted, if they were worthy of it.

This decree produced a strong impression, but at the same time

people asked themselves the reasons for it, as such things had

never been forbidden before ; and the Tsar was obliged to issue

a new decree forbidding all persons in public authority from

becoming either directly or collusively contractors with the

Government.

These great promises of awards to informers brought little

but anonymous letters. It was not easy to have proofs in hand.
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and without these no one dared openly accuse high placed and in-

fluential people. At first these anonymous letters were read and

considered, but they soon became such a nuisance, and were used

so much for the gratification of private spite, and especially by
dissenters for the purpose of showing their disapproval of the

Government, that it was forbidden any longer to pick them up
or to receive them. Persons finding such a letter in the street

were to call one or two bystanders to witness and immediately

burn it without reading it.

The fiscals did more, but not as much as was expected from
them. Some who were sent off to distant provinces were only

too glad to come to an arrangement with the officials whom
they were sent to watch, buy an estate, and live at their ease.

Otliers used their position as a means of extorting money and

presents. They were naturally not liked, and Peter himself

was obliged to admit that the office of fiscal was hard and un-

enviable.' Frequently their reports were neglected by the

Senate, and they complained that they were treated by Prince

Jacob Dolgoruky and Plemiannikof in such a M'ay that it was

dangerous for them to appear. ' Plemidnnikof calls us gutter

judges, and Prince Jacob Dolgoruky anti-Christs and rascals.'

The first Ober-Fiscal was the Secretary Bylinsky, who was soon

relieved on the request of Prince Pamodanofsky, who needed

him to look after the building of his house in St. Petersburg.

One of his successors, Alexis l^esteroff, distinguished himself

b}' his especial love and zeal for his work, and even brought up

his son to the same business. He sent frequent reports, in which

he sometimes allowed zeal to get the better of discretion, and

naturally tiied to avenge himself on his enemies. There were,

' As a specimen of the popular dislike of the fiscals, Stephen Yavorsky,

the Metropolitan of Riazan, the guardian of the patriarchal throne, in a ser-

mon on the namesday of the TsarSvitch Alexis in 1712, allowed himself to

say :
' The law of God is faultless, but human laws have faults. Such a law,

for example, places an inspector over judges, and gives him the power of ac-

cusing whom he pleases, and dishonouring whom he pleases. Even if he do

not succeed in calumniating Ms neighbours, no one finds fault with him. Not

so ought we to live ; he has sought my head, and accused me falsely, let him
lay down his own ; he has spread a net for me, let him be entangled ; he has

dug a pit for me, let him fall into it.' The sermon was not without effect, for

a decree was soon issued giving some slight guarantees against false and secret

accusations.
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for instance, several accusations brought against Prince Jacob

Dolgoruky and Count Miisin-Piishkin. Kevelations were made
about government contracts—a system then recently introduced

—about the oppression of merchants, and the concealment of

serfs by which taxes were reduced. It is not wonderful, there-

fore, that Major Ushakof in 1714 was ordered to begin an in-

quest into the various contracts for the sustenance of the army,

into the military expenses, the custom-houses, and the registra-

tion of serfs.

The most important affair started by ISTesterofE was that of

Prince Matthew Gagarin, who had been connected with Siberia

since 1693, first as Yoievode of ISTertchinsk, then President of

the Siberian Department, even retaining that position when
Governor of Moscow, and since 1711 Governor of Siberia,

still retaining the direction of the Siberian Department. At
that time the trade with China was a Government monopoly.

Gagdrin was accused of allowing private merchants to trade

illegally and make great gains, as well as of selling his own
goods to the Chinese as belonging to the Government, and

pocketing the proceeds. In point of fact he had become enor-

mously rich and lived in a style suited to a monarch, as he
practically was. His table was sumptuously spread every day

for many guests, the whole service being of silver. An image
of the Virgin in his bedroom was decorated with brilliants

worth 130,000 rubles (53,000^.). At the same time he had been
of great service in developing the resources of the country,

discovering mines, and increasing the trade, ruled with a mild
hand, and on account of the distance he was practically omnip-
otent—was very popular and greatly loved even by the Swed-
ish prisoners, of whom there were 7,000 in Siberia, who subse-

quently sent a petition to the Tsar in his favour. The first and
second reports against Gagarin, owing to his infiuenee and his

money, were neglected by the Senate. Nesterof sent his own
spies, got some merchants to testify, and finally profited by
the presence of the Tsar in Moscow for the affair of the Tsar-

evitch to lay before him the whole business. A commission

composed of officers of the guard was appointed to investigate

the matter. Gagarin was arrested and brought to St. Peters-

burg, where he confessed that he had done much that was irre-^
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gular and even illegal, and begged to be pardoned and to be

allowed to finish his days in a monastery. The Tsar felt it

necessary to make an example, and Gagarin got the gallows in-

stead of a monastery, and was publicly executed at St. Pe-

tersburg in 1718.

In consequence of the discoveries with regard to contracts

and other matters made by Major Ushakof, which were reported

to the Tsar after, his return from the Finland campaign in the

autumn of 1714, a large number of arrests were made, including

Korsakof, the Vice-G-overnor of St. Petersburg; the Ober-

Commissaiy Siniavin, Prince Yolk6nsky, Alexander Kikin, the

head of the Admiralty ; Naryshkin, the commandant of Xarva ;,

Zotof, the Commandant of Eeval ; the senator Opiikhtin, Count

Peter Apraxin, the former Governor of Kazan and brother of

the Grand-Admiral, and many others. An investigation was.

held by a commission headed by Prince Basil Yladimirovitch

Dolgoriiky. Their crimes differed in degree, but some fearful

examples were made. Several were condemned to death, and

when they were brought up for execution the Tsar, who was

present, gave them their life ; but the Vice-Governor Korsakof,

after being severely knouted, was banished to Siberia with the

confiscation of all his property. Prince Volkonsky and Optikhtin,

after being knouted, had their tongues burnt for breaking their

oaths of office and their property was confiscated. Three others

after the knout had their noses slit and were condemned to the

gallows. Eight others were made to lie on the ground and

beaten with rods by the soldiers. When the order to stop was
given the soldiers cried out to the Tsar :

' Father, allow us to

beat a little more yet, for the thieves have stolen even om-

bread.' Of the remaining criminals some lost their property,

some their offices, and others were punished with heavy fines.

Alexander Kikin, who had been an especial favourite of the

Tsar, was condemned to exile and to the confiscation of all his

property, but Catherine interceded for him, and not only his

property but his office was restored to him.

Before this commission there also appeared Menshikof, and
the foreigners in St. Petersburg greatly wondered how he suc-

ceeded in escaping. It is necessary to remember that Menshi-

kof was generally detested, that the accusations against him
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were brought in a very exaggerated form by his enemies, that

he was judged by his most bitter enemy, and that his history

has been mainly written by his enemies. In this particular case

he was accused, first, of having made contracts with the Gov-

ernment for the sale of grain and forage by which he had made

an unlawful profit ; secondly, of having spent and wasted Gov-

ernment money and property to the amount of over a million

of rubles. On the first count the Tsar decided that he was

to go clear on the first contract, which was made in his own
name and the profit of which was moderate; but where the

ptofit was excessive the whole profit was to be charged against

him, and in contracts made through third persons he was to be

fined in addition half the sum. On this charge he was found

to owe 144,788 rubles. As to the second count, of spending

Government money, he was able to account for all but 202,283

rubles. Including one or two smaller charges the whole sum
which was found due from him was 324,355 rubles (130,000Z.).

He paid part, and on a petition to the Tsar the half of the re-

mainder was forgiven him. The charge of peculation was

apparently, and seemed to be so understood by the Tsar, a

simple case of irregularities in accounts without any intention

of cheating. Menshikof had been Governor of St. Petersburg

ever since its foundation, over ten years. During this time he
had received no salary, had greatly increased the Government
revenues, had on various occasions, by timely advances, been of

great service to military and naval operations, and notably the

case w^hen the fleet of Apraxin was suffering from want and

privations in 1714. Much of the irregularity consisted in divert-

ing funds from one use to another without proper accounts and
vouchers. Menshikof's income from his various estates was
very large, and, owing to the disinclination of the Tsar to for-

malities of such a kind, Menshikof, who had the largest house

in St. Petersburg, was obliged to receive and entertain all the

foreign ministers. His own revenues had frequently been ap-

plied to the Government uses, and he had sometimes used

public money for his own needs. Menshikof protested against

the justice of this decision, and the judgment remained unpaid,

certain items being still under investigation. When Dolgoruky
was exiled, in consequence of his connections with the Tsar^vitch
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Alexis, Menshik6f thought that the whole matter was settled,

but instead of that new charges were brought against him of

the same character as the preceding ones, and the matter was

given to another commission of military officers, at the head of

which was Prince Peter Golftsyn. During this investigation

Menshikof gave to the Tsar as far as possible an account of all

the presents he had received since his entering into service.

Some of them were probably exactions. For instance, in Hol-

stein he admitted having received 5,000 ducats for keeping dis-

cipline among his soldiers and not devastating the country

;

from Hamburg he had 10,000 ducats, from Lubeck 5,000 ; from

Mecklenburg 12,000 thalers, and from Danzig 20,000 thalers,

&c. It was discovered that in 1716 he had taken 21,000 rubles

sent from Moscow to St. Petersburg for the purchase of regi-

mental horses. For this, which was a military offence, he was

sent before a court-martial in company with the Grand-Admiral

Apraxin, Prince Jacob Dolgoriiky, and others accused of simi-

lar crimes. In his defence Menshikof showed that when his

profits from contracts were confiscated, the Government of

Moscow still owed him 29,000 rubles, which the commission

had refused to take into account, that he had not been paid this

sum, and had never succeeded in getting it from the Governor

of Moscow. Therefore, when these 21,000 rubles came into

his hands, he took them in part payment. The extenuating

circumstances had to be admitted, but he had committed an

offence against military law and was sentenced to degradation

and the loss of his honours. Apraxin had the same sentence.

Prince Dolgoriiky and one or two others succeeded in exoner-

ating themselves. The sentences of Menshikof and Apraxin

were confirmed by the Tsar, but within a day or two they were

restored to their full rank. In fact, Peter could not at this or

any time have deprived himself of—with a few exceptions—all

his chief ministers and agents, as it would have been necessary

to do had he always confirmed the sentences against them. He
seems, however—^for it is not easy to understand it in any other

way—to have thought best to continue the investigations against

Menshikof in order to retain him always in his power. The
arrearages in his accounts were several times forgiven, but there

was always some little point about which a new investigation
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was ordered. Later on, in 1T23 and 1724, there were far more

serious accusations against Mensliikof of irregularities in Little

Russia. He had been granted the estates of Mazeppa at

Baturin, and he was accused of having concealed in them over

30,000 serfs, who had run away either from the military service

or from their proprietors. He was also accused of having by

illegal survey greatly enlarged the boundaries of his property

of Potchep, given to him by the Hetman Skoropadsky to secure

his favour. As to the boundary encroachments he confessed,

but as to the concealment of serfs he lay the blame on Mazeppa,

saying that it was done before his time, but offering to give up

and pay for all that could be proved against him. He presented

a petition on this subject to the Empress Catherine at her cor-

onation in the autumn of 1724, and was forgiven the greater

part. The investigation, how^ever, was still going on when
Peter died, after which everything was quashed. itsTaturally

the relations between Menshikof and the Tsar could never be

quite the same after the investigation of 1715. The Tsar had

suspicions, but yet treated Menshikof in a familiar way, fre-

quently went to his house and wrote to him friendly and even

affectionate letters. But there was a little coolness perceptible

in the correspondence on Peter's part, and Menshikof never after

that addressed the Tsar in the same familiar style which he had

formerly used, hut more respectfully and formally as a subject

to his sovereign.

With the charges brought against Menshiliof there was

closely related the affair of Kurbatof and the brothers Solovief,

an affair which made much stir at the time, because one of the

brothers, Joseph, was the agent and banker of the Russian

Government at Amsterdam ; a second, Dimitoi, was the Ober-

Commissary for the Government trade at Archangel ; and the

third, Theodore, managed the private property of Prince

Menshikof. It can be seen at once how easily they could play

into each other's hands. Kurbatof, the head of the Kathhaus,

the diligent ' revenue finder,' had at one time been devoted to

Menshikof, had praised him as ' a vessel chosen by God, the

only man who was without fault before the Tsar ;
' had been

a middleman between the Prince and those who wished his

favours and were willing to pay for them, and had assisted
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him in many ways. In spite of his duties he had the loose

way of looking at things then prevalent, considered it no harm

to receive a money gratification in return for a decision, and

defended that course openly to the Tsar. He even said that it

was useless to pay judges, as they would always receive pres-

ents from the suitors. As he was working with all his energy

to increase the revenues of the State, he seemed to think that

he had the right to dispose in part of that increase. Kurbatof

had in 1711, somewhat against his will, been appointed Vice-

Governor of Archangel. Here he came into relations and then

into collision with Dimitoi Solovief. The result was a series

of mutual accusations, and an investigation which lasted for

years, the result of which was that Kurbatof was charged with

being a defaulter to the amoimt of 16,000 rubles (£6,400), and

died in 1721 before the final judgment. Joseph Solovief was

inveigled upon a ship at Amsterdam and sent to Russia. Upon
the strength of certain letters stolen from Menshikof's agent,

the brothers were obliged to confess, and were condemned to

pay 675,000 rubles (£277,000), for which their property was

seized. Prince Volkonsky, who had been charged with an

investigation and made a false report, was shot. One result of

this affair was to ruin the credit of Russian merchants at

Amsterdam, where Solovief, alone among his colleagues abroad,

had borne an excellent reputation. Many persons in Russia

said that the Soloviefs were practically right in the whole

affair.

The charges after the Tsar's return from Paris in 1717
were much influenced by political enmities and affected all

departments of the Government. The chief charge concerned

malversations at the salt works at Bakhmut. The Tsar's dis-

trust was now so great that each charge was examined by a

military commission, composed of a major, a captain, and a

lieutenant, who had no knowledge of civil law. Well might.

Weber say :
' It has never before gone so far that a stately

Senate, composed of the best blood of the realm, should appear

before and submit to a lieutenant.' While resulting in many
condemnations of minor offenders, the investigation was to

some extent swallowed up by the trial of Alexis.

A curious case was that of Shafirof . When the Tsar was
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on his Persian campaign, and yaguzhinsky, the Procurator-

General, was obliged to go to Moscow, the party strifes in the

Senate, especially between men of old family and the new men,

broke out worse than ever. There was, however, a private

dispute between the Yice-Chancellor, Baron Shafirof, and

General Skorniakof Pisaref, the Ober-Procurator, in conse-

quence partly of a drunken scene at a baU and partly of a

decree with regard to the property of Menshiltof in Little

Kussia. Here, in spite of the violence of his antagonist,

Shafirof gained the day, because it was regarded by the aristo-

cratic party as a victory over Menshikof. Soon, however, the

Baron gave cause for his enemies to turn against him. He
used his senatorial influence to have extra pay granted to his

brother Michael in passing from one branch of the service to

another. Ordinarily this would have passed unnoticed, but

sharp eyes were now watching, and Skorniakof protested

against its illegality. There was an altercation, and the Ober-

Procurator said that Shafirof's father was a Jew and a serf.

Shafirof replied that Skorniakof was a cross between a fur-

dresser {slcormidJc) and a scribe {^sar). Subsequently postal

affairs came under discussion, and the Ober-Procurator ordered

Shafirof to retire, as being an interested party, and brought

out a decree prescribing that judges should not be pres-

ent in cases where their relatives were concerned. Shafirof

protested that this had nothing to do with the case. Count

Golofkin, who had long hated Shafirof, and Menshikof, sided

with Skorniakof. Shafirof then called Skorniakof a thief, and

attacking Menshikof about the Potchep business, said that he

did not intend on his account to put his head into a noose like

Volkonsky and Gagarin. Dolgoriiky and Golitsyn sided with

Shafirof, and the Senate broke up in confusion. Two days

afterwards, during Shafirof's absence, it was, on Menshikof's

proposition, voted to exclude him from the Senate. "When,

some days later, Shafirof appeared and asked to see this resolu-

tion, he was told that he could see it only after it had been ap-

proved by the Tsar. Another violent scene took place, and

Shafirof insisted' that at all events the resolution should be

sealed up so that no change could be made in its terms after-

wards, and rising said, with a hint at Menshikof :
' I have never
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been in contracts. My sword was never taken from me.'

When Peter returned, in January, 1723, and the matter was

placed before him, Shafirof demanded that neither Menshik6f

nor Golofkin should take part in the discussion, and Skor-

niakof asked for the exclusion of Prince Gregory Dolgoriiky

and Dimitoi Golitsyn. A special high court was instituted at

Preobrazhensky, composed of senators, generals, and other

military officers, which condemned Shafirof to death according

to a decree of 1722, providing that no one should in any wa}-

act contrary to the regulations. On February 27, Shafirof was

brought from Preobrazhensky to the Kremlin in a common
sledge, sentence was read to him, his wig and old pelisse were

taken from him, and he was led to the scaffold, where after

crossing himself several times he knelt down and placed his

head upon the block. The axe was already in the air when
Makarof stopped the executioner, and proclaimed that the

Emperor, in consideration of his previous services, had com-

muted the sentence of death to exile in Siberia. Shafirof rose

to his feet and left the scaffold with tea^rs in his eyes. He was

taken to the Senate and his old colleagues congratulated him on

the mitigation of his sentence. He was, however, much dis-

tressed, and when the physician, fearing the consequences of

the emotion, bled him, Shafirof said :
' You had better open

my largest vein at once to relieve me from my torments.' The
sentence to Siberia was commuted to confinement in Novgorod
with his family, where he received for their whole support

thirty-three kopeks a day. The foreign ministers in general

showed much sympathy with Shafirof, and aided him with

money and in other ways. ' It is true,' says Bergholz, ' he was

very hot-tempered, but still he readily accepted the represent-

ations made to him and one could always rely fully upon his

word.' ' Skorniakof Pisaref did not, however, triumph. His

conduct in the Senate was found to be illegal and improper,

and he was sentenced to death, but the sentence was commuted
to degradation to a common soldier and the confiscation of

' Shafirof was pardoned after Catherine's accession, was made a senator by
the Empress Anne, and served in various high capacities until his death in

1739.



EXECUTION OF POPTSOP, KilSTEEOF, AND OTHERS. 367

all his property. As, however, he had been an active and

zealous official, he was sent to supervise the construction of the

Ladoga canal, but on account of his negligence in that capacity

the Tsar refused to restore him to his. previous dignities, and

at the coronation of Catherine gave him the rank of Colonel

only.

This severe punishment of the Vice-Chancellor and of the

Oher-Procurator was accompanied by that of the Ober-Fiscal,

who had convicted so many others. Poptsof, a provincial fiscal

at Taroslav, had been guilty of very great abuses which had

gone on for a number of years, and had been complained of by

a very obstinate YarosMv merchant. The affair was several

times hushed up, and proceedings were delayed in the Senate

and in the courts ; but finally, when an appeal was made to the

Tsar himself, Poptsof was tried and executed. It was brought

out that Nesterof had received presents from him at various

times (not amounting to very great sums), and had overlooked

his misdemeanours which he ought to have known. Nesterof

was tried, convicted, and executed. Lefort, in a report to

Count Fleraming, says :
' Yesterday, on the square opposite the

colleges, there was a great execution of the people who had

committed different frauds, among others a certain J^esterof,

who had been imprisoned for a long time, a man very advanced

in age, quite white. He had been Ober-Fiscal for several

years, but had committed numerous frauds. This unhappy
man was broken alive on the wheel. Some time after His
Majesty, being at the window of the College of Finances, in

pity had his head cut off. Three other provincial fiscals were
beheaded, and nine clerks of different colleges were knouted on
the same scaffold and condemned to the gallows.' The death

of ITesterof was probably not much regretted. Only a few
months before he had complained to the Tsar that no one in his

ward would speak to him.

The Tsar was greatly disgusted with all this, and it is said

that he began to dictate to Yaguzhinsky a decree punishing any
official with death if he had taken enough to pay for a rope.

Yaguzhinsky, who was himself a perfectly honest man, said

:

' Has your Majesty reflected upon the consequences of this de-

cree ?
' ' Go on and write,' Peter replied. ' What ! Does your
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Majesty wish to remain alone in the Empire ? "We all steal,

some more, some less but more cleverly.' The Tsar laughed,

and went no further.'

' Solovief, xvi., xviii.; Bruckner, Peter der Orosse; A. GtTaA6isk.j,Politics,

Histcn-y, and Adminisiration, St. Petersburg,1871 ; A. Grad6fsky, ElemenUof
Rmm/n OonstUutioTial Lcm, St. Petersburg, 1875 ; A. Romanovitoli-Slavatln-

sky. The SoTnliiy in BuBsia, St. Petersburg, 1870 ; Golikof, v., vi., x. ; liui-

«ian La/ws ; Weber's Degpatehes in Herrmann's Peter der Orosse ; Lavie's De-

spatcJies in Collection of Russian Imperial Historical Society, xxxiv. ; Lefort's
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'The Tsar, pitying the peoples of his realm, zealous to root

out unjust, disastrous, general burdens and crafty thefts from

the State treasury, having ascertained that great falsifications

and thefts are increasing the public burdens and injuring the

interests of the State, and that by this many people of every

station, but most of all the peasants, are becoming impoverished

and ruined,' &c., &c. So began one of the Tsar's decrees in

1713 ; but the Tsar really knew very little of the sufferings of

the people. Indeed, how could he ? What were the Russian

serfs at that time, that anyone should interest themselves in

them except as mere draft animals, machines for labour, and

objects of taxation? The revenue of Russia which for 1709

had been calculated at 3,026,128 rubles (1,259,220Z.) had risen

in 1725 to 10,186,707 rubles (3,606,000^.), the ruble having de-

preciated fifteen per cent, in value. At the end of Peter's

reign the regular army numbered 210,000 men, and the fleet

contained forty-eight ships of the line and eight hundred

smaller vessels, manned by 28,000 men. This result could not

have been reached without immense and oppressive taxation,

and, as we have already seen, nearly everything possible was
taxed. Besides that, the recruiting and the way it was carried on,

the building of St. Petersburg, the construction of the fortresses,

the digging of canals, and the opening of harbours had cost

the lives of hundreds of thousands of men. To escape harsh

treatment and death many more had run away. Strahlenberg

tells us that to escape the oppression of the tax officials, who
collected the taxes in the times of the year worst for agricul-

ture, and seized the draft horses of the peasants, at least a hun-

dred thousand men had fled to Poland, Lithuania, Turkey, and
Vol. II.—34
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the Tartars. Others say two hundred thousand. The figures

may be doubted, but the general fact remains true. Whole vil-

lages ran away to the frontiers or hid in the woods. As the

maintenance of a large army rendered both men and money
necessary, the pursuit of the fugitive serfs, and of unwilling

and runaway conscripts, was carried on diligently throughout

the whole of Peter's reign. All other means of raising rev-

enue proving insufficient, even the monopolies of trade pro-

ducing unsatisfactory results, recourse was had to a poll-tax^-

imposed on males only—which fell chiefly on the peasants, as

the nobles, the clergy, and their families, the inhabitants of the

Baltic provinces, the Bashkirs and the Lapps were exempted
from it. This amounted to 120 kopeks per head on the inhab-

itants of towns, 114 kopeks on the crown and church peasants,

the ockwdnj&rtsi, or peasant proprietors, and the inhabitants of

the Ukraine, and 74 kopeks on the other taxpayers. The cen-

sus ordered in 1719 to regulate the imposition of the poll-tax

served to strengthen greatly the bonds of serfage. There had

been hitherto a legal distinction between household slaves and
serfs or peasants attached to the soU, but the department of

serfage, charged with the registration of slaves and the main-

tenance of this distinction, had been abolished in 1704, and con-

sequently all the peasants were inscribed indiscriminately on the

census lists as serfs, became thenceforth the absolute property of

the landed proprietors, and could be bought and sold. As the

proprietors were made responsible for the poll-tax and the fur-

nishing of recruits, it is easy to understand what power they were

given over these wretched labourers.' The laws establishing

manufactures introduced a new kind of serfdom, where the

peasant was separated from the land, and rendered a simple

slave attached to a manufactory. To be sure, a decree was is-

sued in 1721 forbidding the sale of serfs as such without land

—the theory of Russian law being that, when land was sold,

' The first census gave the number of the tax-paying class as 5,967,313

males, of which 173,385 belonged to the merchant class ; and estimating, as

was then done, the nobility at 500,000, the officials at 800,000, the clergy at

300,000, the Cossacks at 800,000, and the population of Siberia at a million,

the population of Russia at that date (1723) amounted to nearly fifteen mil-

lions. There were 340 cities or (bwns.
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the serfs n^iturally went with it—:but even in this very decree

there was added ' should such sale be absolutely necessary, they

should be sold by families and not individually.' Pososhkof,

himself a peasant and a contemporary of Peter, shows through-

out his economical treatise how great was the oppression of the

peasantry, and how little it was known to the Tsar. Foreign-

ers, however, perceived it. Vockerodt wondered at tlie patience

of the oppressed people, and questioned ' whether some patriot

will not arise before one expects, and find means to bring the

complaints and sighs of the subjects to the steps of the throne.'

Weber, in a ciphered despatch to the Elector of Hanover, says

:

'Everything in this realm will have a fearful end, because the

sighs of so many million souls against the Tsar rise to heaven,

and the glowing sparks of rage concealed in every man lack

nothing but a fair wind and a conductor.' The real history of

the Russian people at this time is, however, only to be found in

the archives of the Secret Tribunal of Preobrazhensky, and in

the memoirs or traditions of the dissenters in the north and

east.

The poll-tax had the merit of being simple and easily col-

lected ; but it replaced a tax on arable land, much better in prin-

ciple, which had existed from the earliest times, was in thorougli

conformity with Russian ideas, and had been gradually de-

veloped and was capable of still further development and im-

provement. The inequality and injustice of the poll-tax—or

tax on souls, as it was technically called—struck contempora-

ries. Pososhk6f opposed it, and recommended a land-tax. He
thought this could not be permanent, and that the money spent

on the census was therefore wasted. Two years after Peter's

death Catherine appointed a commission to find means for di-

minishing the poll-tax, or substituting for it a land or house-

tax. Her death put an end to the project.'

In spite of the great increase of revenue and the constant

' This oppressive tax, now greatly increased in amount, still exists, and is

made more oppressiTe yet by the passport system which is considered neces-

sary to secure its payment. How heavy it is may he judged from the fact

that in some of the poorer provinces peasants are obliged to do work, outside

their farms in order to gain enough to pay their taxes ; hut as it brings in

nearly 80,000,000 rubles yearly, more than a ninth of the whole ordinary

revenue, it isdificult to 'replace.
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economy practised by the Tsar, yet-bowing to wars as well as

bad harvests—the treasury was sometimes so low that it was

necessary to recur to extraordinary measures, such as are now

practised only in Xurkey. In the winter of 1723 the Govern-

ment officials were paid in furs and other Government wares

instead of money. It was not so easy then for the Government

to contract loans. A subsequent decree says that ' when money

is absolutely necessary, and when no other way of raising it is

found, the sum must be deducted proportionally from the

salaries of . the officials, spiritual as well as temporal, except

foreign artisans and soldiers and sailors.' A few months later,

besides raising the excise on spirits and the price of stamped

paper, one-fourth was deducted from the pay of all officials,

and the rations of officers were either reduced by half or with-

held altogether.

In endeavoring to find ways of improving the revenues and

of increasing the general well-being of the country, Peter was

certainly in earnest and energetic. In some respects he was an

adherent of the mercantile or protective theory, as far as he

understood it ; but it requires a strong imagination to find any

real or consequent system in his commercial policy. He did

things as they occurred to him. If when travelling abroad he

saw something which he thought useful for Russia, he at once

adopted it, without further thought as to whether its intro-

duction was easy or not. Hence many trials which were

soon abandoned, many measures which contradicted each other.

Peter himself admitted that there was no branch of adminis-

tration which he found so difficult to understand as economy

and commerce. When the Dutch resident was pressing for a

new commercial treaty, and had met with nothing but delay,

Osterman at last said :
' Between ourselves, I will tell you the

whole truth. "We have not a single man who understands

commercial affairs at all. But I can assure you that the Tsar

is now occupying himself with this matter.' As concerns the

accumulation of precious metals, the policy of Peter would

certainly satisfy the most rigid adherent of the mercantile

system. In 1714 he forbade the exportation of silver. The
next year this order was repeated. Four years later, merchants

who crossed the frontier were searched to see whether they
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took with them ducats, specie, thalers, or silver, and the coin

was confiscated. Not even silver or copper small money was

allowed to go out of the country. In 1721, a proposition had

been made by the Mining College, and approved by the Tsar,

that worked or unworked silver should never be exported.

This decree was repeated two years later, with the addition of

the punishment of death for its violation. J^one of these did

any good, for the exportation of precious metals constantly in-

creased. In those days the system of the easy transfer of

money by paper had not reached its present development. The
import of gold and silver was not only allowed, but Peter tried

to increase it by freeing it from duty. At the same time it

was not allowed to introduce any small Russian coin, on the

Coins of Peter's Time.

ground that it would probably be counterfeit. Russians were

not permitted to sell their wares to foreigners for Russian

money, but must receive always foreign money. Peter even

said that he would heartily thank the man who could show him
how to keep money in the country, and many decrees say nearly

the same thing.'

The measures for the improvement of the economical condi-

tion of Russia had reference chiefly to mining, manufactures,

and the regulation of commerce. Very little attention was paid

to agriculture, which was apparently thought to be such a

natural and simple condition of man that it needed none. One
decree, however, orders the grain to be reaped with scythes and
not with sickles, and the peasants were commanded, under

heavy penalties for disobedience, to use hoes of new construc-

tion. Tobacco culture was introduced into the south, efforts were

' One part of this system, the prohibition of the importation or exportation

of Enssian coin, was maintained up to a very late date.
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made to increase the production of flax and hemp, and it was

forbidden to burn the grass in the steppes. To improve the

wool shepherds were introduced from Silesia, and sheep

farmers, especially in Little Kussia, were ordered to tend their

flocks on the Silesian plan. An attempt was also made to im-

prove the breed of horses in the south. To forests, as we have

seen, the Tsar paid much more attention, but chiefly because he

needed the trees for shipbuilding. The wilful destruction of

forests, or even sometimes the necessary use of trees for timber,

was forbidden by a series of severe decrees, in which the pen-

alty of death was frequently threatened. On the Neva and the

shore of the Finnish Gulf, as a warning, gallows were built

every five miles, on which offenders against the forest laws were

at once strung up. In St. Petersburg itself a birch grove stood

on the site of the present bazaar. When, in spite of all laws,

many inhabitants cut wood there, Peter resolved to hang every

tenth man among the guilty and to knout the rest, but this

severity was fortunately alleviated at the request of Catherine.

Immense quantities of timber were used by the Government
itself. So much went to the construction of the harbour works

at Heval and Baltic Port, the latter of which was left unfinished,

that Vockerodt said they had ruined the forests of Livonia and

Esthonia and in 1720 Peter wrote to Kepnin to forbid the ex-

port of wood from Pernau because the forest was disappearing.

In a decree of 1723 Peter thus explains the causes of the

slow development of manufactures. ' Either our decrees are not

accurately observed, or there are few people who wish to go into

the business. Manufactures too are ruined by goods brought
from abroad. For instance, a peasant discovered a dye called

" Florence lake." I had artists try it. They said that it was
only inferior to the Yenetian, and quite equal to the German

;

some said even better. A good deal of it was made, and no
one buys it on account of the quantity brought from abroad.

Other manufactiirers also complain. Therefore it is necessary

to look after this sharply and to communicate with the College

of Commerce and, if it does not look after it, then to protest

to the Senate and state the matter to us, for other nations greatly

envy our manufactories and try by all means to ruin them by
bribery, as many examples show. That there are few people
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wishing to go into business is true, for our people are like children,

who never want to begin the alphabet unless they are compelled

to by their teacher. It seems very hard to them at first, but

when they have learnt it they are thankful. So in manufactur-

ing affairs we must not be satisfied with the proposition only,

but we must act and even compel, and help by teaching, by
machines, and other aids, and even by compulsion, to become
good economists. For instance, where there is fine felt we
should compel people to make hats, by not allowing the sale of

felt unless a certain number of hats are made.' Always force,

always compulsion. Peter seems to have found no better way
for dealing with even such a delicate matter as commerce, where
people are governed entirely by their own interests, and where
a slight fear of loss, especially if caused by Government inter-

ference, counteracts an almost certain hope of profit. Force was
of little avail to promote Russian industry. High import duties,

bounties, privileges and monopolies did more, but Russian

manufactures never took a high rank in Peter's day nor indeea^

for long after.'

On the whole the constant Government interference, the

prohibitions of exports and imports, so suddenly and frequently

•established, changed, and withdrawn, the minute regulations,

the paternal supervision, did more harm than good to Russian

trade, and lessened instead of increased the wealth of the country.

Many interests were sacrificed in these commercial experiments.

Thus in 1701 two foreigners were commissioned to make hats

in the German style out of beaver skins and wool, and the ex-

portation of the raw material or its sale to foreigners was for-

bidden, though only two years before two Dutchmen had been

given a twelve years' privilege for the purchase and exportation

of wool. In 1705 woollen factories were doing so well that

Peter wrote to Menshikof :
' They are making cloth, and this

' According to official statistics tlie production of manufactured articles, in-

cluding metals, in European Russia during 1879 was 909,000,000 paper rubles

(about 90,900, 000?.), of which 112,000,000 paper rubles (about 11,200,000Z.)

came from Poland. This, however, includes bricks, tiles, tar, metals, and
many village industries. The imports of manufactured articles (not including

crude metals, &c.) in 1880 were 191,700,000 paper rubles (about 19,170,000Z.).

The exports of the same in 1880 were 11,800,000 paper rubles (about

1,180,000?.).
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business is making good progress, and God gives excellent re-

sults, so that I have made a caftan for myself for the holidays.'

In 1715 he hoped that in five years' time there would be cloth

enough made to stop the importation, and in 1718 he ordered

that the uniforms for all the soldiers in garrison should be made
out of Moscow cloth. Another decree of the same year ordered
' the servants of the Boyars to wear livery or clothes of cloth of

Eussian manufacture and not foreign, the same to be the rule

for the lower class of townspeople, who must in future content

themselves with soldier's cloth. If there is not enough cloth

for the Boyars' servants, then let them use serge, double if

necessary. Either diminish the gold galloon or forbid it altO'-

gether, for it is beginning to be a habit to wear much of it,

whence there is a loss not only to private people but also to the

State, for the English are richer than we, and do not wear gal-

loon.' Abont the same time the use of gold and silver stuffs

was forbidden during the war. Old stuffs conld be worn out

but no new could be made. The importation of gold lace and

stuffs worked with gold and silver was forbidden, but their

manufacture was allowed at St. Petersburg to not more than

2,200 pounds of silver in one year, and later still the importa-

tion was again permitted. The importation of serge was for-

bidden, as well as of stockings, the latter to encourage a French-

man who had started a factory at Moscow. The hemp and flax

industries went through a number of vicissitudes. With his

idea of exporting only manufactured products and not raw
material, Peter forbade the exportation of hemp and flax seed,

the great staples of Russia, except in the shape of oil. The
oil, however, was so bad that none would buy it, and the pro-

hibition of export was removed. At the same time he was
trying to extend by compulsion the culture of flax and hemp.
The course of trade too was arbitrarily changed. At times all

the flax and hemp must be sent to St. Petersburg ; at others

part could be sent to Archangel ; at others still it must all be

sold to the Government. To encourage honesty an admixture

of stones in a bale of hemp was punished with death. The
needs of the Fleet were so great that the manufacture of sail

cloth took good proportions. The Government factories were

nearly ruined by bad management, and it became necessary to



EtrSSIAK LIITEJr AND SILK INDITSTEIES. 377

give them into private hands. In 1712 the Tsar forbade the

weaving of the narrow linen commonly used in Eussia, and,

with entire forgetfulness of the fact that the home market is

the most important, for the sake of a possible export to Eng-

land and her colonies, ordered all linen to be made at least a

yard wide. The narrow linen made after that date was to be

confiscated, and the informer was promised ten kopeks for

each ell of linen he discovered. In 1718 this prohibition was

withdrawn, and linen of all widths was allowed to be made

;

but again there was a change, and the export of narrow linen

was forbidden (as if indeed it would have been exported with-

out a demand for it). In spite of this paternal care, the linen

industry languished. When long after, in 1762 and 1764, the

restrictions on trade were removed, the export of flax and hemp
increased, and they now constitute nearly one-fifth of the whole

export. In order to encourage the manufacture of silk, Baron

Shafirof and Tolstoi were given a privilege for the manufacture

of silk goods. The importation from abroad was entirely for-

bidden, and no European silk could even be worn, and they had
the right of importing Asiatic raw silk free of duty

;
yet the

business went on so badly that a limited importation (100,000

rubles) without duty of foreign silk goods was allowed to them
for two years, in order to set the factory going again. The
prospect, however, was so poor that they sold their privilege to

private merchants for 20,000 rubles. One of the chief exports

of Russia at that time was leather. In 1716 at least five million

pounds were brought to Archangel for shipment, and its quality

had long been famous. But the Tsar was dissatisfied with it

on the ground that it was not sufficiently durable and water-

proof, and with the best of intentions did what he could to

break up the trade. In 1715 he forbade the manufacture of

Eussian leather, and ordered it henceforth to be made on the

German plan, to teach which a sort of tanning-school was opened
at Moscow, master-workmen being sent from Reval, who in-

structed the Russians, from the factories of the interior. If

after two years of trial anyone made leather on the old system he
was to be sent to Siberia and his property confiscated. The
mining industry fared better owing to the great richness of the

ores discovered in the Ural. Mining privileges were given to
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Mkita Demidof, the blacksmith of Tula, in 1702, who set to

work vigorously and became so rich that, on the birth of the

Tsarevitch Peter, he presented him with a hundred thousand

rubles as 'tooth-cutting money.' In 1T20 he was ennobled.

The Stroganofs increased their already great fortune in the

same region, and Alexander Stroganof was created a Baron in

1712. Even the Government mines prospered under the ex-

cellent management of General Hennin and Basil Tatistchef.

The general state of the country was not such as to encour-

age either manufacturers or merchants. The officials had been

so long accustomed to look down upon the trading classes as

low sorts of beings, that they made no scruples of harassing

them and seizing their property. The large factories which

were started by great nobles with the assistance of the State

were safe, but the smaller ones frequently suffered from exac-

tions and irregularities, and dared not complain. The safest

way was to obtain the protection of some powerful person, but

this after a time was strictly forbidden. Thus we find that

many wealthy merchants had got themselves registered as ser-

vants of the Princess Natalia, or even of the Tsaritza Cathe-

rine ; and when they were obliged to go back to their shops,

they complained that the taxes were such that they were un-

able to live and carry on their trade as before. We may judge

how necessary such protection sometimes was, from the case

of the merchant Bogomolof, who was a well-known and rich

man in Moscow ; had much silver, gold, and jewels ; had given

much to be the construction of a monastery where he hoped to

be buried ; had lent money to various high placed personages
;

and, among others, had been on friendly terms with Prince

Boris Golitsyn, who frequently visited him. One day Sergius,

son of Boris, came to visit Bogomolof ; and, finding him alone

with a young nephew, ordered all the servants out of the house,

sent him off to a monastery in the country, forced him to be-

come a monk, and in fact robbed him of all his property.

It is almost \iseless to recount the vain attempt to introduce

the German system of guilds among the Bussian workmen,

in which all laws and lessons of historical development were

disregarded. Yet the old Bussian artel—a sort of mutually-

guaranteeing, mutually-protecting company of artisans—lay
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ready to hand, waiting only for development." Nor need more
particular mention be made of the hundreds of Eussian artisans

sent abroad by the Government to leam trades. Many found

it pleasanter to stay where they were. Of those who returned,

the majority, finding themselves isolated among their country-

men, soon fell back into the old ways.

In spite of the want of roads in Russia, the numerous
rivers, navigable at least in the spring, afford great facilities to

internal commerce. One may even go by water from St.

Petersburg to the Chinese frontier with very few and short

breaks. When the rivers are frozen sledging is easy ; and at

the end of Peter's reign, or a little after, the cost of hauling a

pud, or thirty-six English pounds, from Moscow to St. Peters-

bui'g, about 500 miles by road, was from four to five groschen.

At this time the advantages of the inland commerce were al-

most entirely in the hands of the Eussians, as foreigners were
not allowed to bring their goods inland, or take Eussian goods

from the interior to the sea-ports. They had branch oflSces at

various points in the interior, where they could make contracts

to be carried out at the port of shipment. No real interference

was made with this arrangement during Peter's reign, for the

commercial treaties with Prussia and France were never strictly

carried out, and neither the Prussians nor the Dutch could

obtain permission to trade in the interior on equal terms with

the Russians. The Armenians, indeed, had the right to bring

Persian goods from Astrakhan to Archangel, Narva, and St.

Petersburg, and to send foreign goods from those ports to

Persia ; but this was in the nature of a transit trade, great pre-

' Many of the regulations and changes introduced by Peter remain on the

statute book unto the present day, not however on account of their excellence

or advantage, but because no Government is so little influenced by the

trading and financial classes as the Russian, where the merchants have no
snre means of expressing their wants and bringing a pressure to bear upon the

administration. The ofScials of the commercial departments have generally

no practical knowledge of business, and are satisfied if their system works
smoothly on paper. The number of vexatious regulations and petty restric-

tions affecting anyone desirous of establishing himself in business in Russia is

almost incredible. I remember that in Moscow about 1866 nearly all the

shop-signs had to be repainted because some police ofiicial disapproved of the

grammatical case used after the words ' Trade ' and ' Sale.'
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cautions being taken tliat none of these goods should be sold

in Kussia.'

^ At this time the Asiatic trade was carried on entirely

by land, the European commerce nearly all by sea. The

Chinese trade was a monopoly of the Government, and was

managed by caravans sent from Moscow through Tobolsk to

the Chinese frontier at Nertchinsk, in which private persons

were sometimes allowed a certain share. The return caravans

were generally worth from 300,000 to 400,000 rubles, and in

spite of the great distance the freight did not amount to more

than five per cent, of the whole capital. The profits were very

large, but the disorders in the Siberian administration were so

great that a very small portion of them ever reached the treas-

ury. A new route through Mongolia by the way of Urga (the

present Kiakhta road), was discovered by the Siberian mer-

chants and used for a long time for contraband traffic. With
the Kalmuks, Bukhara, and Central Asia the trade was free,

but of very small amount. The same was the case with the

Turks and Tartars. But the silk trade with Persia was of

such importance, both the direct and the transit trade, that the

Tsar had great desire to get it into his hands. His movements
in Asia, and especially the Persian campaign, were guided by

commercial projects. It was then believed that colonies were

necessary as markets for the trade of the home country, and the

Tsar even listened to projects of establishment, in Madagascar

and the Moluccas.

As regards the European commerce, there was a small trade

from Kief and Little Russia towards Breslau, consisting ori-

ginally of cattle sent to be sold at Breslau, and paid for partly

in groceries and other provisions, and partly in money. After

numerous tanneries had been established in the Ukraine, and

foreign manufactures were subjected to a high duty in the sea-

ports, great quantities of leather were sent by this route to

Silesia, and much linen and other manufactured goods imported,

which from Little Russia found entrance into the other prov-

inces, thus escaping duties. At the same time, the cost of

' I follow here chiefly the excellent Report of Vookerodt to the Prussian

Government in 1737, printed hy Dr. B. Herrmann in Bussland unter Peter

dem Orosse, Leipzig, 1873.
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transport being less, it was found that Russian leather was

cheaper in Breslau than in St. Petersbui-g. As soon as this

was perceived the Tsar strictly prohibited all trade on this

route, except the old traffic in cattle. The increase of duties

in the sea-ports caused also a large contraband trade from
Toropetz and other parts of the province of Smolensk towards

Konigsberg and Danzig. It was found impossible to break

this up entirely, although such hea-vy confiscations and fines

were imposed that many merchants who engaged in it were
completely ruined.

The chief ports open to commerce were Riga, Eeval, ISTarva,

Yiborg, Kola, Archangel, and St. Petersburg. The commerce
at Eiga was chiefly one of transit, grain and other products of

Poland and Curland being brought to JRiga to be shipped

abroad, for the amount furnished by Livonia, especially after

the war, was of very slight importance. During the war even

this trade almost entirely disappeared, because as long as

Sweden was mistress of the Baltic the harbour of Eiga was
kept shut, and it therefore sought other routes to Konigsberg.

After peace was finally made, the privileges granted at Riga,

combined with the dissatisfaction caused by some new arrange-

ments at Konigsberg, soon restored the port to its old commer-
cial importance. The trade at Eeval was not the twentieth part

of that of Riga, for although the port had received many privi-

leges, yet, as it had no river communication with the interior,

and the Russian trade which formally came there had been di-

verted to St. Petersburg, it was confined to the very small com-
merce of Esthonia, then reduced to great poverty. In the

Swedish time the commerce of Narva had been little less than
that of Riga, not only on account of the traffic coming fi-om the

neighbouring Russian provinces, but because the Persian and Ar-
menian trade with Europe took this road, and the foreign mer-
chants at Moscow frequently used it to import goods of which
there was a deficiency at Archangel. The war and the trans-

portation of the inhabitants of Narva to the interior of Russia

totally ruined this trade, and even when the inhabitants were al-

lowed to re-establish themselves, yet the Russian duties were
imposed as well as other restrictions, in order that it might not
rival St. Petersburg. The trade of Viborg, which had been the
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chief port of Finland, was injured partly by the establishment

of St. Petersburg, and then after the peace by the neighbouring

port of Fredrikshamn, which attracted all the trade from the

Swedish portion of Finland. At Kola, on the Northean Ocean,

the sole trade was the importation of a little salt, in return for

fish which were bought very cheaply. On the Lapland coast

there had previously been free fisheries of seals and walruses, the

oil of which was much esteemed in Hamburg as better than

that from Greenland. These the Tsar made into a monopoly

which he granted to Baron Shafirof . It bi'ought in from 12,000

to 15,000 rubles yearly.

Nearly all the foreign commerce of Kussia proper was con-

centrated at Archangel, which up to Peter's time was the only

Russian port, and which, although open only the few summer

months, was accessible from the interior by the river Dvina

—

nearly a thousand miles long—and its numerous branches.

Goods could be taken by water from Moscow or Siberia, with

the exception of 130 miles between Yaroslav and Vologda,

which latter town had a great commercial importance. Arch-

angel was ruined by the forcible transfer of its commerce to

St. Petersburg. Had it not been for the severe measm-es

taken, trade would for a long time yet have continued to seek

Archangel, because, in addition to the hatred of the Eussians

to St. Petersburg, there were at first no roads thither except

mere tracks through the forest, and until the completion of the

canals no water communication. As long as the war lasted

there was danger of capture on the Baltic, and heavy duties

had to he paid on passing the Sound. For these reasons the

foreigners, especially the Dutch, protested loudly against the

change, though the merchants of Liibeck, who saw their ad-

vantage in the increase of trade in the Baltic, favoured it. All

the advantages given by lower duties at St. Petersburg and in

other ways were not suflScient to change the course of trade, for

the cost of living there was far greater than at Archangel,' and

' The Dutch Minister complained that for a wooden house at St. Peters-

burg, which could not be compared with the most modest hut of the Dutch

peasant, it was necessary to pay 800 or 900 florins, while at Moscow or Arch-

angel a foreign merchant could live well on 300 florins a year. Beef at St.

Petersburg was 5, 6, and 8 kopeks a pound, and of bad q^uality.
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at first the road was so bad tliat even foreign ministers took

five weeks to go from Moscow to St. Petersburg on account of

the mud, and of being sometimes obliged to wait a week at a

time at a station before they could get horses. As soon as the

possession of St. Petersburg was thoroughly assured by the

peace of Nystad, the Tsar ordered the Senate to take the neces-

sary measures for speedily bringing about this change. The
merchants made two long protests, which were supported even

by the senators and ministers, and the old Grand-Admiral

Apraxin was bold enough to say to the Tsar that through such

changes he would ruin the whole of the merchants and bear

the weight of unending and eternal tears.' The Tsar remained

immovable, and in 1722 forbade any goods in future to be sent

to Archangel other than those produced in that province or on

the banks of the Dvina. Subsequently this prohibition was

somewhat modified, but the duties were placed higher than

those at St. Petersburg, which had the effect of keeping trade

in that channel. In the end, especially after the improvement

of the ways of communication, commerce accommodated itself

to the new route, and the foreigners especially found it to their

advantage, because the ships could make two journeys a year,

and they were no longer obliged to keep separate establish-

ments at Moscow and Vologda, all of which was sufiScient to

coimterbalance the heavy Sound tolls paid to the Danes. At
first there were great losses, not only in the ways specified, but

because many debtors living in Siberia and remote provinces

found it convenient not to pay up at the term, and several

English and Dutch houses were ruined.'

The customs' duties at the beginning of the eighteenth

centuiy in Kussia were on a different footing from those of

other countries. All wares imported and exported, except

grain and liquors, which had their separate duties, paid a duty

of 4 per cent., but as, in accordance with old regulations, the

duty was collected in full weight specie-thalers, and the thaler

was taken as worth fifty kopeks only, when by the depreciation

of the Russian currency it had risen to eighty and a hundred

' In 1722 there entered at St. Petersburg 116 foreign ships, at Riga, 331.

In 1724 there arrived at St. Petersburg 240 ; Narva, 115 ; Eiga, 303 ; Eeval,

62; Viborg, 28.
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kopeks and even more, the duties could safely be reckoned at 9

per cent. The merchant, however, had this advantage, that he

had to pay on his cargo only one way, as the round trip was

regarded as a single transaction, and,' if on sending ofE a ship he

paid the duties which he believed to be the highest, he had the

return cargo free. The Tsar thought that the foreign traffic

needed no such encouragement, and therefore resolved to sepa-

rate the duties of the exports and imports, and a new tariff was

issued in March, 1724, according to which Russian goods were

in general taxed 6^ per cent., while foreign imports were taxed

11 per cent., except manufactures, on some of which, for the

purpose of protecting home industry, there were imposed duties

amounting to 30, 55, and even 80 per cent. A fourth more was
added to the duties in the port of Archangel. The result of this

was that the revenue from customs fell off instead of increas-

ing, there being either fewer imports or a much greater contra-

band traffic.

The efforts of the Tsar to increase Eussian trade abroad by
means of Kussian merchants proved abortive. Consuls were

appointed at Cadiz, Bordeaux, and Toulon. Lists were pub-

lished of the prices current in the chief European towns, ' that

people may know where things are dear and where cheap,' and

the Tsar even freighted some ships, partly with Government
goods, and partly with contributions forced from the richest

merchants, and sent them to Bordeaux and Cadiz. The expenses

absorbed the whole of the capital, and the parties interested

got little or nothing back. Solovief, at Amsterdam, was the

only Kussian merchant abroad who had credit and was respected

for his knowledge and intelligence. In 1722 Bestuzhef wrote

from Stockholm that a Eussian ship had arrived from St. Pe-

tersburg, and that merchants had come from Eeval bringing

some wretched wares, a little linen cloth, wooden spoons and

roasted nuts, which they sold from sledges; that they wore
beards and old Eussian clothes without neckties, were dirty and

quarrelsome, and even cooked their food in the streets or near

the bridge where the ships were anchored. The Swedes
laughed so much that he forbade them to sell nuts and spoons

and such trifles in Stockholm, or to cook their food in the

streets, and at his own expense hired a house for them. He
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begged the Tsar to issue a decree that they should live quietly

without fighting and getting drunk, and keep their clothes

clean.

Mention has already been made of the attempt to build a

canal between the Yolga and the Don, for the purpose of facil-

itatuig the passage of ships to the Black Sea. Subsequently

other canals were begun, this time more in the interests of

commerce. By a small canal, 4,660 feet long, at Vishny-Yol-

otchok, on the road between St. Petersburg and Moscow, a

water communication was established between the two small

but navigable rivers Tsna and Khlina, and thus between the

Volga and the Neva. "While this canal greatly facilitated the

transport of goods to St. Petersburg, yet there was always great

difiiculty in passing through Lake Ladoga, which is very sub-

ject to storms, every north wind either driving ashore or sink-

ing the barges, which for navigating the shallow rivers had to

be made with flat bottoms. The Tsar first devised a species of

lighters with keels for the passage of the lake, but this necessi-

tated two transshipments, and was far too expensive for bulk or

heavy goods, such as hay, grain, and timber, which were espe-

cially needed at St. Petersburg. This caused him to look for a

way of coming to St. Petersburg without passing through

Lake Ladoga, and finding that there was no hindrance to

a canal except the swamps, he resolved upon undertaking

one.

The work was begun with such precipitation and under such

bad management that in the first year a million and a half of

rubles were spent, and on account of the bad commissariat

many thousand workmen, including seven thousand Cossacks,

died of disease and hunger before Menshikof and Pisaref

agreed whether it was better to dig the canal in the earth or

wall up a portion of the lake. The Tsar was on the point of

abandoning the work entirely when he accepted the services of

General Miinnich, subsequently Field-Marshal, who, having

long lived in Oldenburg and East-Friesland, had a practical

knowledge of dikes and canals. The plan submitted by him
seemed so plausible that, after another personal investigation on
the spot, the Tsar fully approved it and gave him the execution

Vol. n.—35
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of the work. It proceeded so well that Peter almost fixed the

day on which he could pass by water from St. Petersburg to

Moscow. He had the satisfaction of seeing twenty miles ready

before his death, but the canal which still serves the interests of

commerce was not finished until afterwards. This was the be-

ginning of that great system of canals completed in the early

part of the present century, which, although only 455 miles

long, connects the Baltic with the Black Sea, and the Caspian

with the White Sea. Other proposed canals, one near Staraya-

Eus, on Lake Ilmen, by which it was proposed to shorten the

route from Moscow to St. Petersburg, and another near Yitigdr,

to join Lake Onega with Lake Bielo-Ozero, were badly began

and never finished. As another advantage to the new capital

the Tsar commenced building a straight road to Moscow, fol-

lowing nearly the line of the present railway, by which the

distance would be shortened from five hundred to four hundred

miles ; but only eighty miles from St. Petersburg were com-

pleted.

We have several times spoken of Pososhkof, a man too re-

markable to be passed with a mere mention. Born somewhere

about 1665 in the village of Pokrofskoe, now a part of Moscow,

a free peasant, we find Ivan Pososhkof arrested in the affair of

the monk Abraham, who in 1697 handed the Tsar a paper con-

taining reflections on his mode of life and government. Pos-

oshkof's innocence in the matter was proved and he was released.

He next appears as the inventor of a kind of mitrailleuse, and

after that as agriculturist, manufacturer, distiller, mint-director,

and tax-farmer, practising many professions, and versed in the

technicalities of many trades. He gradually accumulated wealth

sufficient to raise him far above his class, although he was
equally far below the great nobles and officials, with many of

whom he enjoyed personal acquaintance. He was not only an

active, but an active-minded man, a preacher too by nature, and

one with the inspiration which made it necessary for him to

preach even in the wilderness and to ears that refused to listen.

When he had something to say he must say it, and we know of

a number of memoirs which he presented or tried to present to

official personages. His want of success never deterred him.

One of these memoirs on the mint and the coining of money

—
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a business in which he had himself been engaged on Govern-

ment account—he had hoped much fron;, but on account of the

number ef 'guards he found it impossible even to approach

Makdrof , the Tsar's secretary, and as a last resort gave it to one

of the servants, who promised to deliver it. It never was heard

of. Among his longer works are the ' Mirror,' in which he set

forth the condition of the Church and the methods which should

be taken to put down dissent ;
' The Testament to his Son,'

whom he had sent to study in Holland, hoping to educate him

for a priest ; and, most important of all, the book ' On Poverty

and Riches,' on which he spent three of the later years of his

life. He had several times come into conflict with the author-

ities, his house had been searched and his efljects sealed up, and

it required great courage for a man of his position, in a time

when all political thought was suspicious and all writing danger-

ous, to investigate the whole political and social order, and

attack the abuses of every branch of the administration, of

which he himself had had so much experience. As he himself

says :
' I am dismayed at having begun to write about such

great things ; but my exceeding zeal has pressed and compelled

me to it. God is my witness that it has not come from any

selfishness or for the sake of any profit, but only for the love

which I bear to his Imperial Majesty, and because from my
youth I have been always so situated that when I have seen

anything evil I have j»referred to suffer rather than repress my
blame.' This treatise, which was completed in February, 1724,

was intended for the Tsar's own eyes, though in all pro,bability

it never reached them. The author wished his name concealed

from the ofiBcials, who would not be pleased with the truths

which he had said about them, and who would attempt his life.

' Poverty and Kiches ' gives but a feeble idea of the contents of

this book, which contains considerations on the whole state of

Russia, the church, the army, the administration of justice, the

mercantile class, the regulation of commerce and the further-

ance of manulactures, the extirpation of robbers, the peasantry,

agriculture, 'the whole system of taxation, and the currency.

There is much that is false, much that is trivial, but more that

is true and well thought out. Pososhkof had followed with care

the reforms and innovations of the Tsar, sympathised with him
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fully in the necessity of reorganising Hussia, but frequently dif

fei-ed from him as to the means to be employed. In one respect

there was a thorough agreement—that was in the belief thai

force was often the best if not the only remedy. A remarkable

difference was that Pososhkof detested foi-eigners, and aimed

more at the development of existing institutions than at the

introduction of foreign ones.

What the author feared came to pass. A few months after

Peter's death he was arrested and handed over to the Secret

Tribunal. The charges against him are not explicitly stated

;

but from the fact that in those very days the persons implicated

in the affair of Theodosius, Archbishop of ISTovgorod, were asked

whether among the books of the Archbishop there was a copy

of Pososhkof's ' Poverty and Eiches,' this book was the prob-

able cause of his arrest. His property was confiscated, although

a portion was allowed to go to his daughter, and two years after

he had finished his book he died in prison."

' Russian Laws ; Solovi^f, xvi. , xviii. ; Grad6fsky ; Count D. Tolstoi, His-

tory of the FinanciaZ Institutiotis of Russia, St. Petersburg, 1848 ; W. Stieda,

Peter der Orosse als Mercantilist, in Russische Bevue, iv., 193-348, 1874; Vooke-
rodt in B. Herrmann, Rusdand unter Peter dem Chvssen, Leipzig, 1872 ; A.
Bruckner, Peter der Orosse ; id. Iwan Possosehkow, Leipzig, 1878 ; Works of

Ivan Pososhkof, ed. of Pogodin, Moscow, 1843.
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CHUKCH REFOEM, 1710—1724.

The provisional government of the church established at

the death of the Patriarch Adrian, in 1700, continued for

over twenty years, until the foundation of the Holy Directing

Synod. The Patriarchate was in abeyance and Stephen Yav-

drskj, the Metropolitan of Riazan, remained guardian of the

patriarchal throne.' It was not easy to find a patriarch who
would agree with Peter's views, and it was not advisable to

give such power to one who might oppose them, still less was

it advisable during the war to make any violent change

which might excite hostility or increase the prevailing discon-

tent. Besides, Peter had for a long time little idea of what

change he wished to make. He desired to render the Church

subordinate to the State, and feared a rival who might prove as

dangerous as the Patriarch Nikon. He wished to improve the

condition and education of the parochial clergy and render

them less dependent on the monastic hierarchy. He wished,

too, that the people should be taught the moral side of religion,

precepts and duties rather than ceremonies and observances,

which then chiefly formed their religious life, and would

gladly have cleared the church of its superstitions. In this re-

spect, however, he viewed religion more from the point of view

of the State than of the individual. Personally Peter had a

strong religious turn, though he had sometimes strange ways of

showing it ; his education and his life had given him latitudi-

narian ideas little in accord with the Russian Church of his

day, and he was not only lax in observance, but he even at

times ridiculed those who were strict. Only after years, and

See p. 142.
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after his innovations had met with such earnest opposition, did

he come to understand the deep religious character of tlie Kus-

sian people, and to be more cautious. It was not until 1Y16

that he obtained, on account of his health, from the Patriarch

at Constantinople a dispensation from keeping Lent, and for

the soldiers in active service permission to eat meat on fast days.

The Tsar had been disappointed in Stephen Yav6rsky, who
had first attracted his attention by a sermon at the funeral of the

Boyar Sheiii. Yavorsky had studied in the Jesuit colleges in

Poland, and had at one time even embraced Catholicism

;

although he had come back to the Eastern Church, he still re-

tained a tincture of clericalism, not to say fanaticism. He had

the reputation for that time of a great orator, and although his

methods smacked very much of the schools, yet his sonorous

and pleasing voice, his frequent gestures and mobile expression,

together with a copious fund of anecdotes and analogies, en-

abled him to move his auditors now to tears and now to smiles.

For the first time Peter heard anything like oratory in the

ilussian Church, and was pleased at the same time with the

clear eye and intelligent air of Yavorsky, who was then only

forty-two. He was not himself so thoroughly acquainted with

western civilisation as to discovei- what was merely the borrowed

form and what the original thought, and was convinced that

the preacher would be a man fit to aid him. In later years, as

a hostile writer says, ' he found that in that sack he had cap-

tured a fox and not a hare.' Yavorsky was, as we have seen,

promoted against his will to be Metropolitan of Kiazan, and

was afterwards entrusted with the government of the church,

and during the first years he forced himself to enter into many
of the Tsar's ideas, and rendered him many services for which

he was bountifully paid. Peter was fond of sermons, and no

occasion, whether a New Year day, a church feast, or a triumph,

could be properly celebrated without a sermon from Yavorsky.

He was at first, we remember, looked upon with suspicion by
the old Muscovite clergy because he had come from Kief, and

even the Greeks accused him of heresy and leaning to the Latin

Church. At that time the Tsar was his only support, but as

years passed by his position in the church became better,

and gradually, as he saw the prospect of the Patriarchate fade
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from liim, and lie had more frequent collisions with the civil

authorities about church matters, and especially about church

property, which was being taken from pious uses and used

for the support of the army, he drew away from the Tsar

and strengthened himself more and more in his clericalism, in

his belief in the necessity of a church independent of, if not

superior to, the State. Not that in truth Yavorsky was person-

ally ambitious, for he was by nature intended for a hermitage,

whither indeed he often tried to escape. The annoyances of

life both at Moscow and at St. Petersburg were great to him,

for as a clergyman he could not endure the thought of being

subordinate to a civilian ; he hated the turmoil of the reform

period, and remembered his quiet life in the monasteries of

Little Russia. What made him desire the re-establishment of

the Patriarchate was because he believed that the Patriarch

was the proper head of the Church. His feelings occasionally

found vent in sermons, though it was a long time before he

dared to deliver them. One written in 1708 was directed

against the appropriation of the church funds to civil purposes,

and contained a passage about King Belshazzar drinking out of

the holy vessels, and a picture drawn from one of the banquets

of which Peter was so fond. There was even an allusion

to the great bowl which had to be drained as a fine for not

drinking enough. But at the end of the sermon we find the

words non dictum. There were many such sermons. Another
gave a picture of the voluptuous man who had persuaded his

wife to become a nun. ' Live there if you will with the angels,

only not with me. Better for me is a harlot than to have you
as my wife.' But on the feast of St. Alexis in 1712, Yavorsky
at last ventured on a bold step. He attacked, as we remem-
ber, the fiscals and prayed for Alexis as ' our only hope

;

'

more than that, he inveighed directly against the Tsar for com-
mitting adultery, for coveting his neighbour's wife, for aban-

doning his own, for not, observing the fasts or reverencing

the images, and spoke of him as no better than a publican and a

sinner. Among the senators present in church were some who
disliked Yav6rsky. They brought the sermon to the Tsar, who
read and annotated it carefully, and against the passage refer-

ring to himself marked in pencil, ' First alone, then with wit-
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nesses,' meaning that while the preacher might blame what he

thought wrong, as in the case of the fiscals, yet in a personal

matter he had not carried out the precepts of the Gospel, to

admonish privately before speaking in public. Yavorsky's ex-

cuses were accepted. The Tsar did not wish to make a martyr

of him, as he knew that he now exercised considerable influ-

ence in the Church and over the people ; allowed him to keep

his rank, and apparently paid no more attention to the sermon,

though for some time Yavorsky was forbidden to preach and

was always after that an object of suspicion.

Yavorsky had a pliable but elastic nature. Not daring to

make direct opposition, he endeavoured indirectly to thwart

Peter's schemes for diminishing the wealth and power of the

Church and other reforms, so that little was really accomplished,

and yet acted so cautiously that no direct blame could be at-

tached to him. Enjoined to establish schools with the income

of the Patriarchate, he founded the Academy at Moscow only,

and not a single school in his own diocese. He was by no.

means careful of the fitness or learning of the priests he or-

dained, and allowed his brother and other relatives to enrich

themselves from the church revenues or by exacting heavy fees.

In 1713 he brought up the case of Tveritinof and others in

Moscow, who, more or less free-thinkers, were disseminating Pro-

testant notions, and who had done this without censure for many
years. A pupil in the ecclesiastical seminary, Maximof, was

accused before the spiritual authorities of spreading heresy. It

was shown easily enough that he had learned this from
Tveritinof, who in turn associated with the Protestants and

foreigners protected by the Tsar. In this way it was thought

to put the Tsar in a difficult position. If he rejected the

anathema and the sentence of the Church against the heretics,

he would discredit his own orthodoxy before the people ; if he
allowed the heretics to be burned as the laws of the Church
demanded, he would show his inconsistency. The case was
transferred to St. Petersburg and placed before the Senate.

The accused without delay declared their innocence, and pro-

fessed themselves orthodox. They were released and Yavor-
sky was ordered to state the fact publicly in chui-ch. This was
a blow to the Metropolitan, who had ready for print a huge
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volume, ' The Eock of the Faith,' directed against heresy and

especially against Protestantism, and he insisted on continuing

the case, in consequence of having discovered a tract and a

collection of texts in the possession of Tveritinof, whicli he

claimed argued against the reverence of images. No witnesses

were allowed to be brought up in favour of the accused, but

even this would not have been enough had not one of them,

a barber Thomas Ivanof, committed an act which in a certain

way justified the action of the Metropolitan. Having been

taken to .church in chains, in order to receive religious instruc-

tion, wearied out by imprisonment and ill-treatment, Ivanof

defaced one of the holy pictures with a knife which he had

concealed upon his person. A trial was immediately had before

the archbishops, the heretics were publicly anathematised, and

Tveritinof and Ivdnof were condemned and handed over to the

civil authorities for punishment. The barber , Ivanof was

burned in Moscow, but Tveritinof got off with temporary im-

prisonment in a monastery, and turned the tables on the Met-

ropolitan by accusing him before the Senate of heresy in having

distributed a translation of the ' Meditationes Sacrae ' of the

Lutheran Gerhardt. Yavorsky claimed that he had never read

the book himself, which had been dedicated to him by the

Archbishop of Tchernigof. Soon after this affair, which had

lasted three years, Yavorsky wished to go to Mezhin, where he

was constructing a monastery, and petitioned the newly-born

Tsarevitch Peter to obtain leave for him. The leave was grant-

ed, but the Tsar accompanied it with a special letter of instruc-

tion as to his future conduct, cautioning him to be careful how
he excommunicated persons on account of private disputes,

ordering him ' to treat the opponents of the Holy Chui"ch

rationally, legally, and with mildness,' to keep the monks within

the rules, to build no more churches and ordain no more priests

than necessary, to visit his diocese once a year, 'to forbid

dissent, superstition and impious veneration, the deification of

holy pictures and the ascription to them of false miracles,' and
not to interfere in civil affairs.'

' The mysterious appearance of miracle-working holy pictures lias never
been uncommon in Russia. Peter discovered and severely punished one decep-

tion of this kind at St. Petersburg in 1720.
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Tavorsky was strongly suspected of being a partisan of

Alexis, and in order to render him perfectly harmless, the Tsar

in 1718 ordered him to live, henceforth in St.. Petersburg,

whither he went much against his ^vrll. Permission waa given

to print his book ' The Rock of Faith,' in spite of its covert

attacks on the Tsar, but owirrg to circumstances it did not appear

during his life.

In St. Petersburg he met as a colleague and favourite of the

Tsar one whom he had just accused of heresy, Theophan Pro-

kopovitch of Kief. This was a man of very different character,

who, left an orphan at an early age, had through the favour of

an uncle been educated in the schools at Kief, then studied at

Leniberg, Cracow, and finally at Home, where as a Uniate he

entered into the college of St. Athanasius, specially founded for

Greeks and Slavs. He was a great favourite of his Jesuit

teachers, who frequently proposed him to enter theii* order, but

the lectures on philosophy and scholastic theology did not please

him so much as reading the Fathers of the Church, and especi-

ally the Greek and Latin classics. He made thorough acquaint-

ance with the manners and discipline of the Church of Rome,
witnessed the election of Pope Clement XI. in lYOO and the

attendant intrigues, and prepared himself to be a great opponent

of the Papacy. Returning to Little Russia he became a teacher

in the Academy of Kief, and here made the acquaintance of

the Tsar by his sermon after the battle of Poltava.' Peter

took Theophdn with him during the campaign of the Pruth,

and subsequently called him to St. Petersburg. Being detained

for nearly a year by illness, Theophan did not find the Tsar on
his arrival in 1716, but he was welcomed by Menshikof, and
busied himself with sermons and pamphlets explanatory of the

reforms of the Tsar. In this way he made himself very useful.

His eloquence was greater than that of Yav6rsky, and he had a

directness of style which appealed more to his hearers and
readers. He was then in the prime of life and energy—about

thirty-eight years of age. He was not beyond ingratiating him-

self with the Tsar in other ways. For Peter's return in 1717
he composed three congratulatory speeches, one of which was

' See page 126.
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delivered by the Princess Anne, one by the son of Prince Men-

shikof, and the third he spoke himself. He even defended

what the clergy at Moscow had attacked—the Tsar's private

character. ' There are people,' he said, ' to whom everything

unusual, amusing, great, or celebrated, seems sinful and wicked.

They do not love happiness in itself. Whenever they see a

man healthy or living well they consider him impious. They

would be glad to have everyone ugly, humpbacked, dark-

featured, and ill-favoured.' During the affair of Alexis, The-

ophan preached a sermon on the power and honour of the Tsar,

in which he showed that the will of the Tsar should be sacredly

obeyed by his subjects. This sermon contained many allusions

to existing circumstances, and covert insinuations against the

clergy who opposed the reforms. ' Many think that all people

are not bound to submit to the authorities, that some like priests

and monks are excepted. These are tares, the tooth of the

serpent, the Papal spirit which has in some way crept in among
us.' When he was nominated as Archbishop of Pskof and

Narva he was accused of heresy by the clergy of Moscow, in-

cluding the learned Greeks thei-e, and in this attack Yavorsky

joined. The Protestant leanings of which he was accused were

not particularly displeasing to the Tsar, and it was easy for him
to establish his orthodoxy to the Tsar's satisfaction. Yavorsky

on arriving at St. Petersburg was obliged to retract his accusa-

tions, defending himself again by saying that he had never read

the book which he blamed, but had accepted the report of his

colleagues, and a seeming reconciliation took place between the

prelates.

Now that the active operations of war had ended in the com-

plete victory of Russia there was no longer so much danger in

touching the religious question, and after the introduction of

the collegiate system into the civil government, it seemed to the

Tsar that nothing could be better than to introduce it also into

the Chui-ch. Having seen too in Protestant countries the pos-

sibility of church government in similar forms, he was the

more ready to adopt the system of an Assembly or Synod.

The preparation of the Spiritual Regulation, which was put in

force in 1721, was entrusted to Theophan Prokopovitch, al-

though every article was revised and sometimes rewritten bj
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the Tsar. By this the supreme government of the Church

was inv'^ested in what was at first called the Spiritual College,

and subsequently the Holy Directing Synod. With regard to

this form of government the Regulation said :
' From the col-

legiate government in the Church there is not so much danger

to the countiy of disturbances and troubles as may be produced

by one spiritual ruler, for the common people do not under-

stand the difference between the spiritual power and that of the

autocrat ; but, dazzled by the splendour and glory of the

highest pastor, they think that he is a second sovereign of like

powers with the autocrat, or with even more, and that the

spiritual power is that of another and better realm. If then

there should be any difference of opinion between the Patriarch

and the Tsar it might easily happen that the people, perhaps

led by designing persons, should take the part of the Patriarch,

in the belief that they were fighting for God's cause and that

it was necessary to stand by him.' The Synod was entrusted

with the duty of rooting out ignorance and superstition, of

spreading information about the law of God, of improving the

education of the clergy. Bishops were enjoined not to think

too highly of their rank, but to be humble. The harmful pre-

dominance of the higher clergy was ascribed in the Regulation

to ignorance and rudeness. ' It was only after the first four

centuries,' it says, ' after education and knowledge had sunk,

that the bishops of Eome and Constantinople gained so much
power and became so proud. Many wrongly say that educa-

tion nourishes heresies, but have not our Russian Dissenters

gone astray and become so fanatical from ignorance and want
of civilisation ? If we look at the past ages through history

as through a telescope, we will see that all that was M'orst

was in the dark ages, and not in those enlightened by culture.

The Synod consisted at first of ten members. The President

was Stephen Yavorsky. He tried to refuse the honor, and
begged to be allowed to finish his days in a monastery. The
Tsar insisted. Yavorsky was far less dangerous there, with
nominal rank and little power, than he would have been preach-

ing and writing books in his beloved retreat at Mezhin. He
thoroughly disapproved of the whole system, as he believed the

patriarchal to be the true form of church government, was
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indignant at the continual interference of the temporal power,

for the Synod had many conflicts with the Senate, and his feel-

ings were outraged at the refusal of the Tsar to permit the

names of the four Eastern Patriarchs to be mentioned in the

Liturgy. He survived but a year, and died at Moscow in 1T22.

Next to him in order came Theodosius Yanofsky, Archbishop

of jSfovgorod, and Theophan Prokopovitch, third. Theodosius

Yanofsky, though a prominent churchman, had neither the

education nor the ability of his two colleagues. A monk without

a real calling, energetic and ambitious, he desired advancement

and riches cost what it might. He saw quickly enough that his

best way was to appear to sympathise with the reforms of the

Tsar. This took with Peter, and Theodosius in lYlO was made
Archimandrite of the Alexander-Nevsky monastery, just

founded at St. Petersburg, and five years afterwards—most re-

markable in a Kussian prelate—went abroad to take the waters.

He distinguished himself by a sort of free-thinking which was

then by no means in vogue among the clergy. In 1719 it was
reported to the Government that the bells in the churches at

Novgorod were tolled at night in some mysterious way. The
investigation was given to Theodosius, who refused to see any-

thing supernatural in the occurrence, but drew the conclusion

that the tolling was done by persons indisposed to the Govern-

ment, who wished to ascribe it to unearthly causes and thus

excite discontent. He had forbidden candles to be burnt use-

lessly in the churches, had ordered priests not to give the

communion to children at theii- baptism, as was customary,
' thus using the Eucharist as a medicine for infants whether

sick or well,' but to communicate alone, leaving the children

until they had reached a knowledge of good and evil.' Another

' After the death of Peter, Theodosius was the first to take the oath to

Catherine, but one day, on his carriage being refused admission to the palace,

he was unable to restrain himself, abused the sentinel, and burst out in invec-

tives against the Empress and Menshikof. Other speeches of his, in thp

Synod, were reported, in wjiioh he ascribed the death of the Tsar to his evil

lite, and called the Riissian people ' sinful, un-Christian, worse than Turks, and
all barbarians, atheists, and idolaters.' He was arrested, and sent into exile at

a monastery in the extreme north, at the mouth of the Dvina. Subsequently

he was degraded from his episcopal and even his priestly rank, was reduced

to the condition of a simple monk, and confined in such a close and uncom-
fortable cell that he died there in 1726.
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member of the Synod was a Greek priest, Anastasius Kondoides,

who had been connected with the Patriarchate at Constantinople,

and had been a translator for the Porte, but in consequence of

services rendered to the Russian Legation had been deprived of

his positions and had come to Kussia.

One of the great desires of the Tsar was the reform of the

monasteries. He wished to suppress many of those existing,

reduce the number of monks, and render those who remained

useful in some degree to the State. A report made in 1T24

showed that there were then 14,534: monies and 10,6Y3 nuns.

The regulations for this purpose were well adapted to bring

about the result without too much disturbance, and might have

had gi'eat effect had not the death of Peter caused them to fall

into desuetude. In order that religious service might be carried

on properly and decorously, at least thirty monks were obliged

to reside in each monastery. Monasteries not containing so

many were to be turned into parish churches and schools, and

the monks sent to other cloisters. It was forbidden under

heavy penalties to administer the vows to any nobleman, any

official of the Government, no matter what his rank, to anyone

who could not read or write, to any minor, any citizen or any

peasant without special permission. This covered nearly all

classes of society, and the only persons excepted were priests

who had lost their wives, and could therefore, according to the

doctrines of the Eastern Church, no longer perform service. It

can easily be seen that if this regulation had been strictly

carried out, the number of monasteries would soon have become
very small.

In a decree of 1723 with regard to the monasteries the Tsar

gives a brief history of monachism, and continues: 'When
some Greek Emperors, not reverencing their rank, began to be
hypocrites, and their wives worse, they began to construct mon-
asteries, even in the cities, and bestow wealth upon them, so

that many people lived in idleness, and in this way the Emper-
ors caused much harm to themselves and their people. On the

Bosphorus, between the Black Sea and Constantinople, there

were three hundred monasteries, so that when the Turks be-

sieged Constantinople not more than six thousand warriors

could be found. This gangrene began to spread itself much
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among us under the influence of the Patriarchs. But God did

not deprive even former Kussiau princes of His mercy, as He
did the Greeks, so that they were able to restrain it somewhat.

The northern climate of our country has also not allowed the

monks to get their living without work.'

In religious matters Peter was personally of a tolerant dispo-

sition, and he endeavoured to inculcate toleration in others so

far as the prejudices of the clergy allowed, as we have seen in

the affair of Tveritinof . Two decrees published shortly after

the foundation of the Synod bear witness to this. By one the

validity of Protestant and Catholic baptism is recognised, by

the other marriages are permitted between foreigners and per-

sons belonging to the Russian Church, provided that the chil-

dren be orthodox and that no efforts be made to convert the

orthodox wife or husband. Towards the Dissenters he was for

that day very liberal. A number of refugees had settled upon,

the river Vyga, where they in time formed a noted dissenting

community. Gathering in a rude monastery they had built,

defended by earthworks and cannon, under the leadership of

Daniel Yykiilin and Andrew Denisof, the latter a man of

strong and energetic character, descended from the Princes

Myshetsky, little by little they prospered, but, when in 1702

the Tsar was going from Archangel to the Gulf of Finland,

and passed near their neighbourhood, they were greatly fright-

ened. Some prepared for death, others for resistance, and

others for flight. When the Tsar was told that Dissenters

were living on the Vyga, all he said was :
' Let them live as

they like.' Subsequently, when iron works were being estab-

lished in the woods of Olonetz, he inquired whether among
the Dissenters there were any good and honest smiths, and

added, ' If there are, then let them believe what they will, for if

reason cannot turn them from their superstition, neither fire nor

sword can do it. It is foolish to make them martyrs. They
are unworthy of the honour, and would not in this way be of

use to the State.' They were persuaded, even forced to work
in the Government forges started by General Henning, and

although they complained of the ' yoke ' put upon them, yet

they were on the whole contented to live quietly in the free

practice of their religion. Simeon Denisof, the brother of An-
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drew, was caught by' the spiritual authorities in 1714 and taken

to jS^^ovgorod, where the Archbishop Job was a; man by no

means lenient to Dissenters. The 'Tsar had him brought ' to

Moscow, himself examined him and ordered his release, but

Job for some years yet kept 'him in his clutches. Meanwhile
the Abbot Pitirim was endeavouring by persuasion to induce the

Dissenters of the Volga to return to the fold of the Church.

In this he had a certain amount of success, but he complained

of the many parish priests who, when a registration of the

Dissenters had been ordered, had been bribed to describe them
as orthodox. Their registration had been desired not so much
for the purpose of prosecuting them as, in a spirit of compro-
mise, with the idea of drawing a revenue fron their heresy,

double taxes being imposed upon all Dissenters. After the

formation of the Synod they were exhorted to appear without

fear, state their difficulties of belief, and see whether they could

not be persuaded out of them. !N^aturally enough such measures
had no effect. On the contrary their numbers yearly increased,

more from civil than religious reasons. All the discontented

took refuge among them, dishonest officials, fugitive criminals,

deserters, runaway slaves. The burdens caused by quartering

the militaiy in the peasant villages also had effect in this

way. The more the Government tried to control the move-
ments of the people, the more the masses tried to remove
themselves from this control. The necessity of passports pro-

duced the fabrication of false passports. The numerous wan-
derers in the Eussian land, some half-crazed, some putting on
the air of simplicity to avoid work, kept the Dissenters on the
borders in close commimication with their fellow-believers in

the interior. Books, pictures, relics, loaves of holy bread were
sent from one community to the other, with an organisation

which was almost as perfect as that of the Government itself.

From thousands the Dissenters became hundreds of thousands,
if not millions. Against such as he considered hostile to the
State rather than to the Church, . Peter gave up at times his
tolerant principles. The measures against them became more
frequent and more complicated. It was thought to mark them
out from the body of the population by distinctive signs and I

differences of clothing, but true Dissenters were rather proud 1
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than otherwise of the distinction. At one time the Tsar issued

an order that no more Dissenters sentenced to forced labour

should be sent to Siberia, ' as there were enough of them there

already.' The contest then begun continued through the whole

of Peter's reign, and has never yet ceased.

The reforms in the Church, thanks to Theophan Prokopo-

vitch, seem better thought out and calculated to be more effec-

tive than many other measures introduced by Peter. It is

curious, however, to observe the opinions of Yockerodt, a eon-

temporary, and of Prince Stcherb^tof, who lived a generation

afterwards. Yockerodt says :
' It is still an undecided ques-

tion whether Peter I. acted en ion politique in wishing to edu-

cate his clergy and bring them out of their previous barbarism

and ignorance, and whether if he had succeeded in it he and his

posterity would not have found it much harder to carry out

their future designs, especially if they conflicted with the clerical

interests. At least there are sensible people of this opinion,

that he could scarcely have brought his reforms so far if he had

to deal with a more adroit clergy, who had known how to win

tlie love and respect of the people, and use them rightly for

their own interests.' Prince Michael Steherbatof, in the curious

manuscript (written in 1788) which he left on the Deprawation

ofMorals in Hussia—which he chiefly ascribes to the innova-

tions of Peter—after praising his action with regard to cutting

off beards, the eradication of superstition, the indulgence for

eating meat during the fasts, and in general the Spiritual Keg-
ulation, says : ' What did he effect by this ? Only that in root-

ing out superstition from the unenlightened people, he at the

same time rooted out belief in the law of God. . . . The pro-

hibition of superstitious practices brought harm to the very

foundations of faith. Superstition was lessened, but faith was
also lessened. A servile fear of hell disappeai-ed, but the love

of Godj and of His holy law also disappeared. Morals which
had rested upon faith in the absence of enlightenment, by los-

ing this support began to be depraved.'

Enough has been said about Peter's desire to spread educa-

tion in Kussia to render details superfluous. We know of his

efforts to found schools, to establish libraries and museums, to

translate and print useful books. We can only state that the
Vol. II.—36
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result was very meagre. Peter remained alone in his desire

for education. He met with little response from his subjects.

There was of course no thought then of popular schools. What
Peter desired was the acquisition of a practical knowledge, that

he might have better officers, better officials, better priests, and

better workmen. Though youths and young men were drafted

into schools to study geometry and engineering, though others

were sent abroad to study, yet not aU profited by their oppor-

tunities. We learn in various ways that the conduct of the

Kussian students abroad was by no means satisfactory, whether

in their studies or in their morals. Some refused to study at

all. Golovin, for instance, shut himself up for four years in

his room at Venice, and came home as ignorant of Italian and

the navy as when he left. The navy long lacked educated

officers, and in its general decline after Peter's death even those

who could be of service found it better to seek a career in an-

other direction. Many hundreds of artisans returned in the last

years of Peter's reign, after having passed some years abroad,

and becoming tolerably skilled in their work ; but they were

soon lost in the crowd of the ignorant. In the higher classes of

society the foreign education, whether received abroad or in

Hussia by means of tutors, succeeded in creating a school of

polite and skilled diplomatists and statesmen, and gave a tone

to Russian society which still exists. This, howevei', was not

exactly what Peter desired, for the young nobles learnt the

vices as well as the virtues of western civilisation; and the

history of Russian society, like that of some other countries,

shows that a foreign education is by no means the best to make
good servants of their country. In a patriotic sense that edu-

cation is best which begins at home.'

' Solovief , xri., xviii. ; Bruckner, Peter der Orosse; Vockerodt; Pekir-

sky, Science and Literature in M'ussia under Peter the Great, St. Petersburg,

1862 ; T. Samftrin, Stephen Tavdrsky and TheopMn Prokbpomtch, Moscow,
1880 ; "F. Tern6fsky, ' Stephen Yav6rsky,' in Old and New Buam,, 1879

;

Bant^sh-Kamensky, Dictionary.
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THE ALAND CONGRESS. THE PEACE OF NYSTAD. 1718-1721.

The negotiations for peace arranged between Baron Goertz

and Prince Kur^n at Loo, in the summer of 1717, did not

begin within the two or three months that the Tsar had hoped.

He had promised Abo in Finland as the place for the confer-

ence, while Goertz preferred Oregrund in Sweden, and as a

compromise they had agreed upon the village of Lofo, near

Bomarsund, on the island of Aland. Baron Goertz and Count
Gyllenborg were the Swedish, and General Bruce and the

Councillor Osterman (both foreigners by birth), were the Rus-

sian plenipotentiaries. The latter set out at the beginning of

January (1718), and on reaching Abo put themselves in com-

munication with the Swedes, but owing to delays of various

kinds, even the ice for some time preventing communications,

it was already May 23 before the first conference was held.

The Russians, who were in possession of the island, had toni

down several large houses of pastors and Government officials

in the neighbouring villages, and constructed with these materials

at Lofo two large wooden houses for the plenipotentiaries and
their numerous attendants. The Swedes had as secretary

Stambke, a Holsteiner, and in their suite six cavaliers of good
family, two secretaries and sixty- seven servants, besides lifty-

seven soldiers, fifty-three horses, &c., and to make an impres-

sion on the Russians, Goertz is said to have borrowed the silver

and table ware of the Duke of Holstein. The Russians were

much more modest. To avoid ceremonies and formalities Peter

had suggested that two rooms should be taken in the same
house, one by each side, then the partition wall be taken down,
and thus both Russians and Swedes could sit each in their own
apartment and without ceremony carry on the conference, such
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having been the method observed at the negotiations for the

treaty of Carlowitz.

The conditions which Bruce and Osterman were instructed

to propose were : 1st. The cession by Sweden of Ingria,

Livonia, Esthonia, including E.eval, and Karelia, as well as the

city of Viborg. 2nd. The restitution to Sweden of Finland

beyond the river Kymmene. 3rd. The freedom for commercial

purposes of the straits and inlets of the Finnish coast. 4th.

Freedom of trade between the two countries. 5th. The recog-

nition of Augustus II. as King of Poland and peace between

Sweden and Poland. 6th. The cession of Stettin to the King
of Prussia. 7th. The King of Denmark to be included in the

treaty if he should be willing to give up all Swedish territory

that he had conquered. 8th. The King of England, as Elector

of Brunswick, to be included if he wished to make an honour-

able peace within six months.

The conditions of the Tsar were in general well enough

known to Goertz during the negotiations in Holland, but ap-

parently he had not dared to state them fully to his master.

He was satisfied with having obtained the consent of Charles

to negotiations, and hoped to lead him gradually to the neces-

sary concessions. Two courses were open, either to make
peace and possibly an alliance with Russia, and use this as a

weapon against the rest of the allies, or to come to an imder-

standing with Hanover, Prussia and Denmark, and isolate

Russia. The lea,ding Swedes, who were all opposed to Goertz,

and who believed the German possessions a source of weakness

to Sweden, preferred the second course ; but Goertz, who set

before Charles that the strength of a monarch lay in his army,

and had done his best to obtain from him money and troops

even at the risk of exhausting the country, hoped that by first

making peace with the Tsar, who was the most dangerous

enemy, he could succeed in retaining for Sweden most of the

German possessions, and perhaps in addition conquer Norway,

and receive Mecklenburg as an indemnity. At the same time

he pulled so many wires that it is with some difficulty we can

see the real drift of his designs. Even on the way from

Holland to Sweden he was engaged in three intrigues, one for a

separate peace between Sweden and Russia, another for a



THE PLANS OF GOEETZ. 405

separate peace between Sweden and Prussia, and a third for a

great European alliance against Russia, headed by Poland and

King Augustus.

Goertz had in his pockets instructions signed by the King,

but they were of such a character that he could not divulge

them without seeing the immediate dissolution of the congress.

They were, in brief, that Russia should restore to Sweden all

the provinces conquered in the war, with everything they had
contained—men, money, provisions, &c.—and should pay, in

addition, a money indemnity for having unjustly begun the war.

The first sessions of the congress were therefore taken up chieflj',

with endeavours on the part of each side to find out just how
far the other was willing to go. The Swedes wished it laid

down as a preliminary that Livonia and Esthonia were to be

returned. The Russians refused to negotiate except on the

basis that Livonia and Esthonia were to be retained. The dis-

pute gradually narrowed down to Reval, without which the

Swedes considered Finland would be of no use to them ; and

equally the Russians could not allow the Swedes to have a port

like Reval, commanding the entrance to the Gulf of Finland.

In private conversations Goertz said a good deal about an equiv-

alent, and there were hints that possibly such an equivalent

might be found in Mecklenburg, as ' the Duke, who was dis-

liked by his subjects, could easily be put somewhere else. In

the middle of June Goertz went back to consult with the King,

and, as he was leaving, Osterman, by instructions, promised

him, in case the treaty were arranged to the satisfaction of the

Tsar, the best sable cloak that could be found in Russia and a

hundred thousand thalers besides.

When Goertz returned in the middle of July he still dis-

puted in the conferences about Reval, Viborg, and Kexholm

;

but privately to Osterman he communicated astounding and

wide-reaching plans, by which Russia was to form a close offen-

sive and defensive alliance with Sweden, and, as equivalent for

the ceded provinces, assist Charles XII. in conquering N^orway,

Mecklenburg, Bremen, Verden, and even parts of Hanover.

Prussia was to give up Stettin and receive part of Poland ; Po-

land was to be occupied and Stanislas restored. After communi-
cating this project to Osterman Goertz went back to Sweden to
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persuade the King, and, at his suggestion, Osterman -went to St.

Petersburg to consult the Tsar. Goertz did his best with both

Miillem and the Tving. Miillern proposed his old plan of a

separate peace and alliance with England, and added that it

was ' necessary for Sweden to have back Livonia and Esthonia.'
' Good,' said Goertz, ' but there is one little difficulty—that the

Tsar will never give them back. Force him to do so, and

magmos tnihi .eris Ajpollo.'' The King was taken with the

visionary conquests, but nevertheless held to his old ideas, with

a slight concession. The Tsar could keep Ingria and Karelia,

which had once belonged to Russia, but he must ' naturally give

up Livonia, Esthonia, and Finland, which had been conquered in

an unjust war,' and in Poland must remain neutral in the con-

test between Augustus and Stanislas. Goertz went back nearly

hopeless. ' My mission,' he said, ' is to fool the Russians, if

they are big enough fools to be fooled.'

To propitiate Count Gyllenborg Osterman had secured the

I'elease of his brother, a prisoner of war; and to please the

King Field Marshal Pehnskjold was exchanged for General

Golovin and Prince Trubeltskoy. When Rehnskjold stopped at

Lofo, on his way to Stockholm, Osterman did his best to cajole

liim into giving a favourable report of the internal situation of

Russia, and explained to him at length the affair of the Tsar-

evitch Alexis. The Russian plenipotentiaries had thought that

one obstacle to peace was the opinion of the Swedes that

internal disturbances would soon break out in Russia. When
Goertz returned he stated that the King would consent to

peace if the Tsar would bind himself to assist him against Den-
mark. This the Russian plenipotentiaries decidedly refused,

and declared that if the previous conditions were not accepted

during the month of December the congress would not be pro-

longed. Goertz then, giving his word of honour that he would

be back in four weeks, again went to the Norwegian frontier to

consult the King. >

The four weeks passed by, but Goertz did not return. In

the last days of December the servants of Baron Sparre arrived

with intelligence which threw all the Swedes into consternation.

The next day Stambke, who was to a considerable extent under

Russian influence^ came to the Russian plenipotentiaries, asked
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for their protection, and informed them that a courier had ar-

rived at Stockholm ; that the young Duke of Holstein, Baron
Goertz, and all the Holsteiners in Stockholm had been suddenly

arrested ; that all ships at Stockholm were detained, and foreign

correspondence forbidden. For ten days no further news
came; but on January 3, while the Swedish plenipotentiaries

were dining with the Russians, they heard that a Swedish

captain had arrived. Gyllenborg hastened home, while

Stambke, though several times sent for, refused to go, and

spent the night at the Russian headquarters. The next day it

was announced that King Charles had been killed in Norway
at the siege of Fredriksten, that all the Ministers of Holstein

had been arrested, and that the captain had come there to ar-

rest Stambke. As Stambke was protected by the Russians the

captain returned to Stockholm.

Late in the autumn of 1718 King Charles started on an ex-

pedition to !Norway, for which he had been preparing for

several months. He laid siege to the town of Fredrikshall,

situated at the end of one of the long fiords, or rather—for Fred-

rikshall was an open town—to the castle of Fredriksten which

commanded it. On the evening of December 11 he rode to

the outer parallel, and watched with great impatience the

operations of the enemy, who, after it grew dark, by means of

hot shot lighted up the ground and disturbed the operations of

a detachment of his men engaged in bringing a trench nearer

to the walls of the fortress. In spite of the remonstrances of

Maigret, who begged him not to expose himself to such danger,

the King climbed up and leaned on the breastwork with his

chin on his left hand. A group of officers were standing so

close to him that the King's feet almost touched Maigret's

head. Suddenly there was a slight thud, and General Kaul-

hars noticed that the King's left hand, which had supported

his head, fell to his side, and that his head sank upon his

shoulder. Thinking that the King had been shot, he uttered a

cry of hon-or. Maigret pulled the King's cloak, but there was

uo answer, no movement. A musket ball from the fortress had

penetrated his left temple, and the King was dead.'

' In August, 1859, In tte presence of King Charles XV. and of his brother

Osoar (the present King of Sweden, who has published a description of the
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Charles had always been unwilling to make provision for

the succession, and to decide between the conflicting claims of

his nephew, the young Duke of Holstein, and his sister, Ulrica

Eleonora, the wife of the Crown Prince of Hesse-Cassel. The

adherents of the Holstein family were at that moment too dis-

organised to take immediate action. Word was at once sent to

Stockholm of the catastrophe, and Ulrica ascended the throne

without opposition.

One of the first steps taken by the new Government was

the arrest of Goertz and the partisans of the Duke of Holstein,

partly on account of the universal hatred to Goertz in all classes

of the population, and partly from fear lest, if he succeeded in

joining the Duke of Holstein, he would render him valuable

assistance in some enterprise against the throne. Goertz was

then momentarily expected at the camp before Fredriltshall,

an4 the Prince of Hesse therefore sent Colonel Baumgarten, a

faithful adherent of the late King, who was besides a personal

enemy of Goertz, with orders to take him dead or alive. When
Goertz was arrested by Baumgarten near the church of Tanuni,

greatly astonished he asked :
' Does the King still live ?

' to

which Baumgarten replied :
' When I last spoke with him he

was alive.' All his papers and money were seized, and for fear

lest he should commit suicide he was not even allowed to have

a knife and fork for his supper. Goertz passed the night partly

in reading and reflection, partly in writing a short letter to the

King, in which he declared his own devotion and protested

against the intrigues of his enemies. When he delivered the

letter to Baumgarten the next morning he was for the first time

informed of the King's death. In spite of illness he was taken

immediately to Stockholm, and placed in strict confinement.

The hatred of the Queen, the bitterness of the nobles, and the

rage of the common people were so great that the death of

Goertz was demanded either with or without trial, and that

circumstances), the coffin of King Charles XII. was opened. An examination

of the head proved beyond a doubt that the wound which caused the King's

death came from the bullet of an enemy, and that he was not murdered by
one of his own meji, as had often been maintained. See the Official Protocol

in Kongl. Vitterhets HisUym och AntiqmteU Akademiens Handlingar. Ny foljd,

5th Deien, p. 311. Stockholm, 1867.
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most speedily. There were fears lest, if he were tried for high

treason before the high court of justice, he would be acquitted,

for he was not a Swedish subject and had never taken the oath

of allegiance. He was a servant of the King and not of the

State, and his acts had therefore been covered by the absolute

authority of Charles XII. For this reason a special commission

was appointed to try him. He was accused of inspiring the

King with ill-will towards Sweden, of misusing the King's con-

fidence and suggesting to him measures hurtful to the State,

and of encouraging him to continue the war. The whole pro-

ceeding was tinged with illegality and irregularity. Groertz was

not allowed to have counsel, to confront witnesses, or to have

time to defend himself. It had taken three weeks to draw up

the indictment, and he was given three half days to refute it,

during the greater part of which he was incapacitated by illness.

Nevertheless, the trial was finished early in February, 1719,

and Goertz was condemned to be beheaded and to be buried

under the scaffold. Against this last and defamatory clause he

protested, but his protests were as unheeded now as at any time

before. He passed the last days of his imprisonment partly in

reading philosophy, partly in conversation with Pastor Conradi,

and was beheaded on March 3, 1719. Before placing his head

on the block he said :
' You bloodthirsty Swedes, take the blood

you have so long thirsted for.' His head fell at the first blow
;

the executioners placed his body in a coffin and buried it on the

spot. Soon afterwards, when the whole town was occupied

with the stately funeral pageant of Charles XII., his servants

profited by the occasion to take up his body and send it to his

family. Among the mottoes and inscriptions which he wrote

on the wall of his prison is his epitaph, which almost makes

one forget the misery which his advice unquestionably brought

upon Sweden :

—

A la veille de oonclure un grand traits de paix mon h^ros perit.

Le Eoyaume aveo lul.

Et moi aussi.

C'est toujours mourir en grande compagnie,

Quand on meurt avec son roi et sa patrie.

After the news of the death of Charles XII. Osterman went

back to St. Petersburg, while Bruce remained. Late in Febru-
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ary, he received from Count Gyllenborg a letter from the

Queen, addressed to the Tsar, stating that she hoped for the re-

newal of peace between Kussia and Sweden, and desired the

prolongation of the congress ; that instead of Baron Goertz, she

would send Baron Lilienstedt. The arrival of Lilienstedt was

delayed, and from the conversation of Gyllenborg, who said

that the Russians should now give easier terilis of peace, Bruce

came to the opinion that the Swedish Government desired

merely to drag out the congress with other objects in view. At
the end of March, he was therefore instructed to demand the

Swedish intentions with regard to the renewal of negotiations
;

to declare that Kussia would not consent to carry them on with-

out the presence of a Prussian plenipotentiary, and that the

Tsar would not abate one jot of his former demands ; but, that

if the Swedes desired at the same time a treaty of alliance,

Kussia would be willing to enter into one, and would assist the

Swedes in any way it desired, or, in consideration of the ces-

sion of Livonia, would pay within two years a million of

rubles. At the same time the Brigadier Lefort was sent to

Stockholm to convey the proper regrets at the death of Charles

XII., and to congratulate Queen Ulrica on her accession to the

throne. He was instructed to demand the immediate departure

of Lilienstedt for Aland, and to threaten that if there were
further delay the Tsar would take such measures as the state of

affairs demanded. By the middle of April, Osterman had re-

turned to Aland, and there was a new meeting of the congress.

Gyllenborg, the only Swedish plenipotentiary present, de-

manded that new propositions of peace should be presented by
Eussia, as they could not agree to the former ones, the general

opinion in Sweden being that it was better to continue the war
than to accept the terms offered. Osterman and Bruce recom-

mended to the Tsar the employment of force, as there seemed
to be no probability of coming to an agreement with Sweden,
and there were evident signs that Sweden and other powers
were attempting to detach Prussia from the Russian alliance,

even at the sacrifice of the Swedish possessions in Germany.
Lilienstedt arrived at Lofo in the beginning of June. But
affairs made no better progress. The Swedes refused to allow

the presence of Mardefeld, the Prussian plenipotentiary,
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without further instructions, and these instructions did not

arrive. They spoke of the advantage which it would be to

Sweden to make peace first with the other powers, and hinted

at alliances which had been made in Europe against Russia.

With the design, therefore, of showing that he had no in-

tention of being deceived, and of reminding the Swedes that

the war was not over, and that no armistice had been signed,

the Tsar resolved on sending an expedition to the Swedish

coast; and in July, Major-General Lacey, with a fleet of thirty

ships, a hundred and thirty galleys, and a hundred small boats,

burned the town of Osthammer and Oregrund, a hundred and

thirty-five villages, forty mills, sixteen storehouses, and nine

iron works. A great, quantity of iron, forage, and provisions,

which coTild not be taken away, was thrown into the sea.

Admiral Apraxin landed at Yaxholm, close to Stocldiolm, and

devastated the neighbourhood. The booty taken by the Kussians

was estimated at more than a million of thalers, and the injury

done to Sweden at twelve millions. The Cossacks went to

within half a mile of Stockholm. Hoping on the impression

that this expedition would produce, Osterman was sent to

Stockholm under a fiag of truce for a decisive reply, and re-

turned with a letter in which the Queen offered the Tsar Narva,

Reval, and Esthonia, but demanded the return of Finland and

Livonia. Two senators hostile to Russia, Taube and De la Gar^

die, in very unfriendly and uncomplimentary expressions,'

blamed to Osterman the conduct of the Tsar in sending his

Minister with propositions of peace while his arms were ravag-

ing
,
the country, boasted of the merit of their troops, and said

they would never be compelled to peace. The Prince of Cassel

and the Queen were also indisposed to peace, and spoke also in

severe terms of the inconsistency of coming with propositions

of peace, while the Russian troops were burning houses and

villages in the neighbourhood of Stockholm. In his conversa-

tions with many of the Swedish nobles, Osterman became con-

vinced that there was a strong feeling against peace at the

expense of the Baltic provinces, and that even many who before

had been inclined to peace were indisposed to it now, because

they had been embittered by the ravages of the Russian troops.

On September 1, Peter sent his plenipotentiaries an order
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to continue the congress for a week longer, in expectation of

the arrival of Ministers from Sweden, or of new instructions

to Lilienstedt, but if within that time the Russian propositions

were not accepted, to break up the congress and return home.

Immediate information of this order was sent to Stockholm,

and shortly afterwards Lilienstedt declared to the Russians that

he had received instructions from the Queen to refuse peace on

the conditions offered. The Swedes offered three weeks for

accepting their ultimatum, but the Russians declined it, and

thus the Aland congress came to an end.

The reasons for the rupture of negotiations were soon seen

when the news came of a treaty between Hanover and Sweden.

The other plan now predominated at Stockholm. It was

thought that by the assistance of England, separate treaties

could be made with the allies, and Russia be isolated. Such,

indeed, proved to be the case ; but Sweden, nevertheless, got

no easier terms. The relations between the Tsar and King

George had for some time been delicate, and the growing dis-

like of the sovereigns was perhaps aggravated by the despatches

of their Ministers. "Weber reported from St. Petersburg that

the ill-will of the Tsar was shown on manj' occasions, and espe-

cially as respected the adherents of the Pretender. Several

Jacobites had come to Russia, and had found service there,

owing to the friendly interference of Erskine, the Tsar's physi-

cian. They found opportunity to talk of the Pretender's

cause, and Erskine himself naturally had an influence upon

the Tsar in embittering him against King George. Sinclair,

who had come with a mission from the Pretender, obtained

through Erskine permission to accompany the Tsar on his

cruise to Abo, in the autumn of 1718, when he doubtless was

able to state his master's case. The result of this was that in

one of his letters to Osterman, the Tsar said :
' If the Swedes

say anything about the Pretender, and ask aid for him, you
may say as your own opinion that we would not refuse to help

him, and would be even willing to insert a special article on the

subject.' "Weber had protested against the favour shown to

Jacobites at St. Petersburg, but received a rude rebuff, and was
told that he was accredited merely as Resident of the Elector

of Hanover, and therefore had no business to talk about Eng-
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Hsh matters. If the King had any complaints to make, let him
accredit him properly as representative of England, or send
some one else. In fact, Jeffreys, who had at one time been
in Stockholm, then came out as English Eesident. Bern-

storf and his friends, with their old grudge about Mecklen-
burg, lost no opportunity of indisposing King George against

the Tsar, and Yeselofsky, the Russian Minister, lost no oppor-

tunity of reporting disagreeable incidents. In the summer of

1719 he perceived that the English were drawing nearer to

Sweden, sought an interview on the subject with Lord Stan-

hope, and told him that if England should conclude even a

defensive alliance with Sweden, it would be looked upon as a

declaration of war against Russia. Stanhope replied with

complaints against the reception given to the emissaries of the

Pretender, and spoke also of the restrictions upon the English

trade with Sweden. It was replied that the restrictions on
trade with Sweden had been imposed only after Sweden had
forbidden trade with Russia. (It was very evident that the

commercial restrictions which England insisted upon when her-

self at war, did not at all suit her when she was a neutral

power.) If Sweden should remove her restrictions on Russian

trade, Russia was ready to do the same. Stanhope said that,

as England had rendered important services to the Tsar during,

the war, some attention might be paid to her interests. ' What
services has England rendered Russia in the present war ?

'

asked Yeselofsky. ' England,' said Stanhope, ' has allowed the

Tsar to make great conquests, and establish himself on the

Baltic, and besides that has sent her fleet and assisted his un-

dertaldngs.' 'England,' answered Yeselofsky, 'allowed His
Majesty to make conquests because she had no means of pre-

venting him, though she had no wish to aid him, and from
.circumstances was obliged to remain neutral. She sent her

fleet to the Baltic for the protection of her own trade, and to

defend the King of Denmark in consequence of treaty obliga-

tions with him.' In order to appease England, the Tsar, who
had never been able to blockade the Swedish coast, withdrew
his restrictions as to English and Dutch vessels. Yeselofsky

tried to work upon the English merchants, for there was a gen-

eral feeling among the commercial classes that the country was
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on the brink of war with Rnssia. Lord Stanhope told a depu-

tation of the Russian Company that there was no danger in

sending their ships, but they still thought it best to consult the

Russian Minister, who gave them to understand that there was

a great deal of danger, but that it depended entirely upon their

own Government, as the Tsar was well disposed. At a special

meeting of the Company, the majority decided that the answer

of their own Government was sufficiently decisive, and no fur-

ther representation was made. In July, Admiral !Norris and

his fleet appeared in the Baltic. In consequence of what he

had heard, the Tsar thought it best to inquire for what pur-

pose he had come, and vsdshed to be assured that he had no

hostile intentions, for otherwise he could not allow him to ap-

proach his coasts. Norris replied from Copenhagen, in a some-

what indefinite letter, that he had already explained himself on

the subject to Veselofsky. Just before the breaking up of the

Aland Congress, Captain Berkeley arrived at Lofo with letters

addressed to the Tsar, from Admiral Norris and Lord Carteret,

the English Minister at Stockholm, the substance of which was

that the queen of Sweden had accepted the mediation of Eng-

land in the conclusion of a peace between Russia and Sweden,

that she had done this because England had taken no part in

the ISTorthern "War, and hoped that it would be accepted by the

Tsar and that hostilities would cease ; that Admiral Norris and

the fleet had been ordered not only to protect' British trade, but

to support the mediation, and that His Majesty, together with

the King of France, and his other allies, among whom was

Sweden, had taken measures that his mediation should obtain

the desired success, and that the war which had so long dis-

turbed the JSforth should be soon ended. Bruce and Osterman,

finding the action of the English Minister and Admiral very

unusual and insolent, refused to forward the letters, expressing

the hope that the King of England, in a matter of such impor-

tance, would either write personally to the Tsar, or commu-
nicate through his Resident at St. Petersburg. On this, King
George withdrew from St. Petersburg both Weber and Jeffreys.

It was, indeed, too much to expect that the Tsar would accept

the mediation of the King of England, who, as such, was an

ally of Sweden, and who, as Elector of Brunswick, had been
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one of his own allies in the war, and towards whom he had

unfriendly feelings. The method taken by Yeselofsky of

printing a memorial addressed to the King, which of course

called out a reply, was not calculated to bring about more

friendly feelings. The preliminaries had been settled in July,

and on November 20, 1719, George, as Elector of Hanover,

made a formal treaty with Sweden, by which he obtained

Bremen and Yerden on the payment of a million thalers ; as

King of Great Britain, about two months afterwards (February

1, 1720), he concluded an alliance with Sweden, by which Eng-

land bound herself to pay a subsidy of three hundred thousand

thalers a year during the rest of the. war, assist her in order

to prevent the predominance of Russia in the Baltic with a

fleet, and help the conclusion of a favourable peace. Hence-

forth the English-Hanoverian policy as regards Russia devo-

ted itself to isolating the Tsar, by forcing his allies to make
separate treaties, and by creating ill-feeling in other coun-

tries.

In Yienna there was a fair field. The feelings between the

two countries had been excited by the difficulties with regard

to the Tsarevitch Alexis, and especially by the demanded re-

call of Pleyer, in consequence of which the Russian Resident,

Abraham Yeselofsky, was sent for by the Chancellor, Count
Schonborn, and told that, as the Tsar had forbidden Pleyer to

appear at court, it was evident that there was no further need
of a Resident, and that he would therefore be kind enough to

quit Yienna within eight days, and as soon as possible after

that leave the country. Yeselofsky, frightened by the affair of

the Tsarevitch, and thinking himself in some way compro-

mised, subsequently disappeared, and apparently took with him a

large sum of money which had been given him for secret ser-

vice. He never returned to Russia, and for years after Rus-

sian agents were in quest of him, with instructions to bring him
home ' at any cost,' but during the lifetime of the Tsar nothing

was discovered about him. It seems that after concealing him-

self in Cassel and in England, he subsequently went to Geneva,

where he married a lady of good family and died in 1780 at

the age of ninety-seven. In return for the dismissal of Yesel-

ofsky the Tsar expelled from Russia the Jesuits, who had been
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winked at for the last twenty years." When it was believed at

St. Petersburg that the Emperor was acting against Eussia in

Turkey and elsewhere, the Tsar desired to renew relations.

First Weisbach, in 1720, was sent to Vienna, and subsequently

Yaguzhinsky, neither of whom were successful in their mis-

sions, but it was not for some time that an Austrian Minister

was sent to St. Petersburg.

Through the management of Bernstorf, assisted by Count

Flemniing, who had got wind of the possibility of Augustus

being thrown over for Stanislas in Poland, a secret alliance

was made in January, 1T19, between the courts of Vienna, Han-
over, and Dresden, directed against both Russia and Prussia,

particularly the latter. The cases where interference might be

Invoked were all plainly set down, and among them was the de-

fence of Curland as a fief of Poland. Rumours of this treaty

soon got abroad and caused great alarm in Berlin. A treaty

had been made in December, 1717, for the marriage of the wid-

owed Duchess of Curland, the Tsar's niece, to the Prince John
Adolphus of Saxe-Weissenfels, a relative of King Augustus,

who would be appointed Duke of Curland, but the King
neglected to send the ratifications in the time agreed. The
Tsar got very angry, broke off the affair, and accepted a pro-

position from the King of Prussia for a marriage with his cousin,

the Margrave Frederick William of Brandenburg-Schwedt,

who had already some claims to Curland. King Frederick

William, who had hoped ultimately to secure Curland for him-

self, did not like the new look-out caused by the alliance, and

negotiations not having been pressed vigorously of late, he was

much delighted when the Margrave, while submitting to his

will, said that he preferred one of the King's own daughters.

This it was thought would be a good excuse for breaking off the

match.'' One of the first results of the Vienna alliance was

' An explanation was made to the Pope that this measure was simply one

of retaliation against the Emperor, and was not intended to aSect the position

of the Catholics in Kussia. Subsequently, the Catholic Churches were al-

lowed to receive none except French priests. Communications with the

Holy See were at this time made through Admiral Zmaievitch, of the Russian

navy, and his brother, the Archbishop of Zara. See Theiner, pp. 468, 517.

^ A new contract was signed in December, 1723, substituting the Margrave

Max Charles, but this also failed.
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that the Elector of Hanover, as head of the lower Saxon circle,

was instructed by the Emperor to send a body of troops into

Mecklenburg, and compel the submission of the Duke, who
fled to Berlin, hoping vainly to find assistance. A small fight

took place in which the Mecldenburgers were beaten, the Eus-

sians having received orders at once to retire from, the country.

S^othing remained to the Duke then but his fortress of Domitz.

But after the execution was made the Hanoverian troops re-

fused to retire, which gave great anxiety at Berlin, as it ap-

peared evidently the intention of the Elector immediately to

annex Mecklenburg to his own dominions. Loi-d Whitworth
was now sent to Berlin as English Minister, with instructions

to force the Prussians to a treaty both with Hanover and

England, looking ultimately to a peace with Sweden. The
English Ministers had begun to get the upper hand of Bern-

storf, and they saw the ambitious aims which Hanover had

with regard to Prussia, as well as the very interested views

which Bernstorf had for himself, not only for his three villages

on the Elbe, which he was desirous of subtracting from Prus-

sian rule and annexing to Hanover—which indeed had been

put into the treaty of 1Y16, but had never yet been carried

out—but his desires also, as Stanhope wrote, 'to get for

himself certain balliages situated about Wismar.' In a previous

letter of Lord. Stanhope to Sunderland he spoke of 'old Bern-

torf's project ' to break off with Russia. ' I think never any

scheme was framed so impracticable, so dishonourable, nor so

pernicious as what this old man has in his head.' King Fred-

erick William, who was intrinsically an honest man, was much
troubled by the English propositions. He considered himself

bound to the Tsar—he had signed a new alliance as late as

August, 1718—^yet he saw difficulties on every side, and ad-

vantages in accepting the English alliance. He tried to con-

vince himself that nothing in this would be harmful to the

Tsar's interests, and endeavoured to impress this upon Count

Gol6fkin, for he was frank enough to relate the whole nego-

tiations to the Russians and to tell the English that he should

do so. The Tsar in alarm sent Tolstoi to Berlin, as the only

man capable of dealing with the situation. Tolstoi gave the

Prussians at once to understand that if Prussia made an alii-
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ance with England in which Bussia should not be included,

he would at once leave Berlin, and it would be considered as a

breach of friendly relations. The pressure, however, was too

great, and at last, after many hesitations, the King was induced

to sign (June, 1719) a treaty with Hanover and also one with

England, in which was included the project of a treaty with

Sweden. He absolutely refused to sign an article in favour of

Poland as against Russia, and insisted on accompanying the

treaty with a declaration that he considered himself bound by
nothing in it against the interests of the Tsar, and that he

signed it only on condition that the English should immediately

enter into negotiations for a treaty with Russia, in which he was

prepared to act the part of mediator.' The arrangement with

Sweden was concluded in a separate article to the English pre-

liminaries signed at Stockholm on August 29, 1719, by which

Sweden gave up Stettin, the district between the Oder and the

Peene, and the islands of Usedom and WoUin on payment of

two million thalers. The amount of money Prussia fought

against for a long time, not wishing to pay more than a mil-

lion, including what had previously been advanced. The final

treaty was not concluded until February 1, 1720, but practically

all the difficulties between Prussia and Sweden were settled by
these preliminaries. When the Tsar found that the treaty was

' A memorandum of King Frederick William, dated Jul}' 23, is interesting,

as showing his conflicting emotions. ' Would to God that I had not promised

to conclude the treaty. It is an evil spirit which has moved me. Now we
shall be ruined, which is what my false friends wish. May God take me from

this evil world before I sign it, for here on earth there is nothing but falsehood

and deceit. I will explain to Golofkin that I must wear the cloak on both

shoulders. To have the Tsar at hand is my interest, and if I give him money
I can have as many troops as I wish. The Tsar will make just such a treaty

with me. With the English everything is deceit, just as in the most rascally

way they deceived me in 1715. I pray God to stand by me If I must play an

odd part, but I play it unwillingly, for it is not one for an honest man. I

sign the treaty, but I shall not keep it, and shall then, if I throw away the

mask, tell the whole world how false friends have treated me.' He ends by
ordering this document to be placed in the archives, ' to teach my successors to

guard against accepting such friends, and not to followmy wicked, Godless max-
ims in this treaty, but to stick by friends that one once has, and to turn away
from false friends. Therefore I exhort my posterity to keep still a stronger

army than I have ; on this I shall live and die.' Droysen, Pnedrich WUhdm
/., i., 366.
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really signed, he thought it best to accept the situation and get

what he could from King Frederick William's professions of

friendship. He easily induced the King to sign a declaration

(June 26, 1720) that, in spite of the peace with Sweden, he
would never interfere against Russia, nor touch territories con-

quered by Russia outside of the German Empire.

What was disagreeable both to Russia and Prussia was the

idea strongly brought forward of reviving the Brunswick con-

gress, and submitting all the peace arrangements to the official

revision of the Emperor, on the ground that they might con-

cern lands in Germany. The programme of the congress de-

vised by England and the Emperor was indeed remarkable. It

being considered detrimental to Sweden to possess territory in

Germany, the Swedish provinces in the Empire were to be dis-

tributed as follows: Bi-emen and Yerden to Hanover, Sji-alr

sund and Rugen to Denmark, Stettin and dependencies to Prus-

sia, Wismar to Poland, in addition to a million and a half

thalers to be paid by Hanover, Denmark, and Prussia ; Rostock
to be a free Imperial city. The Duke of Holstein-Gottorp was
to be restored, but Tonning not to be restored and no more
fortresses to be built. The nobility of Mecklenburg were to

keep their privileges. Curland was to go back to Poland,

Sweden was to receive Livonia, Esthonia, and Finland, ceding

to the Russians only St. Petersburg, Cronstadt, and l^arva.

In case the Tsar refused this concession and force had to be
used, he was to be deprived of all his conquests and also made
to cede Smolensk and Kief to Poland. Verily folly could no
further go.

In the distracted state of Poland it was comparatively easy
for the Russians to keep the upper hand by dissensions, and by
threats of new confederations against King Augustus, and thus

prevent the Republic from becoming also a party to the Vienna
alliance. It was therefore all the easier for King Augustus to

be persuaded to sign preliminaries of peace which were to have
the effect of a treaty with Sweden (January 7, 1720), on the

basis of the peace of Oliva, as neither State had any demands
to make, and there was question of nothing more than a mutual
recognition. Stanislas was to retain the royal title, and King
Augustus agreed to give a million thalers.
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Denmark, although during the summer of 1718 it had been

. comparatively successful in the war against Sweden and in the

protection of Norway, yet had no money, and was easily influ-

enced by the great naval power of England. The trouble was

to find something which Sweden could yield, which would at the

same time satisfy Danish demands. An armistice was made
October 30, 1719, and nine months afterwards, July 14, 1720,

a regular treaty was signed, by which Sweden renounced the

freedom from the Sound tolls which she had enjoyed since

1645, paid six hundred thousand thalers for the restitution of

the Danish conquests in Pomerania and Norway, and bound

herself no longer to support the Duke of Holstein-Gottorp.

France and England agreed to guarantee to Denmark the con-

tinual possession of the Ducal-Gottorp part of Slesvig, in con-

sequence of which the whole country, with the exception of

Gliicksburg, came under Danish rule (1721).

The activity of the hostile courts was visible even in places

so remote as Constantinople and Madrid. There being rumours

that the Avistrians and the English were endeavouring to excite

the Porte to hostilities against Russia, the Tsar, in 1719, sent

thither Alexis D^shkof. The English Ambassador came near

pi-eventing his reception, spied out his every movement, and

reported unfavourably about him to the Grand Yizier. In the

end he succeeded in maintaining peace, although foreign influ-

ence caused the rejection of a project for a closer alliance.

Even this modified success he owed to some extent to the

French Ambassador, the Marquis de Bonac. In Spain there

was a plan devised by Cardinal Alberoni to form a counter-

league to that of France, England, and Germany. For this

purpose negotiations were carried on at the Hague between

Marquis Beretti and Prince Kurakin, and in Paris between

Prince Cellamare and Baron Schleinitz, for a close alliance with

Kussia and Sweden, and an attack on England in the interests

of the Pretender—the same plan which Goertz had previously

proposed. The death of Charles XII. of course put an end to

these projects. With all their care the negotiations had not

been carried on so secretly in Paris but what the Abbe Dubois

found them out, as he gave Schleinitz very plainly to under-

stand, especially after the arrest of Prince Cellamare. Dubois,
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like a sensible politician, agreed to forget all about the past,

and impressed upon Scbleinitz the advantage of a French medi-

ation with Sweden, and the necessity of making peace as soon

as possible. The Tsar, who had some suspicion that Schleinitz,

as a German, was not qnite agreeable to the French conrt, sent

a special envoy to ascertain the real state of the case, and snb-

seqiiently transferred to that post from Copenhagen Prince

Basil Lukitch Dolgoriiky.

Although England was thus successful in isolating Kussia,

yet Sweden got no real advantage when peace came to be made.
In April, 1720, Lord Stanhope met Yeselofsky at court, and
said to him that, in order that he might have no cause of com-

plaint, he desired to tell him that Admiral Norris had been sent

to the Baltic in virtue of the treaty with Sweden, and that it

depended on Russia to conclude peace or not, and recognise the

English as friends or enemies. He promised a copy of the

treaty and of the instructions to ISTorris, but instead of that sent

to him the next day a repetition of what he had already said,

offering, somewhat curtly, the mediation of England for the

conclusion of peace. On receiving intelligence of this the Tsar

refused to receive any letters addressed to him by Admiral Mor-
ris or Lord Carter«t. l^ot long after the commandant of Keval
received a letter from Admiral Norris to the Tsar, saying that

he had come to offer the mediation of his King for the purpose

of making peace with Sweden. The letter was sent back, and
some correspondence then ensued between Apraxin and Korris,

the upshot of which was that Norris was told that if he brought

credentials to the Tsar he would certainly be received, but other-

wise the further he kept from the guns of the fortress the bet-

ter. The English and Swedish fleets suddenly left in great

haste, for Norris had discovered that the Tsar was not to be
easily frightened, and that while he was making a demonstra-

tion before Eeval, a Russian fleet was devastating the coast of

Sweden without opposition. The Russians penetrated thirty

miles into the country, burnt two towns, forty-one villages, and
over a thousand farmhouses. Peter wrote to Taguzhinsky

:

' Our party, under the command of Brigadier von Mengden, has

invaded Sweden, and has safely returned to our shores. It is

true that although no very great loss was inflicted on the enemy,
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yet, thank God, it was done under the eyes of their allies, who
were not able to hinder it.' At the same time Golltsyn defeated,

a Swedish fleet and captured four frigates. People in England

laughed loudly at the fleet which was sent to defend Sweden

and could not protect the shores from the Kussians, and the

English Government said nothing more about mediation. This

was then left to France. With the continuance, however, of

the bad policy which had marked his predecessor, Eestiizhef-

Kidmin, who had been sent to London, published a memorial

addressed to the King, the object of which was to show that

the King was entirely influenced by German interests, and op-

posed to English ones, and violently accused Bernstorf and his

Hanoverian colleagues. Bestuzhef was ordered to leave Eng-

land within a week. Faithful to his policy of showing that his

quarrel was with the King and not with England, the Tsar, in-

stead of retaliating, declared to the English merchants in Bus-

sia that they could still remain and trade without danger, as if

nothing had occurred.

Meanwhile, in May, 1720, the Swedish General von Wirten-

berg arrived at St. Petersburg to announce the election and

accession of King Frederick, the husband of Queen Ulrica, and

to say that Sweden would be ready to consider proposals of

peace. Alexander Bumiantsof was sent with a reply to Stock-

holm in August, and, in consequence perhaps of the recent at-

tack on the coast, was received with great amiability. It was

speedily arranged, through the intervention of the French Min-

ister, M. de Campredon, that negotiations should be opened,

not at Abo, as had been proposed, for -there were all the Rus-

sian magazines, but at Nystad, further to the north. The Eus-

sian plenipotentiaries were Bruce and Osterman, the former of

whom had been made a Count, and the latter a Baron ; the

Swedish were Count Lilienstedt and Baron Stromfeld. The
conferences at Nystad began on May 9, 1T21. At flrst there

were difliculties, becaiise the Swedes seemed to think that they

ought to have easier terms than had been offered to them at

the Aland congress. They were astonished that the permanent

cession of Livonia was now demanded, when the Russians had

previously been willing to consent to a temporary occupation

for forty years. ' That proposition was made to prevent the
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conclusion of a treaty between Sweden and England,' answered

Bruce. Negotiations lingered ; an English fleet again appeared

in the Baltic, and again did not succeed in preventing General

Lacy from landing five thousand troops on the Swedish coast,

and burning Sundsval, two other towns, nineteen parishes,

seventy-nine estates, and five hundred and six villages with

more than five thousand houses.' The Swedish plenipotentiar

ries immediately became more amenable, although they still

held out for Viborg as well as for Pernau and the island of

Oesel. They yielded Livonia only on condition that the Tsar

should not intervene in the affair of the" Duke of Holstein.

This he agreed to do, but he did not consider that this would

prevent a marriage with his daughter.

It was on September 14, when Peter had already left St.

Petersburg for Viborg, that he met a courier from l^ystad,

bringing him the agreeable news that a treaty had at last been

signed on September 10. The main articles were those for

which the Tsar had so long contended. Livonia, Esthonia, In-

gria, and part of Karelia, with the district of Viborg, were ceded

'in perpetuity to Russia.' This expression was inserted in

order to prevent any claims to Livonia on the part of Poland.

Finland, except the district of Viborg, was to be restored to

Sweden, and according to all accounts it was in a very sad state,

the inhabitants having been ruined by the exactions of the

soldiery. Russia was to pay to Sweden two million thalers in

instalments to extend over four years. Sweden was to have the

right to purchase grain free of export duty at Riga, Reval, and

Arensburg, to the amount of fifty thousand rubles yearly, ex-

cept in those special cases where the export of grain was entirely

forbidden. The inhabitants of the conquered provinces were

to have all the rights they enjoyed under Swedish rule, and the

free exercise of their religion. Proprietors of estates were to

' Prince Kurakin wrote from the Hague in April of a letter from King
George to the King of Sweden, saying that the English fleet, according to agree-

ment, was ready to enter the Baltic, but begging the King of Sweden to take

into consideration the position of affairs in Europe and try to conclude in some
way a peace with Russia. England could no longer spend so much money in

sending out squadrons; that the present fleet cost over 600,0002., and on ac-

count of its condition, all that Admiral Norris could do would be to cover

Sweden from hostile attacks, for he could not take the offensive.
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regain them on proving their ownership. All prisoners of war

were to be released without ransom, except those who wished of

their own accord to remain." The Tsar promised not to intefere

in any way in the internal affairs of Sweden, whether as to the

form of government or as to the succession. The King and

the Republic of Poland as allies of the Tsar were included in

the treaty, and Sweden promised immediately to send plenipo-

tentiaries to make a separate treaty with them on the basis of

the , present, through the mediation of the Tsar. On the side

of the Swedes, the King of Great Britain was included in the

treaty, with the provision that all personal disputes between

him and the Tsar were to be treated in a friendly way, and if

possible arranged.

Peter wrote his warmest thanks to both Bruce and Oster-

man, and, in sending the news of the treaty to Prince Basil

Dolgordky at Paris, said :
' All scholars in arts usually finish

their course in seven years. Our school has lasted thrice that

time. However, thank God, it is so well finished that better

would be impossible.'

On September 15 there was great excitement at St. Peters-

burg. The Tsar unexpectedly returned from his journey,

firing frequent salutes from the three guns on his yacht, beat-

ing drums and sounding trumpets. A crowd collected at the

Trinity wharf, including all the highest officials, for the mean-

ing was evident. The Tsar was bringing the news of peace.

From his yacht Peter went at once to pray in the Trinity

church. His friends knew what present would be most accept-

able to him, and aU begged him to accept the rank of Admu-al

of the Eed Flag. Meanwhile tubs of wine and beer had been

' Very many Swedes who had married Russians, or who had otherwise

succeeded in establishing themselves during their long imprisonment, pre-

ferred to remain in Russia. General Lewenhaupt had died at Moscow in

1719. Count Piper was very harshly treated ; he was made to give a draft of

fifty thousand rubles as indemnity for four Dutch merchant vessels mistaken

for Swedish at Helsingfors in 1713 and burned. The Swedish Government
forbade the payment of the draft. Count Piper was then arrested and im-

prisoned in Schlusselburg, where he died. Admiral Ehrenskjold was treated

with great consideration, and on his release was given the Tsar's portrait set in

diamonds. Prince Trubetskoy brought back from Sweden a natural son,

who, under the name of Betsky, played an important part at the court of

Catherine II.
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brought out and a platform erected. The Tsar mounted on this

and said to the crowd :
' Rejoice and thank God, oh orthodox

people, that the Almighty Grod has put an end to this long war,

lasting twenty-one years, and has given us a happy and eternal

peace with Sweden.' Saying this, Peter took a cup of wine

and drank to the health of the nation, amid loud cheers, the

firing of the guns of the fortress and of the regiments drawn

up on the square. Twelve dragoons with white scarves over

their shoulders, with banners and laurel wreaths, and accom-

panied by two trumpeters, were sent through the city with the

news of peace. On the 21st there began a great masquerade of

a thousand masks which continued a whole week. Peter was

as merry as a child, danced about the tables and, sang songs.

On October 31st Peter declared in the Senate that, as a mark
of thankfulness for divine mercy, he intended to pardon all

condemned criminals, to free all those indebted to the Govern-

ment, and to forgive the arrears of taxes whicli had accumu-

lated from the beginning of the war to 1718. That same day

the Senate resolved to offer to the Tsar the titles of Emperor,

Father of his Counti-y, and Great. These Peter at first refused,

but at last promised to accept. The same day the French

envoy, M. de Campredon, who had arrived at Cronstadt the

evening before on board a Swedish frigate, was dining with the

commandant of the fortress when the arrival was announced of

the Tsar, who had come to meet him in spite of all laws of

etiquette. Peter went directly to the frigate. Campredon re-

turned at once and found him on deck. The Tsar embraced

him, then paid him many compliments on his diplomatic

success, and showed a lively gratitude for the good ofiices of

France. He then took Campredon to his boat and reviewed

his nineteen vessels of the line, pointing out the merits of each,

whether of build or of ornament. On returning to St. Peters-

burg the Tsar received the envoy in solemn audience, but in

his chancery and not in his palace. He invited the envoy to

accompany him at once to a festival to celebrate the peace, and
hastily left the chancery. Campredon with astonishment saw
him stop in the middle of the street before a sort of cafe, where
he liad made an appointment with the chief dignitaries of the

court and the Empire, place himself at their head, and go iri
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great pomp to the cathedral. He put the envoy in the place of

honour, roughly pushed on one side the chamberlains who pre-

vented him from seeing, and was anxious that he should follow

each phase of the ceremony. He himself directed the liturgy,

sang with the priests, and beat time. After the mass and a

sermon of Theophdn Prokopovitch, who recounted all the re-

markable actions of the Tsar, the Chancellor, Count Golofkin,

delivered a short address in the name of the Senate and the

Holy Synod, begging the Tsar to accept the title of Peter the

Great, Father of his Country, Emperor of all the Kussias. The
Senators thrice cried Vivat ! and the shout was taken up by all

the people inside and outside the church, the bells rang, the

trumpets sounded, the drums beat, and there was a general

salute. Peter replied :
' I greatly wish all our nation directly

to recognise the hand of God in our favour during the last war,

and in the conclusion of this peace. It becomes us to thank

God with all our might, but while hoping for peace we must

not grow weaker in military matters, so as not to have the fate

of the Greek Monarchy. "We must make efforts for the general

good and profit, which may God grant us at home and abroad,

from which the nation will receive advantage.' On leaving the

church the procession formed again and went to the palace of

the Senate, where, in one of the large halls, tables were arranged

for a thousand guests, and where he was congratulated by the

Duke of Holstein-Gottorp, and by the foreign ministers. After

the banquet there was a ball. During the whole evening Peter

was as constant in his polite attentions to the French envoy as

his duties permitted him, for he managed the details of the

festivity, had himself designed the fireworks, and appeared as

much interested in their success as in gaining a battle. At a

given signal the flotilla on the river became illuminated, the

artillery fired a salute, and the temple of Janus was seen with a

fiery statue on each side, one mounted on an eagle representing

Russia, and the other on a lion meant for Sweden. They
closed the doors of the temple and clasped hands as a sign of

reconciliation. After two thousand rubles' worth of powder had
been burned in this way the guests ' drank much,' says Cam-
predon. Healths quickly succeeded one another ; an enormous

basin of wine, ' a true cup of grief,' circulated among the guests,
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carried on the shoulders of two soldiers. There were fountains

of wine at the street corners and the whole town was jolly. On
a platform before the Senate was an ox roasted whole, which
the Tsar carved with his own hands and distributed to the

crowd. He even ate a bit himself, and drank to the health of

the people.

From that day the title of Tsar was disused and the Sover-

eign of Russia became officially known as Emperor. Prussia

and Holland immediately recognised the imperial title. Other
countries, though some of them had previously translated Tsar

by Emperor, made delays and difficulties, chiefly to please the.

German Emperor. The new title was formally recognised by
Sweden in 1723, by Turkey in 1739, by England and the Ger-

man Emperor in 1742, by France and Spain in 1745, and by
Poland not until 1764."

' Solovi^f, xvii. ; Golik6f, vii., viii., ix. ; Journal of Peter the Great;
Droysen, Friedrich Wilhehn I.; Russian Laws; Du Mout, Corps Biplo-

matigue ; Martens, Russian Treaties ; Bassewitz, Eelaircissements ; A. Vandal,

Lmm XV. et Elisabeth de Bussie; Lord Stanhope, History of England.
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THE TSAR'S LIFE AT ST. PETBRSBTTEG.—1717-1724.

At the time of the festivities for the peace of isystad St. Peters-

burg could not show the lines of palaces which now rise so

superbly from the banks of the Neva, not as yet kept in by the

granite quays of Catherine IL, nor did it even present the fine

appearance it did a few years later under the Empress Anne,

when many new buildings had been constructed, and even to

Western eyes it seemed a marvel. Nevertheless the aspect was

very different from that of seven years before, when Weber
found it only a cluster of adjoining villages like the settlements

of the American colonies. St. Petersburg now contained about

a hundred thousand inhabitants,' and presented far more at-

tractions to a stranger. The nucleus of the town was. still to

the east of the fortress near the Trinity church, the official

church for all ceremonies, and here were the Government offices,

the bazaar, and the houses of Gagarin, Golofkin, Shafirof, Zo-

tof, Buturlin, and other nobles, but the city had begun to spread

' The number of houses in St. Petersburg given on page 9, was taken
somewhat rashly from Weber's Neu- Yerandertes Mugsland, and must be greatly

exaggerated. But numbers are always difficult things where statistics are not

attainable. According to the GeograpMcal-8tatMiedlI)ictiona/ry of theJiumiiii

Empire, the number of houses in St. Petersburg in December, 1713, when the

first census was taken, was 1,015, for the most part mere log huts, besides six

churches. In 1740 the number of buildings is stated as 1,740; in 1805 as

7,280. In 1869 the population was 667,026 ; the number of houses 9,109, con-

taining 92,417 separate apartments. The population is given in 1882 at 876.-

575. Taking in general all Russian northern towns which would most nearly

correspond to what St. Petersburg was about 1720, the average number of in-

habitants per house is never less than ten. In the early days of St. Peters-

burg, owing to the way in which soldiers and especially workmen were
crowded together, this average must have been greatly exceeded. After Peter's

death the population decreased fast, and did not come up again until the reign
of Elizabeth.
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on the mainland in the neighbourhood of the Admiralty and up
the river eastward. It was, however, still contained within the

canal of the Mya or Moika. The Admiralty was surrounded

by a deep moat, and was really a place for the construction of

vessels. Further down was what is now called the English

quay and the port for galleys. The immediate vicinity of the

Admiralty was occupied by the foreign and especially the Ger-

man colony of officers and men employed in the army and navy,

as is still shown by the names of the Little Morskdya and the

Great Morskdya, or ]^a,val Street. The Pushkarskaya, or Ar-

tillery Street, has now disappeared. The Nevsky Prospect

existed, but only as a high-road to the Alexander Nevsky mon-

astery, receiving its name from being cut in a straight line

through the woods ; although nearer to the Moika, where there

were meadows, it was edged by a double line of trees. On the

site of the Winter Palace were a number of houses, some of

which might be called palaces, especially that of Admiral Aprax-

in. His house, which was on the corner, built somewhat in

the Italian style with galleries and balconies, would reach now
scarcely to the middle of the second story of the "Winter Palace,

partly because the level of the quay has since been raised.

Xext to this came the houses of Savva Raguzhinsky, General

Yaguzhmsky, Tchernysh^f, and Admiral Cruys, also a large

house, and finally the Winter Palace of the Tsar, only two sto-

ries in height, occupying the corner of what is now the Hermit-

age. The quay was laid up with timber, and piles were driven

under the foundations of the houses, so that they were able to

come pretty close to the water's edge. On the site of the pres-

ent Marble Palace was a large post-house built for the accom-

modation of strangers, and the services of Heinrich Gottleib

Crauss, of Danzig, had been secured as landlord. It contained

a large hall, where the Tsar frequently gave balls, dinners, and

other entertainments, his own palace 'being too small for such

purposes. Between this and the house just mentioned was the

large house of Alexander Kikin, which had been confiscated in

1718, and was now used for storing and exhibiting the library

and the collections of rarities and curiosities purchased at vari-

ous times by the Tsar. In this neighbourhood, too, was the

small palace of the Tsar's sister Katalia, who during her life-
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time had used a portion of it as a house for orphans and poor

women; after her death the whole of it was devoted to that

purpose, especial care being given to foundlings. Opposite the

post-o£Bce, on the Millionaya, or, as it was then called, the Ger-

man Street, was the house built for the elephant sent by the

Shah of Persia, and at that time used for the great Holstein

globe. Beyond the post-house was a long stretch of meadow
and plain, where the troops sometimes paraded, and beyond

that the Summer Garden, where the Tsar had built for himself

a small house still in existence, called the Summer Palace. At
the upper end, separated by a small canal, was the park and

summer palace of Catherine, and further on the Italian Garden.

In these gardens society frequently united in the afternoons

and long evenings of summer, for entertainments of various

kinds. The gardens possessed many old trees, and were planted

with flower-beds, for since the Tsar's stay in Holland he had

developed a fondness for gardening, and was especially fond of

carnations. Across the river, on the Yasily-Ostrof, prepara-

tions had been made by canals and straight streets for construct-

ing a town in the Dutch style. As yet the only house of im-

portance was that of Prince Menshikof, by far the largest in"

St. Petersburg, and really a splendidly furnished palace, with

large wings for his chancery and the persons in his employ, and

behind a garden extending to the other side of the island. Here
MenshUiof received for the Tsar, who liked not too much festiv-

ity in his own smaU house. Peter could always see his lighted

windows of an evening, and when he did not himself visit him
comforted himself with the reflection, 'Danilitch is making
merry.' This house still exists as the Cadets' School. Beyond
this were the dwellings of artisans, and at the upper end of the

island was the palace of the Tsaritsa Prasc6via (after her death

turned into the Academy of Sciences), and the houses of several

nobles. The long line of buildings for the colleges had been

begun, but was not yet finished. It is now the University.

There were no bridges over the river, and even over the

canals they were few and far between. Unless one wished to

make a long way roundabout it was necessary to use a boat

;

and what was especially inconvenient and unpleasant was, that

in order to accustom his subjects to the handling of boats, the
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Tsar had forbidden the use of oars. It was always necessary-

tip sail. Accidents were, of course, frequent, and in bad weather
people were sometimes detained for days in houses where they

had gone as guests, a circumstance which happened several

times even to foreign ministers. The Polish Minister, Von
Konigseck, one of the Tsar's physicians, and several others

were drowned through the carelessness of the boatmen. In
consequence, the foreign ministers were allowed to have four

oarsmen each.

A few streets were badly paved, and that at great expense,

for the stones had to be brought from long distances. Every
boat, therefore, that came down the E"eva, was obliged to carry

a certain quantity. ]N"o measures were taken to light the streets

until 1723, and then only with a few lanterns hung at long in-

tervals in front of the houses. Until 1721 there had been no
great immdation since 1706 ; that of 1717 did little damage.
But fires were alarmingly common. Thanks to a well-organised

fire brigade, in which all were obliged to serve, and to the fre-

quent presence of Menshikof and of the Tsar himself with axe

and pick in hand, and perhaps to the solid logs used in the

buildings, the fire was usually put out before more than three

or four houses were burned. In these unlighted and badly-

paved streets wolves still from time to time ravaged, and rob-

beries and murders were far too common. The badly-housed,

starved, desperate, and despairing peasants, who had been torn

from their homes to build the new capital, forgot the hor-

rible punishments meted out by Prince Eamodanofsky so long

as for a moment they could forget their present hunger and
misery.' It was dangerous to go out alone at night in the streets

' Weber writes, June 36, 1714 :
' Deeds of violence are beginning here

again, because the Tsar is absent and there are few soldiers here. The godless

rabble breaks into houses both by day and night, and perpetrates all sorts of

insolent deeds. Several sad cases have taken place this week. People scarcely

consider themselves safe in their houses, and at night have to use all imagin-

able precautions. Between here and Moscow another band of brigands has
been formed, who are all well armed and make the roads quite unsafe. It is

reckoned that the Vice-Tsar, Ramodan6fsky, who is thfe supreme judge in

criminal matters, has executed over 6,000 similar brigands during his reign.

When he was lately here and was asked about this, he said he must have three

hundred prisoners still hanged. Prince Menshikof, two years ago, was attacked
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of St. Petersburg, or even by day on the country roads. Smi
the Tsar hinaself came near being captured by brigands vfMte

going to Moscow at the end of 1717. This state of things f

dered necessary the establishment of night patrols and the

plete reorganisation of the police, which was put under the

charge of General Antony Devier, a Portuguese, who had orig-

inally come to St. Petersburg as a cabin boy, had been employed

and promoted by the Tsar, and made one of his adjutants.

Devier was a kind-hearted man of no great capacity, but had

the one merit of implicitly following out his instructions.

Sometimes the Tsar found it necessary to admonish him very

sharply, but they nevertheless remained very good friends. It

is said that on one occasion, as they were driving together in a

chaise along the bank of the Moika, a bridge which they were

about to cross was out of repair, two or three planks having

been displaced. Peter jumped out, gave Devier a good beating

with his cane, made him mend the bridge on the spot, and then

in a pleasant tone said, ' Get in, brother,' and they drove on.

Devier paid court to the sister of Menshikof, but the prince,

having higher views, refused his consent to the marriage. Find-

ing that the lady responded to his love only too warmly, Devier

again asked her hand, and told Menshikof that it would be

better to allow the wedding to take place in order that the

child might be legitimate, upon which he was kicked down-
stairs. He complained to the Tsar, who succeeded in arrang-

ing the marriage. Although it was necessary for them to hold

intimate official relations, Menshikof was never cordial to his

brother-in-law, and after the Tsar's death seized an excellent

opportunity which offered itself to have him exiled to Siberia.

The hours kept by Peter were very different from those now
in fashion. He frequently attended sessions of the Senate or

had conferences with his Ministers at three, four, or five o'clock

in the morning, then went to the Admiralty to supervise the

ship-building, and generally managed to get an hour at the

by a whole Tillage who knew him well, and was only saved by his fleet horses.

Thereupon he had all the inhabitants, as well as the priests, hanged. If jus-

tice were not administered so strictly in this country the evil would be still

worse.' There is more than a tinge of exaggeration in the above account, but
the evil was certainly very great.
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lathe before his eleven o'clock dinner. Then followed the usual

Russian mid-day nap ; later he went on tours of inspection

round the town, or worked in his private chancery, and the
evening he passed in the society of his friends or in. the more
public assemblies. Such hours are scarcely possible except in

St. Petersburg, where at midsummer it is always light, and at

midwinter the sun is below the horizon fi-om 3 p.m. to 9 a.m.,

and frequently owing to fogs it is dark much longer, and early

and late become mere relative terms. At least three or four

times a week Peter either dined or supped with his most inti-

mate friends, and most frequently with Menshikof, for in spite

of accusations and perhaps a certain withdrawal of confidence,

friendly and intimate relations were maintained. Thus, in

October, 1719, on the anniversary of the battle of Kalisz, Men-
shikof came to the Tsar at five o'clock in the morning to invite

him to dine. He remained talking with him for several hours,

when both went to the house of General Golovfn, then to the

liturgy at the Trinity church, and then to dinner, after which
there was a sailing party on the Neva, and the Tsar returned to

Menshikof's for supper, and stayed until ten o'clock. Very
rarely did any one dine or sup with the Tsar at his palace, un-

less it were Menshikof, or some orderly or adjutant. His house

was not large, with low, small, simply furnished rooms, built

for the convenience of his private life, where he could take his

ease without ceremony. He loved a simple life, plain coarse

fare, and liked to go about in his old clothes. He dined with

the greatest simplicity, generally wore an old surtout, which, as

he had the habit of stuffing important papers into his pockets,

was usually rolled up and placed under his pillow at night. At
the coronation of Catherine he consented, to afford her pleasure,

to wear a coat which with her own hands she had richly em-
broidered with gold and silver, at the same time protesting

against the expense, which might have supported several soldiers.

The Tsar's Court was very small. His adjutants at this time

were Yaguzhinsky, Devier, Kumiantsof, Volynsky, and Simeon
i^ar;i^shkin, who were frequently given duty in distant places

;

and he had, besides Makarof, the secretary of his cabinet, a

number of orderlies, who were constantly attached to his per-

son. Bergholz, the aide-de-camp of the Duke of Holsteifa, then

Vol. II.—28
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just arrived at St. Petersburg, says :
' The Court of the Tsar is

very mean, for he has almost no one in his service but a few

orderlies, some of whom are indeed of good family, but most of

low birth. These young men, his greatest favourites, enjoj'

however, no little influence with him. There are in all three

or four to whom he holds much. One is the nephew of Gen-

eral Buturlin ; the second, Tchevkin, is so like his twin-brother

that they can only be distinguished by their clothes. They say

that when the Tsar went to Danzig, he took them with him
only on account of their great resemblance to each other. The
one who was least able to suit himself to his humour he gave

over to the Tsarina. The third favourite and orderly is named

Tatistchef, and is of a Russian family. The fourth and last,

Basil, was a poor young fellow in the Tsar's choir, and as the

Tsar himself is a singer, and every Sunday and feast-day stands

in the same row with the common choristers and. sings with

them in church, he took such a great liking to him that he can

scarcely live an instant without him. These two last are his

greatest favourites, since generally when the Tsar is alone or in

a small company he eats at the same table with them. I am of

opinion that the Tsar cares still more for Basil, since he seizes

him by the head perhaps a hundred times a day and kisses him,

and even lets the highest Ministers stand and wait while he goes

and talks to him. This man is of poor common people, and has

never had any other education than that of a chorister. Besides,

his appearance is quite common and ordinary. In a word, he

is, according to all appearance, a simple inoffensive youth, and

yet the finest people of the whole realm pay their court to him.'

The Court of Catherine presented a great contrast to that

of her husband. She was fond of luxury and display, of di'ess

and of jewels, and Peter humoured her in this. Indeed he

liked the nobility also to keep up a fitting state. "When Men-
shikof, after one of the fines imposed upon him, took down all

his tapestries and the brocade and satin hangings of his walls,

and removed his splendid furniture under the pretence that he

would be obliged to sell it, the Tsar sternly rebuked the mean-

ness and simplicity of his rooms, and told him that unless in

twenty-four hours liis palace were furnished again as became a

Serene Prince and Governor of St. Petersburg, he should double
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the fine. In the Empress's household, which was so well man-
aged as to surprise foreigners, there were pages in green uni-

form faced with red and richly trimmed with gold lace, a great

number of well-dressed lackeys and grooms, and. an orchestra of

many good musicians in fine green uniforms, which they M'ore

rather unwillingly. She had four gentlemen of the chamber,

all tall, handsome fellows; two of them were Russians, Shepe-

lef and Tchevkin, and two Germans, Mons and Balk, one being
brother and the other a nephew to the pretty Anna Mons, the

mistress of the Tsar in his early life. Notwithstanding the

difiiculty with which William Mons had got into the army,' the

Mons family had succeeded in establishing themselves solidly

at Catherine's Court. The sister of William and Anna, Mat-
rena (originally Modesta) Balk, who had married a distinguished

general, was the lady of honour deepest in the confidence of the

Empress, and her two sons also belonged to the household.

Yery shamefully did they repay the favour shown to them.

Catherine was noted for her amiability and Idnd heart. She
disliked none and could not refuse a request. She was there-

fore the refuge of all who were in trouble or desired favours of

the Tsar. Every one applied to her, from Menshikof down.

Mons and his sister took advantage of this, managed to control

the access of petitioners, and took money for their services.

Their venality was generally known in St. Petersburg to every

one but the Tsar, and when he found it out it proved their ruin.

Among the ladies of the Court " were Anisia Tolstoi, who had

' See vol. i., pp. 406, 407.

" The chief ladies and maids of honour of Catherine's household besides

those mentioned were the Princess Cantemir ; Maria Stroganof (born Novosllt-

sef), the mother of the Barons Stroganof ; Anna Olsiifief, daughter of Admiral
SenyAvin; Madame Campenhausen (born von Leschert), wife of a colonel,

afterwards a general, and a Swedish baron ; Madame Villebois, wife of the

French adventurer and admiral, a daughter of Pastor Gluck, with whom Cath-

erine had lived ; Countess Osterman, wife of the Vioe-Chancellor, and daugh-
ter of Ivan Streshnef ; Countess Anna Golofkin, daughter of the Chancellor,

who subsequently married General Yaguzhlnsky after he had divorced his first

wife ; Countess Tchernyshef (born Ezhevsky), wife of the Tsar's orderly, sub-

sequently general, senator, and count ; Barbara Arsenief , sister of the Princess

Menshikof; Eudoxia Koshelef, whose father married as his second wife a

daughter of Pastor Gluck, and who herself subsequently married Basil Rimsky-

Korsakof ; a daugher of Devier, the police master ; and Anna Kramer, the
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been Catherine's companion since her first acquaintance with

Peter, and the old Princess Anastasia Golitsyn, daughter and

heiress of Prince Prozorofsky. The charming Miss Hamilton,

who had been too fond of the orderly Orlof, had already been

executed for infanticide. The Princess Golitsyn was celebrated

for jests and jokes. She was the inseparable friend of Cathe-

rine, and had accompanied her to Denmark and Holland, where

she had enlivened every one. On her return she had been im-

plicated in the affair of the Tsarevitch Alexis, had been publicly

whipped by the soldiers, but shortly afterwards had regained

her position at Court by being funnier than before. As ' Prin-

cess-Abbess ' she took part in Peter's coarse amusements. Her
husband in despair ended his days in a monastery. One of her

letters wi'itten to the Tsar from Eeval in July, 1714, gives the

tone of the Court :
' I desire your presence here quickly. If

your Majesty delaj'S, really. Sire, my life will be hard. The
Tsaritsa is never willing to go to sleep before three o'clock in

the morning, and I have to sit constantly by her while Kirflovna

dozes as she stands by the bed. The ladj- Tsaritsa deigns to

say :
" Aunt, are j'ou dozing ? " and she replies :

" !No, I am not

dozing ; I am looking at my slippers," while Maria (Hamilton)

walks about the room with a mattress which she spreads in the'

middle of the floor, and Matrena (Madame Balk) walks thix)ugh

the rooms and scolds everybody, and Christianovna stands

behind a chair and looks at the Tsaritsa. With your presence

I shall get freedom from bedroom service.'

While the Princess Golitsyn was the jester in ordinary to

Catherine, Peter had two regularly entitled fools. One, Bala-

kyref, was a Russian, the other. La Costa, was from Portugal^

The latter was commonly given the title of Count until on the

arrival in 1T19 of the Samoyedes, who came down in winter

with their reindeer and camped on the ice of the Neva ; he was

appointed King of the Samoyedes, and twenty-four of them
swore allegiance to him. In accordance with the customs of

daughter of a merchant of Narva. This last, as a prisoner of war, had been
taken first to Vologda, then to Kazan and sold to Apr^in, had been sent as a

present to General Balk, and by him to Miss Hamilton, the unfortunate maid
of honour. She was chosen to prepare for burial the body of the Tsarevitch

Alexis, and was subsequently Mistress of the Court to his daughter Natalia.
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llie time, there was no lack of dwarfs at Court. Even no pri-

vate noble house was considered well furnished without them.'

They were produced on all occasions, put into pies at great ban-

quets, and their conduct always furnished food for spiritual en-

tertainment. At the funeral of one who had been long attached

to Peter, twenty-four male and twenty-four female dwarfs

walked in procession, followed by the Emperor in person, and

Marriage of Dwarfs.

his Ministers and guards. In 1710, immediately after the mar-

riage of the Princess Anne to the Duke of Curland, a marriage

' In 1716 Menshikof wrote :
' Since one of my daughters possesses a dwarf

girl and the other does not, therefore I beg you kindly to ask Her Majesty the

Tsaritsa to allow me to take one of the dwarfs which were left after the deatli

of the Tsaritsa Martha.' In 1708 he had written to his wife :
' I send you a

present of two girls, one of whom is very small and can serve as a parrot. She
is more talkative than is usual among such little people, and can make you
much gayer than if she were a real parrot.' The birth of a dwarf might even

be considered a piece of good luck. We find in the archives of the Senate a

decree granting freedom from serfage to the father and family of the dwarf

Ustinia Nikitin.
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of two dwarfs was celebrated witli exactly the same rites and

exactly the same pomp as the marriage of the Duke. On this

occasion seventy-two dwarfs supped at a separate table in the

liall of Menshikof's palace, and were made as drunk as the rest

of the company. Their antics furnished great sport. They

were given the Tsar's cabinet for a nuptial chamber. Cannon

were ready, but salutes were not fired, because Menshik6f's

youngest.son was ill, and died indeed the same day.

Even giants were sometimes kept, though most of them had

been sent as a present to King Frederick William of Prussia

;

but we remember how Peter found at Calais the giant Nicholas

Bourgeois, whom he managed to send to St. Petersburg in

spite of the Prussian recruiting agents, and who stood behind

his table for many years afterwards. In 1720 Mcholas was

married to a Finnish giantess, with great ceremonies ending in

a masquerade.- Negroes were also in esteem, as indeed they

have been of recent years. Vol;^nsky sent from Astrakhan a

couple to Catherine in order to ingratiate himself with her

;

and Peter had several, one of whom, Abram or Ibrahim Han-

nibal, was sent to study at Paris, and subsequently became a

general, and was the ancestor of the poet Pushkin.

Peter and Catherine had but three children living, all

daughters. The little Tsarevitch Peter, on whom such great

hopes had been placed, had died in the spring of 1719, only ten

months after the sad fate of his brother Alexis. He had always

been weak and sickly, and even when four years old could

neither speak nor walk. The loss of this child was a great blow

to Peter, and he felt it long, yet he did not give way to his

grief, but, though with a sad heart, transacted the usual official

business, and even dined with his Ministers, and went to the

launch of a ship—and we well know with what rites this cere-

mony was performed. Natalia was an infant of three years

old, but the Princesses Anne and Elizabeth were now tall, pretty

girls, thirteen and twelve years old. Bergholz says that Anne,

whom he saw for the first time on the coronation day, 1721,

was ' a brunette, and as pretty as an angel, with charming com-

plexion, arms and figure, very much like her father, and rather

tall for a girl ; even a little inclined to be thin, and not as lively

as her younger sister, like whom she was dressed. Her wings,
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which had not long before been clipped, had not yet been taken

off, but only tied down. The dresses of the princesses were with-

out gold or silver, of pretty two-coloured material; their heads

were ornamented with pearls and precious stones in the latest

French fashion, in a way which would have done honour to the

best Paris hairdresser.' The wings spoken of were made of

gauze of two or three colours stretched on whalebone, and were

commonly worn by children at this time. Those of Anne had

been cut off by the Tsar in a sudden freak at a banquet given the

February before, on the festival of Simeon and Anna, when he

made a little speech, declared that she had arrived at her major-

ity, kissed her and drank her health to a salute of cannon. Both

girls were being educated as well as the fashion of the time de-

inanded. They were taught French, German, dancing, and

graceful manners, which constituted the sum of a polite educa-

tion for a girl. Anne is said also to have learnt something of

Italian and Swedish. In order to show her proficiency in her

studies, she wrote several letters in German to her father and

mother, congratulating them and hoping to see them back soon.

Catherine replied from Riga in May, 1721 :
' My heart, Tsar-

evna Anna Petrovna, I hope you and your dear sister and

nephew and niece are well. I inform you that your dear father,

as well as I, on arriving here, thank God, are in good health,

and I congratulate you on the festival of Palm Sunday, and

wish with all my heart that I could be to-morrow at Vespers

and pass Easter Sunday with you. This moment I have received

by post your letter, for which I thank you ; and one can see

that you, my dear, have taken great pains in writing it. There-

fore write very well in future, so that your dear father may
praise you for your letters.' Subsequently on May 16 :

' As I

know from the letters of your master, as well as Mr. Devier,

that you, my heart, are learning with diligence, I am very glad,

and send you as a present, to incite you to do better and to dil-

igence, a diamond ring. Choose one of them for yourself,

whichever pleases you, and give the other to your dear sister

Elizabeth, and kiss her for me. I send you also a box of fresh

oranges and lemons, which have just come on the ships. Pick

out some dozens and send them as from yourself to the Serene

Prince and to the Admiral.' Toung as the princesses were it
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was already thonglit of marrying them, and the youthful Duke
of Holstein-Gottorp had just arrived in St. Petersburg to pay

his court to Anne. For Elizabeth a French alliance was sought.

Little Peter and Natalia, the two children of the Tsar^vitch

Alexis, were frequently mentioned with affection in Peter's and

Catherine's letters, but they were relegated to the care of ob-

scure people and much neglected.

The Imperial family had by this time become very small.

One of the step-sisters of the Tsar was stiU alive, the Tsarevna

Maria, but in consequence of her condemnation on account of

the affair of Alexis, she was living in confinement in her own
house at St. Petersburg, having recently been allowed to go

there from Schlusselburg. His own sister N^atalia had died in

1716, greatly regretted by the society of St. Petersburg, and

especially by the foreigners, for she did much to amuse them

with balls and especially with theatrical performances, having

even herseK arranged some plays. The Tsaritsa Martha, the

widow of Theodore and sister of Admiral Apraxin, had been bur-

ied in the same year. There was still the Tsaritsa Prascovia,

the widow of the Tsar Ivan, with her three daughters—Cathe-

rine, the Duchess of Mecklenburg ; Anne, the Duchess of Cur-

land ; and Prascovia. This lastwas delicate and always ailing,

and her presence made little difference in festivities. The
Duchess of Curland made occasional visits to St. Petersburg

and Moscow, while the ever gay and lively' Duchess of Meck-
lenburg returned to Eussia in 1122 to spend the remainder of

her life. AH these had been badly educated by Osterman's

elder brother, and had learned their French from an illiterate

dancing-master, who had to wait very many years for his pay.

The Tsaritsa Prascovia was a remarkable personage, a fair

specimen of the old Russian type, of a strong and masculine

character, and indeed somewhat of a termagant. She often

quarrelled with her daughters, and finally bestowed her formal

curse on the Duchess of Curland, which she withdrew only

when on her deathbed. She had, however, a great love and
sincere admiration for her brother-in-law. Everything which
he did or ordered was good, and in spite of her leanings to old-

time habits and practices she readily adapted herself to every

desire or suggestion of the Tsar, not from calculation, but
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from a real desire to please him. Although she delighted at

home in the society of nuns, pilgrims, and religious vagabonds,

she was one of the first to appear in public and to open her

house to foreigners. She left her pleasant villa of Ismailofsky

to endure the discomfort of St. Petersburg. Old and gouty as

she was, she was carried in her chair to all the balls and ban-

quets, where, placed by the side of Catherine, she looked on

while the rest amused themselves. She appeared in the street

processions of masquers. She even believed enough in Peter's

knowledge of medicine to pass uncomfortable weeks at the

' martial waters ' of Olonetz, which did her more harm than

good. In the matter of her daughters' marriage she had no

wish or will ; their hands were the Tsar's to dispose of as he

thought fit. But this devotion and submission gave Prascovia

in turn great influence with Peter, and enabled her to serve

herself and others ; but she had the tact not to press this too

far. Prascovia's irascibility may be judged from one little inci-

dent. One of the stewards connected with the management of

her large estates, Derevinin, had quarrelled with his superior,

had been dismissed, and had been long trying to settle his ac-

counts. By accident he found a letter in cipher in the well-

known hand of the Tsaritsa. He wished to be revenged, he

remembered the law, and he resolved to give the letter to the

Tsar as perhaps being treasonable. It was not so in reality, but

it was very dangerous at that time to write anything in cipher,

even about one's most intimate and secret business. Prascovia

spared no efforts to get both the man and the letter into her

power, and finally, ill with gout and dropsy as she was, drove

in from her country place of Ismdilofsky, and under the pre-

tence of distributing alms obtained entrance into the prisons of

the Secret Police, had herself carried to the cell of Derevinin,

and with threats and objurgations beat him unmercifully about

the head with her cane, until, her passion rising each instant,

she ordered her servants to burn his beard and face with a can-

dle, and finally sent for a bottle of vodka, had it poured over

his head, and set fire to it. Even the jailers were horrified at

this sight, the more so as they would be responsible for the

safety of the prisoner ; but it was not until General Yaguzhin-

sky arrived and mildly represented to the Tsaritsa the impro-
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priety of her conduct, that she consented to go home without

taking the prisoner with her for further punishment.

Prascovia was evidently a relic of the old times, and showed

her ancestral blood, but otherwise it is noticeable that the court-

iers and the friends and intimate associates of the Tsar were

for the most part new men, parvenus, people who had made
their own way in the world, or foreigners. The Dolgorukys,

the Golitsyns, and the Trubetsk6ys, were almost the only de-

scendants of Eurilc and Gedimin who were much seen at Peter's

Court. There were others, of course, who held high positions,

such as Kamodanofsky, Repnin, Kurakin, and Sheremetief

;

but Kamodanofsky's duties kept him at Moscow, Kurakin was

abroad, while Eepnin and Sheremetief were generally in some

province distant from the capital. Others connected with the

Imperial family, like the Soltykofs, naturally clung to the

relatives ; but the Streshnefs, the Golofkins, and the Narysh-

kins owed their family importance only to their relationship,

and the Aprdxins do not seem at that time to have been much
esteemed. The feeling of family pride had, however, by no

means died out, and it kept some away and made others unwel-

come. Indeed, in considering Peter's Com't it is impossible at

times not to think .of that of an usurper or of a new dynasty

still unpopular in the country.

In order to bring the sexes together and to introduce the

beginning of a common social life, the Tsar introduced in 1719

what were called assemblies, which were held in turn two or

three times a week by persons specified on a list prepared by

the Tsar.' They were subject to certain rules to keep down the

expense and prevent them from becoming too much of a biu-den.

The host was not expected to meet his guests or to prepare any

further entertainment for them than tea or cold water to satisfy

' This list is interesting as showing the leaders of society, and who had
houses large enough for entertainments. The Prince Pope (Zotof), Streshnef,

Admiral Apraxin, Vioe-Admiral Peter Mikh^ilof (the Tsar), Admiral Cruys,

Prince Menshikof, Admiral Padan, Prince Jacob Dolgonlky, Prince Dimitri

GoUtsyn, Golovln, Tolstoi, Golofkin, Shafirof, Prince A. Tcherkdsky, Prince

.Stcherbatof, Weyde, Prince Peter Golitsyn, A. Soltykof, Tchernyshef, Ya-

guzhinsky, Devier, Klokatchef, Neledinsky, Ivan Streshnef, A. Aprftxin,

Makarof.
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thirst. All that he had to do was to give lighted and heated
rooms, one for dancing, one for cards and chess (of which the

Russians are very fond), one for smoking, and one for general

conversation or where the ladies could play forfeits. The
guests could bring their own wine and beer if they wished ; no
one was to be forced to drink, except in the rare cases where
the rules of the assemblies were infringed; the 'great eagle,'

the beaker which had to be drained as a fine at other banquets,

here had no place. Ante-rooms were not yet in fashion, for it

is especially stated that servants and lackeys are not to be ad-

mitted to the rooms, but given a place for themselves. The
assemblies began at foiu- or five o'clock in the afternoon, and
lasted not later than eleven, but the guests were allowed to

come and go at any time within those hours. In general there

was no ceremony. Every one could do as he pleased. K'o

special invitations were issued, but all from the highest ranks

down to commissioned officers, and nobles as well as merchants
of the better class, and even the directors of the ship construc-

tion at the Admiralty, were admitted and expected to appear.

Peter, while generally refusing all other form. of entertainment

at the palace, held assemblies in his turn. N'aturally these re-

unions varied in interest and amusement with the houses in

which they were held, because nothing prevented the host from
furnishing a huge supper and plenty to drink, and this was
often done.

But besides the assemblies, there were many other occasions

when the society' of St. Petersburg met, such as christenings,

funerals, and weddings, and the Tsar and all the members of

the Imperial family were at all times willing to appear as wit-

nesses to a marriage, or to hold over the font children even of

soldiers and artisans. The launching of a ship was an occasion

for a great feast. Peter was always present with most of his

family, even including the Tsaritsa Prascovia, who seldom
missed such an occasion, and took her little drop of liquor with
the rest.

Bergholz can tell us what these feasts were like :
' The 17th

July we dined with the former Hospodar of Moldavia, Prince

Cantemir. There we foimd the Princess Trubetskoy, sister of
the Princess Tcherkasky, whom she by no means approaches in
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beauty, especially as she paints herself entirely too much, al-

though all ladies here use rouge as much as the French. The
little Princess Tcherkasky is a girl eight or nine years old, really

as pretty and nice for her age as if she had had the best educa-

tion in France. She is, however, not the only child here who
has had a very good bringing up, and one must do the parents

here the justice to say that they spare nothing to have their

children well educated, so that it is with astonishment that one

sees the great changes which have been made in this nation in

such a short time, and there is no more trace of the rude and

displeasing behaviour they had not long ago. However, it is

still hard for thetn to make a sacrifice of their accustomed love

of ease to the love of dress. So said a few days ago the

Duchess of Curland, when the Duke of Holstein was calling

on her, and a lady came in wearing a sable cap :
" Russians

think too much of their ease, and coif themselves unwillingly,

as one can see in this young lady." There were very few ladies

on this occasion although there was dancing. During supper a

blind Cossack played the bandura and sang a number of songs,

which did not always seem quite suited to the company. Very
little was drunk, the large glasses being taken about by the

four sons of the Prince, three of whom are common soldiers in

tlie guard, and the fourth a non-commissioned officer.

' On the 27th the Duke received an invitation from the

Tsar to the launching of a ship. On such occasions there is no

precedence and no rule for demeanour. The Dcike sat at table

at the left of the Tsar ; on the right Ivan Michdi'lovitch Golo-

vin, the chief shipbuilder ; then a Frenchman who had built

this ship, and then the remaining shipbuilders. Also the

Prince Pope and all his cardinals were there. Opposite Prince

Menshikof sat the Grand Admiral Apraxin, and on both sides

of these the Senators and other great men of the Empire. The
Tsar withdraws generally when the drunkenness is at its height,

but does not allow any of the guests to go away before this

measure is reached. On this occasion he placed guards before

the cabin with the command that no one, whoever he might be,

should be allowed to leave the ship before permission was given.

No man dared to go up to him and the ladies, not even the

Duke. The Grand Admiral was so fuU that he wept like a
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cMld, which he usually does when he has too much. Prince

Menshikof fell dead drunk to the ground, whereupon his ser-

vants sent for the Princess and her sister, who livened him up

a bit with different strong odours, and then got permission from

the Tsar to take him home. In a word, there were few in this

company who had not enough, and if one should describe all

the follies that took place in these hours, one could fill sevei-al

volumes with them. Here there was a brawl between the

Prince of Moldavia and the police director, here another pair

were quarrelling, while in another corner others drank hruder-

scJiaft and eternal fidelity.'

The gaiety of the Court reached perhaps its height at Mos-

cow during the autumn of 1Y22, when Peter himself was

absent on the Persian campaign, when there was less danger

of being compelled to drink too much, and people could give

themselves up to dancing and other amusements without the

restraint bf the Imperial presence. Nevertheless the drinking

was not light, and of this Menshik6f, Yaguzhlnsky, and the

Duke of Holstein were always the leaders. Every despatch

from Persia was made a pretext for a feast. The merry Duch-
ess of Mecklenburg {die wilde Herzogiri), who had recently

arrived from Germany, was devoted to dancing, although she

appeared badly in a minuet and preferred iky^jpolshy. She was
living with her mother at Ismailofsky, but she was willing to

drive to town over the bad Moscow roads, even when the mud
was so thick that the wooden beams with which the streets

were paved had entirely disappeared. She invited people to

Ismailofsky, and there herself handed round the cup of vodka

before dinner, presided over the meal, which was always badly

cooked and worse served, and then an improvised ball went on

till midnight. "When the small drawing-room got too hot, the

guests adjourned to the bedroom, where the Tsaritsa Prascovia

was lying with the gout, or even to the bedroom of the Duchess

herself, and kept on. The Tsaritsa was badly lodged at her

villa, and paid little regard to appearances. It was generally

necessary to pass through the bedrooms to reach the drawing-

room and dining-room. On the return of the Emperor Berg-

holz drove out to Ismailofsky late in the evening to give the

Tsaritsa the first news, as she had not expected her brother-in-
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law for some days. Nearly every one was in bed, but the

Duchess of Mecklenburg was so pleased that she made Berg-

holz announce the news himself, and took him first to the bed-

room of her mother, then to her sister, and finally to the maids

of honour, who were all undressed and in bed in a common
room one next to the other, with very little comfort. The
dirty and poor surroundings caused the chamberlain to note

in his diary on his return :
' In general this nocturnal visit did

not make a favourable impression upon me, although I had the

luck to see manj' bare necks and bosoms.'

The chance for conversation at the assemblies was almost the

only opportunity of intellectual entertainment furnished at that

time in St. Petersburg. The first newspaper was not published

untU 1Y2Y, and foreign journals seldom found access to private

houses. There were no concerts, and the theatre was not as

flourishing as even in the time of the Tsar Alexis. Peter him-

self did not care for the theatre, and although he at one time

arranged to establish a play-house, yet circumstances prevented

the arrival of the company which he had engaged in Hamburg.

A small wretched theatre existed for two or three years on the

banks of the M6ika, where imitations of the French, translations

of German farces and biblical pieces were exhibited. People

flocked to. see rope-dancing, jugglery, and the strong man
Sampson from Germany, although it was necessary for them
to make personal trial of Sampson's strength in order to be

convinced that his feats were not illusions or helped by magic.

The Princess Xatalia had once started a small theatre in her

own house, and the next attempt at anything like private

theatricals appears to have been the work of the Duchess of

Mecklenburg, who had contracted a taste for this amusement
in Germany. She arranged a theatre at Ismailofsky, of which

she was herself the manager, the actresses being ladies of the

Com't, and the actors for the most part servants. This gave

pleasure and was well attended, in spite of the distance from

Moscow, though the company could not have been too select,

for Bergholz complains that on the first representation his

snuff-box was stolen, and at another time all the Holsteiu

gentlemen had their pockets picked of their silk handkerchiefs.

Indeed on the eve of the second representation two of the
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actors distributed play-bUls through Moscow in order to make a

little profit for themselves. The Duchess was so angry at this

that she had eacli of them given two hundred blows of the stick,

dismissed them, and filled up their places. After the arrival

of the Emperor similar performances continued in a theatre im-

provised in the large hall of the hospital.

In spite of such little incidents as a hand-to-hand fight at

a great supper in the presence of the .Emperor, between Kamo-
danofsky and Prince Gregory Dolgoruky, who, to be sure, wei'e

old enemies on account of a divorce suit, and one of the guests

on another occasion walking over the supper table and stumb-

ling into a pie, there can be no question but that the manners

of the epoch were softened by the social innovations of Peter.

The difference in the reception of Weber by the magnates in

1714 and of Bassewitz and others in 1721 is a sufficient proof

of this. At the same time this sudden emancipation of the

women, after they had been shut up for so many generations

in their houses without being allowed to mix in general society,

produced its natural consequences in a depravation of morals, on

which Prince Stcherbatof, who clung to the old time usages

and lauded the pure morals of old days, laid great stress. The
ladies naturally were the first to welcome the change. It was

a great pleasure for them to be relieved of their restraint, to

have some chance of seeing freely the men who might be their

future husbands, and to be able to dance ; and they were es-

pecially glad of the opportunities for displaying their charms.

The natural result was great extravagance in dress, and in this

the men were soon not far behind. Instead of one fine garment

for State occasions, which passed from father to son, the men
habitually wore rich coats embroidered with gold. This was

followed by great extravagance in living, numerous servants in

fine liveries, splendid furniture, rich equipages, an open table

set with costly foreign delicacies and expensive wines, much
show and much waste. What with the dearness of ordinary

life at St. Petersburg, incomes no longer sufficed for the ex-

penses, debts were incurred and many families were gradually

ruined. Even Field-Marshal Sheremetief was obliged to beg

for a salary, and died in debt. Considering his own manner of

life, the Tsar could not be very severe upon deviations fTOin
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morality. Disregarding all entreaties, he insisted on the exe-

cution of Catherine's maid of honour, the charming Miss

Hamilton, for infanticide, but he winked at mere irregularities.

He allowed, even advised Yaguzhinsky to divorce his first wife,

who was in truth a vixen, and found him a second wife whom
he thought more suitable. He refused to allow Prince Eepnin
to marry a Finnish girl as a fourth wife, contrary to the dictates

of the Church, but legitimised his children with the name of

Eepninsky. So, too, a natural son whom Prince Trubetskoy

brought back from Sweden was recognised as Betsky. Nobles

named Euky, Litsyn, Eaptsof, &c., whose shortened names

corresponded to a bar sinister, became henceforward not un-

common.
For several years Peter had taken the habit of making cures

at the ferruginous, or ' martial waters,' which had been dis-

covered in the province of Olonetz, and which he insisted were

equal to any in Germany. This opinion was not shared by
every one, and several predicted that his health would become

greatly worse if he continued to drink these waters. Owing to

the want of roads, the only time when it was easy to get to

these springs was in winter, when sledges could be used. Peter

varied the monotony of life in this wretched village by working

diligently at his turning lathe, and by going to the neighbouring

forges and hammering out bars and sheets of iron. In winter

he could not be as careless in the matter of food as he had been

at Spa. A witty Frenchman has said that the great miracle of

Spa is that the Tsar was able to drink the water, continue his

mode of life, and yet live and even be better for it. He never

conformed exactly to the prescriptions of the physicians. Some-

times, for instance, he would drink twenty-one glasses of water

in a morning, which seemed to have no other efEect than to

produce an excellent appetite. He was forbidden to eat fruit

unless cooked. Yet it is said that one day, immediately after

taking the waters, he ate ten pounds of cherries and a dozen

figs.

In summer the Tsar was as much as possible on the water.

When not cruising with his fleet on the gulf, or inspecting his

harbour works at Reval and Kogerwyk, or Baltic port, one of

his favourite amusements was to sail on the Neva together vdth
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his principal nobles in 'boy&rs—flight sailing yachts—which he

had compelled them to build and to sail themselves. Frequently

he took them as far as Cronstadt. The foreign ministers were

often invited. Here is Weber's experience in June, 1Y18:
' The Tsar went to Cronslot, where we also followed in a galley,

but in consequence of a great storm we were obliged to remain

at anchor in this, open boat for two day^ and two nights, with-

out lights, without beds, without food and drink. "When at

last we arrived at Cronslot, the Tsar invited us to his villa at

Peterhof. We went with a fair wind, and at dinner warmed
ourselves to such a degree with old Hungarian wine, although

His Majesty spared himself, that on rising from the table we
could scarcely keep on our legs, and when we had been obliged

to drain quite a quart apiece from the hands of the Tsaritsa we
lost all our senses, and in that condition they carried us out to

different places, some to the garden, some to the woods, while

the rest lay on the ground here and there. At four o'clock they

woke us up and again invited us to the summer-house, where

the Tsar gave us each an axe and bade us follow him. He led

us into a young wood where he pointed out trees which it was
necessary to fell in order to make an alley straight to the sea,

about a hundred paces long, and told us to cut down the trees.

He himself began work on the spot (there were seven of us be-

sides the Tsar), and although this,unaccustomed work, especially

in our far from sober condition, was not at all to our liking, we
nevertheless cut boldly and diligently, so that in about three

hours the alley was ready and the fumes of wine had entirely

evaporated. None of us did himself any harm except Minister

X, who unconsciously cut one tree and was knocked down by
another, badly scratched. After verbal thanks we received our

real recompense after supper in a second drink, which was so

strong that we were taken to our beds unconscious. We had
hardly succeeded in sleeping an hour or two before the Tsar's

favourite appeared, pulled us out of our beds, and dragged us

against our will to the room of a Circassian prince, asleep there

with his wife, where before his bed we had again to drink so

much wine and vodka that on the following day none of us

could remember who brought us home. At eight o'clock in the

morning we were invited to the palace to breakfast, which con-

VoL. II.—29
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sisted of a good glass of vodJca, and afterwards were taken to

the foot of a little hill and made to mount some wretched conn-

try nags without saddles or stirrups, and ride about for an hour

in sight of their Majesties, who stood at the window. At din-

ner again for the fourth time we had to drink freely. As the

wind was strong we were put into the Tsar's covered boat, in

which the Tsaritsa with her maid of honour had occupied the

cabin, while the Tsar stood with us on the open deck and assured

us that in spite of the strong wind ahead we should arrive at

Cronstadt at four o'clock. But after we had manoeuvred about

for two hours we were caught by such a frightful squall, that

the Tsar, leaving all his jokes, himself took hold of the rudder,

and in that danger displayed not only great knowledge of ma-

noeuvring, but unusual physical strength and steadfastness. The
Tsaritsa, in consequence of the waves which beat over the whole

boat,, and the dripping rain which ran into her cabia, was shel-

tered under some benches which were tilted up for the purpose,

and in that difficult position showed also great presence of raiud.

We all gave ourselves up wholly to the will of God, and con-

soled ourselves with the thought that we should drown in com-

pany with such exalted personages. All effects of the drink

disappeared very quickly, and we were filled with thoughts of

repentance. Four hoyers on which were the Court of the Tsar-

itsa and our servants, were tossed about by the waves and driven

ashore. Our boat, on account of its great strength and the ex-

perienced sailors, after seven dangerous hours reached the har-

bour of Cronstadt, where the Tsar left us, saying : "A pleasant

night. The amusement was rather too strong." The next day

he had an attack of fever. As the rain had drenched us for

the whole day, and besides that we had sat for four hours up
to our waist in water, we lighted a fire on the island, and not

having with us any clothes or beds or any of our other things,

which were with our servants, we stripped, wrapped ourselves

in rough coverings which we borrowed from the peasants, and
during the night as we warmed ourselves at the fire had time

enough to express our ideas on the wretchedness and uncertain-

ties of human life. After this excursion we all fell ill with
fevers or some other malady.'

We know of Peter's great love of practical joking, his seem-
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ingly uncontrollable desire to make a man do what was most

distasteful to him ; as when once passing by Dnderhof , he made
an official who had a repugnance to Hungarian wine drink so

much of it that the poor man would have died if, after the

Tsar's departure, his servant had not dragged him out into the

snow and left him there awhile. "We know in general of his

passion for making others drunk. We know, too, of his fond-

ness for masquerades, travesty, and buffoonery, of the peculiar

position created for Eamodanofsky, as a kind of mock-Tsar, and

of the way in which he celebrated his victories. Of a piece

with all this were his parodies of religious rites and ceremonies,

which have so puzzled historians, and in which some have tried

to find a deep moral meaning. In reality, they are merely the

clownish and brutal efforts at amusement which seem necessary

to men of a certain coarser fibre, even though they be endowed
with intellectual and moral qualities of a high order. Condemn
this as we may in our riper years, yet there are few of us who,

on reviewing their lives, will not admit that the capacity for

such amusement is a characteristic of the Anglo-Saxon race

—

though, as we see, not of that alone. ' The most mad, most

frolicsome, and most drunken Synod,' was started when Peter

was a youth of seventeen, and continued to the very end of his

life. Its numerous memoranda, instructions, by-laws, and con-

stantly changing ceremonies were written out by Peter's own
hand, even to the slightest alteration.

As Kamodanofsky was the ' mock-Tsar,' so Nikita Zotof, the

first tutor of Peter, was appointed ' mock-Patriarch,' with a

proper suite of archbishops, priests, and deacons, with even a

lady abbess and nuns. The parody, which was at first made
on the Russian clergy, was finally changed to one of the Latin

hierarchy, and Zotof received the title of Prince-Pope, and had

joined to him a college of cardinals. Every member had some

coarse and obscene nickname, and the irreverent ceremonies of

election and institution, while borrowed from those of the Vati-

can, received foul and disgusting additions. In 1702 the mar-

riage of the Tsar's jester, Shansky, took place in the cathedral

at Moscow, with a great procession of the ' Drunken Synod

'

clad in robes imitating those of the old Russian boyars and

clergy. Twelve years afterwards Zotof—who had obtained for
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himself one evening, when Peter was in especially good linmour,

the title of count, which was withdrawn from his children

—

being now seventy years old, proposed to retire to a monastery.

Instead of this Peter ordered him to marry again, and chose for

his wife an old lady, the widow of Stremolikhof, and in spite

of the mockery of ecclesiastical dignitaries, the religious cere-

mony was celebrated in the Archangel Cathedral by a priest of

ninety, assisted by the oldest clergy that could be found. Prep-

arations were begun early in the autumn, and in the masquer-

ade and wedding procession, Catherine, the Tsaritsas Martha

and Prascovia, and even some of the foreign ministers, were

obliged to take part. Zotof died in 1717, and, as was to be ex-

pected, his son Konon Zotof, who had been a good servant of

the Tsar, and had originally protested against the marriage, had

a dispute about the inheritance with the widow, who had been

granted a fourth of the property. Buturlin was chosen Prince-

Pope, with ceremonies which, as they were not as public as the

marriage, were all the more blasphemous and obscene, and still

later he married the widow of Zotof.

Let us now pass to a pleasanter picture as illustrative of

Peter's kindly manners in dealing with those whom he liked.

Ivan lyanovitch ITepluief, the son of a small proprietor at Nov-
gorod, was drafted into the service and sent to learn mathe-

matics in 1715, when he was already twenty-two years old and

the father of two children. The next year he was one of the

thirty to be a,ttached to the fleet as midshipmen, and sent to

Copenhagen. Thence they went to Amsterdam, and were sent

by the Tsar to Yenice to enter the naval service of the Kepub-
lic. In this they continued for two years, chiefly stationed at

Corfu, but serving on board the galleys in various battles against

the Turks. Prom Venice they crossed Italy to Florence, went
thence to Genoa, where they were for a time detained by the

French agent, then to Toulon and Marseilles, and finally to

Cadiz, where for some six months they were in the Spanish

service, and returned to St. Petersburg only in June, 1720.

They were received in the most friendly manner by Gregoiy
Tchernyshef, the adjutant of the Tsar, and by the Admiral-in-

Chief, Count Apraxin, who presented them to the Tsar at the

College of the Admiralty, where they had been ordered to be
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at five o'clock in the morning. IS'epldief says :
' I do not know-

how my comrades received the news, but I did not sleep the

whole night, and prepared myself as if for the day of judgment.'

Tchernyshef passed by and cheered them up a little, telling

them to speak the truth and have no fear, and at seven they

were shown into the Tsar's presence. He was either unwell or

in a bad humour, for he simply asked them whether they had
certificates from their commanders, whether they had all served

on the galleys or some on ships. On hearing their replies, he
turned to the Admiral and said :

' I want to see them at prac-

tice, so inscribe them as midshipmen.' He had not yet finished,

when Tchernyshef said :
' That would be a sin. Sire, for men who

have been away from their families for so many years in strange

countries to do your will, who have suffered hunger and cold and
poverty, who have learned as well as they can in order to please

you, and who have even been midshipmen in a foreign country,

and now returning by your command have hoped to receive re-

ward for their services and knowledge, to be put on an equality

with those who have had no experience.' The Tsar replied : ' Oh,
I will reward them. Let them serve one campaign.' ' But is it

easy, Sire, for those to serve as midshipmen who are already fit

to command a ship or a galley ?
' ' Who is fit ?

' said the Tsar.
' For instance, Kaisarof and !Nepluief.' Peter immediately had
these two shown to him, looked at them carefully for a moment,
and then ordered that in a month there should be a full meet-

ing of the college, and that all should be examined. When it

came to ISTepluief's turn for examination, the Tsar was very

amiable, and, as Nepluief knelt down, turned up his right cuff

and gave his hand to be kissed, saying :
' You see, brother, that

I am Tsar, yet there are callous places on my hands, because I

wished to give you an example, and even in my old age have
worthy servants and assistants of the country.' As K"epluief

kissed his hand, he said :
' Stand up, brother, and answer to the

questions. Do not be afraid. If you know say so, if you do
not know say so too.' The result of the examination was that

Nepliiief and Kaisarof were made lieutenants in the galley fleet,

and that the rest were given other but subordinate positions.

Shortly after, NepMief was made inspector and commander of

naval constructions, and saw the Tsar nearly every day, who
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always stopped to convei'se with him about all sorts of matters.

Tcherayshef told him of the Tsar's high opinion of him, and

gave him good advice—told him to be diligent at his work,

' always speak the trtith, and never lie, even if it were a bad

affair. He is only more angry if you lie.' Once he came to

the Admiralty and found the Tsar already there. He was at

first frightened, and thought of running home and pretending

to be ill, but collected himself and went up to where Peter was

standing, who, seeing him, said :
' You see, my friend, I am

here before you.' He replied :
' I am to blame. Sire ; but last

night I was in company and stayed a long time, and for that

reason am late.' Seizing him by the shoulder, the Tsar squeezed

it so hard that Nepliiief trembled, thinking that he was angry.

' Thanks, my boy,' he said, ' that you speak the truth. God
will forgive. Who is not the descendant of woman? And
now come along with me to a birth.' ' I bowed, and got up

behind his carriage. We drove on to the cottage of the car-

penter of my command, and went in. The Tsar gave the

mother five grtvnas,^ and kissed her, while I stayed at the door.

He told me to do the same, and I gave her a gri/vna. The Tsar

then asked the midwife :
" What did the lieutenant give ?

"

She showed the griima, and he laughed and said :
" Oh, brother,

I see you do not make presents in a naval style." " I am not

able, Sire, to give much. I am a poor nobleman. I have a

wife and children, and if it were not for your salary, living

hei-e, I should not even have anything to eat." The Tsar asked

me how many children I had, and where they were. I told

him all truly and without concealment. Then the master of

the house brought us on a wooden plate a glass of vodJca. The

Tsar tasted of it, and ate a carrot pie. Then he brought me
the same. As I had never drunk any vodka I refused, and the

Tsar said to me :
" Taste as much as you can of it—do not

offend him ;

" which I did, and with his own hands he broke

off a piece of his pie and gave it to me, saying, " Eat it ; this is

native and not Italian food." After that we came away, and I

went home to dinner.' Xepliiief was frequently employed in

Catherine always gave ducats or rubles on such occasions, and the frequent

feet made a great drain on her purse.
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translating for foreign ministers at the launch of a new ship.

In January, 1721, there was a banquet for all the boyars, and
the naval and court officers, at which JSTepluief was present.

^ We, having finished our dinner sooner, rose from tlie table,

and I and several others went into the room where the Tsar

was Still sitting at table. He was very merry, and after a little

time began a conversation, in which he said that he needed a

man who spoke Italian to send as Resident to Constantinople.

Count Golofkin answered that he did not know of any such,

but Admiral Apraxin said that he knew such a one, and a very

worthy one, but it was a pity that he was very poor. The Tsar

replied that poverty was not a crime, that could soon be reme-

died, but who is it? Count Apraxin replied: "There he
stands, behind you." " Yes, there are many standing behind
me," said the Tsar. Count Apraxin said :

" One you like so

much, your galley constractor." He turned round, and looking

at me, said :
" It is true that he is a good man, but I would like

to keep him for myself." I bowed to the Tsar, and he, think-

ing for a moment, ordered my appointment to that mission, and
as they rose from the table the Admiral congratulated me as

Resident, and taking my hand led me up to thank the Tsar. I

fell at his feet, and seizing them kissed them and wept. He
deigned to raise me up, and taking me by the hand said :

" Do
not bow down, brother ; I am placed over you by God, and my
duty is to see that I do not give to an unworthy man or take

away from a worthy one. Provided you do well jou will do
good, not to me, but rather to yourself and your country, and
if you are bad then I am a judge, for God demands from me
with regard to all of you that I do not give places to the wicked

or stupid. Serve, then, with fidelity and probity. First God,
and after Him even I will not abandon you." Saying this, and
looking about, he deigned to say: "Whom shall I take in his

place ? " and with these words he stretched out his hand, which
I immediately kissed, and he went away. My benefactor,

Gregory Petrovitch, embraced and kissed me out of joy, while

I could not say a word.' JS^epMief was then only twenty-eight

years of age. Apraxin, Tchernyshef, and even Osterman were
all very amiable to him on his departure. Provision was made
for his wife, whom he left behind, and he went to Oonstanti-
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nople shortly after, taking with him his eldest son, Adrian, a

boy of nine years, whom he subsequently sent to school in Hol-

land. He seems to have deserved the good opinion of the Tsar,

for his services at Constantinople were appreciated, and he was
rewarded both with rank and with landed estates. He remained

at Constantinople until 1734, and rose subsequently to be a

senator.'
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THE PERSIAN CAMPAIGN—1733-23.

In the speech which Peter made on accepting the Imperial title

he gave his own version of the advice of Vegetius, Qui desiderat

pacempraeparef belkim, and he had not yet ended the festivi-

ties at Moscow for the peace of N'ystad before he had resolved

on a war with Persia.

The relations of Russia to the countries of Asia had, since

the end of the Tartar domination, been governed by commercial
considerations merely. It was the desire to improve trade

which had caused the iirst mission to China, and which, in

spite of rebuffs, had led to others since. The unruly Cossacks

of Siberia by their raids across the frontier, and especially by
building the fort of Albazin on Chinese territory, had brought

on a war with China, which was settled only by the treaty of

Nertchinsk in 1689, when the government was stUl carried on
by Sophia and Golitsyn. By this the Russians drew back their

boundary line and retired from the bank of the Amur. A
Russian religious mission, which had been established at Pekin
for the benefit of Cossack prisoners, was still retained, and
trade in tea and furs went on briskly between the two countries,

although, as we have seen, without special advantage to the

exchequer. In 1692 Eleazar Ysbrandt Ides, a Danish merchant
in Russia, had been sent as envoy to the Emperor Khang-Hi

;

but he had the usual difficulties about etiquette, and although

he conformed to the Chinese demands, he did not succeed in

obtaining the greater commercial privileges which were desired.

He ascertained, however, what had been still in doubt at Mos-
cow, that the Emperor Khang-Hi had ratified the treaty of

Nertchinsk. By this treaty a district between the river Amur
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and the Okhotsk Sea had been left without fixed boundary,

and this was thought disadvantageous to Kussia as productive

of boundary disputes, but Ides was unable to effect the demarca-

tion. Russian caravans, however, still went regularly to Pekin

;

an embassy sent by Ayiika, the Khan of the Kalmuks, under

the escort of a Kussian officei-, was well received in 1Y15, and

the Archimandrite Hilarion, who had joined it with his mis-

sion, was given the rank of mandarin of the fifth class. In

171Y and 1718 the Eussian merchants coming to Pekin were

sent back, and trade was allowed only with a frontier town.

In consequence of this the Tsar in 1719 sent an Envoy Ex-

traordinary to Pekin, Captain Leo Ismailof, of the Preobrazhen-

sky regiment. Among the presents sent to the Bogdy-Khan,

who was for the first time given by the Kussians the title of

Emperor and Majesty, were four ivory telescopes, made by
Peter's own hand, with a picture inside of the battle of Poltava.

With the help of the Jesuits, then in great favour at Pekin,

Ismailof succeeded, by timely concessions, in avoiding many of

the difficulties of his predecessors, and was received on a

familiar footing at the Chinese court. Besides the regulation

of the boundary question he demanded free trade without in-

ternal duties, the construction of a Russian church in Pekin,

and the establishment of Russian consulates in China. The
Chinese replied : 'Our Emperor has no bazaars. You estimate

your fnerchants very highly. We despise mercantile affairs.

Only poor people and servants occupy themselves in that way
with us, and there is no profit at all to us from your trade.

We have enough of Russian goods even if your people did not

bi'ing them, and it is a loss to us to convoy them.' Ismdilof

insisted, when, luckily for the Chinese, news came that several

hundred Mongols had run away across the Russian frontier.

They then refused to continue negotiations until this matter

was entii'ely settled, and after the departure of Ismailof, who
was allowed to leave his secretary of legation, Lorenz Lang, as

agent, hindered Russian caravans, refused admission to a Rus-

sian bishop, and even invaded what was claimed as Siberian

territory, on the ground that the Mongol deserters had not

been surrendered. After the death of Khang-Hi and the ac-

cession of his sou Yong-Tchi, an enemy to Christians, there
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seemed danger of actual war, but this was averted, and a treaty

was finally concluded by Savva Raguzhinsky in 1Y2Y.

Peter, who had acquired a great deal of knowledge about

Asia, had gradually come to understand matters there, and the

true interests of Eussia. Even in 1698, while on his journey

abroad, he had written to Vinius, who had informed him of

the state of the Russian church at Pekin and of the conversion

of the Chinese. ' That affair is all very well, only, for God"s

sake, act carefully and not hastily, so as not to indispose the

Chinese officials, as well as the Jesuits, who have made their

nest there since a long time. Wherefore we should have priests

there not so learned as sensible and subtle, lest through some

overpride all this holy business go to the utmost ruin.' He
was miich interested in the account Ismailof, who returned to

Moscow in January, 1722, gave of his mission, of the state of

affairs in China and Siberia, and of his familiar conversati(jns

with the emperor. On the eve of a war against Persia, Peter

was amused at the warning sent to him of the dangers of the

sea, and the advice to stay at home quietly and spare his health,

while sending others out on military expeditions. He had

gradually come to see that the key to all dealings in Asia was

a good understanding with the Jungarians, then at the height

of their power, living in and about Kuldja and the valley of

the Hi. Tsevan Rabdan, the Kalmuk ruler of Jungaria, sent

an embassy to Russia to ask for the Tsar's assistance in a war

with China—about which the Chinese complained to Lang

—

and in 1722 Captain IJnkofsky was in return sent to Jungaria

to ascertain the condition and strength of the people and what

might be done with them. With the western horde of Kal-

muks, which since 1636 had been settled on the Lower Yolga

near Astrakhan, within the Russian dominions, the Russian

relations were generally friendly, though much of the same

character as those of the United States and the American

Indians. Treaties were made and sometimes broken. Small

garrisons were kept in detached posts to see that the Kalmuks

did not venture too far out of their boimds. In 1697 so much
confidence was felt in them that the Khan Ayiika was entrusted

with the defence of south-east Russia, while in 1707 they re-

fused their aid against the mountaineers of the Caucasus who
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attacked the Terek frontier, and in 1708 themselves crossed the.

Volga, wasted the provinces of Tarabof and Penza, and sold

many Russians as slaves in Persia and Central Asia.

Prince Gagarin, the Governor of Siberia, had reported that

gold sand was to be found near the town of Erket, Erken or

Yerken (supposed to be Yarkand) on the river Darya, and pro-

posed to send an expedition there. Gold had not yet been

discovered in the Ural or in Siberia, and the Tsar, who was so

anxious to increase the stock of the precious metals in JRussia,

and who had confirmation of this story from a Khivan ambassa-

dor, readily agreed to the proposition, but sent out in 1714

Lieutenant-Colonel Buchholtz to command the expedition, with

orders to construct a fort on Lake Yamysh, then advance to

Erket, occupy it and obtain information about the places where

gold sand was found and about the mouth of the river. Buch-

holtz reported two years afterwards that he had built the fort,

but that it was dangerous to go to Erket on account of the

small number of soldiers he then had, for many of them had
run away to Siberia, where they found a free life. Subse-

quently more than ten thousand Kalmuks besieged Buchholtz

in his fort. Many soldiers died of disease, and finally, in May,

1716, he accepted the terms offered by the Kalmuks, razed his

fort, and withdrew down the Irtysh to the mouth of the Om,
where he constructed a new fort, Omsk. General Likharef,

who was sent to Siberia in 1719 to investigate the maladmin-

istrr^tion of Prince Gagarin, was also instructed to ascertain the

truth about the gold sand at Erket, and if true to advance if he

could without too much danger to Lake Zaisan, to establish a

fort there, to explore the country and the road from Zaisan to

Erket, and especially to investigate the question whether there

were any rivers running from Lake Zaisan into the Darya on

the Aral Sea, but not to run any risk. This caution was added

partly on account of the misadventure of Buchholtz, and partly

because of the ruin which had come upon another expedition

for this purpose—that of Prince Bekovitch Tcherk^sky. None
of the expeditions against Erket could succeed, partly on ac-

count of the physical difficulties of the country—for the geog-

raphy of the region about Yarkand was not known in that

day, nor, indeed, up to very recent times—and partly because



EXPEDITION TO KHIVA. -461

not enough gold exists in tlie upper waters of the rivers of

central Asia to pay for washing the sands. But Buchholtz and
Liliharef finally established the Eussian power on the middle

and upper Irtish. The wish of Peter to increase his supply of

gold was not, however, so strong as his desire to get for Eussia

a part of the rich trade with India, or at least to make it pass

through Eussia to Europe. The legendary power and wealth

of the Great Mogul, the splendour of the reign of Aurengzebe,

the thriving factories of English and French traders, even the

reports of the few Eussian merchants who had visited the

country, all gave him a great idea of the importance of the

Indian trade. The settlements of foreigners at Calcutta,

Madras, Goa, and Pondicherry were still so unimportant that

it was allowable to dream of diverting the trade of India

without being accused of designs against the British empire.

Bukharans and Khivans traded with India, and they also ex-

changed commodities with Eussian merchants at convenient

places in the steppe or on the shore of the Caspian ; a colony

of Eussian merchants was settled at Shemaha, engaged in

the silk trade with Persia. Not infrequent embassies had

been exchanged between Moscow and the petty sovereigns

of Central Asia ; sometimes when hard pressed by rebel-

lious subjects these Khans had asked for Eussian aid, and

with Asiatic lightness had offered their submission and prom-

ised their fealty—offers and promises never intended to bind

for long.

When in 1713 a Turkoman named Hadji Nefes came to As-

trakhan with stories of gold to be found along the Amu Darya,

Peter, remembering offers of submission made by a Khivan

Khan ten years before, thought he might use "them to establish

himself in Asia and open the way to India. He therefore re-

solved to send an embassy to Kiiva with the nominal mission

of congratulating the new Khan on his accession to the throne.

Unfortunately, instead of entrusting this expedition to some

shrewd and obstinate Eussian, he confided it to an Oriental,

who was thought to be particularly suited to the country and

the undertaking. Prince Alexander Bekovitch Tcherkasky, a

Prince of the Kabarda, called originally Devlet Kisden Mirza,

a name he had changed on becoming converted to Chris-
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tianity." He was a captain of the guard, and had been employed

in various ways at Astrakhan and on the frontier of the Cauca-

sus, where his brothers were still ruling princes. A long time was

spent in preparations, and finally, in the winter of 1716, when

Bekovitch had already arrived at Astrakhan, he was sent for to

meet and consult with the Tsar at Kiga. Peter had heard

news there.which had materially changed his ideas and instruc-

tions. He had found two men, Andrew Semenof and Simeon

Malenky, who had in 1696 gone as merchants to Persia, and

thence to India by the way of Ispahan and Bender Surat, get-

ting as far as Agra and Delhi. It was now resolved not only

to send Bekovitch to the Khan of Khiva, but to despatch mer-

chants with a proper escort both to the Khan of Bukhara and

the Indian Mogul with letters of credence. This last created

some difficulty, as there never had been any precedents, and

Golofkin did not know how to style the Mogul in an official

letter.

The instructions given to Bekovitch were to construct a fort

on the Caspian at the old mouth of the Amu Darya ; to inves-

tigate carefully the course of that river, the dam which sent it

into its new channel, and whether by breaking this dam it

could not be restored to the old course ; to persuade the Khan
of Khiva to accept Kussian suzerainty by promising him hered-

itary succession to his throne and a Kussian guard for his pro-

tection ; to ask him to send some men by the Syr Darya to

Erket to learn whether gold could be found there ; to get boats

from the Khan, and send merchants and naval officers and

engineers disguised as such up the Amu Darya to India, with

instructions carefully to explore the country through which they

might go, and if in India they should hear of a better route to

the Caspian to return by that way and describe it ; and to make
friends with the Khan of Bukhara. For this purpose Beko-

vitch was given 4,000 regular troops, besides Cossacks. In the

autumn of 1716 Bekovitch constructed two forts on the eastern

shore of the Caspian and then returned to Astrakhan, where

' Bekovitch Toherkasky means simply son of a Tcherkess or Circassian bek
or prince. This prince was in no way connected with the other Tcherkasky
families, of similar origin, prominent in Russian history.
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he heard frdm various quarters, from Ayiika, the Khan of the

Kalmuks, and from men who had been sent to Khiva, that

there was dissatisfaction at his erecting a fort on Khivan terri-

tory, that the Khivans were armed and feared lest instead of

coming as an ambassador he wished to take their capital by sur-

prise. Ayuka also called attention to the want of water and of

forage, but no great credence seems to have been given to his

statements. In June, 1717, Bckovitch marched over the steppe

towards Khiva, and when about a hundred miles from that city

had a fight with the Khivans, which lasted three days, and
ended in their submitting themselves and asking for peace.

Peace was granted, and the Khan and the leading Khivans
swore on the Koran to abide by it. The Khan invited him to

go to Khiva, but for the greater convenience of provisioning

his troops suggested that they should be divided into several

detachments and stationed in different towns. Bekovitch fool-

ishly consented, and the result was that his troops were soon

disarmed, he himself and most of his officers murdered, and the

men sold for slaves. The head of Bekovitch was sent as a

present to Bukhara, and his skin was stuffed and exhibited in

the court of the palace. It was only gradually that the news
reached Russia, through Tartars and Cossacks who succeeded in

escaping. Three years later, in May, 1720, a Khivan envoy ar-

rived at Astrakhan, bringing a letter to the Tsar, asking for the

renewal of previous friendship, laying all the blame of what had
happened upon Bekovitch, attempting to exonerate the Khan,
and offering to give up the prisoners if desired. He was sent

to St. Petersburg under arrest, and died there in the fortress.

A letter with information of his death, and demanding the sur-

render of the captives, was sent by the Chancellor to the Khan
of Khiva, who stamped on it with his foot, and gave it to the

children to play with. ->

The relations of Kussia with Persia had always been amica-

ble. Persian envoys came to Russia from time to time, and
Russian merchants, as we have said, were established at She-

maha and other Persian towns on the Caspian engaged in the

silk trade. This trade was chiefly carried on by Armenians,

and the Tsar was very desirous of getting it into his hands.

But before he took any decided steps he sent, in 1715, as envoy
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to Persia, Artemius Vol;^nsky, a young man of good family,

who had been brought up by one of the Soltyk6fs, who had

entered the service as a dragoon, and had acted several times as

courier between the Tsar and Shafirof during the negotiations

with the Turks after the campaign on the Pruth. He had even

been imprisoned with the Russian mission in the Seven Towers

at Constantinople. His general instructions were to study the

country, especially in a commercial sense; but Peter added

with his own hand the direction to investigate from what quar-

ters rivers ran into the Caspian, and whether there were not

some river falling into it which came from India. He was to

endeavour to persuade the Shah, even by bribing his advisers,

to turn the Armenian trade in raw silk through Russia, repre-

senting the advantages of water communication to St. Peters-

burg, instead of being obliged to use caravans and camels

through Turkey. If this were impossible, he was at least to

try to throw some obstacles in the way of the Smyrna and
Aleppo trade. It took some time to find the proper persons to

accompany him, and it was not until the autumn of 1716 that

Vol;;^nsky was able to leave Astrakhan. He was then kept all

the winter at Shemaha, where he had the misfortune to lose

one of his secretaries, the German Wenigerkind, a man of parts

and informatiou, as well as a French engineer who accompanied

him, though he still retained John Bell of Antermony, who
subsequently published a detailed journal of the expedition.

After some suffering from heat and the bad roads, which per-

haps he exaggerated in his letters to Catherine, Mons, and Ma-
karof, in order to enhance the value of his services, Yol;^nsky

arrived at Ispahan in the spring of 1717, where he was at first

well received, but subsequently confined in his house under a

strict guard. The Persians had learnt of the disastrous cam-

paign of Bekovitch, and of the construction of forts on the

Caspian. There were also rumours of Russian troops advancing

into Persian territory. He was three times received by the

Shah Hussein, and had several conferences with the Vizier

Ekhtem Devlet, but before he had finished his business he was
notified that he must leave, and was granted his farewell audi-

ence. ' This is hard to believe,' wrote Vol^nsky, ' for here

there is now such a head that he is not over his subjects but
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the subject of his subjects, and I ain sure that it is rarely one

can find such a fool, even among common men, not to say

crowned heads. For that reason he never does any business

himself, but puts everything on his Vizier, who is stupider than

any cattle, but is still such a favourite that the Shah pays atten-

tion to everything that comes out of his mouth, and does what-

ever he bids.' Volynsky thought that the obstacles put in his

way were to prevent his obtaining any knowledge of the coun-

try, as since Russia had become such a powerful state the Per-

sians were very much afraid of it. He speaks in strong terms

of the general disorder existing in Persia at that time, and

prophesies the speedy ruin of the country unless the ruler be

changed. He succeeded in remaining at Ispahan until the mid-

dle of September, and concluded a treaty by which Russian

merchants were given the right of trading freely throughout

Persia, and buying raw silk wherever and in what quantities

they desired. He returned through Ghilan, -sfrhither he had

before been prevented from going on account of the epidemic,

and was obliged to pass another winter in Shemaha, where he

found every one excited at rumours of Russian invasion. At
the same time, a Georgian noble, Parsidun Bek, whom he had

known at Ispahan, came to him on the part of Yakhtan, Prince

of Georgia,^who had become a Mussulman to save his king-

dom, and was nominally commander-in-chief of the Persian

armies,—with the request for Russian assistance, promising to

aid the Tsar against Persia.

In spite of the accusations of delay and bad management

which greeted Volynsky on his return, he succeeded, through

his connections with the Court and Catherine, in justifying

himself, in being appointed Governor of Astrakhan, Adjutant-

General of the Tsar, and subsequently in marrying a lady of

the ITarifshkin family, a relative of the Tsar himself.

On going to Astrakhan, Volynsky was instructed to manipu-

late the various princes of the Caucasus so as to prepare the

way for an attack on Persia. His own opinion was that force

would be of much more service than intrigue, and he constantly

wrote to the Tsar in that sense. Finally, in September, 1T21,

he received news which he thought would at once decide the

Tsar for war. Daud Bek, ruler of the Lesghians, who had

Vol. II.—30
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asked for Russian assistance to rebel against the Shah, thought

that the time had arrived when he could safely attack a Per-

sian town without aid, and in connection with another petty

prince captured Shemaha, and burned and sacked the better

houses. The Russian merchants were not alarmed, as they had

been assured by the conquerors that they would not be touched.

It was found difficult to restrain the soldiery, and they finally

fell upon the Russian shops in the bazaar, drove away the

clerks, killed several, and carried off all the goods, worth fully

half a million rubles. One very rich merchant, Evreinof, lost

170,000 rubles and was totally ruined. Voljnsky in reporting

this thonght it was an opportunity that should not be lost, as

the Russians could attack Persia under the guise of attacking

the enemies of Persia, and assured the Tsar that ten regiments

of infa,ntry and four of cavalry, with three thousand selected

Cossacks, would be all that would be required, provided they

had sufficient ammunition and provisions. Peace had been

made with Sweden, nothing prevented the Emperor from en-

deavouring to protect Russian trade on the shores of the Cas-

pian, and in December he replied to Yol;^nsky :
' I have re-

ceived your letter in which you wrote about the affair of Daud
Bek, and that now is the very occasion for what you were

ordered to prepare. To this opinion of yours I answer that it

it very evident we should not let this occasion slip. We have

ordered a considerable part of our forces on the Volga to march
to winter quarters, whence they will go to Astrakhan in the

spring. As to what you wrote about the Prince of Georgia

and other Christians, if any of these should be desirable in this

matter give them hopes, but on account of the habitual fickle-

ness of these people, begin nothing until the arrival of our

troops, when we will act according to best counsel.' Makd-
rof wrote at the same time that all were of his opinion with

regard to the occupation of Shemaha, and that he hoped every-

thing would be as he had written. Meanwhile he was trying

to get an order for him to come to Moscow, and added that the

Tsar had looked at and examined the specimens of saffron root

which he had sent, had given them to the gardener to be
planted, and desired him to make some inquiries about the

cultivation of cotton.
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At the beginning of 1722, wMle the Emperor was at Moscow,

news was received from the Russian Consul in Persia, Simeon

Abramof, that the Afghans under the leadership of Mahmud,
the son of Mir Weis, had rebelled against the Shah Hussein,

and after defeating the Persian troops had occupied Ispahan.

Htissein had abdicated in favour of his eldest son, but the

people being discontented with him, he had then appointed his

second, and subsequently his third son, Tahmasp Mirza, but

that even this had done no good as the Persians had been

beaten in the second battle. After this news, and knowing

that the Turks were desirous of profiting by the fall of Persia,

no time was to be lost if the Emperor really intended to estab-

lish himself on the Caspian. Part of the guard was sent from

Moscow on May 14, and ten days later the Emperor himself,

accompanied by Admiral Apraxin, Tolstoi, and Prince Cantemir,

set out for Kolomna, on the river Oka, where they were joined

by the Empress. By boats and barges down the Oka and the

Volga to Astrakhan, even with high water, took them a month

—a journey which even now with railways and steamboats is

not made in less than a week. A month of physical rest like

this was calculated to do Peter mnch good, for the five months

just passed in Moscow had been by no means months of repose.

But even on this voyage Peter's mind was too active to rest.

All day long he was busy with letters, decrees, and plans. He
stopped at every town, looked at objects of interest, talked with

ofBcials and inhabitants at every station, received petitions and

heard complaints, inquired about local needs and resources, and

asked awkward questions about accounts and administration.

Little escaped his keen eye, and besides devising changes in the

style of barges on the Oka and the Volga, he sent fi-om Astra-

khan plans drawn by his own hand of improved cottages for the

peasants. If Peter, with his energy and activity and his ready

intelligence, could only have left war and foreign politics alone,

and studied his own Russian people as well as he had studied

the civilisation and ideas of the West, what real and lasting

benefits might he not have conferred upon his country ! At
Nizhni jS^ovgorod there was a halt of a few days on account of

Peter's birthday, which was celebrated in the usual fashion,

ending up with a banquet in the house of Alexander Stroganof

,
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perhaps then the richest man in Eussia, who, with his two

brothers, in recompense for their great services in developing

the mines of the Ural, had just been created Baron. There

Peter, as natural to every patriot, inquired about the descend-

ants of the famous peasant Minin, who saved Russia from the

Poles, and expressed great regret that his posterity was extinct.

At Kazan, which he was the first Eussian Sovereign and ' Tsar

of Kazan ' to visit since it was conquered by Ivan the Terrible

170 years before, he went almost immediately to the Admiralty

office to inspect the timber sent thence for shipbuilding, and in

consequence of his visit dictated and sent off several decrees,

inspected the Government offices, and immediately noticed the

disappearance of an important record book ; examined carefully

and with much interest a thriving cloth factory belonging to a

merchant of the town, and straightway made over to him the

Grovernment factory, which he had found in bad condition

;

visited the monasteries and churches, and especially the Tartar

quarter, where he conversed freely with the inhabitants. Kazan,

in spite of the years it had been annexed to Eussia, was still in

many respects the capital of the old Tartar kingdom. It con-

trolled the approaches to Siberia and Central Asia, and up to

1719, when Volynsky was appointed Governor of Astrakhan,

the province of Kazan included the whole south-east of Eussia

as far as the Caspian and the Caucasus. So remote in those

times from St. Petersburg, the Governor of Kazan was almost

independent, and it is no wonder that the record book of decrees

issued by the Governor should be missing. Here is an example

of what governors might sometimes do. Count Peter Apraxin

was obliged in 1711 to take the command of an expedition

against the Tartars of Kubdn. When he got to Tsaritsyn,

being in perplexity whom he should leave behind him in

Kazan, he suddenly thought of his infant son, four months old,

and immediately sent an order to Kazan appointing him his

substitute, and on account of his youth entrusting the govern-

ment to his old and faithful private servants. This decree was

read at a public assembly of the inhabitants of Kazan in the

presence of the infant son sweetly sleeping under a blanket.

AVhen Apraxin returned to Kazan he ordered his son to be

brought into the audience hall, and thanked him for his ser-
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vices, when the haby began to cry. Thereupon Apraxin said :

' See what a wise child I have. He is so glad to see me that

he weeps with joy.' At this the people exclaimed :
' Every-

thing, lord, rests with thee,' and Apraxin replied :
' Yes, on

whom could matters depend except on us Apraxiiis ?

'

After leaving Kazan, when after a busy day he managed to

see Yevreinof, one of the explorers he had sent to Kamschatka,

hear his account of his journey, and see his map of the Kurile

Islands, which still did not settle the question of the straits

separating Asia from America, Peter visited with great curiosity

the ruins of the ancient town of Bolgar, the capital of the old

Bulgarian kingdom on the Volga, where at that time there were

ruins of over fifty stone buildings with an old castle on the hill.

He ordered the ruins to be surveyed, the various inscriptions to

be copied, and a guard to be placed there to prevent their de-

struction. At Saratof he received Ayuka, the Khan of the

Kalmuks, then eighty-three years old. The Khan's wife and

daughter, accompanied by a suite of Kalmuk women, were suit-

ably entertained by the Empress.

A month was spent at Astrakhan in further preparations

for the campaign, during which Peter had opportunities for

studying and generally approvingVol;^nsky's methods of admin-

istration, for seeing whether the German and Hungarian vines

he had sent grew well on the banks of the Volga, and for com-

municating with the princes of Georgia. A proclamation was

drawn up by Prince Cantemir in Persian, Tartar, and Turkish,

to the effect that the Russians had come as friends of the Shah,

to aid him against the rebels who had attacked Shemaha, and

especially promising protection to the subjects of the Porte.

The forces of- the expedition amounted to 22,000 infantry,

9,000 cavalry, 20,000 Cossacks, and as many Kalmuks, 30,000

Tartars, and 5,000 sailors. While the cavalry was sent over-

land to Derbent, the Emperor with the infantry embarked at

Astrakhan on July 29. Navigation was slow on the rough

Caspian ; a week was consumed in sailing two hundred miles,

and it was only on August 7, the anniversary of the victory of

Hango Udd, that the troops landed on the shore of the little

bay of Agrakhan. Peter went first to land, carried on a

board by four sailors, the water being too shallow for the
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boats to come close to the shore. A small fortified camp was

built, and news was received that the brigadier Veterani, who
had been sent to occupy Endery, had been attacked in a de-

file with considerable loss, but that the place had finally been

carried.

Peter still had his love for practical jokes, and ordered that

every one of his suite who had not previously been on the Cas-

pian Sea should bathe in it. He himself was let down into the

water three times on a board, and laughed heartily at the mis-

adventures and feai's of the rest. The delicate duty of looking

after this operation—for many of the older men were unable to

swim—he imposed upon Soim6nof, a young naval officer related

to the Golofkins and Naryshkins, who had studied abroad, had

made several cruises with Peter, had surveyed and mapped the

Caspian, and on account of his activity and intelligence had

been appointed captain of the boat on which the Emperor de-

scended the Volga. On preparing to cross the Sulak and march
to Derbent, there was a question of how to dispose of the trans-

ports, some of which had been injured, and Peter suggested

sinking them. Soimonof, who knew the coast, said there was
a place near by where they could be kept until their return.

' How far ?
' said Peter. ' About two miles,' was the reply.

' Very well,' continued the Emperor, ' prepare a sloop and crew

and I will go there with you and look at it,' and after many
difficulties measured himself the depth of the water and ex-

plored the spot in all its details. On the return one of the

officers said, ' Our trouble was not in vain, for we have found a

place where the boats will be safe.' ' Everything is obtained

by pains,' replied Peter. ' Even India was not easily found

after the long journey round the Cape of Good Hope.' To this

Soimonof said that Eussia had a much nearer road to India,

and explained the water system of Siberia, how easily and with

how little land-carriage goods could be sent from Russia to the

Pacific, and then by ships to India. Peter replied :
' It is a

long distance and of no use yet awhile.' Then pointing to the

mountains along the shore of the Caspian, said :
' Have you

ever been in the Gulf of Astrabad ? Yoii must know then that

those mountains extend to Astrabad, and that from there to

Balkh and Badakshan with pack camels is only a twelve days'
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journey, and on that road to India no one cam, interfere with

After waiting for the cavalry, which had suffered much ia

its march across the steppes, Peter moved southward along the

coast, between the mountains and the sea, and met from time to

time by the petty princes of the neighbourhood. At Tarku he
was received with every demonstration of welcome by the Sham-
khal Abdul-G-hirei, who even invited the Emperor into his

harem, where the Prince's two wives and many other women
kissed his feet and then his hand. Eefreshments were served

in Eastern style, and Peter was struck with the many beautifully-

worked dishes of precious metal, and on inquiry found that they

came from the Persian town of Meshed. On departure the

host, as customary in the East, offered the Emperor a fine grey

horse with gilt and jewelled trappings. Subsequently both

wives of Abdul-Ghirei visited the Empress, bringing her a

present of grapes. On the Festival of the Assumption Peter

and Catherine heard service in a chapel erected for the purpose

by the Preobrazhensky regiment, after which Peter himself

measured the place where the chapel had stood and placed a

stone there—an example followed by the Empress and all who
were present—and in this way a pyramid was quickly raised in

remembrance of the Russian mass at Tarku. The heat was so

great that Peter had his head shaved, and a wig made of the

hair, which he wore in the cool of the evening. During the

day he covered himself with a broad-brimmed hat. Catherine

followed his example, but found herself more comfortable in a

fnr cap. Among the mountain princes there was at least one

recalcitrant—the Sultan of Utemysh, who, though he had re-

plied to Yolynsky's proposals, did not now present himself, and

when three Cossacks were sent with a letter to him he murdered

' Soimonof had the fate which met so many intelligent and patriotic Rus-

sians in the next epoch. After rising to he Vioe-Admiral and Commissary-

General and Vice-President of the Navy Board, he was in 1740 implicated in

the fall of Vol^nsky, tortured, knouted, degraded, and sent to Okhotsk as a

lahourer in the salt works. Two years after, Elizabeth returned him his

sword, but not his rank, and he devoted himself for seventeen years to the

exploration of Siberia, when his valuable services were rewarded by the Gov-

ernorship of Siberia. In 1763 he was made Senator, and died in 1780 at the

age of ninety-nine.
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them and attacked the Kussian troops. After a sharp struggle

he was defeated and his village burned. The Russians were

surprised at the methods of warfare used in this their first ex-

perience in the long struggle for the subjugation of the Cauca-

sus. ' It is very astonishing how these barbarians fight. When
they are together they do not hold at all but run away, while

separately each man resists so desperately that when he has

thrown away his musket as if he were going to surrender he

begins to fight with his dagger.' There was no opposition at

Derbent, for the town was destitute of troops, the Governor ap-

pointed by the Shah had gone to Persia for help, and on Sep-

tember 3, the IS^aib, who had previously been in negotiation with

the Russians, came out to meet the Emperor, fell on his knees,

and presented him with two silver keys of the castle gates.

Derbent was of importance from its strong and commanding
situation, for as it was built in the narrowest passage between

the mountains and the sea, the road passed through it. Hence
came its name in the East—' the Iron Gates.' Its possession

conferred no slight prestige, for tradition ascribed its founda-

tion to Alexander the Great.

The refusal of the authorities at Baku to accept a Russian

garrison, the affair at Utemysh, the non-arrival of the transport

fleet, which owing to disasters had put in at Agrakhan, the

small supplies on hand or obtainable, convinced Peter that any

further advance was foolhardy. A council of war was held,

and after leaving a garrison at Derbent, and giving the Naib
the nominal rank of a Russian major-general, the retreat was

begun with the greatest precaution against attacks. On the

river Sulak the Emperor established a new fortress, called Fort

Holy Cross, which he thought would protect the Russian fron-

tiers better than the former fort on the Terek, which was in an

unsuitable position. After visiting some mineral waters on the

Terek, Peter sailed back to Astrakhan, where he arrived on

October 15. Apraxin, who followed him, met with a frightful

storm lasting four days, and was nearly shipwrecked.

While attending to the welfare of his troops, putting them
into comfortable quarters, and looking after the sick—for the

extreme heat, and especially the abundance of fruit and melons,

had caused much disease—Peter was himself prostrated by a
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severe attack of illness, an appearance of the, difficulty which

subsequently proved fatal. It was not, too, without regret that

he had seen himself obliged to abandon a plan which seems to

have taken strong hold on his mind. He had intended, after

occupying Baku, to found at the motith of the river Kura a

great commercial city, which would serve as a meeting place

for the trade of India, Persia, and the Caucasus. He had then

wished to go up the Kura to Tiflis, assure himself of the

allegiance of its ruler Vakhtan, re-establish Christianity in

Georgia, and then cross the mountains to the Terek. Mean-

while he sent Colonel Shipof with a small expedition against

Eesht, at the southern end of the Caspian, and on November
24 started himself for Moscow, which he entered in triumph

on December 25, welcomed, as usual, with a congratulatory

address by the Archbishop Theophan Prokopovitch, and flatter-

ing inscriptions which spoke of a mightier than Alexander.

His return had not been without difficulty, for his boats got

frozen in on the Volga, a hundred miles below Tsaritsyn ; he

had trouble in getting ashore and finding sledges in which to

continue his journey.

Eesht was occupied by Colonel Shipof, without difficulty,

late ia the autumn of , 1Y32, but the attitude of the population

was by no means satisfactory, and in March, after Shipof had

found it advisable to fortify the caravanserai in which his

troops were quartered, the governor, who had collected some

fifteen thousand men, endeavoured to induce him to go back to

Russia, on the ground that there was now a sufficient force to

protect the town against rebels without Persian aid. Shipof

made excuses, finally led out his little force by night, and

successfully attacked the Persians, who far surpassed him in

numbers. In a similar way a hundred Eussians defended

against five thousand men the three vessels which were still left

to them. Meanwhile negotiations were going on with the

Persian Government. Even in July (1722) Peter had sent to

the Consul Abramof the points which he wished to propose to

the Shah ; namely, that the Russians should occupy Shemaha
and other towns, to protect them against the enemies of the

Persians and especially the Turks, and that they should assist

them against all their enemies, but that in return for their
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services they must have the provinces on the Caspian. Abramof

began his negotiations with Tahmasp, who was then at Kasbin,

but thought it best to say nothing about the compensation, and

persuaded the Persians to send an ambassador to St. Petersburg

to negotiate there. He prophesied at the same time the entire

ruin of Persia, as the Afghans vrere advancing without opposi-

tion, the Kurds were devastating the neighbourhood of Tabriz,

and Tahmasp was unable to get together more than four hun-

dred men.

General Matiiishkin occupied Baku in the course of the next

summer, which was deemed of such importance that he was at

once promoted to be a lieutenant-general. At the end of Septem-

ber Peter wrote to him: 'I congratulate you on all the provinces

lying on the coast of the Caspiauj since the Persian ambassador

has ceded them all.' This treaty with Persia forced upon

Ismail Bek, the ambassador sent by Tahmasp on Abramof's

representations, was signed at St. Petersburg on September 23,

1Y23, by which in return for aid to be rendered to Tahmasp
and the recovery for him of the Persian throne, he agreed to

give up Derbent, Baku, as well as the three provinces of Ghilan,

Mazanderan, and Astrabad. Six months later Peter sent Ma-
tiiishkin orders to explore in several directions, to find out the

communications with countries lying beyond, especially the

water communications in the Caucasus, to obtain information

about sugar, madder, copper, naphtha, and the other productions

of the countrj', to use all means to induce the Armenians and
other Christians (if there be any) to settle in these provinces,

and to drive out in a quiet way the Mohammedans, especially

those of the Turkish sect.

It was, however, one thing to sign a treaty with Persia and

another to get it ratified, and when Prince Boris Mestchersky,

with Abramof as his secretary, was sent to Persia in 1724 for

this purpose, he was not only badly received, but was compelled

to return without accomplishing anything.

It was to be expected that Eussian and Turkish interests

would clash in the breaking up of Persia. "While Peter was
receiving petitions for help from the Armenians, the Georgians,

and other Christian peoples, the Lesghians and the other

Mohammedans of the mountains were asking the protection of
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the Sultan. Such petitions were received with pleasure at

Constantinople, and the Turks even put forward the pretensions

that Persia as a Mohammedan, though an heretical country,

belonged to Turkey. Nepliiief, the Russian Resident, did his

best to arrange an understanding with the Porte, by which

both Russia and Turkey coiald be satisfied at the expense of

Persia. The Marquis de Bonac, the French ambassador, acted

as the friend of both sides (though without instructions '), and

took a constant part in the negotiations. The Emperor fearing

lest the Turks should be hostile and put his Minister in the

Seven Towers, had entrusted the despatches for him to Cam-
predon, who sent them to Bonac, and this was the pretext for

interference. At the very beginning Bonac told ISTepMief that

if the Russians limited themselves to the Caspian provinces,

and did not approach the Turkish boundaries on the side of

Armenia and Georgia, the Porte would remain indifferent and
would perhaps take something for itself. Nepliiief replied

that the Emperor did not wish to destroy the Persian monarchy,

and would allow no one else to do so. To this Bonac remarked

:

' People always say so at first. But I say, as a friend, that you
can neither prevent the Turks nor the Turks you. You will

do better not to come near the Turkish boundaries. Pursue

your own aims and get possession of the Caspian provinces as

soon as possible, but do not declare in writing to the Porte that

you do not wish any conquests in Persia, because, whatever

you may say now, circumstances may arise to-morrow which

will force you to act quite differently.' At first Bonac seemed

to be right, and the Turks showed every willingness to allow

the Russians to occupy the shores of the Caspian, so long as

they did not touch Imeritia and Georgia or come near the

Black Sea, but the Polish Internuncio endeavoured to excite

their suspicions, and then the English minister interfered,

Turkish troops were ordered to occupy Georgia, artillery and

' The Marquis de Bonao was never asked for Ms full powers, and received

instructions (fortunately for him, approving liis conduct) only when the treaty

was ready to be signed. He was at one time left eighteen months without

replies to his despatches. There was a belief that Cardinal Dubois sometimes

cleared off liis correspondence by burning all the letters on his table.—Comte
. tic St. Priest, Memoirea mr VAnibmsade de France en Turquie, pp. 133, 356.
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animunition were sent to Azof and Erzerum, and matters

looked so threatening that Nepluief sent his son to Holland,

partly to get him out of the way and partly for the sake of his

education, and destroyed all his correspondence that was not

written in cipher. Indeed, in November, 1722, the Grand

Vizier told Nepluief that he had been ordered to write to the

Emperor to evacuate Persian territory, on the ground that it

disturbed the neighbouring nations and was especially displeas-

ing to the Turks. The Porte took the side of the Afghans

ao-ainst the Persians, and even entered into relations with the

Khan of Khiva against the Kussians. "When it was ascertained

that the Emperor had returned from Derbent, Turkish suspi-

cions were for the moment put at rest, although the opportunity

was seized by the Porte for strengthening itself still more in

the Caucasus. Nepliiief now received instructions to try to

come to some understanding with the Porte with regard to

Persia, bilt in February, 1723, the Grand Yizier declared that

there was no reason fqr an understanding, that the Afghans

had occupied the whole of Persia and were under the protection

of the Porte, that all the Mohammedan nations in the Caucasus

had become subjects of Turkey, that as to any satisfaction de-

manded for the attack on the Russian merchants in Shemaha,

the Russians had received that by their march to Derbent, and

ended by saying :
' Every one would like to increase his posses-

sions, but the balance of power in this world does not allow it.

For instance, we should like to send an army against Italy and

other weak countries, but the other rulers do not allow it. In

the same way we are now looking after Persia.' A few days

afterwards the interpreter of the Porte came to Nepliiief and

stated to him that if the Russians had any claims against the

Lesghians or the Afghans they should apply to the Porte, as

Persia was now subject to Turkey ; that the Emperor of Russia

must imn^ediately withdraw his troops from Persian possessions,

and that if he did not the Porte would be obliged to make war

upon him. He said at the same time, under cover of secrecy,

that the English ambassador had just handed in a long memorial

written in Turkish accusing the Russians of having collected a

large army for the purpose of occupying Daghestan and the

shores of the Black Sea, and advising the Porte to fight, as
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Russia was now very weak, being at enmity with all the coun-

tries of Europe. Nepliiief again sought • the advice of the

French ambassador, who then regarded matters as very serious,

and said :
' Eeport to your Court the whole business in two

words, "Keep peace with Turkey and do not meddle with
Persian affairs, or continue the war in Persian dominions and
quarrel with Turkey." ' Although Bonac spoke too decisively

as it turned out, for the Porte did not much wish to go to war,

Nepldief showed Ms gratitude by two sable furs worth 1,300
rubles.

Peter was not to be turned from his purpose, and immedi-
ately made preparations for war. Prince Michael Golitsyn was
appointed commander-in-chief of the army of the Ukraine,

troops were ordered to be in readiness, Cossacks were got

together, and on April 20 he wrote to Nepluief : ' Our interests

do not allow any other power, whoever it may be, to establish

itself on the Caspian, and as concerns Derbent and other places

in which we now have garrisons, they have never been in the

possession of the Persian rebels, of the Lesghians, or of Mir
Weis, and, as can be easily shown, came of their own accord

under our protection ; and if the Porte, contrary to the eternal

peace, is going to take under its protection the Lesghians, our

well-known enemies, it ought to be less disagreeable to the

Porte i£ we take under our protection people who have never

had any relation whatever with the Porte, and are a long way
off from it on the very shores of the Caspian, to which we can-

not allow any other power to come.' Amidst this talk of war
Peter was interested in a commercial question. He had heard

that Italy, which had formerly been supplied from Russia, had
received large quantities of caviar from Constantinople, and he
asked NepMief whence this caviar came, whether it was pre-

pared in Turkey or sent there by Russian merchants, and if so

from what place and in what quantities ?

The English minister still continued to insinuate to the Porte

that a war with Russia was not dangerous, as a rebellion would
at once break out in the Empire, and entered into relations

with Orlik, the old Cossack Hetman, who had returned from
Sweden, whither he had gone with Charles XII., and was now
living at Salonica. The Turks expressed great astonishment
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that the Emperor should have conduded a treaty with an un-

known person assuming to be the Shah of Persia, when it was

well known that there was now no sovereign in that country,

and that consequently Persia naturally fell under the dominion

of the Porte. "What profit could there be to Russia from a

treaty with Tahmasp, who had been obliged to run away to

Mount Ararat, and live there like a wild man ? Soon all Per-

sia would be conquered by the Turks, and as all the people

there naturally objected to the Kussians, because since the old-

est time no Christian foot had trodden Persia, by this very

treaty the peace between Russia and the Porte was broken.

In January,, 1724, the interpreter of the Porte came to JSTep-

luief and wished to know if Russia accepted the Turkish con-

ditions, as otherwise war would be declared, and he must choose

one of three things—to return to Russia, to go with the Grand
Yizier on the campaign, or to remain a private man at Constan-

tinople, for he could no longer be recognised as Minister ; that

it was umisual in such cases to leave a Minister at liberty, but

still an exception would be made in his favor on account of his

previous good conduct. Nepliiief chose to return to Russia,

and immediately sent for his passports ; but they were not given,

and through the intervention of Bonac, who said that he had

information from St. Petersburg that Russia would not first

begin a war, the Sultan resolved not to declare war against Rus-

sia but only to prepare for one. It was finally arranged that

Bonac should send his nephew to St. Petersburg to communi-
cate with Campredon, and get the exact views of the Emperor.

Meanwhile England continued to insinuate that Russia desired

to obtain possession not only of the Persian but also of the

whole Eastern trade, in consequence of which goods which had

formerly been sent to Europe through the Turkish dominions

would henceforth go by way of Russia, and that then the Eng-
lish and other Europeans would leave Turkey, to the great det-

riment of that country. Bonac's nephew returned in May, 1724,

and after the treaty had been revised some ten times, it was

finally signed at the end of June. By this Shemaha was left in

the possession of Daud Bek, as a vassal of the Porte, while the

northern provinces adjoining the Caspian were given over to

Russia. The Emperor promised to use his influence with the
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Shah Tahmasp to cede to Turkey the provinces on the Black

Sea occupied by Turkish troops, and if unsuccessful to unite

with Turkey against Persia. Eumiantsof was sent as envoy

extraordinary to Constantinople with the ratifications, and with

instructions at the same time to settle the boundaries of the

ceded provinces. After his departure Peter sent him a rescript

—the last instructions which he wrote on Eastern affairs—with

regard to the Armenians and the permission given to them to

settle in the Caspian provinces. ' If the Turks say anything

about this, reply that we have not invited the Armenians, but

that they, on account of the unity of belief, had begged us to

take them under our protection. For the sake of Christianity

it is impossible for us to refuse this to the Armenians, who
are Christians. As the Vizier himself has often said, it is im-

possible to refuse protection to those of the same faith who
ask it.'

Thus everything seemed well arranged. But to judge of

the correctness, profit, or success of Peter's policy, we must take

into account subsequent events. The Persians absolutely re-

fused to ratify the treaty with Russia, or to consent to any par-

tition, and continued the war both with Russia and Turkey.

Finally, in 1732, the Empress Anne concluded a treaty at Resht,

restoring to Persia all the conquered provinces. General Man-
stein," writing a few years later, says :

' The Court, who would

have long before been highly pleased with any good pretence

for getting rid with honour of those provinces which Peter I.

had conquered from Persia, and of which the keeping cost

more than they were worth (a prodigious number of people

having perished in them), an expedient was at length found.

A negotiation was entered upon for this purpose with the Court

of Ispahan, and the provinces were ceded to it, in consideration

of several advantages granted to commerce.

'Russia had been obliged to keep near thirty thousand men
in garrison in those provinces, and not a year passed without

its being necessary to recruit the deficiency of above one half,

as the Russians, not being able to endure the climate, died like

flies there. It was reckoned that from the year 1722, in which

' Memoirs of Bussia, p. 58. London, 1770.
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Peter I. had entered that country, to the time that the Rus-

sians evacuated it, there had perished a hundred and thirty

thousand men in it.'

'

' Golikof , V. , vi. , vii. , ix. ; SoloviSf, xiy. , xviii. ; Materials of the Arehvees

of the Staff, St. Petersburg, 1871 ; CoUection of Prince Hilkof, St. Petersburg,

1879 ; Hammer, xiv. ; Herrmann. K.E.V. Baer, Aeter's des Cfrossen Verdt-

enshe um die Ervmiterung der OeograpJiesehen Kennimee, St. Petersburg, 1872,
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THE LAST YEARS.—1723-1735.

The only interruption to the gaiety at Moscow was the almost

sudden arrival of the Emperor in December, 1722. It had not

been thought that he could come so quickly. Not but that the

gaiety went on after his arrival, but for a moment it gave place

to apprehension. The quarrels between the high officers of

State had reached a pass not before known. Even Yaguzhin-

sky had controlled them with difficulty—Yagushinsky whom
before his departure the Emperor had created Procurator-Gen-

eral, and of whom he had said to the Senate :
' Here is my eye,,

by whom I shall see everything. He knows my intentions and
wishes. Do what he approves, even though it seems to you
that he acts contrary to my interests and those of the State.

Yet do as he says ; then after you have informed me of it wait

for my decision.' During the Emperor's absence the Senate

and colleges had been moved to Moscow, and when Yaguzhin-

sky had been obliged to return for a while to St. Petersburg, as

he had foreseen, the quarrel of which we have before spoken

broke out between Shafirof, Menshikof, and Pisaref." These

and similar disputes made all sides more than usually fearful

of the Emperor's return, and scarcely one in his heart really

welcomed him back, except the Tsaritsa Prascovia and the

Duchess of Mecklenburg. ' The Emperor has now learnt from

experience,' writes Mardefeld, ' that the creation of colleges

and the prohibition of making complaints to him personally are

a bad resource for the oppressed and poor. There are over six-

teen thousand unfinished eases in the Senate, partly because in

the provinces there are none but thieves and petty tyrants,

partly because the empire is too great, and especially because it

' See p. 364.

Vol. II.—31
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is not good to hunt witb unwilling dogs, and the magnates would

much rather do nothing than sit in those colleges.' Even the

palace servants had neglected to get in wood and stores at Preo-

brazhonsky, and the inspectors of the new buildings had let the

summer pass without doing anything, feeling sure that the Em-
peror would not return for a long time yet. The investigation

of the disputes in the Senate, with the subsequent punishment

of Shafirof, was the first subject to occupy Peter's attention.

After that came the further accusations of dishonesty against

Menshikof, the torturing of a State prisoner by the Tsaritsa

Prascovia, and many lesser matters. It was deemed best to re-

move Menshikof from his office as President of the College of

War, but while this was viewed by most as preliminary to his

disgrace, the blow was greatly softened to him by appearing to

be the consequence of a decree of the previous year, which lim-

ited the term of service of the President to five years. Prince

Kepnin was subsequently appointed in his place.

The long stay of the Ministers and other foreigners at Mos-

cow enabled them to make a closer acquaintance with the ways

in which crime was judged and punished in Pussia. Young
Ramodanofsky, who had succeeded to the place of his father,

both as Prince Ceesar and Supreme Criminal Judge, was no
milder or less summary. Executions were public, and often

interesting in their very repulsiveness. The Russian peasant

was so wretched that death was hardly worse to him than life,

and he showed at times a remarkable stoicism. In October,

1722, for instance, three murderers and counterfeiters were

broken on the wheel. They received but one blow on each arm
and leg ; their arms were broken and their legs were crushed,

but they still remained alive, and were bound face downwards
to the wheels, which were placed horizontally on stout pillars.

One, an old man, who had been worn out by previous torture,

died a few hours afterwards, but the other two, sturdy youths,

lived a long time. They indifferently and even merrily looked
about, uttering neither groans nor complaints, nor showing any
signs of suffering. One of them, to the astonishment of the

spectators, with great difficulty raised his broken arm, wiped
his nose on the cuff of his sleeve, and then, noticing that a few
drops of blood had fallen on the wheel, again, with immense
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effort, raised up his arm and rubbed clean tlie instrument of

torture. Another man, who had been hung to a hook by the

ribs, succeeded the night afterwards in raising himself up on

the rope and taking out the hook. He fell to the ground,

crawled for some hundred paces on all-fours, and concealed him-

self, but was found and hanged again in the same way.

In the midst of such punishments and of the daily tortures

and examinations at Preobrazhensky on charges of treason,

there was no cessation of social gaiety. During the holidays

the Emperor with the Prince Pope, the Drunken Synod, and a

procession of maskers, went about from house to house with

songs and congratulations. The New Year was celebrated with

the accustomed pomp, the river Moskva was blessed amid the

salutes of cannon on the Epiphany, the assemblies continued

three times a week, there were representations at the theatre,

until owing to some carelessness the hospital in which it was

held was bnrnt down, and during the Carnival there was a great

masked procession like that of the year before. In this there

were more than sixty sledges, representing ships and boats from

a frigate to a shallop. First came the car of Bacchus, very

well and naturally represented, as his votary had been kept

drunk for three daj^s and nights previously. He was followed

by one of the Court fools, dressed as a bear, and drawn by six

bear cubs. Then came a sledge drawn by four hogs, then a

Circassian drawn by ten dogs. After that came the College of

Cardinals in full pontifical robes, venerable on account of their

years, but mounted on oxen ; then the great car of the Prince

Pope, who sat on a throne surrounded by his archbishops and

priests, giving his blessing right and left, and attended by Sile-

nus astride of a cask. The Prince Caesar, as the representative

of the Emperor, followed with his royal crown, accompanied

by two bears. Then came N^eptune with Tritons, and finally a

great two-decked frigate of thirty-two guns, eight of which were

really bronze, with three masts, under full sail, about thirty feet

in length. The Emperor, dressed as a sailor, acted as captain

to fifteen active and skilled sailor boys, and from time to time

manoeuvred the sails according to the wind. Then a sea-serpent,

a hundred feet long, the tail being made of twenty-four little

sledges fastened together so as to twist about. Next a great
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gilded barge with the Empress as a Frisian peasant woman,
with all her Court as negroes ; then Menshikof as an abbot with

his suite, the Princess Menshik6f with a band of Spanisli girls,

an armed frigate with the Grand Admiral dressed as the Burgo-

master of Hamburg, the shallop of the Duke of Holstein, Ger-

mans, Poles, Chinese, Persians, Circassians, Siberians, Lutheran

pastors, priests, pilgrims, the foreign ministers in blue dominoes

with all their servants on horseback in the same dress, and the

Prince of Moldavia apparelled as a Turk. The next day the

Empress appeared as an amazon with her Court as sailors. In

all there were more than a thousand masks. Erom time to

time refreshments wei-e offered, but no one was obliged to

drink against his will ; on the other hand the maskers were

sometimes nearly frozen.

' The masquerade is at the door, and the talk is only about

amusements at a time when the common people have tears in

their eyes,' writes Lefort. ' "We are on the eve of some sad

extremity. The misery increases from day to day, the streets

are full of people who try to sell their children. Orders have

been published to give nothing to beggars. What will they

become but highway robbers ? Night thieves show themselves

here, and they publicly attack people on the Petersburg road.

There is not a reserve storehouse in all Eussia. Grain has

been bought from Prussia and Danzig for two hundred thou-

sand rubles, but what is that for this vast country ? In Astra-

khan there are already provisions for more than a year for an

army of eighty thousand men.' During this and the following

year, owing to the failure of the harvests, the destitution in

Kussia was very great, and the Government strained every

nerve to meet the emergency. Mardefeld wrote at the end of

April that the ' grain stores are already so arranged that in case

there is no general bad harvest there will be no fear of famine.

Discontent, however, in all ranks could not well be greater

than it is now. But as a chief is lacking, and as in this

humbled nation, so accustomed to slavery, fear is so great, I

cannot believe that in this Emperor's lifetime anything can

break out, although this Government is very similar to that of

the Tsar Ivan the Terrible ; except that then the clergy were

esteemed and benefited, whereas by this Government they are
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fully brought under the yoke, yet they must be regarded as a

dangerous fire hidden under the ashes.' A month later he

adds, in speaking of the condition of the army, that the finan-

cial resources had been entirely exhausted by the ' despotic

power which allows no one to possess anything which he can

call his own. With this power the whole city of St. Petersburg

has been built, as well as the immense and vast ship canals and
harbours. But if his Majesty should give this up for a little,

as well as the useless annual equipment of the fleet, he would
not lack money. The badly directed Persian campaign, and
the money which has to be expended every year to appease the

Ottoman Porte, are two of the greatest causes of the lack of

funds. This can be considered a steady truth, that so long as

affairs remain as they are the Court will hold it as a chief

maxim to mix in no affairs which can have the least conse-

quences.' Lefort writes later again still more plainly: 'The
army and navy chests have been exhausted in useless expendi-

ture, such as building the port of Eogerwyk, the canals of

Ladoga, Cronstadt, and three others. Not only does the master

ruin himself, but he is obliging his subjects to do the same.

The houses of Yasili-Ostrof have to be ready this year ; if not,

confiscation of goods and lands. Notwithstanding all this the

Government pays neither the troops, nor the navy, nor the

colleges, nor anybody. Everybody cries misery. The inhabi-

tants of Moscow are forced to establish themselves at St. Peters-

burg, which is not done without great expense. And yet it is

not certain but that they may return to Moscow.'

Peter left Moscow for St. Petersburg at the beginning of

March. Before going he treated his friends to a new and

somewhat original exhibition of fireworks, in addition to those

which they had witnessed during the winter. With his own
hands he set fire to his old wooden villa at Preobrazhensky.

Chemicals of various kinds had been lavishly distributed, so

that many coloured fires for some time showed the architecture

with a theatrical effect. When these had gone out and the

blackened beams were but too visible, he said, turning to the

Duke of Holstein :
' This is an image of war : brilliant victories,

after which destruction follows. But with this house, in which
my first plans against Sweden were worked out, may every
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thought disappear which can at any time arm my hand against

that kingdom, and may it always be the most faithful ally of

my empire !

' Peter had already begun to build a new palace at

Moscow, on ground bought from the children of Admiral

Golovin.

During the spring Peter pursued his usual occupations and

amusements in St. Petersburg and the suburbs. He stayed for

some time at Peterhof, where he drank for a while a prepared

mineral water, and took all kinds of exercise, even to mowing
grass and long walks with a knapsack on his back. The Prus-

sian Hesident complained that for some weeks the Ministers

had not been able to consult with him. ' The Emperor was so

occupied with his villas and with sailing on the gulf, that none

had the heart to interrupt him.' In June the whole Court

accompanied him for some weeks by sea to Eeval and Riga.

Even the old Tsaritsa Prascovia, in spite of her dropsical gout,

felt it her duty to make the voyage, though she suffered very

greatly. The return was so arranged as to meet at Cronstadt

the little boat in which Peter had taken his first lessons iu

navigation on the Yauza, which was then conducted to St.

Petersburg with great ceremony. The feast lasted ten hours,

at which every one was obliged to be present. The Emperor
seemed especially disposed to drink, several times said that the

man who did not get drunk on that day would be a good-for-

nothing fellow ; the result was a scene the like of which no

foreigner could recall during his stay in Kussia. Even the

ladies, the Empress, the Duchess of Mecklenburg, and the other

members of the Impei-ial family were obliged to remain. After

a good number of glasses, Peter became very affectionate. He
constantly kissed his dear Duke of Holstein, who had distin-

guished himself by the amount of his potations, took off his

wig, kissed him on the top of his head, on the back of his neck,

on his forehead, and on his lips. The same sentimental feeling

swayed many distinguished personages. They wept, embraced,

and kissed, and soon passed to quarrels and blows. Even the

Duchess of Mecklenburg took more than was good for her, and
the little Princesses Anne and Elizabeth, with surprising polite-

ness, passed round the glasses of strong Hungarian wine, and

M'ith inimitable grace drank the heel-taps. Who knows but
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what this was the beginning of that unfortunate habit of strong

drink which brought the Empress Elizabeth to an untimely

end?

Soon after there was a public masquerade, lasting a week, in

commemoration of the peace of Nystad, at which all the Court

were obliged to give their written promise to appear. Peter

dressed sometimes as a Catholic cardinal, sometimes as a Pro-

testant clergyman, having borrowed at least his collar from the

Lutheran pastor ; sometimes as a sailor or a drummer, and he

was able to ply his drum-sticks in a way to excite envy. His
sister-in-law, Prascovia, died not long after, for whom he

grieved sincerely, and whom he buried with all the honours

due to a Tsaritsa, but with just a shade of distinction from the

ceremonial needed for an Empress. During the autumn he

made a visit to the Ladoga canal, now making great pi'ogress

under the skilful management of Miinnich, and during the

winter went again to the waters of Olonetz, where as usual he

filled up the heavy hours of leisure by practising on the turning

lathe, and by hammering sheets of iron. Then he went to

Moscow for the coronation of Catherine.

In the early part of 1722 (February 16), before leaving for

the Persian campaign, the Emperor had issued a decree with

regard to the succession, abolishing as autocrat the previous rale

of hereditary succession, and proclaiming that every Emperor
should choose his immediate successor as he thought best. A
special oath to carry out this decree was imposed on all officials

and subjects in general. The Emperor thus passed over the

claims of his little grandson Peter. There can be no question

but what he was somewhat inclined to leave the throne to one

of his daughters—although on account pai-tly of the divorce of

Eudoxia and the irregular marriage with Catherine, there were

doubts about their legitimacy—or at all events to the husband

of one of them. But at times his thoughts ranged between his

grandson and his wife. In any case he thought it best to make
such a disposition that, should he die suddenly without coming

to a decision, Catherine should succeed him without question.

She was called Empress by courtesy as wife of the Emperor,

but had never been drowned, a ceremony, indeed, unusual in

Kussia for the wife of the Tsar, and which had only' been prac-



488 PETER THE GEEAT.

tised in the case of Maria Mnishek, the wife of the so-called

false Demetrius. A decree was issued in November, 1723, au-

thorising preparations for Catherine's coronation, recounting all

her services to him and to the State, laying especial stress on

what she had doile during the campaign on the Pruth (for

which he had already founded the Order of St. Catherine), and

citing precedents from the history of the Byzantine Empire.

The coronation took place on May 18, 1724, in the Cathedral of

the Assumption at Moscow. The ceremony was conducted by

the Metropolitan of Novgorod, and Theophan Prokopovitch,

Bishop of Pskof, preached the sermon, but Peter himself placed

the crown on the head of his wife, while keeping the sceptre in

his own hand. Feasts, masquerades, and balls, together with

popular festivities, lasted for days, and as if to show that he had

prepared for Catherine a power equal to his own, he allowed

her to create Peter Tolstoi a Count. Yaguzhinsky was at the

same time made a Cavalier of the Order of St. Andrew, and

many promotions were made among the officers and officials.

In several cases punishments were lightened, as in that of

Prince Basil Dolgoriiky, but the Empress asked in vain for the

pardon of Shafirof , who was dragging out a miserable exist-

ence at Novgorod.

Bassewitz says that the night before the coronation, Peter

with several Senators visited an English merchant, where he
found a number of High Church dignitaries, including the

Archbishops of Novgorod and Pskof, and the Chancellor Gol-

ofkin. After conversation had grown warm, the Emperor said

that the ceremony the following day was more important than

they might think, for he was crowning Catherine in order to

give her the right to rule the State. It was evident that he
said this to draw out an opinion, but all bore themselves with

so much tact, that he felt sure that no one would oppose his

intentions.

On returning to St. Petersburg, Peter showed, as several

times of late, a strange disinclination to public business. Mar-
defeld writes to Frederick William :

' No expressions are strong

enough to give your Majesty a just idea of the unendurable

negligence and confusion with which the most important affairs

are treated here, so that neither foreign envoys nor Russian
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ministers know where to turn. The answers which we get from

the Kussian ministers are only sighs, and they confess them-

selves in despair about the difficulties that they have with re-

gard to every proposition. This is no feint, but the real truth.

Here nothing is considered important until it stands on the

edge of the precipice.'

^Nevertheless it is now necessary to say a few words about

the relations of Russia to foreign powers, since Peter by the

peace of Nystad and his proclamation as Emperor, had arrived

at the height of his power.

The Armenians were not the only Christians whom Russia

felt called upon to protect. There were in the Russian prov-

inces of Poland men of Russian blood, who still adhered to the

Orthodox Church, and did not join the Uniates. They were

now asking for aid and sympathy on the ground that the Cath-

olic clergy and nobles were oppressing them, seizing their

churches and property, and forcing them to become either Uni-

ates or Catholics. Prince Tchetvertinsky, known in the Church

as Sylvester, Bishop of "White Russia, came to Moscow with

these complaints, and Peter wrote to the King that the only

way to put an end to these difficulties was to appoint a commis-

sion to investigate these infringements of the privileges granted

by the treaty of 1686. ' If, contrary to our expectations, satis-

faction on this our representation and request according to the

treaty is not granted, we shall be obliged to seek it ourselves.'

The Protestants in Poland, who were also oppressed, had ap-

plied to Prussia, and the King of Prussia had in turn requested

the friendly aid of Russia. The King agreed to the com-

mission, but wrote that the complaints of the monks at Pinsk

had been listened to, and that the churches and monasteries

taken from them had been restored, in spite of the strong oppo-

sition of the Catholic clergy. The question of the Dissidents

naturally led to communications with Rome, and Pope Clement

XL said that he had given the various orders of monks strict

injunctions not to interfere in state or civil affairs, and that if

they were allowed to live freely in Russia, he would recognise the

Imperial title, and endeavour to arrange matters in Poland. His

death put an end for a while to the negotiations, and his suc-

cessor, before doing anything, desired more accurate informa-
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tioii, as different representations had been received from War-
saw. There were other questions with Poland besides that of

the Russian clergy. The Russians were desirous of having the

Imperial title recognised, to which the Poles objected, lest un-

der the designation of Emperor of All the Russias, claims might

be made to the Russian provinces belonging to Poland. Then
there was the struggle on the part of the King to have his son

selected as his successor, and make Poland an hereditary mon-
archy. To this the Russians were opposed, as it would not

allow constant interference on their part. Their power to inter-

fere was so great that two successive Diets were broken up

through Russian intrigues. It was only necessary to purchase

two or three mepibers to render a Diet ineffective. After the

Diet of 1722 had adjourned, Count Flemming told Prince Ser-

-gius Dolgoniky, the son of Gregory, the former Minister, of a

report that he had received three thousand ducats fi'om the

Prussian minister Schwerin for bribery. Dolgoruky indignantly

replied :
' I have not asked for this money from Schwerin, and

have not received it,' and wrote to the Emperor : ' I am very

much astonished that the Prussian ministers residing at the

Polish Court are imable to do anything secretly, for all then-

steps are known ;
' and in the accounts which he presented for

his expenses at the Diet, it was shown that he had received

only two thousand ducats from Schwerin, though he had spent

two thousand five hundred and ninety, eight hundred being

given to Donhof, the Hetman of Lithuania, and the rest to the

various delegates.

An important difference between the two Governments

was about the question of Curland. This had been caused by
the sudden and untimely death of the young Duke Fred-

erick William in ITll, shortly after his marriage with the

Pi'incess Anne. The succession properly belonged to the uncle

of Frederick William, Duke Ferdinand—the last representative

of the Kettler family—but on the ground that the position of

the widowed Duchess Anne had been regulated by the marriage

contract, and owing to the necessities of the war, she continued

to reside at Mitau, and Peter Bestuzhef, as Russian agent,

carried on the Government in her name. There were here a

number of conflicting interests : that of Peter, who wished to
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exercise at all events the real if not the nominal sovereignty

;

that of the Duke Ferdinand, then living at Danzig, who wished

to obtain his Duchy ; that of the nobility of Curland, who had

no desire to give up the property and pay the sums agreed

upon in the late Duke's marriage contract ; that of the King of

Poland, who preferred to restore Ferdinand and declare the

marriage contract mill, on the ground of Frederick William

being a minor when it was made, and thus destroy all claims of

the Russians, or marry the Duchess Anne to some relation of

his own ; that of Poland, of which Curland was a fief, the

magnates wishing no new Ducal House, but the division of the

country into provinces and its subsequent out-and-out annexa-

tion to the Kepublic. Prussia, looking upon Curland as an

outlying German province, and always eager to extend its

territory, was desirous that Anne should marry the Margrave

of Brandenburg-Schwedt, who had some vague, shadowy claims

through his great-aunt, who was the Duke Ferdinand's' mother,

which only needed to be developed by an adroit Prussian

lawyer to be of importance. To increase the claims of the

Duchess, Bestiizhef persuaded his Government to redeem the

lands of the late Duke which had been mortgaged to the

nobility—a step which excited such strong feeling in Poland,

that in 1724 the nobility of Curland were tried by the Tribunal

of the Republic, ordered to restore the money which they had

received, and fined in addition. The Emperor did his best at

Warsaw to have this decree withdrawn. The results of all

these cross-purposes were that Curland remained de facto a

Russian dependency until its final annexation, and that numer-

ous marriage treaties were signed, all of which ended in smoke,

while Anne still stayed a widow, consoling herself, we have

reason to believe, with the attentions of Bestiizhef, who, though

he pleased the daughter, was on bad terms with her mother,

Prascovia. When he ceased to please even the daughter, Biren

became the favourite, and on Anne's accession as Empress was

made Duke of Curland.

When General Lanczynski, then Russian minister at Vienna,

informed the Emperor Charles YI. that the Tsar had assumed

the Imperial title, he was listened to with attention, but the

Emperor's reply was in such a low tone and spoken so quickly
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as to be neither audible nor intelligible. It would appear that

this was a habit of Charles wheq he wished to get over a diffi-

culty, and it then became necessary to apply to the Yice-Chan-

cellor for explanations. In this case the Vice-Chancellor ex-

cused himself on the ground of not having had time to tallc

with the Emperor, and a decision .was postponed. In two

letters sent at the end of the year the Emperor used the old

title. There was a division of opinion at the Council. Some
thought that it was better to take the lead in recognising the

change of title, as the Holy Roman Emperor would always

have precedence, and as the recognition would surely follow

some day it was more politic to be first than last. Others

thought that if the Tsar should be recognised as Emperor, the

King of England would demand the same thing, as the English

had long spoken of theirs as the Imperial crown. Uneasiness

was felt at Vienna on account of the growing intimacy of

Russia with France, and especially of the efforts of France to

arrange the treaty with Turkey ; and uneasiness was felt in the

same way at St. Petersburg on account of the unfriendly feel-

ing between Prussia and Austria, and there was anxiety too

lest, on account of relationship and religion, the Court of Vienna

should support the claims of the son of Augustus to the succes-

sion in Poland. The health of King Augustus was bad in these

years, and it was the common opinion that the Polish crown
might be vacant even in a few months. But the chief and the

only real difficulty between the two Courts concerned the Duke
of Mecklenburg. If, as the old adage said, Austria was happy
in her marriages, Russia was certainly not happy in those which
she had begun to contract in Germany. In May, 1723, Count
Schonhorn said to Lanczynski that the Emperor, out of special

respect and friendship for Russia, had borne as much as he
could, and had shut his eyes to the disobedient acts of the

Duke of Mecklenburg, but that he would bear them no longer.

His Imperial conscience and duties made it necessary for him
to put an end to this state of things. The Duke had left the

Empire, had refused to take any notice of Imperial decrees,

and had acted as a rebel. Nevertheless, the Emperor, after

making the execution in Mecklenburg, had left him an income
of a hundred thousand thalers, and, if he would appear before
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the Court, would aid him in arranging everything for the best.

With all his good dispositions the Emperor could not allow

Mecklenburg to be totally ruined. Even now, instead of acting

at oncBj he would, out of regard to the Tsar, send a rescript to

the Duke and give him three months' time in which to appear

and make his submission. But if during this time the Duke
did not return he would be obliged to declare the throne vacant

and appoint a Government. It turned out that the ' total ruin

'

of Mecklenburg meant that the Emperor had knowledge of an

intention of the Elector of Hanover to establish himself in the

country and finally to annex it. Peter tried in vain to influence

the Duke; he could not even persuade him to .visit Russia,

where his wife had now been for more than a year. Still ad-

ditional delays were granted, though Lanczynski evidently

thought that the Duke was abusing the goodness of his pro-

tector in not submitting himself at once to the Imperial Court

and making peace with his nobles. Matters dragged on, and

the Duke was not finally declared to have forfeited his domin-

ions until 1728.

The Prussian friendship continued firm in spite of efforts of

King Augustus to bring Prussia into his alliance and detach

her from Exissia. A slight shade was thrown when Peter re-

called some of the tall grenadiers that Frederick William had

thought given and not simply lent to him. They were replaced

by others, but, alas ! the new men were a trifle shorter. The
King could not forget it for a long time, and on one occasion

Gol6flcin was warned not to discuss business with him as the

wound in his heart was stiU too raw.

In Denmark there was a bitter feeling and a disinclination

to recognise the Imperial title of the Tsar, unless Slesvig was

guaranteed to Denmark, and the Duke of Holstein sent away

from St. Petersburg. A demand that Russian ships 'should be

free of the Sound dues was refused, as there must be one treat-

ment for all, and this absurd toll on foreign vessels lasted for

a century and a half longer. The Russian minister at Copen-

hagen complained of Hanoverian influence, which he attempted

to overcome by a free distribution of money. The gold was

taken readily enough, but had no effect. This influence kept

the Danes alarmed about Russian armaments to restore the
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Dukes of Holstein and Mecklenburg, imtil the Persian cam-

paign relieved their fears ; but the triumphant return, the

peaceful arrangement with Turkey, and especially the Russian

treaty of alliance with Sweden, threw them into despair. They

vainly attempted to get up a counter alliance, and not only

thought that Slesvig was lost, but feared even for Norway.

The relations of Russia to England were cool and almost

hostile. There had been no diplomatic intercourse between the

two countries since Bestiizhef had been sent away from Lon-'

don. Immediately after the treaty of Nystad, the Swedes pro-

posed their good offices in reconciling King George with Russia,

but were told that this business was now in the hands of the

French. This matter was very closely bound up with another

negotiation between Russia and France, for the marriage of the

Princess Elizabeth to a French prince. This idea had been

long ago suggested to Peter, and had fermented in his mind.

He had even spoken about it to Campredon on his first journey

to St. Petersburg, and immediately after his arrival from Nystad

the subject was again broached. 'A friend has just told me,'

wrote Campredon, November 8, 1721, ' that to put the Tsaritsa

entirely in our interest it would be desirable to assure a marriage

between the younger daughter of the Tsar, who is very amiable

and has a pretty figure, and some French prince, who could

easily and surely, through the power of the Tsar, be made King
of Poland.' Some days after he wrote again to the same effect.

The vacancy of the Polish throne seemed near at hand. France,

who had always looked upon Poland as one of her allies against

Austria, would, it was thought, readily accept the new combina-

tion, as Poland was now too weak to be of assistance, unless

with Poland France should gain also the friendship and alliance

of Russia. Peter, as we have seen, had been opposed to all

the plans for the dismemberment of Poland. His idea was, by
leaving it nominally independent, to secure the constant pre-

dominance of Russian influence. By the fusion of the Russian

and French parties this would be easy, and Poland would thus

be always a weapon against both Austria and Prussia. The
Regent was tempted. For many reasons he would gladly have

seen the crown of Poland on the head of his son, the Duke
of Chartres, the French prince chiefly in view. At the same
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time this marriage seemed to him somewhat of a misalliance,

as Catherine was not of royal family, and there were questions

about the validity of her marriage, and therefore about the

legitimacy of Elizabeth herself. Besides this, he did not feel

sure how such a marriage would be received in England, and
his policy was based on the most cordial relations with that

country. To such an extent was this carried, that now that the

English had no Minister in Eussia the despatches of Campredon
were frequently sent in the original to King George, who re-

turned them with- comments in his own handwriting. Six

months therefore passed before the Eegent replied with a long
instruction written by Cardinal Dubois, who tried to arrange

matters to the satisfaction of every one. He accepted in prin-

ciple the idea of the marriage, but wished to adjourn it until

the question of the Polish succession was regulated, and insisted

that the Duke of Chartres should be elected King of Poland
as a preliminary condition to the marriage. He proposed a

treaty for a defensive union into which England was to enter

as one of the parties—a mere development of the treaty of the

Plague of 1717, except that England should take the place

of Prussia. France and England were to guarantee the treaty

of l^ystad, the three powers were to promise to one another

lielp against any attack, except in case of a war between
Eussia and Turkey. Still faithful to old French ideas, he had
no intention of sacrificing Turkey to Eussia. French commerce
was to receive the treatment of the most favoured nation, and
now that the commercial spirit was developing in France it was
thought this would be of great utility. Nevertheless, in case

there were no hope of bringing about a friendly understanding

between Eussia and Great Britain, Campredon was authorised

to sign the treaty without England. "When these instructions

arrived at St. Petersburg, in the autumn of 1722, Peter was on
his Persian campaign. Campredon met him at Moscow on his

return, and the Tsar on hearing that he had powers and instrnc-

tions received him at once, but, foreseeing that the marriage

would be discussed, sent every one out of the room, even Oster-

man, and no one but Catherine remained. As soon as Cam-
predon pronounced the name of the Duke of Chartres, ' I know
and esteem him highly,' he said, and straightway marked satis-
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faction appeared on his face as well as on that of Catherine. He
did not give an immediate reply, but in order to act with the

necessary caution, as well as quickness, confided the negotiations

to Dolgoriilcy, who had come from Paris, leaving in complete

ignorance Osterman, who, noted for his delays and dissimulation,

had charge only of the official conferences for the treaty of alli-

ance. Peter rejected at once the idea of postponing the marriage

until the vacancy of the Polish throne. He probably had some
thought that owing to the feeble health of Louis XY., to whose

lot it had come to marry, instead of Elizabeth, the daughter of

his enemy Stanislas, he might yet see his daughter Queen of

France. Besides, the adjournment was incompatible with his

views and his dignity. ' "What would happen,' said Dolgoriiky

to Campredon, ' if the King of Poland should live for fifteen

years yet ?
'

' and he pressed the marriage in the shortest delay,

as well as an engagement to adopt a common policy in Poland.

Campredon drew up an arrangement in this sense, which he

sent to his Government in March, 1723, asking for powers to

sign it. He entered warmly into the design, exerted himself to

the utmost to win over the Duke of Chartres and his father the

Kegent, and to obviate the objections of Dubois. The election

to the Polish throne, he insisted, was only a question of time.

' This event, perhaps, cannot be far off. The King of Poland

needs only a new, witty, and affectionate mistress to render it

near. Persons who have seen him recently have assured me
that, according to all appearances, he cannot live long.' ' There

is nothing but what is agreeable in the person of the Princess

Elizabeth. It may be said indeed that she is a beauty in her

figure, her complexion, her eyes, and lier hands. Her defects,

if she has any, are on the side of education and manners ; but I

am assured that she is so intelligent that it will be easy to rec-

tify what is lacking by the care of some skilful and experienced

person, who should be placed near her if the affair should be

concluded.' Campredon even tried to awaken jealousy by

announcing the arrival of the Princes of Hesse-Homburg, who
were said to be aspirants to the hands of the Grand Duchesses.

' In fact, King Augustus recovered his health sufficiently to live until

1733.
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He addressed little compliments to Dubois and asked for his

portrait. But while he wrote letter after letter, he received no

reply. He repeated his request to the Cardinal, to the Kegent,

and to the Eang himself, but he seemed to be entirely forgotten,

and was left, not only without instructions, but without pay.

Having spent all his money, obliged to borrow to pay the

postage on his despatches, he did not dare to go to the palace

lest pressing questions might be asked, shut himself up and

pretended to be ill. In September he was invited to visit Peter-

hof, and was received as amiably as ever by the Emperor, who
showed him his little plain house as well as the copies which he

had made in his park of the great villas of Europe. Osterman,

however, told him that the Emperor was unable to understand

why the Eang had not yet given any orders with regard to the

negotiations begun at Moscow. ' Several Courts believe it

finished by the signature of a treaty. That of Yienna has ex-

pressed its inquietude. He cannot understand why the King so

neglects his alliance after having expressed his desire for it.

His intentions were good and sincere. He is not accustomed

to see himself scorned, and his situation appears to merit less

indifference.' Cardinal Dubois had allowed fifteen despatches

on the subject to go unanswered. To the sixteenth he drew up

a reply, not so much to settle matters as to calm the impatience

of Campredon. Dubois admitted that the chief causes of the

delay were the difficulties raised in England, that the King had

decided to send Mr. Chavigny as special envoy to London to

arrange them, and meanwhile he sought to avoid giving a cate-

gorical answer. The despatch was copied and dated August 1,

but it was long before it arrived, and then was signed by De
Morville, the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, for Dubois

had been taken ill on August 2, and had died on the 10th. E'o

ofiBcial reply was even given to the Emperor with regard to the

proposal, and some months later he learnt of the marriage of

the Duke of Chartres with a German princess. Shortly after

the Duke of Orleans himself, who, after the death of Dubois,

became Minister of State, the majority of the King having

now been declared, died of apoplexy on December 3, 1723.

Though the French Ministers were at this epoch frequently

without instructions, and especially during the Ministry of the

Vol. IL—33
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Duke of Bourbon, they made no scruple of acting on their own
responsibility for what they considered the good of the State.

It was in this way that Bonac and Campredon had arranged

the treaty between Kussia and the Porte with regard to Persia,

and the idea struck Campredon that he could persuade the

Empei'or to renew relations with England, out of gratitude for

the mediation at Constantinople. The veiy day that the treaty

arrived at St. Petersburg, knowing that the Emperor was going

in state to the cathedral, Campredon posted himself near the

door, and noticing that Peter had an air of satisfaction, then

unusual with him, managed to approach him at the very

moment when he got off his horse to enter the church. Peter

held out his hand, and alluding to the treaty of JS^ystad, said

:

'You have always been for me an angel of peace.' 'Arrange

then, Sire,' replied Campredon, 'so that I may have this honour

up to the end. Your Majesty knows all that the King my
master has done for you. Will you not then do something out

of consideration for his Majesty, who, in the efforts that he has

made for so long for the re-establishment of a good understand-

ing between you and the King of England, desires only your

glory and your true interests ?
' "'I shall not be ungrateful,'

said the Emperor, ' and I will give my Ministers orders with

which you will be quite satisfied.' A few days afterwards he

officially announced his intention of treating for a reconciliation

with England, and begged France to bring it about. The
French Court was as much surprised as were the Russian

Ministers, and there seemed now to be no obstacle to the con-

clusion of an alliance. But the Duke of Bourbon made a new
demand. Carrying out the wish expressed by Cardinal Dubois
at the beginning, he insisted that England should sign the

treaty as a contracting party. This the Kussians refused, as

they were willing to renew diplomatic relations, but could not

pass in one day from hostilities to intimacy. This was the end
of the negotiations. Peter gave no positive refusal. He even
hinted at a renewal of the proposition of marriage, substituting

the Duke of Bourbon for the Duke of Chartres, with also the

promise of the Polish crown, and at the very end of 1724 gave
Campredon the hope that he could soon give a final answer.

But the very day when the Ministers attended the Council for
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the discussion of the treaty with France, the Emperor was ill

and unable to receive them. His death prevented matters

from going further at that time.

These negotiations were not carried on so secretly but that

something leaked out, and Mardefeld wi'ote to Berlin that there

was a question of marrying one of the daughters of the Emperor
to a French prince. He was not quite sure which daughter,

and among the princes he mentioned even the Count of Charo-

lais. The King of Prussia in writing to his Minister mentioned

in great secrecy a rumour which had reached him, that it might

be agreeable to marry the eldest Kussian princess to the Crown
Prince of Prussia. In reply, Mardefeld, while speaking of a

proposed match with the Duke of Holstein, sends a most flat-

tering account of the Princess Anne, her beauty, her virtues,

and her character.

The wooing of the Duke of Holstein did not go on smoothly,

and followed the variations of the negotiations with Sweden.

The idea of a marriage between the Duke of Holstein and a

Russian princess had originally been proposed by Goertz as long

back as 1Y13, when it seemed to him the only way of saving

Holstein. As both the Tsar's daughters were then children, it

had no other effect than to give Peter a friendly disposition

towards the Duke. Though dropped, the idea was never for-

gotten, and when later on there were difficulties at the Aland

Congress, the Tsar had thought that it might be of use that he

should be known as at least the patron of the Duke. For this

purpose he invited him to Russia, and Eassewitz, his Minister,

strongly supported the plan ; but the councils of the Duke
were divided, and although he clung to Eassewitz, he refused

for the moment to follow his advice. When they perceived

the prospect of speedy peace between Russia and Sweden, the

Duke himself proposed to go to Russia, but not so much

cordiality was shown on the par£ of the Tsar. Besides this,

the Duke lacked money, and Peter excused himself from an

advar.cn on the ground of the poverty of his own treasury.

Finally, when the Duke and his advisers became convinced

that they must get Russian protection, or have nothing at all.

Marshal von Sclmlemburg loaned him a hundred thousand

thalers, and travelling through Poland disguised as a Russian
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officer, the Duke arrived at Mitaix in the summer of 1Y21,

where he met the Tsar, and was received with especial kindness

by Catherine. On coming to St. Petersburg he was given

every opportunity of seeing the princess, was treated with

kindness and attention, but all propositions for marriage, were

evaded until it was found first whether he was personally

agreeable, and then whether he would suit the political views

of the Tsar. After the peace of Nystad, Bassewitz concluded

that the Duke had been left in the lurch. ITevertheless he

was invited to Moscow, where he remained during the absence

of the Tsar on the Persian campaign—the princesses having

been sent back to St. Petersburg—increasing daily his love for

vodka, soon showing himself no mean rival to the strongest-

headed Russian. 'Eov was that the greatest fault noticed in

his conduct, but apparently not too much stress was laid on his

fondness for the other sex. Foreigners said it was in bad

taste ; the Russians said nothing at all.

Yet the Duke had not entirely given up his hopes of recog-

nition in Sweden. His partisans in Stockholm wrote to him
that they trusted the prophecy of Ezekiel, which it so happened

had been read as the lesson on the day before the King's coro-

nation, would be fulfilled.' As the Swedish Diet was soon to

open, Peter wrote from the army begging the Duke to send

Bassewitz to Stockholm, and the Senate gave him ten thousand

rubles for his expenses.

Immediately after the peace of Nystad, Michael Bestiizhef,

the brother of the Minister at Copenhagen, had been sent as

Resident to Stockholm. Bestiizhef found that the King and

his personal adherents, who were making a strong effort to

have the succession to the throne established in the Hesse-

Cassel dynasty, were suspicious of the presence of the Duke of

Holstein in Russia, tod disturbed by the reports of his probable

marriage with the Princess Anne. The Xing even proposed,

' ' And thou, profane wicked Prince of Israel, whose day is come, when
iniquity shall have an end, thus saith the Lord God ; Remove the diadem,
and take off the crown : this shall not he the same : exalt him that is low,

and ahase him that is high. I will overturn, overturn, overturn it : and it

shall be no more, until he come whose right it is ; and I will give it him.'

—

Ezekiel xxi. 35, 36, 37.
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through Campredon, to recognise the Imperial title, provided

Peter would enter into no obligations with the Duke of Hol-

stein, and ^ould send him out of Russia. At the same time

BestUzhef, who found a strong party in favour of the Duke,

was endeavouring to obtain the recognition of his title of Royal

Highness, and of his eventual rights to the Swedish throne.

The royal party was divided in the Diet of 1723, and although

the King ordered the arrest in Finland of Bassewitz, who was

then on his way to Stockholm, he was obliged by public opinion

to withdraw his order, and on the request of the Diet was even

obliged to give him an official audience. The Diet agreed to

bestow on the Duke the title of Royal Highness, and at the

same session consented to acknowledge the Imperial title of

Russia. Against the recognition of the Duke, both the King
and Queen, instead of signing the decrees, sent in written pro-

tests. It was thought best not to move the question of recog-

nising the Duke as eventual heir to the Swedish crown. For

the present it would be better for him to content himself with

the pension which had been voted to him by the Diet. Bestdz-

hef, however, proposed a defensive alliance between Russia and

Sweden, and notwithstanding the efforts of the English and the

Danish Ministers, the Diet authorised the Senate to conclude

such a treaty, and it was signed on February 22, 1724. By
this, if either of the contracting powers should be attacked by

any European Christian power, the other was bound to use its

good offices for re-establishing peace, and if its efforts proved

vain, to assist with troops ; Russia to furnish twelve thousand

infantry, four thousand cavalry, nine ships of the line, and

three frigates ; Sweden, if necessary, to give eight thousand

infantry, two thousand cavalry, six ships of the line, and

two frigates. Other powers by mutual consent could join in

this treaty, which was concluded for twelve years. In addition

to the free export of grain, provided for by the treaty of

ITystad, Sweden was to be allowed to import from Riga, with-

out payment of duty, hemp and flax to the amoimt of fifty

thousand rubles a year. By two secret articles it was agreed

that Russia and Sweden should use their best efforts with

Denmark and other powers to secure the restoration to the

Duke of Holstein of the Duchy of Slesvig, and that foreign
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intervention should not be allowed in Poland, whose ancient

freedom, privileges, and rights were to be protected by the two

powers jointly.

Although the alliance with Sweden had been made in the

winter, yet time passed and no decision was arrived at with

regard to the Holstein marriage. Peter was taken up with his

cure at Olonetz, with the coronation of Catherine, and with his

amusements on sea and shore during the summer. To any

representations of Bassewitz he gave jesting answers, saying

that for the moment he was disinclined to consider the subject.

As the Duke of Holstein claimed to be the heir to the Swedish

Crown he must have permission of the King to marry, and

until that was obtained such a thing could not be thought of.

Then, in November, 1724, came an event which dashed all the

Duke's hopes to the ground. The Emperor had suddenly dis-

covered what was otherwise an open secret, the corruption of

Mons, the chamberlain and secretary to the Empress, and of his

sister, Matrena Ealk, one of her ladies of honour.

It is not known who gave the information, but on the

evening of November 19, Peter, who had been passing the

evening with his page, Basil Petrovitch, returned and found

his family with the officers of the Court. He asked Mons to

look at his watch, and, iinding that it was after nine o'clock,

said, ' It is time to go to bed,' and went to his room. Every-

body retired. Mons went home, undressed himself, and had
begun to smoke a pipe, when General Ushakof entered, arrested

him, took his keys, sealed up evei-ything, and carried him to

his own house. On arriving they found the Emperor already

there, who, looking sharply at Mons, said, ' You are here too ?

'

and went ofp. The next day Mons was subjected to an inter-

rogatory in the presence of the Emperor, which so unnerved
him that he fainted, and it was necessary to bleed him. The
next day he was again questioned and was threatened with

torture. To save himself from this he confessed that he had
turned to his own use the revenues of several estates of the

Empress, and that he had taken a bribe from a peasant with

the promise of making him a groom of the Empress. He was
sent to the fortress, and subsequentlj'-, on November 25, was
condemned to death. Catherine had the courage to ask Petei-
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for the pardon of Mons and his sister, at which the Emperor
flew into such a passion that he smashed with his fist a hand-

some Venetian mirror. ' Thus,' he said, ' I can annihilate the

most beautiful adornment of mj palace.' Catherine could not

but understand that in these words there was a hint at her own
position, but calmly replied :

' And have you made the palace

any the more beautiful by doing so ?
' Peter smiled, but refused

to listen to his wife's prayers. Catherine fully expected to ob-

tain the pardon of Mons, and the day after his arrest had even

sent word to Madame Balk that she need be in no anxiety for

her brother, as the matter would have no consequences. The
evening before the execution Peter himself went to bid Mons
good-bye, and said he was sorry to lose him, but this time it

could not be otherwise.

On the eve of this arrest the Emperor had forbidden any

one to ask him for pardon of criminals, which made people

suspect that something was wrong. A proclamation was now-

issued ordering every one who had ever given Mons a bribe, or

-knew of a bribe having been given to him, to declare it, and

subsequently many of the names were published. It is strange

that the corruption of Mons had so long escaped the notice of

the Emperor. With him were implicated, not only his sister

and his secretary, but also Makarof, the private secretary of the

Emperor, and Mamonof, an aide-de-camp of the Tsar. Through

Mons and his sister it was possible to reach Catherine, and

they had so skilfully arranged matters that it was difficult to

approach her in any other way ; Catherine had an influence

over her husband, and therefore the importance of Mons was
very great. Among those who had given him presents and

sent him bribes were the Tsaritsa Prascovia, her daughters, the

Duke of Holstein, Prince Menshikof, Prince Repnin, Tolst6i

—

in fact, every one. The amount of money given to him varied

according to the importance of the request or the wealth of the

person, l^othing was too small for him to 'take—a hundred

ducats, three hundred, five hundred, a thousand rubles. The
peasant Solianikof, who, according to law, ought to have gone

back to his village, but preferred to remain in St. Petersburg,

got an honorary position as groom to the Empress for four

hundred rubles. Mons had besides obtained large estates and
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many serfs from the Empress. His sister had also received

large sums. When the highest of the land addressed Mons as

their brother and Menshikof called him his patron, it was not

to be wondered that the son of a German jeweller desired, a

name expressive of nobility. He changed his name to Monso

de- Crony, or Moens de la Croix, and although the patent

naming him chamberlain, issued at the time of the Empress's

coronation, called him simply "Willem Mons, yet every one

except the Emperor gave him the name which he had arrogated

to himself*

On November 27, at ten o'clock iu the morning, Mons and

his sister were taken in sledges to the place of execution.

Mons calmly bowed whenever he noticed his acquaintances in

the crowd of people standing about ; with a show of courage he

ascended the scaffold, took off his fm- coat, listened to the

sentence of death for receiving bribes, bowed once more, and

placed his head on the block. His sister, Matrena Balk, was

given eleven blows of the knout so skilfully administered that

hardly one told, and was exiled for life to Tobolsk. Her hus-

band was given permission to marry again if he chose. Her
two sons in Catherine's household were reduced to non-

commissioned officers and sent to fight against Persia, and three

other pages were reduced to soldiers. Stolietof, the secretary

and accomplice of Mons, and Balak;fref, one of the Court.fools,

who was also implicated, were whipped and sent to hard labour

at Kogerwyk.'

' There has been a general opinion , that Mons had an intrigue with the

Empress, resting chiefly on insinuations contained in a despatch of Rabutin,

the Austrian Minister, hut in the original papers relating to the case there is

no hint of anything of the kind. While diplomatic despatches are an impor-

tant source of history, they should be read with care. The despatches of no
Minister can be thoroughly relied upon until they have been read consecutively,

so as to learn his bent of mind, and have been compared with other versions.

Experience soon shows that while a diplomatist may be thoroughly informed

on one or several questions, there are others of which he knows little and

which he misunderstands. Not unfrequently he is inclined to believe petty

gossip adverse to the Court to which he is accredited. In weighing diplomatic

despatches it is necessary not only to consider the character and judgment of

the author, and what opportunities he had for obtaining information, and
even, at times, to whom the despatch is written and for what probable pur-

pose. Comparisons sometimes bring amusing things to light, l^or instance,
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The Duke of Holstein had been very intimate With Mons
and his sister. He had paid them well, and they had served

him as faithful intermediaries with the Empress. When,
therefore, Mons was executed, the Duke and Bassewitz, knowing
that they were compromised, thought that the marriage would
be broken off. But the Duke of Holstein's name was not pub-
lished in the list of people who had given bribes, and one
morning he was astonished by a message from Osterman, ask-

ing for the marriage contract. This was soon prepared, and
the betrothal was fixed for December 5, the name-day of

Catherine, on the eve of which the Duke's orchestra gave a

serenade to the Empress, under the windows of the Winter
Palace. After a Te Deum at the Trinity Church, the Duke of

Holstein dined with the Imperial family for the first time in

the three years he had been in Kussia, and at four o'clock the

ceremony of betrothal took place in the presence of the Court
and Foreign IVKnisters. ' The Emperor took the rings from
the hands of the Duke and his daughter and changed them,
whereupon the Archbishop of Novgorod gave his blessing, and
His Majesty ended the solemn act by giving a loud vivat.^

There were the usual fireworks in the evening, a supper, and
after that a ball, opened by the Duke and the Princess. The
Emperor did not dance, but at the entreaties of the Duke,
Catherine danced a polonaise with him.

In accordance with the decree by which Peter reserved to

the sovereign the right of appointing his own successor, the

princess was obliged to renounce for herself, and her posterity,

all claims to the Russian throne. A strange destiny made this

renunciation of no effect, for the son of Anna, as Peter III.,

was the founder of the house of Holstein-Gottorp, now reign-

ing in Russia.

some of La Vie's despatches were mere copies of Weter's, sometimes in the

very words, and both Weber and La Vie were indebted for much information

to Pleyer, the Austrian Minister. In this particular case it is necessary to

admit that Lefort writes in cipher that the relations of Peter with his wife

were not as cordial as before, and subsequently that she had begged pardon for

all her faults. Peter perhaps suspected her for a moment of being aware of

the Tenality of Mons and of winking at it. Indeed, she had been accused of

taking bribes herself, but this was probably the reflection from her unworthy
chamberlain.
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It had been expected that the marriage would take place

speedily at Riga, as the Duke was to live there as Governor-

General of Livonia. Some delay was, however, necessary for

the preparations, and especially for procuring the wedding

presents, the clothes and the diamonds, which were ordered

from Paris.

Of late years the character of Peter seemed to have changed

greatly. The violent emotions in which his life had been

passed had begun to affect him. Sometimes he was indefati-

gable in work ; at others he desired solitude, and was so mo-

rose that no one dared speak to him, even about business. At
times he would indulge in long conversations with his con-

fessor ; at others he would send for his doctor, and perhaps im-

mediately afterward give himself up to drinking and feasting.

At the end of August he had taken part in the consecration of

a church at his new country palace of Tsarskoe-Selo. The
festivities continued for several days, and as many as three

thousand bottles of wine were drunk. The consequence was an

illness which kept him in bed for a week, but he had no sooner

got up again than he went off to Schliisselburg, and there had

a new debauch on the anniversary of the capture of the fort.

Prom Schliisselburg Peter went to the iron-works of Olonetz,

hammered out with his own hands a sheet of iron weighing

more than a htmdred pounds ; then went to Novgorod, and

from Novgorod to Staraya-Kus, to examine the salt-works.

After this came a visit to the Ladoga canal, which, under the

directions of Miinnich, was making great progress. During
the previous five years, hardly eight miles had been dug by
twenty thousand men, while Miinnich had succeeded in cutting

over three miles in a single year, hoped before winter to dig

five more, and employed only twenty-nine hundred soldiers and
five thousand free workmen. The cost of working, too, was
much less than before. In the early part of November, Peter

returned to St. Petersburg by water, and immediately started

for Systerbeck to examine the 'iron-works there. As he ap-

proached the village of Lakhta, near the mouth of the Neva, he
saw a boat full of soldiers and sailors at the mercy of the wind
and storm, which finally grounded before his eyes. Peter im-

patiently ordered his men to sail up to it, jumped into the
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water up to his waist, and aided in dragging the hoat off the

•shoal. .Several, of his own crew were di-owned in assisting him,

jhut Peter worked the whole night in the water, and succeeded

in .saying the lives of twenty men. The next day he felt an
attack of fever, put off his cruise to Systerbeck, and sailed

back to St. Petersburg.

With this mode of life it is not to be wondered that Peter's

ihealth, instead of improving, grew every day worse. He had
returns of the strangury which had troubled him at Riga, and
again after the Persian campaign. At the same time he was
^Sicted with the stone. He had days of intense suffering

when he could scarcely attend to any business, and periods of

respite when he indulged in some of his favourite occupations.

At the end of December he took part in one of those coarse

farces which seemed to satisfy a certain side of his nature, but
which, as he grew older, seemed so incongruous with his char-

acter and his position. He proceeded to elect a new ' Prinee-

pope,' the head of his ' most frolicsome and drunken synod,'

in place of Buturlin, who had died some months before in con-

sequence of his drunkenness and gluttony. In a hall in Butur-

lin's house a throne was erected, covered vsdth striped material,

on which Bacchus presided, seated on a cask. In the next

room, where the ' conclave ' assembled, fourteen compartments
were constructed, while in the midst was a table with a stuffed

bear and a monkey, a cask of wine, and dishes of food. After
a solemn procession, the Emperor shut up the ' cardinals ' in

the room of the conclave, and put his seal on th& door. No
one was allowed to come out until a new ' pope ' had been

chosen, and every quarter of an hour the members of the con-

clave were obliged to swallow a large_ spoonful of whiskey. The
next morning. at six o'clock, Peter let them out. They had dis-

[puted among themselves for a long time, and as they could not

decide on a pope, had been obliged to ballot for him. The lot

fell on an officer of the commissariat, who, with coarse and ob-

scene ceremonies, was then placed upon the throne, and all were

obliged to kiss his slipper. In the evening which followed, the

guests were served with meat of wolves, foxes, bears, cats, and

rats.

On New Year's Day the Emperor assisted at the customary
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fireworks on the Trinity Place, opposite the Chancery of the

Senate. The Church Parade on the Epiphany, with the bless-

ing of the Neva, passed off as usual, and although he caught a

violent cold there, yet three days afterwards Peter went with

Catherine to a harlequin wedding of the servants of one of his

orderlies, for which all the rebec players that could be found

had been brought together. In the last week of January he

went to the assemblies at the houses of Count Tolst6i and

Admiral Cruys, and even on the 26th visited Seniavin. The
next day he proposed to go to Kiga to prepare for the wedding

of his daughter, biit feeling unwell he postponed the journey

for a week. He was forced to take to his bed, attended by his

body physician. Dr. Blumentrost, and soon Horn, a wfeU known
surgeon, who had had long experience in French hospitals, and

other doctors were called in consultation. It was discovered

that he had an inflammation of the bladder, which made rapid

progress, and which it was then too late to arrest.' On the

day after he was taken ill he received Ostennan and others,

seemed anxious to conclude several matters, and his Ministers

remained in council about his bed the whole night. On Febru-

ary 2 he had a long talk with the Duke of Holstein, and

promised to accompany him to Kiga as soon as he got well,

but afterwards feeling worse, he confessed and received the

sacrament. On the 6th he signed a proclamation freeing all

persons who had been exiled to hard labour, and pardoned all

criminals except those who were condemned for murder and

for heinous offences. Catherine, by her entreaties, obtained

the pardon of Menshik6f. Soon his pain became so great that

Osterman begged him to take care of himself and not to think

' Dr. Blumentrost sent an account of Peter's symptoms to Dr. D. Stahl, in

Berlin, and the celebrated Professor Herman Boerliave, in Leyden, with a re-

quest for advice. These letters were sent by special couriers. Before Boer-

have could write out his judgment he received the news of the Emperor's

death. On reading this second letter he is said to have exclaimed :
' My

God ! was it possible to allow that great man to die, when he might have been

cured with a pennyworth of medicine ? ' In conversation with other doctors

with regard to the case, Boerhave expressed the opinion that the Emperor
might have lived for many years if he had had proper care and had not con-

cealed his disease so long, and jumped into the water in November. The
saving of life at Lakhta had evidently been one cause of his death.



LAST ILLNESS AND DEATH OP THE EMPEKOR. 609

of attending to business. His agony was at times so intense as

to tear from him loud cries and shrieks. Feeling a little bettei',

and his mind turning perhaps to the thought of his successor,

he called for a slate, which was given to him, but he succeeded

in writing only two words, ' Give all,' when the pen dropped

from his hand. He called for his daughter Anna, in order to

dictate to her, but when she appeared he was no longer able to

pronounce a single word. He sank into an unconscious con-

dition, in which he remained for thirty-six hours. At last, on
February 8, at six o'clock in the morning, he expired.

When it became known that the state of the Emperor was
hopeless, the senators and other magnates assembled in one of

the halls of the palace, to take measures for the succession.

Many of them still clung to the old feeling in favour of heredi-

tary succession, and declared themselves on the side of the lit-

tle son of Alexis. Others, and the more influential, felt that

this would be a dangerous risk for them. Tolstoi knew that

the nation hated him, and accused him of being the murderer

of the Tsar^vitch ; Yaguzhinsky owed everything to Peter and

Catherine ; Menshikof was sure that if Catherine ascended the

throne he could manage affairs at his pleasure, and he had taken

the precaution to surround the palace with two regiments of

guards, after having previously assured himself of their fidelity.

The dispute was long and bitter, and Prince Repnin, the field-

marshal in command of the army, stood out long for the young
prince. At last he yielded to the view of Tolstoi that, in the

absence of any written or oral declaration of his will by the Em-
peror, the oath given by them to Catherine on her coronation

should be considered binding. The Senate, therefore, decided

that, when Peter died, they would recognise Catherine as Em-
press. When this was done, they all went into the next room,

where the dying Emperor lay, and remained there until aU was

over. They then withdrew, and a little after, Catherine, lean-

ing on the arm of the Duke of Holstein, came in and besought

them to protect and defend her. When she had finished

speaking, Apraxin threw himself on his knees before her and

announced the decision of the Senate. The hall resounded

with cries of acclamation, which were repeated in the streets by

the guards, and the announcement of the accession of Catherine
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was spread through the city as soon as that of the death of

Peter. The oath of allegiance to the Empress was not admin-

istered everywhere without protest, but the terror and awe in-

spired by Peter's name was still too great for any decided op-

position.

On February 10 the embalmed body of the Emperor was

placed on a bed of state, in one of the smaller halls in the pal-

ace, hung with the tapestries given by Louis XV. on Peter's

visit to Paris, and the people were admitted to view it. On
February 24 the coffin was transferred to another salon, which

had been decorated as a hall of mourning, and not long after-

ward there was placed beside it another, containing the body of

his little daughter Natalia. On March 19, with imposing cere-

monies, the coffin was transferred to the Cathedral of SS.

Peter and Paul in the fortress, and after the Liturgy a sermon

was preached by Theophan Prokopovitch. The body was

sprinkled with earth, according to the Russian rite, the coffin

was closed, the imperial mantle was thrown over it, and it re-

mained on the catafalco, under a canopy in the centre of the

church, until June 1, 1731, in the reign of the Empress Anne,

when it was consigned to the vault where it now reposes.

People breathed more freely in the West when the news

came that Peter was dead. Rudakofsky wrote from Poland in

February, addressed to Peter himself, that his enemies had

spread the news of his death. ' The dead flies,' he says, ' have

begun to raise their noses again, and think that now the Rus-

sian Empire is going to destruction. There is everywhere the

greatest joy, everywhere firing of musketry and banqueting.'

The Russian Minister at Stockholm wrote that he had seen that

the King and his partisans were greatly delighted, and that

there was everywhere the conviction that there would be the

greatest disturbances in Russia. Bestuzhef wrote from Copen-

hagen that, at the news of Peter's death, 'all, even the first

at Court, as well as the common people, got drunk from de-

light.' The Queen sent a thousand ducats to the poor, ostensi-

bly on account of the convalescence of the King, but really, it

was said, to express her joy at Peter's death. The King, he

added, was, however, very angry at such manifestations, but

that people in general expected there would be anarchy in Rus-
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sia. King Frederick William I. of Prussia was an exception.

He shed tears when Golofkin gave him the news, wore mourn-

ing, even in Potsdam, and ordered the official signs of grief to

be continued for three months, as if he himself had died.

We have seen the feeling of the Eussian people toward

Peter. Since that time he has passed into legend. His se-

verity has not been forgotten, but the awe is tempered witli

admiration, and in the popular imagination he is a hero like

Ivan the Terrible.

Among the higher classes it is the fashion to speak of him
as a demi-god, and writers scarcely mention his name without

adding ' that man of genius.' Even those who blame the way
in which he forcibly warped the current of Russian history

render homage to his great qualities. As Kostomarof says

:

' He loved Russia, loved the Russian people—loved it not in

the sense of the mass of Russians contemporary with and sub-

ject to him, but in the sense of that ideal to which he wished

to bring the people. For that reason, this love constitutes that

great quality in him which causes us, even against om- will, to

love him personally, leaving out of view his bloody tribunals

and all his demoralising despotism, which has exercised a bane-

ful influence even on posterity. On account of Peter's love of

the ideal of the Russian people, a Russian will love Peter as

long as he does not himself lose this national ideal, and for this

love will pardon in him all that lies with such heavy weight on
his memory.'

'

One blame may, we think, be rightly attached to Peter

;

that he brought Russia prematurely into the circle of European

politics. As to the effect upon Europe, contemporary national

rivalries hinder a fair conclusion. As to that upon Russia there

can be but one opinion. The result has been to turn the Rul-

ers of Russia away from home affairs and the regular develop-

ment of internal institutions to foreign politics and the creation

of a great military power. In this sense it cannot be deemed
beneficial to Russia.

' Golikfif, Ix. , X. ; Solovief, xviii. ; Despatches of Mardefeld and Le Fort

;

Bassewitz ; P. N. Petrof, 'The Cesarevna Anna Petrovna,' in Memorials of
Modem Russian History, vol. 1. , St. Petersburg, 1871 ; Semefsky, Tlie Mons
Family ; A. Vandal, Louis XV. et EUsdbefh de Bussie.
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NOTE.

The Testament or Peter the Geeat.

We have seen that Peter died -without making a will, without even

being able to name his successor ; that his efforts to speak were

cut short by weakness. Nevertheless, a paper known as the

' Testament of teter the Great ' has now for half a century been

in circulation and frequently quoted, although its forgery was

plainly shown twenty years ago. It may be stated positively that

no such document has ever been found in the Russian archives,

and these archives are freely open to historical students.

Considering the way in which this paper has been quoted, it

may be worth whUe to state its genesis. It was first mentioned in

a book first published in 1812 by Charles Louis Lesur, then em-

ployed in the French Foreign OfiSce, and afterwards the author of

various historical and political works, under the title of the ' Prog-

ress of the Russian Power, from Its Origin to the Beginning of

the Nineteenth Century.' ' This book, there is every reason to

beHeve, the Emperor Napoleon ordered Lesur to write in order to

furnish reasons for the invasion of Russia, and Sir Robert Wilson,

attached by the English Government to the Russian army, writes,

on December 22, 1812, that among the baggage left behind by the

French were very many copies of this book in the house of the

Duke of Bassano, Minister of Foreign Affairs ; and he remarks

expressly that it was published under the immediate superintend-

ence of the French Government, and adds that the publication

was very awkward, as it revealed the policy followed by France

towards Russia, and was the final expression of the Russian errors

of Napoleon." In this book the Testament of Peter the Great is

for the first time mentioned. Lesur says : 'We are assured that

there exists in the special archives of the Russian Emperors secret

memoirs written by the hand of Peter I., in which are plainly set

forth the projects which this Prince had conceived and which he

recommends to the attention of his successors, and which several

' Progrh de la Puissance Busse depuis son Origine jusgu'au Commencement
du XIX" Si^le, Paris, 1813. Par M. L.

" Private Diarjr of Sir Robert Wilson, Loudon, 1861, vol. i., p. 357.



TESTAMENT Or PETER THE GREAT. 513

of them have in fact followed with an almost religious perseverance.

Here is a summary of this plan.' This summary consists of four-

teen articles, of which the first twelve are nothing more than a

statement of the policy of Russia as shown up to the year 1812, and

are mere prophecies after the event. The remaining two articles

tell of what has to he done ia order to conquer the whole of Europe.

There are certain expressions, such as ' a cloud of Asiatic hordes,'

'disunited and schismatic Greeks,' which are in themselves sufficient

evidence that the document could never have been drawn up by a

Eussian. But apart from this, those who are acquainted with

the feeUngs and ideas of Peter during the last years of his life will

see plainly that it could never by any possibility have originated

with him. The book of Lesur was merely a pamphlet to justify

the invasion of Kussia by Napoleon.

Twenty-four years later, 1836, Frederic GaUlardet, who assisted

Alexandre Dumas in writing the drama of 'La Tour De Nesle,'

published ' Memoires du Chevalier d'Eon '—that curious personage

who, now under the guise of a woman and now that of a man,

played a part at the Court of Elizabeth and afterwards at the

French Embassy at London—purporting to be based on family

papers and documents from the archives. In this book GaiUardet

pubhshed what he claimed to be a literal and faithful copy of the
' Testament of Peter the Great,' which had been brought to Paris

in 1757 by the ChevaUer d'Eon, who had discovered it owing to

the unbounded confidence with which he was received at Court

and his unrestricted researches in the Eussian archives, and had

communicated it to Louis XV. and to the Abb6 de Bernis, Minister

of Foreign Affairs, only. This is in substance the same as pub-

hshed in the book of M. Lesur, though it is put in a more formal

way, beginning :
' In the Name of the Most Holy and Indivisible

Trinity,' somewhat enlarged, and divided differently. In 1866,

GaOlardet, who had gone to New York and become the editor of

the ' Courrier des Etats-Unis,' pubhshed a new edition of his book,

in which he admitted many mystifications and falsehoods in the first

edition, but insisted that the new one was entirely based upon

authentic documents. In this he stiU claimed for himself the

credit of being the first to discover the copy of the ' WiU of Peter

the Great.' Even granting, which is not admitted by those who
have made the French archives in the time of Louis XV. their

special study, that the Chevalier d'Eon brought such a document
to Eussia, its genuineness is by no means proved. D'Eon did not

Vol. II.—33
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know Eussian. Although he was a secret correspondent of Louis

XV., and enjoyed great intimacy with the Coiu:t of Elizabeth, his

character was not such as to enable us to believe his unsupported

statements. He claims that this document was found in the ar-

chives of the Summer Palace of Peterhof, where, as is well known,

no archives of any kind ever existed.

We next hear of the document in 1839. Leonard Chodzko,

hving at Paris, published a work under the title of 'La Pologne

Historique, Litt6raire, Monumentale, et Illustr^e,' in which he gives

details which seem to have been unknown even by Gaillardet,

stating that it was in 1709, after the battle of Poltava, that Peter

first drew up the plan of his will, which he renewed in 1724. The

text given by him is the same as that published by Gaillardet.

In 1854, during the Crimean War, when there was again rea-

son to excite public opinion in Europe against Russia, Mr. J.

Corr^ard, a military vsriter, published a map of the annexations of

Eussia from Peter I. to our days, and on the margin, among other

notices, quotes the Will of Peter the Great, sayiag :
' This political

testament was sketched out by Peter I in 1710, after the battle of

Poltava, revised by him in 1722 after the peace of Nystad, and put

into definite form by the Chancellor Osterman,' quoting it from

the work of Chodzko.'

' G. Berkholtz, ' Das Testament Peters des Grossen,' in Buaskehe Sevue,

vol. X. 1.
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Brunswiek-Wolfenbiittel. (See Eliza-

beth, Princess.)

Brussels, Peter at, ii. 307 et seq.

Bruyn, Cornelius Le. (See Le Bruyn.)

Brzesc-Litewski, ii. 41 et seq. , 78.

Buchholz, Lieutenant-Colonel, ii. 460

et seq.

Buda, Austrians capture, 1. 155.

Budberg, Landratb. of Livonia, i. 366.

Budget, Kussian, of 1708, ii. 137.

Buitenzaan, at Zaandam, i. 388.

Bukhara, trade with, ii. 380, 462 et

seq.

Bukhvfistof, Sergius, i. 107.

Bulavin, Koudrdty, ii. 155 ; rebellion

of, 161 et seq. ; suicide of, 163.

Billow, ii. 386.

Bunakof, Ivan, i. 163.

Burg, van der, ii. 68.

Surge, ii. 391.

Burnet, Bishop Gilbert, i. 306 et seq.

Buturlin, i. 34.

Buturlin, Ivan Ivanovitoh, i. 107

;

meets the Swedish embassy, i.

137, 179, 315 et seq., 333, 333 et

seq. ; accompanies Peter on his

cruise, 237 et seq. , 398 ; accom-

panies the Tsar to Paris, ii. 809,

346, note, 438, 434 ; Prince Pope,

453 ; death of, 507.

Byllnsky, Ober-Fiscal, ii. 358.

Byzantine influence in Brussia, i. 1,

72.

Cadbts' school, ii. 480.

Cadiz, ii. 384.

Caermarthen, Lord, i. 397, 800, 301,

note, 303 ; accorded a tobacco

monopoly in Russia, 303.

Calais, ii. 308 et seq., 488.

Calcutta, ii. 461.

Calendar, new, ' in Russia, ii. 846 et

seq.

Calf, Cornelius, i. 289 ; ii. 4, 300.

Calvinists, i. 198, 196.

Campbell, Archibald, ii. 314.

Campenhausen, Madame (born von

Leschert), ii. 435, note.

Campredon, Monsieur de, French

Minister at St. Petersburg, ii. 422,

425 et seq., 475, 478, 494 et seq.,

501.

Canals, construction of, by Peter, i.

303, 434 ; ii. 385 et seq., 429 et

seq., 485, 506.

Cantacuzene, General Thomas, ii. 193,

207 ; beheaded, 209.

Cantacuzene, Michael, ii. 195 et seq.

Cantacuzene, Sherban, i. 163 ; ii. 184

et seq.

Cantacuzene, Stephen, beheaded, ii.

309.

Cantemir, Antioohus, ii. 307.

Cantemir, Demetrius, made Hospodar

of Moldavia, ii. 191 et seq. ; op-

poses propositions of peace, 198
;

the Turks demand his delivery,

200 ; escape of, 207, 443 et seq. ;

accompanies Peter to Persia, 467,

469, 484.

Cantemir, Princess, ii. 435, note.

Carbonari, Dr., i. 194, 400.

Cardis, treaty of. (See Kardis.)

Carl Leopold, Duke of Mecklenburg,

i. 353, note ; ii. 379, 282 et seq.,

393, 395, 331, 493 et seq.

Carlovitch, General, ii. 360.

Carlowitz, General, i. 849, 870, 373 et

seq. ; death of, 374 et seq.

Carlowitz, on the Danube, i. 354 et

seq.

Carlsbad, Peter's letters to Catherine

from, i. 443 ; Peter at, ii. 190,

214 et seq. ; Leibnitz's interview

with Peter at, 228 et seq. ; Alexis

at, 265, 269, 378.

Carlscrona, Swedes in, ii. 254, 257.

Carnival, i. 348 et seq.

Carolus, King ofSweden. (See Charles

XI.)

Carrl&re, Colonel Morel de, ii. 65.

Carteret, Lord, ii. 414, 431.
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Casimir, Duke Frederic, of Curland,

i. 281.

Casimir, King Jan, ii. 93.

Caspian Sea, surveyed, ii. 314 ; con-

nected by canals with the White

Sea, 386 ; fort constructed on, 462

et seq., 467 ; Peter on the, 469 et

seq.

Castriota, George, ii. 193.

Catardgi, Elii, ii. 193.

Cathedrals at Moscow, Annunciation,

i. 80 ; Archangel Michael, 80 et

seq., 198 ; Assumption, 67, 71
;

the Tsars crowned in, 77 et seq.

,

97, 198 ; war against the Turks

proclaimed in, 187 ; Catherine

crowned in, ii. 488.

Catherine Alexeievna, Tsarlvna, ii.

345.

Catherine, Empress, i. 334, 343
;

brought a prisoner from Marien-

burg, 431, 435 ; makes her home
with Menshikof, 436 et seq. ; her

intimacy with Peter, 437 ; pri-

vately married to Peter, 440 et

seq. ; ii. 81 ; recognized by Peter's

sisters, 85, 113 ; Peter's letter to,

124, 168, 170 ; receives the title of

Tsaritsa, 189 et seq., 196, 198,

300, note ; aids Cantemir in his

escape, 307 ; Peter leaves her at

Thorn, 313, 217 ; new honors to,

218 ; accompanies Peter to Pom-
erania, 226, 336 ;

gives birth to a

daughter, 238, 347, note ; dines

on board the English flagship,

357
;
gives birth to a son, 258, 368

et seq., 371 et seq. ; accompanies

Peter on his travels, 879, 283 et

seq., 391 et seq. ;
joins Peter at

Copenhagen, 296, 298 ;
gives birth

to a son, 299 et seq. , 307 et seq. ;

Peter's letters to, 310 et seq. , 316 et

seq., 321 et seq., 326 et seq., 339
;

accused of instigating Alexis's

death, 347 ; intercedes for Kikin,

360, 363, 366 et seq., 371, 374,

878, 397, note, 430, 433 et seq. ;

court of, 434 et seq. , 449 et seq.
;

generosity of, 454, note, 464 et

seq.
;
joins Peter in Persia, 467,

469, 471 ; in the Carnival, 484,

486 et seq. ; coronation of, 488,

495 et seq., 500, 502 et seq., 508

et seq. ; accession of, 509 et seq.

Catherine II., Empress, ii. 7, 112, 155,

356, note, 424, note, 428.

Catherine, daughter of Catherine and

Peter, death of, ii. 85.

Catherine Ivanovna, Tsarevna, i. 253,

note, 415 ; accompanies Peter on

his travels, ii. 279 et seq. ; mar-

ries the Duke of Mecklenberg,

383 et seq., 331 et seq., 440, 445

etseq., 481, 486.

Cederhjelm, ii 63, 133.

Cellamare, Prince, ii. 420.

Chambers, Colonel, i. 215, 351, 430.

Chancellor, Richard, i. 329.

Chancellor, title of, introduced into

Russia, ii. 135.

Changeling, Peter accused of being a,

ii. 151.

Charles IL, of England, i. 9, 37, 40.

Charles VI., Emperor of Austria, i.

414 et seq. ; ii. 229, 265, 396 et

seq., 317 et seq., 331, 335 et seq.,

416 et seq. ; recognizes Peter as

Emperor, 427, 491 et seq.

Charles X., ii. 29.

Charles XI., King of Sweden, i, 135

et seq., 366 et seq., 379 et seq.,

387 et seq.

Charles XII., King of Sweden, i. 393,

366 et seq., 370, 373, 376 et seq.

;

education of, 379 et seq. ; ex-

cesses of, 383 et seq. ; Augustus

declares war against, 387 et seq. ,

defeats the Danes, 389 ; rumors

concerning, 393 et seq.
;
presses

on to Livonia, 393 et seq., 395

et seq.
;
personal bravery of, 398
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et seq. ; in winter quarters at

Lais, 404 et seq., 413 et seq.
;

receives reinforcements, 416 et

seq. ; receives news of the fall of

Noteborg, 424 ; ii. 5 ; in Poland,

13 et seq. ; severe accident to, 17

et seq. ; resists all entreaties for

peace, 19 et seq. ; aids in depos-

ing Augustus, 21 et seq. ; at Ra-

wicz, 25 et seq. , 29 et seq. ; his pro-

tection of Stanislas, 34 et seq. ; at

Grodno, 36 et seq. ; returns to

Saxony, 42 ; decides to force Au-

gustus to resign, 46 et seq. ; makes

a treaty with Augustus, 49 et seq. ;

his treatment of Patkul, 59 et

seq. ; enjoys his victory in Sax-

ony, 61 ; his negotiations, 65 et

seq., 70 et seq. ; reported to be

marching on Moscow, 76 et seq.
;

advance of, 79 et seq. ; narrow

escape of, 82 ; marches toward

the Ukraine, 84 ; repulses Rep-

nin, 86 ; at Dobry, 87 et seq., 104

et seq. ; manifestoes of, 109 et

seq. ; disastrous march of. 111 et

seq. ; misrepresents the condition

of the army, 113 ; his conversa-

tion with Gyllenkrok at Poltava,

114 et seq. ; wounded, 117 ; his

retreat to Turkey, 119 et seq.,

165, 179 et seq., 188, 199 et seq.
;

dissatisfaction of, 303 et seq.
;

urged to return to Sweden, 205
;

taken prisoner, 306, 213, 319 et

seq., 238, 333, 334, 336 ; Charles

Frederick his presumptive heir,

339, 343 et seq., 253 ; at Stral-

sund, 353 et seq., 261, 293, 398,

note, 306, 318 et seq., 348, 404 et

seq. ; death of, 407 et seq. , 420, 477.

Charles XV., King of Sweden, ii. 407,

note.

Charles Eugene, Duke de Croy, i. 395,

397, 400.

Charles, Prince of Denmark, ii. 63.

Charles Frederick, Duke of Holstein-

Gottorp, ii. 238 et seq. ; Goertz

suggests a marriage with Princess

Anne, 341 et seq., 248, 250 et

seq., 407 et seq., 419 et seq., 433,

436, 433, 440, 444 et seq., 484 et

seq., 493 et seq. ; negotiations for

his marriage with Princess Anne,

499 et seq. ; betrothal of, 505,

508 et seq.

Charlotte, Princess of Wolfenbiittel,

negotiations for her marriage with

Tsarevitch Alexis, ii. 138, 189 et

seq. ; marriage of, 315 et seq.

,

336 ; becomes reconciled to Peter,

336 ; death of, 258, 365 et seq.

;

spends a desolate winter in Thorn,

368 ; her life at St. Petersburg,

369 etseq., 388, note.

Charlotte Sophia, Blectress, i. 109,

384 et seq.

Charolais, Count of, ii. 499.

Chartres, Duke of, proposed marriage

of, to Princess Elizabeth, ii. 494

et seq.

ChS,teauneuf, de, French Ambassador,

ii. 305 etseq., 330.

Chavigny, French envoy to London,

ii. 497.

China, i. 149 ; Ysbrandt Ides sent on

a mission to, 335, 368; Russian

route to, ii. 379 ; trade with, 147,

380, 457 et seq.

Chodzk6, Leonard, ii. 514.

Christian IV. , King of Denmark, i. 35.

Christian Augustus, Duke, Adminis-

trator of Holstein-Gottorp, ii. 235,

238 et seq., 347, 353, 254
Christian Ludwig, Duke of Mecklen-

burg, ii. 388.

Christina Eberhardina, Queen of Sax-

ony, ii. 48.

Christina, Queen of Sweden, i. 310,

•373 etseq., 386.

Christina Skavrousky, sister of Cath-

erine I., i. 440.
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Chrysanthes, Patriarch, ii. 193.

Cinnaiuou, i. 31.

Clement IX., Pope, i. 133.

Clement X., Pope, i. 133.

Clement XL, Pope, i. 133; u. 71,

394, 489.

Cnyphausen, Baron, with the Tsar in

Holland, ii. 306, 318 et seq.

Cookhurn, Patrick, ii. 314.

Code of Alexis, i. 4 ; ii. 354 ; of Peter,

354 et seq.

Coehorn, Baron van, i. 295.

Coinage, reform of, i. 345 et seq.

Coins, Peter's restrictions concerning,

ii. 373.

Collections of Peter's curiosities, ii.

429.

Colleges, institution and working of,

in Russia, ii. 351 et seq.

Collen, Treaty of, ii. 131.

Collier, Jeremy, ii. 314.

Collins, Dr., i. 20 et seq., 33.

Colloredo, Count, ii. 334 et seq.

Colyer, Dutch Minister at Constanti-

nople, i. 355.

Congress of Vienna, 1815, i. 313 etseq.

Conradi, Pastor, ii. 409.

Constantine Monomachus, Emperor of

the East, i. 78, 80.

Constantinople, i. 93, note, 133, 153

et seq., 359 et seq., 367; Russian

emhassy to, 356 et seq. ; ii 173 et

seq. ; foreign Intrigues at, 178 et

seq., 219; Tolstoi and Russian

mission imprisoned in Seven Tow-

ers, 181, 191, 303 ; Shafirof and

Sherem^tief imprisoned in Seven

Towers, 303 et seq., 480.

Contemporary events, i. 37, 194, 372,

385, note ; ii. 219.

Conti, Prince de, candidate for the

Polish throne, i. 363, 383 et seq.,

393, 331 ; ii. 15.

Conti, Princess de, ii. 313.

Cook & Hornby, agents of the English

Levant Co. , ii. 180.

Copenhagen, i. 375 ; Charles XII. at-

tacks, 389 ; ii. 129, 247 et seq. ;

Peter at, 293 et seq., 493, 510.

Corfu, i. 153.

Comaro, Chevalier, i 145.

Corneille, i. 386.

Coronation, of Tsars Ivan and Peter,

i. 77 et seq. ; of Catherine, ii. 488.

Corr^ard, J., ii. 514.

Corvinius, Matthew, King of Hun-
gary, i. 198.

Cossacks, i. 153, 155 et seq. ; at the

capture of Azof in 1637, 344 ; at

the second siege of Azof, 254 et

seq. , 357 ; in Livonia, 420 et seq.

;

ii. 40 et seq. ; origin and definition

of, 93 et seq. ; rebellion of, 155 et

seq. ; on the Pruth, 197 ; bring on
a war with China, 457, 462 et seq.,

466, 469.

Cossacks, Little Russian, i. 378 ; ii.

43, 94, 98.

Cossacks of the Ukraine, protectorate

over, i. 4, 8 ; troubles with Rus-

sia, i. 153, 156, 244 ; development

of, ii. 94 et seq.

Oostin (Moldavian), ii. 198.

Costume, change of, by Peter, i. 337

et seq.

Courier, frigate, i. 431.

Cracow, J. 371 ; the Swedes take, ii.

16 et seq. ; King Augustus takes

refuge in, 25, 41, 51 ; Alexis in,

265.

CrafEt, Andrew, 1. 215.

Crauss, Heinrich Gottleib, ii. 429.

Crawfuird, i. 314.

Creutz, ii. 130.

Crimea, campaign against, i. 157 et

seq. ; second campaign against,

161 et seq., 310, 213, 340 et seq.,

363.

Crimea, Khan of the, i. 131, 154 et

seq., 342 et seq. ; intrigues at

Constantinople, ii. 175, 179, 306.

Croissy, Count de, ii. 318.
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Croissy, Monseigneur de, i. 146 et

seq.

Cronstadt, ii. 3, 7, 10, 419, 425, 449

et seq. , 485 et seq.

Cronstedt, Carl, Field-Marshal, i. 403.

Cross, Miss, favorite of Peter, i. 300.

Cross, pectoral, i. 78, 80; sign of, 5,

74 et seq., 86 et seq.

Crown of Tsar, i. 78 et seq.

Croy , Duke of. (See Charles Eugene.

)

Cruys, Captain Cornelius, i. 302, 357 ;

ii. 5, 346, note ; house of, 429,

442, note, 508.

Curland, Anne, Duchess of. (See

Anne, Iranovna.)

Curland, Duke of. (See Frederick

William.)

Curland, Peter in, i. 282 ; Charles XII.

in, ii. 14 et seq. ; Russians in-

vade, 80 et seq. ; the Russians

evacuate and reoccupy, 171 et

seq., 419, 490 et seq.

Dago, Island, i. 865 ; surrendered to

Russia, ii. 169.

Dahlherg, Eric, i. 279, 375.

Dalgetty, Dugald, i. 209.

Daltaban, Mustapha, Vizier, ii. 175.

Dalziel, i. 214.

Damad Ali Pasha, Grand Vizier, ii.

206.

Damnitz, ii. 58.

Danes in Russia, i. 198 ; in Pome-
rania, ii. 224 et seq. ; defeated at

Gadebusch, 283.

Daniel, Abbot, i. 267.

Danilitch. (See Menshik6f.)

Danilo, Prince, Bishop of Monte-
negro, ii. 184, 210.

Danilovitch. (See Menshikof.)

Danish Resident, Butenaut von Ros-

enbusoh, i. 56 et seq., 64 et seq.,

214, 265 ; von Horn, 150.

D'Antin, Duke, ii. 315.

Danzig, ii. 280, 434.

Dasalleurs, French Minister, ii. 65.

D^shkof, Alexis, Ambassador to Con-

stantinople, ii. 420.

Dashkdf, Chamberlain, i. 24.

Dashkovitch, ii. 94.

Daud Bek, ii. 465 et seq., 478.

De Baluze, French Minister at Mos-

cow, i. 148.

De Bernage, ii. 310.

De Berry, Duchess, ii. 313.

De Bie, Dutch Minister, ii. 251, note,

258, note, 345, note, 347.

De CarriSre, Colonel Morel, ii. 65.

De Caylus, Madame, ii. 315.

De Croissy,. Count, ii. 318.

De Croissy, Monseigneur, i. 146 et

seq.

Defair, Philip, Quaker, i. 305, note.

Defoe, Daniel, ii. 164.

De la Gardie, i. 423 ; ii. 411.

De la Marck, Count, ii 321.

De la Tour, Prince, ii. 808.

Delft, i. 395.

De Liboy, Monsieur, ii. 808 et seq.

Delisle, ii. 314.

De Losier, Colonel Balthazar, made
Rear-Admiral, i. 352.

De Loss, ii. 323.

De Maintenon, Madame, letter to, ii.

312 et seq.

Demetrius, False, i. 3, 24, 193, 199 et

seq., 203; ii. 108, 488.

Demidof, Nikita, i. 261 ; ii. 878.

Demirtash, Charles XH. imprisoned

at, ii. 206.

Demnitz, exile of Duke of Mecklen-

burg at, ii. 288.

Demotika, Charles XII. leaves, ii.

253.

De Neuville, 1. 30, 100, 170, 216.

Denisof, Andrew, ii. 399.

Denlsof, Simeon, ii. 399.

Denmark, King of. (See Frederick

IV.)

Denmark, league against Sweden, i.

868 et seq., 372; begins war

against Sweden, 376 ; invaded
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and defeated by Charles XU.,

388 et seq. ; alliance with Russia,

ii. 139 et seq. ; dissatisfaction of,

247 et seq. ; negotiations with,

249 et seq., 419 et seq., 493, 501.

" Depravation of Morals in Russia,"

hook of Prince Michael Stcher-

hatof, ii. 401.

De Prou, ii. 4.

Deptford, England, i. 300 et seq. ;

Peter leaves, 308.

Derhent, ii. 469 et seq., 473, 474, 476

et seq.

Derevinin, steward, ii. 441.

Des AUeurs, French Amhassador at

Constantinople, ii. 183.

De Sauis, i. 150.

De Saxe,' Maurice, i. 311 ; ii. 333.

De Stael, Madame, i. 313.

De Tess6, Marshal, ii. 307, 809, 315,

317 et seq.

De Torff, i. 146 et seq.

Devier, General Anthony, Chief of

Police, ii. 433 et seq., 435, 438,

443, note.

De Villeroi, Marshal, ii. 307, 313.

Devlet, Bkhtem, Vizier, ii. 464 et seq.

Devlet Kisden Mirza. (See Tcher-

kasky. Prince Alexander Beko-

vitoh.)

De Wilde, Jacoh, i. 295.

Dewitz, General, ii. 286, 289.

De Zadora-Kesielsky, i. 349.

Dimitri, Metropolitan of Siberia, ii.

146.

Dimitri, of tjglitch, i. 29, 80.

Dimitri, "the False," i. 3, 34, 193, 199

et seq., 303 ; ii. 108.

Dinglinger, jeweller, ii. 215, note, 331.

Dionysius, Patriarch, of Constantino-

ple, i. 139 et seq., 157, 161.

Dippel, theologian, ii. 63.

Di Rocca, i. 313.

Dissenters, i. 5 et seq. ; disturbances

at the coronation of the Tsars

Ivan and Peter, 71 et seq. ; dis-

putation and riot of, 81 et seq. ;

persecuted, 122 ; discontent with

Peter, accusing him of being Anti-

Christ, 153 et seq. ; settlements

on the Medvfeditsa, ii. 161 ; on the

Vyga, 399 ; on the Volga, 400 et

seq.

Dobry, battle of, ii. 87 et seq.

Dohna, Count, i. 312.

Dokturof, Colonel, i. 57.

Dokukiu, ii. 338 ; dies a martyr, 340

et seq.

Dolgoruky, Prince, killed at Astra-

khan, ii. 161 et seq.

Dolgoruky, Prince Basil, sent to king

Augustus, ii. 41, 51 ; at Copen-

hagen, 139 et seq. ; Peter's conilict-

ing instructions to, 163, 166 ; his

efEorts to promote harmony among
the allies, 334 et seq. ; convinced

of Goertz's trickery, 240 et seq.

,

348; at Copenhagen, 350, 351,

note, 353, 354 ; his report, 356,

373, 275, 292 ; accompanies Peter

to Paris, 309, 317, 337 ; arrested,

339 ; exiled and pardoned, 341,

360 et seq. ; at Paris, 420, 424, 488,

496.

Dolgoriiky, Prince Boris, insults Ga-

litsyn, i. 158, 215.

Dolgor\lky, Prince Gregory, sent to ar-

range an interview between Peter

and Augustus, i. 394, 409 ; his

opinion of St. Petersburg, ii. 8 ;

Russian envoy at Warsaw, 52 et

seq. , 55 ; with the Tsar at Zolkiew,

64, 73 ; reports dissatisfaction at

Warsaw, 213 et seq. ; his efEorts to

promote harmony, 334 et seq.,

351, note, 356 et seq., 380 et seq.,

365 et seq, 447,490.

Dolgoruky, Prince Ivan, death of, i.

223.

Dolgoruky, Prince Jacob, brings a sex-

tant from France, i. 110 ; sent on

an embassy to Holland, France,
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and Spain, 145 et seq., 191, 315,

266; defends the frontier, 276,

294, 305, note ; directs military

justice, 374 ; ambassador to Swe-

den, 376 et seq. ; surrenders at

Narva, 898; ii. 273, 334; inter-

cedes for Prince Basil, 341, 349

et seq. ; made President of the

College of Control, 351, 358 et

seq. ; exonerates himself, 363,

443, note.

Dolgordky, Prince Michael, first victim

to the Streltsi, i. 52, 69 ; made a

member of the senate, ii. 147.

Dolgoruty, Prince Sergius, ii. 490.

Dolgordky, Prince Vladimir, i. 325,

note.

Dolgordky, Prince Yiiry, i. 33 et seq.

,

43, 45, 69.

Dolgoruky, Princess Marie, i. 11.

Dolska, Princess, and Mazeppa, ii. 103.

Domuln, scribe, i. 376.

Don Cossacks, pacification of, i. 99,

153 ; at the second siege of Azof,

345 et seq., 354 et seq., 258 ; re-

bellions among, ii. 36, 79, 155,

161 et seq.

Donhof, Hetman of Lithuania, ii. 490.

Dorosh^nko, Chief of the Zaporovian

Cossacks, i. 153 et seq. ; ii. 93 et

seq., 100.

Doroth^us, Father, i. 77.

Dorpat, forced emigration from, ii. 83.

Dositheus, Patriarch of Jerusalem, i.

139 et seq., 343; ii. 193; be-

headed, 340.

Dresden, i. 311.

Drummond, i. 214.

Dubois, Cardinal, ii. 305, 318, 430, 475,

495 et seq.

Ducker, General, ii. 354.

Duderhof, ii. 451.

Du Heron, Marquis, ii. 60.

Du Maine, Duke, ii. 313.

Dumas, Alexandre, ii. 513.

Dumash6f , ii. 338.

Dutch in Russia, i. 198.

Dutch merchants, i. 48, 91, 379, 382.

Dutch residents. (See Keller, Baron

van, and De Bie.

)

Dwarfs, at court, ii. 437 et seq.

Dzialynski, Thomas, Polish envoy to

Russia, ii. 23.

" Eagle," boat of Tsar Alexis, i. 112

;

the great cup for toasts, ii. 443.

Eastern Christians, i. 161 et seq.
;

Peter's interest in, ii. 73 et seq.

,

177 et seq. ; relations with Russia,

182 et seq. ; Peter's proclamation

to, 191 et seq.

Eastern Church, the, i. 137 ; project

for union with the Western, i.

306 ; ii. 313 et seq.

Bast India Company, i. 291

Economical measures of Peter, ii. 137

et seq., 369 et seq.

Education in Russia, i. 29 et seq. ;

Peter's efforts to Improve, 401 et

seq.

Ehrenskjold, Swedish Admiral, ii.

246, 424, note.

Bichholtz, Baron, ii. 283 et seq., 287,

291, 321.

Einsiedel, Madame von, betrothed to

Patkul, il. 58.

Elbing, Poland, ii. 131, 165 etseq., 224.

Elenora, Hedwig, Queen-dowager of

Sweden. (See Hedwig Elenora.)

Elenora, Ulrica, Queen of Sweden.

(See Ulrica Elenora.)

Eliah, i. 32.

Elizabeth, Empress, daughter of Peter

and Catherine, 1. 109, 335, 440 et

seq. ; ii. 132, 153, 355, note, 288,

note, 307, 428, note, 438 et seq.,

461, note, 486 et seq. ;
proposed

marriage of, 494 et seq., 513 et

seq.

Elizabeth, Princess of Brunswickr

Wolfenbtittel, marries Archduke
Charles, i. 415.
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Elizabeth, Queen of England, 1. 114,

170, 305.

Elizabeth Catherine Christina, ii. 288.

(See Anna Leopoldovna.)

Embassy, Prussian to Moscow and

Swedish to Moscow in 1683, i. 126

et seq. ; Russian to Warsaw, 133

et seq. ; Polish to Moscow, 135 et

seq. ; Russian to Vienna, 142 et

seq. ; to Venice, 145 ; to Holland

and Spain, 145 et seq. ; to France,

146 et seq. ; to Constantinople, ii.

173 et seq.

Bndery, ii. 470.

England, trade with Russia, 1. 124 et

seq., 194 ; trade of Russia with,

198 ; difficulties of travel in, 372

;

Peter visits, 399 et seq. ; ileet of

occupies the Sound, 389 ; nego-

tiations with Russia, ii. 66 et seq.

;

threats in favor of Sweden, 248

et seq. ; fleet of, in the Baltic Sea,

257, 414 ; relations with Sweden
and Russia, 299 et seq., 413 et

seq. ; with France, 305 et seq.

,

317 et seq. ; with Russia, 830

;

Intrigues in favor of Sweden, 412

et seq. , 420 ; recognizes Peter as

Emperor, 427 ; incites Turkey

against Russia, 477 et seq. ; inter-

ruption of its diplomatic relations

with Russia, 494.

Eon, Chevalier d', ii. 513.

Eosander, Colonel, ii. 338.

Erestfer, battle of, i. 419.

Erket (Yarkand ?) ii. 460, 463.

Ermeland, Prince Potocki, Bishop of,

ii. 284.

Errol, Earl, i. 166, 208.

Erskine, Dr., ii. 301 et seq., 809, 412.

Erzurum, ii. 476.

Esthonia, devastation of, i. 429 ; laws

of, ii. 854 ; forests of, 874 ; com-

merce of, 381, 419 ; ceded to Rus-

sia, 433.

Estrees, Marshal, ii. 307,318, 815 et seq.

Budoxia, Tsarltsa, marries Peter, i.

119 ; her letter to Peter, 130, 223,

232, 286, 361 ; sent to a cloister,

333 et seq., 335, note, 439, 441;

ii. 71, note, 85, 360, 264, 326,

829 ; arrest of, 339 et seq., 487.

Eugene, Prince of Savoy, i. 393, 375

;

a candidate for the Polish throne,

ii. 73etseq., 333, 296,330.

Eutin, Christian Augustus, Bishop of.

(See Christian Augustus, Duke,

Administrator of Holsteiu-Got-

torp.)

Evelyn, John, Peter's landlord, i. 300

et seq.

Evrfiinof, merchant, ii. 466.

Ezekiel, prophecy of, ii. 500.

Fabricius, Swedish Envoy, i. 104,

254.

Falbowski, ii. 92.

Falok, Hans, 1. 208.

Farsidun Bek, Georgian noble, ii. 465.

Feif, ii. 282, note.

Ferdinand, Duke, heir to Curland, ii.

490 et seq.

Fergharson, Professor Andrew, i. 302.

Fick, Heinrioh, ii. 350.

Filadllof, i. 219.

Filatief, Moscow merchant, i. 411.

Finland, ii. 5, 90 ; shoes in, 170

;

Peter ofE the coast of, 217 ; Rus-

sian campaign in, 245 et seq.,

404 et seq., 411, 419, 433.

Fioraventi, Aristotle, i. 198.

Fires, at Moscow, i. 117, 413 ; in the

Kremlin, 413 ; laws for the pro-

tection of Moscow against, ii. 140

;

at St. Petersburg, 431.

Flamm, Captain, Jan. , i. 336 et seq.

Flemming, Count, i. 865, 370, 375 ; ii.

221, 224, 228, 238, 240 ; Menshi-

kof concludes a convention with,

343, 247, 257, 381, 367, 416, 490.

Fletcher, i. 199.

Florence, i. 268, 330.
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Flor-Minaef, Ataman of the Don Cos-

sacks, i. 354 et seq., 358.

Fontenelle, ii. 314.

Fortress, frigate, i. 358.

Fourni, i. 363.

France, Russian embassy to, i. 146 et

seq. ; suspicion of, at Moscow,

150 et seq. ; relations with Eng-

land, 11. 804 et seq. , 317 et seq. ;

with Germany, 304 et seq. ; with

Sweden, 304, 306, 316 et seq. ;

negotiations with Russia, 304 et

seq. , 316 et seq. ; Peter visits, 311

etseq., 316 et seq., 430, 433;

recognizes Peter as Emperor, 427

;

intimacy of Russia with, 493 et

seq.

Frank leaves, i. 30.

Praustadt, 11. 40, 63.

Frederick I., King of Prussia, 11. 31,

130 et seq., 165 et seq., 170, 319,

331 ; his design for the partition

of Poland, 333 et seq. ; treats with

Charles XII., 338, 331 et seq.;

death of, 336.

Frederick II., the Great, King of

Prussia, 11. 141, 333.

Frederick III., Elector of Branden-

burg, 381 et seq., 377. (See Fred-

erick I., King of Prussia.)

Frederick IV., Duke of Holstein-Got-'

torp, 1. 368, 885 et seq. ; 11. 338.

Frederick IV., King of Denmark, at

war with Sweden, i. 887 et seq.

;

makes a secret treaty with Peter,

413 ; ii. 139 ; Peter's complaints

to, 236 et seq., 331 ; at Gade-

busch, 233 et seq.; his rule in

Slesvig and Holsteln, 338, 340 ;

dissatisfaction of, 347, 356, 389 et

seq., 393, 394 et seq., 333, 404,

413, 510.

Frederick, King of Sweden, as Prince

of Hesse-Cassel, 1. 313 ; ii. 408,

411 ; election of, 433, 500 et seq.,

510. I

Frederick, Prince of Wales, 11. 390.

Frederick William I. , King of Prussia,

accession of, ii. 337 et seq., 340

et seq., 347 et seq., 250, 353, 354

et seq., 389 ; his hostility to Han-

over, 396 et seq. ; signs a secret

treaty with Duke of Orleans, 304

et seq., 319, 333, 404, 416 et

seq., 419, 438, 488 et seq., 498,

499 ; his grief at Peter's death,

511.

Frederick William, Duke of Curland,

11. 131 ; marries Princess Anna,

170, 437 ; death of, 490 et seq.

Frederick William, Margrave of Bran-

denburg-Schwedt, 11. 416, 491.

Fredrlkshall, siege of, ii. 407.

Fredriksham, treaty of, ii. 383.

Fredriksten, death of Charles XIL
at, 11. 407 et seq.

Freiberg, 1. 313 ; 11. 313.

Friedrichstadt, ii. 335.

Frlsch, Peter, ii. 253.

FrisendorfE, Monsieur, 11. 233.

Flirstenburg, Wilhelm, 1. 300.

Fiirstenburg, Princess, 11. 366.

Fiirstenburg, Prince von, i. 311 et

Gabel, Admiral, ii. 393.

Gabriel, Father, 1. 77.

Gadebusch, fight at, 11. 833 et seq.

Gaden, Dr. Daniel von,l. 54 et seq.;

murder of, 63, 69.

Gagarin, Prince Matthew, 1. 435 ; made
governor of Siberia, 11. 137 ; dis-

honesty of 358, 337 ; trial and

execution of, 359 et seq. , 365, 488,

460.

Gaguzhinsky, appointed Procurator-

General, 11. 358.

Gaillardet, Frederic, ii. 513 et seq.

Galag^n, Colonel, ii. 108.

Galeoki, Senator, i. 369.

Gardie, De la, Swedish general, 1.

432 ; Swedish Senator, 11. 411.
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Gartner, Andrew, ii. 315, note.

Gedimln, King of Lithuania, i. 35, 89.

Geneva, i. 151 ; schools and religion

of, Slletseq., 314, 309.

George I., of England, ii. 135, 336

;

ascends the English throne, 353

et seq., 386, 394, 399 et seq., 307,

330, 404, 413 et seq., 433, note,

434,492, 494 et seq., 498.

George II., of England, i. 386.

George, Prince of Denmark, i. 399.

George Louis, Elector. (See George I.

,

of England.)

Georgia, Archil, Prince of, i. 118.

Georgia, Nicholas, Prince of, i. 13.

Georgia, Vakhtan, ii. 465 et seq. , 469.

Georgia, Russian troops occupy, ii.

475.

Gerhardt, ii. 393.

Germany, ii. 430.

Gideon, Prince. (See Sviatopolk-

Tchetvertinsky.

)

Gildenstjern, Conrad, President of

the Royal Council, i. 136.

Gladky, Major, one of the Streltsi, i.

174 ; arrest of, 187.

Glazenap, Major, i. 379.

Gliebof, Major, arrest and cruel death

of, ii. 339 et seq.

Glinska, Helena. (See Helena Glin-

ska, Tsaritsa.)

Glohe of Olearius, ii. 335.

Gluck, Provost, -i. 431, 436, 440;

founds a school of languages, ii.

143, 435, note.

Gluckshurg, ii. 430.

Goa, ii. 461.

Godolphin, ii. 67, 69, note, 139, note.

Godunof, Boris, Tsar, i. 3, 35, 39, 193

et seq. , 198 et seq. , 367.

Godunof, Xenia, daughter of Boris, i.

35.

Goertz, Baron George Henry von, ii.

56 ; his intrigues in Holstein, 338

;

sketch of, 339 et seq., 347, 350

et seq. ; made minister of Sweden,

Vol n.—34

354 et seq., 390, 300 et seq. ; his

negotiations between Peter and
Charles XII., 330 et seq. ; con-

ference at Aland, 403 et seq. ; ex-

ecution of, 409 et seq., 430, 499.

Golitzyn, Prince Alexis, i. 183, 276.

Golitzyn, Prince Basil, i. 30 ; presides

over a commission, 41 et seq., 50,

60 ; at the head of Department of

Foreign Affairs, 66 ; in command
at Troitsa, 96 ; antecedents of, 99

et seq. , 105, 115 et seq. , 118 et seq.

;

meets the Swedish embassy, 137

et seq. ; his policy toward Poland,

133 et seq. ; leads the army against

Turkey, 157 et seq. ; returns to

Moscow, 159 ; superstition of, 163 ;

encounters the Tartars, 164 et

seq.; rewarded, 167 et seq.; op-

poses violent measures, 173 et

seq.; feigns illness, 176; his or-

ders to Gordon, 178 ; accompanies

Sophia to Troitsa, 179 ; remains

faithful to Sophia, 181 et seq. ; ex-

iled, 183 et seq., 193 et seq., 313,

243, 337; advances Mazeppa, ii.

93, 99, 457.

Golitsyn, Prince Boris, i. 106 ; his

house burned, 117, 173 et seq.;

his devotion to Peter, 174 et seq.;

attempts to win over Prince Basil,

181 ; intercedes for Prince Basil,

184 et seq.; retains his position,

191 et seq., 215 et seq., 333 et

seq.; regent during Peter's ab-

sence, 376, 335, note, 351, 407,

430 ; ii. 378.

Golitsyn, Prince Dimitri, diplomat at

Constantinople, ii. 55 et seq., 58,

107, 125 ; made governor of Kief,

137; at Constantinople in 1701,

173 ; made President of the Col-

lege of Revenue, 351, 365 et seq.,

443, note.

Golitsyn, Prince Michael, bravery of,

i. 433 ; receives the honor of St.
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Andrew, il. 87 ; follows up the en-

emy after Poltava, 119 ; placed

over the Zaporovians, 187, 346

;

defeated the Swedish fleet, 431

;

made commander-in-chief of the

army in Ukraine, 477.

Golitsyn, Prince M. M. , begins service

as a drummer, i. 107.

Golitsyn, Prince Peter, sent to Vienna,

i. 413 et seq. , 434 ; made gov-

ernor of Archangel, ii. 137 ; made
a member of the Senate, 147,

363, 443, note.

Golitsyn, Prince Vasili^vitoh, i. 35.

Golitsyn, Princess Anastasia, ii. 486.

Golitsyn, Princess Juliana, i. 16.

Golitsyn, Sergius, ii. 378.

Golofkin, Count Alexander, at Berlin,

ii. 348, 354 et seq., 389; reports

on the treaty between Spain and

Prussia, 304.

Golofkin, Count Gabriel, i. 191, 315

;

made Minister of Foreign Affairs,

ii. 64, 68 et seq. ; his negotiations

with Poland, 70, 84 ; made Chan-

cellor, 124 ; concludes an alliance

with Denmark, 130, 133, 135,

165, 185, 190, 304, 306, 334, 230

et seq., 286 et seq.; Frederick

William's assurances to, 243, 253,

369, 272 ; at Warsaw, 38, 385, 388,

314, 330 ; made President of the

College of Foreign Affairs, 351,

365 et seq., 417 et seq., 426, 438,

443, note, 455, 462, 488, 493, 511.

Golofkin, Countess Anna, ii. 435, note.

Goloftchin, Eussian defeat at, ii. 86 et

seq.

Golovin, Alexis, marries Maria Men-
shik6f , i. 436.

Golovin, General Avtemon, companion
of Peter's childhood, i. 315 ; com-
mands an army corps before Azof,

344, 346 et seq. , 358
;
goes abroad

with Peter to study ship-building,

276 ; joins Peter jn England, 303,

304 ; instructs recruits at Pre-

obrazh^nsky, 374, 376 ; made
Field-Marshal, 378 ; heads one of

three divisions before Narva, 391

;

prisoner of war at Narva, 398

;

intercedes for the rebels at Astra-

khan, ii. 158 et seq.; orders to

Tolstoi, 175, 406, 433, 442, note.

Golovin, Ivan Michaelovitch, i. 335,

. note ; ii. 444.

Golovin, Michael, sent to govern Mos-

cow, i. 96.

Golovin, Theodore, accompanies Peter

to Western Europe as ambassador,

i. 376 ; goes with him, to Venice,

313 ; returns with him to Mos-

cow, 330 ; appears in German
dress, 340 ; made General-Admi-
ral, 356 et seq., 872 ; made Field-

Marshal, 390 et seq. ; conducts ne-

gotiations with Augustus, 394,

400, 406, 410, 414 ; a Cavalier of

St. Andrew, 428, note, 436; as-

sists in laying the foundations of

St. Petersburg, ii. 1, 3, 36, 31

;

Peter's letter to, 40 ; interviews

with Patkul, 53, 55 et seq.; death

of, 64, 403, 484.

Goltz, General, ii. 86, 117, 125.

Gorbof, Colonel, ii. 33.

Gordon, Duke of, i. 208.

Gordon, General Patrick, i. 100, 105,

115 et seq.; his policy toward Po-

land, 133 ; diary of, 163 ; letter

from, 166, 168 ; diary of, 171 et

seq., 178, 181 etseq., 188 ; retains

his place, 193 et seq.; salary of,

804 ; antecedents of, 308 et seq.

;

diary of, 311, 313 etseq.; wounded
in a mock fight, 333 ; extracts

from diary of, 281 et seq. , 334, 337

et seq. ; in command before Azof,

244 et seq. , 354 et seq. ; his diffi-

culty in collecting his salary, 369 ;

defends the southern frontier of

Azof, 276; diary of, 277 et seq.;
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bids for the tobacco trade, 303,

317, 330 ; sent to the camp of the

Streltsi, 333, 335, 338 et seq.;

death of, 353, 433.

Gordon, James, i. 195.

Gorlenko, ii. 103.

Gcirtz. (See Goertz.)

Gottorp. (SeeHolstein.)

Gottwald, Dr., ii. 381.

Graditch, Ignatius, monk, ii. 183.

Graham, i. 314.

Gregorii, Johann Gottfried, i. 306.

Griboy^dof, Simeon, i. 43 et seq.

Grimultowski, i. 135.

Grodno, ii. 33, 35 et seq., 83.

Grushetsky, Agatha.
. (See Agatha,

Tsaritsa.

)

Guarient, i. 336, 339, 414.

Gumpendorf, Austria, i. 313.

Gustavus III., of Sweden, i. 391 et

seq.

Gustavus Adolphus, King of Sweden,

i. 365, 380 ; ii. 61, 319.

Gutmensoh, Doctor Jan, i. 34 et seq.

Gyllenborg, Count Gustavus, ii. 300 et

seq., 403, 406 etseq., 410.

Gyllenkrok, Quartermaster-General,

ii. 80 ; his conversation with the

king, 114 et seq. ; Charles XII. 's

injustice to, 132 ; capture of, 180,

185.

Haahlbm, ii. 331.

Habbakuk, Protopope, i. 73.

Habiohtsthal, ii. 383.

Hadji Nefes, ii. 461.

Hague, the, Peter and the embassy at,

i. 294 ; an embassy at, 413 ; treaty

signed at, ii. 320 et seq., 300, 307

;

Peter at, 330, 420, 423, note.

Hakebom, General von, ii. 334.

Hallart, General, i. 391, 397 et seq. ;

prisoner of war, 400 ; ii. 75 ; oc-

cupies Eomny, 111.

Hamburg, i. 198 ; ii. 48, 76 ; and the

burning of Altona, ii. 334 ; Rus-

sians exact a contribution from,

241,253, 397 etseq., 446.

Hamilton, i. 314.

Hamilton, taken prisoner at Poltava,

ii. 118

Hamilton, Miss Maria, ii. 436, 447.

Hampton Court, i. 301, 303.

Hango TJdd, naval battle oif, ii. 246.

Hannibal, Abram (or Ibrahim), ii. 438.

Hanover, ii. 139; Peter visits, 330,

353 et seq. ; intrigues of, 396 et

seq., 321, 404 et seq. ; treaty

with Sweden, 413 et seq. ; witli

Prussia, 416 et seq.

Hanover, Elector of. (See George I.

of England and George Louis.)

Hanover, Sophia, Electress of, i. 384

et seq. ; ii. 48, 230.

Hard, Colonel, ii. 115.

Harley, ii. 68.

Havansky, Prince Andrei, made boyar,

i. 78 ; execution of, 94 et seq.

Havansky, Prince Ivan Andreievitch,

i. 35, 50, 58 ; takes charge of the

Department of the Streltsi, 66, 69

;

averts tlie religious discussion, 73

et seq. ; agrees to a discussion, 81

et seq. ; feeling against, 89 et

seq. ; execution of, 95, 98, 103,

176, 179.

Havansky, Prince Ivan Ivanovitch, i.

95 ; exiled, 97 ; ii. 152.

Havansky, Prince Peter, ii. 168.

Hedwig Elenora, Queen-dowager of

Sweden, i. 139, 371, 380.

Hedwiga Sophia, Princess, i. 385 ; ii.

17, 338.

Heinrich, Christina, Catherine's sister,

i. 440.

Heinrich, Simon, receives the name
of Hendrikof, i. 441.

Heins, Danish Minister, i. 373.

Helena Eudoxia, as the nun, i. 333

;

ii. 339.

Helena Glinska, Tsaritsa, i. 34.

Henin, i. 194.
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Hennin, General, ii. 378, 399.

Henry IV., Emperor, i. 374.

Hermelin, ii. 115.

Heron, Marquis du, i. 60.

Herrmann, Doctor E., ii. 283, 380,

note.

Hesse-Cassel, Landgrave of, ii. 390.

Hesse-Cassel, Prince of, i. 313 ; ii. 408,

411. (See Frederick, King of Swe-

den.)

Hesse-Homburg, Prince of, ii. 496.

Hilarion, Metropolitan of Suzdal, i.

97 : ii. 458.

Hilkof , Prince Andrew, i. 366, 376 et

seq. ; sketch of, 401 ; ii. 176.

Hitrovo, Bogdan, i. 32 et seq. ; ap-

pointed privy councillor, 78.

Hoffman, i. 304, 307.

Holland, Major, ii. 44.

Holland, trade with Russia, i. 134 et

seq. ; embassy to, 143 ; Peter in,

287 et seq., 309 ; ii. 299 et seq. ;

fleet of, occupies the Sound, 389 ;

mission to, 19, 46, 49, 63, 129

et seq., 412 ; signs the treaty of

neutrality with England and Aus-

tria, 220, 235 et seq. ; recognizes

Peter as Emperor, 427.

Holmogary, i. 237 et seq. , 230.

Holstein-Gottorp, Administrator of.

(See Christian Augustus.)

Holstein-Gottorp, Denmark invades,

i. 376, 389.

Holstein-Gottorp, Dukes of. (See

Frederick IV. and Charles Fred-

erick.)

Holstein-Ploen, Duke of, ii. 308 et seq.

Holt, Lord Chief-Justice, ii. 165.

Holtz, ii. 286.

Holy Prophecy frigate, i. 237.

Holy Spirit frigate, i. 421.

Homyik, i. 53.

Hoorn, ii. 331.

Hord, equerry to Charles XII., i. 383.

Horn, Peter's physician, ii. 508.

Horn, General Arfvid, i. 384 ; ii. 21 et

seq. ; surrender of, 34, 78 ; taken

prisoner, 118.

Horn, Rudolph, commands the fortress

at Narva, i. 393, 430 et seq.

Horn, Von, Danish Resident, i. 150.

Hornby, of Cook and Hornby, ii. 180.

Horsens, ii. 388, note.

HSvel, Johann Bberhard, i. 105.

Hulst, Doctor Van der, Peter's physi-

. cian, i. 327.

Hulst, Van der, Dutch Minister, ii.

189.

Hultmaun, Charles XII. 's butler, ii. 80.

Humboldt, ii. 291, note.

Hummelshof, Swedes defeated at, i.

419 et seq.

Hummert, i. 393 et seq.

Hungary, i. 150, 161 ; insurgents of, ii.

61, 72 et seq.

Hussein, Shah of Persia, ii. 464 et seq.

Hussein, Koprulii, ii. 175.

Husum, ii. 335, 340.

Huyssen, ii. 53, 69, 78 ; as tutor to

Alexis, 261, 265.

Ibeahim Pasha, i. 153 et seq.

Ibrahim Pasha, Grand Vizier, ii. 206.

Ides, Eleazar Ysbrandt, i. 315, 335,

365 ; ii. 457 et seq.

Ignatief, Jacob, Alexis's Confessor, ii.

364, 366, 373 ; arrested, 339 ; ex-

ecuted, 341, 346.

Ignatius, Bishop of Tambof, ii. 153.

Ignatius, Deacon, i. 367.

Igor, son of Oleg, i. 359.

Ilgen, ii. 355, 289, 297, 332.

Imeritia, ii. 475.

Imeritia, Prince of. (See Alexander.

)

Imhoff , Baron von, ii. 48 et seq. , 137.

Ingria, i. 390, 410, 428; ceded to

Russia, ii. 433.

Ingris-Amund, Swedes repulsed at, ii.

91.

Innocent XI., Pope, i. 133 et seq.

Innocent XII , Pope, i. 369.

Innsbruck, ii. 335.
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Irene, Princess, i. 15, 35.

Irtysh Kiver, ii. 460 et seq.

Irwin VIII. , Pope, ii. 39, note.

Isaiah, Archimandrite, i. 163.

Isaiah, Bishop of Nizhni-Novgorod, ii.

146.

Iser, pastor, i. 386.

Isidore, Metropolitan, i. 368.

Iskra, Colonel ; heheaded, ii. 102.

Ismail Bek, ii. 474.

Ismailof, Captain Leo, ii. 438 et seq.

Ismailofsky, villa, ii. 441, 445 et seq.

Ismailovo, i. 113 et seq.

Ispahan, ii. 468, 464 et seq.

Issy, ii. 313.

Italy, ii. 73.

Ivan in., i. 198.

Ivan IV., the Terrible, i. 3, 31 etseq.,

39, 40, 43, 114, 193, 198, 300,

339, 367, 365; ii. 94, 468, 484,

511.

Ivdn v., Alexeievitch, Tsar, i. 9, 35,

38 ; prospects of, 34 et seq. , 44

;

demanded by the Streltsi, 50 et

seq. ; reigns jointly with Peter,

66 et seq. ; coronation of, 77 et

seq. , 93 ; imbecility of, 99 ; re-

ceives foreign envoys, 103 et seq.

;

marries, 105, 136 ; receives Go-

litsyn, 167, 173, 178 et seq. ;

Peter's letter to, 187, 330 ; death

of, 353, 378, 415 ; ii. 440.

Ivan VI. , Emperor, i. 353, note ; ii.

388, note.

Ivan Vasilievitch, i. 75.

Ivanof, Basil, i. 53.

Ivauof, Larion, i. 53, 60, 69.

Ivdnof, Thomas, ii. 393.

Izhore, i. 134 et seq.

Izmailof , Captain, Russian Minister at

Copenhagen, i. 415 ; ii. 69, 75.

Izyaslav, i. 374.

Jablonowski, Hetman, i. 135 ; ii. 65.

Jacob, Patriarch of Constantinople, i.

138 et seq.

Jaoobstadt, ii. 30.

James I. , of England, i. 384.

James II., of England, i. 116 et seq.,

163, 195, 310 ; candidate for the

Polish throne, 263.

Janissaries, at second siege of Azof, i.

255, 360.

Jan Sobieski. (See Sobieski, Jan.)

Janson, Jacob, 1. 346, 268.

Janus, General, ii. 195 et seq.

Jaroslav (Yaroslav), ii. 190, 211 et

seq.; 381.

Jassy, town, ii. 191 et seq., 196, 307

et seq.

Jeffreys, i. 330, 413 et seq.

Jeremiah, Patriarch, i. 86.

Jerusalem, Holy Places in, i. 343 ; ii.

193; holy sepulchre of, i. 860;

Russian pilgrims at, i. 363.

Jerusalem, . Patriarch of, i. 140 ; ii.

145, 172, 177.

Jesuits, i. 149 ; school of, at Prague,

ii. 351 ; expelled by Peter, 415.

Joachim, Patriarch, i. 103, 138, 178

;

death of, 196.

Joann, Prince. (See Ivan.)

Job, Metropolitan of Novgorod, ii.

140, 400.

John, Prince of Denmark, i. 25.

John Adolphus, Prince of Saxe-Weis-

senfels, ii. 416.

Jordan, General, i. 313.

Joseph II„ Emperor of Austria (King

of the Romans), i. 391, 318, 434

;

ii. 64, 73 etseq., 339.

Joshaphat, Bishop of Polotsk, ii. 29.

Juliana Maria, Queen-dowager of Den-

mark, ii. 388, note.

Jungaria, ii. 459.

Jutland, ii. 330.

KAiSABOF, ii. 453.

Kaiserlingk, Count, promotes Fred-

erick's "great design," ii. 323.

Kalabalik of Charles XII., ii. 206.



534 INDEX.

Kalailekoz, Ahmed Paslia, i. 260 ; ii.

176.

Kalautchi, fort, i. 246, 255'.

Kaliazin, i. 108.

Kalisz, ii. 19 ; Swedes defeated at, 50,

432.

Kalmuks, at the second siege of Azof,

i. 256, 357 ; in Livonia, 420 ; ii.

123 ; embassy to Russia, 247

;

trade with the, 880, 459 et seq.,

462, 469.

Kamenetz, Podolia, i. 135, 161, 856.

Kamenny-Zaton, fort, ii. 175 et seq.

Kampfer, Engelbert, i. 104.

Kamsohatka, ii. 469.

Kara Mustapha Pasha,' Grand Vizier, i.

154 et seq., 161.

Karandeyef, Alexander, i. 45.

Kardis, treaty of, i. 126 et seq., 371.

Karelia, i. 390, 410 ; occupied hy the

Russians, ii. 168 ; ceded to Rus-

sia, 428.

Kargopol, i. 183, 185.

Karlshamn, letter of, i. 396.

Kasimierz, Patkul executed at, ii.

60.

Kasimof, Prince of, i. 13.

Kaulbars, General, ii. 407.

Kaunitz, Count, i. 414 ; ii. 53.

Kayserling, Prussian Minister, i. 334

et seq.

Kazan, picture of the Virgin at, i. 171

et seq. ; ii. 84, 156, 160, 436, note
;

Peter visits, 468 et seq.

Kazikermtln, fortress of, i. 244, 249.

Keller, Baron van, Butch Resident, i.

48, 65, 100, 103, 106, 160
; proph-

ecy of, 169, 194, 214, 218, 225.

Kensington Palace, i. 304.

Kertch, fortress of, i. 316 et seq., 354

et seq.

Khang-Hi, Emperor of China, ii. 457

et seq.

Kharof, ii. 207.

Khiva, Khan of, ii. 461 et seq., 476.

Khliebovo, i. 93.

Khlopof, Kirilo Ossipovitch, Okolnit-

chy, i. 56.

Khlopof, Marie, i. 11.

Khmelnitzky, Bogdan, i. 8, 152; ii.

97, 99.

" Khmelnitzky, Ivashka," i.e., carous-

ing, i. 441 et seq., 445.

Khmelnitsky, Yiiry, i. 158.

Kief, i. 92, 97, 105, 130 et seq., 155,

161, 210, 410 ; ii. 203, 205, 207,

419.

Kiel, ii. 240.

Kikin, Alexander, ii. 271, 273, 275 et

seq. ; his. interview with Alexis,

326, 838 ; arrested and put to

death, 339 et seq., 860, 429.

Kindler, assumed name of Patkul, i.

370.

Kinsky, Count, i. 315.

Kirilof, Councillor, killed by the

mob, i. 55.

Kirilovitch, Leo, i. 120.

Kirilovna, ii. 486.

Kisnelnikof , ii. 157.

Kist, Gerrit, i. 287.

Klingstedt, Jonas, Councillor of the

Royal Chancery, i. 126.

Klissow, Augustus defeated at, ii. 16,

90 ; Duke of Holsteln killed at,

288.

Klokatchef, ii. 442, note.

Klush, bedchamber-woman, i. 60.

Klushino ; battle of, i. 124.

Kneller, Sir Godfrey, i. 303.

Knipercrona, Swedish Resident at

Moscow, i. 871, 376, 401 et seq.

;

ii. 167.

Kochen, Swedish Envoy, i. 159.

Kokhansky, Alexis assumes name of,

ii. 326, 330.

Kokoshkin, Leoutius, i. 406.

Kola, i. 185 ; trade of, ii. 381 et seq.

Kollonitz, Cardinal, i. 815.

Kolomenskoe, i. 91 etseq., 171 etseq.,

197, 262.

Kolomensky, riots at, i. 51.
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Kolomna, Peter at, ii. 467.

Koltsof-Masalsky, Prince Andrew, i.

305, 323.

Kolytchdf , il. 264.

Komar, i. 63.

Kondoides, Anastasius, ii. 398.

Kondrat, assumed name of young
Matveief, i. 63.

Konieh, Bey of, executed, i. 259.

Konigsaoker, Count ; Peter occupies

his villa, i. 313, 314.

Konigsberg, Peter at, i. 281 et seq. ;

ii. 217 ; trade of, 10, 381
; pest at,

131 ; Russian students sent to,

351.

Konigseck, von, Polish. Minister,

drowned, ii. 431.

Kiinigsmark, Countess Aurora von, i.

313 ; ii. 15, 233.

Konigstein, ii. 48 ; Patkul imprisoned

at, 59 et seq. ; Peter at, 230 et seq.

Kopiefsky, publisher, ii. 143.

Koporie, fort, i. 428 ; ii. 85, 91.

Kopos, ii. 86.

Koppenhrugge, i. 384.

Koppenstein, Herr, i. 285.

Koprulii, Heussein, ii. 175.

KopriilU, Numan, ii. 180.

Kopytof, a Dissenter, i. 72.

Kerb, i. 218, 326, 329, 337, 348, 350

et seq., 414.

Korolok, joiner, ii. 347.

Korsakof, Landriohter of Ingria, i.

434 ; dishonesty of, ii. 258 ; ban-

ished, 360.

Kort, shipbuilder, i. 113 ; death of,

120.

Kortchmin, Ivan, i. 376 ; ii. 40, 76.

Koshelef, Eudoxia, ii. 435, note.

Koshiikhovo, village, i. 238.

Kosogof, i. 185.

KoBtid, Nicolas, il. 193.

KostomArof, ii. 511.

Kotchubey, Anna, ii. 101.

Kotchubey, Matr^na, loved by Mazep-

pa, ii. 101 et seq.

Kotchubey, Secretary-General of the

Cossacks, ii. 99 ; his enmity

toward Mazeppa, 101 ; beheaded,

102.

Kotoshikin, i. 329, note.

Kozelska, Countess, ii. 48.

Kozlof, Theodore, i. 16.

Kramer, Anna, ii. 435, note.

Krassow, General, ii. 80, 113 et seq. ;

his want of harmony with Stanis-

las, 117, 125 et seq., 131, 220, 225.

Kremlin, i. 12, 29, 46 ; the Streltsi in,

49 et seq., 62, 66 ; the Dissenters

at, 76 et seq., 81 et seq., 92, 96,

117, 123, 170; Sophia retires to,

172 et seq. , 180 ; Sophia removed

from, at Peter's request, 188, 319 ;

fire in the, 412 ; fortified at the

threat of the Swedish invasion, ii.

76etseq., 341.

Kreutz, General, ii. 80.

Kreyzen, Count von, i. 383 et seq.

Krivitz, Peter at, ii. 233 et seq.

Kronhjort, General, ii. 3.

Kronslot, ii. 3 et seq. , 43, 167, 449.

Kronstadt, in Transylvania, ii. 185.

Kropotkin, Prince, i. 185.

Kropotof, Brigadier, ii. 180, 185, 192.

Kryzhanitch, Yiiry, i. 101, 163, 192,

342.

Kuhlmann, Quirinus, i. 194.

Kupetzky, artist, ii. 396.

Kurakin, Prince Boris, i. 215, 266

;

sent to Rome, ii. 71 ; Minister to

Hanover, 129, 341, 248 et seq.,

253, 273, 385 et seq., 292, 299,

302; proposes a treaty to the

French, 305; attends Peter to

Paris, 308 et seq., 311 et seq. ; be-

gins negotiations with the Swedes,

320, 403, 430, 423, note, 442.

Kurbatof, Alexis, economical reforms

of, i. 269 ; introduces stamp pa-

per, 343 ; ii. 139, 142 et seq. ;

his correspondence with Peter,

169 ; charges against, 363 et seq.
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Kurile Islands, ii. 469.

Knroyedof, Micliael, i. 233.

Kurt Mohammed Pasha, ii. 208.

Kutuzof, Prince, i. 316.

Lacby, Major-Seneral, ii. 411, 423.

La Costa, court fool, ii. 436.

Ladoga, i. 135, 433 ; ii. 485, 506.

Ladogin, i. 175.

Lafayette, ii. 322, note.

Lagercrona, General, ii. 110.

Lais, castle of, Charles XII. at, i. 404,

416.

Lakhta. ii. 506 et seq.

Lamherty, ii. 346, note.'

Lanczynski, General, Russian Minister

to Vienna, ii. 491 et seq.

Landskoronski, ii. 94.

Lang, Lorenz, Secretary of Legation,

ii. 458 et seq.

Langen, Baron, i. 375, 377 et seq.,

390, 394 et seq., 397 et seq. ; ex-

changed, 400.

Lapteff, Anthony, i. 330.

La Salle, i. 37.

" Last Judgment," the, ii. 280.

Laval, engineer, i. 359.

La Vie, ii. 337, 345, note, 505, note.

Lavrentief, private, i. 187.

Le Blond, French architect, ii. 290,

342.

Le Bruyn, Cornelius, Dutch painter,

i. 415, 435 et seq.

Lee, Dr. Francis, i. 305 ; ii. 350.

Leeds, Duke of, i. 300.

Leeuwenhoek, i. 295.

Lefort, Ami, i. 211, 234.

Lefort, Brigadier, ii. 410.

Lefort, General Franz, protected by
Golltsyn, i. 100 ; letter from, 166

;

antecedents of, 311 et seq., 317
et seq. ; accompanies Peter to

Archangel, 327, 331 et seq., 334,

339 et seq. ; in command before

Azof, 344 et seq. ; made Admiral,

352; illness of, 253; his tri-

umphal entry into Moscow, 263 ;

heads an embassy to Western

Europe, 376 ; adjusts a discour-

tesy to Peter, 379 et seq., 384,

293 et seq. ; his letter to Peter,

309, 318 et seq., 319 et seq., 324,

338 ; appears in German dress,

340, 350 et seq. ; sudden death

of, 352 et seq., 364, 434; ii. 150

et seq.

Lefort, Henry, i. 353, 373 ; ii. 260.

Lefort, Jacob, 1. 309.

Lefort, Peter, i. 214, 353.

Lefort, Polish Minister to Bussia, ii.

367, 484 et seq., 505 note.

Leibnitz, i. 38, 284, 332, 401 ; ii. 61,

127 et seq., 316 et seq., 229 et

seq., 237, 261, 265, 278; his in-

terview with Peter, 290 et seq.

Leipzig, i. 311, 443 ; ii. 222.

Lemberg, i. 136, 163 ; Charles XII.

captures, ii. 24, 65, 71.

Lenk, Colonel, ii. 30, note.

Lenk, MS,ns, ii. 81.

Leontief, Matrena, i. 16.

Leopold I., Emperor of Austria, i.

105 ; Russian embassy to, 143 et

seq., 193 et seq., 248, 357, 369,

375, 304, 306, 310, 313, 316 ; ii.

64, note, 139, 195.

Lesgewang, Count, ii. 215, note, 331.

L^shef, i. 38.

Leslie, i. 214.

Lesur, Charles Louis, ii. 513 et seq.

Leszczynski, Raphael, ii. 20.

Leszczynski, Stanislas. (See Stanis-

las L)

Lewenhaupt, Count Adam, ii. 34, 39

et seq. , 87 ; left in the lurch, 88

et seq., 113; at Poltava, 117 et

seq. ; Charles XII. 's injustice to,

122, 424, note.

Lewenhaupt, Count Gustavus Adol-

phus, ii. 29.

Leyden, Peter at, i. 395 ; ii. 300.

Libau, Peter at, i. 381 ; ii. 10, 336.
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Liboy, M. de, ii. 308 et seq.

Li^sna, battle at, ii. 89, 91, 133.

Liesna, the, mau-of-war launched by
Peter, ii. 345.

Lieth, von der, German-Russian Resi-

dent at Berlin, ii. 54, 223 ; Min-

ister at London, 235.

Liewen, Charles XII. disregards his

advice, ii. 16.

Likharef , General, ii. 460 et seq.

Likhatchef, i. 33, 45 et seq., 63, 270

et seq.

Lilienroth, Baron, Swedish Ambassa-

dor, i. 364.

Lilienstedt, Baron, ii. 410, 418, 422.

Lima, Colonel, made Vice-Admiral, i.

253, 348.

Linksweiler, interpreter, i. 413.

Lipski, Voievode of Kalisz, ii. 17.

Lisltsa, i. 139.

Lithuania, i. 130 ; united to Livouia,

365 ; Swedes and Russians in, ii.

80 et seq.

Lithuania, Prince of, i. 137.

Little Russia, i. 130 ; development of

the Cossacks in, ii. 94 ; condition

of, 97 et seq. ; fidelity of the Little

Russians to Peter, 109 ; trade of,

380 et seq.

Livonia, ceded to Sweden, i. 365 et

seq. ; the Russians devastate, 420

et seq. ; transportation of the in-

habitants, ii. 83 et seq. ; land

laws in, 354, 419, 433 ; ceded to

Russia, 433.

Lizogiib, i. 358.

Lofo, a village on the island of Aland,

congress at, ii. 403 et seq., 410 et

seq.

Lomikofsky, Cossack Colonel, ii. 105.

London, England, Peter at, i. 399 et

seq. ; arrest of Matveief, Russian

Minister at, ii. 164 et seq. ; arrest

of Gyllenborg, Swedish Minister

at, 300 et seq., 432.

London, Mr., i. 301.

Lopilkhin, Abraham, i. 333 ; ii. 338

;

executed, 341, 346, note.

Lopukhin, Eudoxia. (See Eudoxia,

Tsarltsa.)

Lopilkhin, Hilary Abramovitoh, i. 119,

191 ; exiled, 278.

Lopilkhin, Peter, exiled, i. 378.

Loss, Saxon Envoy, ii. 344.

Louis XIV., King of France, i. 37, 146

et seq., 150, 311, 386; ii. 60 et

seq., 65, 69, 130, 373 et seq., 314,

343.

Louis XV., King of France, ii. 135,

note, 304, 307, 311 et seq., 317,

319, 414, 496 et seq., 510, 513 et

seq.

Louis XVni., King of France, i. 380.

Lublin, i. 335, 441 ; Polish Diet at, ii.

18 et seq., 49 ; congress at, 381.

Lubomiiski, Prince, Crown Marshal

of Poland, i. 144, 310 ; ii. 19, 22,

65.

Luhe, dwarf, ii. 312.

Luka, Stephen, ii. 192, 207.

Lilkin, Gregory, i. 107, 215; killed,

248.

LuMtchevitch, Captain, ii. 184.

Liineberg, Duke of, i. 368.

Lupu, Boyar Constantine, ii. 208 et

seq.

Luther, Martin, tomb of, ii. 338.

Lutherans, i. 193, 196, 200.

Luttrell, Narcissus, ii. 134.

Lvof, Neonlla, i. 16, 191.

Lvof, Prince Peter, i. 325, note.

Lybecker, General, ii. 88, 90 et seq.,

107 ; the chief command in Fin-

land, 245 et seq.

Lykof, Prince, i. 94 et seq., 191.

Lyseck, Adolph, i. 17, 26.

Macabitjs, Patriarch, i. 26.

Macanlay, i. 274.

MacDonnell, Count, i. 339, note.

Madras, ii. 461.

Madrid, Spain, ii. 430.
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Magdalena, Archduchess, offered in

marriage to Alexis, ii. 139, 383.

Mahmud, Afghan leader, ii. 467.

Maidel, ii. 4.

Maigret, ii. 407.

Maintenon, Madame de, ii. 313 et seq.

Makarof, Alexis, Cabinet Secretary,

ii. 135, 309, 366, 387, 433, 443,

note, 464, 466, 503.

Malenky, Simeon, ii. 463.

Mamonof, Peter's aide-de-camp, ii.

503.

Manstein, i. 166 ; ii. 479.

Manteuffel, Baron, ii. 331, 333.

Manuel, Emperor, i. 367.

Mar, Earl of, ii. 801, 303.

Marcellus, i. 196 et seq.

Marck, Count de la, ii. 331.

Mardefeld, General, Prussian Minister

at St. Petersburg, ii. 833, 410, 481,

484, 488, 499.

Marderfelt, Swedish General, ii. 47,

50, 133.

Margarita Maria Petrovna, Princess,

ii. 338.

Margeret, i. 199 et seq.

Maria Alexeievua, Princess, i. 83

;

her opinion of St. Petersburg, ii.

8, 85, 376 ; her interview with the

Tsarevitch Alexis, 336, 339, 388

;

imprisoned in Schliisselburg, 340,

345, 440.

Maria Theresa, Empress, i. 415.

Marie IHnitchna Miloslavsky, Prin-

cess. (See Miloslavsky, Princess.)

Marlborough, Duke of, ii. 63 et seq.,

66 et seq., 135, 139, note, 319.

Marsehall, Prussian Envoy, ii. 333 et

seq.

Marselis, Peter, i. 304 et seq., 339,

349.

Martha AlexMevna, Princess, i. 837

;

ii. 364.

Martha, Tsaritsa; second wife of

Theodore, i. 34, 55, 58, 60; death

of, ii. 358, 437, note, 440, 453.

Mary, Princess. (See Maria Alexei-

evna.)

Mary, Queen of England, 1. 339.

JKasquerading of Peter, 1. 315 et seq.,

318 etseq., 348; ii. 183 et seq.,

346, 483, 507 et seq.

Maszkiewicz, i. 303.

Matiushkin, General, ii. 474.

Matthew, Tartar Prince, i. 89 et seq.

Matthew Corvinus, King of Hungary,

i. 198.

Matveief, Artemon, SergMievitch,

chief minister to Alexis, i. 4, 9 et

seq. ;
promotion of, 14, 17, 35,

37 ; banishment of, 38 et seq. ;

reinstatement of, 84 et seq., 44

et seq. ; return of, 47 et seq. ; ad-

dresses the Streltsi, 51 ; killed by

the mob, 53 et seq., 69, 87, 185,

305.

Matveief, Count Andrew, i. 60, 63, 315

et seq., 360; his mission to Hol-

land, 413 et seq., 431 ; ii. 3, 53 ;

Patkul quarrels with, 55 ; sent on

u, mission to London, 67 et seq. ;

pleased with Mazeppa, 93 ; insult

offered to, in London, 164 etseq.

;

made President of the college of

Justice, 351.

Maurice, Prince, i. 394.

Maurice de Saxe, i. 311 ; ii. 333.

Mavrocordato, Alexander, i. 355, 360

et seq.

Mavrocordato, Nicholas, ii. 185, 191,

309 et seq.

Max Charles, Margrave, ii. 416, note.

Maximof, ii. 393.

Mazeppa, Ivan, Stepanovitch, made

Hetman, i. 159, joins Golitsyn,

163 ; at Moscow, 188 et seq. ; in-

trigues of, 343, 344, 349 ; protects

the frontier, 351 ; adventures of,

263,364, 438, note; ii. 34; ordered

to reinforce Ogilvy, 39 et seq.,

53, 64, 78, 88 ; treachery of, 91

;

sketch of, 93 et seq. ; difficulties
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of, 98 et seq. ; joins the Swedes,

105 et seq. ; excommunicated,

108 ; flight and death of, 119, 179

etseq., 363.

Maziucki, i. 363.

Mecklenburg, the Swedes invade, ii.

228, 238, 392 ; troubles, 299, 301,

308, 319, 405, 417, 419, 493.

Mecklenburg, Duchess of. (See Cath-

erine Ivanovna, Tsarevna.)

Mecklenburg, Duke of. (See Carl

Leopold and Christian Ludwig.)
Medvedief, Sylvester, i. 101, 170,

178, 180 et seq. ; arrested and

executed, 187.

Meiucke, Pastor, i. 194.

Melfort, Lord, i. 211.

Melnitsky, made a member of the

Senate, ii. 147.

Melnof, i. 175, 177.

Memling, artist, ii. 380, note.

Mengden, Colonel von, i. 315, 336
;

ii. 431.

Menshikof, Anna, i. 436, 439.

Menshikof, Gabriel, i. 433.

Menshikof, Maria Daiiilovna, marries

Alexis Golovin, i. 486.

Menshikof, Peter Luke, Peter stands

godfather to, ii. 112, 395.

Menshikof, Prince Alexander ; vol-

iiuteer in Peter's regiment, i. 107,

319, 276, 380, 287, 305 ; cruelty

of, 329, 334 et seq. ; rebuked by
Peter, 351, 853, 873, note, 400,

408, 411, 419 ; appointed gover-

nor of Schliisselburg, 424 ; made
cavalier of the order of Saint An-

drew, 428, 430; Peter's friend-

ship for, 431 et seq. ; honors to,

434 et seq. ; domestic life of, 436

et seq. ; marries Daria Arsenief,

489 et seq. ; assists in laying the

foundations of St. Petersburg,

ii. 1 et seq., 9, 26 ; his difficulties

with Ogilvy, 33 ; reassures Peter

about Grodno, 37 ; meets Peter

at Dubr6vna, 88 ; in command at

Minsk, 41 et seq. ; his generosity

to Augustus, 49 et seq. , 63 et seq

;

accused of intriguing for the Pol-

ish crown, 73 et seq. ; movements
of, 78, 81 et seq. ; Peter's letter

to, 85 et seq., 103 et seq. ; de-

ceived by Mazeppa, 106 et seq. ;

takes Setch, 113 et seq. ; rein-

forces Poltava, 116 et seq. ; Lew-
enhaupt surrenders to, 120

;

made field-marshal, 124 et seq. ;

receives the order of the Black

Eagle from Frederick, 130 et seq.

,

135 ; appointed governor of St.

Petersburg, 137, 148, 153, 159,

166, 170, 813 ; Peter's letter to,

187 ; Catherine's letter to, 189
;

Peter's letter to, 216 ; in Pomera-

nia, 235 et seq., 229, 335 et seq. ;

expels Goertz from Danish ter-

ritory, 340 et seq., 246 et seq.,

350 et seq. ; dishonesty of, 358
;

superintends the education of

Alexis, 363 et seq., 268, 378,

280, 283, 385, 398 ; espouses the

cause of Prince Peter, 334 et

seq. ; his triumph over Basil Dol-

goruky, 339 ; diary of, 345, note,

347 ; made President of the War
Department, 350 et seq. ; prose-

cution of, 360 et seq., 375, 385,

394, 397, note, 430 et seq., 444 et

seq. ;
quarrels of, 481 et seq. ; in

the Carnival, 484, 503 'et seq. ;

pardon of, 508 et seq.

Menshikof, Princess, i. 436 ; marries

Menshikof, 439 ; ii. 81, 435, note,

445, 484.

Menzies, i. 814.

Meretch, ii. 78.

Merrick, Sir John, i. 134, 203.

Meshed, Persia, ii. 471.

Mestchersky, Prince Boris, ii. 474.

Meverell, i. 284.

Meyerberg, i. 301.
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Meyerberg, von, i. 24.

Meyerfeld, General, ii. 60 ; command-
ant of Stettin, 243 et seq.

Michael, Peodorovitch, Tsar, i. 84.

Michael (Romanof), Tsar of Russia,

i. 3 et seq., 11, 34, 36, 40, 111,

134 et seq., 152, 215, 244, 303,

372.

Milar^doviteh, Colonel, ii. 184.

Miloslavsky, Ivan, Michailovitch, i. 33

et seq. , 44 et seq. , 47 ; advance-

ment of, 66 ; his hatred toward

Havansky, 89 et seq., 95 ; as So-

phia's minister, 101, 129, 377.

Miloslavsky, Larion, made okolnit-

chi, i.78.

Miloslavsky, Matthew, made boyar,

i. 78.

Miloslavsky, Princess Marie Ilmitch-

na, i. 9, 32, 34.

Minaef, Flor. (See Flor Minaef.)

Minin, peasant, ii. 468.

Mir Weis, Afghan chief, ii. 467, 477.

Mitau, Peter at, i. 380 ; Peter takes,

ii. 33 etseq., 490,500.

Mitchell, Admiral, i. 299.

Mitrophan, Bishop of Voronezh, ii.

146.

Mnishek, Marie, i. 34 ; ii. 488.

Mnogogri^shny, ii. 99.

Mogul of India, ii. 463.

Mohamed Rami, Vizier, ii. 175.

Mohammed IV. , Sultan, i. 161.

Moldavia. (See Cantemir, Hospodai

of.)

MoliSre, i. 386 ; ii. 143.

MoUyson, Gilbert, Quaker, i. 305, note.

Monomachus, Constantine, i. 78, 80.

Mens, Anna, favorite of Peter, i. 333,

333 et seq. ; ii. 435.

Mons, Wilhelm, i. 335; ii. 435, 464;

corruption and punishment of,

503 et seq.

Montaigne, i. 372.

Montenegrins, and the Turks and

Russians, ii. 184, 310.

Montgomery, i. 314.

Morea, i. 156, 161, 356.

Moro, Captain Giacomo, i. 365.

Morosini, i. 161.

Morozof , Boris, i. 4, 24 ; ii. 150.

Morozof, Theodora, i. 277.

Morville, De, French Secretary of For-

eign Affairs, ii. 497.

Moscow, great fire in, i. 117 ; reforms

in, 122 et seq. ; anxiety, at for

Peter, 307 ; Peter's return to, 319 ;

.

great fire in, 413 ; fortifications of,

on threat of Swedish invasion, i.

.

76 et seq. ; triumph at, for battle

of Poltava, 132 et seq. ; reforms

in, 139 et seq. ; road from St.

.

Petersburg to, 385 et seq., 430,.

442, 445 et seq., 457, 466 ; Peter

returns to, 473, 481 et seq.

Moses Island, Peter at, i. 238, 234.

Miihlenfeld, his treachery, ii. 82

;

death of, 133.

Miillern, ii. 406.

Miinnich, General, his campaign in

the Crimea, i. 166; ii. 385, 487, 506.

Muromkef, Major, 1. 187.

Mussin-Piishkim, Count Ivan, i. 425 ;

ii. 144, 146 ; member of the Sen-

ate, 147 ; made President of the

College of Expenditure, 351, 359.

Mustapha III. , Sultan, ii. 173.

Mustapha Aga, Turkish envoy to Rus-

sia, ii. 176.

Mustapha, Daltaban, Grand Vizier, ii.

175.

Myshfitsky, Prince Jacob, sent on au

embassy to Holland, France, and

Spain, i. 145.

Myshetsky, Princes, ii. 899.

Nadb, of Derbent, ii. 473.

Nalivaiko, Hetman, ii. 92.

Napoleon I., Emperor, his theory to

account for Peter's journey, i. 375,

391 ; ii. 86, note, 380, note, 513

et seq.
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Narva, 'battle of, i. 391 et seq. ; Charles

XII.'s success at, 398 et seq. ; effects

of battle in Europe, 403 et seq.;

on Charles XII., 403 et seq. ; on

Peter, 405 ; in Vienna, 414 ; Rus-

sians capture, 431 ; ii. 419.

Nar^shkln, Alexis, ii. 260 et seq.

Nar^shkin, Athanasius, KirlUovitoh,

i. 29, 47; murdered by the Streltsi,

53, 69.

Nar^shkin, Cyril, Alexjievitcli, com-

mandant of Narva, peculations of,

ii. 360, 431.

Naryshkin, Cyril, Poluektovitch, i. 10
;

promotion of, 14, 60, 62, 316 ; ii.

1, 40 ; ordered to provide for the

defence of Pskof and Dorpat, 83.

.Naryshkin, Ivan, Ivanovitch, cousin

to Natalia, i. 38 ; ii. 337.

Naryshkin, Ivan, KirlUovitoh, i. 39,

46, 53, 55 ; escape in disguise,

60 ; taken and murdered, 61 et

seq., 69.

Naryshkin, Leo, KirlUovitoh, i. 63,

172 et seq. ; his devotion to Peter,

174 et seq. ; director of foreign

affairs, 191, 316, 223, 249, 261
;

appointed regent in Peter's ab-

sence, 276 ; his quarrel with the

Lopdkhins, 377, 333, 351, 371.

Naryshkin, Martemian, Kirillovitoh,

i. 63.

Naryshkin, Natalia. (See Natalia,

Tsaritsa.

)

Naryshkin, Peter, Thomitioh, killed

by the Streltsi, i. 54.

Naryshkin, Simeon, Gregorievitoh, i.

376 ; ii. 373, 338 ; banished, 341,

433.

Nar;^shkin, Theodore, 1. 19 ; made
privy councillor, 14 et seq.

Naryshkin, Theodore, Kirillovitoh, i.

15, 63 et seq.

Nassau-Friedland, Princess Sophia

Hedwiga of, ii. 383.

Natalia, Princess, daughter of Alexis

and Charlotte, birth of, ii. 269,

436, 439 et seq.

Natalia, Princess, daughter of Cather-

ine and Peter, death of, ii. 358.

Natalia, Princess, daughter of Cather-

ine and Peter, ii. 438.

Natalia, Princess, i. 39, 53, 60, 333,

832, 349, 415, 436 ; visits Peter at

St. Petersburg, ii. 84, 113
;
gives

banquet in honor of Poltava, 134,

359 et seq., 364, 269 ; death of,

278, 378, 429, 440, 446.

Natalia, Tsaritsa, chosen by Alexis, i.

10 et seq. ; birth of her son, 14 et

seq., 17, 34 et seq. ; sent to Preo-

brazhensky, 39, 31, 34; made re-

gent, 37 et seq. , 46 et seq. ; her

danger, 50 et seq. , 58 ; obliged to

deliver her brother to the mob,

61 et seq. , 82 et seq. ; isolation of,

99 ; name's-day of, 113 et seq.
;

Peter's letters, 119 et seq. ; con-

spiracies against, 173, 182 et seq. ;

serious illness of, 222 et seq. ; her

anxiety for Peter, 227 et seq.
;

death of, 231, 436.

Nattier, artist, ii. 814.

Neculce, Moldavian historian, ii. 185,

193, 196, 207.

Nefsky, St. Alexander, ii. 170.

Neledinsky, ii. 442, note.

Nephimonof , Russian envoy, i. 257.

Nepluief, Adrian, ii. 456, 476.

Nepluief, Ivan, Ivanovitch, ii. 452 et

seq. ; appointed Resident to Con-

stantinople, 455 et seq., 475 et

seq.

Nepluief, Leontius, i. 116, 179, 183;

exiled, 185.

Nertchinsk, treaty of, ii. 64, 457.

Nesterof, Alexis, Ober-Fiscal, i. 435

;

ii. 358 et seq.; execution of, 367.

Netchaef , Colonel Ivan, i. 180 et seq.

Neugebauer, Martin, Swedish envoy

to Constantinople, ii. 180; tutor

to Alexis, 260 et seq.
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Neuhauseu, German - Russian Resi-

dent at Copenhagen, ii. 54.

New York, Gaillardet in, il. 513.

Nicholas, bourgeois, a giant, ii, 310.

Nicholas, Prince of Georgia, i. 13.

Nieroth, Colonel, ii. 115.

Niki'ta, i. 15, 74 et seq., 81 et seq.; be-

headed, 87.

Nikita, Alexeief. (See Alexeief Ni-

kita.)

Nikitin, i. 363 et seq.

Nikitin, peasant poet, i. 352.

Nikitin, TJstinia, dwarf, ii. 437, note.

Nikititch, Tikhon, i. 131.

Nikon, Patriarch, i. 5, 85, 336, 377,

333 ; ii. 364, 389.

Noailles, Cardinal de, ii. 313.

Noroopensis, tutor to Charles XII., i.

380.

Nordermann, i. 194.

Norris, Admiral Sir John, ii. 247, 293

et seq., 330, 414, 420, 433, note.

Norway, ii. 420, 494.

Nosof , ii. 159.

' Nostitz; Major, ii. 165 et seq.

Noteborg, Peter besieges, i. 433 et seq.

Novgorod, i. 124 et seq., 229 et seq.,

245, 394 ; ii. 443, 467, 488, 506.

Numan, Kopriilii, Grand Vizier, ii.

180.

Nummers, Vioe-Admiral, i. 438 ; ii. 3.

Nuradin, Sultan, i. 356.

Nystad, ii. 422 et seq., 438, -457, 487,

489, 494 et seq., 498, 500 et seq.,

514.

Odoiepsky, Prince Jacob, i. 45, 61,

193.

Odyntsof, i. 95.

Oesel Island, i. 365 ; surrendered to

Russia, ii. 169, 433.

Ogilvy, Field-Marshal, i. 430 ; his dif-

ficulties with Russian ofScers, ii.

37 ; in sole command, 32 ; at

GrodHO, 36 et seq. ; ordered to re-

treat from Grodno, 40 et seq. ; his

difficulties with Menshikof, 43 et

seq. ; resigns and dies, 45, 50,

53.

Oginski, Prince, i. 135 ; ii. 19, 39

;

defeat of, 30.

Okolintohy, definition of, i. 14, note,

56, 135.

Olearius, globe of, ii. 235, 430.

Oleg, i. 359.

Oliva, treaty of, i. 365 ; ii. 419.

Olonetz, iron-works at, ii. 399, 441,

448, 487, 502, 506.

Olsufief, Anna (born Senyavin), ii.

435, note.

Omsk, Fort, ii. 460.

Oostenburg, Holland, i. 291.

Opiikhtin, made member of the Sen-

ate, ii. 147; dishonesty of, 258;

punishment of, 360.

Ordin-Nastchokin, i. 4, 192.

Oregrund, Sweden, ii. 403 ; the Rus-

sians burn, 411.

Oriah, Armenian diplomatist, ii. 183.

Orleaiis, Duke of. (See Philip, Duke

of Orleans.)

Orlenka, merchant, i. 303.

Orlik, Mazeppa's secretary, ii. 103 et

seq. , 106 ; named Hetman of the'

Cossacks, 181, 188, 477.

Orlof, orderly, ii. 436.

Oscar II. , King of Sweden, his criti-

cism of Charles XII., ii. 13 et

seq., 407, note.

Osipof, Colonel, ii. 102.

Osterman, Count Andrei, secretly em-

ployed by Makarof, ii. 135, 388,

309 ; honesty of, 357, 373, 403 et

seq., 409 et seq., 414, 432,424,

440, 455, 495 et seq., 505, 508,

514.

Csterman, Countess, ii. 435.

Osthammer, Sweden, the Russians

burn, ii. 411.

Oxenstjerna, Chancellor, i. 293, 365.

6zerof, i. 69.
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Padan, Admiral, li. 442, note.

Paget, Lord, English Ambassador at

Constantinople, 1. 315, 355.

Paisius, Patriarch, i. 36.

Palfii, Semen, Cossack, ii. 24, 53, 69
;

exiled by Mazeppa, 100. _
Palaeologos, Princess Sophia, i. 198.

Pamburg, Captain van, i. 358, 360.

Panshin, i. 245, 357 ; Cossacks de-

feated at, ii. 163.

Paris, France, Russian embassy at,

i. 145, 211 ; Peter visits, ii. 311 et

seq., 420.

Patkul, Johann Reinhold, i. 865 et

seq., 373, 390, 402, 430, 430; ii.

15 ; sent to Denmark, 33, 35, 27,

40, 49 ; sketch of, 52 et seq. ; a

treaty to have his troops enter the

Austrian service, 57 ; arrested, 58

et seq. ; execution of, 60 ;
Queen

Anne's intercession for, 68, 72,

137, 140, 360.

Patriarch, the, i. 34, 26, 36, 41, 45 ; in

the riot of the Streltsi, 50 et seq.,

53 et seq., 66, 75 et seq., 78 et

seq., 93, 96 et seq., 138 et seq.,

158, 179, 181 et seq., 186 et seq.,

193, 205, 261 ; exhorts the Tsar

to mercy, 329, 337, 346 ; ii. 143 et

seq., 192, 396.

Patriarch of Constantinople, i. 137 et

seq., 157, 243 ;
ii. 390.

Patriarch of Jerusalem, i. 139 et seq.

;

ii. 145, 172, 177.

Patriarch of Moscow, i. 137 et seq.,

197, 392.

Paul, a Dissenter, i. 81.

Paul, Emperor, i. 29.

Paul, Prince, son of Peter and Cath-

erine, i. 438 i
death of, 440.

Paul, Prince, son of Peter and Cath-

erine, birth of, ii. 299 et seq.

Paulucci, Cardinal, ii. 71, 334.

PaykuU, General, i. 375, 416; be-

headed, ii. 34.

Pekin, i. 149 ; mission at, ii. 457 et seq.

Pelarino, Doctor Jacob, i. 194.

Penn, William, i. 37, 299, 305, note.

Penza, Province, ii. 460.

Perekop, encounter at, i. 163 et seq.

Pereyaslavl, i. 112, 119 et seq., 323 et^ seq., 227, 243, 249 ; ii. 143.

Pernau, i. 391 ; Charles XII. at, 393,

396, 404, 420, 439.; ii. 169, 217,

423.

Perry, Captain John, i. 301 et seq.,

339 et seq.

Persia, i. 150, 283 ; ii. 147, 183, 379 et

seq., 445, 457 et seq. ; camj(aign

in, 464, 475.

Persia, Shah of, i. 133, 150 ; ii. 430,

464 et seq.

Peter the Great ; birth of, i. 12 et

seq. ; babyhood of, 15 et seq.

;

prospects and education of, 37 et

seq. ; election of, 34 et seq. ; faces

•the Streltsi, 50 et seq. ; dissatis-

faction at his sole reign, 65 et

seq. ; coronation of, 77 et seq. ;

under Sophia's regency, 99 ; boj'-

hood and illnesses of, 103 et seq.

;

military sports of, 106 et seq. ; his

first boat. 111 et seq.; marriage

of, 119 et seq. ;
party forms for

him during campaign against

Turkey, 157 ; criticises Golitsyn's

operations, 167 et seq. ; struggle

between Sophia and Peter, 169 et

seq. ; takes refuge at Troitsa, 175

et seq. ; returns in triumph to

Moscow, 188 et seq. ; takes little

interest in affairs of state, 191 et

seq. ; birth of his son Alexis, 195
;

his friends in the German suburb,

208 et seq. ; his intimacy with

Lefort, 214 et seq. ; hospitality

extended to, 316 et seq. ; his fire-

works, etc., 221 etseq. ; illness of,

323 et seq. ; at Archangel, 337 et

seq. ; his mechanical skill, 231 et

seq.
;
grief at his mother's death,

232 ; at Archangel, 334 et seq. ;
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his campaign against Azof, 343 et

seq. ; humiliation of, 250 et seq.
;

plans a new campaign against

Azof, 350 et seq. ; Azof surrenders

to, 358 et seq. ;
praises of, 361

;

triumphal entry into Moscow, 363;

plans for a fleet on Black Sea, 364

et seq. ; resolves on foreign travel,

374 et seq. ; alleged plot against,

377 et seq. ; at Riga, 379 ; his in-

terview with the Elector of Bran-

denburg, 382 ; Blectress Sophia's

criticism of him, 384 et seq.; at

Zaandam, 287 et seq. ; at Amster-

dam, 290 et seq. ; at the docks of

East India Company, 391 et seq.

;

hispolicy toward France, 394 ; sets

out for England, 298 et seq. ; his

cordial relations with William

III., 303 etseq.; Burnet's opinion

of, 306 et seq.; at Vienna, 811 et

seq.; Kallonitz's description of,

81.5 ; his cordiality toward the

King of Poland, 318 et seq. ; his

return to Moscow, 319 ; his treat-

ment ofthe Streltsi, 321 et seq. ; his

investigations by means of torture,

335 et seq. ; sends the Tsaritsa to a

convent, 382 et seq. ; his conduct

toward Anna Mens, 334 et seq.;

his edict on shaving, 337 et seq.

;

introduces stamped paper and

other means of revenue, 343 et

seq.; new coinage, 345 et seq.;

new calendar, 346 et seq.; carni-

val, 348 et seq.; his anger at

Sh&n, 350 et seq. ; his truce with

Turkey, 354 et seq. ; league

against Sweden, 864 etseq.; prep-

arations for war against Sweden,

373 et seq. ; accompanies the ad-

vance against Sweden, 391 ; at

the siege of Narva, 393 et seq.;

goes to Novgorod, 394 ; Russian

defeat at Narva, 398 et seq.; ridi-

culed, 403 et seq. ; receives news

of the defeat, 405 ; his meeting

with Augustus, 409 et seq. ; nego-

tiations for peace, 412 et seq,;

victory and rejoicings, 419 et seq.

;

at Archangel, 431 ; at Lake Lado-

ga, 422 et seq. ; rejoicings, 434 et

seq.; first naval victory, 438;

capture of Narva, 431 ; his in-

timacy with Catherine, 437 et

seq, ; birth of Peter and Paul, 438;

privately married to Catherine,

440 et se(i.; founds St. Peter^urg,

ii. 1 et seq.; makes an alliance

with Poland, 33 et seq.; anxiety

and ill-health of, 36 et seq.; at

the Uniate Monastery and at

Wilna, 38 et seq.; Mitan sur-

renders to, 31 et seq.; his inter-

view with Augustus, 33 et seq.;

sets out for Grodno, 37 et seq.;

mistrusts the Saxons, 40 et seq.;

his transactions with Patkul, 53 et

seq.; leaves St. Petersburg for

seat of war, 63 et seq. ; his nego-

tiations with Charles XII., 65 et

seq. ; seeks an alliance with Eng-

land, 66 et seq.; his intrigues

against Stanislas, 71 et seq.; pre-

pares for an invasion by Charles

XTT., 76 et seq.; illness of, 84 et

seq.; defeats Lewenhaupt, 88 et

seq.; upholds Mazeppa, 98, 100,

103 ; sends for Mazeppa, 105 et

seq. ; Mazeppa's treachery to, 106

et seq. ; . manifestoes of, 109 ; di-

rects the march against Charles

Xn., Ill ; in Voronezh, 113 ; ill-

ness, 118 ; at Poltava, 116 etseq.;

triumph at Poltava, 118 et seq.;

takes titles of Lieutenant-General

and Rear-Admiral, 134 ; at Kief,

135 et seq. ; his meeting with

Augustus, 136 et seq.; overtures

from France, Denmark, and Prus-

sia, 130 et seq. ; triumph at Mos-

cow, 133 et seq.; his reforms, 134
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et seq. ; eight governors appointed,

137; reforms, 138 et seq.; mon-

asteries, 144 et seq.; senate

formed, 147 et seq. ; discontent of

his subjects, 149 et seq. ; as Anti-

Christ, 153 et seq.; rising at As-

trakhan, 156 et seq.; sends con-

flicting instructions to Dolgoruky,

162 et seq.; receives Whitworth,

164 et seq.; atViborg, 166 et seq.;

his treaty with Curland, 170 et

seq.; negotiations with Turkey,

176 et seq.; war against Turkey
declared, 187 et seq. ; negotiations

for Alexis's marriage, 189 et seq.

;

on the Pruth, 193 et seq. ; retreat

of, 196 et seq.; treaties with the

Turks, 198 et seq.; at Carlsbad,

213 et seq. ; his son Alexis's mar-

riage, 315 et seq.; at St. Peters-

burg, 217 et seq.; Invades Pome-

rania, 231 et seq.; his ultimatum

about the partition of Poland, 333

et seq. ; Pomerania, 335 et seq.

;

at Berlin, 331 ; returns to St.

Petersburg, 335 ; his interview

with Frederick William I., 237 et

seq.; his instructions to Menshi-

kof on an alliance with Prussia,

242 et seq. ; his plans against Fin-

land, 245 et seq. ; treats with Den-

mark, 247 et seq. ; relations with

Prussia, 254 et seq. ; complains of

Gregory Dolgoruky's policy, 257

;

a son born to, 358 ; his plans for

the education of Alexis, 360 et

seq. ; opposition to Alexis, 271 et

seq. ; travels for his health, 279 et

seq. ; arranges a marriage between

his niece Catherine, and the Duke
of Mecklenburg, 282 et seq.; his

interview with the King of Prus-

sia, 389 et seq.; with Leibnitz,

390 et seq.; at Copenhagen, 292 et

seq.; interview with the King of

Prussia, 296 et seq.; negotiates

Vol. n.—35

for a treaty with France, 305 et

seq. ; exchanges visits with Louis
XV., 311 et seq.; at Spa, 316 et

seq.; stipulations of treaty with
France, 319 et seq.; at St. Peters-

burg, 324 ; flight and pursuit of

Alexis, 335 et seq.; publicly dis-

inherits Alexis and proclaims

Peter heir, 338; Alexis arrested

on Afrosinia's evidence, 343 et

seq.; his last visit to Alexis, 344
et seq.; his government, 348 et

seq.; economies of, 369 et seq.;

consuls appointed in Europe, 384

;

builds canals, 385 et seq.; his

church reforms, 389 et seq.;

Aland Congress, 403 et seq.; his

relations with England, 413 et

seq.; refuses to receive letters

from Norris or Carteret, 431 ; re-

joicing in St. Petersburg over the

peace with Sweden, 434 et seq.;

recognised as Emperor and "the
Great," 437 ; at St. Petersburg,

438 et seq.; his grief at death of

Tsarevitch Peter, 438 et seq.;

social assemblies of, 443 et seq.;

cruise of, 448 et seq.; kindliness

of, 453 et seq. ; Asiatic policy, 457

et seq.; his campaign against

Persia, 464 et seq.; sets out for

Kolomna, 467 et seq.; at Astrak-

han, 469 et seq.; serious illness

of, 473 et seq.; Persian policy of,

475 et seq. ; sudden appearance at

Moscow, 481 et seq. ; at St. Peters-

burg, 486 ; a decree with regard

to the succession, 487 et seq. ; his

disinclination to business, 489 et

seq. ; diplomatic relation with Eng-

land interrupted, 494 et seq. ; al-

liance with Sweden, 500 et seq.;

discovers Mons's corruption, 502

et seq. ; betrothal of his daughter

Anne, 505 et seq.; new forces of,

507 ; last iUness of, 508 ; death.
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509 ; delight and grief at the

death of, 510 et seq.; his will,

513.

Peter II., Emperor, son of Alexis and

Charlotte, ii. 11; birth of, 270,

340 et seq., 439 etseq., 487; his

chances for succeeding Peter the

Great, 509.

Peter III., Emperor, son of Charles

Frederick and Anne, ii. 505.

Peter, Prince, son of Peter and Cath-

erine, birth of, ii. 358 et seq.,

379 et seq., 334; publicly de-

clared heir, 338, 878, 393 ; death

of, 438.

Petrik, Cossack, ii. 99.

Petrof, beheaded, i. 186.

Pfingsten, Beferendary, ii. 48 et seq.,

127.

Pflug, General, ii. 87, 313, note.

Philaret (Romanof), Patriarch, i. 84.

Philip II., King of Spain, i. 229.
,

Philip v.. King of Spain, ii. 304.

Philip, Duke of Orleans, Kegent of

France, ii. 304 etseq.; calls on the.

Tsar, 311 et seq., 317 et seq., 494

;

death of, 497.

Pillau, i. 282 et seq.

Piper, Count Charles, favorite of

Charles XII., i. 383, 388, 396;

exchanged, 401 ; his anxiety at

Charles XII. 's course, 403, 434 ; ii.

19 et seq., 46, 48, 62 et seq.;

urges Charles XII. to make peace,

66, 88 ; Mazeppa's letter to, 106

;

his letter to his wife, 118, 115 et

seq. ; surrenders at Poltava, 119 ;

at Moscow, 132 et seq. , 434, note.

Pisaref, General Skorniakof. (See

Skorniakof Pisaref.)

Pitirim, Abbot, ii. 400.

Platen, Countess, i. 386.

Plemiannikof , made a member of the

Senate, ii. 147, 358.

Plestcheief , Judge, i. 4 ; made boyar,

78, 174 etseq.; ii. 150.

Plestcheief, Lake, i. 113 et seq., 119,

333 et seq.

Plestcheief, Theodore, i. 215, 324.

Pleyer, Austrian Agent, i. 247, 375,

433; ii. 76 etseq., 361, 339, 336,

343, 345, note, 347, 415, 505,

note.

Poland, peace with, i. 180 et seq.;

portrait of the King of, 133 ; Eus-

sia's alliance with, 133 et seq. , 148

et seq. , 153 et seq. ; unlucky cam-

paign of, 161, 194 etseq.; manners

of, 199, 311, 341, et seq., 350,

263, 271, 378, 383, 309 et seq.,

316, 318 etseq., 365, 367 et seq.;

league of, against Sweden, 373,

394, 410 ; Menshikof disliked in,

434; Charles XII. in, ii. 13 et

seq.; defeats of, 30; peace with

Sweden, 35 etseq.; Augustus re-

signs the crown of, 46 et seq. ; di-

plomacy in, 61, 66, 71 et seq.;

Peter in, 81, 95 et seq., 114, 117,

126 etseq.; 131, 180, 199, 208 et

seq., 308, 213 et seq., 219, 221 et

seq., 228, 282, 337, 339, 343, 349,

256 et seq., 317, 404 et seq., 419,

433 et seq. ; recognises Peter as

Emperor, 427, 489 et seq., 502.

PoUnitz, Baron von, ii. 368, 333.

Pol6tsky, Simeon, Polish monk, i. 35,

29, 84, 101.

Poltava, ii. 114 et seq.; Bussian vic-

tory at, 118 et seq., 458, 514.

Polus, Count, i. 396.

Pomerania, ii. 126, 304 et seq., 314,

317 et seq., 223 et seq., 338, 233,

336, 341, 343, 347, 350, 253, 255,

357, 268, 273, 397, 430.

Pomp, barber, i. 389.

Pondicherry, ii. 461.

Poniatowski, General, Swedish envoy

to Constantinople, ii. 180 et seq.,

302, 205, 820.

Pool, Baas Gerrit Claes, i. 293, 397.

Popovitch, Bogdan, ii. 183i
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Poptsof, executed, ii. 367.

Porosukof , Russian ambassador, i. 154.

Portland, Earl of, i. -291.

Poskotehin, i. 406.

Pososl>k6f, Ivan, i. 193, 206, 247; ii.

371, 886 et seq.

Posse, Carl Magnus, i. 403.

Pdstnik, Russian envoy, i. 162.

Postnikof, Dr. Peter, i. 367, 355.

Potieshnie, KoniukM, " amusements

grooms," i. 107.

Potooki, Prince, Bishop of Ermeland,

ii. 384.

Pozharsky, Prince, i. 170.

Prascovia, Ivanovna, Princess, i. 353,

note, 415 ; ii. 440.

Prascovia, Soltykof, Tsaritsa, marries

Tsar Ivan, i. 105, 415; ii. 85,

379, 430, 440 et seq., 445, 452,

481 et seq., 486; death of, 487,

491, 503.

Precedence, abolished by Theodore, i.

40 et seq.

Predestination, frigate, keel of, laid,

i. 257 ; launched, 375.

Preobraahensky, i. 29, 31, 104, 107,

115, 117, 168, 173 et seq., 181 et

seq., 208, 233, 231, 320, 325 et

seq. , 332 ; secret Chancery of, ii.

137, 482 et seq.; Peter burns his

villa at, 485.

Preobrazhensky Regiment, beginning

of, i. 107 et seq., 315, 224, 238 et

seq., 244, 374, 391, 393, 397 et

seq., 422, 434, 433; ii. 31, 337,

458, 471.

Pressburg, Fort, i. 108.

Pretender, the, of England, ii. 219,

301, note ; his intrigues with the

Swedes and interview with Peter,

302 et seq., 412 et seq., 430.

Pries, Secretary of Legation, ii. 320.

Prinoipium, galley, i. 256.

Printzeu, Prussian Envoy, i. 428, note.

Prokopovitch, Theopan, ii. 125, 313,

394 et seq., 397, 401, 426; wel-

comes Peter to Moscow, 473, 488,

510.

Prontchistchef, Ivan, Lord-Lieutenant

of Tcheboksary, i. 126.

Prontchistchef, Peter, Lord-Lieuten-

ant of Borofsk, i. 126.

Prosyany Pool, i, 112.

Prou, de, ii. 4.

Prozorofsky, Prince Peter, i. 178, 191

;

regent during the Tsar's absence/'

276, 825, note, 415; sent on an

embassy to Vienna, ii. 72, 486.

Prussia, i. 411, 416 ; ii. 130 et seq.,

166, 215, 220 et seq., 338, 337,

243, 247 et seq., 258, 256 et seq.,

304, 317 et seq., 405, 418 et seq.
;

recognizes Peter as Emperor, 427,

489, 492 et seq.

Pruth, the, i. 440 ; ii. 192 et seq., 195

et seq., 203, 207, 210 et seq., 218,

348, 464.

PufCendorf, book of, i. 367 ; ii. 361.

Pugatohef, ii. 155.

Pulcheria, i. 170.

Pultusk, Augustus defeated at, ii. 18,

78, 80.

Punitz, ii. 35.

Pushetchnikof, appointed privy-coun-

cillor, i. 78.

Pushkin, Matthew, i. 277.

Pushkin, poet, ii. 438.

Pushkin, Theodore, i. 277.

Pushkino, i. 94 et seq.

Pustozersk, Archangel, i. 29, 185 et

seq.

Putivl, i. 156 ; ii. 110, 187.

Pyrmont, Peter at, i. 444 ; ii. 279, 390

et seq.

Rabdan, Tsevan, ruler of Jungaria,

ii. 459.

Rabutin, Austrian Minister, ii. 504,

note.

Racine, i. 386.

Racovitsa, Michael, Hospodar of Mol-

davia, ii. 180, 185, 191.
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Radziejowski, Cardinal, Primate of

Poland, i. 370 ; intrigues against

Augustus, ii. 15, 18, 31 ; death of,

34, 34
Radziewill, ii. 33, 189.

Eaguzmsky, ii. 309.

Raguzinsky, Count Sarva, ii. 184

;

treats with the Turks, 198, 309
;

house of, 439, 459.

Rakoczy, Prince Francis, ii. 61, 65 et

seq., 73 et seq. ; desires Peter's

intervention, 183, 195, 311, 313.

Rami, Mehmed, Reis-BfEendi, i. 860.

Rami Mohamed, Vizier, ii. 175.

Ramodanofsky, Prince Gregory, 1. 45
;

murdered by the Streltsi, 54, 69,

153, 155.

Ramodanofsky, Prince Gregory, i.

435.

Ramodanofsky, Prince Michael, i.

333, 335, note ; ii. 187.

Ramodanofsky, Prince Theodore, i.

191, 315 ;
generalissimo of the

play regiment, 333 et seq. , 333 et

seq., 338, 348, 356 ; to maintain

order in Moscow in Peter's ab-

sence, 376, 317, 333, 335, note;

cruelty of, 339 et seq., 883, 840,

350 et seq., 408, 481 ; ii. 3

;

Peter's letter to, 134 et seq.
;
pro-

moted by the Tsar from ' 'King" to

"Kaiser," 133, 135 et seq., 346,

336, 848, 854, 430, 443, 447, 451.

Ramodanofsky, son of Prince Theo-

dore, "Prince Csesar," ii. 483 et

seq.

Rantzau, Baron, Danish Envoy, ii.

139.

Rastrelli, artist, i. 107.

Rawa, Galicia, i. 317.

Razin, Stenka, i. 4 et seq., 73, 99,

113, 137, 330; ii. 73, 108, 155,

161 et seq.

Regent, the, of France. (See Philip,

Duke of Orleans.)

Rehnskjold, his advice disregarded

by Charles XII., ii. 16, 33, 87, 40

et seq., 83, 116 ; chief in com-

mand, 117 et seq. ; Peter's courtesy

toward, while a prisoner at Pol-

tava, 119 ; Charles XII. 's defence

of, 133; at Moscow, 133, 333,

406.

Repnin, Prince Nikita, General and

Field Marshal, i. 45, 315, 374, 391;

at N6vgorod, 406 et seq., 411,

416 ; ordered to Polotsk, ii. 34
;

his difficulties with Ogilvy, 37,

31, 39, 64, 75, 86 et seq., 196,

389, 398 ; honesty of, 357, 874,

443, 448 ; succeeds Menshikof as

President, 483, 503 ; advocates

the succession of Peter II., 509.

Repninsky, Prince Repnin's children,

ii. 448.

Resht, ii. 473, 479.

Reutenfels, i. 303.

Reval, surrendered to Russia, ii. 168

et seq. ; Swedes driven from,

333 ; English fleet at, 357, 331 ;

construction of harbor works at,

374 ; trade of, 381, 438, 436, 448,

486.

Reventlow, Countess, ii. 350.

Riazan, Metropolitan of. (See Yav6r-

sky.)

Riazantsef, Colonel, i. 187.

Ridder, Colonel, i. 183.

Riga, Peter at, i. 379, 373 et seq., 378 ;

ii. 10 ; siege of, 181 ; surrendered

to Russia, 168 et seq. ; Swedes

driven from, ii. 333, 357, 831 ;

the Tsarevitoh at, 385 ; trade of,

381, 433, 439, 463, 486, 506 et

seq.

Rigaud, Hyacinthe, artist, ii. 314.

Rigeman, General, i. 354.

Rimsky-Korsakof, Basil, ii. 485.

Rinhuber, Dr. Laurent, i. 106.

Ripley, Captain, i. 308, note.

Robinson, Minister at Stockholm, ii.

19, 31.



IKDEX. 549

Rogge, Lynst, i. 288.

Romanof, Michael. (See Michael, Tear

of Russia.

)

Romanof, Nikita Ivanovitch, i. Ill,

205.

Romans, King of the. (See Joseph II.

,

Emperor.

)

Bonne, General, ii. 3V, 39 et seq., 53,

103, 195 et seq., 207 et seq.

Rosen, taken prisoner at Poltava, ii.

118.

Rosen, Walter von, i. 199.

Rosenbnsch, Butenant von, i. 56 et

seq., 64 et seq., 214, 265.

Rosetti, George, ii. 192.

Rostock, city, ii. 419.

Rothwell, interpreter, i. 413.

Rottembourg, Count, French Minister,

ii. 304.

Rotterdam, Peter visits, ii. 300, 307.

Rudakofsky, ii. 510.

Biigen, Island of, ii. 224 ; Swedes

land at, 232, 241, 256, 322, 419.

Rumi^ntsof, Alexander, ii. 330 et seq.

,

335, 346, note ; honesty of, 357

;

sent to Stockholm, 432, 433, 479.

Ruysch, Professor, i. 296, 302.

Ryswyk, i. 294, 364.

Rzewuski, i. 248.

Rzhefsky, Voievode of Astrakhan, ii.

156, 158.

Saba, Patriarch of Jerusalem, ii. 177.

Sabatins, a monk, i. 75.

St. Alexander Nefsky, ii. 170.

St. Andrew, Order of, i. 419, 438, 434

;

ii. 69, 185, 230, 488.

St. Elijah, frigate, i. 421.

St. Elmo, Alexis at the castle of, ii.

330 et seq., 333.

St. John, Secretary of State, ii. 225.

St. Paul, ship launched by Peter, i.

236.

St. Peter, yacht of Peter, i. 228, 234,

237.

St. Petersburg, founding of, ii. 1 et

seq. ; the Swedes' attacks against,

4 ; capital of Russia, 6 ; dislike

of the nobility to, 8 ; inundations

and bad climate of, 9 ; useless-

ness of, 10 et seq. ; Peter and his

family at, 85 ; Peter at, 317 et

seq. ; commerce of, 381 et seq. ;

road to Moscow, 385 et seq., 419,

423 etseq. ; description of, 428 et

seq. ; first newspaper in, 446 et seq.

St. Simon, ii. 307, 315.

Salonica, ii. 477.

Saltykof, u, maid of honor, ii. 287 et

seq.

Saltyk6f, Boyar Peter, made governor

of Smolensk, ii. 137, 348.

Saltykof, Simeon, Andrelyitch, Major

of the Guard, afterwards General

and Count, ii. 359.

Samarin, Paymaster-General, ii. 147

;

acqjiitted, 341.

Samoilovitoh, Hetman, i. 137, 153 et

seq. ; opposes the war against the

Tartars, 156 et seq. ; fall of, 159 ;

ii. .93, 99.

Sampson, strong man from Germany,

ii. 446.

Samus, ii. 100.

Sandomir, diet at, ii. 17 et seq.

Sanis, Comte de, i. 150.

Santa Profeetie, frigate, i. 337.

Sapieha, Hetman of Lithuania, i. 264 ;

ii. 30, 35.

Savinovitch, Andrei, i. 15.

Savoy, Prince Eugene of. (See Eu-

gene, Prince of Savoy.)

Saxe, Mauricede, i. 311 ; ii. 333.

Saxe-Weissenfels, Prince John Adol-

phus of, ii. 416.

Saxony, i. 212, 369 etseq., 873, 375 et

seq., 394, 396, 410, 416; defeats

of, ii. 30, 34, 88 et seq. ; an inva-

sion threatened, 46 et seq. ; Pat-

kul in, 55 et seq. ; diplomacy in,

61 et seq., 220, 223, 324, 228, 233

etseq., 343,249, 256.
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Saxony, Elector of. (See Augustus,

(the strong) Elector of Saxony.)

Scania, ii. 130, 352, 393 et seq.

ScharfE, i. 329.

Schelj, Vioe-Admiral Giles, i. 390.

Scherowski, Baron, i. 134, 144.

Sclileiuitz, Baron, ambassador of the

Duke of Wolfenbuttel, arranges

marriage of Alexis, ii. 189 et seq.

,

329, 265, 368 ; in Paris, 420 et seq.

Sohlippenhaoh, Colonel, i. 418 et seq.,

430 ; ii. 17, 118.

Sohlippenbacli, Colonel Wilhelm von,

i. 422 ; ii. 350, 251, note, 354.

Sohlitz, Baron George Henry von.

(See Goertz.)

Schlund, Colonel, ii. 63.

Schlusselburg, i. 135, 408, 435 et seq.

,

434 ; ii. 5, 81, 85, 340, 434, note,

440, 506.

Scholten, General von, ii. 333.

Schonborn, Count, ii. 349, note, 836

et seq. , 345, note, 415.

Sohonebeck, i. 296.

Schonhausen, ii. 337, 354, 333.

Schonhorn, Count, ii. 498.

Scbulemburg, Marshal von, ii. 499.

Schulenburg, Field-Marshal, ii. 34 et

seq. , 33 ; arrests Patkul, 58.

Schultz, Colonel, ii. 76.

Schwerin, ii. 490.

Schynvoet, Simon, i. 295.

Sczuka, vice-chancellor of Lithuania,

i. 410.

Segestet, Vice-Admiral, ii. 227.

Selim Ghirei, Khan of the Crimea, i.

31, 154 et seq.

Semfenof, Andrew, ii. 462.

Semenofsky Regiment, i. 107, 338,

374, 397, 424 ; ii. 75.

Semiramis, i. 170.

Senate, ii. 348 et seq., 383.

Sennebier, i. 214.

Seny4vin, Admiral, ii. 435, note.

Seraphim, Greek scholar and revolu-

tionist, ii. 182 et seq.

Serbians, ii. 182 et seq., 186, 193.

Sergiiis, a monk, i. 73 et seq.

Shafirof , Baron Peter, i. 335, 373 ; ii.

8; sketch of, 64 et seq.; made
vice-chancellor, 134 ; treats with

the Turks, 198 etseq., 301 etseq.;

a prisoner, 203 et seq., 206 et seq.;

at Warsaw, 381, 385, 288, 317,

333 ; Vice-President of the College

of Foreign Affairs, 851 ; trial and

disgrace of, 864 et seq., 377, 383,

442, note, 464 ; quarrels of, 48 et

seq., 488.

Shafirof, Michael, ii. 365, 428.

Shakhofsk6y, Prince Theodore sent as

ambassador to Sweden, i. 376.

Shaklovity, Theodore, Privy Council-

lor, i. 94 et seq. ;
given command

of the Streltsi, 98 ; sketch of, 101,

157 et seq. , 169 ;
prepares for an

emergency, 172 et seq.; sends

spies to Troitsa, 178 et seq. ; given

up by Sophia, 183 et seq.; con-

fession of, 184 et seq.; condemned

to death, 186, 193, 377.

Shansky, Peter's jester, ii. 451.

Shein, i. 45.

Shein, Alexis, chosen commander-in-

chief, i. 351, 354, 259; defends

the southern frontier of Azof, 276,

317, 323 et seq., 337 ; his quarrel

with the Tsar, 350 et seq., 358 ;

ii. 390.

Shemaha, ii. 461, 463 et seq., 469, 473,

476, 478.

Sheushin, Lieutenant-Colonel, i. 406.

Shepelef, gentlaman of the chamber,

ii. 435.

Shepelof, General, i. 104.

Sheremetief, Count Boris, Petrovitoh,

i. 45, 50, 136 ; heads an embassy

to Vienna, 142 et seq., 191 et seq.

,

216 ; against Azof, 244, 249 ; pro-

tects the frontier, 351, 369 ; starts'

for Rome, 369, 371 et seq., 376,

306, 340, 343; at Narva, 393;
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driven back tbward Narva, 397,

413 ; makes an attack on Marien-

turg, 418 et seq., 428 et seq., 437 ;

ordered to Polotsk, ii. 24 ; his

difficulties with Ogilvy, 27, 29

;

sets out for Mitau, 31 et seq., 64,

75 ; movements of, 78, 86, 103

;

rewarded after Poltava, 124 et

seq.; at Riga, 131 et seq., 135;

sent to quell the insurrection at

Astrakhan, 157 et seq. ; Kiga ca-

pitulates to, 186 et seq.; on the

Pruth, 192 et seq. , 196 ; his son re-

mains a hostage with the Turks,

199, 251, note, 256, 273; in Po-

land, 301 ; Peter's letter to, 306 ;

honesty of, 357, 443
;
pecuniary

embarrassment of, 447.

Sheremetief, Michael, son of Boris

Sheremetief, remains a hostage

with the Turks, ii. 199, 201

;

death of, 207.

Shipof, Colonel, ii. 473.

Shirisky, Basil. (See Basil, Tsar of

Russia.

)

Siberia, French request a passage

through, i. 149 ; mines in, 198,

204
;
governor of, ii. 137, 359,

460.

Siberia, Prince of, i. 13.

Sieniawski, Crown Hetman, ii. 65, 71,

73, 117, 126, 189.

Sienicke, General, ii. 75.

Sigismund, King of Poland, i. 205.

Sigismund II. (Augustus), King of

Poland, i. 365.

Simeon, death of, i. 9.

Simeon, of Suzdal, i. 267 et seq.

Sinclair, ii. 413.

Siniavin, First Commissioner of the

Admiralty, dishonesty of, ii. 358 ;

arrest of, 360.

Skavronsky, Anna, Catherine's sister,

i. 441.

Skavronsky, Carl, Catherine's brother,

i. 440.

Skavronsky, Christina, Catherine's sis-

ter, i. 440.

Skavronsky, Samuel, i. 436.

Sklof, ii. 88 et seq.

Skorniakof-Pisaref, General, his dis-

pute with Shafirof , ii. 365 et seq.

,

385 ; quarrels of, 481.

Skoropddsky, chosen Hetman in Ma-

zeppa's place, ii. 108 et seq., 363.

Slesvig, i. 388 ; ii. 220, 235, 238, 340

et seq., 248, 253, 430, 493 et seq.,

501.

Slonsky, John, ii. 267.

Smolensk, i. 131, 251, 357, 378, 401,

406; ii. 36, 38, 43 et seq., 87 et

seq., 137, 264, 381, 419.

Sobieski, Alexander, ii. 22.

Sobieski, Jan, King of Poland, i. 132

et seq., 142, 241 et seq.;- death of,

262, 269, 283 ; ii., 99.

Sobieski, Prince Jacob, proposed by

Charles XII. as King of Poland,

ii. 21, 66, 73.

Soimonof, naval officer, ii. 470.

Sokolniki, park of, i. 13, 22, 108,

221.

Sokovin, Theodore, Privy-Councillor,

i. 30, 192.

Sokovnin, Alexis, i. 377.

Solianikof, peasant, ii. 503.

Solovief, Dimitoi, at Archangel, ii.

363 et seq.

Solovief, Joseph, at Amsterdam, ii.

363 et seq., 384.

Solovief, Theodore, ii. 363.

Soltykof (pere), i. 53.

Soltykof, A., ii. 443, note.

Soltykof, Captain Theodore, i. 358,

409.

Soltykof, Nicholas Petrovitch, Gov-

ernor of Moscow, ii. 348.

Soltykof, Prascovia. (See Prascovia,

Tsaritsa.)

Soltykof, Theodore, murder of, i. 53.

Sommer, Simon, i. 104.

Sontsef, Prince Basil, ii. 151.
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Sophia, Alexeievna, Princess, i. 35,

29, 35; her grief at Theodore's

death, 37 et sect-, 46, 58, 61 ; su-

periority of, 65 ; Eegent, 67 et

seq.; at the religious disputation,

81 et seq.; incited against Havan-

sky, 9Q et seq.; power of, 99 et

seq. ; feeling towards Peter, 108 et

seq.; induces Peter to take part in

State Council, 110 ; dissatisfaction

with the rule of, 115 et seq. ; her

policy with Sweden, 135 et seq.;

her policy with Poland, 138 et

seq., 155 et seq.; her correspond-

ence with Golitsyn, 164 et seq.;

her struggle for power, 169 et

seq. ; description of, 170 ; her dis-

trust of Peter, 173 et seq.; at-

tempts a reconciliation, 177 et

seq. ; addresses the Streltsi, 180 et

seq.; sent to a convent, 188 et seq.,

193 et seq., 377, 307, 817, 835 et

seq., 404; ii. 64, 98, 151, 173,

184, 364, 457.

Sophia Charlotte, Electress of Bran-

denburg, i. 384 et seq.

Sophia Dorothea, Princess, i. 386.

Sophia, Electress of Hanover, i. 384

etseq.; ii. 48, 230.

Sophia, Hedwiga, Princess, ii. 283.

Sophia, Palaeologos, Princess, wife of

IvanHL, i. 198.

Spa, Peter at, ii. 316 et seq., 319 et

seq., 448.

Spada, Cardinal, i. 306.

Spain, i. ,143, 145 ; succession in, 306,

854, 411; ii. 19, 182, 219, 225,

348 ; league proposed in, 420
;

recognises Peter as Emperor,

437.

Spain, King of. (See Philip II., King

of Spain, and Philip V. , King of

Spain.)

Spafre, Colonel Axel, i. 403 ; ii. 86,

301, note, 406.

Spens, General, ii. 13.

Stackelberg, Otto, i. 126 ; ii. US.

Stage-ooaohes introduced into Europe,

i. 372.

Stahl, Dr. D., ii. 508, note.

Stambke, ii. 240, 403, 406 et seq.

Stanhope, General, ii. 294.

Stanhope, Lord, ii. 413 et seq., 417,

431.

Stanislas I. (Leszczynski), King of

Poland, ii. 33 et seq., 39, 83;

preparations for the coronation of,

84, 46, 48, 51, 63, 65; urges

Charles XII. to make peace, 66,

70 et seq. ; complaints of, 79, 100,

103 et seq., 113, 117, 125 et seq.;

to retain his title, 419, 178, 199,

305, 213, 228, 380, 405 et seq.,

416, 496.

Stohepotef, Sergeant, i. 423.

Stcherbatof, Prince, ii. 443, note, 448.

Stcherbatof, Prince Michael, ii. 401.

Stcherbatof, Prince Theodore, i. 325,

note.

Stcherbatof, Yi5ry, i. 158.

Stchiikin, Anisim, chief secretary of

the Senate, ii. 147 et seq.

Steinau, Field-Marshal, i. 411, 416;

ii. 19.

Stenbock, General Count Marquis, i.

388, 398, 408; at Lais, 405 'et

seq. ; Charles XII. disregards his

advice, ii. 16 et seq., 31, "78, 336,

338, 333 et seq., 335 et seq., 339

etseq., 245, 381.

Stfinka-Kazin. (See Kazin, Stenka.)

Stepan, of Moscow, ii. 155 et seq.

Sternfeld, Colonel Steitner von, i.

388.

Stettin, ii. 319, 325 et seq., 228; se-

questration of, 241 et seq., 247,

350, 258, 255, 304, 318, 330, 333,

404, 418 et seq.

Stille, Adam, i. 243.

Stockholm, i. 126, 366, 377, 385 et

seq., 396, 401 et seq. ; ii. 36, 51,

53, 138, 156, 167, 330, 238 et seq.,
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245 et seq., 321, 347, 850, 384,

406 et seq., 410 et seq., 418, 432,

500etseq., 510.

St61bovo, treaty of, i. 124 et seq. ; ii.

249.

Stolielof , Secretary of Mons, ii. 504.

Stor Kyro, Swedes defeated at, Ii.

246.

Story, Thomas, Quaker, 1. 305, note.

Strafford, Lord, English Minister at

the Hague, ii. 248.

Strahlenberg, ii. 369.

Strahlenheim, Swedish Ministfer at

Vienna, ii. 62.

Stralsund, ii. 319, 232, 224 et seq.,

238, 241, 248, 353 et seq., 256,

283, 293, 822 ; blockaded by the

Russians, 224 ; Stenbock at, 233 et

seq. ; Charles XII. arrives at, 253

;

siege and fall of, 256 et seq., 419.

Strasburg, Colonel, i. 182, 221.

Stratman, Count, Austrian envoy at

Dresden, ii. 57, 60.

Streltsi, the, description of, i. 43 et

seq. ; riot of, 49 et seq. ; they ab-

stain from pillage, 64 et seq.
;

pacification of, 69 ; demand a re-

ligious dispute, 73 et seq., 81 et

seq. ; feasted and made loyal, 87

;

submission of, 97 et seq. ; oppose

Sophia's project, 169 ; Sophia's

appeal to, 173 et seq. ; called to

Troitsa, 177 et seq. ; threaten So-

phia, 182 et seq. ; revolt of, 317,

321 et seq. ; torture of, 827 et

seq. ; abolition of, 331 ; ii. 66,

98, 134, 149, 173.

Strem^noy regiment, i. 93, 95.

Stremoukhof, widow of, ii. 452.

Streshnef, Ivan, ii. 485, note, 443,

note.

Streshnef, Tikhon, i. 131, 157, 191,

315, 253 ; reports concerning, 333,

' 325, note, 333 et seq., 337; ap-

pointed governor of Moscow, ii.

137 ; made a member of the Sen-

ate, 147 ; ordered to remove the

treasure from Moscow, 157.

Strizh(5f, i. 187.

Stroganof, Alexander, created Baron,

ii. 378, 435, note, 467.

Stroganof, Maria (born Nov6siltsef),

ii. 435, note.

Stromberg, Governor-General, a pris-

oner at Riga, ii. 169.

Stromfeld, Baron, ii. 433.

Stuart, General, i. 380, ii. 29.

Sturdza, Alexander, ii. 207.

Sturdza, Johii, ii. 192.

Sudakof, ii. 335.

Suleiman II., Sultan, i. 161.

Suleiman, Pasha, made Grand Vizier,

ii. 306.

Sumbiilof, Maxim, i. 37.

Sunderland, ii. 417.

Sundsval, ii. 438.

Susanna, nun. Princess Sophia as, i.

337.

Suzdal, i. 94, 97, 288.

Svedberg, i. 386 et seq.

Sviatoi Nos, i. 238.

Sviatopolk-Tchetvertinsky, Prince Gi-

deon, i. 138 et seq.

Swart, Colonel, captured, i. 347.

Sweden, wars with, i. 3, 7, 130, 133,

150, 280, 293, 319 ; league against,

364 et seq., 375 et seq., Peter's

object in making war against, 390

et seq., 410, 413 et seq., 418 et

seq. ; defeat of its flotilla, 427 et

seq. ; menaces St. Petersburg, ii.

8 et seq. ; against Poland, 13 et

seq., 29 et seq. ; peace with Po-

land, 35 et seq.
; protects Stanis-

las, '46 etseq., 66 et seq. ; threat-

ens Moscow, 76 et seq. , 96, 108 et

seq., 137 et seq., 158, 167 et seq.,

199, 203 et seq., 219 et seq., 328,

235 et seq., 280, 304, 306, 317 et

seq., 348, 881, 404 et seq., 419 et

seq. ; terms of peace with Russia,

423 et seq. ; recognizes Peter as
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Emperor, 437, 494, 499 et seq. ;

alliance with Knssia, 501.

Sweden, King of. (See Charles XI.,

Charles XII., and Frederick.)

Sweden, Queen of. (See Ulrica Elea-

nora.)

Sylvester, Bishop of White Russia.

(See Tohetvertinsky.)

Szaniawski, Bishop of Cujavia, ii. 73.

Szembek, ii. 59.

Szumlianskij Bishop of Xeniber^, ii.

99.

Tabort, General, i. 116.

Taganrog; i. 359, 358, 361 ; ii. 113,

163, 175 et seq., 199, 201, 303,

307, 318.

Tahmasp Mirza,' Shah of Persia, ii.

467, 474, 478 et seq.

Talitsky, Gregory, ii. 153.

Tamb6f, Ignatius, Bishop of, ii. 153.

Tambof, Province, ii. 460.

Tamerlane, i. 344.'

Tarakanof, Russian Envoy, i. 156.

TarasSvitch, artist, i. 169.

Tarku, Peter at, ii. 471.

Tartars, i. 91, 115, 131, 143 ; troubles

with, 153 et seq., 156 et seq., 159,

163 et seq., 166 et seq., 341, 346

et seq., 351, 356, 365, 419 et seq.,

424; ii. 76, 94, 98 et seq., 157, 175,

178 et seq., 185, 187 et seq., 196

et seq., 300, 303, 306, 308, 333,

245, 380, 457, 463, 468 et seq.

Tatiana, Princess, i. 37, 38, 83 et seq.

Tatistohef, orderly of Peter, ii. 434.

Tatistchef , Basil, ii. 380 ; manages

government mines, 878.

Taube, Swedish Senator, ii. 411.

Tavan, i. 393.

Tavernier, i. 150.

Taxation and revenue, reform of, ii.

138.

Tchaadaef , Okolhitohy Ivfo, i. 136 ;

heads an embassy to Vienna, 143

et seq.

Tchemod^nof, numerous suite of, i.

270 et seq.

Toheredeief, Secretary, i. 860.

Tcherkask, capital of the Don Cos-

sacks, i. 348, 254 ; ii. 161 etseq.,

303.

Tcherkasky, Prince Alexander, B^ko-

vitch, ii. 460 et seq.

Tcherkasky, Rmce AlexiSj his report

on buildii^ St. Petersburg, ii. 9,

443, note.

Tcherkasky, Prince Michael, i. 45, 50,

52, 157 et seq. , 319 ; chosen com-

mander-in-chief, 349, 335, note,

337 ; ii. 153.

Tcherkfisky, Princess, sister of Prin-

cess Trubetskoy, ii. 443 et seq.

Tcherkess, Mehemed Pasha, ii. 198.

Tchermny, beheaded, i. 186.

Tchei-naya Napa, battle of, ii. 87,

note.

Tchernigof, Archbishop of, i. 137 et

seq.

Tchernysh^f, house of, ii. 439, 443,

note.

Tchernyshef, Countess (bom Rzhev-

sky), ii. 435, note.

Tchernyshef, Gregory, Petrovitch, ii.

453 et seq., 455.

Tchetvertinsky, Prince (Sylvester,

Bishop of White Russia), ii. 489.

Tchevkin, Peter's favorite, ii. 434 et

seq.

Tchi'girin, i. 69, 99, 186, 153 et seq.,

310.

Teniers,' i. 397.

Teplitz, Peter at, ii. 338 et seq.

Terek, Cossacks of the, ii. 157, 160 et

seq. ; frontier of, 460, 473 et seq.

Terem, or Woman's Apartment, i. 33,

436.

Tesse, Marshal de, ii. 307, 309, 315,

317 et seq.

Tessin, i. 386 ; ii. 345.

T^tera, Hetman of the Cossacks, ii.

93.
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Theatre, in Russia, i. 9, 17, 305 ; ii.

public theatre, 143, 446, 483.

Theodora, Princess, i. 39.

Theodore, Alexeievitch, Tsar, i 9, 25
;

health of, 27; coronation of, 28
et seq., 31 et seq.; marriage of,

33 ; second marriage and death

of, 34 ; funeral of, 37 etseg., 39,

65 et seq., 101, 125 et seq., 131,

155, 193, 273 ; ii. 440.

Theodore, Ivanovitch, Tsar, i. 39, 91,

198 et seq., 267.

Theodosia, Princess, daughter of Alex-

is, ii. 85.

Theodosius, Emperor, i. 67.

Theophauj Prokopovitch. (See Pro-

kopovitch; Theophan.)

Thesingh, printer, ii. 143.

Thessing, i. 296.

Thorn, University of, i. 275, 442 ; ii.

126, 129, 131, 213, 316 et seq.,

336, 368.

Thurn and Taxis, family of, i. 313.

Thurn, Praulein Johanna von, i. 318.

Tikoczin, ii. 32, 36, 39, 41.

Timmermann, Franz, instructs Peter

in the use of the sextant, i. 110

et seq., 315, 331, 354, 365, 308,

note.

Timofeief, Antip, i. 235.

Timothy, Tolstoi's secretary, ii. 177.

Titof, Dimitri, Ivanovitch, ii. 346,

note.

Titof Regiment, i.- 73, 83, 87.

Tmiitarakan, Princes of, i. 119.

Tobacco, monopoly of, ii. 138.

Tobolsk, Siberia, i. 149 ; ii. 380, 504.

Tolstoi, Anisia, i. 436 ; ii. 124, 435.

Tolstoi, Peter, Andreievitch, Governor

of Azof, i. 266 ; ii. 162 ; ambas-

sador to Turkey, 173 et seq.; re-

port of, 176 et seq.; imprisoned,

181 et seq., 191, 303 et seq., 371 ;

at Warsaw, 381, 285, 288, 299,

303 ; accompanies the Tsar to

Paris, 309; 317; his interview

with Alexis, 331 et seq. , 337 ; con-

ducts the torture of Alexis, 343 et

seq., 346, note; made President

of the College of Commerce, 351,

377; sent to Berlin, 417, 443,

note ; accompanies Peter to Persia,

467; made Count by Catherine,

488, 503, 508; espoused Cath-

ine's succession, 509.

Tonning, siege, of, i. 376, 389; ii.

335, 238 et.Beq., aiS, 250 et seq.,

419.

Torey, Marquis de, ii. 182.

Torff, M. de, i. 146 et seq.

Torgau, ii. 215 et seq., 339, 366.

Toropetz, i. 333 ; ii. 41, 381.

Toulon, ii. 384.

Toulouse, Count de, ii. 313.

Townshend, Lord, ii. 394 et seq.

Trakhauiotof, Okolnitehy, i. 4.

Transport Royal, yacht presented to

Peter by King William, i. 297,

308.

Transylvania, ii. 74, 183, 185.

Travendal, Peace of, i. 379, 389.

Tressini, Italian architect, ii. 2.

Troekurof, Prince Ivan, i. 45, 177,

179, 188, 191; receives the Streltsi,

322, 325, note ; ii. 81.

Troekiirof, Prince Theodore, i. 215

;

killed, 248.

Troitsa, i. 94, 96 et seq., 113, 175 et

seq.

Trubetskoy, Prince Ivan, i. 315.

Trubetskoy, Princess, ii. 443.

Trubetzk6y, Prince Yury, i. 377 ; ex-

changed, 401, 406 ; assists in lay-

ing the foundations of St. Peters-

burg ; ii. 1, 406 ; natural son of,

434, note, 448.

Tula, i. 204, 250, 261 et seq.; ii. 162.

Turgenief, Jacob, court fool, i. 219,

239.

Turkey, Russian allies against, i. 142,

148 et seq., 153 et seq., 161 et

seq., 341 et seq., 346, 351, 354 et
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aeq., 262, 271, 307, 310, 315 et

seq. , 818 ; a truce with, 354 et

seq., 372, 376; peace with cele-

brated, 878 et seq., 416; ii. 96;

war with, 171 et seq., 191 et seq.,

324 ; declares war a third time,

235, 245 ; recognizes Peter as Em-
peror, 427, 464, 467, 474 et seq.,

492 et seq.

Tveritinof, ii. 392 et seq., 399.

tJGMTCH, i. 238 ; ii. 156.

ti^glitch, Dimitri of. (See Dimitri of

tjglitch.)

Ukraine, disturbed state of, i. 153 et

seq., 190 ; ii. 265, 370, 380, 477.

TJkraintsef, Emelian, Privy-Council-

lor, i. 127, 139, 185, 191, 357, 269
;

appointed ambassador to Constan-

tinople, 856 et seq., 363, 376,

378 ; named commissary, ii. 70,

173.

TTlrioa Elenora, wife of Charles XI.,

of Sweden, i. 129, 379 et seq.

Ulrica Eleonora, Queen of Sweden,

daughter of Charles XI., ii. 408,

410 et seq., 432, 501.

Ulrich, Prince Anton, ii. 315 et seq.,

329, 336, 249, note, 365.

Uniates, i. 138 ; metropolitan of, 319 ;

ii. 28, 71, 489.

University of Thorn, i. 375 ; of Lund,

of Upsala, of Wittenberg, ii. 30

;

of Pernau, 169.

Unkofsky, Captain, ii. 459.

tJnskaya, Gulf, i. 335.

Ural Mountains, mining in, i. 361,

303, 377, 460, 468.

Urbich, Baron, German-Russian Resi-

dent at Vienna, ii. 54, 73, 139
;

sent to Venice, 183, 217, 265 et seq.

Urusof , Princess Abdotia, i. 377.

Urusof, Prince Theodore, i. 45, 49 et

seq., 191.

Ushakof, General, ii. 346, note, 359 et

seq. ; arrests Mons, 502.

Ushakof, Simeon, i. 16.

Ustrittof, i. 373, note.

Utemysh, Sultan of, ii. 471 et seq.

Utrecht, i. 393 ; ii. 248, 398, 300, 306,

319.

Vakhtan, Prince of Georgia, ii. 465

et seq. , 473.

Van Coehorn, Baron, i. 395.

Van der Burg, ii. 68.

Van der Stamm, Major Leonard, i.

303.

VanByck, ii. 280, note.

Van Heems, Baron, ii. 399.

Van Ostade, i. 297.

Van Seheij, Admiral, i. 395.

Vasily, Ostrof , i. 428 ; ii. 7, 9, 430,

485.

Vauban, ii. 114.

Velin, Colonel, defends Poltava, ii.

116.

Venice, Doge of, i. 369.

Venice, Republic of, i. 133 et seq.,

143, 145, 161 et seq., 166, 266,

269, 273, 275, 278, 310, 818, 817,

361; ii. 71, 110, 173, 183, 185,

334 et seq.

Ve'prik, ii. Ill, 116.

Verden, ii. 319, 334, 333, 405, 415,

419.

Verkhoturie, Siberia, i. 38.

Verona, i. 368.

Versailles, Court of, i. 146 et seq., 151,

183 et seq.; ii. 74, 313 et seq.,

316.

Veselofsky, Abraham, Russian Resi-

dent at Vienna, ordered t'o search

for Alexis, ii. 329 et seq., 334,

351, 415.

Veselofsky, Isaac, Russian Minister at

London, ii. 300 et seq., 413 et

seq., 421.

Veshniakof, i. 90.

Veterani, brigadier, ii. 470.

Vetes, Rakoczy's agent, ii. 183.

Viazemsky, Nikifor, tutor of Alexis,
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ii. 260, 263 et seq., 270, 275, 277

;

arrest of, 338.

Viborg, i. 390; ii. 166 et seq., 218,

355, 381, 404 et seq., 423.

Vienna, Austria, i. 116, 126, 133;

embassy to, 142 et seq., 148, 150,

166, 194, 211, 240 et seq., 257,

269, 272 et seq., 275, 278, 306 et

seq., 809 et seq., 325, 854, 364 et

seq., 413 et seq., 438 et seq.; ii.

12, 53 et seq., 61 et seq., 71 et

seq., 78, 183, 185, 229, 253, 255,

397, 325 et seq., 828 et seq., 334

et seq., 342, 350 et seq., 415 et

seq., 419, 491 et seq., 497.

Vierecb, Countess, ii. 22.

Vietinghof (Landrath), i. 420.

Villars, Marshal, ii. 61, 813.

Villebois, Madame (born Gluok), ii.

435, note.

Villeroi, Marshal de, ii. 307, 312.

Vinius, Andrew, i. 193, 194, 206, 215,

281, 286 et seq., 245 ; Peter's let-

ters to, 257, 293; his letters to

Peter, 261, 277, 279, 302, 325 et

seq. ; his anxiety for Peter, 309,

323, 382, 352 ; superintends the

making of new artillery, 407 et

seq., 424; ii. 459.

Virgin, picture of, by St. Luke, i. 80.

Virgin of Kasan, picture of, i. 171.

Vistula, river, ii. 86, 79 et seq., 126,

323, 380.

Vitebsk, i. 410, 438 ; ii. 26, 102.

Vitzthum, Count, ii. 212 et seq. , 215.

Vladika, the, of Montenegro, ii. 184.

Vladimir, Grand Duke of Kief, i.

78.

Vladimir, village of, i. 338 ;
princi-

pality of, ii. 69.

Vladislas IV., King of Poland in 1325,

ii. 33, note.

Vladislavitch, Savva. (See Baguzin-

sky.)

Vockerodt, ii. 6, 11, 153, 853, 871,

374, 380, note, 401.

Voinarofsky, nephew of Mazeppa, ii.

106, 398, note.

Volga, river, Stenka Razin's ravages

on, i. 5, 245; country of the, 391,

424 ; ii. 4, 37, 39, 155, 160, 385,

459 et seq. , 466 et seq.

V6lkof, i. 145 ; ii. 182 ; Menshik6f's

secretary, 251, note, 309.

Volkonsky, Prince Gregory, made
member of the Senate, ii. 147

;

woxmded, 198 ; dishonesty of,

258 ; punishment of, 360 ; shot,

364 et seq.

Volkra, Count, Imperial Ambassador

at London, ii. 330.

Vol6gda, i. 185, 203, 339, 334, 353;

ii. 83 et seq., 382 et seq., 436,

note.

Voltaire, his theory to account for

Peter's journey, i. 275.

Volynia, i. 180, 163 ; ii. 18, 40, 43, 46

;

Mazeppa in, 92, 128.

Volynsky, Artemius, Peter's adjutant,

ii. 488, 438 ; his mission to Per-

sia, 464 et seq. , 468 et seq. , 471.

Von Besser, i. 282.

Von der Hulst, Dr. Zaoharias, i. 110,

337.

Von der Lieth, German-Russian Resi-

dent at Berlin, ii. 54, 333 ; Min-

ister at London, 335.

Von Gaden, Doctor Daniel, i. 54 et

seq. ; murder of, 63, 69.

Von Hakebom, General, ii. 324.

Von Horn, Danish Resident, i. 150.

Von Mengden, Colonel, i. 315, 236.

Von Meyerberg, i. 24.

Von Schacken, Landvogt, i. 283.

Von Scholten, General, ii. 233.

Von Sternfeld, Colonel Steitner, i. 283.

Von Thurn, Johanna, i. 313.

Von Vitzthum, ii. 15.

Von Wrangel, General, death of, ii.

86.

Voronezh, i. 245, 351 et seq., 363,

365, 387, 297, 389, 349, 852 et



558 INDEX.

seq., 357 et seq., 375, 377, 411 et

seq., 424 et seq., 484, 487 ; ii. 26

et seq., 112, 189, 146 et seq., 160,

176.

Voronezh, Mitrophan, Bishop of, ii.

146.

Voronezh, river, i. 353, 254, 265, 434.

Voronin, Yekim, i. 107, 215 ; killed,

249.'

Vorontsof family, i. 440.

Vorskla, river, ii. 113 et seq., 116 et

seq. , 119 et seq.

Vorzaan, river, i. 389.

Vosof, elected Ataman of Yaroslav

by the insurgents, ii. 156.

Vota, Jesuit, i. 306, 318.

Votiaks, ii. 160.

Vozdvizhenskoe, i. 98 et seq., 165,

179.

Voznitsyn, Prokop, ambassador to

Western Europe, i. 376, 854 et

seq.

Vseslav, Prince, ii. 86.

Vsevolozhsky, Buphemia, i. 11.

Vygofsky, ii. 99.

Vykulin, Daniel, ii. 399.

Wallachia, i. 161 et seq. ; ii. 71,

184 et seq., 191, 194 et seq., 310,

258.

Wallenstedt, favorite of Charles XII.

,

i. 382.

Warsaw, i. 116, 136, 133 et seq., 150,

166, 195, 241, 262 et seq., 365,

369, 375, 894, 409 ; ii. 13, 15 et

seq., 22, 24 et seq., 33 et seq., 37,

89, 45, 51 et seq., 55, 74, 81, 136,

311 et seq., 222, 256, 281, 490 et

seq.

Wartenherg, Count, ii. 69, 181.

Weber, Hanoverian Resident, ii. 251,

283, 295, 337, 841, 345, note, 864,

371, 412, 414, 428 ; his account

of St. Petersburg's rabble, 431,

note, 447 ; cruise of, 449, 505,

note.

Wedderkop, ii. 339.

Weidemann, General, killed, ii. 198.

Weisbach, sent to Vienna, ii. 416.

Weissenfels, Princess, ii. 366.

Wellingk, ii. 25, 232, note, 283 et seq.,

240, 343.

Wenden, Diet at, i. 868.

Wenigerkindj secretary, ii. 464.

Wesel, ii. 298, 331.

Wesenberg, i. 393, 397, 430.

Weyde, Adam, General, i. 315, 286,

297, 374 ; draws up the articles of

war against Sweden, 375, 391

;

wounded, 398, 406, 413; ex-

changed, ii. 169, 286, 339, 845,

note, 850 et seq. , 443, note.

Whitworth, English Minister to Mos-

cow, ii. 66 et seq. ; apologizes for

treatment of MatvMef in Loudon,

164 et seq., 349; at Amsterdam,

320 ; sent to Berlin, 417.

Wieliczka, salt mines of, i. 317.

Wielopolski, ii. 16.

Wiezicki, ii. 75 et seq.

Wilozek, Count, ii. 129.

Wilde, Jacob de, i. 395.

William III., of England, i. 393, 297

et seq. ; his cordial relations with

Peter, 303, 310, 413.

William of Orange, i. 116 et seq., 335

et seq.

Wilna, 1, 488 ; ii. 27, 29, 41.

Wilson, Sir Robert, ii. 513.

Windsor, i. 273, 801 ; ii. 68.

Wirtenberg, , General von, Swede, ii.

433.

Wismar, ii. 218 et seq., 222, 324 et

seq., 333, 343, 253, 385 et seq.,

388 et seq.. 296, 419.

Wisniowiecki, Dimitri (1563), ii. 94.

Wisniowiecki, Prince, Grand Hetmku
of Lithuania, ii. 19, 32, 75, 108.

Wisniowiecki, Prince Tanusz, Voie-

vode of Cracow, ii. 75.

Wisniowiecki, Princess Dolska, ii.

103.
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Witsen, Burgomaster Nicholas, i. 170,

335, 331, 336, 340, 391, 393, 397,

303, 413.

Wittenberg, Peter visits Luther's tomb
at, ii. 338.

Woldemar, Prince of Denmark, i. 35.

Wolf, Father, i. 413.

Wolfenbuttel, ii. 138, 189 et seq., 315

et seq., 339, 336, 368 et seq.

Wolfenbuttel, Duke of, ii. 189.

Wolfenbuttel, Princess of, ii. 331.

(See Charlotte, Princess of Wol-

fenbuttel.)

Woman, Muscovite ideal of, i. 33 et

seq.

Woolwich, England, Peter at, i. 301,

311.

Wratislaw, Count, ii. 73.

Wrede, Count, i. 388, 398.

Wren, Sir Christopher, i. 301.

WulfE, ensign of artillery, i. 431.

Wurm, student, i. 440.

Wiirtemberg, Prince of, taken prisoner

at Poltava, ii. 119 ; released, 133.

Wybes, Auke, ii. 3.

Xenia, Princess, i. 35.

Y, Gulf of the, i. 387, 390.

Yaguzhinsky, General Paul, sent to

Copenhagen, ii. 350, 357, 383;

accompanies Peter to PariSj 309 ;

honesty of, 357, 365 ; mot of, 367

etseq.; sent to Vienna, 416, 431,

433, 435, note, 441, 445, 448 ; Pro-

curator-General, 481 ; Cavalier of

the Order of St. Andrew, 488 ; on

the succession of Peter, 509.

Yamburg, Fort, i. 438 et seq., 434; ii.

85.

Yanni-Saari, island, ii. 1, 5.

Yanof, Colonel, i. 90.

Yan6fsky, Theodosius, Archbishop of

Novgorod, ii. 888, 397.

Yareusk, i. 185.

Yaropolk, Prince, ii. 86.

Yarosldv, on the Volga, foreign mer-

chants at, i. 339 et seq.; ii. 156,

190, 311 et seq., 381, 867, 383.

Yaroslav, Russian Grand Duke (a.d.

1039), i. 439.

Yasuisky, Archbishop of, i. 138.

Yaiiza, river, i. 108, 111 etseq., 117,

173 ; ii. 486.

Yavorsky, Stephen, created Exarch,

ii. 143, 145, 153, 373, 313, 336,

336, 358, note, 389 et seq.

Yaworow, ii. 188 et seq.

Yazykof, Ivan, i. 83, 43, 45 et seq.;

killed, 60, 69.

Yazykof, Simeon, i. 335, note ; made
Commissary-General, 374.

Yefim, Anna, Catherine's sister, i.

441.

Yefim, Michael, i. 441.

Yelisarof, Larion, Lieutenant-Colonel,

i. 174 etseq., 186, 377.

Yevreinof, explorer, ii. 469.

Yong-Tchi, Emperor of China, ii.

458.

Ysbrandt, Eleazar, i. 431.

Yiidin, Alexis, i. 69, 95, 98.

Yurlof, Colonel, ii. 116.

Yury, Pyince, i. 69.

Yusuf Pasha appointed Grand Vizier,

ii. 303, 306.

Zaandam, Holland, i. 387 et seq.,

391 etseq., 395 ; ii. 4, 300.

Zabor, Count, ii. 63, 63.

Zachariah, of Sophia, i. 188.

Zaisan, Lake, ii. 460.

Zaporoghi Cossacks, i. 131.

Zaporovian Cossacks, i. 153, 155, 358

et seq. , 363 ; ii. 93 ; origin and
definition of, 95 et seq., 99 et seq.,

104, 109 et seq., 115, 130, 133,

161 et seq., 179, 187.

Zardtsky, rebel in seventeenth cen-

tury, ii. 155.

Zborofsky, Simeon, Privy Councillor,

133.
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Zealand, i. 389 ; ii. 324.

Zenta, battle of, i. 293.

Zheliabuzhky, i. 239, 269, 378, 329.

Zheliidok, ii. 36, 43.

Zherlof, i. 361.

Zickler, Colonel Ivan, i. 69, 177,

377.

Zielinski, Archbishop of Lemberg, ii.

34.

Zmaievitch, Admiral, ii. 416, note.

Zm6ief , made Okolnitchy, i. 78

;

placed over the Streltsi, 98, 185.

Zolkiew, ii. 63, 78, 264.

Zorin, sergeant of Streltsi, i. 324.

Zotof, Basil, Inspector of Decrees, ii.

349, 353.

Zotof, Commandant of Beval, his pec-

ulations, ii. 360.

Zotof, Konon, ii. 452.

Zotof, Nikita, Moisfiievitch, appointed

teacher for Peter, i. 30, 315, 257,

325, note, 349 et seq., assists in

laying the foundations of St.

Petersburg, ii. 1, 307, 428
;

" Prince Pope," 442, note, 444,

451 ; marriage and death of, 453.

Zriny, Helen,, mother of Rakoczy, Ii.

74.


















